
 
 

 
Planning Commission  

  

AGENDA 
SPECIAL MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION 

Click here to view the entire Agenda Packet 
 

Wednesday, December 16, 2020 
7:00 PM 

 

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-
29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 2020, this meeting of the Planning Commission 
(PC) will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference.  Please be 
advised that pursuant to the Executive Order and the Shelter-in-Place Order, and to ensure the 
health and safety of the public by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID19 virus, 
there will not be a physical meeting location available.    
 
To access the meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device:  Please 
use this URL https://zoom.us/j/92849767287.  If you do not wish for your name to appear on the 
screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous.  
To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the screen.   
  
To join by phone: Dial 1 669 900 6833 and enter Meeting ID: 928 4976 7287.  If you wish to 
comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by 
the Chair.   
 
Please be mindful that the video conference and teleconference will be recorded. All rules of 
procedure and decorum that apply for in-person Planning Commission meetings apply for 
Planning Commission meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 
 
See “MEETING PROCEDURES” below. 

 

All written materials identified on this agenda are available on the Planning Commission 
webpage:https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Planning_C
ommission_Homepage.aspx 

 

PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

 

1.   Roll Call: Wiblin, Brad, appointed by Councilmember Kesarwani, District 1 
 Vincent, Jeff, appointed by Councilmember Taplin, District 2 
    Schildt, Christine, appointed by Councilmember Bartlett, District 3 
 Lacey, Mary Kay, Vice Chair, appointed by Councilmember Harrison, District 4 
 Beach, Benjamin, appointed by Councilmember Hahn, District 5 

  Kapla, Robb, Chair, appointed by Councilmember Wengraf, District 6 

Page 1 of 511

https://zoom.us/j/92849767287
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Planning_Commission_Homepage.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Planning_Commission_Homepage.aspx


 

Krpata, Shane, appointed by Councilmember Robinson, District 7  
Hauser, Savlan, appointed by Councilmember Droste, District 8 
Wrenn, Rob, appointed by Mayor Arreguin 

 
2.  Order of Agenda:  The Commission may rearrange the agenda or place items on the 

Consent Calendar. 
 

3.  Public Comment:  Comments on subjects not included on the agenda. Speakers may 
comment on agenda items when the Commission hears those items.  (See “Public 
Testimony Guidelines” below): 

 
4.  Planning Staff Report:  In addition to the items below, additional matters may be reported 

at the meeting.   

5.  Chairperson’s Report:  Report by Planning Commission Chair. 

6. Committee Reports:  Reports by Commission committees or liaisons.  In addition to the 
items below, additional matters may be reported at the meeting. 

7.  Approval of Minutes:  Approval of Draft Minutes from the meeting on December 2, 2020. 

8.  Future Agenda Items and Other Planning-Related Events:   

 
AGENDA ITEMS:  All agenda items are for discussion and possible action.  Public Hearing items 
require hearing prior to Commission action. 

 

9. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Action: 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Written Materials: 
Presentation: 
 
Discussion: 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Written Materials: 
Presentation: 
 
Action: 
Recommendation: 
 
Written Materials: 
Presentation: 
 
 
 

Public Hearing to Recommend Adoption of the 
Baseline Zoning Ordinance (BZO)  
Hold a public hearing, take public comment, and provide 
feedback, and develop recommendation to City Council.  
Attached  
N/A 
 
Business Support Zoning Amendment Referrals – 
Research and Development 
Review report and provide direction to staff on a 
response to the Research and Development Referral.    
Attached  
N/A 
 
Adeline Corridor Plan Adoption 
Discuss City Council’s action and potential 
communication to City Council.   
Attached 
N/A 
 
 
 

Page 2 of 511



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS:  In compliance with Brown Act regulations, no action may be 
taken on these items.  However, discussion may occur at this meeting upon Commissioner 
request. 
 

Information Items:   
 

 None 
 

Communications:  
 

 December 7 – Martin, BART  

 December 7 – Schulman, BART 

 December 9 – Orr, African American Holistic Resource Center  
 

Late Communications:  (Received after the packet deadline):  
 

 Supplemental Packet One – received by noon two days before the meeting 

 Supplemental Packet Two – received by 5pm the day before the meeting 

 Supplemental Packet Three – received after 5pm the day before the meeting 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
****   MEETING PROCEDURES **** 
 
Public Testimony Guidelines: 
All persons are welcome to attend the virtual meeting and will be given an opportunity to address 
the Commission. Speakers are customarily allotted up to three minutes each.  The Commission 
Chair may limit the number of speakers and the length of time allowed to each speaker to ensure 
adequate time for all items on the Agenda.  Customarily, speakers are asked to address agenda 
items when the items are before the Commission rather than during the general public comment 
period.  Speakers are encouraged to submit comments in writing. See “Procedures for 
Correspondence to the Commissioners” below. 
 
Procedures for Correspondence to the Commissioners: 
All persons are welcome to attend the virtual hearing and will be given an opportunity to address 
the Commission. Comments may be made verbally at the public hearing and/or in writing before 
the hearing. The Commission may limit the time granted to each speaker.  
 
Written comments must be directed to the Planning Commission Secretary at the Land Use 
Planning Division (Attn: Planning Commission Secretary), 1947 Center Street, Second Floor, 
Berkeley CA 94704, or via e-mail to: apearson@cityofberkeley.info. All materials will be made 
available via the Planning Commission agenda page online at this address: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/.   
 

12.   Action: 
Recommendation: 
 
Written Materials: 
Presentation: 
 

2021 Meeting Schedule 
Discuss and adopt 2021 Planning Commission meeting 
schedule 
Attached 
N/A 

Page 3 of 511

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/


 

Correspondence received by 12 noon, nine days before this public meeting, will be included as 
a Communication in the agenda packet.  Correspondence received after this deadline will be 
conveyed to the Commission and the public in the following manner:  
 

 Correspondence received by 12 noon two days before this public meeting, will be included 
in a Supplemental Packet, which will be posted to the online agenda as a Late 
Communication and emailed to Commissioners one day before the public meeting. 
 

 Correspondence received by 5pm one day before this public meeting, will be included in a 
second Supplemental Packet, which will be posted to the online agenda as a Late 
Communication and emailed to the Commissioners by 5pm on the day of the public 
meeting. 
 

 Correspondence received after 5pm one day before this public meeting will be saved as 
part of the public record. 
 

Note: It will not be possible to submit written comments at the meeting. 
 
Communications are Public Records:  Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions, or 
committees are public records and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are 
accessible through the City’s website.  Please note:  e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and 
other contact information are not required, but if included in any communication to a City 
board, commission, or committee, will become part of the public record.  If you do not want 
your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver 
communications via U.S. Postal Service, or in person, to the Secretary of the relevant board, 
commission, or committee.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public 
record, please do not include that information in your communication.  Please contact the 
Secretary to the relevant board, commission, or committee for further information. 
 
Communication Access: To request a meeting agenda in large print, Braille, or on audiocassette, 
or to request a sign language interpreter for the meeting, call (510) 981-7410 (voice), or 981-6903 
(TDD). Notice of at least five (5) business days will ensure availability. 
 
Meeting Access: To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the 
meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact the Disability Services Specialist, at 
981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD), at least three (3) business days before the meeting date.  

--- 
 
I hereby certify that the agenda for this regular meeting of the Planning Commission was posted 
at the display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134 Martin 
Luther King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on December 11, 2020.   
 
 
____________________________________ 
Alene Pearson 
Planning Commission Secretary  

Page 4 of 511



Planning Commission 

 DRAFT MINUTES OF THE REGULAR PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 1 

December 2, 2020 2 

The meeting was called to order at 7:02 p.m. 3 

Location: Virtual meeting via Zoom 4 

1. ROLL CALL:5 

Commissioners Present: Benjamin Beach, Robb Kapla, Shane Krpata, Steve Martinot,6 

Mary Kay Lacey, Christine Schildt, Jeff Vincent, Brad Wiblin, and Rob Wrenn.7 

Commissioners Absent: None.8 

Staff Present: Secretary Alene Pearson, Katrina Lapira, and Alisa Shen.9 

2. ORDER OF AGENDA: No changes.10 

3. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD:  011 

4. PLANNING STAFF REPORT:12 

13 

 City Council14 

o December 8 - Adeline Corridor Plan Presentation15 

o December 15 – Parking Reform  (Continued from December 1) and Home16 

Occupations17 

Information Items: 18 

 Referral to Planning Commission: Re-designation and rezone of five parcels adjacent to19 

the Adeline Corridor Plan Area (adopted by City Council on November 17, 2020)20 
21 

Communications: 22 

 None23 

Late Communications: See agenda for links. 24 

 Supplemental Packet One25 

 Supplemental Packet Two26 

 Supplemental Packet Three27 

5. CHAIR REPORT:28 

Item 7 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 5 of 511



 

 

 None 29 

 30 

6. COMMITTEE REPORT:  Reports by Commission committees or liaisons. In addition to the 31 

items below, additional matters may be reported at the meeting. 32 

 33 

 None   34 

7. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   35 

Motion/Second/Carried (Krpata/Wiblin) to approve the Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 36 
from November 18, 2020. 37 
 38 
Ayes: Beach, Kapla, Krpata, Lacey, Martinot, Schildt, Vincent, Wrenn, and Wiblin. Noes: None. 39 

Abstain: None. Absent: None. (9-0-0-0) 40 

 41 

8. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND OTHER PLANNING- 42 

 Tentative Items for December 16 PC Meeting 43 
o Public Hearing: Zoning Ordinance Revision Project Baseline Zoning Ordinance 44 
o Public Hearing: Tentative Tract Map 45 
o Discussion: Research and Development Referral  46 
o 2021 Planning Commission Schedule  47 

 January 6 – First Meeting in 2021 48 

 January 20 – Special Concurrent Meeting with Housing Advisory Commission  49 

AGENDA ITEMS 50 

9. Action:  Public Hearing: BART Zoning Standards & EIR Scoping Meeting   51 

Staff presented an overview of the planning efforts at both the Ashby 52 

and North Berkeley BART Stations, reviewing key events since 53 

2015, the roles of the City and BART in the context of Assembly Bill 54 

2923, and the planning process timeline.   Staff shared the California 55 

Environmental Quality Act (CEAQ) process and the purpose of the 56 

EIR Scoping Meeting.  After the presentation, staff received 57 

comments from the public and the Planning Commissioners.  The 58 

deadline to provide public comment on the Notice of Preparation is 59 

December 21, 2020.  Please direct all comments to staff planner, 60 

Alisa Shen, via email at ashen@cityofberkeley.info.  61 

Motion/Second/Carried (Wrenn/Martinot) to close the public hearing on the BART Zoning 62 
Standards and EIR Scoping Meeting at 9:47pm.         63 

 64 
Ayes: Beach, Kapla, Krpata, Lacey, Martinot, Schildt, Vincent, Wrenn, and Wiblin. Noes: None. 65 

Abstain: None. Absent: None. (9-0-0-0) 66 

 67 

Item 7 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 6 of 511

mailto:ashen@cityofberkeley.info


 

 

Public Comments: 11 68 

Members in the public in attendance: 32 69 

Public Speakers:  11 speakers 70 

Length of the meeting: 2 hours and 45 minutes 71 

Item 7 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 7 of 511



Page 8 of 511



Planning and Development Department 
Land Use Planning Division 

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981.7420 
E-mail: planning@ci.berkeley.ca.us

STAFF REPORT 

DATE:  December 16, 2020 

TO: Members of the Planning Commission 

FROM: Justin Horner, Associate Planner 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing to Recommend Adoption of Baseline Zoning Ordinance 
(BZO) 

RECOMMENDATION 
Hold a public hearing, consider input, and make a recommendation to City Council on 
adoption of the Draft Baseline Zoning Ordinance (BZO; Attachment 1) to replace 
Berkeley’s current Zoning Ordinance (Subtitles 23A, 23B, 23C, 23D, 23E and 23F of the 
Berkeley Municipal Code).   

BACKGROUND 
Development of the BZO is Phase 1 of the Zoning Ordinance Revision Project (ZORP).  
ZORP originates from a 2016 City Council Referral to “direct staff to make structural 
improvements to the Zoning Ordinance, communication improvements to better explain 
complex technical and procedural elements to the public, and organizational 
improvements to the Land Use Planning Division.” 

At its meeting of September 2, 2020, the Planning Commission was presented with a 
draft of the BZO, heard a presentation from staff describing the process of the 
development of the BZO, and was asked to provide comments and guidance to staff to 
finalize the BZO for formal consideration at this evening’s public hearing.  Specifically, the 
Planning Commission directed staff to return with additional details on the following three 
matters: the content of the Consent Changes Matrix (Attachment 2); clarification of the 
basis for some of the recommendations; and details about the outcome of community 
outreach efforts.   

DISCUSSION 
For a detailed discussion of the BZO and its development, please see the September 2, 
2020 Planning Commission staff report included as Attachment 3.  The Discussion below 
includes only responses to questions asked of staff at the September 2, 2020 meeting. 

Item 9 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 9 of 511



Baseline Zoning Ordinance Public Hearing 

Consent Changes Matrix 
Although the development of the BZO has not included any major policy changes, there 
are a number of minor substantive changes to the Zoning Ordinance that are included in 
the BZO.  These changes explicitly state existing legal requirements, codify current 
practices, and clarify ambiguous terms.  These changes are either revisions of existing 
Zoning Ordinance language or brand new language added to the BZO. In either case, 
these changes do not result in any significant changes in policy.  To reflect their minor 
nature, these changes are collectively called “consent changes,” and have been collected 
in a Consent Changes Matrix for ease of review.   

The Consent Changes Matrix reviewed at the September 2, 2020 Planning Commission 
meeting included only those changes that were made to existing Zoning Ordinance 
language.  At that meeting, the Planning Commission directed staff to include two pieces 
of additional information in the Consent Changes Matrix.  The first was to add a Rationale 
column to the matrix to offer a brief justification of each consent change. The second was 
to add any new language that qualified as a consent change to the Consent Change 
Matrix. 

The revised Consent Changes Matrix is included as Attachment 2 of this report. 

Baseline Zoning Ordinance Clarifications 
The Planning Commission had four specific questions regarding language included in the 
BZO. 

Two questions related to Section 23.102.070 of the BZO and pertain to the relationship 
between the BZO and other laws and regulations.  Section 23.102.070 of the BZO reads: 

23.102.070 – CONFLICTING PROVISIONS 

A. Conflict with State or Federal Regulations. Where the Zoning Ordinance conflicts
with state or federal laws, higher law applies unless local variation is permitted.

B. Conflict with Other City Regulations. Where the Zoning Ordinance conflicts with
other ordinances, resolutions, or regulations of the City of Berkeley, the more
restrictive regulation is applied.

C. Conflict with Private Agreements. It is not the intent of the Zoning Ordinance to
interfere with, abrogate, or annul any easement, covenant, deed restriction, or other
agreement between private parties. If the Zoning Ordinance imposes a greater
restriction than imposed by a private agreement, the Zoning Ordinance controls.
Private agreements may impose greater restrictions than the Zoning

The first question raised by the Planning Commission was whether Section 23.102.070(A) 
accurately characterizes the relationship between the BZO and state and federal law. 
The Planning Commission was concerned that this provision was not a correct statement 
of the law and could unintentionally cede legislative authority to the state and federal 
governments beyond the authority they already possess.  There was also concern that 
the statement was so expansive that readers of the BZO may not feel confident that the 
rules in the BZO are set and not subject to unexpected changes from the state and federal 
governments. 

Item 9 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 10 of 511



Baseline Zoning Ordinance Public Hearing 

City staff consulted with the City Attorney’s Office and was advised that Section 
23.102.070(A) is a correct statement of the law, consistent with the Supremacy Clause of 
the United States Constitution and Article XI, Section 5(a) of the California Constitution 
(“It shall be competent in any city charter to provide that the city governed thereunder 
may make and enforce all ordinances and regulations in respect to municipal affairs, 
subject only to restrictions and limitations provided in their several charters and in respect 
to other matters they shall be subject to general laws.”). 

For the second question, the Planning Commission requested the legal basis for Section 
23.102.070(B) which discusses conflicts between the BZO and other city regulations.  City 
staff consulted with the City Attorney’s Office and was advised that 23.102.070(B) is an 
interpretative statement that the Planning Commission may or may not choose to include. 
However, generally, staff was advised that compliance with the Zoning Ordinance does 
not excuse non-compliance with other applicable laws or regulations, so this statement 
reflects a correct interpretation of the law in the vast majority of cases. 

The third question was whether Section 23.404.070(C) of the draft BZO, which pertains 
to the modification of approved permits, is an accurate restatement of what is included in 
the current Zoning Ordinance.  Section 23.404.070(C) reads: 

C. Review Authority.  A permit shall be modified by the review authority which originally
approved the permit.

Staff can confirm that Section 23.404.070(C) is an accurate summary of the Zoning 
Ordinance’s requirements. Staff notes that the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB), 
pursuant to an administrative procedure, has delegated authority to the Zoning Officer for 
certain modifications. 

The fourth question was whether Section 23A.104.020 of the draft BZO granted the 
Zoning Officer broader authority to interpret the Zoning Ordinance than what is stated in 
the Zoning Ordinance itself. To more accurately reflect the authority stated in the existing 
Zoning Ordinance, Section 23.104.020 has been amended to read: 

23.104.020 – Authority 

The Zoning Officer is responsible for interpreting the meaning and applicability of all 
provisions in the Zoning Ordinance.  Zoning Officer Interpretations are subject to review 
and modification by the ZAB and City Council. 

Summary of Community Outreach Efforts for the BZO 
Staff designed a Community Outreach Plan to solicit input on the BZO.  The Plan 
consisted of the following efforts, the results of which are summarized below: 

1. Creation of Zoning Ordinance Revision Project website.

Item 9 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 11 of 511

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Land_Use_Division/Zoning_Ordinance_Revision_Project_(ZORP).aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Land_Use_Division/Zoning_Ordinance_Revision_Project_(ZORP).aspx


Baseline Zoning Ordinance Public Hearing 

The ZORP webpage includes basic project information, background documents and links 
to past and future public meetings regarding ZORP. 

2. Targeted outreach to frequent project applicants

Staff contacted about three dozen frequent project applicants to introduce them to the 
BZO and to request their review and comments, as well as announcing the three office 
hours sessions and survey (see below). Staff heard from a few parties in response to this 
outreach, who either requested additional information or expressed support for the 
simplified format. 

3. Internal outreach to Current Planning project staff

Staff asked three Current Planning project staff (Planners) to utilize the BZO to review 
projects to which they are already assigned, to give the BZO a test run as an actual 
administrative document.  All three Planners provided insightful feedback about the 
usability of the ordinance and identified some important edits.  In general, all three 
Planners appreciated the clearer language and layout, and, even though they were 
utilizing a non-hyperlinked pdf document, were supportive of the BZO. 

4. Office Hours sessions

Staff held three Zoom “office hours” sessions, all of which were open to the public, to 
introduce the BZO and take questions or comments.  These sessions were held on 
September 7th, 9th and 14th.   

5. Berkeley Considers survey

Staff launched a Berkeley Considers survey entitled “Please Review and Provide Your 
Feedback on the Baseline Zoning Ordinance” (Survey) to solicit input on the BZO.  The 
Survey was publicized by the Public Information Officer in an email to approximately 
60,000 recipients. The Survey was open for the month of September and received 194 
visitors and 29 registered responses.   

The Survey asked respondents to rate nine sections of the BZO on a scale of 1-to-5 (5 
being best) based upon how well the BZO satisfies the following: 

 Can be understood by a person without a technical background.
 Is organized so that users can easily find what they are looking for.
 Is written with clarity so it is easy to determine which rules apply to a project

or property.
 Is organized so that users did not need to hunt for hidden information.
 Is organized so that users are unlikely to overlook something important.

The Survey also provided space for respondents to leave narrative comments. 

On average, respondents judged each of the 9 sections as a “3” on a scale of 1-to-5 with 
respect to meeting the above criteria.  There were clearly a number of respondents who 

Item 9 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 12 of 511



Baseline Zoning Ordinance Public Hearing 

judged the BZO with respect to its content, as opposed to whether it was a good revision 
of the existing Zoning Ordinance (for example, one commenter noted “REPEAL ENTIRE 
ZONING CODE”), and there were two who noted having bad experiences getting permits 
themselves.  A number of respondents provided helpful suggestions (“more diagrams”) 
and a few expressed support for the clearer presentation style of the BZO.   

Environmental Review 
Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Sections 15378(a), 15060(c)(2) and 15064(d)(3), 
environmental review is not required because the proposed Zoning Ordinance change is 
not a Project. The proposed Zoning Ordinance amendment does not meet the definition 
of a Project under CEQA Guidelines Section 15378(a), nor does it constitute an activity 
covered by CEQA under CEQA Guidelines Section 15060(c)(2), because passage of the 
BZO does not constitute a direct physical impact on the environment, nor would it result 
in an indirect, reasonably foreseeable physical impact on the environment. As the BZO 
only constitutes a revision of the existing Zoning Ordinance, and does not include any 
substantive policy changes, identifying and quantifying any potential changes would be 
highly speculative.  Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15064(d)(3), any change that 
is speculative is not considered reasonably foreseeable.  

Notwithstanding the above, even if it could be demonstrated that the Zoning Ordinance 
changes are a Project under CEQA, the amendment--a written revision of the Zoning 
Ordinance--would not constitute a significant impact on the environment under the 
“Common Sense Exemption,” pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3).   

The proposed amendment does not include any provisions that would exempt or 
otherwise reduce environmental review required under CEQA for individual development 
projects. 

NEXT STEPS 
Staff recommends Planning Commission hold a public hearing, consider public testimony, 
and make a recommendation to the City Council regarding the Baseline Zoning 
Ordinance.  

Attachments: 

1. Draft Baseline Zoning Ordinance (BZO)
2. Consent Changes Matrix
3. Planning Commission Staff Report: Baseline Zoning Ordinance Update and 

Discussion (September 2, 2020) – without attachments
4. Public Hearing Notice 

Item 9 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 13 of 511



Page 14 of 511



 

 

 

 
 

BASELINE ZONING 
ORDINANCE  

MUNICIPAL CODE TITLE 23 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning Commission Draft 

December 2020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 15 of 511



Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 16 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE TOC-1

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 
TITLE 23 CONTENTS 

Division 1: General Provisions 

23.102: Introductory Provisions 

23.104: Interpreting the Zoning Ordinance 

23.106: Rules of Measurement 

23.108: Zoning Districts and Map 

Division 2: Zoning Districts 

23.202: Residential Districts 

23.204: Commercial Districts 

23.206: Manufacturing Districts 

23.208: Special Purpose Districts 

23.210: Overlay Zones 

Division 3: Citywide Provisions 

23.302: Supplemental Use Regulations 

23.304: General Development Standards 

23.306: Accessory Dwelling Units 

23.308: Emergency Shelters 

23.310: Alcoholic Beverage Sales and Service 

23.312: Live/Work 

23.314: Short-Term Rentals 

23.316: Percentage for Public Art on Private Projects 

23.318: Urban Agriculture 

23.320: Cannabis Uses 

23.322: Parking and Loading 

23.324: Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings 

23.326: Demolition and Dwelling Unit Control 

23.328: Inclusionary Housing 

23.330: Density Bonus 

23.332: Wireless Communication Facilities 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 17 of 511



TOC-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

Division 4: Permits and Administration 

23.402: Administrative Responsibility 

23.404: Common Permit Requirements 

23.406: Specific Permit Requirements 

23.408: Green Pathway 

23.410: Appeals and Certification 

23.412: Zoning Ordinance Amendments 

23.414: Nuisance Abatement 

 

Division 5: Glossary 

23.502: Glossary 

 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 18 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  TOC-1 

DIVISION 1: 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

23.102: Introductory Provisions 

23.102.010 – Title 

23.102.020 – Effective Date 

23.102.030 – Authority 

23.102.040 – Purpose of the Zoning Ordinance 

23.102.050 – Applicability and Jurisdiction 

23.102.060 – Emergencies 

23.102.070 – Conflicting Provisions 

23.102.080 – Transitional Provisions 

23.102.090 – Severability 

23.102.100 – Rules of Evidence and Procedure 

   

23.104: Interpreting the Zoning Ordinance 

23.104.010 – Purpose 

23.104.020 – Authority 

23.104.030 – Rules of Interpretation 

23.104.040 – Threshold Regulations 

23.104.050 – Zoning Map 

 

23.106: Rules of Measurement 

23.106.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.106.020 – Lot Coverage 

23.106.030 – Floor Area, Gross 

23.106.040 – Floor Area, Leasable 

23.106.050 – Floor Area Ratio 

23.106.060 – Story 

23.106.070 – Setbacks 

23.106.080 – Building Separation 

23.106.090 – Height 

 

23.108: Zoning Districts and Map 

23.108.010 – Purpose 

23.108.020 – Zoning Districts 

23.108.030 – Zoning Map 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 19 of 511



TOC-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 20 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 102-1 

    

INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS 
Sections: 

23.102.010 – Title 

23.102.020 – Effective Date 

23.102.030 – Authority 

23.102.040 – Purpose of the Zoning Ordinance 

23.102.050 – Applicability and Jurisdiction 

23.102.060 – Emergencies 

23.102.070 – Conflicting Provisions 

23.102.080 – Transitional Provisions 

23.102.090 – Severability 

23.102.100 – Rules of Evidence and Procedure 

  

Commentary:  This chapter contains general introductory language for the Zoning Ordinance, primarily from 

sections 23A.040 and 23A.24 of the existing Zoning Ordinance.  

23.102.010 – TITLE1 
Municipal Code Title 23 is known and cited as the “City of Berkeley Zoning Ordinance” and 

referred to in this title as “the Zoning Ordinance.”  

23.102.020 – EFFECTIVE DATE2 
The Zoning Ordinance takes effect and is in force from and after [date of adoption]. 

23.102.030 – AUTHORITY3 
The Zoning Ordinance is adopted under the authority in California Government Code Section 

65850 and all other relevant laws of the State of California. If the Zoning Ordinance refers to a 

section of state law that is later amended or superseded, the Zoning Ordinance is deemed amended 

to refer to the amended section or the section that most closely corresponds to the superseded 

section. 

  

 
1 Source: 23A.040.010. Deletes 23A.04.020. 
2 New. Clear statement of when Ordinance became effective. 
3 New. States that if state law is amended, the Zoning is deemed amended to refer to the amended section. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 21 of 511



SECTION  23.102.040   CHAPTER 23.102 - INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS 

PAGE 102-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.102.040 – PURPOSE OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE4 
A. General. The purpose of the Zoning Ordinance is to implement the General Plan and adopted 

area plans and to protect the public health, safety, and welfare. 

B. Specific. The Zoning Ordinance is intended to: 

1. Encourage appropriate land uses and a harmonious relationship among land uses by 

regulating the location and type of allowed land uses and development. 

2. Provide for the appropriate intensity of development by regulating: 

a. The establishment, density and change of uses;  

b. The construction of buildings and additions; and 

c. The size and coverage of lots. 

3. Provide for adequate light and air by: 

a. Limiting building height, bulk, and size; and 

b. Requiring building setbacks from lot lines and separations between buildings. 

4. Provide for adequate usable open space, off-street parking, and off-street loading spaces for 

specified land uses by: 

a. Requiring reservations of land and structures for such purposes; and 

b. Regulating the number, placement, and location of such spaces and areas. 

5. Prevent adverse effects of commercial and manufacturing activities by: 

a. Limiting the hours, intensity, presence of outdoor activities, and other aspects of 

commercial and manufacturing land uses; and 

b. Limiting the number and size of commercial and manufacturing land uses in specified 

districts. 

6. Provide review of major changes in buildings by regulating proposals for their demolition, 

conversion, or relocation. 

7. Ensure that the construction and alteration of buildings in Non-Residential Districts is 

compatible with the existing neighborhoods by requiring Design Review to provide for a 

pleasing Berkeley environment and encourage excellence in design. 

8. Protect Berkeley’s existing housing stock by regulating the reduction in size, removal, 

demolition, or conversion of dwelling units, group living accommodations, and residential 

hotel rooms. 

 
4 Source: 23A.04.030. Deletes references to specific area plans. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 22 of 511



CHAPTER 23.102 - INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS  SECTION  23.102.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 102-3 

9. Promote the development of affordable housing for all persons and in particular for persons 

with low and moderate incomes. 

10. Incorporate the substantive provisions of the Neighborhood Preservation Ordinance 

(Ordinance 4641-NS, not codified), a citizen initiative, to the extent permitted by law.  

23.102.050 – APPLICABILITY AND JURISDICTION 
A. Applicability.5 

1. General. The Zoning Ordinance applies to all property in Berkeley, including property 

owned by the City and other governmental entities, to the full extent permitted by law. 

2. Public Right-of-Way. The Zoning Ordinance does not apply to uses and structures wholly 

in the public right-of-way, unless otherwise specified. Such uses and structures must comply 

with Encroachment Permit regulations in Municipal Code Chapter 16.18 (Right-of-Way 

Encroachments and Encroachment Permits).  

B. Compliance Required.6 All land uses and structures in Berkeley must comply with the Zoning 

Ordinance and all applicable City ordinances and regulations. 

C. City Actions.7 No City department, employee, or official may issue a permits or license for a use 

or structures that conflicts with the Zoning Ordinance. Any permit or license issued in conflict 

with the Zoning Ordinance is null and void. Nothing in this subsection is intended to create a 

mandatory duty under Government Code Section 815.6. 

D. Approvals Required. 
8 A land use may be established and a structure may be constructed, 

altered, or moved only after: 

1. All applicable project review and approval processes have been followed; 

2. All required permits and approvals have been obtained; and 

3. All required authorizations to proceed have been issued. 

E. Other Regulations. 9 Compliance with the Zoning Ordinance does not relieve an applicant 

from requirements to comply with other federal, state, and City regulations that also apply to the 

property.  

  

 
5 Source: 23A.24.010 
6 Replaces 23A.12.010 and 23B.56.040. CONSENT CHANGE: Removes requirement that uses and structures comply 
with regulations and laws of other governmental agencies.  
7 Source: 23B.64.010.E  
8 New. Expands on existing Section 23A.12.010 to reflect current practice. 
9 Source: 23A.24.030.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 23 of 511



SECTION  23.102.060   CHAPTER 23.102 - INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS 

PAGE 102-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.102.060 – EMERGENCIES10 
A. Deviations Allowed. During a local emergency, the City Council may allow a land use or 

structure to be established without a Use Permit or other approval ordinarily required by the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

B. Approval Procedures. 

1. The City Council may approve such a land use or structure by the same vote required for the 

adoption of an urgency ordinance upon finding that: 

a. An emergency exists as defined in Municipal Code Section 2.88.020 (Emergency 

Defined); and 

b. The use or structure is required to ameliorate the effects of the emergency. 

C. Effective Date of Action. Action by the City Council under this section is effective 

immediately. 

D. Post-Emergency Requirements. 

1. Uses and structures permitted under this section are no longer authorized after the City 

Council declares the emergency has ended. 

2. After the emergency has ended, uses and structures shall either: 

a. Be removed or discontinued; or  

b. Apply for all permits and approvals required by the Zoning Ordinance. 

23.102.070 – CONFLICTING PROVISIONS 
A. Conflict with State or Federal Regulations.11 Where the Zoning Ordinance conflicts with 

state or federal laws, higher law controls over lower law unless local variation is permitted. 

B. Conflict with Other City Regulations.12 Where the Zoning Ordinance conflicts with other 

ordinances, resolutions, or regulations of the City of Berkeley, the more restrictive controls. 

C. Conflict with Private Agreements.13 It is not the intent of the Zoning Ordinance to interfere 

with, abrogate, or annul any easement, covenant, deed restriction, or other agreement between 

private parties. If the Zoning Ordinance imposes a greater restriction than imposed by a private 

agreement, the Zoning Ordinance controls. Private agreements may impose greater restrictions 

than the Zoning Ordinance, but the City is not responsible for monitoring or enforcing private 

agreements. 

 
10 Source: 23A.24.020 
11 New. Explains how to handle conflicts with state or federal law. 
12 New. CONSENT CHANGE. Explains how to handle conflicts with other City regulations. 
13 Source: 23A.24.030.D. CONSENT CHANGE: New statement that City is not responsible for monitoring or 
enforcing private agreements.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 24 of 511



CHAPTER 23.102 - INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS  SECTION  23.102.080  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 102-5 

23.102.080 – TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 
A. Relation to Prior Zoning Ordinance.14 The Zoning Ordinance supersedes the prior Zoning 

Ordinance codified in Municipal Code Title 23, including all Title 23 sub-titles and appendices. 

B. Violations Continue.15 A violation of the prior Zoning Ordinance continues to be a violation 

under this Zoning Ordinance unless the violation is brought into compliance with this Zoning 

Ordinance. 

C. Pending Applications.16 

1. If the City deems an application complete but does not take final action on the application 

before the effective date of this Zoning Ordinance, the application remains subject to prior 

Zoning Ordinance in effect when the application was deemed complete. 

2. If an application is withdrawn prior to a decision, any re-application is subject to the 

requirements of this Zoning Ordinance. 

D. Approved Projects.17 

1. Permits and other approvals valid on the effective date of this Zoning Ordinance remain 

valid until their expiration date. 

2. Projects with valid permits or approvals shall be completed in compliance with the standards 

in effect at the time of approval. If the permit or approval expires, future development shall 

comply with the requirements of this Zoning Ordinance. 

E. Nonconformities. 18 A parcel, land use, or structure lawfully established prior to [effective date 

of Zoning Ordinance] that does not comply with this Zoning Ordinance is considered 

nonconforming and subject to the requirements in Chapter 23.324 (Nonconforming Uses, 

Structures, and Buildings). 

23.102.090 – SEVERABILITY19 
If any portion of the Zoning Ordinance is found invalid or unconstitutional by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity or the constitutionality of the remaining 

portions of the Zoning Ordinance, which shall remain in full force and effect.  The City Council 

declares that it would have passed the Zoning Ordinance and each of its portions, regardless of 

whether any portion is declared invalid or unconstitutional. 

 
14 Source: 23A.04.020.B, first sentence. 
15 Source: 23A.04.020.B, second sentence. 
16 New. Codifies current City practice and law.  
17 Source: 23A.24.030.B. Clarifies rules applying to previously approved projects consistent with existing City practices 
and law.   
18 New. Adds up-front reference to nonconformities chapter. 
19 Source: 23A.24.030.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 25 of 511



SECTION  23.102.100   CHAPTER 23.102 - INTRODUCTORY PROVISIONS 

PAGE 102-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.102.100 – RULES OF EVIDENCE AND PROCEDURE20 
Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Ordinance, formal rules of evidence or procedure 

which must be followed in a court of record in this state shall not apply. No action, inaction or 

recommendation made by any City official, employee, commission, board or other entity under this 

Ordinance shall be void or invalid or be set aside by any court on the ground of the improper 

admission or rejection of evidence or by reason of any error, irregularity, informality, neglect or 

omission (hereinafter called error) as to any matter pertaining to petitions, applications, notices, 

findings, records, hearings, reports, recommendations, appeals or any matters of procedure 

whatever, unless after an examination of the entire case, including the evidence, the court is of the 

opinion that the error complained of was prejudicial, and that by reason of such error the party 

complaining or appealing sustained and suffered substantial injury, and that a different result would 

have been probable if such error had not occurred or existed. There shall be no presumption that 

error is prejudicial or that injury was done if error is shown. 

  

 
20 Source: 23A.24.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 26 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 104-1 

    

INTERPRETING THE ZONING 

ORDINANCE 
Sections: 

23.104.010 – Purpose 

23.104.020 – Authority 

23.104.030 – Rules of Interpretation 

23.104.040 – Threshold Regulations 

23.104.050 – Zoning Map 

  

Commentary:  This chapter combines rules for interpreting the Zoning Ordinance text (from 23A.08) and 

resolving uncertainties in the Zoning Map (from 23A.16). 

23.104.010 – PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes rules and procedures for interpreting the Zoning Ordinance to ensure that it 

is applied and enforced in a consistent manner. 

23.104.020 – AUTHORITY2 
The Zoning Officer is responsible for interpreting the meaning and applicability of all provisions in 

the Zoning Ordinance. Zoning Officer interpretations are subject to review and modification by the 

ZAB and City Council. 

23.104.030 – RULES OF INTERPRETATION3 
A. Meaning and Intent. All language shall be construed according to the purpose and intent set 

out in Section 23.102.040 (Purpose of the Zoning Ordinance). 

B. Minimum Requirements.4 The Zoning Ordinance establishes minimum requirements to 

promote the public health, safety, and general welfare. When the Zoning Ordinance provides for 

discretion on the part of a City official or body, that discretion may be exercised to impose more 

stringent requirements as necessary to achieve the purpose and intent of the Zoning Ordinance 

set out Section 23.102.040 (Purpose of the Zoning Ordinance). 

 
1 New chapter purpose statement. 
2 New. Clarifies existing Zoning Officer authority. 
3 Rules of interpretation are new unless otherwise stated in footnotes. CONSENT CHAGE: New rules of interpretation 
relating to Meaning and Intent, Harmonious Construction. Terms Not Defined.  
4 Source: 23A.08.010 and 23A.24.030.A. Elaborates on what is meant by “minimum requirements.” 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 27 of 511



SECTION  23.104.030   CHAPTER 23.104 – INTERPRETING THE ZONING ORDINANCE 

PAGE 104-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

C. Harmonious Construction. The City intends that all provisions of the Zoning Ordinance be 

construed harmoniously. When two or more provisions of the Zoning Ordinance appear to 

conflict, the City shall construe such provisions to give effect to both, if possible, by 

harmonizing them with each other. In cases of conflict, the more restrictive shall govern. 

D. Headings, Illustrations, and Text.5 In cases where text conflicts with any heading, table, or 

figure, the text controls. 

E. Lists and Examples. Unless otherwise specifically indicated, lists of items or examples that use 

terms such as “including,” “such as,” or similar language are intended to provide examples, not 

to be exhaustive lists of all possibilities. 

F. Computation of Time.6 References to days are consecutive calendar days unless otherwise 

stated. When business days are referenced, they include only days when City Hall is open. The 

end of a time period is computed by excluding the first day and including the last day. If the last 

day is a holiday observed by the City or a City Hall non-business day, that day is excluded. 

G. Rounding of Fractional Numbers.7 Unless otherwise stated, a fraction of one-half or more is 

rounded to the nearest highest whole number and a fraction of less than one-half is rounded to 

the next lowest whole number. 

H. References to Other Regulations, Publications, and Documents. Whenever reference is 

made to a resolution, ordinance, regulation, or document, it is construed as a reference to the 

most recent edition of such resolution, ordinance, regulation, or document, unless specifically 

stated. 

I. Technical and Non-Technical Terms. Words and phrases are construed according to the 

common and approved usage of the language, but technical words and phrases that may have 

acquired a peculiar and appropriate meaning in law are construed and understood according to 

such meaning.  

J. Terms Not Defined. In the event there is a term used in the Zoning Ordinance that is not 

defined in this title, the Zoning Officer has the authority to provide a definition based upon 

intended meaning of the undefined term. 

K. Public Officials and Agencies. All public officials, bodies, and agencies to which references 

are made are those of the City of Berkeley, unless otherwise indicated.  

L. Mandatory and Discretionary Terms.8 The words “shall,” “will,” “must,” and “is” are always 

mandatory. The words “may” and “should” are advisory and discretionary terms.  

 
5 Source: 23A.08.050 
6 Source: 23A.08.030 
7 Source: 23A.08.040 
8 Source: 23A.08.010.B.10&13 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 28 of 511



CHAPTER 23.104 – INTERPRETING THE ZONING ORDINANCE  SECTION  23.104.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 104-3 

M. Conjunctions.9 Unless the context clearly suggests the contrary, conjunctions shall be 

interpreted as follows: 

1. “And” means that all connected items apply. 

2. “And/or” means that the connected words or provisions may apply singularly or in any 

combination. 

3. “Or” means that any one of the connected items may apply singularly but not in 

combination. 

4. “Either...or” means that the connected words or provisions shall apply singularly but not in 

combination. 

N. Tenses and Plurals. Words used in one tense (past, present, or future) include all other tenses, 

unless the context clearly indicates the contrary. The singular includes the plural, and the plural 

includes the singular. 

23.104.040 – THRESHOLD REGULATIONS10 
To determine if a non-residential project application is subject to a requirement which applies only if 

certain development or use thresholds are reached, any construction or change of use which is 

subject to the same regulation and was completed within one year prior to the application is 

considered part of the same application. 

23.104.050 – ZONING MAP 
A. Zoning Map Boundaries.11 Where uncertainty exists as to the boundaries of districts shown on 

the Zoning Map, the following rules apply: 

1. Boundaries shown as approximately following lot lines are construed to follow the lot lines. 

2. Boundaries shown as approximately following the centerlines of streets, highways, and alleys 

are construed to follow the centerlines. 

3. Boundaries shown as approximately following city limits are construed to follow city limits. 

4. Where a district boundary divides a lot, the location of the boundary is determined by the 

use of the scale appearing on the Zoning Map unless otherwise indicated by a legal 

description of the property. 

B. Lots Containing Two or More Districts.12 

1. For lots containing two or more districts, each part of the lot is subject to the regulations of 

district in which it is located, except as allowed by Paragraph (2) below. 

 
9 Source: 23A.08.010.B.1,2,9,11 
10 Source: 23A.12.050 
11 Source: 23A.16.030.A. Paragraph 3 is new. 
12 Source: 23A.16.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 29 of 511



SECTION  23.104.050   CHAPTER 23.104 – INTERPRETING THE ZONING ORDINANCE 

PAGE 104-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. The City may apply the setback requirements in one part of a lot to a part of the lot located 

in another district with a Use Permit, subject to the following: 

a. The development intensity (residential density and/or floor area ratio) of the project may 

not exceed the development intensity that would be allowed if the setbacks requirements 

are not adjusted; and 

b. Allowed land uses in each part of the lot are only as permitted in the district in which it 

is located. 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 30 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 106-1 

    

RULES OF MEASUREMENT 
Sections: 

23.106.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.106.020 – Lot Coverage 

23.106.030 – Floor Area, Gross 

23.106.040 – Floor Area, Leasable 

23.106.050 – Floor Area Ratio 

23.106.060 – Story 

23.106.070 – Setbacks 

23.106.080 – Building Separation 

23.106.090 – Height 

  

Commentary:  Rules for the measurement of lot coverage, floor area, height, and other standards are moved from 

the glossary into this chapter. 

23.106.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes rules for the measurement of standards contained in the Zoning Ordinance. 

23.106.020 – LOT COVERAGE  
A. Lot Coverage Defined.2 Lot coverage means all the area of a lot, as projected on a horizontal 

plane, which is: 

1. Enclosed by the exterior walls of buildings or enclosed accessory structures; or 

2. Covered by decks, porches, stairs and/or landings which cover an enclosed space or paved 

ground area.  

B. Exclusions.3 The lot coverage calculation excludes:  

1. Uncovered porches, landings and stairs; 

2. Uncovered decks, except that a deck on the roof of a building or accessory structure or over 

an enclosed space or paved ground area is included in the lot coverage calculation; and 

3. The area of the roof of a subterranean structure, when such a structure is not more than 3 

feet above finished grade. 

 
1 New chapter purpose statement. 
2 Source: 23F.04, coverage area definition. 
3 Source: 23D.04.040. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 31 of 511



SECTION  23.106.030   CHAPTER 23.106 – RULES OF MEASUREMENT 

PAGE 106-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.106.030 – FLOOR AREA, GROSS4 
A. Gross Floor Area Defined. Gross floor area means the total gross horizontal areas of all floors 

of a building or enclosed structure. 

B. Basements and Cellars. Gross floor area includes usable basements and cellars that are either: 

1. Below the roof and within the outer surface of the main walls of a main or accessory 

building (or the centerlines of party walls separating such buildings or portions of buildings); 

or  

2. Within lines drawn parallel to and 2 feet within the roof line of any building or portion of a 

building without walls.  

C. Access Features in Multi-Story Buildings. For a multi-story building with a covered or 

enclosed stairways, stairwells, or elevator shafts, the horizontal area of these features is counted 

only once at the floor level of their greatest area of horizontal extent. 

D. Excluded Areas. The following areas are excluded from gross floor area calculation: 

1. Covered or uncovered areas used for off-street parking or loading spaces. 

2. Driveways ramps between floors and maneuvering aisles of a multi-level parking garage.  

3. Mechanical, electrical, and telephone equipment rooms below finished grade.  

4. Areas which qualify as usable open space. 

5. Arcades, porticoes, and similar open areas for non-residential uses which are: 

a. Located at or near street level;  

b. Accessible to the general public; and  

c. Are not designed or used as sales, display, storage, service, or production areas. 

E. Covered Pedestrian Access Features for Non-Residential Uses. For non-residential uses, 

gross floor area includes pedestrian access interior walkways or corridors, or interior courtyards, 

walkways, paseos or corridors covered by a roof or skylight. 

F. Mezzanines. Gross floor area includes the floor area of a mezzanine. 

23.106.040 – FLOOR AREA, LEASABLE5 
A. Leasable Floor Area Defined. Leasable floor area means the total interior floor area of a 

commercial lease space available for use by a single business. 

B. Included Areas. Leasable floor area includes all sales, customer, display, shelving, assembly, 

seating, counter, kitchen, storage, and office areas.  

 
4 Source: 23F.04, gross floor area and mezzanine definitions. 
5 Source: 23F.04, leasable floor area definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 32 of 511



CHAPTER 23.106 – RULES OF MEASUREMENT  SECTION  23.106.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 106-3 

C. Excluded Areas. Leasable floor area does not include stairs, restrooms, and unenclosed 

walkways and areas serving more than one lease space such as hallways, corridors, lobbies, 

maintenance areas, vestibules and other common areas. 

23.106.050 – FLOOR AREA RATIO6 
A. Floor Area Ratio Defined. Floor area ratio (FAR) means the quotient resulting from division 

of the gross floor area of all buildings on a lot by the area of the lot. See Figure 23.106.050-1 

FIGURE 23.106.050-1: FLOOR AREA RATIO 

 

B. Development on Contiguous Lots. In a single integrated development on contiguous lots, the 

permitted floor area ratio is calculated using the total combined area of all such lots. 

23.106.060 – STORY7 
A. Story Defined. A story means the portion of a building included between the upper surface of 

any floor and the upper surface of the floor next above. See Figure 23.106.060-1. 

  

 
6 Source: 23F.04, floor area ratio definition. 
7 Source: 23F.04, story definition. 

FAR = Total Building Floor Area ÷ 

Total Lot Area 

Maximum Floor Area for a FAR of 0.2 
on a 43,560 Sq. Ft. Lot = 0.2 x 43,560 
Sq. Ft. = 8,712 Sq. Ft. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 33 of 511



SECTION  23.106.070   CHAPTER 23.106 – RULES OF MEASUREMENT 

PAGE 106-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

FIGURE 23.106.060-1: STORY 

 

B. Topmost Story. The topmost story of a building is the portion of a building between the floor 

of the topmost floor and the ceiling or roof above. 

C. Below Grade Spaces. If the finished floor level directly above the ceiling of a basement, garage 

structure, cellar, or unused underfloor space is more than 6 feet above existing grade at any 

point, such basement, cellar, or unused underfloor space is considered a story. 

D. Penthouses. A penthouse used for purposes other than shelter of mechanical equipment or 

shelter of vertical shaft openings in the roof is considered a story.  

E. Mezzanines. When the total floor area of a mezzanine exceeds 33.3 percent of the total floor 

area in that room, it constitutes an additional story. 

23.106.070 – SETBACKS 
A. Measurement. 8 A required setback is measured as the distance between the surface of a 

building’s outer wall and the applicable lot line. 

B. Setback Areas.9 As shown in Figure 23.107.010-1, a setback area means the required open area 

on a lot that is between a lot line and a setback line. A setback area must be unoccupied and 

unobstructed from the ground upward by any portion of a building or structure except as 

otherwise permitted by the Zoning Ordinance. Required setback areas are defined as follows: 

1. Front Setback Area: The area extending across the full width of the front of a lot from the 

front lot line to the front setback line. 

2. Rear Setback Area: The area extending across the full width of the lot between the rear lot 

line and the rear setback line. 

3. Interior Side Setback Area: The area between an interior side lot line and the side setback 

line, and extending from the front lot line to the rear lot line. 

 
8 Source: 23D.04.030.A 
9 Source: 23F.04, yard definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 34 of 511



CHAPTER 23.106 – RULES OF MEASUREMENT  SECTION  23.106.080  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 106-5 

4. Street Side Setback Area: The area between a street side lot line and the side setback line, 

and extending from the front lot line to the rear lot line. 

FIGURE 23.106.070-1: SETBACKS 

 

23.106.080 – BUILDING SEPARATION 
A. Measurement.10 Building separation is measured as the distance between the surface of a main 

building’s outer wall and the outer wall surface of the closest neighboring main building. 

B. Main Buildings with Different Height.11 The required building separation between two or 

more main buildings which are of different heights is that required for the number of stories in 

the tallest building. 

23.106.090 – HEIGHT 
A. Average Building Height.12 

1. Average building height means the vertical distance from the average level of the highest and 

lowest point of that portion of the lot covered by the building (or, in the case of residential 

additions, that portion of the lot covered by the addition) to the roof features shown in 

Table 23.106.090-1.  See Figure 23.106.090-1. 

  

 
10 New. Codifies existing practice. 
11 Source: 23D.040.030.E 
12 Source: 23F.04, height of building, average definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 35 of 511



SECTION  23.106.090   CHAPTER 23.106 – RULES OF MEASUREMENT 

PAGE 106-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.106.090-1: AVERAGE BUILDING HEIGHT MEASUREMENT 

Roof Type Average Building Height Measured To: 

Sloped, hipped, gabled roofs The average height of the roof between the ridge and where 

the eave meets the plate 

Roof with parapet walls The top of the parapet wall 

Gambrel roof The average height of the roof between the ridge and the 

point where the uppermost change in the roof's slope occurs 

Mansard roof The height of the deck 

Shed roof The height of the roof ridge 

 

FIGURE 23.106.090-1: AVERAGE BUILDING HEIGHT 

 

 

2. Dormers are not included in the average building height calculation. 

B. Maximum Building Height.13 Maximum building height means vertical distance of a building 

at any point, within a given plane, from finished grade to the top of the roof or parapet walls. 

See Figure 23.106.090-2.  

 

  

 
13 Source: 23F.04, height of building, maximum definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 36 of 511



CHAPTER 23.106 – RULES OF MEASUREMENT  SECTION  23.106.090  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 106-7 

FIGURE 23.106.090-2: MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 37 of 511



SECTION  23.106.090   CHAPTER 23.106 – RULES OF MEASUREMENT 

PAGE 106-8   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 38 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 108-1 

    

ZONING DISTRICTS AND MAP 
Sections: 

23.108.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.108.020 – Zoning Districts 

23.108.030 – Zoning Map 

 

Commentary:  This chapter establishes the zoning districts and the zoning map (from existing Chapter 23A.16) 

with new language explaining the purpose and applicability of overlay zones.   

23.108.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter identifies the districts that apply to land within the Berkeley city limits and establishes 

the official Berkeley Zoning Map. 

23.108.020 – ZONING DISTRICTS 
A. Districts.2 Berkeley is divided into districts as shown in Table 23.108.020-1. Unique regulations 

apply within each district as established in Chapters 23.202 – 23.210 (Zoning Districts). 

TABLE 23.108.020-1: ZONING DISTRICTS 

District 
Symbol 

Name of District 

Residential Districts 

R-1 Single Family Residential 

R-1A Limited Two-family Residential 

ES-R Environmental Safety Residential 

R-2 Restricted Two-family Residential 

R-2A Restricted Multiple-family Residential 

R-3 Multiple-family Residential 

R-4 Multi-family Residential 

R-5 High Density Residential 

R-S Residential Southside 

R-SMU Residential Southside Mixed Use 

Commercial Districts
3
 

 
1 New chapter purpose statement. 
2 Source: 23A.16.020A&C.  
3 CONSENT CHANGE: C-1 is divided into C-C and C-U Districts. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 39 of 511



SECTION  23.108.020   CHAPTER 23.108 – ZONING DISTRICTS AND MAP 

PAGE 108-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.108.020-1: ZONING DISTRICTS 

District 
Symbol 

Name of District 

C-C Corridor Commercial 

C-U University Avenue Commercial 

C-N Neighborhood Commercial 

C-E Elmwood Commercial 

C-NS North Shattuck Commercial 

C-SA South Area Commercial 

C-T Telegraph Avenue Commercial 

C-SO Solano Avenue Commercial 

C-DMU Downtown Mixed-Use 

C-W West Berkeley Commercial 

Manufacturing Districts 

M Manufacturing 

MM Mixed Manufacturing 

MU-LI Mixed Use-Light Industrial 

MU-R Mixed Use-Residential 

Special Districts 

SP  Specific Plan 

U  Unclassified 

 

B. Undesignated Areas.4 Any area not specifically designated as a district on the Zoning Map is 

subject to the Unclassified (U) district requirements. 

C. Overlay Zones. 

1. The Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map include the overlay zones shown in Table 

23.108.020-2. Overlay zones impose additional regulations on properties beyond what is 

required by the underlying district.5 

2. As shown in Table 23.108.020-2, provisions for overlay zones that apply to two or more 

districts are located in Chapter 23.210 (Overlay Zones). Provisions for overlay zones that 

apply only in one district are located in the Zoning Ordinance chapter for that district.6  

  

 
4 Source: 23A.16.020B 
5 New. Explains purpose of overlay zone. 
6 New. Explains location of overlay zones in the Zoning Ordinance. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 40 of 511



CHAPTER 23.108 – ZONING DISTRICTS AND MAP  SECTION  23.108.030  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 108-3 

TABLE 23.108.020-2: OVERLAY ZONES7 

Overlay Zone 
Symbol Name of Overlay Zone Location in Zoning Ordinance 

Overlay Zones that Apply in Two or More Districts 

H Hillside 23.210.020 (Hillside Overlay Zone) 

C Civic Center 23.210.030 (Civic Center Overlay Zone) 

Overlay Zones that Apply in One District 

CFH Car-Free Housing 23.322.030.A.5 (RS Car-Free Housing Overlay) 

D Dealership 23.204.100.B.5 (Automobile/Motorcycle Sales) 

DA Downtown Arts 23.204.130.C (Arts Overlay District) 

 

3. If the overlay zone applies a standard to a property that conflicts with the underlying district, 

the overlay zone standard governs. If the overlay zone is silent on a standard in the 

underlying district, the underlying district standard applies.8  

D. Vacated Streets.9 Where a public street or alley is officially vacated or abandoned, the land area 

of the street or alley acquires the district classification of the property to which it reverts. 

23.108.030 – ZONING MAP 
A. Adoption.10 The City Council hereby adopts the City of Berkeley Zoning Map (“Zoning Map”), 

which establishes the boundaries of all districts and overlay zones provided for in the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

B. Incorporation by Reference.11 The Zoning Map, including all legends, symbols, notations, 

references, and other information shown on the map, is incorporated by reference and made a 

part of the Zoning Ordinance. 

C. Location.12 The Zoning Map is kept, maintained, and updated electronically by the City Clerk, 

and is available for viewing by the public at the Planning and Development Department and on 

the official City of Berkeley website. 

  

 
7 Source: 23A.16.020. Adds overlays that apply only in one district.  
8 Source: 23A.16.030.C. CONSENT CHANGE: Replaces “the height, coverage, parking and usable open space shall 
comply with the provisions of the underlying district.” 
9 Source: 23A.16.030.D 
10 Source: 23A.16.010; 23A.04.020.A 
11 23A.04.020.A 
12 Source: 23A.16.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 41 of 511



SECTION  23.108.030   CHAPTER 23.108 – ZONING DISTRICTS AND MAP 

PAGE 108-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 42 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  TOC-1 

DIVISION 2: 
ZONING DISTRICTS 

 

23.202: Residential Districts 

23.202.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.202.020 – Allowed Land Uses 

23.202.030 – Additional Permit Requirements 

23.202.040 – Use-Specific Regulations 

23.202.050 – R-1 Single-Family Residential District 

23.202.060 – R-1A Limited Two-Family Residential District 

23.202.070 – ES-R Environmental Safety-Residential District 

23.202.080 – R-2 Restricted Two-Family Residential District 

23.202.090 – R-2A Restricted Multiple-Family Residential District 

23.202.100 – R-3 Multiple-Family Residential District 

23.202.110 – R-4 Multi-Family Residential District 

23.202.120 – R-5 High-Density Residential District 

23.202.130 – R-S Residential Southside District 

23.202.140 – R-SMU Residential Southside District 

   

23.204: Commercial Districts 

23.204.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.204.020 – Allowed Land Uses 

23.204.030 – Additional Permit Requirements 

23.204.040 – Use-Specific Permit Requirements and Regulations 

23.204.050 – C-C Corridor Commercial District 

23.204.060 – C-U University Commercial District 

23.204.070 – C-N Neighborhood Commercial District 

23.204.080 – C-E Elmwood Commercial District 

23.204.090 – C-NS North Shattuck Commercial District 

23.204.100 – C-SA South Area Commercial District 

23.204.110 – C-T Telegraph Avenue Commercial District 

23.204.120 – C-SO Solano Avenue Commercial District 

23.204.130 – C-DMU Downtown Mixed-Use District 

23.204.140 – C-W West Berkeley Commercial District 

 

23.206: Manufacturing Districts 

23.206.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.206.020 – Allowed Land Uses and Permit Requirements 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 43 of 511



TOC-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.206.030 – Additional Permit Requirements 

23.206.040 – Use-Specific Regulations 

23.206.050 – Protected Uses 

23.206.060 – M Manufacturing District 

23.206.070 – MM Mixed Manufacturing District 

23.206.080 – MU-LI Mixed Use-Light Industrial District 

23.206.090 – MU-R Mixed Use-Residential District 

23.206.100 – Permit Findings 

 

23.208: Special Purpose Districts 

23.208.010 – Specific Plan District 

23.208.020 – Unclassified District 

 

23.210: Overlay Zones 

23.210.010 – Purpose of Overlay Zones 

23.210.020 – Hillside Overlay 

23.210.030 – Civic Center District Overlay 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 44 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-1 

   

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
Sections: 

23.202.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.202.020 – Allowed Land Uses 

23.202.030 – Additional Permit Requirements 

23.202.040 – Use-Specific Regulations 

23.202.050 – R-1 Single-Family Residential District 

23.202.060 – R-1A Limited Two-Family Residential District 

23.202.070 – ES-R Environmental Safety-Residential District 

23.202.080 – R-2 Restricted Two-Family Residential District 

23.202.090 – R-2A Restricted Multiple-Family Residential District 

23.202.100 – R-3 Multiple-Family Residential District 

23.202.110 – R-4 Multi-Family Residential District 

23.202.120 – R-5 High-Density Residential District 

23.202.130 – R-S Residential Southside District 

23.202.140 – R-SMU Residential Southside District 

  

Commentary:  This chapter consolidates existing residential zoning district chapters in 23D into a new single 

chapter. Section 23.202.020 contains a single allowed land use table for all residential districts. Due to the complexity 

and variability of development standards across districts, development standards for each district are shown in separate 

tables within the district sections.  

23.202.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE 
This chapter identifies allowed land uses, permit requirements, and development standards for 

residential districts.  

23.202.020 – ALLOWED LAND USES 
A. Allowed Land Uses.1 Table 23.202.020-1 identifies allowed land uses and required permits in 

the Residential Districts. All land uses are defined in Chapter 23.502 (Glossary). Permit 

requirements are described in Chapter 23.406 (Specific Permit Requirements). 

B. Unlisted Land Uses. 2 Any land use not listed in Table 23.202.020-1 is prohibited in the 

Residential Districts. 

 
1 Table 23.202.020-1 consolidates allowed land uses currently in separate chapters in Sub-title 23D into one table for all 
Residential Districts.  
2 New. Codifies current practice consistent with Zoning Ordinance intent.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 45 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS  SECTION 23.202.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-2 

TABLE 23.202.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Residential Districts Use-Specific 
Regulations 

Applies to uses with an 
asterisk following the 
permit requirement 

(e.g., ZC*) 

R-1 R-1A ES-R R-2 R-2A R-3 R-4 R-5 R-S R-SMU 

Residential Uses  

Accessory Dwelling Unit See 23.306 – See 23.306  

Dwellings   

Single-Family  UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Two-Family – UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Multi-Family  – – – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Group Living Accommodation – – – – – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Senior Congregate Housing – – – – See 23.302.070.H  

Public and Quasi-Public Uses  

Child Care Center UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Club/Lodge UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Columbaria AUP* AUP* – AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* 23.302.070.C 

Community Care Facility See 23.202.040.A  

Community Center UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Emergency Shelter – – – – – – See 23.308  

Family Day Care Home, Large AUP AUP – AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP  

Family Day Care Home, Small ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC  

Hospital – – – – – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH)  

Library UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Nursing Home – – – – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Park/Playground ZC ZC UP ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC  

Public Safety and Emergency 
Service 

UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Public Utility Substation/Tank UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Religious Assembly UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

School UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Commercial Uses   

Alcoholic Beverage Service – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)* 23.310 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 46 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-3 

TABLE 23.202.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Residential Districts Use-Specific 
Regulations 

Applies to uses with an 
asterisk following the 
permit requirement 

(e.g., ZC*) 

R-1 R-1A ES-R R-2 R-2A R-3 R-4 R-5 R-S R-SMU 

Food Products Store – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)* 23.202.140.B.3 

Food Service Establishment – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)* 23.302.070.E 

Hotel, Tourist – – – – – – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Laundromat and Cleaner – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

Office – – – – – – UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH)  

Parking Lot/Structure 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)* 23.302.070.G 

23.322.100 

Personal and Household Service, 
General 

– – – – – – – – – ZC* 23.202.140.B.2 

Retail, General – – – – – – 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)* 

23.202.040.B 

Veterinary Clinic – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

Video Tape/Disk Rental – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

Industrial and Heavy 
Commercial Uses 

  

Commercial Excavation UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Other Uses   

Accessory Uses See 23.302.020.A  

Home Occupations See 23.302.040  

Short-Term Rental ZC* ZC* - ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* 23.314 

Temporary Uses See 23.302.030  

Urban Agriculture, Low-Impact ZC* ZC* - ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* 23.318 

Urban Agriculture, High-Impact  AUP* AUP* - AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* 23.318 

Wireless Telecommunication 
Facility 

See 23.332  

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 47 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION  23.202.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-4 

C. Use-Specific Regulations. Uses subject to supplemental regulations are shown in Table 

23.202.020-1 with an asterisk (*) following the permit requirement (e.g., UP*). The Use-Specific 

Regulations column in Table 23.202.020-1 identifies the location of these regulations in the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

Commentary:  Table 23.202.020-1 references sections elsewhere in the Zoning Ordinance for allowed uses with 

permit requirements that cannot easily be shown in table format (e.g., accessory dwelling units).  Table 

23.202.020-1 does not show permit requirements for types of development and structures (e.g., fences), which are 

included in the existing allowed use tables. These permit requirements are now located with the standards for these 

types of development in Division III chapters. 

 

23.202.030 – ADDITIONAL PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 
A. Residential Additions.3 See Section 23.502.020.A for residential addition definitions.  

1. Permits Required. 

a. In all Residential Districts except for the ES-R district, residential additions require 

permits as follows: 

i. Residential additions (up to 15 percent of lot area or 600 square feet, whichever is 

less): Zoning Certificate. 

ii. Major residential additions (more than 15 percent of lot area or 600 square feet, 

whichever is less): AUP. 

b. In the ES-R district, residential additions require permits as follows: 

i. Residential additions up to 10 percent of lot area or 200 square feet, whichever is 

less: Zoning Certificate. 

ii. Major residential additions more than 10 percent of lot area or 200 square feet, 

whichever is less: Use Permit. 

2. Basis for AUP Decision. 

a. To deny an AUP for a residential addition in all residential districts except for the ES-R 

district, the review authority must find that although the proposed residential addition 

satisfies all other Zoning Ordinance requirements, the residential addition would 

unreasonably obstruct sunlight, air, or views. 

b. To approve an AUP for a residential addition in the ES-R district, the review authority 

must make the finding in 23.202.070.H.6 (Land Use Intensification).  

 
3 Source: Residential addition permit requirements in Sub-title 23D district sections.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 48 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.040  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-5 

B. Adding Bedrooms.4  

1. In the R-1, R-1A, R-2, R-2A, and R-3 districts, adding a bedroom to a lot requires permits as 

follows: 

a. Adding a first, second, third, or fourth bedroom to a lot: no permit required. 

b. Adding a fifth bedroom to a lot: AUP. 

c. Adding a bedroom to a lot beyond the fifth: Use Permit.  

2. See Section 23.502.020.B for bedroom definition.  

3. In the ES-R district, any alteration to create a new bedroom in a single-family detached 

home on a single lot requires an AUP. See 23.202.070.H.6 (Land Use Intensification) for 

required finding. 

C. Changes to Nonconforming Structures. See Section 23.324.050 (Nonconforming Structures 

and Buildings) for permits required to modify structures that do not conform to setback, height, 

and other development standards. 

D. Accessory Structures. For accessory structure permit requirements, see the following: 

1. Section 23.304.060 (Accessory Buildings and Enclosed Accessory Structures). 

2. Section 23.304.070 (Unenclosed Accessory Structures in Residential Districts). 

3. Section 23.304.080 (Fences). 

23.202.040 – USE-SPECIFIC REGULATIONS 

Commentary:  This section contains regulations for specific use where the use is subject to supplemental regulations 

in two or more Residential Districts. If a use is subject to supplemental regulations in only one Residential District, the 

regulation is located in the district section in this chapter. If a use is subject to supplemental regulation in a 

Commercial and/or Manufacturing District as well as in a Residential District, the regulation is located in Chapter 

23.302 (Supplemental Use Regulations) or in a stand-alone chapter in Division 3. 

A. Community Care Facilities.5 

1. Permits Required. Community care facilities in a Residential District require permits as 

follows: 

a. Change of use: Zoning Certificate. 

b. New construction: Use Permit. 

 
4 Source: Bedroom addition permit requirements in Sub-title 23D district sections. Deletes serial/cumulative addition of 
bedrooms language from 23D.16.050.A.1 and other Residential district chapters as this language is not needed. 
5 Allowed use tables in Title 23D district chapters. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 49 of 511



SECTION   23.202.050   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. ES-R District. Community care facilities in the ES-R district must comply with the 

following standards: 

a. Maximum of six residents. 

b. Permitted pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 1566.3 when occupying a legally 

established existing single-family dwelling. 

B. General Retail.6 In the R-4, R-5, R-S, and R-SMU districts, general retail uses must be: 

1. Accessory to another use; 

2. Contained within a building with no street access; and 

3. Without displays of merchandise visible from the street. 

23.202.050 – R-1 SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.7 The purpose of the Single-Family Residential (R-1) district is to: 

1. Recognize and protect the existing pattern of development in the low-density, single-family 

residential areas of the city consistent with the General Plan; 

2. Make housing available for persons who desire detached housing and a relatively large 

amount of usable open space; 

3. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air; and 

4. Permit community facilities such as religious assembly uses, schools, parks, and libraries 

which serve the local population and are not detrimental to the immediate neighborhood.  

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions) and 

23.202.030.B (Adding Bedrooms). 

D. Development Standards.8  

1. Basic Standards. See Table 23.202.050-1. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-1 

district are noted in Table 23.202.050-1.   

Commentary:  Basic development standards for each district are shown in a table in each district section. 

Development standards that apply generally to some or all Residential Districts are consolidated and shown together 

in Chapter 23.304. This approach eliminates undesirable repetition and shows how the supplemental standards 

compare across districts.  

 
6 Source: Tables 23D.40.030, 23D.44.030, 23D.48.030, 23D.52.030 
7 Source: 23D.16.020. Deletes 23D.16.010, which is not needed.  
8 Source: 23D.16.070.   

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 50 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.060  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-7 

TABLE 23.202.050-1: R-1 DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS9  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area for New Lots, Minimum 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

Usable Open Space per Dwelling Unit, Minimum 400 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Main Building Height, Average   23.304.050 

 New Buildings and Non-Residential Additions 28 ft. and 3 stories [1]  

 Residential Additions 14 ft. [2]  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum  23.304.030 

 Front 20 ft.  

 Rear 20 ft.  

 Interior Side 4 ft.  

 Street Side 4 ft.  

Lot Coverage, Maximum 40% 23.304.120 

Notes: 

[1] Maximum 35 ft. with an AUP. 

[2] Height greater than 14 ft. up to 28 ft. allowed with an AUP. Height greater than 28 ft up to 35 ft allowed with an additional AUP. 

 

23.202.060 – R-1A LIMITED TWO-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.10 The purpose of the Limited Two-Family Residential (R-1A) district is to: 

1. Recognize and protect the existing pattern of low medium-density residential areas 

characterized by reasonable open and spacious type of development consistent with the 

General Plan; 

2. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air; 

3. Allow flexibility in the use of property for residential purposes by permitting two dwelling 

units on one lot under limited conditions; and 

4. Appropriately regulate the rear and side yards for the construction of a dwelling unit in areas 

west of San Pablo Avenue. 

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions) and 

23.202.030.B (Adding Bedrooms). 

 
9 CONSENT CHANGE: Removes 23D.16.070.F requirement for ADUs to include usable open space, which arguably 
conflicts with state law and will be addressed in updated ADU chapter.  
10 Source: 23D.20.020. Deletes 23D.20.010, which is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 51 of 511



SECTION   23.202.060   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

D. Development Standards.11 

1. Basic Standards. See Table 23.202.060-1. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-1A 

district are noted in Table 23.202.060-1.   

TABLE 23.202.060-1: R-1A DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum   

 New Lots 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

 For Two Dwelling Units 4,500 sq. ft. [1]  

Usable Open Space Per Dwelling Unit, Minimum 400 sq. ft. [2] 23.304.090 

Main Building Height, Average  23.304.050 

 New Buildings and Non-Residential Additions 28 ft. and 3 stories [3]  

 Rear Main Buildings 22 ft. and 2 stories  

 Residential Additions 14 ft. [4]  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum  23.304.030 

 Front 20 ft.  

 Rear 20 ft.  

 Interior Side 4 ft.  

 Street Side 4 ft.  

 Interior and Street Side for Rear Main Building 6 ft.  

Building Separation, Minimum  23.304.040 

 1 story 8 ft.  

 2 stories 12 ft.  

 3 stories 16 ft.  

Lot Coverage, Maximum  23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lot 40%  

 Maximum Coverage Area, Corner Lot 45%  

Notes: 

[1] Maximum two units per lot. 

[2] Open space is not required for accessory dwelling unit. 

[3] Maximum 35 ft. with an AUP. 

[4] Height greater than 14 ft. up to 28 ft. allowed with an AUP. Height greater than 28 ft up to 35 ft allowed with an additional AUP. 

  

 
11 Standards from 23D.20.070 unique to the R-1A district are shown in Table 23.202.060-1. Provisions from 23D.20.070 
that apply to multiple residential districts (e.g., setback reductions) are found in Chapter 23.304 (General Development 
Standards).   

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 52 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-9 

23.202.070 – ES-R ENVIRONMENTAL SAFETY-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 

Commentary: Chapter 23D.24 has been revised for clarity consistent with other BZO chapters. No substantive 

changes have been made to existing rules and procedures.  

A. District Purpose.12 

1. General. Because of its substandard vehicular access, steep slopes, inadequate water 

pressure and proximity to the Hayward Fault and vegetated wildlands, the Panoramic Hill 

area is exceptionally vulnerable to severe damage or destruction from fire and earthquake 

hazards. Panoramic Hill also includes one of Berkeley’s most architecturally significant 

residential districts, which is listed in the National Register of Historic Places because of its 

association with the Arts and Crafts movement of the Bay Area Tradition.  

2. Specific. The specific purpose of the Environmental Safety-Residential (ES-R) district is to: 

a. Provide a means to implement the General Plan and the Hazard Mitigation Plan to 

reduce the potential for life loss, injury, and economic damage to Berkeley residents 

from earthquakes, wildfires, and landslides and to protect the City’s unique character and 

values from being compromised by hazard events by reducing the vulnerability of one of 

the most unique and inaccessible neighborhoods in the Hill Hazardous Fire Area; 

b. Protect the lives and property of Panoramic Hill residents in Berkeley and adjoining 

parts of Oakland and avoid destruction or damage to the natural environment through 

the application of special development regulations and by ensuring that the review of 

new development and alterations or additions to existing structures will require analysis 

and mitigation of geologic, seismic, and fire hazards; 

c. Limit the uses of land permitted to those which are necessary to serve the housing and 

access needs of the district’s inhabitants and will not put either current or future 

residents at risk due to the area’s inadequate infrastructure and special vulnerability to 

natural hazards; 

d. Protect the health and safety of current and future residents by ensuring that no new 

dwelling units will be built and no land may be subdivided to allow the construction of 

additional dwelling units until plans are in place that identify the future distribution, 

location, and extent of development in the Berkeley and Oakland neighborhoods of 

Panoramic Hill, including provisions to develop and maintain a system of public facilities 

and services adequate to meet the needs of the future population; 

e. Establish procedures to ensure that the development review process provides for 

consideration of the cumulative impact of new construction, alterations, and changes in 

use that have the potential to increase the population or intensify the use of land in the 

 
12 Source: 23D.24.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 53 of 511



SECTION   23.202.070   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-10  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

district together with the impacts of other projects on Panoramic Hill and within 

adjacent areas of Berkeley and Oakland; 

f. Restrict the size and occupancy of residential structures by imposing standards that 

reflect the district’s limited capacity to accommodate additional population due to poor 

access, inadequate infrastructure, vulnerability to natural hazards and the fact that a 

majority of the existing development does not conform to standards that the City 

adopted in 1979; 

g. Assure the effective use of emergency measures available to save lives and property; 

h. Give reasonable protection to views and privacy, yet allow appropriate development of 

all property as long as public services and access are adequate to ensure protection of the 

health and safety of residents in this vulnerable area; and 

i. Protect the integrity of the Panoramic Hill Historic District by ensuring that alterations 

to existing buildings and new construction maintain the existing pattern of development, 

are appropriate to the hillside setting, and do not impair the architectural significance of 

contributing structures. 

B. Interpretation.13 Nothing in this section is intended or may be construed to overturn, nullify, or 

affect any recorded limitation of property in favor of the City. In case of conflict between this 

section and other provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the more restrictive standards apply.  

C. Allowed Land Uses. 

1. General. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

2. Rental of Rooms.14 Rooms may be rented to a maximum of four persons on a single 

property. Occupancy of a single dwelling unit by a single household as defined in Chapter 

23.502 (Glossary) is permitted. 

D. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions) and 

23.202.030.B (Adding Bedrooms). 

E. Specific Plan Required.15 

1. The City may not approve an AUP, Use Permit, Parcel Map, or Tentative Map to allow a 

new dwelling unit in the ES-R district until the City Council adopts a Panoramic Hill Specific 

Plan (“the Plan”) in compliance with applicable law. 

2. At a minimum, the Plan shall: 

 
13 Source: 23D.24.010. First three sentences deleted as they are not needed. 
14 Source: Table 23D.24.030. 
15 Source: 23D.24.040; 23D.24.090.A; 23D.24.090.B.4. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 54 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-11 

a. Show the proposed distribution, location, and extent of land uses in the ES-R district 

and the location and extent of the public facilities and services required to serve the land 

uses; 

b. Include proposals for water, wastewater, and stormwater systems and for a circulation 

system adequate to accommodate projected traffic and to provide emergency access to 

the ES-R district and a program of implementation actions including finance measures 

necessary to carry out those proposal; and 

c. Include consideration of the needs and future growth of adjacent areas in the City of 

Oakland that are now or can feasibly be served by the proposed facilities and services. 

3. The ZAB may approve a new residential unit in the ES-R district only after finding that: 

a. The project is consistent with the Plan; and 

b. The public facilities and services that the Plan requires have been provided or will be 

developed as a condition of approval.  

F. Environmental Assessment.16  

1. General.  

a. Due to Panoramic Hill’s inadequate infrastructure and special vulnerability to natural 

hazards, a project that is ordinarily insignificant in its impact on the environment may be 

significant if it occurs in the ES-R district. 

b. Any discretionary entitlement under the Zoning Ordinance or Subdivision Ordinance 

(Municipal Code Title 21) will not be considered exempt from environmental review 

pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, except for alterations to create 

bedrooms and residential additions with a gross floor area of up to 10 percent of the lot 

area or 200 square feet, whichever is less, and which otherwise meet all applicable 

standards of this section. 

c. Environmental review shall be based on documentation in the record including the 

reports as described in this section where applicable. Environmental review shall include 

consideration of the cumulative impact of new construction, alterations, and changes in 

use that would result in intensification of land use in combination with other projects on 

Panoramic Hill and adjacent areas that affect conditions in the area.  

d. For purposes of this section, any project that increases habitable floor area, increases the 

size or number of sleeping rooms, or has the potential to increase vehicular trips in the 

area is considered an intensification of land use. 

2. Reports Required. All applications for construction and development in the ES-R district 

that are not exempt from environmental review require the following special studies: 

 
16 Source: 23D.24.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 55 of 511



SECTION   23.202.070   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-12  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. New Construction. All new construction requires a soils report, a geologic report, and a 

traffic impact study subject to the requirements in this section. 

b. Additions and Accessory Structures. All new accessory structures and additions to 

existing structures that require the installation of a foundation require a soils report, 

subject to the requirements below. The Building Official may waive this requirement for 

additions with less than 50 square feet of gross floor area or detached non-habitable 

structures with less than 225 square feet of gross floor area. 

3. Soils Report. When required by 23.202.070.F.2 (Reports Required), a soils report shall be 

prepared by a civil engineer registered with the State of California, subject to the following 

requirements: 

a. Contents. Based upon adequate test borings or excavations, the report shall assess the 

potential for landslides, ground shaking, and surface faulting. If the soils report indicates 

the presence of soil conditions which, if not corrected, could lead to structural defects, 

the report shall recommend corrective action that is likely to prevent structural damage 

to each structure proposed to be constructed. 

b. Review of Report. The report shall be reviewed and approved by the City prior to 

issuance of any discretionary permit under the Zoning Ordinance, or prior to issuance of 

a building or grading permit if a discretionary permit is not required. The City may have 

the soils report independently reviewed by a licensed geotechnical engineer, registered by 

the state of California, the cost of which shall be borne by the applicant. The report’s 

recommended action shall be incorporated in the construction of each structure as a 

condition to the issuance of any building permit. 

4. Geologic Report. When required by 23.202.070.F.2 (Reports Required), a geologic report in 

compliance with the Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act and related regulations 

shall be prepared by a certified engineering geologist, subject to the following requirements: 

a. Contents. The report shall identify, describe, and illustrate potential hazards of surface 

fault rupture, seismic shaking, liquefaction or landslide. 

b. Review Conditions. The report shall review of the local and regional seismic and other 

geological conditions that significantly affect the proposed use. 

c. Assessment. The report shall assess conditions on or near the site that would contribute 

to the potential for damage to a proposed use from a seismic or other geological event, 

or the potential for a new use to create adverse effects upon existing uses because of 

identified geologic hazards. The conditions assessed are to include, where applicable, 

rainfall, soils, slopes, water table, bedrock geology, and any other substrate conditions 

that may affect seismic response, landslide risk, or liquefaction potential. 

d. Recommendations. The report shall recommend building techniques, site preparation 

and mitigation measures, or setbacks necessary to reduce risks to life and structural 

damage to property. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 56 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-13 

5. Traffic Impact Study. When required by 23.202.070.F.2 (Reports Required), a traffic study 

shall be prepared by a qualified traffic engineer or transportation planner for any project that 

may generate new trips, subject to the following requirements: 

a. Content. The report shall identify, describe, and illustrate traffic, parking, and roadway 

conditions in the project vicinity including design characteristics, topography, parking 

and traffic regulation, accident rates, and pavement condition and width. 

b. Assessment. The report shall assess how the project will affect traffic operations and 

emergency access based on the size, use, and location, and the proposed site design 

including driveway locations, turn movements to and from the project site, surrounding 

uses, locations of nearby intersections, and potential to create unsafe traffic conditions. 

c. Recommendations. The report shall recommend measures to reduce the project’s 

impact on traffic safety including site design, location of parking and driveways, and off-

site improvements necessary to ensure that the project would not exacerbate traffic 

safety problems in the area. 

G. Projects in the Panoramic Hill Historic District.17 

1. Landmarks Preservation Commission Review. 

a. Before the Zoning Officer or the ZAB may take action on AUP or Use Permit for a 

project in the Panoramic Hill Historic District that involves new construction, exterior 

alteration, or demolition, the Zoning Officer shall submit the application to the 

Landmarks Preservation Commission for review and an advisory recommendation. 

b. The purpose of this review is to ensure that proposed buildings, structures, landscaping, 

and other architectural and site design features are compatible with the design and 

appearance of existing buildings and structures in the Panoramic Hill Historic District 

that have established and contribute to its significant character. 

c. This requirement is in addition to but does not supersede any authority or responsibility 

the Landmarks Preservation Commission has pursuant to Municipal Code Chapter 3.24 

(Landmarks Preservation Commission). 

2. Parking Expansion. An AUP is required for any project in the Panoramic Hill Historic 

District that expands an existing parking area or structure or creates additional parking to 

comply with the requirements of Chapter 23.322 (Parking and Loading). 

3. Findings. To approve any project involving exterior alterations, construction, demolition or 

site plan revisions within the Panoramic Hill Historic District, the review authority must find 

that: 

a. The proposed work will not adversely affect the exterior architectural features of the 

subject property or the relationship between the subject structure or feature and its 

 
17 Source: 23D.24.085; 23D.24.090.B.6 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 57 of 511



SECTION   23.202.070   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-14  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

neighboring structures and surroundings, including facade, massing, scale, materials, 

setbacks, height, orientation, site design, and landscaping; and 

b. The proposed work will not detract from or adversely affect the special historical, 

architectural and aesthetic characteristics of the Panoramic Hill Historic District. 

H. Development Standards.18 

1. Basic Standards. See Table 23.202.070-1. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the ES-R 

district are noted in Table 23.202.070-1.   

TABLE 23.202.070-1: ES-R DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area for New Lots, Minimum 25,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020; 23.202.070.H.3 

Usable Open Space Per Dwelling Unit, Minimum 400 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Dwelling Unit Gross Floor Area, Maximum 30% of lot area 23.202.070.H.4 

Main Building Height, Average  23.304.050 

 New Buildings and Non-Residential  Additions 24 ft. and 2 stories [1]  

 Residential Additions 14 ft. [2]  

Building Separation, Minimum  30 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum  23.304.030 

 Front 20 ft.  

 Rear 20 ft.  

 Interior Side 15 ft.  

 Street Side 15 ft.  

Lot Coverage, Maximum 30% 23.304.120 

Notes: 

[1] Maximum building height of 35 ft. allowed with an AUP. See 23.202.070.H.5 for findings. 

[2] Height greater than 14 ft. up to 28 ft. allowed with a Use Permit. Height greater than 28 ft up to 35 ft allowed with an additional Use Permit. See 

23.202.070.H.5 for findings. 

 

 

3. Minimum Lot Area Per Dwelling Unit Exception.19 A legally-created lot less than 25,000 

square feet may be developed in compliance with ES-R district requirements if, on the 

effective date of the regulations that made it substandard, it was in single ownership separate 

from any abutting lot under the same ownership.  

 
18 Source: 23D.24.070.   
19 Source: 23D.24.070.B.1 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 58 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.080  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-15 

4. Lots Under 5,000 Square Feet.20 Lots less than 5,000 square feet are allowed no more than 

one dwelling unit of no more than 1,000 square feet of gross floor area. 

5. Height Increases.21 To approve an AUP or Use Permit to allow an increase in building 

height, the review authority must find that the increased height is: 

a. Justified due to the topography of the site; and  

b. Consistent with the purposes of the ES-R district as stated om 23.202.070.A (District 

Purpose).  

6. Land Use Intensification.22 To approve any project that increases habitable floor area, 

increases the size or number of bedrooms, may increase vehicular trips in the area, or will 

otherwise intensify the use of land in the ES-R district, the review authority must find that 

the project individually or together with other projects within or adjacent to the ES-R district 

will not threaten the safety and general welfare of Panoramic Hill residents. 

7. Nonconforming Uses and Structures.23 

a. Additions and enlargements to structures that contain a nonconforming use are not 

permitted.  

b. Alteration, addition, or enlargement of a nonconforming structure that contains a 

conforming use is allowed provided that: 

i. The project complies with 23.324.050.D (Expansion); and 

ii. All findings required for the project by the Zoning Ordinance can be made.  

23.202.080 – R-2 RESTRICTED TWO-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.24 The purpose of the Restricted Two-Family Residential (R-2) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan by encouraging the development of low medium-density 

residential areas characterized by a reasonably open and spacious type of development with a 

pattern of housing types ranging from single-family to duplexes and small apartment 

structures; 

2. Make available housing for persons who desire a range of housing choice with a relatively 

large amount of open space; and 

3. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air.  

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

 
20 Source: 23D.24.070.2 
21 Source: 23D.24.090.B.1 
22 Source: 23D.24.090.B.5 
23 Source: 23D.24.090.C 
24 Source: 23D.28.020. Deletes 23D.28.010, which is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 59 of 511



SECTION   23.202.080   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-16  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions) and 

23.202.030.B (Adding Bedrooms). 

D. Development Standards. 

1. Basic Standards. See Table 23.202.080-1, 23.202.080-2, and 23.202.080-3 for development 

standards in the R-2 district. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-2 

district are noted in Table 23.202.080-1, 23.202.080-2, and 23.202.080-3.   

TABLE 23.202.080-1: R-2 LOT AND HEIGHT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum   

 New Lots 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

 Per Dwelling Unit 2,500 sq. ft. [1]  

Usable Open Space Per Dwelling Unit, Minimum 400 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Main Building Height, Average   23.304.050 

 New Buildings and Non-Residential  Additions 28 ft. and 3 stories [2]  

 Residential Additions 14 ft. [3]  

Notes: 

[1] One additional dwelling unit is allowed for any remaining lot area between 2,000 and 2,500 square feet. 

[2] Maximum 35 ft. with an AUP. 

[3] Addition height greater than 14 ft. up to 28 ft. allowed with an AUP. Addition height greater than 28 ft up to 35 ft allowed with an additional AUP. 

 

TABLE 23.202.080-2: R-2 SETBACK AND COVERAGE STANDARDS  

 Building Story Setback 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

 Front 20 ft. 20 ft. 20 ft.  

 Rear 20 ft. 20 ft. 20 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft.  

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 60 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.090  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-17 

TABLE 23.202.080-3: R-2 BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 40% 35%  

 Corner Lots 50% 45% 40%  

23.202.090 – R-2A RESTRICTED MULTIPLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.25 The purpose of the Restricted Multiple-Family Residential (R-2A) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan by encouraging the development of medium-density residential 

areas characterized by small multiple-family and garden-type apartment structures with a 

maximum of open space consistent with this type of development; 

2. Make available housing for persons who desire apartment-type accommodations with a 

maximum of open space; 

3. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air; and 

4. Permit only land use intensity which is compatible with existing low-density residential 

structures and is not detrimental to the immediate neighborhood.  

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions) and 

23.202.030.B (Adding Bedrooms). 

D. Development Standards.26 

1. Basic Standards. See Tables 23.202.090-1, 23.202.090-2, and 23.202.090-3. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-2A 

district are noted in Tables 23.202.090-1, 23.202.090-2, and 23.202.090-3.   

 

  

 
25 Source: 23D.32.020. Deletes 23D.28.010, which is not needed. 
26 Source: 23D.32.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 61 of 511



SECTION   23.202.090   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-18  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.202.090-1: R-2A LOT AND HEIGHT STANDARDS27  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum   

 New Lots 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

 Per Dwelling Unit 1,650 sq. ft. [1]  

Usable Open Space Per Dwelling Unit, Minimum 300 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Main Building Height, Average  23.304.050 

 New Buildings and Non-Residential Additions 28 ft. and 3 stories [2]  

 Residential Additions 14 ft. [3]  

Notes: 

[1] One additional dwelling unit is allowed for remaining lot area between 1,300 and 1,650 square feet. 

[2] Maximum 35 ft. with an AUP. 

[3] Addition height greater than 14 ft. up to 28 ft. allowed with an AUP. Addition height greater than 28 ft up to 35 ft allowed with an additional AUP. 

 

TABLE 23.202.090-2: R-2A SETBACK STANDARDS  

 Building Story Setback 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.302.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

 

TABLE 23.202.090-3: R-2A BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 40% 35%  

 Corner Lots 50% 45% 40%  

 

  

 
27 Removes minimum usable open space area for group living accommodation uses, which are not allowed in the R-2A 
district. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 62 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.100  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-19 

23.202.100 – R-3 MULTIPLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.28 The purpose of the Multiple-Family Residential (R-3) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan by encouraging development of relatively high-density 

residential areas; 

2. Make available housing for persons who desire both convenience of location and a 

reasonable amount of usable open space; 

3. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air; 

4. Permit the construction of residential structures, such as dormitories, fraternity and sorority 

houses, boarding and rooming houses, which meet City requirements for this type of 

housing; and 

5. Permit the construction of specialized care and treatment facilities such as senior congregate 

housing, nursing homes, and hospitals when such are not detrimental to the immediate 

neighborhood.  

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions) and 

23.202.030.B (Adding Bedrooms). 

D. Design Review. 29 Within the Southside Plan boundaries, all mixed-use and community and 

institutional use projects, as defined in Chapter 23.502 (Glossary) require Design Review. See Figure 

23.202.100-1. 

  

 
28 Source: 23D.36.020. Deletes 23D.36.010, which is not needed. 
29 Source: 23D.36.050. New map replaces existing text description of Southside Plan boundaries.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 63 of 511



SECTION   23.202.100   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-20  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

FIGURE 23.202.100-1: R-3 AREAS SUBJECT TO DESIGN REVIEW 

 

E. Development Standards.30 

1. Basic Standards. See Tables 23.202.100-1, 23.202.100-2, and 23.202.100-3. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-3 

district are noted in Table 23.202.100-1, 23.202.100-2, and 23.202.100-3.   

  

 
30 Source: 23D.36.070. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 64 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.100  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-21 

TABLE 23.202.100-1: R-3 LOT AND HEIGHT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum   

 New Lots 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Usable Open Space, Minimum   

 Per Dwelling Unit 200 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 90 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Main Building Height, Average  23.304.050 

 New Buildings and Non-Residential  Additions 35 ft. and 3 stories  

 Residential Additions 16 ft. [2]  

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[2] Maximum 35 ft. with an AUP. 

 

TABLE 23.202.100-2: R-3 SETBACK STANDARDS  

 

Building Story Setback 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.302.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

 

TABLE 23.202.100-3: R-3 BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 30%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45%  

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 65 of 511



SECTION   23.202.110   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-22  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. Increase in Lot Coverage.31 Lot coverage may be increased for a project in an R-3 district 

located within the Southside Plan boundaries if an AUP is obtained with one or both of the 

following findings: 

a. The increased coverage would enable a new rear dwelling on the lot; or 

b. It would enable moving a historic building onto the lot. 

23.202.110 – R-4 MULTI-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.32 The purpose of the Multi-Family Residential (R-4) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan by encouraging development of relatively high-density 

residential areas; 

2. Make available housing for persons who desire both convenience of location and a 

reasonable amount of usable open space; 

3. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air; 

4. Permit the construction of residential structures, such as residential hotels, which will 

provide housing opportunities for transient or seasonal residents; and 

5. Permit the construction of institutional and office uses that are not detrimental to the 

immediate neighborhood. 

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions). 

D. Design Review. 33 All commercial and mixed-use projects in the R-4 district require Design Review. 

E. Development Standards.34 

1. Basic Standards. See Tables 23.202.110-1, 23.202.110-2, and 23.202.110-3. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-4 

district are noted in Tables 23.202.110-1, 23.202.110-2, and 23.202.110-3. 

  

 
31 23D.36.070.E.1 
32 Source: 23D.40.020. Deletes 23D.40.010, which is not needed. 
33 Source: 23D.40.040 
34 Source: 23D.40.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 66 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.110  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-23 

TABLE 23.202.110-1: R-4 LOT AND HEIGHT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum   

 New Lots 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Usable Open Space, Minimum   

 Per Dwelling Unit 200 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 90 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Main Building Height, Average  23.304.050 

 New Buildings and Non-Residential Additions 35 ft. and 3 stories [2]  

 Residential Additions 16 ft. [3]  

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[2] Maximum 65 ft and six stories allowed with Use Permit. 

[3] Height greater than 14 ft. up to 35 ft. allowed with an AUP. Height greater than 35 ft. up to 65 ft allowed with a Use Permit. 

 

TABLE 23.202.110-2: R-4 SETBACK STANDARDS  

 Building Story Setback 
Supplemental 

Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 5th 6th 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum       23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 17 ft. 19 ft. 21 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 12 ft. 
 

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 12 ft. 14 ft. 15 ft. 

 

TABLE 23.202.110-3: R-4 BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS 

 Standard Based on Building Height Supplemental 

Standards 
1 story 2 stories 3 stories 4 stories 5 stories 6 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 20 ft. 24 ft. 28 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum       23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 40% 35% 35% 35%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45% 40% 40% 40%  

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 67 of 511



SECTION   23.202.120   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-24  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.202.120 – R-5 HIGH-DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.35 The purpose of the High-Density Residential (R-5) district is to: 

1. Foster development of high-density, multi-story residential areas close to major shopping, 

transportation, and employment centers, in accordance with the General Plan; 

2. Make available housing for persons who desire convenience of location and who require 

relatively small amounts of usable open space; 

3. Assure adequate light, air, privacy and usable open space to promote and protect their 

physical and mental health; 

4. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air; 

5. Permit the construction of residential structures, such as apartments and hotels, which 

provide housing opportunities for transient or seasonal residents; and 

6. Permit the construction of institutional and office uses when such uses are not detrimental 

to the immediate neighborhood. 

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions). 

D. Development Standards.36 

1. Basic Standards. See Tables 23.202.120-1, 23.202.120-2, and 23.202.120-3 for development 

standards in the R-5 district. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-5 

district are noted in Tables 23.202.120-1, 23.202.120-2, and 23.202.120-3.   

  

 
35 Source: 23D.44.020. Deletes 23D.44.010, which is not needed. 
36 Source: 23D.44.070.   
 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 68 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.120  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-25 

TABLE 23.202.120-1: R-5 LOT AND HEIGHT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum   

 New Lots 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 175 sq. ft. [1]  

Usable Open Space, Minimum  23.304.090 

 Per Dwelling Unit 100 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 35 sq. ft.  

Main Building Height, Average  23.304.050 

 New Construction 40 ft. and 4 stories [2]  

 Residential Additions 18 ft. [3]  

Notes: 

[1] One additional person is allowed for remaining lot area between 100 and 175 square feet. 

[2] Maximum 65 feet and 6 stories allowed with a Use Permit. 

[3] Height greater than 18 ft. up to 40 ft. allowed with an AUP. Height greater than 40 ft. up to 65 ft allowed with a Use Permit. 

 

TABLE 23.202.120-2: R-5 SETBACK STANDARDS 

 Basic Standards by Building Story 
Supplemental Standards 

1st 2nd 3rd 4th 5th 6th 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum       23.232.030 

 Front 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 17 ft. 19 ft. 21 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 12 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 

 

TABLE 23.202.120-3: R-5 BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS 

 Standard Based on Building Height Supplemental 

Standards 
1 story 2 stories 3 stories 4 stories 5 stories 6 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 20 ft. 24 ft. 28 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum       23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 55% 55% 50% 45% 40% 40%  

 Corner Lots 60% 60% 55% 50% 45% 45%  

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 69 of 511



SECTION   23.202.130   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-26  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.202.130 – R-S RESIDENTIAL SOUTHSIDE DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.37 The purpose of the Residential Southside (R-S) district is to: 

1. Implement General Plan and Southside Plan policy by encouraging relatively high and 

moderate-density, multi-story residential development close to major shopping, 

transportation, and employment centers; 

2. Make housing available for persons who desire a convenient location with relatively small 

amounts of usable open space, yet assure adequate light, air, privacy and usable open space 

to promote and protect their physical and mental health; 

3. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air; 

4. Permit the construction of residential structures, such as apartments, and residential hotels, 

which will provide housing opportunities for transient or seasonal residents; 

5. Encourage the construction of new housing on vacant properties and surface parking lots; 

6. Encourage the redevelopment of single-story structures that are not historically significant 

resources with more dense housing development; and 

7. Protect and enhance historically and architecturally significant buildings by ensuring that new 

development and alterations complement their existing architectural character.  

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions). 

D. Design Review. 38 All mixed-use and community and institutional projects, as defined in Chapter 

23.502 (Glossary), require Design Review.  

E. Development Standards.39 

1. Basic Standards. See Tables 23.202.130-1, 23.202.130-2 and 23.202.130-3. 

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-S 

district are noted in Tables 23.202.130-1, 23.202.130-2 and 23.202.130-3. 

  

 
37 Source: 23D.48.020. Deletes 23D.48.010, which is not needed. 
38 Source: 23D.48.050 
39 Source: 23D.48.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 70 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.130  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-27 

TABLE 23.202.130-1: R-S LOT AND HEIGHT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum   

 New Lots 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Usable Open Space, Minimum  23.304.090 

 Per Dwelling Unit 50 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 20 sq. ft.  

Main Building Height, Average  23.304.050 

 New Construction 35 ft. and 3 stories [2]  

 Residential Additions 16 ft. [3]  

Notes: 

[1] One additional person is allowed for remaining lot area between 350 and 200 square feet. 

[2] Maximum 45 feet and 4 stories allowed with a Use Permit if at least 50 percent of the total building floor area is designated for residential use and 

the ZAB finds that the project meets the purpose of the district. 

[3] Maximum 35 feet and 3 stories allowed with an AUP. Maximum 45 feet and 4 stories allowed with a Use Permit if at least 50 percent of the total 

building floor area is designated for residential use and the ZAB finds that the project meets the purpose of the district. 

 

TABLE 23.202.130-2: R-S SETBACK STANDARDS 

 Basic Standards by Building Story 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 

Lot Line Setback, Minimum     3.304.030 

 Front 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft.  

 Rear 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 17 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft. 8 ft. 
 

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 

 

TABLE 23.202.130-3: R-S BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS 

 Standard Based on Building Height 
Supplemental 

Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 4 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 20 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum     23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 65% 65% 60% 55%  

 Corner Lots 70% 70% 65% 60%  

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 71 of 511



SECTION   23.202.140   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-28  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.202.140 – R-SMU RESIDENTIAL SOUTHSIDE DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.40 The purpose of the Residential Southside Mixed Use (R-SMU) district is to: 

1. Implement General Plan and Southside Plan policy by encouraging high-density, multi-story 

residential development close to major shopping, transportation, and employment centers; 

2. Make housing available for persons who desire a convenient location, but who require 

relatively small amounts of usable open space, yet assure adequate light, air, privacy and 

usable open space to promote and protect their physical and mental health; 

3. Protect adjacent properties from unreasonable obstruction of light and air; 

4. Permit the construction of residential structures, such as apartments and residential hotels, 

which will provide housing opportunities for transient or seasonal residents; 

5. Permit the construction of institutional, neighborhood serving retail, and office uses when 

such uses are not detrimental to the immediate neighborhood; 

6. Provide locations for relocation of office space from other locations in the Southside Plan 

area; 

7. Encourage the construction of new housing and mixed-use development on vacant 

properties and surface parking lots; 

8. Encourage the redevelopment of single-story structures that are not historically significant 

resources with housing and mixed-use development; and 

9. Protect and enhance historically and architecturally significant buildings by ensuring that new 

development and alterations complement their existing architectural character.  

B. Allowed Land Uses. 

1. General. See Table 23.202.020-1. 

2. Commercial Uses.41 

a. Any project that creates new commercial floor area requires a Use Permit. Creating new 

floor area includes constructing a new building or accessory building, adding floor area 

to an existing building, or installing a new floor or mezzanine level within or onto an 

existing building. 

b. Tenant space reconfiguration of an existing commercial building requires an AUP.  

3. Food Product Stores.42 Food product stores are limited to 3,000 square feet in the R-SMU 

district.   

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Sections 23.202.030.A (Residential Additions). 

 
40 Source: 23D.52.020. Deletes 23D.52.010, which is not needed. 
41 Source: 23D.52.060 
42 Source: Table 23D.52.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 72 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION   23.202.140  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-29 

D. Design Review.43 All commercial, mixed-use, and community and institutional use projects, as 

defined in Chapter 23.502 (Glossary), require Design Review. 

E. Development Standards.44 

1. Basic Standards. 

a. Table 23.202.140-1 shows lot and height standards that apply in all areas in the R-SMU 

district. 

TABLE 23.202.140-1: R-SMU LOT AND HEIGHT STANDARDS 

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum   

 New Lots 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 175 sq. ft. [1]  

Usable Open Space, Minimum  23.304.090 

 Per Dwelling Unit 40 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 20 sq. ft.  

Main Building Height, Average  23.304.050 

 New Buildings 60 ft. and 4 stories  

 Residential Additions 16 ft. [2]  

Notes: 

[1] One additional person is allowed for between 100 and 175 square feet of remaining lot area. 

[2] Maximum 60 feet and 4 stories allowed with an AUP. 

 

b. Tables 23.202.140-2 and 23.202.140-3 shows setback, building separation, and lot 

coverage standards that apply to main buildings:  

i. With dwelling units or group living accommodations; or 

ii. Are located north of Durant Avenue  

  

 
43 Source: 23D.52.050  
44 Source: 23D.52.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 73 of 511



SECTION   23.202.140   CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-30  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.202.140-2: SETBACK STANDARDS FOR MAIN BUILDINGS WITH DWELLING UNITS OR GROUP LIVING 

ACCOMMODATIONS OR LOCATED NORTH OF DURANT AVENUE 

 Building Story Standard 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 5th 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum      23.304.030 

 Front 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft.  

 Rear 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 17 ft. 19 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 

 

TABLE 23.202.140-3: R-SMU BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR MAIN BUILDINGS 

WITH DWELLING UNITS OR GROUP LIVING ACCOMMODATIONS OR LOCATED NORTH OF DURANT AVENUE 

 Standard Based on Building Height 
Supplemental 

Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 4 stories 5 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 20 ft. 24 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum      23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 55% 55% 50% 45% 40%  

 Corner Lots 60% 60% 55% 50% 45%  

 

c. Table 23.202.140-4 and 23.202.140-5 shows setback, building separation, and lot 

coverage standards that apply to main buildings: 

i. Without dwelling units or group living accommodations: or 

ii. Located south of Durant Avenue. 

TABLE 23.202.140-4: SETBACK STANDARDS FOR MAIN BUILDINGS WITHOUT DWELLING UNITS OR GROUP 

LIVING ACCOMMODATIONS OR LOCATED SOUTH OF DURANT AVENUE 

 Building Story Standard 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 

Lot Line Setback, Minimum     23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 17 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft. 8 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 10 ft. 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 74 of 511



CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS SECTION  23.202.140 
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 202-31 

TABLE 23.202.140-5: R-S BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR MAIN BUILDINGS 

WITHOUT DWELLING UNITS OR GROUP LIVING ACCOMMODATIONS OR LOCATED SOUTH OF DURANT AVENUE 

 Standard Based on Building Height 
Supplemental 

Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 4 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 20 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum     23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 50% 40% 35%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45% 40%  

2. Supplemental Standards. Supplemental development standards that apply in the R-SMU 

district are noted in Tables 23.202.140-1 to Table 23.202.140-5.   

3. Increase in Density for Group Living Accommodation.45 The ZAB may approve a Use 

Permit to increase the density of a group living accommodation use (i.e., decrease the 

minimum lot area per group living accommodation room as shown in Table 23.202.140-1). 

To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB must make the following findings: 

a. At least 50 percent of the total building floor area is designated for residential use. 

b. The increased density will not be detrimental to the immediate neighborhood. 

c. The project meets the purposes of the R-SMU district as stated in 23.202.140.A (District 

Purpose). 

4. Increase in Building Height.  

a. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to increase the allowed height of a main building in 

the two subareas shown in Figure 23.202.140-1. Maximum allowed height is: 

i. 75 feet and 5 stories in Subarea One; and 

ii. 65 feet and 5 stories in Subarea Two.  

  

 
45 Source: 23D.52.070.B.1 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 75 of 511



SECTION  23.202.150  CHAPTER 23.202 - RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 202-32  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

FIGURE 23.202.140-1: R-SMU SUBAREAS 

 
  

b. To approve the Use Permit for increased building height, the ZAB must make the 

following findings: 

i. At least 50 percent of the total floor area is designated for residential use.  

ii. The project meets the purposes of the R-SMU district as stated in Section 

23.202.140.A (District Purpose).  

5. Lot Coverage Increase.46 For a main building that contains dwelling units or group living 

accommodations or is located north of Durant Avenue, the lot coverage may be increased 

up to 100 percent if this is approved through an AUP with a finding that the increase is 

appropriate given the setbacks and architectural design of surrounding buildings. 

  

 
46 23D.52.070.E.1 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 76 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-1 

23.204   

COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
Sections: 

23.204.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.204.020 – Allowed Land Uses 

23.204.030 – Additional Permit Requirements 

23.204.040 – Use-Specific Permit Requirements and Regulations 

23.204.050 – C-C Corridor Commercial District 

23.204.060 – C-U University Commercial District 

23.204.070 – C-N Neighborhood Commercial District 

23.204.080 – C-E Elmwood Commercial District 

23.204.090 – C-NS North Shattuck Commercial District 

23.204.100 – C-SA South Area Commercial District 

23.204.110 – C-T Telegraph Avenue Commercial District 

23.204.120 – C-SO Solano Avenue Commercial District 

23.204.130 – C-DMU Downtown Mixed-Use District 

23.204.140 – C-W West Berkeley Commercial District 

  

Commentary:  This chapter consolidates existing Commercial District chapters in 23E into a new single chapter. 

Section 23.204.020 contains a single allowed land use table for all commercial districts. Due to the complexity and 

variability of development standards across districts, development standards for each district are shown in separate 

tables within the district sections  

23.204.010  – CHAPTER PURPOSE 
This chapter identifies allowed land uses, permit requirements, and development standards for the 

Commercial Districts.  

23.204.020  – ALLOWED LAND USES  
A. Allowed Land Use Table.1 Table 23.204.020-1 identifies allowed land uses and required 

permits in the Commercial Districts. All land uses are defined in Chapter 23.502 (Glossary). 

Permit requirements are described in Chapter 23.406 (Specific Permit Requirements). Permits 

required for land uses shown in Table 23.204.020-1 apply to both: 

1. The initial establishment of a land use in a new building; and 

2. The change of use in an existing building or portion of a building.2  

 
1 Table 23.204.020-1 consolidates allowed land uses currently in separate chapters in Sub-title 23E into one table for all 
the commercial districts. Some specific uses (e.g., department stores, drug stores) are folded into broader use categories 
while maintaining existing use regulations.  
2 Source: 23E.36.030.C and identical statements for all other commercial and mixed-use districts. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 77 of 511



SECTION  23.204.020    CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-2 

 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

Residential Uses   

Accessory Dwelling Unit See 23.306  

Dwellings   

Single-Family UP(PH) UP(PH)* UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) 23.204.060.B.3 

Two-Family UP(PH) UP(PH)* UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) 23.204.060.B.3 

Multi-Family UP(PH) UP(PH)* UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) 23.204.060.B.3 

Group Living Accommodation UP(PH) UP(PH)* UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) 23.204.060.B.3 

Hotel, Residential UP(PH) UP(PH)* UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) 23.204.060.B.3 

Mixed-Use Residential UP(PH) UP(PH)* UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) 
UP(PH)

*  
UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) 

See 

23.204.140.B.2 
23.204.060.B.3; 

23.204.100.B.4 

Senior Congregate Housing See 23.302.070.H  

Public and Quasi-Public Uses   

Child Care Center UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Cemetery/Crematory/Mausoleum – – – – – – – – – –  

Club/Lodge UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Columbaria See 23.302.070.C  

Community Care Facility AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP ZC  

Community Center UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Emergency Shelter See 23.308.030 – – See 
23.308.030 

– 
See 

23.308.030 
– – 

See 

23.308.030 

 

Family Day Care Home, Large AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP ZC  

Family Day Care Home, Small ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC AUP  

Hospital UP(PH) UP(PH) – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 78 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS  SECTION  23.204.020   

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-3 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

Library UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Mortuaries and Crematories UP(PH) UP(PH) – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

Municipal Animal Shelter – – – – – – – – – –  

Nursing Home UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Park/Playground ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC ZC AUP  

Public Safety and Emergency 

Service 
UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) 

 

Public Utility Substation/Tank UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Religious Assembly UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) AUP  

School UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

School, Vocational AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP UP(PH)  

Retail Uses   

Alcoholic Beverage Retail Sale  
UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* 

UP(PH)

* 
– 

UP(PH)

* 
UP(PH)* 

UP(PH)* 
23.204.060.B.2; 23.310 

Cannabis Retailer ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* 23.320; 12.21; and 12.22 

Cannabis Retailer, Delivery Only ZC* ZC* – ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* 23.320; 12.21; and 12.22 

Firearm/Munitions Business 
UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* 

UP(PH)

* 

UP(PH)

* 

UP(PH)

* 

– – 
23.302.070.D 

Industrial and Mining Products – – – – – – – – – –  

Pawn Shop/Auction House UP(PH) – – – – – – – UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Pet Store UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) ZC [3]  

Notes: 

 [3] Requires an AUP for uses 3,500 sq. ft. to 7,500 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 7,500 sq. ft. 

 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 79 of 511



SECTION  23.204.020    CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

Retail, General ZC [1] ZC [1] ZC* [2] ZC* [2] ZC* [2] ZC [1] ZC ZC* [2] ZC ZC* [3] 

23.204.040.E (for 

department stores) 

23.204.040.F (for drug 

stores) 

Smoke Shop 
UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* 

UP(PH)

* 

UP(PH)

* 

UP(PH)

* 
– UP(PH)* 23.302.040.I 

Personal and Household 

Service Uses 
 

 

Personal and Household Services, 

General 
ZC [1] ZC [1] ZC [2] ZC [2] ZC [2] ZC [1] ZC ZC [2] ZC ZC [7] 

 

Kennels and Pet Boarding – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

Laundromats and Cleaners AUP AUP UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) AUP AUP UP(PH) UP(PH) AUP [4]  

Veterinary Clinic UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Video Tape/Disk Rental  ZC [1] ZC [1] ZC [2] AUP  ZC [2] ZC [1] ZC ZC [2] ZC ZC [7]  

Office Uses   

Business Support Services ZC [1] ZC [1] ZC [2] ZC [2] ZC [2] ZC [1] ZC* ZC [2] ZC ZC [7] 23.204.110.B.6 

Banks and Financial Services, 

Retail 
AUP AUP  UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) ZC [1] AUP* UP(PH) ZC* AUP 

23.204.110.B.6; 

23.204.130.B.3; 

23.204.130.D.3 

Insurance Agents, Title 

Companies, Real Estate Agents, 

Travel Agents 

ZC [1] ZC [1] ZC* [2] ZC* [2] ZC* [2] ZC [1] ZC* ZC* [2] ZC* ZC [7] 

23.204.040.D; 

23.204.110.B.6; 

23.204.130.D.3 

Notes: 

[1] Change of use of floor area over 3,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

[2] Change of use of floor area over 2,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

[3] Requires an AUP for uses 3,500 sq. ft. to 7,500 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 7,500 sq. ft. 

[4] Requires a Use Permit if 5,000 sq. ft. or more. 

[7] Requires an AUP for uses 3,000 sq. ft. to 5,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 5,000 sq. ft. 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 80 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS  SECTION  23.204.020   

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-5 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

Medical Practitioners ZC [1] ZC [1] AUP – UP(PH) ZC [1] AUP* UP(PH) ZC* ZC [7] 

23.204.040.D; 

23.204.110.B.6; 

23.204.130.D.3 

Non-Chartered Financial 

Institutions 
UP(PH)* UP(PH)* – – – 

UP(PH)

* 

UP(PH)

* 
– – UP(PH)* 

23.302.040.A; 

23.204.110.B.6 

Office, Business and Professional ZC [1] ZC [1] AUP*  AUP*  AUP*  ZC [1] AUP* AUP*  ZC* ZC [7] 

23.204.040.B; 

23.204.110.B.6; 

23.204.130.D.3 

Food and Alcohol Service, 

Lodging, Entertainment, and 

Assembly Uses 

 

 

Adult-oriented Business UP(PH)* UP(PH)* – – – – – – UP(PH)* UP(PH)* 23.302.070.A 

Amusement Device Arcade 
UP(PH)* UP(PH)* – – – 

UP(PH)

* 
– – UP(PH)* UP(PH)* 

23.302.070.B 

Bar/Cocktail Lounge/Tavern 
UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* – – 

UP(PH)

* 

UP(PH)

* 
– UP(PH)* UP(PH)* 

23.204.100.B.3; 

23.204.110.B.2; 23.310 

Commercial Recreation Center See 23.204.040.A  

Dance/Exercise/Martial 

Arts/Music Studio 
ZC [1] ZC [1] ZC [2] AUP AUP [4] ZC [1] ZC AUP ZC ZC [9] 

 

Entertainment Establishment UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Food Service Establishment See 23.302.040.E  

Group Class Instruction ZC [1] ZC [1] AUP AUP AUP* ZC [1] ZC* AUP ZC* ZC 23.204.040.B 

Notes: 

[1] Change of use of floor area over 3,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

[2] Change of use of floor area over 2,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

[4] Requires a Use Permit if 5,000 sq. ft. or more. 

[7] Requires an AUP for uses 3,000 sq. ft. to 5,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 5,000 sq. ft. 

[9] Requires a Use Permit if 7,500 square feet or more. 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 81 of 511



SECTION  23.204.020    CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

Gym/Health Club See 23.204.040.C  

Hotels, Tourist UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Motels, Tourist UP(PH) UP(PH) – – – – – – UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Theater UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) – AUP UP(PH)  

Vehicle Service and Sales Uses    

Alternative Fuel Station 
UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) –* UP(PH) – AUP* 

23.204.110.B.4; 

23.204.140.B.3 

Electric Vehicle Charging Station AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP*  

Gasoline Fuel Stations UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) U UP(PH) UP(PH) –* UP(PH) – UP(PH)* 23.204.140.B.3 

Large Vehicle Sales and Rental  AUP – – – – – – – – AUP* [10] 23.204.140.B.3 

Small Vehicle Sales and Service 
UP(PH) – – – – 

UP(PH)

* 
– – UP(PH) UP(PH)* 

23.204.100.B.5; 

23.204.140.B.3 

Tire Sales and Service UP(PH) – – – – – – – – UP(PH)* 23.204.140.B.3 

Vehicle Parts Store ZC [1] – ZC [2] ZC [2] ZC [2] ZC [1] ZC ZC [2] – AUP* [10]  

Vehicle Rentals AUP – – – – – – – – AUP* [10] 23.204.140.B.3 

Vehicle Repair and Service  AUP – – – – – UP(PH) – – AUP* [10]  

Vehicle Sales, New AUP – – – – 
UP(PH)

* 
– – UP(PH) AUP* [10] 

23.204.140.B.3 

Vehicle Sales, Used AUP – – – – 
UP(PH)

* 
– – UP(PH) UP(PH)* 

23.204.100.B.5; 

23.204.140.B.3; 

23.204.140.D.4 

Notes: 

[1] Change of use of floor area over 3,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

[2] Change of use of floor area over 2,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

[10] Require a Use Permit if either 5,000 sq. ft. or more of floor area or 10,000 square feet or more of lot area. 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 82 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS  SECTION  23.204.020   

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-7 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

Vehicle Wash UP(PH) – – – – – – – – UP(PH)* 23.204.140.B.3 

Vehicle Wrecking - – – – – – – – – –  

Industrial and Heavy 

Commercial Uses 
          

 

Bus/Cab/Truck/Public Utility 

Depot 
– – – – – – – – – – 

 

Commercial Excavation UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – –  

Contractors Yard – – – – – – – – – AUP  

Dry Cleaning and Laundry Plant UP(PH) UP(PH) – – UP(PH) – – – UP(PH) –  

Laboratory   

 Commercial Physical or 

 Biological 

– – – – – – – – – –  

 Cannabis Testing AUP AUP  – – – – – – AUP AUP [14]  

Manufacturing   

 Construction Products  – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

 Light Manufacturing – – – – – – – – – AUP [10]  

Pesticides/Herbicides/Fertiliz

ers 

– – – – – – – – – 
UP(PH) 

 

Petroleum Refining and 

Products 

– – – – – – – – – 
UP(PH) 

 

 Pharmaceuticals – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

Notes: 

[10] Require a Use Permit if either 5,000 sq. ft. or more of floor area or 10,000 square feet or more of lot area. 

[14] Requires a Use Permit if more than 10,000 sq. ft.  

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 83 of 511



SECTION  23.204.020    CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

 Primary Production 

 Manufacturing 

– – – – – – – – – 
UP(PH) 

 

 Semiconductors – – – – – – – – – UP(PH)  

Material Recovery Enterprise – – – – – – – – – –  

Media Production UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)* AUP 23.204.130.B.4 

Mini-storage  UP(PH) – – – – – – – UP(PH) –  

Recycled Materials Processing – – – – – – – – – –  

Recycling Redemption Center AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP  

Repair Service, Non-Vehicle – – – – – – – – – AUP  

Research and Development – – – – – – – – – AUP  

Services to Buildings and 

Dwellings 
– – – – – – – – – AUP 

 

Warehouse UP(PH) – – – – – – – UP(PH) –  

Warehouse-Based Non-Store 

Retailer 
– – – – – – – – – – 

 

Wholesale Trade  – – – – – – – – – AUP [10]  

Incidental Uses   

Amusement Devices AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* 23.302.070.B 

Alcoholic Beverage Service See 23.312  

Cafeteria, On-Site UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) AUP  

Columbaria See 23.302.030.E  

Notes: 

 [10] Require a Use Permit if either 5,000 sq. ft. or more of floor area or 10,000 square feet or more of lot area. 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 84 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS  SECTION  23.204.020   

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-9 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

Food and Beverage for Immediate 

Consumption  
ZC ZC AUP UP(PH) UP(PH) ZC AUP UP(PH) ZC ZC 

 

Food Service Establishment See 23.302.040.E  

Live Entertainment See 23.302.020.D  

Manufacturing AUP AUP UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) AUP AUP AUP AUP  

Retail Sale of Goods 

Manufactured On-Site 
ZC [1] ZC [1] ZC [2] ZC [2] ZC [2] ZC [1] ZC ZC [2] ZC AUP  

Storage of Goods (>25% gross 

floor area) 
AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* 23.302.020.C 

Wholesale Activities AUP* AUP* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* – AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP 23.204.080.B.3 

Other Miscellaneous Uses   

Art/Craft Studio AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP  

ATM, Exterior and Attached to 

Bank  
AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP* AUP AUP 

23.204.120.B.2 

ATM, Interior or Exterior and 

Not With Bank  
UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH)* AUP 

23.204.130.B.2 

Circus/Carnival UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Drive-in Uses  UP(PH) – – – UP(PH) UP(PH) – UP(PH) – –  

Live/Work See 23.312  

Parking Lot/Structure See 23.302.070.G  

Public Market, Open Air AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP UP(PH)  

Notes: 

[1] Change of use of floor area over 3,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

[2] Change of use of floor area over 2,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

[9] Requires a Use Permit if 7,500 square feet or more. 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 85 of 511



SECTION  23.204.020    CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-10  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Table Note Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

Commercial Districts Use-Specific 

Regulations 
Applies to uses with an asterisk 

following the permit 

requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

C-C C-U C-N C-E C-NS C-SA C-T C-SO 
C-

DMU 
C-W 

Public Market, Enclosed AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP AUP [9]  

Short-Term Rental See 23.314  

Urban Agriculture, Low-Impact ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC* ZC 23.318 

Urban Agriculture, High-Impact  AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP* AUP 23.318 

Wireless Telecommunication 

Facility 
See 23.332 

 

Notes: 

[9] Requires a Use Permit if 7,500 square feet or more. 

* Use-Specific Regulations Apply 

 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 86 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS  SECTION  23.204.030   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-11 

B. Unlisted Land Uses.3 Any use not listed in Table 23.204.020-1 is permitted with an AUP. To 

approve the AUP, the Zoning Administrator must find that the use is compatible with the purposes 

of the district where it is located. Any use found to be incompatible with the purposes of the district 

is prohibited. 

C. Use-Specific Regulations. Uses subject to supplemental regulations are shown in in Table 

23.204.020-1 with an asterisk (*) following the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*). The Use-Specific 

Regulations column in Table 23.204.020-1 identifies the location of these regulations in the 

Zoning Ordinance.    

23.204.030  – ADDITIONAL PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 
A. Change of Use.4 

1. Uses subject to additional permit requirements with a change of use are shown in Table 

23.204.020-1 with a note [1] or [2] following the permit requirement (e.g., ZC [1]).  

2. A change of use means a change to a different category of commercial or manufacturing use 

but does not include changes between uses that are classified in the same category of 

commercial or manufacturing use. For example, changing a pet store (in “Retail Use” 

category) to a medical practitioner (in “Offices” category) is subject to change of use permit 

requirements in Table 23.204.020-1. Changing a pet store to general retail (also in “Retail 

Use” category) is not subject to the change of use permit requirements.  

B. New Floor Area.5 

1. When Permit is Required. A project that creates new floor area for any use requires 

permits as shown in Table 23.204.030-1.  Creation of new floor area includes: 

a. Construction of new main buildings or accessory buildings; 

b. Additions to existing buildings; or 

c. The installation of new floor or mezzanine levels within or onto existing buildings. 

 

  

 
3 Subsection (B) from the Uses Permitted section for each commercial district chapter in Title 223D.  
4 Carries forward and consolidates the change of use notes in existing allowed land use tables in Title 23E. 
5 Consolidates construction of new floor area permit requirements for all districts in Title 23E. See for example 
23E.36.050.A. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 87 of 511



SECTION 23.204.030   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-12  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.030-1: NEW FLOOR AREA PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

District/New Gross Floor Area 
Permit Required for 

New Floor Area 

C-C, C-U  

Less than 5,000 sq. ft. ZC 

5,000 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

C-N, C-E, C-SO (any amount of new floor area) UP(PH) 

C-NS  

Less than 2,000 sq. ft. ZC 

2,000 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

C-SA  

Less than 3,000 sq. ft. ZC 

3,000 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

C-T - 

Less than 1,500 sq. ft. AUP 

1,500 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

C-DMU  

Less than 10,000 sq. ft. ZC 

10,000 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

C-W  

5,000 sq. ft. or more except when an AUP is required 
below 

UP(PH) 

7,500 sq. ft. or less in a building containing only retail 
uses 

AUP 

20,000 sq. ft. or less in a building with residential and 
retail space that is more than 15 percent and less than 
33 percent of the floor area being created 

AUP 

 

2. C-DMU Findings.6 To approve a Use Permit for new floor area in the C-DMU district, the 

ZAB must find that: 

a. The addition or new building is compatible with the visual character and form of the 

district; and 

b. No designated landmark structure, structure of merit, or historic district in the vicinity 

would be adversely affected by the appearance or design of the proposed addition. 

 
6 23E.68.090.D 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 88 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.030   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-13 

3. C-W Findings.7 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for new floor area in the C-W district, 

the review authority must find that the new use or structure provides an intensity of 

development which does not underutilize the property.  

C. Tenant Space Reconfiguration.8 

1. Reconfiguration of tenant space in an existing building requires a permit as listed in Table 

23.204.030-2.  

2. As used in this section, tenant reconfiguration means any physical change to an existing 

building’s walls separating leased spaces so as to change: 

a. The number of lease spaces for commercial businesses; or 

b. The square footage of leasable floor area of an existing commercial lease space. 

TABLE 23.204.030-2: TENANT SPACE RECONFIGURATION PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

District 
Permit Required for Tenant 

Space Reconfiguration Project 

C-C, C-U  

Less than 5,000 sq. ft. ZC 

5,000 sq. ft. or greater AUP 

C-N, C-E, C-NS, C-SO (All reconfiguration projects) AUP 

C-SA, C-DMU No additional permit required 

C-T  

Increasing the number of individual tenant spaces ZC 

5,000 sq. ft. or greater AUP 

Creating a tenant space less than 1,000 sq. ft. AUP 

C-W  

Less than 5,000 sq. ft ZC 

In existing buildings in a designated node affecting 
5,000 sq. ft. or greater 

AUP 

 

D. Major Residential Additions. 

1. Where Allowed/Required Permits.  

a. Major residential additions in the C-W district require an AUP.9 

b. No additional permits are required for major residential additions in all other C districts. 

 
7 Source: 23.64.090.B.5 
8 Changes term “conversions” to “reconfiguration.” Consolidates reconfiguration permit requirements for all districts in 
Title 23E (See for example 23E.36.050.B). 
9 Source: Table 23E.64.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 89 of 511



SECTION 23.204.040   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-14  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Findings.10 To deny an AUP for a major residential addition in the C-W district, the review 

authority must find that although the proposed major residential addition satisfies all other 

standards of the Zoning Ordinance, the addition would unreasonably obstruct sunlight, air, 

or views. 

E. Changes to Nonconforming Structures. See Section 23.324.050 (Nonconforming Structures 

and Buildings) for permits required to modify structures that do not conform to setback, height, 

and other development standards. 

F. Accessory Structures. For accessory structure permit requirements, see the following: 

1. Section 23.304.060 (Accessory Buildings and Enclosed Accessory Structures). 

2. Section 23.304.070 (Unenclosed Accessory Structures in Residential Districts). 

3. Section 23.304.080 (Fences).  

23.204.040  – USE-SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS AND REGULATIONS 

Commentary:  This section contains use-specific permit requirements and regulations that 1) apply in multiple 

Commercial Districts; and 2) do not also apply in a Manufacturing and/or Residential District. If a use-specific 

permit requirement or regulation applies only in one district, it is located in the district section in this chapter. If a use-

specific permit requirements or regulation also applies in a Manufacturing and/or Residential District, it is located in 

Chapter 23.302 (Supplemental Use Regulations) or a stand-alone chapter in Division 3. This organization 

eliminates repetition and minimizes the need for readers to look for information in separate chapters.  

A. Commercial Recreation Centers.11 Table 204.040-1 shows permit requirements for commercial 

recreation centers in the Commercial Districts. 

TABLE 23.204.040-1: COMMERCIAL RECREATION CENTER PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

District/Use Size 
Permit 

Required 

C-C, C-U, C-T, C-DMU, C-W  

Under 5,000 sq. ft indoor use ZC 

5,000 to 10,000 sq. ft. indoor use AUP 

Over 10,000 sq. ft. indoor use or outdoor use of any size UP(PH) 

C-N, C-E, C-NS, C-SA, C-SO  

Under 3,000 sq. ft indoor use AUP 

Over 3,000 sq. ft. indoor use or outdoor use of any size UP(PH) 

 

B. Group Class Instruction. 

 
10 Source: 23E.64.090.G 
11 Source: Title 23E allowed use tables. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 90 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.040   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-15 

1. C-NS and C-DMU Districts.12 When group class instruction in the C-NS or C-DMU 

districts are located on the ground floor adjacent to a street frontage, storefront windows 

must include a window display or to be transparent and provide pedestrian viewing a 

minimum of 10 feet into the storefront area. 

2. C-NS District.13 Group class instruction uses in the C-NS may not exceed 2,500 square 

feet. 

3. C-T District.14 Group class instruction uses in the C-T district are prohibited on the ground 

floor. 

C. Gyms and Health Clubs. 

1. Permits Required.15 Table 23.204.040-2 shows permits required for gyms and health clubs 

in the Commercial Districts. 

TABLE 23.204.040-2: GYM AND HEALTH CLUB PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

District/Use Size Permit Required [1] 

C-C, C-U, C-DMU  

Under 7,500 sq. ft ZC 

7,500 sq. ft. and greater AUP 

C-N, C-E, C-NS, C-SO AUP 

C-SA, C-T ZC 

C-W  

Under 7,500 sq. ft ZC 

7,500 sq. ft. and greater UP(PH) 

Note: 

[1] Change of use permit requirements as described in Section 23.204.030.A (Change 

of Use) also apply. In the C-C, C-U, and C-SA districts, a change of use of gross floor 

area over 3,000 square feet requires an AUP. In the C-N, C-E, C-NS, and C-SO 

districts, a change of use of gross floor area over 2,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

 

 

2. C-DMU District.16 When located on the ground floor adjacent to a street frontage, 

storefront windows for a gym and health club in the C-DMU district must include a window 

display or to be transparent and provide pedestrian viewing a minimum of 10 feet into the 

storefront area. 

D. Transparency Requirement for Office Uses.17 When office uses shown in Table 23.204.040-3 are 

located on the ground floor adjacent to a street frontage, storefront windows shall either: 

 
12 Source: Table 23E.48.030 
13 Source: Table 23E.48.030 
14 Source: Table 23E.56.030 
15 Source: Allowed use tables from Title 23E. 
16 Source: Table 23E.68.030. 
17 Source: Title 23E allowed use tables.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 91 of 511



SECTION 23.204.040   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-16  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

1. Include a storefront window display; or 

2. Be transparent and provide pedestrian viewing a minimum of 10 feet into the storefront 

area. 

TABLE 23.204.040-3: OFFICE USES SUBJECT TO TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENT 

Office Use District 

Insurance Agents, Title Companies, 
Real Estate Agents, Travel Agents 

CN, C-E, C-NS, CT, C-SO, C-DMU 

Medical Practitioners C-T 

Office, Business and Professional CN, C-E, C-NS, C-T, C-SO, C-DMU 

 

E. Department Stores.18 Table 23.204.040-4 shows permits required for department stores in the 

Commercial Districts. 

TABLE 23.204.040-4: DEPARTMENT STORE PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

District/Use Size Permit Required [1] 

C-SA, C-T  

3,000 sq. ft. or less ZC 

Over 3,000 sq. ft. AUP 

C-E, C-NS, C-SO  

3,000 sq. ft. or less ZC 

Over 3,000 sq. ft. Prohibited 

C-N  

3,000 sq. ft. or less AUP 

Over 3,000 sq. ft. Prohibited 

C-C, C-U ZC 

Note: 

[1] Change of use permit requirements as described in Section 23.204.030.A (Change 

of Use) also apply. In the C-C, C-U, and C-SA districts, a change of use of gross floor 

area over 3,000 square feet requires an AUP. In the C-N, C-E, C-NS, and C-SO 

districts, a change of use of gross floor area over 2,000 square feet requires an AUP.  

 

F. Drugstores.19 The following requirements apply to drugstores in the C-N, CE, C-NS, and C-SO 

districts. 

1. Where Prohibited. A new or expanded drugstore is prohibited if it is: 

a. Over 5,000 square feet in gross floor area; and 

b. Within 1,000 feet of any property containing an existing drugstore. 

 
18 Source: Title 23E allowed use tables.  
19 Source: Tables 23E.40.030, 23E.44.030, 23E.48.030, 23E.60.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 92 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.050   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-17 

2. Measurement of Distance. Distances between drugstores are measured by a straight line 

from the nearest point of the property line of the parcel on which the drugstore is proposed 

to the nearest point of the lot line of the lot on which the nearest drugstore is located. 

23.204.050  – C-C CORRIDOR COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 

Commentary: The name of the C-1 district has been changed to Corridor Commercial to match the style of 

other commercial districts. Standards that apply in the University Avenue Strategic Plan Overlay have been 

removed and now apply in the new C-U district. 

 

A. District Purpose.20 The purpose of the Corridor Commercial (C-C) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan’s designations for Avenue Commercial areas; 

2. Provide locations for a wide variety of activities along thoroughfares; 

3. Encourage development in underutilized neighborhood and community shopping areas; and 

4. Promote development compatible with adjacent commercial and residential areas.  

B. Allowed Land Uses.21 See Table 23.204.020-1.  

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards.22  

1. Basic Standards. See Table 23.204.050-1. For residential-only projects, see also Tables 

23.204.050-2 and 23.204.050-3. 

2. Lots Abutting or Confronting a Residential District.23 See 23.304.130 (Non-residential 

Districts Abutting a Residential District) for additional building feature requirements for lots 

that abut or confront a Residential District. 

  

 
20 Source: 23E.36.020. University Avenue Strategic Plan goals moved to purpose statement for the C-U district. Deletes 
23E.36.010, which is not needed. 
21 Allowed land use and permit requirements in 23E.36.030 moved to new Section 23.204.020 and shown in a single 
allowed use table with other commercial and mixed use districts.  
22 Source: 23E.36.070. Standards for the University Avenue Strategic Plan Area are shown separately in the new C-U 
district.  
23 Source: 23E.44.070.D 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 93 of 511



SECTION 23.204.050   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-18  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.050-1: C-C DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 

Project Land Use 

Supplemental 

Standards 

Non-Residential 

and Mixed Use Residential Only 

Lot Area Minimum    23.304.020 

 New Lots No minimum 5,000 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 3.0 No maximum  

Main Building Height, Minimum N/A N/A  

Main Building Height, Maximum   23.304.050 

 Commercial Only 40 ft. and 2 stories 

N/A 

 

 Mixed Use 40 ft. and 3 stories [2]  

 Mixed Use with Use Permit 50 ft. and 4 stories [2]  

 Other Uses 40 ft. and 2 stories  

 Residential Only N/A 35 ft. and 3 stories  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum   

See Table 23.204-9 

23.304.030 

Abutting/Confronting a Non-residential District No minimum  

Abutting/Confronting a Residential District  See 23.304.030.C.2  

Building Separation, Minimum No minimum 
See Table 23.204-10 

23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum 23.304.120 

Usable Open Space, Minimum    

 Per  Dwelling Unit 200 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 90 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[2] In mixed use buildings, the third and higher floors must be used for residential purposes. 

 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 94 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.050   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-19 

TABLE 23.204.050-2: C-C SETBACKS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY USES 

 

Minimum Setback for Each 

Building Story 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

 

 

TABLE 23.204.050-3: C-C BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY 

USES 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 40%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45%  

 

 

3. Modification to Standards – Mixed-Use Open Space and Residential-Only Projects.24 

a. The ZAB may modify the following standards with a Use Permit: 

i. Minimum usable open space for mixed use projects shown in Table 23.202.050-1. 

ii. Any standard for residential-only projects in Tables 23.202.050-2 and 23.202.050-3. 

b. To approve the modification, the ZAB must find that the modification achieves one or 

more of the following: 

i. Encourages use of the ground floor for commercial purposes where appropriate. 

ii. Encourages utilization of public transit and existing off-street parking facilities in the 

area of the proposed building. 

iii. Facilitates the construction of residential or tourist hotel uses where appropriate. 

iv. Permits consistency with the building setbacks existing in the immediate area where a 

residential building setback would not serve a useful purpose. 

 
24 Source: 23E.36.070.D&E and 23E.36.090.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 95 of 511



SECTION 23.204.060   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-20  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

E. Permit Findings.25 To approve any AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-C district, the review 

authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the proposed use 

or structure: 

1. Is compatible with the purpose of the district; 

2. Is compatible with the surrounding uses and buildings; 

3. Does not interfere with the continuity of retail and service facilities at the ground level; and 

4. Does not exceed the amount and intensity of use that can be served by the available traffic 

capacity and potential parking supply. 

23.204.060  – C-U UNIVERSITY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.26 The purpose of the C-U University Commercial district is to:  

1. Implement the General Plan’s designations for Avenue Commercial areas; 

2. Provide locations for a wide variety of activities along thoroughfares; 

3. Encourage development in underutilized neighborhood and community shopping areas; and 

4. Promote development compatible with adjacent commercial and residential areas.  

5. Implement the University Avenue Strategic Plan by: 

a. Increasing public safety for residents, merchants, and customers; 

b. Revitalize the University Avenue corridor through appropriate economic development 

and housing; 

c. Protecting and improving neighborhood quality of life; 

d. Encourage more pedestrian-oriented development and an appropriate mix of uses to 

improve neighborhood identity; 

e. Enhancing University Avenue as a gateway to the city, a series of neighborhoods, and 

the downtown; 

f. Coordinating and enhance public transit systems, pedestrian access, and bicycle 

circulation; and 

g. Encouraging a concentration of commercial activity at the designated nodes.  

B. Allowed Land Uses.  

1. General. 27 See Table 23.204.020-1. 

 
25 Source: 23E.36.090A&B 
26 Source: 23E.36.020 
27 Allowed land use and permit requirements in 23E.36.030 moved to new Section 23.204.020 and shown in a single 
allowed use table with other commercial and mixed use districts. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 96 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.060   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-21 

2. Alcoholic Beverage Retail Sales. Alcoholic beverage retail sales are allowed in the C-U 

district only in conjunction with a restaurant or general food product store.28 

3. Residential Uses.29  

a. Ground Floor Residential Uses. Ground floor residential uses, including leasing and 

management offices and other similar resident-serving uses, require a Use Permit. 

b. University Avenue Node Area. In the University Avenue Node Area shown in Figure 

23.204.060-1, new residential uses must be integrated with non-residential uses in a 

mixed-use development. 

c. Outside of Node Area. Single use residential projects are permitted outside of the 

University Avenue Node Area with a Use Permit. 

FIGURE 204.060-1: C-U DISTRICT SUB-AREAS 

 

  

 
28 Source: Table 23E.36.030.29 Source: Table 23E.36.030 
29 Source: Table 23E.36.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 97 of 511



SECTION 23.204.060   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-22  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards. 30 

1. Basic Standards. See Table 23.204.060-1 and 23.204.060-2. For residential-only projects, 

see also Tables 23.204.060-3 and 23.204.060-4. See Figure 23.204.060-1 for C-U district sub-

area boundaries.  

TABLE 23.204.060-1: C-U DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 

Project Land Use 

Supplemental 

Standards 

Non-Residential 

and Mixed Use Residential Only 

Lot Area, Minimum   23.304.020 

 New Lots No minimum 5,000 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum    

 Avenue Mixed Use Area – North Side of 

 University Avenue 
2.2 

No maximum 

 

 Avenue Mixed Use Area – South Side of 

 University Avenue 
2.5  

 Node Area – North Side of University 

 Avenue 
2.5  

 Node Area – South Side of University 

 Avenue 
3.0  

Main Building Height, Minimum 30 ft. and 2 stories  

Main Building Height, Maximum   23.304.050 

 Avenue Mixed Use Area, All Uses 36 ft. and 3 stories [2] 

N/A 

 

 Avenue Node Area, Non-Residential  40 ft. and 3 stories  

 Avenue Node Area, Mixed Use 48 ft. and 4 stories [2]  

 Residential Only N/A 36 ft. and 3 stories  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum See Table 23.204-12 See Table 23.204-13 23.304.030 

Building Separation, Minimum No minimum 
See Table 23.204-14 

23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum 23.304.120 

Usable Open Space, Minimum    

 Per  Dwelling Unit 200 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 90 sq. ft. 23.304.090 

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[2] In mixed-use buildings, the third and higher floors must be used for residential purposes. 

 
30 Source: development standards for University Avenue Strategic Plan Overlay area in 23E.36.070. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 98 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.060   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-23 

 

 

TABLE 23.204.060-2: C-U SETBACK STANDARDS  

Lot Line & Project Conditions Required Setback 

Front  

Ground-floor non-residential uses fronting 

University Avenue  

Average 2 ft. 

2 ft. at all sidewalk pedestrian entries 

Residential-only projects, all floors  

Fronting a street other than University Avenue 

and confronting a non-residential district 
No min. 

Rear   

All lots 10 ft. or 10% of lot depth, whichever is greater 

Lots on south side of University Avenue 

abutting lot in residential district 
 Average 20 ft. [1] [2] 

Lots on south side of University Avenue See 23.204.060.D.5 for solar access requirement 

Interior Side No min. 

Street Side 2 ft. average 

All setbacks for lots on South Side of University 

Avenue fronting a street other than University 

Avenue 

As required by 23.304.030.C.2 [3] 

Notes: 

[1] Rear yard area must be greater than or equal to the width of the lot in feet multiplied by 20 feet. 

[2] See 23.304.030.C.2.b for allowed reductions.  

[3] If a lot fronting a side street is consolidated into a single project with the adjacent University Avenue-fronting lot, the project must conform to the 

setback standards in this table.  

 

TABLE 23.204.060-3: C-U SETBACK STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY USES31 

 

Building Story Setback 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

 Front Average 2 ft. and 10 ft max. [1]  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

Notes: 

[1] Setback area must be used to accommodate landscaping that enhances the streetscape and provides a sense of privacy for residential units on the 

first floor. 

  

 
31 Clarifies that the front setback standard in the R-3 district does not apply. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 99 of 511



SECTION 23.204.060   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-24  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.060-4: C-U BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY 

USES 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 40%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45%  

 

 

 

 

2. Lots Abutting or Confronting a Residential District.32  

a. See 23.304.030.C.2 for additional setback and building feature requirements for lots: 

i. With a front lot line on University Avenue; and 

ii. That abut or confront a residential district. 

b. If the front lot line is not on University Avenue, 23.302.030.C.2 does not apply. 

3. Modification to Standards – Mixed-Use Open Space and Residential-Only Projects.33 

a. The ZAB may modify the following standards with a Use Permit: 

i. Minimum usable open space for mixed use projects and exclusive residential uses in 

Table 23.204.060-1. 

ii. Any standard for residential-only projects in Table 23.204.060-3 and 23.204.060-4. 

b. The approve the modification, the ZAB must find that the modification achieves one or 

more of the following: 

i. Encourages use of the ground floor for commercial purposes where appropriate. 

ii. Encourages utilization of public transit and existing off-street parking facilities in the 

area of the proposed building. 

iii. Facilitates the construction of residential or tourist hotel uses where appropriate. 

iv. Permits consistency with the building setbacks existing in the immediate area where a 

residential building setback would not serve a useful purpose. 

4. Rear Yard Setbacks – South Side of University Avenue – Allowed Reduction.34 

 
32 Source: 23E.36.070.C.1 
33 Source: 23E.36.070.D&E; 23E.36.090.C 
34 Source: 23E.36.070.C.1.b 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 100 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.060   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-25 

a. For projects on the south side of University Avenue, the ZAB may reduce the required 

rear lot line setbacks in Table 23.204.060-2 with a Use Permit to a minimum of six feet 

on the first floor. 

b. The ZAB may allow the reduction only if the square footage added on the first floor is 

utilized to increase the average 20-foot setback on higher floors to facilitate the privacy 

of abutting residentially-zoned lots. 

5. Solar Access.35 Buildings on the north side of University Avenue may not cast a shadow at 

noon more than 20 feet onto any lot in a residential district as calculated when the sun is at a 

29-degree angle above the horizon (winter solstice). 

6. Ground Floor Commercial Uses – Standards.36 

a. All mixed use and non-residential projects shall provide ground floor commercial uses as 

shown in Table 23.204.060-5. See Figure 23.204.060-1 for C-U district subarea 

boundaries. 

TABLE 23.204.060-5: C-U GROUND FLOOR COMMERCIAL USE STANDARDS 

Ground Floor Commercial Use Feature 

Standard by Sub-Area 

Outside of Node 

Overlay Area Node Overlay Area 

Minimum floor to ceiling height  12 ft. 12 ft. 

Minimum floor area [1] 
15% 

10% with Use Permit 

30%  

20% with Use Permit 

Minimum street frontage [2] 50% 75%  

Minimum area for retail sales, personal and 

household services, or food service [3] 
No minimum 

75% 

50% with Use Permit 

Maximum area for office use [3] No maximum 25% 

Notes: 

[1] Calculated as percent of project land area. 

[2] Calculated as percent of project’s University Avenue frontage. 

[3] Calculated as percentage of minimum required ground floor commercial floor area. 

 

b. Ground level commercial space shall be designed to allow for the space to be easily 

divided or assembled. 

7. Ground Floor Commercial Uses – Minimum Floor Area Reductions.37  

a. The ZAB may allow a reduction in the minimum required floor area to no less than 

indicated in Table 23.204.060-5 with a Use Permit for projects on lots that are only: 

i. Less than 7,500 square feet; and 

 
35 Source: 23E.36.070.C.1.a 
36 Source: 23E.36.070.F.1 
37 Source: 23E.36.070.F & 23E.36.090.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 101 of 511



SECTION 23.204.060   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-26  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

ii. Without side street access (internal lots). 

b. To approve the reduction, the ZAB must find that: 

i. Parking cannot be efficiently provided at grade and project parking conflicts with the 

requirement for ground floor commercial space; 

ii. The reduced commercial area will result in a project with an enhanced commercial 

configuration; and 

iii. The reduced commercial area promotes pedestrian-oriented activity along University 

Avenue through the mix of commercial uses, and/or the commercial uses will 

remain open beyond standard business hours, such as into the evening and on 

weekends, and the uses will be visible from University Avenue frontage.  

8. Ground Floor Commercial Uses – Minimum Frontage Reduction.38 The ZAB may 

allow a reduction in the minimum required frontage requirement along University Avenue as 

shown in Table 23.204.060-5 with a Use Permit upon finding that the minimum frontage 

requirement conflicts with: 

a. Minimum project site egress requirements; 

b. Minimum required driveway access to parking areas; or 

c. Project utility needs. 

9. Parking Areas for Residential-Only Projects.39 All residential-only projects shall limit 

ground level parking uses directly fronting on University Avenue to no more than 25 percent 

of the project’s University Avenue frontage. All parking garage walls adjacent to University 

Avenue or side streets shall be articulated through design elements or material detailing to 

avoid blank walls extending more than 12 feet along the University Avenue or side street 

frontage.  

10. Open Space.40 Projects shall provide open space features as shown in Table 23.204.060-6 to 

enhance project entries and the University Avenue frontage. 

  

 
38 Source: 23E.36.070.F & 23E.36.090.F 
39 Source: 23E.36.070.F.2 
40 Source: 23E.36.070.F.3&4 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 102 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.060   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-27 

TABLE 23.204.060-6: C-U OPEN SPACE FEATURES 

Open Space Feature 
Minimum 

Requirement 

Mixed Use and Residential-Only Projects  

Minimum open space that is either: 

a. at street level; or 
b. on a parking podium directly connected to the project entries at 

the street level [1] 

10% 

Minimum open space open to sky [1] 75% 

Projects with 100 feet or more of University Avenue Frontage  

Minimum area of pedestrian-oriented open spaces and improvements 

open to the sidewalk [2] 
1% 

Minimum width and length of street level plaza or entry courtyard 6 ft. 

Notes: 

[1] Calculated as percentage of minimum resident-serving open spaced required by Section 23.304.090 (Usable Open Space). Open space must be 

accessible to building occupants. 

[2] Calculated percentage of project land area. 

 

11. Sidewalk/Curb and Gutter.41 Projects shall provide sidewalk, curb and gutter, and street 

corner bulb-out improvements as necessary to comply with the current City standards. 

12. Sidewalk Amenities.42 Projects shall provide sidewalk amenities as necessary to comply 

with the current City standards. Required improvement may include: 

a. Pedestrian-scaled lighting to illuminate the sidewalk areas;  

b. New street trees and grates; and 

c. Benches and bicycle racks.  

E. Permit Findings.43 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-U district, the review 

authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the proposed use 

or structure: 

1. Is compatible with the purpose of the district; 

2. Is compatible with the surrounding uses and buildings; 

3. Does not interfere with the continuity of retail and service facilities at the ground level; and 

4. Does not exceed the amount and intensity of use that can be served by the available traffic 

capacity and potential parking supply. 

  

 
41 Source: 23E.36.070.F.5 
42 Source: 23E.36.070.F.6 
43 Source: 23E.36.090.A&B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 103 of 511



SECTION 23.204.070   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-28  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.204.070  – C-N NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose. 44 The purpose of the Neighborhood Corridor (C-N) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan’s designations for Neighborhood Commercial areas; 

2. Provide locations for uses supplying convenience goods and services for residents of the 

immediate area; 

3. Provide locations for other activities compatible with allowed commercial uses; 

4. Minimize traffic and parking problems for the adjacent residential areas; and 

5. Promote compatibility between commercial areas and nearby residential areas. 

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.204.204-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards.45 

1. Basic Standards. See Table 23.204.070-1. For residential-only projects, see also Tables 

23.204.070-2 and 23.204.070-3. 

 

  

 
44 Source: 23D.40.020. Deletes 23E.40.010, which is not needed. 
45 Source: 23E.40.070. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 104 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.070   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-29 

TABLE 23.204.070-1: C-N DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 

Project Land Use 

Supplemental 

Standards 

Non-Residential 

and Mixed Use Residential Only 

Lot Area, Minimum   23.304.020 

 New Lots No minimum 5,000 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 3.0 No maximum  

Main Building Height, Maximum   23.304.050 

 All Non-Residential Uses 35 ft. and 2 stories 
N/A 

 

 Mixed Use 35 ft. and 3 stories [2]  

 Residential Only N/A 35 ft. and 3 stories  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    

Abutting/Confronting a Non-residential District No minimum 
See Table 23.205-18 

 

Abutting/Confronting a Residential District  See 23.304.030.C.2  

Building Separation, Minimum No minimum 
See Table 23.205-19 

 

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum  

Usable Open Space, Minimum   23.304.090 

 Per Dwelling Unit 200 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 90 sq. ft.  

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[2] In mixed use buildings, the third and higher floors must be used for residential purposes. 

 

TABLE 23.202.070-2: C-N SETBACK STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY USES 

 

Building Story Setback 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 105 of 511



SECTION 23.204.070   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-30  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.202.070-3: C-N BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY 

USES 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 40%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45%  

 

2. Lots Abutting or Confronting a Residential District.46 See 23.304.130 (Non-residential 

Districts Abutting a Residential District) for additional building feature requirements for lots 

that abut or confront a Residential District.  

3. Modification to Standards – Mixed-Use Open Space and Residential-Only Projects.47 

a. The ZAB may modify the following standards with a Use Permit: 

i. Minimum usable open space for mixed use projects shown in Table 23.204.070-1 

ii. Any standard for residential-only projects in Table 23.204.070-2 and 23.204.070-3. 

b. To approve the modification, the ZAB must find that the modification achieves one or 

more of the following: 

i. Encourages use of the ground floor for commercial purposes where appropriate. 

ii. Encourages utilization of public transit and existing off-street parking facilities in the 

area of the proposed building. 

iii. Facilitates the construction of residential or tourist hotel uses where appropriate. 

iv. Permits consistency with the building setbacks existing in the immediate area where a 

residential building setback would not serve a useful purpose. 

E. Permit Findings.48 To approve any AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-N district, the review 

authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the proposed use 

or structure: 

1. Is compatible with the purpose of the district; 

2. Is compatible with the surrounding uses and buildings; 

3. Does not interfere with the continuity of retail and service facilities at the ground level; and 

 
46 Source: 23E.40.070.C.1 
47 Source: 23E.40.070.D&E and 23E.40.090.C 
48 Source: 23E.340.090A&B.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 106 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.080   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-31 

4. Does not exceed the amount and intensity of use that can be served by the available traffic 

capacity and potential parking supply. 

23.204.080  – C-E ELMWOOD COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.49 The purpose of the Elmwood Commercial (C-E) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan’s designation for a community commercial district in this area; 

2. Maintain a scale and balance of retail goods and services in the district to compatibly serve 

the everyday needs of surrounding neighborhoods by: 

a. Providing locations for retail goods and service establishments to serve surrounding 

neighborhoods; 

b. Preventing development which exceeds the amount and intensity of use that is 

compatible with adjacent residential neighborhoods; 

c. Limiting the space occupied by businesses that generate high traffic and/or parking 

demands; 

d. Controlling the proliferation of establishments which, if not limited, might expand to 

displace establishments needed to serve surrounding neighborhoods; and 

e. Permitting other uses which serve this objective; and 

3. Ensure that new buildings, alterations, and additions to existing buildings harmonize with 

their surroundings.  

B. Land Use Regulations.  

1. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.204.020-1. 

2. Numerical and Size Limitations.50  

a. Table 23.204.080-1 shows land uses subject to numerical and size limitations in the C-E 

district. 

  

 
49 Source: 23E.44.020. Deletes 23E.44.010, which is not needed. 
50 Source: 23E.44.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 107 of 511



SECTION 23.204.080   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-32  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.080-1: C-E LAND USE NUMBER AND SIZE LIMITATIONS  

Use Number Limit Maximum Size Permit Required 

Art/Craft Shops, Gift/Novelty Shops, 
Jewelry/Watch Shops 

No limit 1,500 sq. ft. ZC 

Bookstores, Periodical Stands No limit 2,000 sq. ft. ZC 

Food Service Establishments [1] 25 total No max. No permit required 

Photocopy Stores, Printing, Fax, Magnetic 
Disk Reproduction Services 

No limit 1,000 sq. ft. ZC 

Notes: 

[1] Excludes food service uses accessory to a food product store. Secondary food service uses associated with all other principal uses are subject to 

limitations in Table 23.204.080-1.  

[2] Change of use of over 3,000 square feet requires Use Permit 

 

b. The ZAB may allow a use to exceed the limitations in Table 23.204.080-1 with a Use 

Permit upon finding that: 

i. The use will result in the positive enhancement of the purposes of the district; and 

ii. The use is likely to experience substantial patronage by surrounding residents as 

indicated by neighborhood resident support, merchant support, marketing surveys, 

or other information.  

3. Incidental Wholesale Activities.51 In the C-E district, wholesale activities incidental to a 

primary use require permits as follows: 

a. Six or fewer employees: Zoning Certificate. 

b. Seven or more employees: AUP. 

c. New construction: Use Permit. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards. 

1. Basic Standards.52 See Table 23.204.080-2.  For residential-only projects, also see Tables 

23.204.080-3 and 23.204.080-4. 

  

 
51 Source: Table 23E.44.030. 
52 Source: 23E.44.070. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 108 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.080   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-33 

TABLE 23.204.080-2: C-E DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 

Project Land Use 
Supplemental 

Standards Non-Residential 

and Mixed Use Residential Only 

Lot Area, Minimum No minimum 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

 New Lots No minimum 5,000 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum    

 Corner Lots 1.0 
No maximum 

 

 All Other Lots 0.8  

Main Building Height, Minimum N/A N/A  

Main Building Height, Maximum 28 ft. and 2 stories [2] 35 ft. and 3 stories  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

Abutting/Confronting a Non-residential District No minimum 
See Table 23.204-22 

 

Abutting/Confronting a Residential District  See 23.304.030.B.2  

Building Separation, Minimum No minimum 
See Table 23.204-23 

23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum 23.304.120 

Usable Open Space   23.304.090 

 Per Dwelling Unit 200 sq. ft. 40 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 90 sq. ft. 90 sq. ft.  

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[2] A basement level devoted exclusively to parking is not counted as a story. 

 

TABLE 23.204.080-3: C-E SETBACK STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY USES 

 

Building Story Setback 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.303.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 109 of 511



SECTION 23.204.080   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-34  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.080-4: C-E BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY 

USES 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 40%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45%  

 

2. Lots Abutting or Confronting a Residential District. 53 See 23.304.130 (Non-residential 

Districts Abutting a Residential District) for additional building feature requirements for lots 

that abut or confront a Residential District. 

3. Modifications to Standards – Mixed Use Open Space.54 The ZAB may modify the 

usable open space requirement shown in Table 23.204.080-2 for mixed-use projects by 

finding that the modification achieves one or more of the following: 

a. The modification encourages and maintains the present street frontage and pedestrian 

orientation of the district. 

b. The modification is compatible in design and character with the commercial district and 

the adjacent residential neighborhoods. 

c. The modification is compatible with the purposes set forth in Section 23.204.080.A 

(District Purpose) and the existing character of the district. 

4. Ground Floor Residential Uses.55 A ground floor residential use must be setback a 

minimum of 20 feet from a property line along College or Ashby Avenue. 

5. Projections into Right-of-Way.56  

a. Bay windows and balconies 11 feet or more above the sidewalk grade may project 3 feet 

into a street right-of-way. 

 
53 Source: 23E.44.070.D 
54 Source: 23E.44.070.E and 23E.44.090.B 
55 Source: 23E.44.070.F.2 
56 Source: 23E.44.070.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 110 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.090   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-35 

b. A maximum 60 percent of the length of a building frontage may project beyond the 

property line. 

c. All projections require a revocable encroachment permit from the City Council. 

E. Permit Findings.57 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-E district, the review 

authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find the following: 

1. The proposed use or structure will: 

a. Encourage and maintain the present street frontage and pedestrian orientation of the 

district; 

b. Be compatible in design and character with the commercial district and the adjacent 

residential neighborhoods; and 

c. Be compatible with the purposes set forth in Section 23E.44.020 and the existing 

character of the district. 

2. The proposed use or structure will not: 

a. Interfere with the continuity of retail or compatible service facilities at the ground level; 

b. Interrupt a continuous wall of building facades; 

c. Generate traffic and parking demand beyond the capacity of the commercial district or 

significantly increase impacts on adjacent residential neighborhoods; 

d. Result in domination of this district by one type of use; and 

e. Generate objectionable odors nor excessive levels of noise. 

23.204.090  – C-NS NORTH SHATTUCK COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.58 The purpose of the North Shattuck Commercial (C-NS) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan’s designations for Community Commercial and 

Commercial/Residential in this area; 

2. Encourage the maintenance and establishment of retail and service activities that provide 

goods and services to serve the residents of the adjacent and outlying neighborhoods; but do 

not generate high traffic volume; 

3. Provide locations for other activities compatible with these commercial activities; 

4. Promote compatibility between such commercial areas and adjacent residential 

neighborhoods; 

5. Limit the space occupied by businesses that generate high traffic volumes; 

 
57 Source: 23E.44.090 
58 Source: 23E.48.020. Deletes 23E.48.010, which is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 111 of 511



SECTION 23.204.090   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-36  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

6. Support the retention of types of businesses serving adjacent neighborhoods; 

7. Limit space occupied by commercial uses, especially offices, that are more appropriately 

located in the downtown business district; 

8. Prevent development of commercial spaces exceeding the amount and intensity of use that 

can be served by available traffic capacity and potential parking supply; 

9. Encourage an adequate commercial and residential mix along Shattuck Avenue; and 

10. Ensure that new buildings and additions to existing buildings harmonize with their 

surroundings. 

B. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.204.020-1. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards. 

1. Basic Standards.59 See Table 23.204.090-1. For residential-only projects, see also Tables 

23.204.090-2 and 23.204.090-3. 

  

 
59 Source: 23E.60.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 112 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.090   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-37 

TABLE 23.204.090-1: C-NS DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 

Project Land Use 
Supplemental 

Standards Non-Residential 

and Mixed Use Residential Only 

Lot Area, Minimum    23.304.020 

 New Lots 4,000 sq. ft. 5,000 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 1.0 No maximum  

Main Building Height [2]    

 Minimum 2 stories No minimum  

 Maximum 35 ft. and 3 stories 28 ft. and 2 stories  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

Abutting/Confronting a Non-residential District No minimum 
See Table 23.204-25 

 

Abutting/Confronting a Residential District  See 23.304.030.C.2  

Building Separation, Minimum No minimum [4] 
See Table 23.204-26 

23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum 23.304.120 

Usable Open Space, Minimum   23.304.090 

 Per Dwelling Unit 40 sq. ft. [5] 200 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident No minimum 90 sq. ft.  

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[2] Basement levels devoted exclusively to parking are not counted as a story.  
[4] For mixed-use projects, minimum building separation shall be as required for residential-only projects 

[5] No dimension may be less than 6 feet. 

 

TABLE 23.204.090-2: C-NS SETBACK STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY PROJECTS 

 

Basic Standards by Building Story 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 113 of 511



SECTION 23.204.090   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-38  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.090-3: C-NS BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY 

USES 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 40%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45%  

 

1. Lots Abutting or Confronting a Residential District.60 See 23.304.130 (Non-residential 

Districts Abutting a Residential District) for additional building feature requirements for lots 

that abut or confront a Residential District. 

2. Ground Floor Dwelling Units in Mixed-Use Buildings.61 Ground floor dwelling units in 

a mixed-use building shall be located a minimum of 20 feet from a property line adjoining a 

public right-of-way.  

3. Residential Window Setback.62 Mixed-use buildings shall be setback a minimum of ten 

feet from an interior property line opposite a required window in any habitable room of a 

residential use. 

E. Permit Findings.63 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-NS district, the 

review authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the 

proposed use or structure: 

1. Is compatible in design and character with the commercial district and the adjacent 

residential neighborhoods; 

2. Is compatible with the purposes and the existing character of the district. 

3. Does not interfere with the continuity of retail or compatible service facilities at the ground 

level; 

4. Does not exceed the amount and intensity of use that can be served by available traffic 

capacity and potential parking supply. 

  

 
60 Source: 23E.48.070.D.1 
61 Source: 23E.48.070.E.1 
62 Source: 23E.48.070.E.2 
63 Source: 23E.48.090. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 114 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.100   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-39 

23.204.100  – C-SA SOUTH AREA COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.64 The purpose of the South Area Commercial (C-SA) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan’s designations for Community Commercial, and the 

Commercial/Residential areas, as well as the policies of the South Berkeley Area Plan; 

2. Provide locations for both community-serving and regional-serving businesses, particularly 

those which reflect the culture of the surrounding area; 

3. Provide an area of neighborhood and lower intensity community commercial uses, serving as 

a transition between the Downtown area and the neighborhood-serving area south of Ashby 

Avenue; 

4. Encourage the location of a wide variety of community-oriented retail goods and services in 

South Berkeley; 

5. Encourage residential development for persons who desire both the convenience of location 

and more open space than is available in the Downtown; 

6. Provide limited locations for other activities such as offices which may be compatible with 

both retail and residential uses; 

7. Encourage development and amenities that support pedestrian-oriented uses; 

8. Encourage appropriate mixed-use development (retail/office/residential) on appropriate 

sites in the district; and 

9. Increase the opportunities for the establishment of businesses which are owned and 

operated by local residents.  

B. Allowed Land Uses.65 

1. General. See Table 23.204.020-1). 

2. Alcoholic Beverage Retail Sales.66 The sale and service of distilled alcoholic beverages 

(hard liquor) is prohibited along Adeline Street, south of Ashby Avenue, except that such 

service is allowed when incidental to meals at full-service restaurants in accordance with 

23.310 (Alcoholic Beverage Sales and Service). 

3. Bar/Cocktail Lounge/Tavern.67 Service of distilled alcoholic beverages is allowed along 

Adeline Street south of Ashby Avenue only when incidental to seated food service.  

4. Mixed-Use Permits Required. 

 
64 Source: 23E.52.020. Deletes 23E.52.010, which is not needed. 
65 Allowed land use and permit requirements for the C-SA district (23E.52.030) are moved to new Section 23.204.020 
and consolidated with allowed uses for other districts in a single table. 
66 23E.52.060.D.1 
67 Source: Table 23E.52.030 
68 Source: 23E.52.070.F; 23E.52.090.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 115 of 511



SECTION 23.204.100   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-40  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. Zoning Certificate. A mixed-use project is allowed with a Zoning Certificate if the 

project: 

i. Complies with all applicable standards in Tables 23.204.100-1, 23.204.100-2, and 

23.204.100-3; 

ii. Includes only residential uses above the ground floor; and 

iii. Is less than 5,000 square feet in gross floor area, including any existing floor area 

incorporated into the project. 

b. Use Permit. If a mixed-use project does not meet the criteria for approval with a 

Zoning Certificate as provided above, the project requires a Use Permit and is subject to 

the findings in Section 23.204.100.E (Permit Findings). 

5. Automobile/Motorcycle Sales.68 

a. Applicability. 

i. All new or relocated automobile or motorcycle sales in the C-SA district shall comply 

with the requirements of this subsection. 

ii. Expansions or modifications of existing automobile or motorcycle sales are: 

1. Encouraged to comply with standards in Paragraph c (Standards) below where 

feasible; and 

2. Shall not increase or exacerbate a non-conformity with these standards. 

b. Where Allowed.69 New or relocated automobile or motorcycle sales uses with outdoor 

activities, including but not limited to storage and display of vehicle inventory, are 

limited to the Dealership Overlay Area as shown in Figure 23.204.100-1. 

  

 
68 Source: 23E.52.070.F; 23E.52.090.E 
69 Source: 23E.52.060 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 116 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.100   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-41 

FIGURE 23.204.100-1: DEALERSHIP OVERLAY AREA 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 117 of 511



SECTION 23.204.100   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-42  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

c. Standards. 

i. Street Frontage. Outdoor vehicle display is permitted only along Shattuck Avenue 

and Adeline Street and is limited to 30 percent of the lot frontage on those streets. 

ii. Area for Outdoor Uses. A maximum of 40 percent of the lot area may be used for 

outdoor uses, including but not limited to vehicle display and storage. Adequate 

landscaping and/or fencing shall be used to filter the view of outdoor uses from the 

adjacent right-of-way and abutting properties, with the exception of outdoor vehicle 

display; 

iii. Service Entries. Vehicle and repair service entries may not exceed 20 percent of the 

primary lot frontage, no entrance may exceed a width of 20 feet. The primary street 

frontage is the frontage towards which the primary building entrance is oriented. 

iv. Transparency. At least 60 percent of any new building shall be within 10 feet of the 

right of way along the primary street frontage and 60 percent of the street-facing 

facade shall be comprised of clear glass. 

v. Repair Activities. All vehicle repair activities shall be conducted indoors. 

vi. Noise. All noise-generating equipment and activities, such as vehicle repair, shall be 

shielded by noise-attenuating materials. Outdoor amplification is prohibited. 

vii. Lighting. Exterior light standards and fixtures shall not be taller than 20 feet, shall 

achieve uniform light coverage and minimize glare, shall use light cutoffs to control 

light spillover onto adjacent properties and urban sky glow, and shall use low energy 

light fixtures consistent with the City’s goals for energy efficiency. 

viii. Vehicle Storage. No vehicles shall be stored in the public right-of-way.  

d. Modification of Standards. The Zoning Officer may allow modification to standards 

in Paragraph c (Standards) above with an AUP upon finding that the modification: 

i. Is necessary to facilitate incorporation of an existing structure; 

ii. Achieve greater consistency with the surrounding street pattern; 

iii. Buffers impacts to an adjacent residential district; or 

iv. Is needed to accommodate dealership operations. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards. 

1. Basic Standards.70 See Table 23.204.100-1 and 23.204.100-2. For residential-only projects, 

see also Tables 23.204.100-3 and 23.204.100-4. 

 
70 Source: 23E.52.070. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 118 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.100   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-43 

TABLE 23.204-100-1: C-SA DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 
Project Land Use Supplemental 

Standards Non-Residential Mixed Use Residential Only 

Lot Area, Minimum    23.304.020 

 New Lots No minimum No minimum 5,000 sq. ft.  

Per Group Living Accommodation 

Resident 
No minimum 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 4.0 4.0 No maximum  

Main Building Height, Minimum N/A N/A N/A  

Main Building Height, Maximum  See Table 23.204-28  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

Abutting/Confronting a Non-

residential District 
No minimum  

See Table 23.204-29 

 

Abutting/Confronting a Residential 

District  
See 23.304.030.C.2 

 

Building Separation, Minimum No minimum [3] 
See Table 23.204-30 

23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum 23.304.120 

Usable Open Space, Minimum    23.302.090 

 Per Dwelling Unit N/A 40 sq. ft. [4] 200 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation 

Resident 
N/A No minimum 90 sq. ft. 

 

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[3] For mixed-use projects, minimum building separation shall be as required for residential-only projects 

[4] No dimension may be less than 6 feet. 

 

TABLE 23.204.100-2: C-SA MAXIMUM BUILDING HEIGHT 

Building Land Use 

Maximum Height 

Subarea 1 Subarea 2 Subarea 3 

Commercial Only and Other 

Non-Residential Uses 
36 and 3 stories 24 and 2 stories 24 and 2 stories 

Mixed Use and Residential 

Only 
60 and 5 stories [1] 50 and 4 stories [1] 36 and 3 stories [1] 

Notes: 

[1] In mixed-use buildings, the third floor and above must be used for residential purposes entirely.  

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 119 of 511



SECTION 23.204.100   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-44  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

FIGURE 23.204.100-2: C-SA BUILDING HEIGHT SUBAREAS 
 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 120 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.100   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-45 

TABLE 23.204.100-3: C-SA SETBACK STANDARDS FOR MIXED USE AND RESIDENTIAL-ONLY PROJECTS 

 Basic Standards by Building Story 
Supplemental 

Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 4th 5th 6th 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum       23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 51 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 12 ft. 
 

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 12 ft. 14 ft. 15 ft. 

 

TABLE 23.204.100-4: C-SA BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY 

USES 

 Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental 

Standards 

1 

story 

2 

stories 

3 

stories 

4 

stories 

5 

stories 

6 

stories 

Main Building Separation, 

Minimum 
8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 20 ft. 24 ft. 28 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum       23.304.120 

Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 35% 35% 35% 35%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45% 40% 40% 40%  

 

 

2. Modification for Mixed Use and Residential Projects. 71 The ZAB may modify 

development standards in Table 23.204.100-1, 23.204.100-2, and 23.204.100-3, and 

23.204.100-4 for a mixed-use or residential-only project with a Use Permit upon making one 

of the following findings: 

a. The project encourages utilization of public transit and existing off-street parking 

facilities in the area of the proposed building; 

b. The modification allows consistency with the building setbacks existing in the immediate 

area where a residential building setback would not serve a useful purpose; 

c. The modification facilitates the construction of affordable housing as defined by the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Guidelines; or 

d. The modification provides consistency with the purposes of the district as listed in 

Section 23E.52.020. 

 
71 Source: 23E.52.070.E.2 & F; 23E520.090.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 121 of 511



SECTION 23.204.110   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-46  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

E. Findings.72 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-SA district, the review 

authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the proposed 

use or structure: 

1. Is compatible with the purposes of the district; 

2. Is compatible in design and character with the district and the adjacent residential 

neighborhoods; and 

3. Will not result in the domination of one type of commercial/retail use in any one area of the 

district. 

23.204.110  – C-T TELEGRAPH AVENUE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.73 The purpose of the Telegraph Avenue Commercial (C-T) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan’s designation of Avenue Commercial for this area; 

2. Implement the Southside Plan’s designation for the Telegraph Avenue Commercial Subarea; 

3. Regulate development in the Telegraph Avenue area in order to satisfy the needs of the 

population groups using the district, especially the University population and the 

surrounding resident population; 

4. Encourage the availability of a variety of goods and services which serve residents in the 

district and the University population but do not generate a high volume of vehicular traffic; 

5. Allow for uses which maintain the cultural quality of the district giving it its regional appeal 

without generating substantial vehicular traffic; 

6. Discourage uses which, because of size, the type of the products sold, vehicular traffic 

generated or other considerations, are more appropriately located elsewhere in the city; 

7. Encourage a mix of goods and services which will preclude the dominance of any one type 

of use and which will produce variations within the same category of uses; 

8. Encourage the establishment and maintenance of uses which will satisfy the needs of all age 

groups and attract a range of users and interests; 

9. Encourage the creation of additional housing in the district which is affordable, including 

housing for those who work or study nearby; 

10. Encourage those uses and structural architecture that reinforce, and discourage those uses 

and architecture that interrupt, the pedestrian orientation of the district; 

11. Encourage mixed commercial and residential uses; 

 
72 Source: 23E.52.090.A&B 
73 Source: 23E.56.020. Deletes 23E.56.010, which is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 122 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.110   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-47 

12. Encourage the construction of new housing in mixed use development on vacant properties 

and surface parking lots; 

13. Encourage the redevelopment of single-story structures that are not historically significant 

resources with housing and mixed use development; 

14. Protect and enhance historically and architecturally significant buildings by ensuring that new 

development and alterations complement their existing architectural character; 

15. Encourage the establishment and survival of small, locally-owned businesses, thereby 

contributing to the vitality and diversity of the district; 

16. Discourage the type of commercial use whose establishment will contribute to the 

displacement of businesses that supply neighboring residents with essential goods and 

services; 

17. Ensure that new buildings, additions and renovations harmonize with and enhance the 

unique character of the district; 

18. Provide environmental protection for the residents of mixed residential commercial 

structures and surrounding residents from such detriments as noise, fumes and litter; 

19. Preserve the ethnic diversity of the resident population and users of the district and of the 

types of businesses providing ethnically diverse goods and services in the district; 

20. Protect and encourage the development of properties accessible to the disabled for both 

residential and commercial use; 

21. Discourage uses which are widely available in other shopping districts throughout the Bay 

Area and detract from the unique type and mix of goods and services available in the district.  

B. Allowed Land Uses. 

1. General. See Table 23.204.020-1. 

2. Bar/Cocktail Lounge/Taverns.74 Service of distilled alcoholic beverages in the C-T 

district is allowed only when incidental to seated food service. 

3. Drug Paraphrenia Stores.75 Any use involving the sale or distribution of drug paraphrenia 

is prohibited in the C-T district. 

4. Fuel Stations.76 Alternative fuel and gasoline stations are allowed with Use Permit when 

located in a parking structure. 

 
74 Source: Table 23E.56.030 
75 Source: Table 23E.56.030 
76 Source: Table 23E.56.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 123 of 511



SECTION 23.204.110   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-48  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

5. Residential-Only Buildings.77 Residential-only buildings are prohibited in the C-T district. 

Dwelling units and group living accommodations are allowed only above the ground floor in 

a mixed-use building. 

6. Office Uses.78 

a. Table 23.204.110-1 shows permits required for office uses in the C-T district. 

TABLE 23.204.110-1: C-T OFFICE PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  

Building Location 

Permit Required  

First and Second Floor Above Second Floor 

Adjacent to Bancroft Way As required by  

Table 23.204.020-1 

AUP 

Not adjacent to Bancroft Way UP(PH) 

 

b. When office uses are located on the ground floor adjacent to street frontage, the 

storefront windows must either: 

i. Include a window display; or  

ii. Be transparent and provide pedestrian viewing a minimum of 10 feet into the 

storefront area. 

7. Upper Floor Uses.79 

a. Floor area above the ground floor may be occupied only by a residential or office uses. 

b. A commercial use that is an integral part of a ground floor establishment is permitted on 

the second floor if the use: 

i. Has no entrances or exits, other than required fire exits, outside of the ground floor 

space; and 

ii. Does not exceed the ground-floor area of the use. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards. 

1. Basic Standards.80 See Table 23.204.100-2. 

  

 
77 Source: 23E.56.070.F 
78 Source: 23E.56.070.C and Table 23E.56.030 
79 Source: 23E.56.070.C 
80 Source: 23E.56.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 124 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.110   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-49 

TABLE 23.204.110-2: C-T DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area Minimum   23.304.020 

 New Lots No minimum  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum   

 South of Dwight Way 4.0  

 North of Dwight Way 5.0 [2]  

 Telegraph/Channing Parking Garage [3] No maximum  

Main Building Height, Minimum 35 ft.  

Main Building Height, Maximum  23.304.050 

 South of Dwight Way 50 ft. [2]  

 North of Dwight Way 65 ft. [2]  

 Telegraph/Channing Parking Garage [3] 85 ft. and 7 stories  

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum  23.304.030 

Abutting/Confronting a Non-residential District No minimum  

Abutting/Confronting a Residential District  See 23.304.030.C.2  

Building Separation, Minimum No minimum 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum 23.304.120 

Usable Open, Minimum  23.304.090 

 Space Per Dwelling Unit 40 sq. ft. [4]  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident  No minimum   

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 
[2] Increased FAR and height allowed with Use Permit. See 23.204.110.C.4. 

[3] APN 55-1879-6-1. 

[4] No dimension may be less than 6 feet.  

  

2. Lots Abutting or Confronting a Residential District.81 See 23.304.130 (Non-residential 

Districts Abutting a Residential District) for additional building feature requirements for lots 

that abut or confront a Residential District. 

3. Increased Group Living Density.82 

a. Projects with group living accommodations occupying 50 percent or more of the total 

building floor area are eligible for increased density. 

 
81 Source: 23E.56.070.D.2 
82 Source: 23E.56.070.E.2 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 125 of 511



SECTION 23.204.110   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-50  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. To approve a Use Permit to increase the density of a group living accommodation the 

ZAB must make the following findings: 

i. The increase in density will not be detrimental to the immediate neighborhood; and 

ii. The project meets the purposes of the district. 

4. Height and FAR Increases.83 

a. Projects with 50 percent or more of the total building floor area for residential use are 

eligible for increased building height and FAR as shown in Table 23.204.110-3. 

TABLE 23.204.110-3: C-T ALLOWED HEIGHT AND FAR INCREASES  

Project Location 

Allowed Increase  

Height FAR 

South of Dwight Way 65 ft. and 5 stories  No increase allowed 

North of Dwight Way 75 ft. and 6 stories 6.0 

 

b. The ZAB may allow the increased height and FAR with a Use Permit upon finding that 

the project will not result in a significant reduction in sunlight on Telegraph Avenue 

sidewalks. 

5. Shade Studies.84 

a. A shade study is required for all proposed buildings exceeding three stories or 40 feet. 

b. Based on the findings of the shade study, the ZAB may require the fourth or higher 

story of a building to be set back to minimize shade impacts on adjacent properties or 

the public right-of-way. 

6. Environmental Impacts.85 Projects that may create environmental impacts as described in 

the Southside Plan Final EIR shall be subject to the adopted Mitigation Monitoring Program 

(MMP).   

E. Permit Findings.86 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-T district, the 

review authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the 

proposed use or structure: 

1. Is compatible with the purposes of the district; 

2. Encourages and maintains the present street frontage of the district;  

 
83 Source: 23E.56.070.B.3 & 23E.56.090.F. 
84 Source: 23E.56.070.D.1 
85 Source: 23E.56.070.G. 
86 Source: 23E.56.090.A&B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 126 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.120   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-51 

3. Does not interfere with the continuity of retail or compatible service facilities at the ground 

level; 

4. Does not interrupt a continuous wall of building facades; 

5. Is compatible in design and character with the district and the adjacent residential 

neighborhoods; 

6. Does not generate traffic or parking demand significantly beyond the capacity of the district 

or significantly increase impacts on adjacent residential neighborhoods; and 

7. Complies with the Southside Plan’s adopted Mitigation Monitoring Program (MMP). 

23.204.120  – C-SO SOLANO AVENUE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.87 The purpose of the Solano Avenue Commercial (C-SO) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan’s designations for Community Commercial and Commercial 

Service areas; 

2. Maintain a scale and balance of commercial activity on Solano Avenue that will: 

a. Enhance the surrounding neighborhood and serve its residents; 

b. Encourage the location of businesses on Solano Avenue that serve the everyday needs of 

local residents; 

c. Discourage the location of businesses on Solano Avenue that serve a larger regional 

clientele, and should more appropriately be located in the Central Business District; 

d. Limit the number of businesses on Solano Avenue that generate traffic or parking 

demand in excess of commercial parking availability, causing the overflow of traffic 

circulation and parking onto adjacent residential streets; 

e. Encourage location of late night commerce in appropriate areas in Berkeley, such as the 

downtown area, and allow businesses to address demand for late night service on Solano 

Avenue by establishing a 11:00 p.m. closing time for businesses on Solano Avenue; and 

f. Ensure that all construction, alterations, or additions to buildings will be in functional 

and aesthetic harmony with adjacent buildings and areas; and 

g. Protect local residents from commercial noise, offensive odors and parking and traffic 

problems.  

B. Allowed Land Uses. 

1. General. See Table 23.204.020-1. 

 
87 Source: 23E.60.020. Deletes 23E.60.010, which is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 127 of 511



SECTION 23.204.120   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-52  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Automatic Teller Machines (ATM).88 A maximum of two exterior ATMs are allowed per 

bank establishment and only when off-street parking is provided. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards. 

1. Basic Standards.89 See Table 23.204.120-1. For residential-only projects, see also Tables 

23.204.120-2 and 23.204.120-3. 

TABLE 23.204.120-1: C-SO DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 

Project Land Use 
Supplemental 

Standards Non-Residential 

and Mixed Use Residential Only 

Lot Area, Minimum    

 New Lots No minimum 5,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft. [1] 350 sq. ft. [1]  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 2.0 No maximum  

Main Building Height, Minimum No minimum No minimum  

Main Building Height, Maximum 28 ft. and 2 stories 28 ft. and 2 stories 23.304.050 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

Abutting/Confronting a Non-residential District No minimum See Table 

23.204.120-2 

 

Abutting/Confronting a Residential District  See 23.304.030.C.2  

Building Separation, Minimum No minimum [2] See Table 

23.204.120-3 

23.304.030 

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum 23.304.120 

Usable Open Space, Minimum   23.304.090 

 Per Dwelling Unit 40 sq. ft. [3] 200 sq. ft.  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident None required 90 sq. ft.  

Notes: 

[1] One additional resident is allowed for remaining lot area between 200 and 350 square feet. 

[2] For mixed-use projects, minimum building separation shall be as required for residential-only projects 

[3] No dimension may be less than 6 feet. 

 

  

 
88 Source: Table 23E.60.030 
89 Source: 23E.60.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 128 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.120   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-53 

TABLE 23.204.120-2: C-SO SETBACK STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY PROJECTS 

 

Basic Standards by Building Story 

Supplemental Standards 1st 2nd 3rd 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

 

TABLE 23.204.120-3: C-SO BUILDING SEPARATION AND LOT COVERAGE STANDARDS FOR RESIDENTIAL-ONLY 

USES 

 

Standard Based on Building Height 

Supplemental Standards 1 story 2 stories 3 stories 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum    23.304.030 

 Front 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Rear 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft.  

 Interior 4 ft. 4 ft. 6 ft.  

 Street Side 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft.  

Building Separation, Minimum 8 ft. 12 ft. 16 ft. 23.304.040 

Lot Coverage, Maximum    23.304.120 

 Interior and Through Lots 45% 45% 40%  

 Corner Lots 50% 50% 45%  

 

1. Lots Abutting or Confronting a Residential District.90 See 23.304.130 (Non-residential 

Districts Abutting a Residential District) for additional building feature requirements for lots 

that abut or confront a Residential District. 

2. Modification to Standards –Mixed Use and Residential-Only Projects.91 The ZAB may 

modify development standards in Table 23.204.120-1, 23.204.120-2, and 23.204.120-3 for a 

mixed-use or residential-only project with a Use Permit upon making one of the following 

findings: 

a. The modification will encourage public transit utilization and existing off-street parking 

facilities in the area of the proposed building. 

 
90 Source: 23E.60.070.C.1 
91 Source: 23E.60.070.E.2 & F; 23E.60.090.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 129 of 511



SECTION 23.204.120   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-54  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. The modification will facilitate the construction of residential or tourist hotel uses where 

appropriate. 

c. The modification will permit consistency with the building setbacks existing in the 

immediate area where a residential building setback would not serve a useful purpose.  

3. Ground Floor Residential Uses.92 A ground floor residential uses shall be setback a 

minimum of 320 feet from a street side property line. 

4. Projections into Right-of-Way.93  

a. Bay windows and balconies 11 feet or more above the sidewalk grade may project 3 feet 

into a street right-of-way. 

b. A maximum 60 percent of the length of a building frontage may project beyond the 

property line. 

c. All projections require an encroachment permit from the Public Works Department. 

5. Limitations Adjacent to a R District.94 The following requirements apply to commercial 

uses adjacent to a residential district or fronting any street other than Solano Avenue. 

a. All openings other than fixed windows and required fire exits must be setback a 

minimum of 50 feet from any property located in an Residential District to reduce noise 

and odor problems in residential areas 

b. Customer use of rear or side exits which open onto residential streets (with the exception 

of emergency access) is prohibited. 

c. Garbage and recycled materials may not be placed for collection on residential streets 

from storage areas located at the rear of any building. All such materials shall be stored 

in an enclosed area for health and sanitation reasons. 

d. Deliveries to non-residential establishments from residential streets are prohibited. 

E. Permit Findings.95 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-SO district, the 

review authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the 

proposed use or structure: 

1. Encourages and maintains the character of the street frontage and pedestrian orientation of 

the district; 

2. Is compatible in design and character with the district and the adjacent residential 

neighborhood; 

 
92 Source: 23E.60.070.B 
93 23E.60.070C.2 
94 Source: 23E.60.070.D. Deleted D1, which repeats live entertainment limitation addressed elsewhere. 
95 Source: 23E.60.090.A&B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 130 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.130   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-55 

3. Is compatible with the purposes set forth in this set of regulations and the existing character 

of Solano Avenue; 

4. Does not interfere with the continuity of retail or compatible service facilities at the ground 

level, or interrupt a continuous wall of building facades; and 

5. Does not generate traffic and parking demand to significantly increase impacts on adjacent 

residential neighborhoods. 

23.204.130  – C-DMU DOWNTOWN MIXED-USE DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.96 The purpose of the C-DMU district is to implement the vision and goals of the 

Downtown Area Plan (adopted 2012), which include: Environmental Sustainability, Land Use, 

Access, Historic Preservation and Urban Design, Streets and Open Space, Housing and Community 

Health and Services, and Economic Development. 

B. Allowed Land Use. 

1. General. See Section 23.204.020 (Allowed Land Uses). 

2. Automatic Teller Machines (ATM). An ATM inside a non-bank building is allowed with 

an AUP. 

3. Banks and Financial Services, Retail.97 Retail banks and financial services in the C-DMU 

require permits as follows: 

i. Under 7,500 square feet outside of the Arts District Overlay: Zoning Certificate. 

ii. All other retail banks and financial service uses: AUP. 

4. Media Production. Recording studios are allowed with an AUP. Broadcast studios require 

a Use Permit.98 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Arts Overlay District.99 

1. Purpose. The purpose of the Downtown Arts District Overlay (ADO) is to create a core of 

cultural activities and supportive retail and commercial uses in the C-DMU district. The 

ADO is intended to generate more pedestrian vitality in the downtown, promote Berkeley’s 

regional leadership in the arts, and encourage broader economic revitalization of the area. 

The types of uses which would enhance the Arts District include ground floor retail uses 

which would contribute to the cultural vitality of the area, seated food service, and uses 

which provide pedestrian scale and siting. 

 
96 Source: 23E.68.020. Deletes 23E.68.010, which is not needed. 
97 Source: Table 23E.68.030 
98 Source: Table 23E.68.030.99Source: 23E.68.04 
99Source: 23E.68.04 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 131 of 511



SECTION 23.204.130   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-56  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Boundaries. The boundaries of the ADO are shown in Figure 23.204.130-1. 

FIGURE 23.204.130-1: DOWNTOWN ARTS DISTRICT OVERLAY (ADO) BOUNDARIES 

 

3. Use Limitations; Findings.100 Food service establishments and offices on the ground floor 

adjacent to a street frontage require an AUP. To approve the AUP, the Zoning Officer must 

find that  

a. The project meets the purposes of the Arts Overlay District as set forth above; and 

b. The location, size, type, appearance, and signage of the proposed use will: 

i. Animate and enhance the pedestrian experience on the street; and 

ii. Be generally open to the public evenings and on weekends, whenever practicable. 

E. Development Standards. 

1. Height.101 

 
100 23E.68.090.C. 
101 Source: 23E.68.070.A 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 132 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.130   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-57 

a. Height Limits. Table 23.204.130-1 shows height limits in the C-DMU district, except 

as otherwise allowed by Paragraph 2 below. See Figure 23.204.130-2 for district sub-area 

boundaries.   

FIGURE 23.204.130-2: C-DMU SUBAREAS 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 133 of 511



SECTION 23.204.130   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-58  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.130-1: C-DMU HEIGHT LIMITS  

Sub-Area Minimum Maximum 
Maximum with 

Use Permit 

Core Area  50 ft. 

60 ft. 75 ft. Outer Core  40 ft. 

Corridor 40 ft. 

Buffer  None 50 ft. 60 ft. 

 

b. Parapet Walls. For roofs with parapet walls, building height is measured to the top of 

the roof. Parapets may exceed the height limit by up to 5 feet as of right. 

c. Minimum Height. The minimum height standard applies to new buildings only, 

measured to the top of the plate. Theater and museum buildings are exempt. 

2. Increased Height Allowance.102 

a. Allowed Height. The ZAB may issue a Use Permit for up to five buildings that exceed 

the C-DMU height limits as shown in Table 23.204.130-2. 

TABLE 23.204.130-2: C-DMU INCREASED HEIGHT ALLOWANCE  

Sub-Area 

Number of 
Buildings 

Height 

Minimum Maximum 

Combined Core and Outer Core  2 75 ft. 120 ft. 

Core  3 120 ft. 180 ft. 

 

b. Application Process. 

i. Applications for any of the five buildings over 75 feet in height may be submitted on 

July 1, 2012. If no applications that satisfy the submittal requirements as determined 

by the Zoning Officer are submitted on that date, then the next deadline to submit 

applications will be no later than six months from that date, with application 

opportunity dates at six-month intervals until the first application has been 

submitted. Once the first application has been submitted, then the application 

opportunity date will occur once yearly on the anniversary of the date of the first 

submittal. 

ii. A project shall secure a position as one of the five allowed buildings over 75 feet in 

height following final Use Permit approval. Such Use Permits shall include a 

condition of approval that establishes a schedule for: submittal of a building permit 

 
102 Source: 23E.68.070.B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 134 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.130   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-59 

application, timely response to plan check comments, payment of building permit 

fees such that a building permit can be issued, and commencement of construction. 

The process for allowing extension of the timeline requirements, if any, shall be 

specified in the condition. 

iii. Failure of a permit holder to strictly comply with the schedule established by the Use 

Permit is grounds for revocation of the Use Permit pursuant to Chapter 23.404.080 

(Permit Revocation). 

c. Community Benefit Required.103 

i. To approve a Use Permit for increased building height under this section, the ZAB 

must find that the project will provide significant community benefits, either directly 

or by providing funding for such benefits to the satisfaction of the City, beyond what 

would otherwise be required by the City. 

ii. Significant community benefits may include, but are not limited to affordable 

housing, supportive social services, green features, open space, transportation 

demand management features, job training, and/or employment opportunities. 

iii. This community benefit requirements shall be included as conditions of approval 

and the owner shall enter into a written agreement with the City that shall be binding 

on all successors in interest. 

3. Setbacks.104 

a. Basic Standards. Table 23.204.130-3 shows minimum required lot line setbacks in the 

C-DMU district.  

TABLE 23.204.130-3: C-DMU SETBACK STANDARDS  

Portion of Building at 
Height of: Front 

Minimum Interior Side 

Minimum Rear 
65’ and less from 

lot frontage 
Over 65’ from 
lot frontage 

Zero to 20 feet  0 ft. min. 

5 ft. max. 
0 ft. 0 ft. 0 ft. 

21 feet to 75 feet 0 ft. min. 0 ft. 5 ft. 5 ft. 

76 feet to 120 feet 15 ft. min. 5 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 

Over 120 feet  15 ft. min. 15 ft. 15 ft. 15 ft. 

  

b. Modifications to Standards.105 The ZAB may modify the setback standards in this 

section with a Use Permit upon finding that the modified setbacks will not unreasonably 

 
103 Source: 23E.68.090.E 
104 Source: 23E.68.070.C 
105 23E.68.090.F 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 135 of 511



SECTION 23.204.130   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-60  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

limit solar access or create significant increases in wind experienced on the public 

sidewalk. 

c. Residential Transitions. Commercial lots abutting or confronting residential zoning 

shall comply with Section 23.304.030.C.2.  

d. Additional Standards. 

i. For buildings over 120 feet in height, that portion of the building over 120 feet must 

be less than 120 feet in width when measured at the widest point on the diagonal in 

plan view. 

ii. For a lot that abuts the interior side or rear lot line of a residentially-zoned lot, a new 

building shall be set back from the shared property line by 20 feet where the building 

exceeds 45 feet in height. 

iii. For a lot that confronts a residentially-zoned lot, a new building shall be set back 10 

feet from the street-facing property line where the building exceeds 45 feet in height, 

except that this provision shall not apply to lots confronting public uses with a 

residential zoning designation, such as Berkeley High School, Civic Center Park, and 

Fire Station 2. However, this provision will apply for all lots with frontage on the 

Martin Luther King Jr. Way right-of-way. 

iv. For lots with frontage on the Shattuck Avenue right-of-way south of Durant 

Avenue, a new building shall be set back 15 feet from the Shattuck Avenue property 

line where the building exceeds 65 feet in height. 

v. Architectural features such as eaves, cornices, canopies, awnings, bay windows, 

uncovered porches, balconies, fire escapes, stairs and landings may project up to five 

feet into required setbacks of this section so long as the surface area of such 

projections does not exceed 50 percent of the surface area of the side of the building 

on which the projections are located. 

4. Usable Open Space.106 Table 204.130-4 shows minimum required usable open space in the 

C-DMU district. 

TABLE 23.204.130-4: C-DMU USABLE OPEN SPACE REQUIREMENTS 

 Minimum Usable Open Space 

Residential Uses 80 sq. ft. per unit [1] 

Non-Residential Uses 1 sq. ft. of privately-owned public open space per 50 sq. 
ft. of commercial floor area. 

Note: 

[1] Each square foot of usable open space provided as privately-owned public open space is counted 

as two square feet of required on-site open space. 

 

 
106 Source: 23E.D.68.070.D.1&2 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 136 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.130   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-61 

5. Privately-Owned Public Open Space.107  

a. If a privately-owned public open space is indoors or enclosed, it shall include natural 

light in the form of windows, skylights, entryways, or other openings. 

b. Privately-owned public open space must be: 

i. Clearly identified with signage in a publicly conspicuous location at street level 

indicating the area that is open to the public, the hours the space is open, and the 

party responsible for maintenance; and 

ii. Separated from the grade of the public sidewalk by a height no greater than 3 vertical 

feet unless an AUP is obtained. 

6. Open Space Alternatives.108 

a. In lieu of providing the open space required by this section on site, an applicant may 

either: 

i. Pay an in-lieu fee to help fund the Streets and Open Space Improvement Plan 

(SOSIP); and/or 

ii. Construct public improvement consistent with the SOSIP. 

b. To allow payment of in-lieu fee, the ZAB must find that the payment will support timely 

development of open space improvements that will serve the needs of both project 

residents and other people living in and using the downtown. 

c. To allow construction of public improvements, the ZAB must find that the public 

improvements: 

i. Will be located within the vicinity of the project and are consistent with the SOSIP;  

ii. Will be coordinated with other ongoing or approved SOSIP or other right-of-way 

improvements in the vicinity, and will not create a hazardous situation or an unusual 

appearance in the downtown; and 

iii. Will be completed prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy for the project, 

unless otherwise allowed by the project conditions of approval. 

7. Ground Floor Street Frontage.109 

a. Special ground floor street frontage requirements in Paragraph (b) below apply to the 

following uses in the C-DMU district: 

i. Insurance Agents, Title Companies, Real Estate Agents, Travel Agents 

ii. Office, Business and Professional 

 
107 Source: 23F.04, privately-owned open space definition.  
108 Source: 23E.D.68.070.D.3 & 090.G 
109 Source: 23E.68.060.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 137 of 511



SECTION 23.204.130   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-62  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

iii. Group Class Instruction 

iv. Gym/Health Club 

b. New ground floor uses listed in paragraph (a) above that are adjacent to a street frontage 

shall either: 

i. Include a storefront window display; or 

ii. Be transparent and provide pedestrian viewing a minimum of 10 feet into the 

storefront area. 

8. Residential Entrance Limitations.110 In new buildings constructed on public serving 

frontages, as shown in Figure 23.204.130-3, entrances to individual dwelling units and to 

living quarters in group living accommodations are prohibited on the street-facing side of 

the street-level floor. 

  

 
110 Source: 23E.68.060.F 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 138 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.130   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-63 

FIGURE 23.204130-3: C-DMU PUBLIC-SERVING FRONTAGES 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 139 of 511



SECTION 23.204.130   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-64  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

F. Streets and Open Space Improvement Plan (SOSIP) Fee.111 In addition to any other 

requirement of this section, projects shall be subject to payment of an impact fee to implement the 

Streets and Open Space Improvement Plan. 

G. Green Building Provisions.112 

1. New Buildings. Construction of any new building shall attain either: 

a. LEED Gold rating or higher as defined by the U.S. Green Building Council (USGBC); 

or  

b. Building performance equivalent to this rating, as determined by the Zoning Officer. 

2. Additions 20,000 Square Feet or Less. Additions of 20,000 square feet or less shall be 

required to meet all applicable standards of the Stopwaste Small Commercial Checklist, or 

equivalent, as determined by the Zoning Officer. The rating shall be appropriate to the use 

type of the proposed construction.  

3. Additions More than 20,000 Square Feet. Additions of more than 20,000 square feet shall 

attain either: 

a. LEED Gold rating or higher as defined by the U.S. Green Building Council (USGBC); 

or  

b. Building performance equivalent to this rating, as determined by the Zoning Officer. 

H. Environmental Impacts.113 Projects that may create potentially significant environmental 

impacts as described in the Downtown Area Plan Final EIR shall be subject to the adopted 

Mitigation Monitoring Program for the Downtown Area Plan. 

I. Permit Findings.114 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-DMU district, the 

review authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the 

proposed use or structure: 

1. Is compatible with the purposes of the district; and 

2. Is compatible with the surrounding uses and buildings. 

  

 
111 Source: 23E.68.075. 
112 Source: 23E.68.085. 
113 Source: 23E.68.065. 
114 Source: 23E.68.090.B. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 140 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.140   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-65 

23.204.140  – C-W WEST BERKELEY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.115 The purpose of the West Berkeley Commercial (C-W) district is to: 

1. Implement the West Berkeley Plan Commercial District designation; 

2. Provide locations for commercial services which primarily serve area residents and/or 

businesses; 

3. Support the retention and attraction of a balance of both smaller and larger stores and 

restaurants; 

4. Provide appropriate locations, consistent with West Berkeley Plan policies, for commercial 

services which serve a citywide or broader clientele; 

5. Provide a relatively compact, clearly bounded set of commercial areas in West Berkeley, so as 

to both improve the quality of West Berkeley shopping environments and to prevent 

commercial overspill into industrial areas; 

6. Encourage the intensification of commercial activity at designated nodes to help develop 

more pedestrian-oriented environments at those locations; 

7. Increase the opportunities for development of housing in commercial areas to support local 

retailing and use of transit lines and opportunities for mixed use projects combining 

pedestrian-oriented neighborhood-serving uses with mixed income housing in locations 

abutting residential districts; 

8. Encourage appropriately intense development in underutilized portions of commercial 

streets; 

9. Promote development compatible with adjacent commercial, residential and industrial areas; 

10. Provide a location for cultural and performing arts activities; and 

11. promote environmental protection for the residents and workers both within and adjacent to 

the district from such detriments as noise, fumes, and other detrimental environmental 

effects.  

B. Land Use Regulations. 

1. General. See Table 23.206.020-1. 

2. Mixed-Use Residential.116 

a. See Table 23.204.140-1 for mixed-use residential permit requirements in the C-W 

district. 

  

 
115 Source: 23E.64.020.. Deletes 23E.36.010, which is not needed. 
116 Source: Table 23E.64.030 
117 Source: 23E.64.060.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 141 of 511



SECTION 23.204.140   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-66  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.204.140-1: C-W DISTRICT MIXED-USE RESIDENTIAL PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

Total Project Floor Area Permit Required 

Projects with both residential and retail uses where the 
retail space comprises 15 to 33 percent of total gross floor 
area 

 

Less than 20,000 square feet ZC 

20,000 square feet or more UP(PH) 

All other mixed-use residential projects  

Less than 5,000 square feet ZC 

5,000 to 9,000 square feet AUP 

More than 9,000 square feet UP(PH) 

b. All new retail uses in an existing mixed-use development are subject to the permit 

requirements for mixed use development as shown in Table 23.204.140-1. 

3. Automotive Uses.117 

a. As used in this paragraph, “automotive use” means a use classified in Table 23.204.020-1 

as an vehicle service and sales use. “Automotive site” means a site which was legally used 

or approved for use as an automotive use as of March 1, 1997.    

b. On lots in the C-W district with frontage on San Pablo Avenue: 

i. An automotive use may be established only on an automotive site; and 

ii. If an automotive use on an automotive site is discontinued for a period of two years 

or more, it may not be re-established.  

4. Langendorf Building. See 23.206.030.D (Langendorf Building). 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.204.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Designated Nodes.118 

1. Purpose. The purposes of the designated nodes in the C-W district are to: 

a. Intensify retail, commercial, and mixed-use activity around major intersections; 

b. Reflect and reinforce the major existing and developing concentrations of pedestrian-

oriented uses; 

c. Encourage intensified development around transit transfer points; 

d. Help define the urban form of San Pablo Avenue by developing identifiable areas of 

concentrated development. 

 
117 Source: 23E.64.060.E 
118 Source: 23E.64.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 142 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.140   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-67 

2. Location. Properties designated as nodes in the C-W district are shown in Figure 

23.206.140-1. 

3. Ground Floor Uses. The ground floor of buildings in designated nodes may be used only 

for the following: 

a. Retail sales 

b. Personal and household services 

c. Retail financial services (banks) 

d. Food and alcohol service 

e. Lodging 

f. Entertainment and assembly uses 

g. Gasoline/vehicle fuel stations 

h. Vehicle repair uses  

i. New car sales 

j. Used vehicles sales  

k. Required access to and lobbies serving upper-story uses 

4. Prohibited Uses. The following uses are prohibited in designated nodes: 

a. Vehicle rentals 

b. Used vehicle sales when not principally in buildings 

c. Vehicle washes 

d. Tire sales and service 

e. Open air markets 

f. Circus/carnivals 

g. Public utility substation buildings, tanks 

5. Findings.119 To approve a Use Permit or AUP for a project in a designated node, the review 

authority must find that the project supports the development of a strong retail commercial 

and pedestrian-oriented environment at the node. Factors the review authority should 

consider when making this finding include: 

a. The placement of store entrances relative to the street and parking lots; and 

b. The size and prominence of display windows and areas facing the sidewalk. 

 
119 23E.64.090.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 143 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS  SECTION  23.204.140   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-68 

FIGURE 23.204.140-1: C-W DESIGNATED NODES 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 144 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.140   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-69 

FIGURE 23.204.140-1: C-W DESIGNATED NODES 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 145 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS  SECTION  23.204.140   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-70 

E. Development Standards.120  

1. Basic Standards. See Table 23.204.140-2 for development standards in the C-W district.  

TABLE 23.204.140-2: C-W DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area Minimum   23.304.020 

 New Lots No minimum  

 Per Group Living Accommodation Resident 350 sq. ft.  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 3.0  

Main Building Height, Minimum No minimum  

Main Building Height, Maximum 40 ft. and 3 stories [1,2] 23.304.050 

Lot Line Setbacks, Minimum  23.304.030 

Abutting/Confronting a Non-residential District No minimum  

Abutting/Confronting a Residential District  See 23.304.030.C.2  

Lot Coverage, Maximum No maximum 23.304.120 

Usable Open Space, Minimum  23.304.090 

Per Dwelling Unit or Live/Work Unit 40 sq. ft.  

Per Group Living Accommodation Resident No minimum  

Notes: 

[1] 50 ft. and 4 stories allowed for mixed-use projects. The fourth floor must be used for residential or live/work purposes. 

[2] On Assessor Parcel Numbers 054-1763-001-03, 054-1763-010-00 and 054-1763-003-03 the maximum height is 50 feet and 4 stories.  

 

2. Parking Lot Design. See 23.322.070.E.3 (C-W District). 

3. Minimum Height in Designated Nodes.121 All newly constructed main structures in 

designated nodes, except gasoline stations, shall be at least two stories or 25 feet in height. 

F. Permit Findings.122 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the C-W district, the review 

authority must make the findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and find that the proposed use 

or structure: 

1. Is consistent with the purposes of the district;  

2. Is compatible with the surrounding uses and buildings;  

3. Complies with the adopted West Berkeley Plan;  

4. Supports an increase in the continuity of retail and service facilities at the ground level to the 

degree feasible; 

 
120 Source: 23E.64.070. Deletes 23E.64.070.E, which remains and doesn’t need to be codified. 
121 Source: 23E.64.040.D 
122 Source: 23E.64.090.B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 146 of 511



CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS SECTION 23.204.140   
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 204-71 

5. Does not substantially degrade the existing urban fabric of the street and area;  

6. Provides an intensity of development which does not underutilize the property (for with new 

floor area);  

7. Meets any applicable performance standards for off-site impacts; and  

8. Does not exceed the amount and intensity of use that can be served by available traffic 

capacity and potential parking supply.  

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 147 of 511



SECTION 23.204.140   CHAPTER 23.204 – COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 204-72  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 148 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-1 

23.206   

MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
Sections: 

23.206.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.206.020 – Allowed Land Uses and Permit Requirements 

23.206.030 – Additional Permit Requirements 

23.206.040 – Use-Specific Regulations 

23.206.050 – Protected Uses 

23.206.060 – M Manufacturing District 

23.206.070 – MM Mixed Manufacturing District 

23.206.080 – MU-LI Mixed Use-Light Industrial District 

23.206.090 – MU-R Mixed Use-Residential District 

23.206.100 – Permit Findings 

 

Commentary:  This chapter consolidates existing manufacturing district chapters in 23E into a new single chapter. 

Table 23.206-1 provides a single allowed land use table for all manufacturing districts. Due to the complexity and 

variability of development standards across districts, development standards for each district are shown in separate 

tables within the district sections.  

23.206.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE 
This chapter identifies allowed land uses, permit requirements, and development standards for the 

Manufacturing Districts.  

23.206.020 – ALLOWED LAND USES AND PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 
A. Allowed Land Uses.1 Table 23.206.020-1 identifies allowed land uses and required permits in 

the Manufacturing Districts. All land uses are defined in Chapter 23.502 (Glossary). Permit 

requirements are described in Chapter 23.406 (Specific Permit Requirements). Permits required 

for land uses shown in Table 23.206.020-1 apply to both: 

1. The initial establishment of a land use in a new building; and 

2. The change of use in an existing building or portion of a building.2  

 

 

 
1 Table 23.206.020-1 consolidates allowed land uses currently in separate chapters in Sub-title 23E into one table for all 
manufacturing districts.  
2 Source: 23E.80.030.E. Clarifies that this applies to all manufacturing districts. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 149 of 511



SECTION 23.206.020  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.206.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Floor Area Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Standards Apply 

Manufacturing Districts 

Use-Specific Standards 

Applies to uses with an asterisk following 
the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

M MM MU-LI MU-R 

Residential Uses   

Accessory Dwelling Unit – – – See 23.306  

Dwellings   

Single-Family – – – AUP* 23.206.090.B.8 

Two Family – – – AUP* 23.206.090.B.8 

Multi-Family – – – UP(PH)* 23.206.090.B.7&8 

Group Living Accommodation – – – UP(PH)* 23.206.090.B.8 

Hotel, Residential – – – –  

Mixed-Use Residential – – – UP(PH)* 23.206.090.B.8&9 

Senior Congregate Housing – – – 
See 

23.302.040.H 
 

Public and Quasi-Public Uses   

Child Care Center – – UP(PH)* UP(PH)* 23.206.040.B&C 

Cemetery/Crematory/Mausoleum – – – –  

Club/Lodge UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH) 23.206.040.E 

Columbaria – – – –  

Community Care Facility – – – ZC* 23.206.090.B.3 

Community Center – – – UP(PH)  

Emergency Shelter – – – –  

Family Day Care Home, Large – – AUP* AUP* 23.206.040.C 

Family Day Care Home, Small – – ZC* ZC* 23.206.040.C 

Hospital – – – –  

Library – – – UP(PH)  

Mortuaries and Crematories – – – UP(PH)* 23.206.090.B.6 

Municipal Animal Shelter UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) –  

Nursing Home – – – UP(PH)  

Park/Playground – – – UP(PH)* 23.206.040.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 150 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE   PAGE 206-3 

TABLE 23.206.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Floor Area Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Standards Apply 

Manufacturing Districts 

Use-Specific Standards 

Applies to uses with an asterisk following 
the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

M MM MU-LI MU-R 

Public Safety and Emergency Service UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Public Utility Substation/Tank UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Religious Assembly – – – UP(PH)  

School – – – UP(PH)* 23.206.040.C 

School, Vocational – – ZC* [1] UP(PH) 23.206.080.B.12 

Retail Uses   

Alcoholic Beverage Retail Sale  
– – UP(PH)* [2] –* 23.206.080.B.3; 23.206.090.B.2; 

23.310 

Firearm/Munitions Business – – - –  

Industrial and Mining Products AUP [2] AUP [2] AUP [5] –  

Pawn Shop/Auction House – – – –  

Pet Store – – – –  

Retail, General – – AUP* [6] AUP* [4] 23.206.080.B.6; 23.206.090.B.4 

Smoke Shop – – – –  

Personal and Household Service Uses   

Personal and Household Services, General – – – AUP  

Kennels and Pet Boarding – – – UP(PH)  

Laundromats and Cleaners – – – AUP  

Veterinary Clinic – – – UP(PH)  

Video Tape/Disk Rental  – – – –  

Notes: 

[1] Requires an AUP for uses 20,000 sq. ft. to 30,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 30,000 sq. ft.  

[2] Prohibited 20,000 sq. ft. or more.  

[4] Requires a Use Permit if 5,000 sq. ft. or more 

[5] Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 20,000 sq. ft. 

[6] Prohibited over 2,000 sq. ft. 

[8] Prohibited over 3,000 sq. ft.  

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 151 of 511



SECTION 23.206.020  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS  
 

PAGE 206-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE

  

TABLE 23.206.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Floor Area Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Standards Apply 

Manufacturing Districts 

Use-Specific Standards 

Applies to uses with an asterisk following 
the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

M MM MU-LI MU-R 

Office Uses   

Business Support Services – – AUP [8] AUP [4]  

Banks and Financial Services, Retail – – – –  

Insurance Agents, Title Companies, Real 
Estate Agents, Travel Agents 

– – – – 
 

Medical Practitioners – – – AUP [4]  

Non-Chartered Financial Institutions – – – –  

Office, Business and Professional - ZC* [5] AUP [5] AUP [4] 23.206.070.B.2 

Food and Alcohol Service, Lodging, 
Entertainment, and Assembly Uses 

 
 

Adult-oriented Business – – – –  

Amusement Device Arcade – – – –  

Bar/Cocktail Lounge/Tavern – – – –  

Commercial Recreation Center – – – –  

Dance/Exercise/Martial Arts/Music Studio – – – UP(PH)  

Entertainment Establishment – – – UP(PH)  

Food Service Establishment See 23.302.040.E  

Group Class Instruction – – – UP(PH)  

Gym/Health Club – – – –  

Hotel, Tourist – – – –  

Motel, Tourist – – – –  

Theater – – UP(PH)* – 23.206.080.B.10 

Notes: 

[4] Requires a Use Permit if 5,000 sq. ft. or more 

[5] Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 20,000 sq. ft. 

[8] Prohibited over 3,000 sq. ft.  

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 152 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE   PAGE 206-5 

TABLE 23.206.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Floor Area Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Standards Apply 

Manufacturing Districts 

Use-Specific Standards 

Applies to uses with an asterisk following 
the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

M MM MU-LI MU-R 

Vehicle Service and Sale Uses   

Alternative Fuel Station AUP [5] AUP [5] AUP [5] AUP  

Gasoline/Vehicle Fuel Station – – – –  

Large Vehicle Sales and Rental  – – AUP [5] –  

Small Vehicle Sales and Service – – – –  

Tire Sales and Service – – – –  

Vehicle Parts Store – – – UP(PH)  

Vehicle Repair and Service  UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH)  

Vehicle Rentals – – – –  

Vehicle Sales, New AUP* [11] – – – 23.206.060.B.3 

Vehicle Sales, Used AUP* [11] – – – 23.206.060.B.3 

Vehicle Wash – – – –  

Vehicle Wrecking  AUP [11] AUP [5] AUP* [5] – 23.206.080.B.11 

Industrial and Heavy Commercial Uses   

Bus/Cab/Truck/Public Utility Depot AUP [12] AUP [12] AUP* [5] UP(PH) 23.206.080.B.4 

Commercial Excavation UP(PH) UP(PH) UP(PH) –  

Contractors Yard AUP [11] AUP [11] AUP [5] UP(PH)  

Dry Cleaning and Laundry Plant ZC* [13] ZC [13] ZC [1] UP(PH) 23.206.060.B.2 

Laboratory   

 Commercial Physical or  Biological – AUP [5] UP(PH)* – 23.206.080.B.5 

 Cannabis Testing – AUP [5] UP(PH) –  

Notes: 

[1] Requires an AUP for uses 20,000 sq. ft. to 30,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 30,000 sq. ft.  

[4] Requires a Use Permit if 5,000 sq. ft. or more 

[5] Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 20,000 sq. ft. 

[11] Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 40,000 sq. ft. 

[12] Requires a Use Permit for uses 20,000 sq. ft. to 40,000 square feet. 

[13] Requires an AUP for uses 20,000 sq. ft. to 40,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 40,000 sq. ft. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 153 of 511



SECTION 23.206.020  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS  
 

PAGE 206-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE

  

TABLE 23.206.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Floor Area Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Standards Apply 

Manufacturing Districts 

Use-Specific Standards 

Applies to uses with an asterisk following 
the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

M MM MU-LI MU-R 

Manufacturing   

 Construction Products  ZC* [13] ZC* [13] UP(PH)* –  

 Light Manufacturing ZC* [11] ZC* [11] ZC* [1] AUP* [4] 23.206.090.B.5 

 Pesticides/Herbicides/Fertilizers – – – –  

 Petroleum Refining and Products – – – –  

 Pharmaceuticals AUP [5] AUP [5] AUP* [5] – 23.206.080.B.7 

 Primary Production  Manufacturing AUP [5] AUP [5] – –  

 Semiconductors UP(PH) UP(PH) – –  

Material Recovery Enterprise - - UP(PH) -  

Media Production ZC [15] ZC [15] ZC [15] AUP [16]  

Mini-storage – – – –  

Recycled Materials Processing ZC* [13] ZC* [13] UP(PH)* – 23.206.040.H; 23.206.080.B.9 

Recycling Redemption Center AUP [11] ZC [13] UP(PH)* AUP 23.206.080.B.9 

Repair Service, Non-Vehicle ZC* [13] ZC* [13] ZC* [1] AUP 23.206.040.G 

Research and Development - ZC [17] ZC [17] –  

Services to Buildings and Dwellings AUP AUP AUP AUP  

Warehouse ZC [13] ZC [13] ZC [1] UP(PH)  

Warehouse-Based Non-Store Retailer ZC [13] ZC [13] ZC [1] –  

Wholesale Trade ZC [13] ZC [13] ZC* [1] AUP [4] 23.206.080.B.13 

Notes: 

[1] Requires an AUP for uses 20,000 sq. ft. to 30,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 30,000 sq. ft.  

[5] Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 20,000 sq. ft. 

[11] Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 40,000 sq. ft. 

[13] Requires an AUP for uses 20,000 sq. ft. to 40,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 40,000 sq. ft. 

[15] Requires an AUP for uses 10,000 sq. ft. to 20,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 20,000 sq. ft. 

[17] Requires an AUP for uses more than 20,000 sq. ft. 

 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 154 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE   PAGE 206-7 

TABLE 23.206.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Floor Area Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Standards Apply 

Manufacturing Districts 

Use-Specific Standards 

Applies to uses with an asterisk following 
the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

M MM MU-LI MU-R 

Incidental Uses   

Amusement Devices – – AUP AUP  

Alcoholic Beverage Service See 23.302.312  

Cafeteria, On-Site ZC [2] AUP [2] ZC [2] AUP  

Child Care Center – – See 23.206.040.B  

Columbaria – – – –  

Food and Beverage for Immediate 
Consumption  

– AUP [2] – –  

Food Service Establishment AUP [2] - AUP [2] AUP  

Live Entertainment - - UP(PH)* UP(PH)* 23.302.020.D 

Retail Sales of Goods Manufactured On-Site AUP* [18] AUP* [19] AUP* [19] AUP* 23.26.040.I 

Storage of Goods Manufactured On-Site 
(>25% gross floor area) 

ZC ZC ZC AUP 
 

Wholesale Activities ZC ZC ZC AUP  

Other Miscellaneous Uses   

Art/Craft Studio ZC* [15] ZC [15] ZC* [15] AUP [16] 23.206.040.A 

ATM, Exterior and Attached to Bank  AUP AUP - AUP  

ATM, Interior or Exterior and Not With 
Bank  

AUP AUP AUP AUP 
 

Circus/Carnival – UP(PH)* UP(PH)* UP(PH) 23.206.040.D 

Drive-in Uses  – – – –  

Live/Work – – See 23.312  

Notes: 

[2] Prohibited 20,000 sq. ft. or more.  

[6] Prohibited over 2,000 sq. ft. 

[15] Requires an AUP for uses 10,000 sq. ft. to 20,000 square feet. Requires a Use Permit for uses more than 20,000 sq. ft. 

[16] Allowed with Zoning Certificate if under 1,000 sq. ft.. Requires Use Permit if over 20,000 sq. ft.  

[18] Prohibited 1,500 sq. ft. or more. 

[19] Requires a Use Permit for sales area 1,501 to 3,000 sq. ft. Prohibited over 3,000 sq. ft.  

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 155 of 511



SECTION 23.206.020  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS  
 

PAGE 206-8   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE

  

TABLE 23.206.020-1: ALLOWED LAND USES IN THE MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
ZC = Zoning Certificate 

AUP = Administrative Use Permit 

UP(PH) = Use Permit 

– = Prohibited Use 

[#] = Floor Area Permit Requirement 

* Use-Specific Standards Apply 

Manufacturing Districts 

Use-Specific Standards 

Applies to uses with an asterisk following 
the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*) 

M MM MU-LI MU-R 

Parking Lot/Structure See 23.302.070.G  

Public Market, Open Air – – UP(PH)* [20] – 23.206.080.B.8 

Public Market, Enclosed – – AUP [6] –  

Short-Term Rental - - - ZC* 23.314 

Urban Agriculture, Low-Impact  ZC ZC ZC ZC  

Urban Agriculture, High-Impact  AUP AUP AUP AUP  

Notes: 

[6] Prohibited over 2,000 sq. ft. 

[20] Requires Use Permit for markets over 5,000 sq. ft. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 156 of 511



SECTION 23.206.030  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-9 

B. Unlisted Land Uses.3 Any use not listed in Table 23.206.020-1 is permitted with an AUP. To 

approve the AUP, the Zoning Administrator must find that the use is compatible with the purposes 

of the district where it is located. Any use found to be incompatible with the purposes of the district 

is prohibited. 

C. Use-Specific Regulations. Uses subject to supplemental regulations are shown in in Table 

23.206.020-1 with an asterisk (*) following the permit requirement (e.g., ZC*). The Use-Specific 

Standards column in Table 23.206.020-1 identifies the location of these standards in the Zoning 

Ordinance.  

23.206.030 – ADDITIONAL PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 
A. New Floor Area.4 A project that creates new floor area for any use requires additional permits as 

shown in Table 23.206.030-1.  Creation of new floor area includes: 

1. Construction of new main buildings or accessory buildings; 

2. Additions to existing buildings; or 

3. The installation of new floor or mezzanine levels within or onto existing buildings. 

TABLE 23.206.030-1: NEW FLOOR AREA PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

District/New Gross Floor Area 
Permit Required for 

New Floor Area 

M, MM  

 Less than 20,000 sq. ft. ZC 

20,000 to less than 40,000 sq. ft. AUP 

40,000 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

MU-LI  

 Less than 10,000 sq. ft. ZC 

10,000 to less than 20,000 sq. ft. AUP 

20,000 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

MU-R  

 Less than 5,000 sq. ft. ZC 

5,000 to less than 10,000 sq. ft. AUP 

10,000 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

 

  

 
3 23E.72.030.C and repeated language for other Manufacturing District chapters in Title 23E. 
4 Consolidates construction of new floor area permit requirements for all districts in 23E.72.050.A&B, 23E.76.050.A, 
23E.80.050; 23E.84.050. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 157 of 511



SECTION 23.206.030  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-10  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Tenant Space Reconfiguration.5 

1. Reconfiguration of tenant space in an existing building in the M, MM, and MU-LI districts 

requires a permit as listed in Table 23.206.030-2. 

2. In the MU-R district, tenant space reconfiguration projects affecting 5,000 square or more 

require a Use Permit.  

3. As used in this section, tenant reconfiguration means any physical change to an existing 

building’s walls separating leased spaces so as to change: 

a. The number of lease spaces for commercial businesses; or 

b. The square footage of leasable floor area of an existing commercial lease space. 

 

TABLE 23.206.030-2: TENANT SPACE RECONFIGURATION PERMIT REQUIREMENTS IN THE M, MM, MU-LI 
DISTRICTS 

Tenant Space Reconfiguration Project 
Permit Required for Tenant 
Space Reconfiguration Project 

Previously separated spaces combined into a larger space ZC 

Creating 2 to 5 separate new tenant spaces ZC 

Creating 6 to 9 separate new tenant spaces AUP 

Creating 10 or more separate new tenant spaces UP(PH) 

 

4. MM District Findings.6 To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a tenant reconfiguration 

project in the MM district, the review authority must find that the conversion is necessary to 

implement the purpose of the district. 

5. MU-LI District Findings.7 To approve a Use Permit for a tenant reconfiguration project in 

the MU-LI district, the review authority must find that the reconfiguration would not create 

or contribute to a shortage of industrial spaces in West Berkeley for spaces of the size being 

converted and either: 

a. The reconfiguration can be reasonably expected to better serve the purposes of the 

district than leaving the space intact; or 

b. The reconfiguration would create spaces which could cross-subsidize larger industrial 

spaces. 

C. Major Residential Additions. 

 
5 Changes term “conversions” to “reconfiguration.” Consolidates reconfiguration permit requirements for all 
Manufacturing districts in 23E.72.050.C, 23E.76.050.B; 23E.80.050.D; 23E.84.050.C 
6 Source: 23E.76.090C 
7 Source: 23.80.090.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 158 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-11 

1. Where Allowed/Required Permits.  

a. Major residential additions in the MU-R district require an AUP.8 

b. Major residential additions are prohibited in MU-LI district.9 

c. Major residential additions in the M and MM districts are subject to the requirement in 

Section 23.324 (Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings). 

2. Findings.10 To deny an AUP for a major residential addition in the MU-R district, the 

review authority must find that: 

a. The proposed addition would unreasonably interfere with existing or reasonably 

foreseeable adjacent land uses in the M or MM district; or 

b. Existing or reasonably foreseeable adjacent land uses in the M and/or MM district would 

have a material adverse effect on the use of the proposed addition.  

3. Recorded Acknowledgement. For a residential addition in the MU-R district, the 

residential property owner shall record an acknowledgement on the title that existing or 

reasonably foreseeable adjacent land uses in the M and/or MM District may create noise, 

dust, odors, light/glare, and other impacts that shall not be considered a nuisance if they are 

developed and conducted pursuant to the standards of the district. 

D. Langendorf Building. The following applies to the property occupied by the Langendorf Building 

(2929 Seventh Street, APN 053-0164300102):    

1. Commercial physical and biological laboratories are allowed with a Use Permit if at least 

6,000 square feet of gross floor area is occupied by a permitted use. 11   

2. Retail, office, and food and alcohol service uses allowed in the C-W district are allowed in 

the MU-LI portion of the property if the total gross floor area of these uses are less than 

10,000 square feet.12 

E. Changes to Nonconforming Structures. See Section 23.324.050 (Nonconforming Structures 

and Buildings) for permits required to modify structures that do not conform to setback, height, 

and other development standards. 

F. Accessory Structures. For accessory structure permit requirements, see the following: 

1. Section 23.304.060 (Accessory Buildings and Enclosed Accessory Structures). 

2. Section 23.304.070 (Unenclosed Accessory Structures in Residential Districts). 

3. Section 23.304.080 (Fences). 

 
8 Source: Table 23E.84.030 
9 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
10 Source: 23E.84.090.L.2 
11 Source: 23E.80.045.F 
12 Source 23E.80.045.F, second sentence. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 159 of 511



SECTION 23.206.040  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-12  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.206.040 – USE-SPECIFIC REGULATIONS 

Commentary:  This section contains use-specific permit requirements and regulations that 1) apply in multiple 

Manufacturing Districts; and 2) do not also apply in a commercial and/or residential district. If a use-specific permit 

requirement or regulation applies only in one district, it is located in the district section in this chapter. If a use-specific 

permit requirements or regulation also applies in a commercial and/or residential district, it is located in Chapter 

23.302 (Supplemental Use Regulations) or a stand-alone chapter in Division 3. This organization eliminates 

repetition and minimizes the need for readers to look for information in separate chapters. 

A. Art/Craft Studios in the M and MU-LI Districts. 13 Art/craft studios are allowed in the M and 

MU-LI districts only as workspaces. Live/work is prohibited. 

B. Child Care Centers in the MU-LI and MU-R Districts.14 Table 23.306.040-1 shows permit 

requirements for child care centers in the MU-LI and MU-R districts.  

 

TABLE 23.206.040-1: MU-LI AND MU-R CHILD CARE CENTER PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

Use Characteristic Permit Required 

Incidental Use  

Providing childcare for employees only ZC 

Providing childcare for non-employees AUP 

Principal Use UP(PH) 

 

C. Child-Serving Uses in the MU-LI and MU-R Districts.15 

1. As used in this section, “child-serving use” means a school, child care center, family day care, 

or park/recreational facility used by children. 

2. Prior to acting on an application to establish or expand a child-serving use in the MU-LI or 

MU-R districts, the applicant shall prepare and submit to the City an appropriate risk analysis 

or risk assessment, as determined by the City, that evaluates the risk to children in the use 

from other activities near the site. 

3. All child-serving uses in the MU-LI and MU-R districts must notify in writing, on a form 

approved by the City, all parents of children in the child-serving use that the use is in the 

MU-LI or MU-R district, light manufacturing is a permitted activity in the district, and that 

primary production manufacturing or construction products manufacturing may be 

permitted uses in adjacent districts. The child-serving use must require each parent or 

guardian to confirm in writing that they have read and understood this information. Written 

 
13 Source: Table 23E.72.030; Table 23E.80.030. 
14 Source: Table 23E.80.030; Table 23E.84.030. 
15 Source: 23.80.090.I; 23.84.090.H 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 160 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.040  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-13 

confirmations shall be returned to the child-serving use and maintained at the use for City 

review.  

4. To approve an AUP or Use Permit to establish or expand a child-serving use, the review 

authority must find that: 

a. The child-serving use is not incompatible with adjacent and nearby uses, including 

industrial uses; 

b. The risk analysis or risk assessment shows that there is not significant risk to children in 

the use from other activities near the site; and 

c. The applicant has made adequate provisions to comply with the parent/guardian 

notification requirement in Paragraph (3) above.   

D. Circuses and Carnival in the MM and MU-LI Districts.16 Circuses and carnivals are allowed in 

the MM and MU-LI districts only as a temporary use. 

E. Club and Lodges in the M, M-M, and MU-LI Districts. Clubs and lodges are allowed in the M, 

M-M, and MU-LI districts only for persons working in the district.  

F. Manufacturing Uses in the M, MM, and MU-LI Districts.17 For manufacturing uses in the M, 

MM, and MU-LI districts otherwise allowed with a Zoning Certificate, an AUP is required to 

establish the use within 150 feet of a residential use in a Residential District or in the MU-R district.  

G. Non-Vehicle Repair Service in the M, MM, and MU-LI Districts.18 Retail sales associated with 

a non-vehicle repair service are prohibited in the M, MM, and MU-LI districts. 

H. Recycled Materials Processing in the M and MM Districts.19 For recycled materials processing 

facilities under 10,000 square feet in the M and MM districts, an AUP is required if processing occurs 

outside of a building. 

I. Retail Sale of Goods Manufactured On-Site.20 The following requirements apply to incidental 

retail sales in all Manufacturing Districts: 

1. The size and character of signs for the retail use shall clearly indicate that the retail use is not 

the primary use of the site 

2. Maximum retail floor area: 10 percent of total gross floor area. 

3. Outdoor sales or food service is prohibited. 

 
16 Source: Table 23E.76.030 
17 Source: 23E.72.060.A; 23E.76.060.A; 23E.80.060.E. Consent Change. Removes statements allowing City Manager to 
establish industrial performance standards in 23E.64.070.E; 23E.72.070.E; 23E.76.070.E; 23E.80.D; 23E.84.070.H Not 
needed and implies authorization needed for other similar regulations. 
18 Source: Table 23E.72.030; Table 23E.80.030 
19 Source: Table 23E.72.030 
20 Source: 23E.72.060.B; 23E.76.060.B; 23E.80.060.C; 23E.84.060.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 161 of 511



SECTION 23.206.050  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-14  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

J. Storage, Wholesale, Manufacturing as Incidental Use. If a storage, wholesale, or manufacturing 

use is allowed in the M, MM, and MU-R district with a Zoning Certificate, the use is allowed 

incidental to another permitted use without the need to obtain an AUP or Use Permit. 21 

K. Noise. For purposes of the Noise Ordinance, Municipal Code Chapter 13.40, the Manufacturing 

Districts are considered Industry Districts.22 

23.206.050 – PROTECTED USES 

Commentary: This section consolidates into one place use protections for Manufacturing Districts. There are two 

types of protected uses: 1) protected industrial uses (referred to as Material Recovery Enterprise, Manufacturing, 

Wholesale Trade or Warehousing uses in the existing code) and 2) protected non-industrial uses (referred to as 

Protected Uses in the existing code). 

A. Protected Industrial Uses in the MM and MU-LI Districts. The industrial use protections in 

this subsection apply in the MM and MU-LI districts. 

1. Uses Subject to Protection.23 

a. Table 206.050-1 identifies protected industrial uses in the MM and MU-LI districts and 

when the requirements in this subsection apply to these uses. Protections apply only to 

legally-established uses. 

TABLE 23.206.050-1: PROTECTED INDUSTRIAL USES 

Zoning 
District 

Protected Industrial Uses Applicability of Requirements 

MM 
Manufacturing, warehousing, wholesale 
trade 

Ground-level protected uses on or after 
January 1, 1988 [1] 

MU-LI 
Material recovery enterprise, 
manufacturing, warehousing, wholesale 
trade 

Buildings with 33% protected use on or 
after January 1, 1996 [1] 

Note: 

[1] Includes protected uses that were previously used on or after this date but now vacant.  

 

b. In the MM district, requirements in this subsection apply if protected use space is used, 

or has been used, for the manufacture, assembly, processing, repair, testing (including 

prototype manufacturing), storage, display (other than in retail stores) or distribution of 

goods. Requirements do not apply in the MM district if the protected use is or was 

demonstrably ancillary to another use. 

2. Permits Required.24 Table 23.206.050-2 identifies permits required if a protected industrial 

use is changed to any use that is not a protected industrial use.  

 
21 Source: 23E.72.030.B; 23E.76.030.B; 23E.80.030.C 
22 Source: 23E.72.060.C; 23E.76.060.C; 23E84.060.G 
23 Source: 23E.76.040.A; 23E.80.045.A&E; 23E.84.090.E; 23E.16.060 
24 Source: 23E.76.040.A; 23E.80.045.B&C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 162 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.050  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-15 

TABLE 23.206.050-2: PERMITS REQUIRED FOR CHANGES TO PROTECTED INDUSTRIAL USES 

Zoning 
District Change to Protected Use 

Permit 
Required 

MM 
Change any amount of ground-floor 
protected use to a non-protected use 

UP(PH) 

MU-LI 
 

Change 20,000 sq. ft. or less and 25% of 
protected use to a non-protected use 

AUP 

Change over 20,000 sq. ft. or 25% of 
protected use to a non-protected use 

UP(PH) 

 

3. Permit Findings.25 

a. To approve a permit required by Table 206.050-2 for changes to a protected industrial 

use in the MM and MU-LI districts, the review authority must find that replacement 

space is provided as required by Paragraph 4 (Replacement Space) below. 

b. To approve a Use Permit for a change of 25 percent more to a protected use in the MU-

LI district, the ZAB must also find that either: 

i. The City has approved necessary Use Permits to provide comparable quality 

replacement space in Berkeley at a comparable rent that will be available before the 

demolition or change of use of the space; or 

ii. Both of the following: 

1. As a result of lawful business and building activities, there are exceptional 

physical circumstances (exclusive of the presence of hazardous materials in the 

building(s), soil or groundwater) found at the building not generally found in 

industrial buildings in the MU-LI district which make it financially infeasible to 

reuse the building for any of protected industrial uses permitted in the district. 

The analysis of the financial feasibility effects (which shall be verified by the 

City) of these physical circumstances shall consider those costs necessary to 

make the building meet current minimum standards for manufacturing, 

wholesale trade or warehouse buildings.  

2. Appropriate mitigation has been made for loss of the protected industrial use 

space in excess of 25 percent of that space through providing such space 

elsewhere in the City, payment into the West Berkeley Building Acquisition 

Fund, or by other appropriate means. 

4. Replacement Space. 26 Floor area occupied by a protected industrial use that is changed to 

a non-protected use must be replaced, in the West Berkeley Plan area, by a comparable space 

devoted to one or more of protected industrial uses.  

 
25 Source: 23E.76.040.F; 23.80.090.D; 23.84.090.C 
26 Source: 23E.76.040.A, 23E.76.090.F 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 163 of 511



SECTION 23.206.050  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-16  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

5. Minimum Protected Use Floor Area – MM District.27 For properties in the MM district 

where 25 percent or more of the total gross floor area was occupied by a protected industrial 

use as of January 1, 1996, protected industrial uses may not be reduced to less than 25 

percent of the total gross floor area on the property.  

6. Cumulative Limitations – MU-LI District.28 Permit requirements for changes to 

protected industrial uses in the MU-LI district are cumulative.  

7. Exceptions. Changes to protected industrial uses in the MM and MU-LI districts described 

below are exempt from the requirements in Paragraphs 2-6 above.   

a. Changes to R&D Uses.29 

i. A protected warehouse or wholesale trade use established prior to January 1, 2010 

may be changed to a research and development (R&D) use with the permits shown 

in Table 23.206.050-3.  

TABLE 23.206.050-3: PERMITS FOR CHANGES FROM PROTECTED TO R&D USES 

Change in Protected Use  
Gross Floor Area 

Permit Required 

20,000 square feet or less AUP 

Over 20,000 square feet UP(PH) 

 

ii. A maximum of 150,000 square feet of protected warehouse or wholesale trade space 

occupied on or after August 1, 2011 may be converted to R&D. This maximum 

applies regardless of whether or not the protected warehouse or wholesale trade 

space was legally established. 

b. Changes to Warehouse-Based Non-Store Retail, Art/Craft Studio, and Contractor 

Uses.30 A protected industrial use may be changed to a warehouse-based non-store 

retail, art/craft studio, or contractor use with the permit required by Section 23.206.020 

(Allowed Land Uses and Permit Requirements). 

c. Langendorf Building.31 Protected industrial uses in the Langendorf Building (2929 

Seventh Street) may be changed to a non-protected use if at least 30,000 square feet of 

total gross floor area remains as a protected industrial use. 

 
27 Source: 23E.76.040.B 
28 Source: 23E.80.045.G 
29 Source: 23E.76.040.C. Removed language on R&D conversions from 2011-2016 in 23E.76.040.C.1 and 
26E.80.045A.2.  
30 Source: 23E.72.045; 23E.76.040.D, first sentence; 23E.80.045.A.1, first sentence; 23.84.030.C 
31 Source: 23E.80.045.F, first sentence. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 164 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.050  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-17 

d. MU-LI Lots with Multiple Owners.32 Protected industrial uses in the MU-LI district 

may be changed to a non-protected use if: 

i. The protected industrial use is on a lot or group of abutting and confronting lots 

under single ownership and with more than one building; and  

ii. 25 percent or less of the total gross floor area in all buildings on the lot(s) remains as 

a protected industrial use. 

e. Prior Protections Remain.33 Establishing a new non-protected use under 

23.206.050.A.7 (Exceptions) does not eliminate any protections for the prior protected 

use and such protections will remain if the new non-protected use ceases. 

8. Reports to City Council.34 

a. The Planning and Development Department will report to the City Council once a 

cumulative total of 50,000 square feet in the MM and MU-LI districts of protected 

warehousing or wholesale trade use is converted to a R&D use (or at the end of one 

year, whichever occurs first). The Department will provide additional reports in the same 

increments after this first report. The reports will include the gross square footage of 

building space converted and the number and type of jobs expected to be created. 

b. No later than April 15, 2016, the City Manager will provide a cumulative report to the 

City Council and schedule an action item for the Council’s consideration so that it can 

provide direction as to what, if any, modifications it wishes to make to this section.   

B. Protected Industrial Uses in the MU-R District.35 

1. Protected Industrial Uses Defined. Manufacturing, warehousing, and wholesale trade are 

protected industrial uses in the MU-R district. Protections apply only to legally-established 

uses. 

2. Permit Required. Except as allowed by Section 23.206.030.B.4 (Exempt from Permit 

Requirement), a Use Permit is required to change a protected industrial use to any use that is 

not a protected industrial use. 

3. Permit Findings. To approve a Use Permit when required by Section 23.206.050.B.2 

(Permit Required), the review authority must find that: 

a. The change of use will not have a materially detrimental impact on the character of the 

MU-R district as a light industrial district, with particular reference to the character of 

the blocks and parts of blocks in the part of the district that is contiguous with the site; 

and 

 
32 Source: 23E.80.045.D 
33 Source: 23E.76.040.C, 23E.76.040.D, second sentence; 23E.80.045.A.1, second sentence 
34 Source: 23E.76.040.E 
35 Source: 23E.84.090.E; 23.84.030.C; 23.84.090.E; 23E.16.060 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 165 of 511



SECTION 23.206.050  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-18  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. Appropriate mitigation has been made for loss of the manufacturing, wholesale trade, or 

warehouse space in excess of 25 percent of that space through providing such space 

elsewhere in Berkeley, payment into the West Berkeley Building Acquisition Fund, or by 

other appropriate means.  

4. Exempt from Permit Requirement. A protected industrial use may be changed to an 

art/craft studio or contractor use with the permit required by Section 23.206.020 (Allowed 

Land Uses and Permit Requirements). Approval of an art/craft studio or contractor use 

within a protected industrial space does not eliminate any protections for the prior protected 

use and such protections will remain if the new non-protected use ceases.  

C. Protected Non-Industrial Uses in the MU-LI and MU-R Districts.36 

1. Protected Non-Industrial Uses Defined. A use in the MU-LI or MU-R districts listed in 

Table 23.206.050-3 is classified as a protected non-industrial use, provided the use: 

a. Was legally established as of July 6, 1989; and 

b. Exists as a single stand-alone use or is combined with residential use in a live/work unit. 

TABLE 23.206.050-3: PROTECTED NON-INDUSTRIAL USES 

Category Protected Uses 

Category 1 Art/craft studio 

Category 2 

1) Art galleries, ancillary to art/craft studios and when located in the same building 

2) Child care facility 

3) Family day care home 

4) Fine arts performance, instruction and rehearsal studios (dance, music, theater) 

5) Theaters, stage performance, but excluding motion picture theaters 

 

2. Permit Required for Change of Use. 

a. Table 23.206.050-4 shows permits required to change a protected non-industrial use.  

TABLE 23.206.050-4: PERMIT REQUIRED FOR CHANGE TO PROTECTED NON-INDUSTRIAL USE 

Existing Protected 
Use Gross Floor 
Area 

New Use 

A protected use 
in the same 

category 

A protected use in 
a different 
category 

A non-protected use 
that occupies all of the 
non-residential floor 
area in the building 

Less than 5,000 sq. ft.  ZC AUP AUP 

5,000 sq. ft. or more AUP UP(PH) UP(PH) 

 

 
36 Source: 23E.80.040; 23.23E.84.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 166 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.060  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-19 

3. Owner-Occupied Exemption. A protected non-industrial use which is owner-occupied 

and occupies all of the non-residential floor area in a building is exempt from the 

requirements of this section. 

4. Findings.37 

a. To approve a permit required by Table 206.050-4, the review authority must find that 

space occupied by the existing non-industrial protected use will be replaced with a 

comparable space in the West Berkeley Plan area, which is reserved for use by any 

protected use in the same category. Such replacement space may not qualify for 

exemption under Paragraph 3 (Owner-Occupied Exemption) above or by reason of 

having been established after July 6, 1989. 

b. When making additional findings required by Chapter 23.406 (Specific Permit and 

Approval Requirements), the review authority may only consider the potential detriment 

associated with the new use.  Dislocation of any specific previous occupant or use may 

not be a basis for finding detriment. 

23.206.060 – M MANUFACTURING DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.38 The purpose of the Manufacturing (M) district is to: 

1. Implement the West Berkeley Plan Manufacturing District designation; 

2. Encourage development of a general manufacturing district for the full range of 

manufacturers, including larger scale materials processing manufacturers sometimes known 

as heavy manufacturers; 

3. Consistent with other goals expressed in these purposes, encourage development of a 

manufacturing district dedicated to manufacturing and industrial uses, so that manufacturers 

and industrial businesses will not be interfered with by incompatible uses; 

4. Encourage the creation and continuation of well-paid (often unionized) industrial jobs for 

people without advanced degrees; 

5. To the greatest degree possible and consistent with other goals expressed in these purposes, 

retain the stock of manufacturing and industrial buildings and/or sites, especially large 

buildings and sites, for manufacturing and industrial uses; 

6. Support the development of industrial businesses which contribute to the maintenance and 

improvement of the environment; 

7. Maintain and improve the quality of the West Berkeley environment, while allowing the 

lawful and reasonable operation of the full range of manufacturers; 

 
37 Source: 23E.80.090.C; 23E.84.090.C 
38 Source: 23E.72.020. Deletes 23E.72.010, which is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 167 of 511



SECTION 23.206.060  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-20  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

8. Support the development of retail automobile sales uses because they contribute to the 

economic viability of the area and provide sales tax revenues for the City; and 

9. Provide opportunities for vehicle sales uses when it will not unduly interfere with 

manufacturing uses.  

B. Land Use Regulations. 

1. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.206.020-1. 

2. Dry Cleaning and Laundry Plants.39 Retail service at a dry cleaning and laundry plant in 

the M district is prohibited.  

3. Vehicle Sales.40 The following standards apply to both new and used vehicle sales in the M 

district.  

a. Permits required for vehicle sales in the M district is determined by size of lot, not floor 

area. 

b. Vehicle sales are not permitted on City-owned land used for a materials recovery 

enterprise or solid waste transfer station as of January 1, 2008.  

c. When a project results in construction of a new building with more than 10,000 square 

feet of new gross floor area, the following standards apply to the new building: 

i. A minimum building frontage of 40 percent of the project’s primary street frontage 

is required within 25 feet of the public right of way. The primary street frontage is 

the frontage towards which the primary building entrance is oriented. 

ii. Along Gilman Street a minimum building frontage of 50 percent of the Gilman 

Street frontage is required within 25 feet of the public right of way. 

iii. The minimum building height is 20 feet within 25 feet of the public right of way 

along the primary street frontage. 

d. Adequate landscaping and/or fencing shall be used to screen views from street level of 

dealership operations that are not located within a building. Outdoor vehicle storage and 

display does not need screening. Such screening is not required to obscure all visibility of 

interior activities but shall provide some filtering of outdoor dealership operations. 

e. For the purposes of this section and Design Review, areas used for outdoor vehicle 

storage and display are not considered parking areas. 

f. Appropriate site design measures shall be installed to the maximum extent practicable to 

ensure clean water standards are met. Permanent stormwater best management practices 

and on-site storm water treatment shall be used for all runoff generated by new 

impermeable surfaces. Runoff from automobile washing and maintenance activities shall 

 
39 Source: Table 23E.72.030 
40 Source: Table 23E.72.030; 23E.72.060.F; 23E.72.070.F; 23E.72.090.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 168 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.060  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-21 

be properly collected and treated, consistent with the requirements of the Public Works 

Department and the Toxics Management Division of the Planning Department. When 

new paving is proposed, pervious paving shall be used where feasible and shall be 

reviewed and approved by the Public Works Department and Office of Transportation. 

g. All noise-generating activities and equipment, such as vehicle repair, shall be shielded by 

noise-attenuating construction or equipment. Outdoor amplification is prohibited. 

h. Exterior light standards and fixtures shall not be taller than 20 feet, light cutoffs shall be 

utilized to control light spillover onto adjacent properties, and low energy light fixtures 

consistent with Berkeley’s goals for energy efficiency shall be utilized. 

i. Vehicle test drives shall not be conducted in adjacent Residential Districts. 

j. Facilities for the loading and unloading of deliveries shall be provided on-site and may 

not occupy street parking or block public or private streets. On-street unloading is 

permitted with an AUP. To approve the AUP, the Zoning Officer must find that: 

i. On-street loading will not be unreasonably disruptive or detrimental to activities in 

the vicinity; and 

ii. On-site deliveries are not feasible due to specific site or roadway constraints. 

k. To approve an AUP or Use Permit for an automobile sales use in the M district, the 

review authority must find that: 

i. The project will not result in unreasonable impacts on circulation and parking on 

adjacent streets or in the immediate neighborhood; 

ii. The project will not result in a substantial adverse impact on existing uses in the 

immediate vicinity; 

iii. The project will not generate objectionable odors or excessive levels of noise; 

iv. Site design reflects the urban form of the surrounding area and new construction, 

materials and/or building forms reflect the area’s industrial character; 

v. New construction along Gilman Street reflects the importance of a defined street 

wall along this main entry corridor to the City; and 

vi. The project will not materially interfere with the activities of the City-owned solid 

waste center. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.206.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards.41 See Table 23.206.060-1 for development standards in the M district.  

TABLE 23.206.060-1: M DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 
41 Source: 23E.72.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 169 of 511



SECTION 23.206.070  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-22  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum 20,000 sq. ft. 23.304.020 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 2.0  

Main Building Height, Maximum 45 ft. 23.304.050 

Setbacks, Minimum No minimum 23.304.030 

 

E. Permit Findings. See 23.206.100 (Permit Findings). 

23.206.070 – MM MIXED MANUFACTURING DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.42 The purpose of the Mixed Manufacturing (MM) district is to: 

1. Implement the West Berkeley Plan MM designation; 

2. Encourage development of a general manufacturing district for the full range of 

manufacturers, including larger scale materials processing manufacturers sometimes known 

as heavy manufacturers; 

3. Encourage development of a manufacturing district targeted to manufacturing and industrial 

uses, so that manufacturers and industrial businesses will not be interfered with by 

incompatible uses; 

4. Encourage the creation and continuation of well paid (often unionized) jobs for men and 

women without advanced degrees; 

5. Provide an appropriate location for the development of compatible industries which can 

provide high quality employment for people at all educational levels, and add significantly to 

the tax base, such as the biotechnology industry; 

6. Allow reuse of upper story industrial space as offices to facilitate use of upper story space; 

7. Maintain and improve the quality of the West Berkeley environment, while allowing the 

lawful and reasonable operation of the full range of manufacturers; and 

8. Support the development of industrial businesses which contribute to the maintenance and 

improvement of the environment.  

B. Land Use Regulations. 

1. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.206.020-1. 

2. Office Uses.43 

a. Office uses are allowed in the MM district only above first floor. Ground floor office 

uses are prohibited unless ancillary to a permitted use. 

 
42 Source: 23E.76.020. Deletes 23E.76.010, which is not needed. 
43 Source: Table 23E.76 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 170 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.080  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-23 

b. If the office use is established above a non-manufacturing use or replaces an existing 

manufacturing, warehousing or wholesale trade use, an AUP is required. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.206.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards.44 See Table 23.206.070-1 for development standards in the MM district.  

TABLE 23.206.070-1: MM DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Area, Minimum 20,000 sq. ft. 23.3034.020 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 2.0  

Main Building Height, Maximum 45 ft. 23.304.050 

Setbacks, Minimum No minimum 23.304.030 

 

E. Permit Findings. See 23.206.100 (Permit Findings). 

23.206.080 – MU-LI MIXED USE-LIGHT INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.45 The purpose of the Mixed Use-Light Industrial (MU-LI) district is to: 

1. Implement the West Berkeley Plan Light Manufacturing District designation; 

2. Encourage development of a mixed use-light industrial area for a range of compatible uses; 

3. Encourage development of an area where light manufacturers can operate free from the 

economic, physical and social constraints caused by incompatible uses; 

4. Encourage the creation and continuation of well-paid jobs which do not require advanced 

degrees; 

5. Provide for the continued availability of manufacturing and industrial buildings for 

manufacturing uses, especially of larger spaces needed by medium sized and larger light 

manufacturers; 

6. Provide opportunities for office development when it will not unduly interfere with light 

manufacturing uses and/or the light manufacturing building stock; 

7. Provide the opportunity for laboratory development in appropriate locations; 

8. Support the development of businesses which contribute to the maintenance and 

improvement of the environment; 

9. Allow on site ancillary retail as a tool to maintain and enhance the economic viability of 

manufacturers in the district; and 

 
44 Source: 23E.76.070 
45 Source: 23E.80.020. Deletes 23E.80.010, which is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 171 of 511



SECTION 23.206.080  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-24  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

10. Maintain and improve the quality of the West Berkeley environment, while allowing the 

lawful and reasonable operation of light industrial uses.  

B. Land Use Regulations. 

1. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.206.020-1. 

2. Use Permit Not Required.46 An existing use in the MU-LI district may be modified or 

intensified without a Use Permit if: 

a. A Use Permit is not required by this chapter; and 

b. The Zoning Officer determines that the modification or intensification of the use can 

reasonably be expected not to increase any impact regulated under environmental 

performance standards. 

3. Alcoholic Beverage Retail Sales.47 Alcoholic beverage retail sales are allowed in the MU-

LI district only when incidental to food product stores. 

4. Bus/Cab/Truck/Public Utility Depot. 48 A Use Permit is required for a 

bus/cab/truck/public utility depot in the MU-LI district if the lot is over 20,000 square feet, 

regardless of use floor area. 

5. Commercial Physical or Biological Laboratories.49 Commercial physical or biological 

laboratories using Class 3 organisms are prohibited the MU-LI district. Use of Class 2 

organisms are permitted only in locations at least 500 feet from a Residential District or a 

MU-R district. 

6. General Retail.50 Allowed general retail uses the MU-LI district are limited to food product 

stores and building materials and garden supply stores. Other types of general retail uses are 

prohibited. 

7. Pharmaceuticals Manufacturing.51 Pharmaceuticals manufacturing is allowed in the MU-

LI district only in locations at least 500 feet from a Residential District or the MU-R district. 

8. Public Market, Open Air.52 Open air markets in the MU-LI district with 5,000 square feet 

or less of lot area are allowed with AUP. 

9. Recycling Facilities.53 Recycled materials processing and recycling redemption centers are 

allowed in the MU-LI district only on lots greater than 20,000 square feet. 

 
46 Source: 23E.80.060.H 
47 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
48 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
49 Source: 23E.80.060.F 
50 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
51 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
52 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
53 Source: Table 23E.780030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 172 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.080  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-25 

10. Theaters.54 Only live stage performances are allowed in a theater in the MU-LI district. 

Motion picture theaters are prohibited.  

11. Vehicle Wrecking.55 Permits required for vehicle wrecking the MU-LI district is determined 

by size of lot, not floor area.  

12. Vocational Schools. 56 A vocational school in the MU-LI district must provide training for 

occupations and/or industries found in the West Berkeley Plan area. 

13. Wholesale Trade Proximity to Residential Use.57 For wholesale trade use in the MU-LI 

district otherwise allowed with a Zoning Certificate, an AUP is required to establish the use 

within 150 feet of a residential use in a Residential District or in the MU-R district. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.206.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Outdoor Recreation Sub-Zone.58 

1. An Outdoor Recreation Sub-zone may be designated by the City Council, upon 

recommendation of the Planning Commission. In an Outdoor Recreation Sub-zone, parks 

and outdoor recreational uses are permitted with a Use Permit. 

2. Properties designated as an Outdoor Recreation Sub-zone must be: 

a. Designated specifically for outdoor recreational use in the West Berkeley Plan; 

b. Owned or under acquisition by a public agency which is subject to the Zoning 

Ordinance; 

c. At least 5 contiguous acres in area; 

d. Not primarily occupied by a conforming use as designated in the West Berkeley Plan; 

and 

e. At least 1,000 feet from any other Outdoor Recreation Sub-zone. 

3. The initial designation of an Outdoor Recreation Sub-zone expires five years from the 

designation date. In order to permit outdoor recreational uses after that date, the Council 

must renew the Outdoor Recreation Sub-zone designation.  

E. Development Standards.59 See Table 23.206.080-1 for development standards in the MU-LI 

district.  

  

 
54 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
55 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
56 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
57 23E.80.060.E 
58 Source: 23E.80.030.F 
59 Source: 23E.76.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 173 of 511



SECTION 23.206.090  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-26  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.206.080-1: MU-LI DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 2.0  

Main Building Height, Maximum 45 ft. 23.304.050 

Setbacks, Minimum No minimum 23.304.030 

 

F. Permit Findings. See 23.206.100 (Permit Findings). 

23.206.090 – MU-R MIXED USE-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 
A. District Purpose.60 The purpose of the Mixed Manufacturing (MU-R) district is to: 

1. Implement the West Berkeley Plan Mixed Residential District designation; 

2. Support the continued development of a mixed-use district which combines residential, 

live/work, light industrial, arts and crafts and other compatible uses; 

3. Strengthen residential concentrations which exist within the district; 

4. Provide appropriate locations for a broad range of live/work activities to occur; 

5. Provide a transitional district between the Residential Districts to the east of the district and 

the Manufacturing Districts to the west of the district; 

6. Encourage light manufacturers and wholesalers which are compatible with a mixed use-

residential district; 

7. Support the development of businesses of all types which contribute to the maintenance and 

improvement of the environment; 

8. Protect residents from unreasonably detrimental effect of nonresidential uses, such as noise, 

vibration, odors, smoke, fumes, gases, dust, heat and glare, to the extent possible and 

reasonable within a mixed-use West Berkeley context; 

9. To the extent feasible, protect industrial uses, particularly light industrial uses, from 

unreasonable intrusions on their ability to operate lawfully; and 

10. Permit retail and food service activities which are either limited and small scale, primarily 

serving persons living and/or working in the district, but not a citywide or regional clientele, 

or which are ancillary and designed to maintain and enhance the economic viability of 

manufacturers in the district. 

B. Land Use Regulations. 

1. Allowed Land Uses. See Table 23.206.020-1. 

 
60 Source: 23E.84.020. Deletes 23E.84.010, which is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 174 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.090  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-27 

2. Alcoholic Beverage Retail Sales.61 Alcoholic beverage retail sales are allowed in the MU-R 

district only as ancillary sale of products produced or bottled on site with a Use Permit. 

3. Community Care Facility.62 Community care facilities are allowed in the MU-R district 

only as a change of use. New construction is prohibited.  

4. General Retail.63 Allowed types of general retail uses the MU-R district are limited to food 

product stores, building materials and garden supply stores, and arts and craft supplies.  

Other types of general retail uses are prohibited. 

5. Manufacturing Use Findings.64 To approve an AUP or Use Permit to establish or expand 

a manufacturing use abutting one or more dwelling units located in the MU-R District, the 

review authority must find: 

a. The manufacturer is capable of meeting all applicable performance standards; and 

b. Permit conditions will specify all reasonable steps to minimize noise, odors, dust, 

vibration, glare and any other potential impacts on the abutting dwelling units. 

6. Mortuaries and Crematories.65 Only mortuaries are permitted in the MU-R district. 

Crematories are not allowed. 

7. Multi-Family Dwellings.66 Table 23.206.090-1 shows permits required for multi-family 

dwellings in the MU-R district. 

TABLE 23.206.090-1: MU-R MULTI-FAMILY DWELLING PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

Number of Units Permit Required 

3 or 4 AUP 

5 or more UP(PH) 

 

8. Residential Uses.67 

a. A Use Permit is required to establish a dwelling unit, group living accommodation, or 

live/work unit MU-R that is within 150 feet of: 

i. An M or MM district; or 

ii. A construction product manufacturing or primary product manufacturing use.  

b. To deny a Use Permit required by Paragraph (a) above, the ZAB must find that: 

 
61 Source: Table 23E.84.030 
62 Source: Table 23E.84.030 
63 Source: Table 23E.84.030 
64 Source: 23E.84.090.K 
65 Source: Table 23E.84.030 
66 Source: Table 23E.84.030 
67 Source: 23E.84.060.G; 23E.84.090.L.1 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 175 of 511



SECTION 23.206.090  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-28  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

i. The proposed residential use would unreasonably interfere with existing or 

reasonably foreseeable adjacent land uses in the M or MM district; or 

ii. Existing or reasonably foreseeable adjacent land uses in the M or MM district would 

have a material adverse effect on the proposed residential use. 

c. As a condition of approval for a Use Permit required by Paragraph (a) above, the 

residential property owner shall record an acknowledgement that existing or reasonably 

foreseeable adjacent land uses in the M or MM district may create noise, dust, odors, 

light/glare, and other impacts that will not be considered a nuisance if they are 

developed and conducted pursuant to the standards of the district. 

9. Residential Mixed-Use.68 To approve an AUP or Use Permit to establish or expand of a 

residential mixed-use building in the MU-R district, the review authority must find that the 

specific combination of proposed residential and non-residential uses will not be hazardous 

or detrimental to persons living and/or working on the site or within the project vicinity. 

C. Additional Permit Requirements. See Section 23.206.030 (Additional Permit Requirements). 

D. Development Standards.69 See Table 23.206.090-2 for development standards in the MU-R district.  

  

 
68 Source: 23E.84.090.I 
69 Source: 23E.76.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 176 of 511



CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS SECTION 23.206.100  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 206-29 

TABLE 23.206.090-2: MU-R DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

Basic Standards Supplemental Standards 

Lot Width, Minimum 40 ft.  

Minimum Lot Area Per Dwelling Unit or Live/Work Unit 1,250 sq. ft. [1] 23.304.020 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR), Maximum 1.0 [2]  

Usable Open Space, Minimum  23.304.090 

 Per  Dwelling Unit 150 sq. ft.  

 Per Live/Work Unit 40 sq. ft.  

Main Building Height, Maximum  23.304.050 

 Live/work 28 ft. and 3 stories [3]  

 Residential or mixed-use [4] 35 ft. and 3 stories  

 All other uses 35 ft. and 2 stories [5]  

Minimum Main Building Lot Line Setback [7]  23.304.030 

 Front 5 ft.  

 Rear No min. [6]  

 Interior No min.  

 Street Side 5 ft.  

Notes: 

[1] One additional dwelling unit allowed for remaining lot area between 750 and 1,250 square feet. 

[2] Maximum 1.5 for buildings with 50 percent or more residential or live/work floor area 

[3] Maximum 35 ft. with a Use Permit.  

[4] Mixed use is defined here as a building with 50 percent or more of gross floor area used for residential (including live/work) purposes. 

[5] Maximum 3 stories for arts/craft studios and light manufacturing (with no other non-residential uses) on a block without dwelling units.  

[6] Minimum 5 ft. if rear of lot abuts a street. 

[7] Setbacks required when abutting or confronting a Residential District. See 23.304.030.C.2. 

 

E. Permit Findings. See 23.206.100 (Permit Findings). 

23.206.100 – PERMIT FINDINGS70 
A. All Manufacturing Districts. To approve an AUP or a Use Permit in a Manufacturing District, the 

review authority must find that the project: 

1. Is consistent with the purposes of the district;  

2. Is compatible with the surrounding uses and buildings;  

3. Complies with the adopted West Berkeley Plan; and 

4. Meets any applicable performance standards for off-site impacts.  

 
70 Consolidates into one section general findings in 23E.72.090; 23E.76.090; 23E.80.090; 23E.84.090. Findings required 
for a specific land use (e.g., live/work) are moved to the section for that land use. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 177 of 511



SECTION 23.206.100  CHAPTER 23.206 – MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
 

PAGE 206-30  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Additional Findings. In addition to the findings in 23.206.100.A (All Manufacturing Districts), the 

review authority must also make the following findings to approve an AUP or Use Permit in each of 

the Manufacturing Districts. 

1. M and MM Districts. The project: 

a. Is unlikely, under reasonably foreseeable circumstances, to induce a substantial change of 

use in buildings from manufacturing, wholesale trade, or warehousing uses; and 

b. Is designed in such a manner to be supportive of the industrial character of the district. 

Such physical compatibility shall include materials used; facade treatments; landscaping; 

lighting; type, size and placement of awnings, windows, and signs; and all other externally 

visible aspects of the design of the building and site. 

2. MU-LI District. The project: 

a. Is unlikely, under reasonably foreseeable circumstances, to induce a substantial change of 

use in buildings from manufacturing, wholesale trade, or warehousing uses;  

b. Is designed in such a manner to be supportive of the industrial character of the district. 

Such physical compatibility shall include materials used; facade treatments; landscaping; 

lighting; type, size and placement of awnings, windows, and signs; and all other externally 

visible aspects of the design of the building and site; and 

c. If the building and/or site is split between the MU-LI district and the C-W district, there 

are clear and appropriate distinctions in all design aspects between the portions of the 

building and site within the MU-LI district and the portions within the C-W district. 

3. MU-R District. The project: 

a. Is unlikely, under reasonably foreseeable circumstances, to either induce or contribute to 

a cumulative change of use in buildings away from residential, live/work, light industrial, 

or arts and crafts uses; and 

b. Is designed to be supportive of the character and purposes of the district. 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 178 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 208-1 

    

SPECIAL PURPOSE DISTRICTS 
Sections: 

23.208.010 – Specific Plan District 

23.208.020 – Unclassified District 

  

Commentary:  This chapter caries forward existing chapters 23E.88 and 23E.92 with edits for clarity and style.  

23.208.010 – SPECIFIC PLAN DISTRICT 
A. Purpose.1 The Specific Plan (SP) district establishes allowed use and permit requirements in 

areas subject to an adopted Specific Plan.  

B. Allowed Uses.2 

1. Allowed uses and permit requirements in the SP district are as established in the applicable 

Specific Plan. 

2. If the applicable Specific Plan is silent on a use allowed in another district, the use is allowed 

with a Use Permit. 

C. Required Permits.3 

1. Prior to approving a permit application in a SP district, the City must approve a Master 

Development Plan Permit consistent with the applicable Specific Plan. To approve a Master 

Development Plan Permit, the review authority must make all findings required by the 

Specific Plan. 

2. Applications for a Master Development Plan Permit and subsequent required permits shall 

be submitted and processed in accordance with Section 23.404 (Common Permit 

Requirements) and 23.406 (Specific Permit Requirements).  

23.208.020 – UNCLASSIFIED DISTRICT 
A. Purpose.4 The purpose of the Unclassified (U) district is to: 

1. Implement the General Plan designations for areas included in the U district zoning 

classification; and 

 
1 Source:23E.88.020. 23E.88.010 is deleted, as it is not needed.  
2 Source:23E.88.030 
3 Source:23E.88.030; 23.88.090 
4 Source:23E.92.020. 23E.92.010 is deleted, as it is not needed. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 179 of 511



SECTION  23.208.020   CHAPTER 23.208 – SPECIAL PURPOSE DISTRICTS 

PAGE 208-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Provide a district designation until such areas are classified into a residential, commercial, or 

manufacturing district.  

B. Allowed Uses.5 

1. All uses not prohibited by law are permitted in the U district. 

2. A Use Permit is required to establish any use, consistent with the procedures in this section. 

C. Use Permit Procedures.6 The City shall review and act on Use Permit applications in the U 

district as follows: 

1. Each application shall be first submitted to the Planning Commission with the Planning 

Commission making a report to the ZAB. If the Planning Commission fails to take an action 

on the report within 30 days after a Use Permit application is deemed complete, the ZAB 

will consider the application without a Planning Commission report. 

2. After Planning Commission review, the ZAB shall take an action to approve, conditionally 

approve, or deny the application. The ZAB’s decision is not effective until after action by the 

City Council. ZAB decisions may not be appealed.  

3. The ZAB will transmit a report of its decision, including findings and any conditions, 

together with the Planning Commission report, to the City Clerk within 14 days of final 

action. 

4. The City Council will review and act on the application within 30 days of the ZAB decision. 

5. The Council may affirm, reverse, or modify the ZAB decision.  

D. Development Standards.7 All development standards in the U District shall be set forth in the 

Use Permit, including lot size, density, building height, setbacks, building separation, lot 

coverage, floor area ratio (FAR), usable open space, and off-street parking.  

E. Use Permit Findings. To approve a Use Permit in the U district, the ZAB, Planning 

Commission, and City Council must all make the findings in Section 23.406.030.E (Findings for 

Approval).  

 
5 Source:23E.92.030 
6 Source:23E.92.030 
7 Source:23E.92.090 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 180 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 210-1 

    

OVERLAY ZONES 
Sections: 

23.210.010 – Purpose of Overlay Zones 

23.210.020 – Hillside Overlay 

23.210.030 – Civic Center District Overlay 

  

Commentary: This chapter contains the overlay zones that are combined with two or more base zoning districts 

on the Zoning Map. Overlay zones that apply only in one base zoning district (e.g., Arts District Overlay in C-

DMU) are found in the district chapter. 

 

23.210.010 – PURPOSE OF OVERLAY ZONES1 
A. General. An overlay zone is a defined geographic area shown on the Zoning Map where special 

requirements or limitations apply, in addition to the underlying base district requirements. 

B. Conflicting Requirements. Whenever a requirement of an overlay zone conflicts with a 

requirement of the underlying base district, the overlay zone requirement controls.  

23.210.020 – HILLSIDE OVERLAY ZONE 
A. Purpose.2 The purpose of the Hillside (H) overlay zone is to: 

1. Implement General Plan policies for hillside development; 

2. Protect the character of Berkeley’s hillside areas and their immediate environs; 

3. Give reasonable protection to views yet allow appropriate development of all property; 

4. Allow modifications in standard setback and height requirements when justified because of 

steep topography, irregular lot pattern, unusual street conditions, or other special aspects of 

the hillside areas. 

B. Allowed Uses.3  

1. General. Allowed uses in the H overlay zone are the same as the underlying base district 

except as provided in this subsection.  

2. Multiple Dwellings in R-2. When the H overlay zone is combined with the R-2 district, 

multiple dwellings on a single property are prohibited. 

 
1 New. Explains purpose of overlay zones and relationship to underlying base district. 
2 Source:23E.96.020. Deletes 23E.96.010, which is not needed. 
3 Source:23E.96.030; Table 23D.28.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 181 of 511



SECTION  23.210.020   CHAPTER 23.210 – OVERLAY ZONES 

 

PAGE 402-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  

C. Development Standards.4 

1. General. Development standards in the H overlay zone are the same as the underlying base 

district except as provided in this subsection. 

2. Main Building Height. 

a. Table 23.210.020-1 shows the maximum allowed building height in the H overlay zone. 

b. The Zoning Officer may approve an AUP to increase the allowed average and maximum 

main building height upon finding the project is consistent with the purpose of the H 

overlay zone as stated in 23.210.020.A (Purpose). 

TABLE 23.210.020-1: H OVERLAY ZONE MAXIMUM ALLOWED BUILDING HEIGHT 

Underlying Base District 

Allowed Height 
Maximum 

Stories Average Maximum 

New Buildings    

R-1, R-1A, R-2, R-2A 28 ft. 35 ft. 3 stories 

R-3, R-4, R-5, R-S, C-N, C-NS 35 ft. 35 ft. 3 stories 

Residential Additions 
As required by the base district 
or the highest existing portion 
of the roof, whichever is lower 

20 ft. N/A 

 

c. For a residential addition located above the lowest existing story that is partially or fully 

above grade, not habitable, and projects beyond the footprint of the habitable portion of 

the building, the average height is measured from the floor plate of the lowest habitable 

story. Maximum height is measured from grade in all cases. 

d. Height provisions in Section 23.304.050 (Building Height) apply in the H overlay zone.  

3. Accessory Building Height. 

a. Accessory buildings are limited to 12 feet in average height and one story. 

b. The Zoning Officer may approve an AUP to increase the allowed height and/or stories 

upon finding that the proposed accessory building: 

i. Will not be detrimental to the light, air, privacy, and view of adjacent property; and 

ii. Is consistent with the purpose of the H overlay zone as stated in 23.210.020.A 

(Purpose). 

4. Setbacks and Building Separation. 

a. The Zoning Officer may approve an AUP to reduce the minimum required main 

building lot line setbacks and the minimum required building separation in the 

underlying base district upon finding that the reduction is consistent with the purpose of 

the H overlay zone as stated in 23.210.020.A (Purpose). 

 
4 Source:23E.96.070; 23E.96.090 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 182 of 511



CHAPTER 23.210 – OVERLAY ZONES  SECTION  23.210.030  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE   PAGE 210-3 

b. Setback provisions in Section 23.304.030 (Setbacks) apply in the H overlay zone.  

23.210.030 – CIVIC CENTER DISTRICT OVERLAY ZONE 
A. Purpose.5 

1. General. The general purpose of the Civic Center District (CCD) overlay zone is to 

implement General Plan Policy LU-22 to "Maintain the Civic Center as a cohesively 

designed, well-maintained, and secure place for community activities, cultural and 

educational uses, and essential civic functions and facilities" and Downtown Area Plan 

Policy LU-1.4 to "Focus City government and civic activity in the Civic Center area, and 

recognize Downtown’s central role in providing community services." 

2. Specific. The specific purpose of the CCD overlay zone is to: 

a. Preserve and protect the integrity of the City of Berkeley Historic Civic Center through 

preservation of existing buildings and open space listed in the Civic Center Historic 

District; 

b. Allow a set of uses, which are civic in nature, and support active community use; 

c. Promote uses, which combined or individually will maintain public access to the historic 

buildings and resources; 

d. Promote appropriate uses which respect the Civic Center’s historic significance in 

unifying the community and forming a link to Berkeley’s past; 

e. Promote the cultural and architectural heritage of the Civic Center; 

f. Preserve the Civic Center District as a place for government functions, community 

activities, cultural and educational uses, and civic functions and facilities; and 

g. Promote uses which could financially support the goal of upgrading and preserving the 

existing historic buildings and resources. 

B. Applicability.6 The CCD overlay zone boundaries are coterminous with the Civic Center 

Historic District designated under Municipal Code Chapter 3.24 and apply to the following 

parcels: 

1. APN 057 201701601 (Old City Hall/Courthouse/Public Safety Building) 

2. APN 057 202202000 (Veterans Memorial Building) 

3. APN 057 202200600 (State Farm Insurance Building/City offices, 1947 Center Street) 

4. APN 057 202100200 (Civic Center Park) 

5. APN 057 202100100 (Civic Center Building) 

 
5 Source:23E.98.020 
6 Source:23E.98.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 183 of 511



SECTION  23.210.030   CHAPTER 23.210 – OVERLAY ZONES 

 

PAGE 210-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

6. APN 057 202601500 (Downtown Berkeley YMCA) 

7. Portion of APN 057 202000503 which contains the Berkeley Community Theater/Florence 

Schwimley Little Theater 

8. APN 057 202000400 (Berkeley High School) 

9. APN 057 202700500 (Berkeley Main Post Office) 

C. Definitions.7 The following definitions apply only in the CCD overlay zone: 

1. Live Performance Theatre. An establishment that has a permanent stage for the 

presentation of live performances and entertainment and which contains an audience 

viewing hall or room with fixed seats. 

2. Museum. A non-profit, permanent institution in the service of society and its development, 

open to the public, which acquires, conserves, researches, communicates, and exhibits the 

tangible and intangible heritage of humanity and its environment for the purposes of 

education, study, and enjoyment. 

3. Public Market. An open air or enclosed marketplace, including a farmer’s market, with 

multiple owner operated and/or independent merchants selling retail food items and 

handcrafted goods from local and regional producers, so long as: 

a. At least 75 percent of retail space is devoted to the sale of general or specialized food 

products; and 

b. No more than 25 percent of retail space is devoted to one or more of the following 

incidental uses: 

i. Owner operated and/or independent food service establishment selling food from 

local and regional producers; and 

ii. Sales of retail products from local and regional produce.  

D. Allowed Uses.8 Table 23.210.030-1 shows allowed uses and permit requirements in the CCD 

overlay zone.  All properties in the CCD overlay zone are restricted to the uses in Table 

23.210.030-1, regardless of uses permitted in the underlying base district. 

  

 
7 Source:23E.98.050 
8 Source:23E.98.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 184 of 511



CHAPTER 23.210 – OVERLAY ZONES  SECTION  23.210.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 210-5 

TABLE 23.210.030-1: CCD OVERLAY ZONE ALLOWED USES  

Allowed Use Required Permit 

Libraries UP(PH) 

Judicial Courts AUP 

Museums UP(PH) 

Parks and Playgrounds ZC 

Public Safety and Emergency Services UP(PH) 

Government Agencies and Institutions AUP 

Public Schools/Educational Facilities UP(PH) 

Non-Profit Cultural, Arts, Environmental, 

Community Service and Historical Organizations 
UP(PH) 

Live Performance Theatre UP(PH) 

Public Market UP(PH) 

 

E. Development Standards.9 

1. General. Development standards in the CCD overlay zone are the same as the underlying 

base district except as provided in this subsection.  

2. Building Height. All new buildings and building additions are subject to a maximum 

building height of 50 feet. 

  

 
9 Source:23E.98.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 185 of 511



SECTION  23.210.030   CHAPTER 23.210 – OVERLAY ZONES 

 

PAGE 210-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 186 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  TOC-1 

DIVISION 3: 
CITYWIDE PROVISIONS 

 

23.302: Supplemental Use Regulations 

23.302.010 – Purpose 

23.302.020 – General Use Regulations 

23.302.030 – Temporary Uses and Structures 

23.302.040 – Home Occupations 

23.302.050 – Bed and Breakfast Establishments in Residential Districts 

23.302.060 – Sidewalk Cafe Seating 

23.302.070 – Use-Specific Regulations 

A. Adult-Oriented Businesses 

B. Amusement Devices Arcade 

C. Columbaria 

D. Firearms/Munitions Business 

E. Food Service Establishments 

F. Non-Chartered Financial Institutions 

G. Parking Lot/Structure 

H. Senior Congregate Housing 

I. Smoke Shops 

J. Warehouse Storage for Retail Use 

   

23.304: General Development Standards 

23.304.010 – Purpose 

23.304.020 – Lot Requirements 

23.304.030 –  Setbacks 

23.304.040 –  Building Separation in Residential Districts 

23.304.050 –  Building Height 

23.304.060 –  Accessory Buildings and Enclosed Accessory Structures 

23.304.070 –  Unenclosed Accessory Structures in Residential Districts 

23.304.080 –  Fences 

23.304.090 –  Usable Open Space 

23.304.100 –  Site Features in Residential Districts 

23.304.110 –  Lot Coverage 

23.304.120 –  Non-Residential Districts Abutting a Residential District 

23.304.130 –  Area Plans 

 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 187 of 511



TOC-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.306: Accessory Dwelling Units 

23.306.010 Applicability of Regulations 

23.306.020 Purposes 

23.306.030 Permit Procedures 

 

23.308: Emergency Shelters 

23.308.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.308.020 – Applicability and Nonconformities 

23.308.030 – Required Permits 

23.308.040 – Standards for Emergency Shelters 

 

23.310: Alcoholic Beverage Sales and Service 

23.310.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.310.020 – General Requirements Excluding Incidental Beer and Wine Service 

23.310.030 – Alcoholic Beverage Service When Incidental to Food Service 

 

23.312: Live/Work 

23.312.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.312.020 – Applicability 

23.312.030 – Required Permits 

23.312.040 – Standards for Live/Work 

23.312.050 – Findings 

 

23.314: Short-Term Rentals 

23.314.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.314.020 – Applicability 

23.314.030 – General Regulations 

23.314.040 – Operating Standards and Requirements 

23.314.050 – Violations and Remedies 

 

23.316: Percentage for Public Art on Private Projects 

23.316.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.316.020 – Applicability 

23.316.030 – Definitions 

23.316.040 – General Requirements 

23.316.050 – Required Permits 

23.316.060 – In-Lieu Fees 

23.316.070 – Administrative Regulations (Guidelines) 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 188 of 511



TOC-3   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

 

23.318: Urban Agriculture 

23.318.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.318.020 – Applicability 

23.318.030 – Urban Agriculture Uses and Levels of Discretion 

23.318.040 – Thresholds 

23.318.050 – Operation Standards 

23.318.060 – Complaints 

 

23.320: Cannabis Uses 

23.320.020 – Cannabis Retail 

23.320.030 – Commercial Cannabis Cultivation 

23.320.040 – Cannabis Manufacturers, Testing Labs and Distributors  

23.320.050 – Microbusinesses 

 

23.322: Parking and Loading 

23.322.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.322.020 – Applicability 

23.322.030 – Required Parking Spaces 

23.322.040 – General Requirements 

23.322.050 – Parking Reductions 

23.322.060 – C-DMU Parking and Transportation Demand Management 

23.322.070 – Parking Layout and Design 

23.322.080 – Bicycle Parking 

23.322.090 – On-site Loading Spaces 

23.322.100 – Parking Lots in Residential Districts 

23.322.110 – Transportation Services Fee 

 

23.324: Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings 

23.324.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.324.020 – General 

23.324.030 – Nonconforming Lots 

23.324.040 – Nonconforming Uses 

23.324.050 – Nonconforming Structures and Buildings 

23.324.060 – Exemptions 

 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 189 of 511



TOC-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.326: Demolition and Dwelling Unit Control 

23.326.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.326.020 – General Requirements 

23.326.030 – Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition 

23.326.040 – Eliminating Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use 

23.326.050 – Private Right of Action 

23.326.060 – Elimination of Residential Hotel Rooms 

23.326.070 – Demolitions of Non-Residential Buildings 

23.326.080 – Building Relocations 

23.326.090 – Limitations 

 

23.328: Inclusionary Housing 

23.328.010 – Chapter Purpose and Applicability 

23.328.020 – General Requirements 

23.328.030 – Payment of In-Lieu Fees as an Alternative to Providing Inclusionary Units 

23.328.040 – Requirements Applicable to All Inclusionary Units 

23.328.050 – Inclusionary Unit Requirements for Rental Housing Projects 

23.328.060 – Inclusionary Unit Requirements for Ownership Projects 

23.328.070 – Special Requirements for Avenues Plan Area 

23.328.080 – Administrative Regulations 

23.328.090 – Fees 

 

23.330: Density Bonus 

23.330.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.330.020 – Application Requirements 

23.330.030 – Density Bonus Calculations and Procedures 

23.330.040 – Incentives and Concessions 

23.330.050 – Waivers and Reductions 

23.330.060 – Qualifying Units 

23.330.070 – Regulatory Agreements 

 

23.332: Wireless Communication Facilities 

23.332.010 – Chapter Purpose and Applicability 

23.332.020 – General Requirements 

23.332.030 – Minimum Application Requirements 

23.332.040 – Location Requirements 

23.332.050 – Height Requirements 

23.332.060 – Design Requirements 

23.332.070 – Operation and Maintenance Standards 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 190 of 511

file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730191
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730191
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730192
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730192
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730193
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730193
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730194
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730194
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730195
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730195
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730196
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730196
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730197
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730197
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730198
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730198
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730199
file:///C:/Users/Ben/Dropbox/Open%20Projects/Berkeley%20Zoning/Products/Baseline%20ZO/Current%20Draft%20BZO%20Chapters/Division%203/23.330_Inclusionary%20Housing.docx%23_Toc34730199


TOC-5   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.332.080 – Public Information Requirements 

23.332.090 – Certification Requirements 

23.332.100 – Permits and Findings Required for Approval 

23.332.110 – Cessation of Operations 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 191 of 511



TOC-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 192 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-1 

    

SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 
Sections: 

23.302.010 – Purpose 

23.302.020 – General Use Regulations 

23.302.030 – Temporary Uses and Structures 

23.302.040 – Home Occupations 

23.302.050 – Bed and Breakfast Establishments in Residential Districts 

23.302.060 – Sidewalk Cafe Seating 

23.302.070 – Use-Specific Regulations 

A. Adult-Oriented Businesses 

B. Amusement Devices Arcade 

C. Columbaria 

D. Firearms/Munitions Business 

E. Food Service Establishments 

F. Non-Chartered Financial Institutions 

G. Parking Lot/Structure 

H. Senior Congregate Housing 

I. Smoke Shops 

J. Warehouse Storage for Retail Use 

 

 

Commentary:  This chapter contains regulations that apply generally to all uses (e.g., hours of operation) and 

standards for specific uses that apply citywide or in two or more district categories (e.g., both Commercial and 

Manufacturing Districts).  If a use regulation only applies in one district category, the regulation is located in that 

chapter.  

23.302.010 – PURPOSE 
This chapter establishes land use regulations that apply in addition to regulations in Chapter 23.202– 

23.210 (Zoning Districts). 

23.302.020 – GENERAL USE REGULATIONS 
A. Accessory Uses.1 

1. Long-Term Rental of Rooms in a Dwelling Unit. Renting rooms and/or providing 

board in a dwelling unit to persons not living as a household is permitted by right as an 

 
1 Source: 23C.20.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 193 of 511



SECTION  23.302.020   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

PAGE 302-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

accessory use in all Residential Districts. The room rental/boarding must comply with the 

following requirements: 

a. Minimum time period for rental: 14 days. 

b. Maximum number of renters: four persons.  

c. A rented room: 

i. Must be fully integrated within the dwelling unit such that it has interior access to the 

rest of the dwelling unit; 

ii. May not have a separate kitchen; and 

iii. May not have separate assigned street addresses. 

d. All requirements for off-street parking must be met. 

2. Non-Processed Edibles. The sale or donation of non-processed edibles grown or raised 

on the premises is permitted by right as an accessory use in all residential districts.  All sale 

and donation activities must comply with the following requirements: 

a. Sales and donations must be directly to the end consumer of the non-processed edibles. 

b. Sales and donation-related activities must occur between the hours of 8am and 8pm. 

c. Sales and donation-related activities must be located either indoors or in an area 

generally shielded from view from the public right-of-way to the extent practical based 

on the accessibility of the subject lot. 

d. The sale or donation of non-processed edibles may not involve hazardous materials or 

processes or create offensive or objectionable noise, vibration, odors, heat, dirt, or 

electrical disturbance perceptible by the average person beyond the lot line of the subject 

lot. 

e. The sale or donation of non-processed edibles may not involve more than ten customer 

visits to the premises in one day. 

3. Chair Massage. 

a. Chair massage is permitted by right as an accessory use when incidental to a retail use in 

the commercial districts and the MU-R district. 

b. No additional parking is required. 

4. Commercial Uses in Residential Districts. A commercial use is allowed in a Residential 

District as an accessory use only if the use is specifically allowed by the Zoning Ordinance.  

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 194 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.020  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-3 

B. Hours of Operation. 

1. Allowed Hours.2 Table 23.302.020-1 shows allowed hours of operation for commercial 

uses in the commercial districts and the MU-R district. 

2. Exceptions. The City may allow extended hours of operations with the approval of a 

permit as shown in Table 23.302.020-1. 

3. Alcohol Sales in C-T District.3 A Use Permit is required in the C-T district for a business 

selling alcohol for off-site consumption to remain open past midnight.  The Use Permit 

may be approved only if the business’s ABC license does not require sales of alcohol for 

off-site consumption to cease by midnight. The ZAB may approve the Use Permit only 

upon finding that the extended hours will not generate excessive noise, traffic or parking 

problems affecting the well-being of the residents of the district. 

TABLE 23.302.020-1: HOURS OF OPERATION 

District Allowed Hours of Operation 
Permit Required 
to Extend Hours 

C-C, C-U 7:00 a.m. – 12:00 midnight AUP 

C-N, C-E, C-NS, C-SO, C-W 
outside nodes 

7:00 a.m. – 11:00 p.m. UP 

C-W nodes 6:00 a.m. – 12:00 midnight with Zoning Certificate UP 

C-SA 
7:00 a.m. – 12:00 midnight Sundays through Thursdays 
7:00 a.m. – 12:00 Fridays and Saturday 

UP 

C-T between Bancroft Way and 
the north side of Dwight Way 

24 hours per day 7 days a week N/A 

C-T between the south side of 
Dwight Way and Parker Street 

7:00 a.m. – 12:00 midnight AUP 

C-DMU 6:00 a.m. and 2:00 a.m. AUP 

MU-R 6:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. AUP 

4. C-T District Findings.4 The Zoning Officer may approve an AUP to extend hours of 

operation in the C-T district upon finding that the extended hours will not generate 

excessive noise, traffic, or parking problems affecting the well-being of the residents of the 

district. 

5. Hours of Operation Defined.5 

 
2 Source: Use Limitations sections in commercial district chapters. Removes 23E.56.060.A.1 calling for Planning 
Commission to review the allowable operating hours north of Dwight Way. Clarifies 23E.60.060A requires Use Permit, 
not Variance, for extended hours of operation.  
3 Source: 23E.56.060.B & 23E.56.090.C 
4 Source: 23E.56.090.E 
5 Source: 23E.16.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 195 of 511



SECTION  23.302.020   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. For retail or customer-serving office commercial uses, hours of operation are those times 

that the business is open to customer access. 

b. For food service establishments, hours of operation include the time that the business is 

open for customer access to the departure of the last patron. These limitations do not 

apply to: 

i. The delivery, maintenance, security, product preparation and other pre-opening 

activities, and 

ii. Cleanup, shutdown, and other post-closure activities which do not involve presence 

of customers. 

c. For other ommercial and manufacturing uses which do not involve customer access, 

hours of operation are those times that employees are present who are engaged in non-

maintenance or security activities. 

C. Indoor Storage of Goods.6 In the Commercial Districts, an AUP is required for the indoor 

storage of goods as an incidental use occupying over 25 percent of the gross floor area. 

D. Live Entertainment. 

1. Permits Required.7 Live entertainment incidental to a permitted use is allowed as shown in 

Table 23.302.020-2. 

TABLE 23.302.020-2: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS – LIVE ENTERTAINMENT 

Zones 

Permit Required 

Amplified Unamplified 

C-C, C-U, C-SA, C-T, C-
SO, C-DMU 

AUP 

ZC 
C-N, C-NS, C-W UP(PH) 

C-E Prohibited 

M, MM Prohibited 

MU-LI, MU-R UP(PH) 

 

2. Allowed Activities.  

a. In the S-O district, food service establishments may have no live entertainment other 

than unamplified music, poetry reading, comedy or other quiet activities.8 

b. In the C-NS district, food service establishments may have no live entertainment other 

than unamplified background music, unless a Use Permit is obtained. 9 

 
6 Source: Allowed use tables in 23E commercial district chapters. 
7 Source: Allowed use tables in 23E commercial district chapters. 
8 Source: 23E.60.070.E.2; 23E.60.070.D1 
9 Source: 23E.48.060.D.2 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 196 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-5 

E. Outdoor Uses. 

1. Applicability.10 This subsection applies to outdoor uses including but not limited to exterior 

service windows, outside automatic teller machines, and the outside storage of goods, 

containers and/or materials. 

2. General.11 Commercial and manufacturing uses shall be conducted solely within an interior 

of a building unless: 

a. The permit as required by Paragraph 3 (Permits Required) is obtained; or 

b. the outdoor use is specifically allowed by the Zoning Ordinance. 

3. Permits Required.12 Table 23.302.020-3 shows permits required for uses outside of a 

building in the Commercial and Manufacturing Districts.  

TABLE 23.302.020-3: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS – OUTDOOR USES 

District/Use Characteristics [1] 
Permit 

Required 

All Commercial Districts Except for C-W  

Not abutting a residential district AUP 

Abutting a residential district UP(PH) 

C-W   

Not abutting a residential district and less than 10,000 s. ft. AUP 

Abutting a residential district UP(PH) 

10,000 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

M, MM [2]  

Less than 20,000 sq. ft. ZC 

20,000 sq. ft. or more AUP 

MU-LI  

Less than 20,000 sq. ft. ZC 

20,000 to 30,000 sq. ft. AUP 

More than 30,000 sq. ft. UP(PH) 

MU-R  

Not abutting a residential district AUP 

Abutting a residential district UP(PH) 

Notes: 

[1] Size is measured as the lot area of the outdoor activity or storage 

[2] In the M and MM district permits are required only for activity or storage not ancillary to a permitted use.  

 

 
10 Source: 23E.16.020 second sentence. 
11 Source: 23E.16.020 first sentence. 
12 Source: Allowed use tables in 23E commercial district chapters. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 197 of 511



SECTION  23.302.030   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

4. C-W District.13 In the C-W district, uses outside of a building must be permitted or 

incidental to permitted use in the district. 

5. M, MM, MU-LI Districts.14 Outside uses in the M, MM, and MU-LI districts may not abut 

a residential district.  

23.302.030 – TEMPORARY USES AND STRUCTURES 
A. Permitted By Right. 

1. Temporary Uses.15 The following temporary uses are permitted by right: 

a. Using a dwelling, school, church, community center, or other facility as a polling or 

voting place for an election conducted by the City or other government agency. 

b. Conducting a garage, yard, or rummage sale on a residential property or a block sale of 

several properties. A sale may not exceed two days and is limited to one sale in any 

month’s period of time. 

c. Temporary sidewalk sales conducted adjacent to, and in conjunction with, an approved 

commercial retail lease space, when all other City regulations are met. 

d. The use of a property as temporary parking during football games in the University of 

California Memorial Stadium under the provisions of Ordinance # 2435-N.S. 

e. A temporary retail use where: 

i. The temporary sales are on the same property with an established commercial 

business holding a valid City business license; and 

ii. The temporary sales conform with the approved permit for the commercial business.  

2. Temporary Structures.16 The following accessory and temporary structures are permitted 

by right as long as they do not alter the character of, and are in keeping with the purposes 

of the district in which they are located: 

a. Lines, wires, poles and devices to transmit electricity, telephone/telecommunications or 

cable television, including pipelines, conduits and appurtenances to containing such 

wires and devices. Allowed activities include installing, maintaining, undergrounding, and 

repairing such facilities. A Use Permit or AUP is required for wireless 

telecommunication antennas other than those located within the public right-of-way. 

b. Pipelines or conduits and appurtenances to transport oil, gas, sewage or water. 

 
13 Source: Table 23E.64.030 
14 Source: Table 23E.72.030, Table 23E.76.030 
15 Source: 23C.20.020; 23B.40.010.B 
16 Source: 23C.20.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 198 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.040  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-7 

c. Temporary construction offices, scaffolding, utility connections, on-site construction 

material yards and/or debris containers for not more than the time period authorized in 

a valid building permit. 

B. AUP Required.17 

1. When Required. An AUP is required to establish, maintain, or operate a temporary use or 

structure not identified in Subsection A (Permitted By Right) above. 

2. Scope of Approval.  An AUP for a temporary use or structure applies only to the 

circumstances of the temporary use or structure existing at the time the application is granted. 

3. Seasonal Product Sales. Temporary seasonal product sales activity may not exceed a 45-day 

period and may not be established in any Residential district.  

4. Time Period. 

a. The AUP shall specify the time period for the temporary use or structure, including a 

required ending date. 

b. A time extension is not allowed unless approved by the Zoning Officer.  

5. Findings. To approve the AUP, the Zoning Officer must make the findings in Section 

23.406.030.F (Findings for Approval). When make this finding, the Zoning Officer shall 

consider whether the temporary nature of the use or structure will render it not detrimental. 

6. Appeals. 

a. An AUP decision for seasonal product sales of pumpkins and Christmas trees, including 

the temporary use of a structure for an office, may not be appealed.  

b. All other AUP decisions for a temporary uses and structures may be appealed as 

provided in Chapter 23.410 (Appeals and Certification). 

C. Violations.18 Permits for temporary uses may be revoked for non-compliance with any 

conditions of approval and the Zoning Officer may issue an immediate cease and desist order. 

23.302.040 – HOME OCCUPATIONS 
A. Definitions.19 

1. Home Occupation. A home occupation is a business use conducted on residential property 

which is incidental and secondary to the residential use. 

2. Low Impact Home Occupation. A low impact home occupation is a home occupation 

that does not involve customer visits. 

 
17 Source: 23B.40 
18 Source: 23B.60.010.B 
19 Source: 23F.04.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 199 of 511



SECTION  23.302.040   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-8   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. Teaching-Related Home Occupation. A teaching-related home occupation is a home 

occupation that provides academic and/or artistic tutoring or lessons, excluding schools, 

studios, and conservatories. 

B. Permits Required.20 

1. Table 23.302.040-1 shows permits required for home occupations. 

 

TABLE 23.302.040-1: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS – HOME OCCUPATIONS 

Home Occupation 
Permit 

Required 

Low impact home occupation 
No permit 
required 

Teaching-related home occupation AUP 

A home occupation that involves the storage, service, repair, 
handling or transport of goods or products on or at the residence 

UP(PH) 

A home occupation that is not a teaching-related home occupation 
that involve customer visits 

UP(PH) 

 

2. A lessee in possession of a property may file an application for a home occupation without 

the property owner’s the consent. In such a case, the City shall notify the owner of the 

application.21 

C. General Provisions.22 

1. Where Allowed. A home occupation is allowed in any dwelling unit or group living 

accommodation room. 

2. Incidental Use. A home occupation in compliance with this section is considered a lawful 

incidental use of a dwelling unit and is not considered a change of use of the dwelling unit.  

D. Standards for All Home Occupations.23 The following standard apply to all home 

occupations. 

1. A home occupation must: 

a. Pay a gross receipts tax pursuant to the City’s business license tax ordinance in Municipal 

Code Chapter 9.04 (Business Licenses); 

b. Be conducted entirely within the dwelling unit or group living accommodation room; 

 
20 Source: 23C.16.020 first sentence; 23C.16.030 first sentence; 23C.16.030.B   
21 Source: 23B.24.020B 
22 Source: 23C.16.010.A & 23C.16.020 first sentence. 
23 Source: 23C.16.020 & 030. Consolidates standards that apply to all home occupations. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 200 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.040  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-9 

c. Be operated only by the inhabitants of the dwelling unit or group living accommodation 

room; and 

d. Occupy less than 400 square feet and less than 20 percent of the dwelling unit or group 

living accommodation room. 

2. A home occupation may not: 

a. Involve a firearm/munitions business;  

b. Involve hazardous materials or processes; or 

c. Create offensive or objectionable noise, vibration, odors, heat, dirt or electrical 

disturbance perceptible by the average person beyond the lot line or party walls of multi-

unit building, of the subject premises. 

3. A home occupation in the ES-R district may not involve customer visits. 

4. A home occupation may involve the storage, service, repair, handling or transport of goods 

or products on or at the residence only with ZAB approval of a Use Permit. 

E. Standards for Teaching-Related Home Occupations.24 The following standards apply only 

to teaching-related home occupations: 

1. A teaching-related home occupation must operate within the hours of 10 a.m. and 10 p.m. 

2. A teaching-related home occupation may not involve more than four students at a time. 

F. Complaints and Imposition of Conditions.25 

1. Complaints regarding low-impact home occupations may be made to the Zoning Officer 

for review and enforcement action. 

2. If the Zoning Officer receives a written complaint with factual information on detrimental 

effects to the neighborhood from a home occupation, the ZAB may schedule a public 

hearing to review the home occupation. After such hearing the ZAB may approve a Use 

Permit to impose conditions on the home occupation as necessary to prevent detrimental 

effects or it may initiate revocation proceedings. 

G. Home Occupation in Rental Unit.26 

1. The occupant of a rental unit may submit a home occupation application without the 

property owner’s consent. The City may accept the application without the property 

owner’s signature. 

2. If a home occupation requires a Use Permit, the property owner shall be given notice of the 

proposed home occupation in conformance with Section 23.404.040 (Public Notice).  

 
24 Source: 23C.16.030. Removes standards that apply to all home occupation, which are identified in separate section. 
25 Source: 23C.16.060 
26 Source: 23C.16.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 201 of 511



SECTION  23.302.050   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-10   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

H. Medical Cannabis Residential Cultivation.27 A Use Permit is not required for qualified 

patients to cultivate medical cannabis in their residence or on their residential property.  

I. MU-R District.28 To approve a Use Permit to establish or expand a home occupation with 

customer visits and/or handling of goods, the ZAB must find that:  

1. The degree of customer visits and/or handling of goods, taken as a whole, will not cause a 

significant detrimental impact on the availability of parking spaces in the location the home 

occupation is being established; and 

2. If the proposed home occupation will require loading space on a regular basis, such loading 

space will be available on the subject property, or that the use of on-street loading space will 

not cause a significant detrimental impact on the availability of parking spaces or on traffic 

flow in the location the home occupation is being established. 

23.302.050 – BED AND BREAKFAST ESTABLISHMENTS IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS29 
A. Section Purpose. 

1. The purpose of this section is to sanction the time-limited continued operation of bed and 

breakfast establishments (B&Bs) in residential districts that meet the requirements in this 

section. 

2. This section is intended solely to alleviate the hardship that might occur if the owners of 

B&Bs were required to cease operation immediately, as would otherwise be required by the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

3. The purpose of this section is not to permanently legalize such B&Bs.  

B. Continued Operation  

1. Eligibility. B&Bs in operation in Berkeley as of December 13, 2003 are eligible for 

continued operation subject to this section if, and only so long as, they satisfy the following 

conditions: 

a. The B&B has been in consistent operation since January 1, 2003. 

b. The building or buildings of which the B&B consists are legally constructed and comply 

with all applicable building, fire and housing code requirements, or are brought into 

compliance with those requirements within a reasonable time, as determined by the City. 

c. The B&B complies with all laws related to food service and food handling. 

d. There is no City record of complaints about the B&B within the three years prior to 

January 1, 2003. 

 
27 Source: 23C.16.060 
28 Source: 23.84.090.G 
29 Source: 23C.06 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 202 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.050  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-11 

2. Application. In order to be granted continued operation under this section, owners of 

eligible B&Bs must: 

a. Apply for continued operation no later than 90 days after the effective date of this 

section; 

b. Identify all owners and operators of the B&B; and 

c. Pay all transient occupancy and business license taxes, penalties and interest due and 

owing, as determined by the City Council. 

C. Regulations. B&Bs that are allowed to continue in operation under Subsection B (Continued 

Operation) above shall comply with the following requirements. 

1. The owner of the property on which the B&B is located must live there as his or her primary 

residence and must be the primary operator of the B&B. 

2. No part of a B&B may be rented for social events or functions. 

3. A B&B may not be expanded beyond the number of rooms or units in existence as of 

January 1, 2003. 

4. Food service, if provided by the operator, may be provided only to paying guests. 

5. A B&B shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinance and regulations concerning the 

preparation and service of food. 

6. A B&B shall comply with all applicable disability access requirements. 

7. A B&B shall pay all transient occupancy and business license taxes as they become due. 

D. Determinations by City Manager. 

1. The City Manager or his/her designee shall make the determinations required by this section, 

and his or her decision shall be final. 

2. The City Manager may give applicants under this section a reasonable period, but not to 

exceed six months, in which to bring the B&B into compliance with the requirements of 

Subsections B (Continued Operation) and C (Regulations). 

E. Status of B&B Uses Under This Section. 

1. Any continued operation allowed under this section does not constitute a permit and shall 

not run with the land, but is limited to the owner(s)/operator(s) thereof identified under 

Subsection B.2 (Application) and is subject to the requirements in this section. 

2. A B&B sanctioned by this section shall be treated as a lawful nonconforming use, subject to 

automatic termination of the B&B use as provided in this section. 

3. The owner shall file a deed restriction with the County Recorder, in a form approved by the 

City’s Zoning Officer, notifying purchasers of the effect of this section.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 203 of 511



SECTION  23.302.060   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-12   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

F. Future Regulations Applicable. By seeking and accepting continued operation under this 

section, and thereafter operating a B&B, owners of B&Bs expressly agree that they will be 

subject to any and all additional regulations that may be adopted by the City to permit and 

regulate new B&Bs, to the extent the City so requires. 

G. Automatic Repeal. If the limitation of Subsection E (Status of B&B Uses Under This Section) 

above is declared unlawful or invalidated by any court of competent jurisdiction, this section 

shall be deemed automatically repealed, and all B&B uses sanctioned by it shall immediately 

terminate. 

23.302.060 – SIDEWALK CAFE SEATING30 
A. Section Purpose and Intent. 

1. This section establishes a process to terminate an AUP previously issued for sidewalk cafe 

seating and identifies new permits required for this use. 

2. It is the intent of the City to discontinue issuance of new and terminate existing AUPs for 

sidewalk cafe seating because the City did not intend to create a land use entitlement which 

ran with the land for this use, which occurs on the public right-of-way. The City also intends 

to eliminate the discretionary aspect of permit issuance for sidewalk cafe seating and to 

simplify the permit process by incorporating specific, identifiable standards for issuance of 

permits. 

B. Termination of AUPs for Sidewalk Cafe Seating. 

1. Automatic Termination. Without any action required by the City, an AUP for sidewalk cafe 

seating terminates upon: 

a. The abandonment, revocation, or termination of the food service establishment which 

the sidewalk cafe seating serves; 

b. The replacement of the food service establishment with another use; or 

c. The transfer of ownership of the food service establishment. 

2. Termination by Zoning Officer. 

a. After providing reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard, the Zoning Officer 

may terminate an AUP for sidewalk cafe seating upon determining that the permit holder 

has not complied with the terms of the AUP or any applicable requirement of the 

Zoning Ordinance.  

b. A decision by the Zoning Officer to terminate an AUP for sidewalk cafe seating may be 

appealed in accordance with Chapter 23.410 (Appeals and Certification). 

C. New Permit Required. 

 
30 Source: 23E.24.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 204 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-13 

1. After an AUP for sidewalk cafe seating is terminated, the sidewalk cafe seating may continue 

or resume only after the food service establishment obtains a permit under Municipal Code 

Chapter 14.48 (Miscellaneous Use of Streets and Sidewalks). 

2. Any sidewalk cafe seating that does not obtain required permits is a prohibited encroachment 

under Municipal Code Chapter 16.18 (Right-Of-Way Encroachments and Encroachment 

Permits).  

23.302.070 – USE-SPECIFIC REGULATIONS 
A. Adult-Oriented Businesses. 

1. General Limitations. 31 An adult-oriented business may not be established: 

a. Within 300 feet of the boundary of a Residential District, as measured along the public 

right-of-way;  

b. Within a radius of 1,000 feet from any other adult-oriented business; or 

c. Within a radius of 600 feet of any public park, public health clinic, public library, school 

or religious assembly use. 

2. District Limitations.32 Adult-oriented businesses are prohibited: 

a. On lots with frontage on San Pablo Avenue in the C-W district; and 

b. On public-serving frontages in the C-DMU district. 

B. Amusement Devices Arcade. 

1. Distance from Schools.33 An amusement device arcade may not be established within a 

radius of 600 feet of a primary or secondary school.  

2. Incidental Use.34  Table 23.302.070-1 shows permits required and maximum number of 

amusement devices allowed as an incidental use in the non-residential districts.  

  

 
31 Source: 23E.16.030 
32 Table 23E.64.030; Table 23E.68.030 
33 Source: 23E.16.050 
34 Source: Allowed use tables in Title 23E.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 205 of 511



SECTION  23.302.070   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-14   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.302.070-1: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS – AMUSEMENT DEVICES AS INCIDENTAL USE 

District 
Permit 

Required 
Maximum 
Number 

C-C, C-U, C-N, C-T, C-W AUP 3 

C-E, C-NS, C-SA, C-SO UP(PH) 3 

MU-LI AUP No max. 

MU-R AUP 3 

M, MM Not allowed 

C. Columbaria.35 Columbaria require the permits shown in Table 23.302.070-2. 

TABLE 23.302.070-2: COLUMBARIA PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

Project Permit Required 

Columbaria that are incidental to a community and 
institutional use, limited to 400 niches, no more than 5 
percent of the subject property area, and located in the 
main building.   

ZC 

All other columbaria AUP 

 

D. Firearms/Munitions Business.36 In all districts, a firearms/munition business is prohibited on 

a property containing a residential use. 

E. Food Service Establishments. 

1. Maximum Size in R-SMU.37 Food service establishments in the R-SMU district may not 

exceed 1,200 square feet. 

2. Permits Required in Commercial Districts.38 Table 23.302.070-3 shows permits required 

for food service establishments in the commercial districts.  

  

 
35 Source: Title 23D and 23E allowed use tables.  
36 Source: Title 23E allowed use tables. Clarifies that “property devoted to a residential use” in existing code means 
property “containing” a residential use. 
37 Source: Table 23D.52.030 
38 Source: Title 23E allowed use tables. 
39 Source: Table 23E.40.030; Table 23E.40.030; Table 23E.48.030; Table 23E.52.030; Table 23E.60.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 206 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-15 

TABLE 23.202.070-3: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS - FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS 

District/Use Size 
Permit 

Required 

C-C, C-U, C-T, C-W  

Under 1,500 sq. ft ZC 

1,500 sq. ft. or more AUP 

C-N, C-NS, C-SA, C-SO  

Under 1,000 sq. ft ZC 

1,000 sq. ft. or more AUP 

C-E  AUP [1] 

C-DMU  

Under 3,000 sq. ft outside the Arts 
District Overlay 

ZC 

3,000 sq. ft. or more AUP 

Any size within the Arts District 
Overlay 

AUP [2] 

Notes: 

[1] All food service uses in the C-E district require an AUP and may not be considered as an incidental use except when accessory to a food product 

store. 

[2] See 23.204.130.D.3 for required findings. 

 

 

3. Notification of Decision.39 Food service establishments requiring an AUP in the C-N, C-

E, C-NS, C-SA, C-SO districts must provide public notification of decision (NOD) within a 

300-foot radius of the subject property.  

4. Carry Out Limitations in C-U District.40 Food service establishments in the C-U district 

that exclusively sell food for offsite consumption are prohibited at any location on University 

Avenue between Oxford Street and Martin Luther King Jr. Way until a Downtown Retail 

Plan is adopted by the City Council. 

5. Outdoor Cafe Seating.41 

a. Outdoor cafe seating on private property outside of the public right-of-way is allowed in 

the commercial districts with the following permits: 

i. Zoning Certificate when seating does not abut a residential district. 

ii. AUP when seating abuts a residential district. 

 
39 Source: Table 23E.40.030; Table 23E.40.030; Table 23E.48.030; Table 23E.52.030; Table 23E.60.030 
40 Source: Table 23E.36.03041 Source: Allowed use tables in Sub-title 23E. Clarifies this applies only to outdoor seating 
outside of the public right-of-way. 
41 Source: Allowed use tables in Sub-title 23E. Clarifies this applies only to outdoor seating outside of the public right-of-
way. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 207 of 511



SECTION  23.302.070   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-16   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. Outdoor seating is prohibited for food service establishments in the MU-LI District.42 

c. Sidewalk cafe seating within the public right-of-way is subject to 23.302.060 (Sidewalk 

Cafe Seating). 

6. Building Openings – C-E and C-NS Districts.43 Food service establishments in the C-E 

and C-NS districts may have no openings, other than fixed windows and required fire exits, 

within 50 feet of a residential district. 

7. C-W District Requirements.44 

a. Food service drive-through is prohibited on properties fronting San Pablo Avenue. 

b. To approve a Use Permit for a food service establishment on a lot with frontage on San 

Pablo Avenue, the ZAB must find that: 

i. The project does not conflict with the goals and policies of the C-W district;  

ii. The location, size, appearance and signage of the project will not adversely affect the 

San Pablo Avenue corridor;  

iii. The project supports pedestrian-oriented development;  

iv. The project is designed to protect the residential character of surrounding 

neighborhoods from the adverse impacts of fast food development, including, but 

not limited to increased traffic, litter, and noise; and 

v. For projects which include construction of new buildings, the project design: 

1. Provides intensity of development which does not underutilize the property; 

especially at or near intersections of major streets;  

2. Provides pedestrian scale and siting; and 

3. Incorporates continuity in street facades. 

8. Permits Required in Manufacturing Districts. Table 23.302.070-4 shows permits required 

for food service establishments in the manufacturing districts. 

  

 
42 Source: Table 23E.80.030 
43 Source: 23E.44.070.D.1; 23E.48.070.D.2 
44 Source: Table 23E.64.030; 23E.64.090.H 
45 Source: 23E.80.090.F; 23E.84.090.F 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 208 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-17 

TABLE 23.302.070-4: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS - FOOD SERVICE ESTABLISHMENTS 

Use Type and Size 

District 

M MM MU-LI MU-R 

Incidental Use     

Under 20,000 sq. ft. AUP [1] AUP [1,2] AUP [1] AUP [1] 

20,000 sq. ft. or more - - - AUP 

Carry Out Food Service (Primary Use)     

Under 5,000 sq. ft. - - AUP AUP 

5,000 sq. ft. or more - - UP UP 

Quick Service Restaurant (Primary Use)     

Under 5,000 sq. ft. - - AUP AUP 

5,000 sq. ft. or more - - UP UP 

Full-Service Restaurant (Primary Use) - - UP UP 

Notes: 

[1] Outdoor food service is prohibited. 

[2] Limited to food or beverage for immediate consumption. 

 

9. MU-LI and MU-R District – Findings.45 

a. To approve an AUP or Use Permit to establish or expand a food service establishment 

in the MU-LI or MU-R district, the review authority must find that the establishment of 

the use, given its size, location, physical appearance and other relevant characteristics, 

will not have a significant detrimental impact on the industrial character of the area. 

b. To approve an AUP for a food service establishment less than 5,000 square feet, the 

Zoning Officer must find that a substantial portion of the food consists of goods 

manufactured on site. 

F. Non-Chartered Financial Institutions.46 

1. No more than four non-chartered financial institutions are permitted in the city. 

2. Non-chartered financial institutions may not be located within a radius of 1,320 feet of 

another non-chartered financial institutions 

G. Parking Lot/Structure. 

1. Permits Required.47 Table 23.302.070-5 shows required permits for the exclusive or primary 

use of a lot for off-street parking spaces. 

  

 
45 Source: 23E.80.090.F; 23E.84.090.F 
46 Source: 23E.16.080 
47 Source: Allowed use tables in Title 23D and 23E. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 209 of 511



SECTION  23.302.070   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-18   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.302.070-5: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS – PARKING LOTS/STRUCTURES 

District Permit Required 

Residential Districts  

R-3 Use Permit for all parking lots and structures. [1] 

R-S, R-SMU Use Permit for parking structures only. Parking lots are prohibited. 

All other residential 
districts 

Use Permit for all parking lots and structures. 

Commercial Districts  

C-C, C-U 
Zoning Certificate for parking lots and structures with 5 spaces or fewer. Use Permit for more than 
5 spaces. 

C-SO AUP for parking lots and structures with 5 spaces or fewer. Use Permit for more than 5 spaces. 

C-DMU 
AUP for parking lots with 8 spaces or fewer. Use Permit for all parking structures. Lots with more 
than 8 spaces prohibited. 

C-N, C-E, C-NS, C-SA Use Permit for all parking lots and structures. 

C-T Use Permit for all parking structures. All parking lots prohibited. 

C-W 
AUP for parking lots and structures with 10 spaces or fewer. Use Permit for parking lots and 
structures with more than 10 spaces. 

Manufacturing 
Districts 

 

M, MM 
AUP for parking lots and structures with 10 or fewer spaces exclusively for uses in the district. Use 
Permit for parking lots and structures with any number of spaces not exclusively for uses in the 
district. 

MU-LI 

Zoning Certificate for parking lots and structures with 10 or fewer spaces exclusively for uses in the 
district. AUP for parking lots and structures with 11 spaces or more exclusively for uses in the 
district. Use Permit for parking lots and structures with any number of spaces not exclusively for 
uses in the district. 

MU-R 
Zoning Certificate for parking lots and structures exclusively for uses in the district. Use Permit for 
parking lots and structures not exclusively for uses in the district. 

Notes: 

[1] Parking lots and structures in the R-3 district are prohibited within the Southside Plan area 

 

2. Residential District Standards. See 23.322.100 (Parking Lots in Residential Districts) for 

standards that apply to the exclusive or primary use of a lot for off-street parking spaces in a 

residential district. 

H. Senior Congregate Housing.48 Table 23.302.070-6 shows permits required for senior 

congregate housing. 

  

 
48 Source: Title 23D and 23E allowed use tables. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 210 of 511



CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS  SECTION  23.302.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 302-19 

TABLE 23.302.070-6: SENIOR CONGREGATE HOUSING PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

Project Permit Required 

Change of use from an existing dwelling unit to 
accommodate six or fewer people 

ZC 

Change of use from an existing dwelling unit to 
accommodate seven or more people 

AUP 

New construction to accommodate any number of people UP(PH) 

 

I. Smoke Shops.49 In all districts, smoke shops are prohibited within 1,400 feet of a school or 

public park. 

J. Warehouse Storage for Retail Use. 

1. In all districts where retail uses are allowed, on-site storage of goods is allowed as an 

accessory use to a primary retail use on the lot.50  

2. The storage of goods for a contiguous and directly accessible retail space is allowed in the 

MU-LI and MU-R districts subject to the following: 

a. An AUP is required for storage 3,000 square feet or less; a Use Permit is required for 

storage more than 3,000 square feet.  

b. Except for food product stores in the MU-LI district, the storage is permitted only for 

uses within the district. Storage for retail uses wholly or partially outside the district is 

prohibited. 51 

  

 
49 Source: Title 23E allowed use tables. 
50 New. Codifies existing interpretation. 
51 Source: Table 23E.80.030; Table 23E.84.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 211 of 511



SECTION  23.302.070   CHAPTER 23.302 – SUPPLEMENTAL USE REGULATIONS 

 

PAGE 302-20   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 212 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-1 

    

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT 

STANDARDS 
Sections: 

23.304.010 – Purpose 

23.304.020 – Lot Requirements 

23.304.030 – Setbacks 

23.304.040 – Building Separation in Residential Districts 

23.304.050 – Building Height 

23.304.060 – Accessory Buildings and Enclosed Accessory Structures 

23.304.070 – Unenclosed Accessory Structures in Residential Districts 

23.304.080 – Fences 

23.304.090 – Usable Open Space 

23.304.100 – Site Features in Residential Districts 

23.304.110 – Dormers 

23.304.120 – Lot Coverage 

23.304.130 – Non-Residential Districts Abutting a Residential District 

23.304.140 – Area Plans 

 

Commentary: This chapter consolidates into one chapter development standards that are primarily non-district 
specific. Development standards that are district specific (e.g., building height, setback, lot coverage) are found in the 
district sections in Division II chapters.   

23.304.010 – PURPOSE 
This chapter contains development standards that apply generally in Berkeley. 

23.304.020 – LOT REQUIREMENTS 
A. All Districts. 

1. Lot Changes.1 A lot may not be subdivided or reduced in size and a lot line may not be 

adjusted or redrawn in a manner that conflicts with the Zoning Ordinance or: 

a. Reduces the lot area, lot width, or lot depth below the district minimum requirement; 

b. Reduces the area per dwelling unit, area for off-street parking spaces, or usable open 

space area below the district minimum requirement; 

 
1 Source: 23A.12.020.A; 23D.04.010.A 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 213 of 511



SECTION  23.304.150  CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

PAGE 304-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

c. Reduces the setback or driveway dimension below minimum district requirements for 

any existing building; or 

d. Creates a building site where setbacks or driveways for a new building would require a 

Use Permit or Variance. 

2. Transactions Contrary to Minimum Lot Size Requirements.2 Any deed of conveyance, 

sale or contract to sell made contrary to the minimum lot size requirements of the Zoning 

Ordinance is voidable at the sole option of the grantee, buyer or person contracting to buy, 

his or her heirs, personal representative or trustee in insolvency or bankruptcy within one 

year after the date of execution of the deed of conveyance, sale, or contract. 

3. Front Lot Line Determination for Corner Lots. 3 For the purpose of determining lot 

frontage and setback requirements, the shorter of the two intersecting lot lines along the 

rights-of-way of a corner lot is considered the front of the lot. For lots with equal frontage, 

or for irregularly shaped corner lots, the Zoning Officer shall designate the front lot line in a 

manner to best promote the orderly development of the immediate area. 

4. Condominium Lots.4 For condominium projects with a common area, all buildings and the 

common area together are treated as a single lot for the purpose of calculating minimum lot 

size, setback, density, FAR, coverage, usable open space and off-street parking requirements. 

5. Projections Over Lot Lines.5 A building or structure may not project over a lot line except 

that: 

a. Awnings and other architectural features may project over a lot line into the public right-

of-way, and  

b. Fences may be erected on shared lot lines.  

B. Residential Districts.6 

1. Lot Line Designations for Flag and Irregular Lots. The Zoning Officer shall designate 

the front, side, and rear lot line for flag lots and irregular interior lots in a manner to best 

protect light, air, and privacy.  

23.304.030 – SETBACKS 
A. All Districts.7 A building or structure may not project into a required setback area except as 

specifically permitted by the Zoning Ordinance. 

B. Residential Districts.  

 
2 Source: 23A.12.020.B; 23D.04.010.B 
3 Source: 23D.04.010.D and 23E.04.010.B 
4 Source: 23D.04.010.C and 23E.04.010.A 
5 Source: 23A.12.040 
6 Source: 23D.04.010.A,B,E 
7 Source: 23A.12.030.A. Deletes 23A.12.030.A as a minimum setback area on a lot may apply to more than one building.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 214 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-3 

1. Corner Lots with a Rear Lot Line Abutting a Key Lot.8 For corner lots in the R-1, R-1A, R-2 

and R-2A districts with a rear lot line abutting a key lot, the minimum street side setback is 

either: 

a. One-half the front setback required or existing on the key lot, whichever is less; or 

b. Four feet if the corner lot maintains 50 feet or more rear setback. 

2. Setback Reductions.9 Lot line setback reductions are only permitted as shown in Table 

23.304.030-1. Otherwise, they are prohibited. 

 

.  

 
8 Source: 23D.16.070.D.3; 23D.20.070.D.3; 23D.28.070.D.3; 23D.32.070.D.3 
9 Consolidates setbacks reduction provisions in 23D district chapters. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 215 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  SECTION  23.304.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE | FEBRUARY 2020 DRAFT          PAGE 304-4 

TABLE 23.304.030-1: ALLOWED SETBACK REDUCTIONS IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

District Where 

Allowed 
When Allowed 

Minimum Setback 

with Reduction 

Required 

Permit 
Required Additional Findings [1] 

Front Setback Reductions 

ES-R On any lot No minimum (0 ft.) UP(PH) [2] 

The reduced setback is: 1) necessary to allow economic use of property due 

to the size, shape of the lot or the topography of the site; and 2) consistent 

with the ES-R district purpose. 

R-S; R-SMU On any lot No minimum (0 ft.) AUP 
The reduced setback is appropriate given the setbacks and architectural 

design of surrounding buildings 

R-SMU 

For either: 1) a main building 

with dwelling units or group 

living accommodations; or 2) 

any building north of Durant 

Avenue  

No minimum (0 ft.) AUP 
The reduced setback is appropriate given the setbacks and architectural 

design of surrounding buildings 

Rear Setback Reductions 

ES-R [3] On any lot No minimum (0 ft.) UP(PH) [2] 

The reduced setback is: 1) necessary to allow economic use of property due 

to the size, shape of the lot or the topography of the site; and 2) consistent 

with the ES-R district purpose.  

R-1, R-1A On a lot less than 100 ft. deep 20% of lot depth ZC None 

R-1A To construct a dwelling unit 12 ft. AUP 
The unit would not cause a detrimental impact on emergency access; or on 

light, air or privacy for neighboring properties. 

R-2, R-2A, R-3, R-4, 

R-5, R-S, R-SMU 

On a lot with two or more main 

buildings with dwelling units 
No minimum (0 ft.) AUP No additional findings 

R-SMU 
On lots with two or more main 

buildings with dwelling units 
No minimum (0 ft.) AUP No additional findings 

R-SMU 

For either: 1) a main building 

with dwelling units or group 

living accommodations; or 2) 

any building north of Durant 

Avenue 

No minimum (0 ft.) AUP 
The reduction is appropriate given the setbacks and architectural design of 

surrounding buildings  

Side Setback Reductions 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 216 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  SECTION  23.304.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE           PAGE 304-5 

TABLE 23.304.030-1: ALLOWED SETBACK REDUCTIONS IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

District Where 

Allowed 
When Allowed 

Minimum Setback 

with Reduction 

Required 

Permit 
Required Additional Findings [1] 

ES-R [3] Any lot 

No minimum (0 ft.) UP(PH) [2] The reduced setback is: 1) necessary to allow economic use of property due 

to the size, shape of the lot or the topography of the site; and 2) consistent 

with the ES-R district purpose.  

R-1, R-1A Lot width less than 40 ft. [4] 

10 percent of lot 

width or 3 ft., 

whichever is greater 

ZC 

None 

R-1A 
West of San Pablo Avenue to 

construct a dwelling unit 

No minimum (0 ft.) AUP The unit would not cause a detrimental impact on emergency access; or on 

light, air or privacy for neighboring properties.  

R-2, R-2A Lot width less than 40 ft. 

First and second 

floors: 10 percent of 

lot width or 3 ft., 

whichever is greater; 

Third story: 5 ft. 

ZC 

None 

R-SMU 

For either: 1) a main building 

with dwelling units or group 

living accommodations; or 2) 

any building north of Durant 

Avenue 

No minimum AUP 
The reduced setback is appropriate given the setbacks and architectural 

design of surrounding buildings 

Notes: 

[1] Findings are in addition to any AUP or Use Permit findings required in 23.406 (Specific Permit Requirements). 

[2] Fire Department must review and approve reduced setbacks in respect to fire safety. 

[3] For lots less than 5,000 square feet, reductions are not allowed for property lines abutting a property under different ownership. 

[4] Not permitted for rear main buildings in the R-1A district. 

 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 217 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-6 

 

3. Allowed Building Projections.10 Table 304.030-2 shows building features which may project 

into a required setback. All projecting features must maintain a minimum 3-foot distance from 

an interior side lot line. 

TABLE 23.304.030-2: ALLOWED BUILDING PROJECTIONS 

Building Feature 

Maximum Projection into Required Setback 
(must maintain 3 ft minimum from interior  

side lot line) 

Front Rear Interior 

Side 

Street 

Side 

Chimneys, Water Heater Enclosures, Flues, Heating 

and Cooling Equipment 
2.5 ft. 2.5 ft. 1.5 ft. 2.5 ft. 

Eaves, Cornices, Canopies, Awnings and Bay 

Windows [1] 
2.5 ft. 2.5 ft. 1.5 ft. 2.5 ft. 

Uncovered decks, porches, landings and stairs when 

30 inches or more above grade at any point [2] 
6 ft. 6 ft. 1.5 ft. 2.5 ft. 

Balconies and fire escapes [1] 6 ft. 6 ft. 1.5 ft. 2.5 ft. 

Notes: 

[1] Projecting bay windows and balconies may not exceed 25 percent of the length of building wall to which its attached. 

[2] Uncovered decks, porches, landings and stairs less than 30 inches in height are not subject to minimum setback requirements. 

 

 

4. Disabled Access.11 Wheelchair ramps, lifts, and other structures to accommodate persons with 

disabilities may project into a required setback with approval of a reasonable accommodation 

request. See Section 23.406.090 (Reasonable Accommodation). Preferred designs would comply 

with the following: 

a. One side yard with a pedestrian pathway of at least 3 feet in width that provides access to the 

rear yard shall be maintained on the lot. 

b. The projection may not block access to or encroach into any required off-street parking 

space or driveway leading to such space. 

5. Building Groups.12 Where two or more main buildings are constructed as part of a single 

project, the Zoning Officer may approve an AUP to reduce the minimum side setback 

requirement if:  

a. Each building is constructed on a separate contiguous lot; and 

b. Each building satisfies the requirements of the Berkeley Fire Code and Berkeley Building 

Code. 

 
10 Source: Table 23D.04.030; 23D.04.030A.1&3 
11 Source: 23D.04.030.A.2. CONSENT CHANGE. Allows projections to accommodate the disabled with a reasonable 
accommodations request, as required by law.  
12 Source: 23D.04.030.D. Deleted paragraph (3) – other requirements always apply.   

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 218 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-7 

6. Subterranean Structures.13 

a. A subterranean structure may project into required front, side, and rear setbacks if: 

i. The structure has a roof; 

ii. The roof elevation does not exceed 3 feet above finished grade; and 

iii. The roof is landscaped and developed so as to qualify as usable open space in 

conformance with 23.304.090 (Usable Open Space).  

b. A subterranean structure that projects into a required setback must be setback at least 6 feet 

from the front, side, and rear lot lines.  

7. Solar Energy Equipment.14 The Zoning Officer may approve an AUP for solar energy 

equipment to project into a required setback upon finding that: 

a. The projection is necessary to install the solar energy equipment; 

b. The proposed structures and equipment are installed with the primary purpose to collect, 

store, and utilize solar energy; and 

c. The building served by the solar energy equipment complies with the Residential Energy 

Conservation Ordinance (RECO).  

C. Non-Residential Districts. 

1. Single-Use Residential Development.15 Allowed setback reductions and projections in 

23.304.030.B (Residential Districts) also apply to single-use residential development in a Non-

Residential District. 

2. Lots Adjacent to Residential Districts.16 

a. Standards. Table 23.304.030-3 shows minimum setbacks on lots in a Non-Residential 

District that abut or confront one or more lots in a Residential District. Required setbacks 

apply to structures occupied by any use, including residential-only buildings.  

TABLE 23.304.030-3: SETBACKS ADJACENT TO RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

District 

Minimum Lot Line Setback when Lot Line Abuts or Confronts a Lot in a Residential District 

Front Rear Interior Side Street Side 

All Commercial 

Districts, MU-LI 

Same as required in adjacent 

Residential District [1] 

10 feet or 10 percent of the 

lot depth, whichever is greater 
5 ft. 

Same as required in adjacent 

Residential District [1] 

MU-R 10 ft. [1] 
10 feet or 10 percent of the 

lot depth, whichever is less [2] 

10 feet or 10 percent of the lot width, 

whichever is less [2] 

Notes: 

[1] In the MU-LI and MU-R districts, setback may be reduced to the smaller of front setbacks on abutting lot with an AUP. 

[2] Applies to lots that abut or confront a lot either in a Residential District or containing one or more dwelling units.  

 
13 Source: 23D.04.030.F 
14 Consolidates duplicative provisions in 23D chapters.  
15 Sources: Allowed use tables in 23E district chapters.  
16 Source: 23E.04.050; 23E.80.070.C; 23E.84.070.E. Clarifies that setback requirement applies to all uses, including 
residential-only buildings. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 219 of 511



SECTION  23.304.150  CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

PAGE 304-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

 

b. Modifications in Commercial Districts. For lots in a Commercial District that abut or 

confront one or more lots in a Residential District, the ZAB may approve a Use Permit to 

allow setbacks smaller than required in Table 23.304.030-3 upon finding that the reduced 

setback would provide greater privacy or improved amenities to a lot in the Residential 

District.   

23.304.040 – BUILDING SEPARATION IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
Table 23.304.040-1 shows permits required to reduce to minimum building separation standards in 

Residential Districts, and when these reductions are allowed.17 

TABLE 23.304.040-1: PERMITS REQUIRED FOR BUILDING SEPARATION REDUCTIONS IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

District Where 

Allowed When Allowed Permit Required Findings [1] 

R-1A On a lot with two or 

more main buildings 

with a dwelling unit 
AUP 

The unit would not cause a detrimental impact on emergency access; or 

on light, air or privacy for neighboring properties. 

R-2, R-2A, R-3, R-4, 

R-5, R-S, R-SMU 

On a lot with two or 

more main buildings 

with a dwelling unit 
AUP No additional findings 

ES-R [2] Any lot UP(PH) 

1) The reduced building separation is necessary to allow economic use of 

property for residential purposes; 2) the development complies with all 

other applicable setback, coverage, and floor requirements; and 3) the 

reduced building separation is consistent with the ES-R district purpose. 

Notes: 
[1] Findings in addition to AUP or Use Permit findings required in in 23.406.  

[2] Fire Department must review and approve reduced setbacks in respect to fire safety. 

23.304.050 – BUILDING HEIGHT 
A. Projections Above Height Limits.18 Table 23.304.050-1 shows features that may project above 

allowed height limits. For rules that apply to wireless telecommunication facilities, see Chapter 

23.332 (Wireless Telecommunication Facilities). 

 
17 Section 23D.28.070.D.1 and identical paragraphs for other residential districts; 23D.24.090.B.3 & 23D.24.090.D.1 
18 Source: 23D.040.020.B,C; 23E.04.020.B&C. CONSENT CHANGE. Deletes 23D.04.020.A. and 23E.04.020.A which 
states the height limit for schools, buildings for religious assembly use, hospitals and other public buildings shall not 
exceed the height limit permitted for that district.  This is true for all uses. Calling out these uses implies other uses may 
exceed height limit, which is not true. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 220 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  SECTION  23.304.050  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE           PAGE 304-9 

TABLE 23.304.050-1: ALLOWED PROJECTIONS ABOVE HEIGHT LIMIT  

Structures Allowed Above Height Limit 

Maximum Projection Above Height Limit Limitations 

Permit Required 

Residential 

Districts 

Non-Residential 

Districts 

Residential 

Districts 

Non-Residential 

Districts 

Towers, antennas, poles used for the transmission 

of electricity, telephone, cable television or other 

messages 

No maximum None None 

Flag poles, skylights, solar energy equipment, and 

similar structures 
No maximum None None 

Chimneys, water tanks, heating and air 

conditioning equipment, vents, pipes and necessary 

mechanical roof appurtenances 

4 ft. or the minimum 

height required by 

the Building Code [1] 

No maximum 
Maximum 3 ft. in 

width [1] 

No additional 

limitations 
None 

Other building and site features, including but not 

limited to, mechanical penthouses, elevator 

equipment rooms and cupolas, domes, turrets and 

other architectural elements 

No maximum 

May not exceed 15% of the average floor area 

of all of the building’s floors. No tower or 

similar structure may be used as habitable 

space or for any commercial purpose, other 

than the mechanical needs of the building 

AUP 

Notes: 

[1] May exceed allowed height and width with an AUP. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 221 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.060  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-10 

B. Rooftop Structures in Residential Districts. 19 Decks, railings, trellises, pergolas, and other similar 

structures may be built above a roof but less than the residential addition height limit of the district. 

These structures may exceed the residential addition height limit with an AUP.  

23.304.060 – ACCESSORY BUILDINGS AND ENCLOSED ACCESSORY STRUCTURES 
A. Applicability. This section applies to accessory buildings and enclosed accessory structures as 

defined in 23.502 (Glossary). See Section 23.304.070 (Unenclosed Accessory Structures in 

Residential Districts) and Section 23.304.080 (Fences) and for requirements that apply to other 

unenclosed accessory structures and fences. 

B. All Districts.  

1. Attached or Close to Main Building.20 An accessory building or enclosed accessory structure, 

other than a subterranean structure, that is attached to or within 3 feet of a wall of a main 

building, is considered a part of the main building for the purposes of setback requirements.  

2. Demolition. See 23.326.030.C (Accessory Buildings) and 23.326.070.B (Accessory 

Buildings) for permits required to demolish accessory buildings. 

C. Residential Districts.  

1. Permits Required.21 Table 23.304.060-1 shows permits required for accessory buildings and 

accessory structures in Residential Districts. 

TABLE 23.304.060-1: PERMITS REQUIRED FOR ACCESSORY BUILDINGS AND ENCLOSED ACCESSORY STRUCTURES  

District Location and Building/Structure Type Permit Required 

All Residential Districts Except ES-R  

New accessory buildings AUP 

Alterations to existing accessory buildings ZC 

Enclosed accessory structures on a lot with a 

main building 
ZC 

Enclosed accessory structures on a vacant lot 

without a main building 
AUP 

Horse stables AUP [1] 

Accessory buildings and structures with Urban 

Agriculture 
ZC 

ES-R District  

Under 100 sq. ft. ZC 

100 sq. ft. or more UP(PH) 

On a vacant lot without a main building UP(PH) 

Notes: 

[1] Horse stables are prohibited in the R-S and R-SMU districts 

 
19 Source: 23D.04.020.D 
20 Source: 23D.04.030.C; 23E.04.030.A 
21 Source: Allowed use tables for residential districts in Sub-Title 23D;.23D.08.005.A.1 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 222 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-11 

 

2. Development and Use Standards. 

a. Development Standards.22 Table 23.306-2 shows development standards for accessory 

buildings and enclosed accessory structures in Residential Districts. 

TABLE 23.304.060-2: ACCESSORY BUILDING AND ENCLOSED ACCESSORY STRUCTURE STANDARDS IN 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

Building/Structure Feature Standards 

Average Height, Maximum  

Less than 4 ft. of lot line 10 ft. 

4 ft. to less than 10 ft. from lot line 12 ft. 

10 ft. or more from lot line 24 ft. 

Setbacks, Minimum  

Front of Interior Lot 50% of lot dept 

Front of Through Lot 25% of lot dept 

 Front of Corner Lot 
The setback existing or required on the adjacent lot, whichever is 

smaller, and the existing setback of main building on the lot 

Street Side, Corner Lot The existing setback of main building on the lot 

Interior Side 

4 ft. for building/structures within 75 feet of front lot line; as 

required by Berkeley Building Code for buildings/structures 75 feet 

or more from front lot line 

Edge of Alley 5 ft. 

Building Length [1] 24 ft. 

Notes: 

[1] Applies to building walls generally parallel to a side lot line. 

 

b. Deviation from Standards.23 

i. In all Residential Districts except for the ES-R district, the Zoning Officer may 

approve an AUP to allow an accessory building or enclosed accessory structure to 

deviate from the standards in Table 23.304.060-2. In the ES-R district, deviations 

require ZAB approval of a Use Permit.  

ii. To approve the deviation, the review authority must find that the proposed building 

or structure will not be detrimental to the light, air, privacy, and view of adjacent 

properties. 

c. Bathroom and Kitchen Facilities.24 An accessory building may contain a full 

bathroom, including handwashing sink, toilet, and tub or shower, as well as cooking 

 
22 Source: 23D.08.020, 030 & 050 
23 Source: 23D.08.010; Table 23D.24.030 
24 Source: 23D.08.005.A.2 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 223 of 511



SECTION  23.304.150  CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

PAGE 304-12  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

facilities, as long as the cooking facilities do not constitute a kitchen. 

d. Rentals.25 An accessory building may be rented only as a short-term rental as allowed in 

23.314 (Short-Term Rentals). 

3. Rebuilding and Replacement.26 

a. Notwithstanding the setback standards in this section and the coverage area standards in 

Chapter 23.204 (Residential Districts), an accessory building or enclosed accessory 

structure may be constructed to replace a pre-existing lawful accessory building or 

enclosed accessory structure, if the replacement building or structure is in the same 

location and has the same or smaller footprint as the previous structure. However, any 

such replacement structure may not exceed the average height as the previous building 

or structure; otherwise an AUP is required. 

b. Such replacement buildings and structures are permitted as of right only if an application 

for a building permit for their construction is submitted at the same time as an 

application for a building permit for the demolition of the pre-existing building or 

structure. 

c. The demolition of any accessory building proposed for replacement under this section is 

subject to Municipal Code Chapter 3.24 (Landmark Preservation Commission). 

D. Non-Residential Districts. The following requirements apply to accessory buildings and 

enclosed accessory structures in Non-Residential Districts. 

1. Permits Required. 

a. Accessory buildings and enclosed accessory structures in a Non-Residential District 

require the same permits as a main building in the district, except as provided in 

paragraphs (b) and (c) below. 

b. Accessory buildings and structures with urban agriculture are allowed with a Zoning 

Certificate.27  

c. In a Commercial District, an accessory building or enclosed accessory structure 

associated with a residential-only project requires the same permits as in all Residential 

Districts except ES-R as shown in Table 23.304.060-2.28 

2. Development Standards. 

a. Accessory buildings and enclosed accessory structures must comply with the same 

development standards that apply to main buildings in the district. 

b. A detached accessory building or enclosed accessory structure may not be erected or 

expanded within 5 feet of an alley. 29 

 
25 Source: 23D.08.005.A.3,4,5 
26 Source: 23D.08.040 
27 Source: Allowed use tables in 23E.36.030. 
28 Source: Allowed use tables in 23E.36.030. 
29 Source: 23E.04.030.B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 224 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-13 

23.304.070 – UNENCLOSED ACCESSORY STRUCTURES IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
A. Applicability. This section applies to unenclosed accessory structures as defined in 23.502 

(Glossary) in a Residential District, excluding fences which are addressed in 23.304.080 (Fences). 

B. Placement on Lot.30 Unenclosed accessory structures require an AUP if placed on the ground 

within a required setback. 

C. Height.31  

1. For unenclosed accessory structure within a required setback, allowed height shall be specified in 

the AUP. 

2. No height limitations apply to unenclosed accessory structures outside of required setbacks. 

3. The height of an unenclosed accessory structure is measured as the vertical distance from the 

lowest existing grade point within a 3-foot radius of any point of the structure to the highest 

point of the structure. 

D. Hot Tubs, Jacuzzis, and Spas.34 

1. An unenclosed outdoor hot tub, jacuzzi, or spa located anywhere on a lot requires: 

a. An AUP in all Residential Districts except for the ES-R district; and 

b. A Use Permit in the ES-R district. 

2. Any pump associated with an unenclosed outdoor hot tub, jacuzzi, or spa shall be mounted and 

enclosed so that its sound is not audible on an adjacent lot.  

23.304.080 – FENCES 
A. Permits Required.35 Table 23.304.080-1 shows permits required for fences in all districts. 

TABLE 23.304.080-1: PERMITS REQUIRED FOR FENCES  

District Location and Fences Height/Location Permit Required 

All Districts Except ES-R  

6 ft. in height or less None required 

More than 6 ft in height and on lot line or within 

required lot line setbacks for main building 
AUP 

ES-R District  

4 ft. in height or less  None required 

More than 4 ft. in height and on lot line or within 

required lot line setbacks for main building 
AUP [1] 

Notes: 

 
30 Source: 23D.08.060.B 
31 Source: 23D.08.060.A.2; 23E.04.040.B. Clarifies allowed height. 
34 Source: 23D.08.060.C; Table 23D.24.030 
35 Source: 23D.08.060.A.2; 23E.04.040.A; Allowed use tables in Sub-Title 23D district chapters. CONSENT CHANGE: 
Existing allowed use tables require Zoning Clearance for fence less than 6 feet (4 feet in ES-R). Changed to no permit 
required as fences less than 6 feet do not require building permit. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 225 of 511



SECTION  23.304.150  CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

PAGE 304-14  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

[1] Requires Fire Department review and comment. 

 

B. Height Measurement.36 The height of a fence is measured as the vertical distance from the lowest 

existing grade point within a 3-foot radius of any point of the structure to the highest point of the 

structure. 

C. Prohibited Materials in Residential Districts.37 

1. A fence in a Residential District may not contain strands of barbed or razor wire, sharp or jagged 

glass, sharp or jagged metal components (e.g., razor-spikes), or similar materials. 

2. Prohibited fence materials on an existing fence may not be expanded or repaired. 

3. Table 23.304.080-2 shows the date by which existing non-conforming prohibited fence materials 

must be removed.  

TABLE 23.304.080-2: REMOVAL OF PROHIBITED FENCE MATERIALS  

Adjusted Market Value of 

Prohibited Fence Material Required Removal Date 

$1,500 or less 
October 16, 2004 or within one year from the date such 

feature became non-conforming, whichever date is earlier 

More than $1,500 
October 16, 2005 or within one year from the date such 

feature became non-conforming, whichever date is earlier 

 

4. For purposes of this section, the adjusted market value of the existing non-conforming 

prohibited fence feature is calculated as follows: 

a. The "original cost" of the fence feature is the likely cost of substantially similar fence 

features at the time the fence feature was initially installed plus the likely costs of installation 

at that time. 

b. The "original cost" is reduced by 10 percent for each year since the fence feature was 

installed, until the year that this section became effective. This reduced is considered the 

"adjusted market value." 

5. If a property owner demonstrates that the period of time in Table 23.304.080-2 is unreasonable 

as applied to a particular fence feature, the City may extend the period within which removal of 

such feature is required, after weighing the harm to the public interest from continued 

maintenance of the fence and other relevant factors. Any such determination will be made in the 

course of the proceedings to abate pursuant to Municipal Code Chapter 1.24 (Abatement of 

Nuisances). 

D. Barbed or Razor Wire in Non-Residential Districts.38  

1. A fence adjacent to a street, sidewalk, path, or other public right-of-way in a Non-Residential 

 
36 Source: 23D.08.060.A.2; 23E.04.040.B 
37 Source: 23D.08.060.A.1 
38 Source: 23E.04.040.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 226 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.090  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-15 

District may have strands of barbed or razor wire if: 

a. The lowest strand is more than 5 feet above the ground; and 

b. The strands are at least 6 inches inside the property line of a privately-owned lot. 

2. A fence on a lot line that abuts a Residential District must comply with 23.304.080.D (Prohibited 

Materials in Residential Districts).  

E. MU-R District.39  

1. Abutting Residential Uses. 

a. If the side or rear of a lot in the MU-R district with a residential use abuts another lot with a 

residential use, a fence over six feet in height must be setback a minimum of either: 

i. Eight feet from any main residential building on the abutting lot; or 

ii. Four feet from the property line if the main residential building on the abutting lot is less 

than 4 feet from the abutting lot line. 

b. This requirement does not apply when two lots sharing the lot line are under the same 

ownership. 

2. Manufacturing/Residential Buffers.  

a. If a development project in the MU-R district results in a lot with a manufacturing use 

abutting the side or rear of a lot with a residential use, an 8-foot minimum fence with sound 

absorbent material is required between the manufacturing and residential uses. 

b. The Zoning Officer may approve an AUP to allow for an alternative method to provide a 

buffer between the manufacturing and residential uses. 

23.304.090 – USABLE OPEN SPACE40 
A. Applicability. The standards in this section apply to areas used to satisfy minimum usable open 

space requirements as specified in Chapters 23.202–23.210 (Zoning Districts).  

B. Standards. 

1. Accessibility and Use. Usable open space shall be accessible to the occupants of the building 

for active or passive recreation use. 

2. Assignment to Unit. An area which is accessible and/or usable only by the occupants of a 

particular dwelling unit may satisfy the usable open space area requirements only for that 

particular dwelling unit. 

3. Minimum Dimensions. Except for balconies, a usable open space area must have a 

minimum width and length of 10 feet.  

4. Balconies. 

 
39 Source: 23E.84.070.F 
40 Source: 23D.04.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 227 of 511



SECTION  23.304.150  CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

PAGE 304-16  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. A maximum of 50 percent of the total required usable open space area may be satisfied 

by balconies. 

b. A balcony must have a minimum width and length of 6 feet.  

c. At least one exterior side must be open and unobstructed except for required railings.  

5. Uncovered. Except for balconies, usable open space shall be at least 75 percent open to the 

sky. 

6. Slope. Usable open space must have a slope of 8 percent grade or less.  

7. Landscaping. 

a. At least 40 percent of the total required usable open space area, exclusive of balconies 

above the first floor, shall be landscaped. 

b. A landscaped area may not include off-street parking spaces, driveways, paved walkways 

and paths, patios and other surfaces covered by concrete or asphalt.41 

c. For multiple dwelling uses, required landscaped areas shall incorporate automatic 

irrigation and drainage facilities adequate to assure healthy growing conditions for plants. 

8. Amenities. Usable open space which is not planted shall be developed to encourage 

outdoor active or passive recreational use and shall include such elements as decks, sports 

courts, outdoor seating, decorative paved areas and walkways which do not serve as entrance 

walkways. 

9. Access Features Not Included. Usable open space may not contain area designated for 

off-street parking and loading, service areas, driveways, required walkways or other features 

used for access to dwelling units. 

C. Other Open Space Areas. Areas of the lot which do not qualify as usable open space and 

which are not designated as driveways, off-street parking spaces or required walkways, shall be 

retained as landscaped areas. 

23.304.100 – SITE FEATURES IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 
A. Applicability. The standards in this section apply in all Residential Districts.  

B. Garbage Cans.42 All garbage cans shall be effectively screened from view from the public right-

of-way and surrounding properties. 

C. Utility Meters.43 For buildings with two or more units, all utility meters shall be effectively screened 

from view from the public right-of-way and surrounding properties.  

D. Pedestrian Walkway for Multiple Dwellings.44  

1. All multi-family dwellings shall have an unobstructed walkway for pedestrian access from the 

 
41 Source.23F.0101, landscaped area definition.  
42 Source: 23D.04.060 
43 Source: 23D.04.060 
44 Source: 23D.04.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 228 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.110  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-17 

public right-of-way to the building. 

2. The required walkway shall be separated and physically protected from a driveway or off-street 

parking spaces with a minimum 2-foot wide landscaped strip.  

E. Exterior Lighting.45 

1. All exterior lighting shall be shielded and directed downward and away from lot lines to prevent 

excessive glare beyond the property on which the light is located. 

2. Lights on motion sensors may not be triggered by movement or activity located off the property 

on which the light is located. 

23.304.110 – DORMERS46 
A. Wall Setback. All features of a dormer shall be set back a minimum of 3 feet from the exterior 

of the wall below, with the exception of the dormer’s eaves, which may project horizontally not 

more than two feet from the exterior face of the dormer. 

B. Placement Below Roof. A dormer must be below the ridge of the portion of the building’s 

roof where the dormer is located. 

C. Horizontal Dimension. The total horizontal dimension of the dormer(s) facing the side of a 

building, as measured parallel to that side, may not exceed 25 percent of the length of the 

exterior wall, as shown in Figure 23.304.110-1.  

D. Excluded from Average Height Calculation. Dormers complying with this section are not 

included in the average building height calculation. 

FIGURE 23.304.110-1: DORMERS 

 

 
45 Source: 23D.04.080 
46 Source: 23F.04.010, “dormer” definition.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 229 of 511



SECTION  23.304.150  CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

PAGE 304-18  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

 

23.304.120 – LOT COVERAGE 
A. Maximum Requirement. A lot may not exceed the maximum lot coverage required in a district 

except as specifically permitted by the Zoning Ordinance.47 

B. Exception. Solar energy equipment and wheelchair ramps and lifts in compliance with the Zoning 

Ordinance may exceed the maximum allowed lot coverage.48 

23.304.130 – NON-RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS ABUTTING A RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT49 
A. Applicability. The standards in this section apply to lots in a Non-Residential District that abut or 

confront a lot in a Residential District. 

B. Conflicting Provisions. If the standards in this section conflict with a standard in Chapters 23.202–

23.210 (Zoning Districts), the Chapters 23.202–23.210 standard governs. 

C. Standards.  

1. Display Window Orientation. Display windows and customer entrances, other than required 

exits, shall not face abutting lots in a Residential District. 

2. Exterior Lighting. Exterior lighting shall be shielded in a manner which avoids direct glare 

onto abutting lots in a Residential District. 

3. Lot Line Screening. To provide screening, a solid wall or fence, measuring 6 feet in height 

from existing grade, shall be erected at the lot line of an abutting lot in a Residential District. 

4. Exhaust Air Ducts.  

a. Exhaust air ducts shall be located or oriented to direct vented air flows away from a 

Residential District. 

b. Exhaust air ducts shall include equipment to mitigates odors. 

D. Modifications. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to reduce or waive the requirements of this 

section upon finding that requirement is unnecessary to minimize the effects of commercial uses on 

a lot in the Residential District. 

23.304.140 – AREA PLANS 
A. Downtown Area Plan.50 Projects in the Downtown Area Plan boundaries are subject to the 

applicable mitigation measure in the adopted Mitigation Monitoring Program of the Downtown 

Area Plan Final EIR.   

 
47 Source: 23A.12.030.A 
48 Source: 23D.04.040. Clarifies exception applies in all districts where a lot coverage standard applies (e.g., residential-
only projects in a Commercial District). 
49Source: 23E.04.060 
50 Source: 23E.68.065 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 230 of 511



CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS SECTION  23.304.140  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 304-19 

B. Southside Plan.51 

1. Mitigation Measures. Projects in the Southside Plan boundaries are subject to the 

applicable mitigation measures in the adopted Mitigation Monitoring Program the Southside 

Plan Final EIR. 

2. Permit Findings. To approve an AUP or Use Permit for a project in the Southside Plan 

boundaries, the review authority must find that the project complies with the Southside 

Plan’s adopted Mitigation Monitoring Program (MMP). 

C. West Berkeley Plan. Projects in the West Berkeley Plan boundaries are subject to the applicable 

mitigation measure in the adopted Mitigation Monitoring Program of the West Berkeley Plan Final 

EIR.52 

D. Adeline Corridor Plan. Projects in the Adeline Corridor Plan boundaries are subject to the 

applicable mitigation measure in the adopted Mitigation Monitoring Program of the Adeline 

Corridor Plan Final EIR.53   

  

 
51 23D.36.070.G; 23D.36.090.C; 23D.48.070.H; 23D.48.090.F; 23D.52.070.I; 23D.56.090.F. 
52 Source: 23E.72.070.G; 23E.76.070.F; 23E.80.070.E. Clarifies that mitigation measures apply in all West Berkeley 
Districts. 
53 New. Added to reference Mitigation Monitoring Program for the Adeline Corridor Plan in the same manner as other 
area plans. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 231 of 511



SECTION  23.304.150  CHAPTER 23.304 – GENERAL DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

PAGE 304-20  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 232 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 306-1 

    

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 
Sections: 

23.306.010 – Applicability of Regulations 

23.306.020 – Purposes 

23.306.030 – Permit Procedures 

 

Commentary:  The City is currently preparing its updated ADU ordinance to implement recent changes to state 

law. This chapter carries forward the interim ordinance adopted last year without any changes.   

23.306.010 – APPLICABILITY OF REGULATIONS 
The provisions of this chapter apply to all lots that are zoned for residential use except 1) in the 

following zoning districts: Environmental Safety-Residential (ES-R), Manufacturing (M), Mixed 

Manufacturing (MM), Mixed Use-Light Industrial (MU-LI), and Unclassified (U); and 2) on a lot 

with frontage on a roadway with less than 26 feet in pavement width in the Hillside Overlay.  

23.306.020 – PURPOSES 
The purposes of this chapter are to: 

A. Implement California Government Code Section 65852.2 and 65852.22. 

B. Increase overall supply and range of housing options in Berkeley. 

C. Expedite small-scale infill development. 

D. Support Housing Element goals of facilitating construction of accessory dwelling units and 

increasing the number of housing units that are more affordable to Berkeley residents. 

E. Encourage development of accessory dwelling units in zoning districts with compatible land uses 

and infrastructure.  

23.306.030 – PERMIT PROCEDURES 
Zoning Certificates will be issued for Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory Dwelling 

Units per California Government Code Section 65852.2 and 65852.22. 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 233 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 306-2 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 234 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 308-1 

    

EMERGENCY SHELTERS 
Sections: 

23.308.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.308.020 – Applicability and Nonconformities 

23.308.030 – Required Permits 

23.308.040 – Standards for Emergency Shelters 

 

Commentary:  This chapter consolidates existing emergency shelter regulations found in 23C, D, and E into a 

new single chapter. The regulations are organized by their applicability to different zoning districts with general 

provisions coming first.  

23.308.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes standards for emergency shelters that ensure compatibility of shelter 

activities with surrounding uses and provide a safe place for individuals and families to obtain 

temporary shelter. 

23.308.020 – APPLICABILITY AND NONCONFORMITIES 
A. Applicability.2 This chapter applies to all emergency shelters established after January 1, 2014.  

B. Nonconformities.3  

1. Emergency shelters established prior to January 1, 2014 may continue to operate consistent 

with: 

a. The conditions in those approvals and permits; 

b. All other applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance; and 

c. Any limitations and requirements imposed as a condition of funding. 

2. Except in the MU-LI district, such existing emergency shelters shall be treated as a lawful 

nonconforming use under Chapter 23.324 (Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings). 

Existing shelters in the MU-LI district are not considered a nonconforming use and may add 

floor area with a Use Permit. 

  

 
1 Source: 23C.10.020 
2 Source: 23C.10.010 
3 Source: 23C.10.010; Table 23E.80.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 235 of 511



SECTION  23.308.030   CHAPTER 23.308 – EMERGENCY SHELTERS 

 

PAGE 308-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.308.030 – REQUIRED PERMITS 
Table 23.308.030-1 shows permits required for emergency shelters.4  

TABLE 23.308.030-1: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS – EMERGENCY SHELTERS 

Districts Permit Required [1] 

Residential Districts  

R-1, R-1A, ES-R, R-2, R-2A, R-3 Prohibited 

R-4, R-5, R-S, and R-SMU  

15 beds or fewer [1] ZC 

More than 15 beds UP(PH) 

Commercial Districts  

C-C, C-U, C-N, C-E, C-NS, C-SA, C-T, C-SO, C-W  

25 beds or fewer ZC 

More than 25 beds UP(PH) 

C-DMU  

60 beds or fewer ZC 

More than 60 beds UP(PH) 

Manufacturing Districts  

M, MM, MU-LI, MU-R Prohibited 

Notes: 

[1] See also permit requirements based on floor area of use in Table 23.308.040-1. 

23.308.040 – STANDARDS FOR EMERGENCY SHELTERS 
A. All Districts.5 The following standards apply to emergency shelters in all districts.  

1. No individual or household may be denied emergency shelter because of an inability to pay.  

2. No emergency shelter shall be located within 300 feet of another emergency shelter, except 

when a Use Permit is approved to allow less of a buffer distance. 

3. When abutting a Residential District, all areas for shelter activities and uses, including but 

not limited to waiting and intake, personal storage, facility storage, and recreation, shall be 

located indoors. 

4. The following emergency shelter facilities are required: 

a. An area for onsite client intake equal to one-quarter of the area provided for client beds. 

This may be a multi-use area. 

b. Showers and restroom facilities. 

 
4 Source: 23C.10.030; 23C.10.060; Table 23E.36.030; Table 23E.44.030; Table 23E.48.030; Table 23E.52.030; Table 
23E.56.030; Table 23E.60.030; Table 23E.64.030; 23D.40, 23D.44, 23D.48, 23D.52 
5 Source: 23C.10.040. Clarifies standards also apply in residential districts. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 236 of 511



CHAPTER 23.308 – EMERGENCY SHELTERS  SECTION  23.308.040  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 308-3 

5. The following emergency shelter facilities are optional: 

a. Secure personal storage. 

b. Daytime services. 

c. Meal services. 

d. Communal kitchen. 

e. Laundry equipment for clients. 

f. Child care. 

g. Vehicle and/or bicycle parking. 

6. Lighting shall be provided in all exterior areas, including pathways, parking areas, courtyards, 

rear yard areas, and spaces between structures. Lighting shall be directed in a manner that 

does not cast light onto neighboring properties. 

7. On-site management shall be provided at all times the facility is in operation and at least one 

hour prior to and after facility operation hours. 

8. The shelter operator shall prepare and implement a Shelter Safety and Management Plan. 

The Plan shall be available to the public upon request and shall address the following: 

a. Client congregation outside of the shelter facility in order to prevent queuing within the 

public right-of-way. 

b. Eligibility criteria, enforcement rules, and procedures for disruptive clients. 

c. Number and responsibilities of on-site support staff, training standards, other 

management procedures, and a primary and secondary contact person. 

d. Bed bug prevention. 

e. Refuse collection. 

f. Security procedures. 

g. Separation of sleeping areas and restrooms by gender and for families. 

h. Consistency with the Alameda County-Wide Homeless Continuum of Care: Health, 

Safety and Accessibility Standards for Shelter Facilities in Alameda County. 

9. The shelter provider shall conduct a community meeting after giving notice to all owners 

and occupants on record with the Alameda County Assessor within a 100-foot radius of the 

proposed shelter location. A community meeting shall not be required when the target 

population of the proposed shelter requires privacy due to safety concerns as determined by 

the Zoning Officer.  

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 237 of 511



SECTION  23.308.040   CHAPTER 23.308 – EMERGENCY SHELTERS 

 

PAGE 308-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Seasonal Emergency Shelters. 

1. Seasonal Emergency Shelter Defined.6 A seasonal emergency shelter is an emergency 

shelter that may operate only during the wet weather season from November 15 through 

April 15, unless the City Manager determines in any given year that the wet season has begun 

earlier or extended later than these dates. 

2. Standards in Residential Districts.7 In addition to the standards in Subsection A 

(Standards for All Emergency Shelters) above, the following standards apply to seasonal 

emergency shelters in a residential district. 

a. A seasonal emergency shelter must be incidental to a community and institutional use. 

b. Table 23.308.040-1 shows permits required based on the percentage of the community 

and institutional use occupied by the seasonal emergency shelter.  

TABLE 23.308.040-1: FLOOR AREA PERMIT REQUIREMENTS – RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

Percent of Community and Institutional Use 
Floor Area Occupied by Emergency Shelter 

Permit Required 

25 percent or less ZC 

More than 25 percent to less than 50 percent UP(PH) 

50 percent or more Not allowed 

 

C. Findings.8 To approve a Use Permit for an emergency shelter under Section 23.308.030 

(Required Permits) or 23.308.040.B.2 (Standards in Residential Districts), the ZAB must find 

that: 

1. A larger shelter facility will help meet the City’s goals pertaining to emergency housing of the 

homeless; 

2. The circumstances of the subject property make the larger facility appropriate; and 

3. Design features will minimize impacts on the surrounding area.  

  

 
6 Source: 23C.10.050.A.2 
7 Source: 23C.10.050 
8 Source: 23C.10.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 238 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 310-1 

    

ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES AND 

SERVICE 
Sections: 

23.310.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.310.020 – General Requirements Excluding Incidental Beer and Wine Service 

23.310.030 – Alcoholic Beverage Service When Incidental to Food Service 

 

Commentary:  This chapter consolidates and re-organizes alcoholic beverage sales and service regulations found in 

23D and E into a new single chapter. Section 23.310.020 contains requirements that apply generally to any 

application to commence or increase alcoholic beverage sales or service. Section 23.310.030 contains permit 

requirements and standards for alcoholic beverage service incidental to food service establishments. 

23.310.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes general requirements for alcoholic beverage sales or service and permit 

requirements and standards for alcoholic beverage service when incidental to a food service 

establishment.  

23.310.020 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS EXCLUDING INCIDENTAL BEER AND WINE SERVICE 
A. Applicability.2  

1. This section applies to any application to commence or increase alcoholic beverage sales or 

service, excluding beer and wine service incidental to a food service establishment in a 

Commercial District (see 23.310.030 (Alcoholic Beverage Service)). 

2. As used in this section, an increase in alcoholic beverage sales or service includes, but is not 

limited to: 

a. Adding the sales or service of distilled spirits to any existing sales or service of beer 

and/or wine; 

b. Extending the hours of operation of any establishment that sells or serves any alcoholic 

beverage; and 

c. Adding to the capacity, floor area, or shelf space devoted to alcoholic beverages of any 

establishment that sells or serves any alcoholic beverages. 

 
1 New purpose statement. 
2 Source: 23E.16.040.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 239 of 511



SECTION  23.310.030   CHAPTER 23.310 – ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES AND SERVICE 

 

PAGE 310-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. An increase in alcoholic beverage sales or service does not include extending the hours of 

operation of any food service establishments with incidental beer and/or wine service. 

B. Permit Required.3 A Use Permit is required to commence or increase alcoholic beverage sales 

or service in any way. 

C. Application – List of Nearby Establishments.4 As part of an application to commence or 

increase alcoholic beverage sales or service, the applicant must provide a list of all establishments 

within a 1,000 foot radius which are in the same category of alcoholic beverage sales or service, 

as defined by the California Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control. 

D. Findings of Public Convenience or Necessity.5 If the proposed use is within a 1,000-foot 

radius of the site of a use that is in the same category of alcoholic beverage sales or service, 

excluding food service establishments with incidental service of beer and/or wine, the ZAB may 

approve the application only if it makes all of the following findings: 

1. The proposed establishment will promote the City’s economic health, contribute to General 

Plan or area plan policies, or further the district purpose. 

2. The economic benefits associated with the establishment could not reasonably be achieved 

without the proposed alcohol sales or service. 

3. If the applicant has operated a licensed establishment that has been the subject of violations 

regarding alcohol in the State of California, or violations of public safety or nuisance statutes 

or regulations in Berkeley as verified by the Police Department, such violations do not 

indicate a high likelihood of further violations and/or detrimental impacts from the 

proposed establishment. In making this finding, the ZAB may consider the number, 

frequency, and severity of prior violations, the time elapsed since the last violation, and other 

relevant factors. 

4. If the proposed establishment is within 1,000 feet of any public park or public school, the 

ZAB has taken into consideration the effect of the proposed establishment upon such 

sensitive public uses. 

5. The Police Department has reported that the proposed establishment would not be expected 

to add to crime in the area. 

23.310.030 – ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SERVICE WHEN INCIDENTAL TO FOOD SERVICE 
A. Permits Required.6 Table 23.310.030-1 shows permits required for alcoholic beverage service 

when incidental to a food service establishment. 

  

 
3 Source: 23E.16.040.A 
4 Source: 23E.16.040.B.2 
5 Source: 23E.16.040.B.2 
6 Source: Consolidates permit requirements from allowed use tables in Title 23E. Clarifies that in the MU-LI and MU-R 
districts, alcoholic beverage service incidental to food service requires a Use Permit and not an AUP as stated in 
23E.16.040.A.2. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 240 of 511



CHAPTER 23.310 – ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES AND SERVICE  SECTION  23.310.030  

 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 310-3 

TABLE 23.310.030-1: PERMITS REQUIRED FOR ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SERVICE 

District 

Permit Required Based on 
Type of Beverages Served When 

Incidental to Food Service 

Beer and Wine Distilled Spirits 

R-SMU  UP(PH) UP(PH) 

All Commercial Districts  ZC UP(PH) 

MU-LI, MU-R UP(PH) UP(PH) 

 

B. Use Limitations.  

1. R-SMU District.7 In the R-SMU district, alcoholic beverage service is allowed only for full-

service restaurants. Alcoholic beverage service is not allowed for carry out food stores and 

quick-service restaurants. 

2. Commercial Districts.8 In Commercial Districts, beer and wine service is allowed by right 

when for on-site consumption with seated food service.  

3. C-NS District.9 In the C-NS district, distilled spirit service is allowed only for full-service 

restaurants. Distilled spirit service is not allowed for carry out food stores and quick-service 

restaurants. 

4. C-T and C-SO Districts.10 In the C-T and C-SO districts, distilled spirit service is allowed 

only for on-site consumption with seated food service.  

C. Incidental Beer and Wine Service Standards.11 The following standards apply to beer and 

wine service incidental to a food service establishment in a Commercial District. 

1. Licensing. 

a. The food service establishment shall comply with all applicable regulations of the 

California Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control. 

b. An operator of the licensed establishment may not have a prior licensed establishment 

that was the subject of verified complaints or violations regarding alcohol, public safety, 

or nuisance statutes or regulations prior to issuance or transfer of a business license at 

this location. 

2. Service. 

a. Beer and wine beverage service shall be incidental to the primary food service use.  

 
7 Source: Table 23D.52.030 
8 Source: Allowed use tables in Title 23E. 
9 Source: Table 23E.48.030 
10 Source: Tables 23E.56.030 and 23E.60.030 
11 Source: 23E.16.040A.1 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 241 of 511



SECTION  23.310.030   CHAPTER 23.310 – ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES AND SERVICE 

 

PAGE 310-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. Beer and wine service incidental to seated food service shall only be allowed at a bona 

fide eating place making actual and substantial sales of meals as determined and required 

by the California Department of Alcohol Beverage Control.  

c. The sale of beer and wine for off-site consumption is prohibited.  

d. Employees may not serve beer or wine to patrons who appear to be inebriated or 

otherwise unable to behave in an orderly manner upon consuming alcohol.  

e. All beer and wine served to patrons must be served in durable restaurant tableware. Beer 

or wine may not be distributed in its original bottle or can, or in any other potentially 

disposable container.  

f. There shall be no bar or lounge area upon the licensed premises maintained for the sole 

purpose of sales, service, or consumption of alcoholic beverages directly to patrons for 

consumption. 

g. Hours of operation are subject to review and amendment by the ZAB as necessary to 

avoid detriment to the neighborhood or to achieve conformance with revised City of 

Berkeley standards or policies.  

3. Operation. 

a. The food service establishment must operate at least five days a week.  

b. The service of beer and wine shall be limited to normal meal hours (per California 

Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control) during the food service establishment’s 

hours of operation.  

c. During operating hours, 100 percent of the service area shall be designed and used for 

meal service and must possess the necessary utensils, and condiment dispensers with 

which to serve meals to the public.  

d. At no time shall the operator rent the restaurant space to a third-party.  

e. The owner or operator of the establishment shall take reasonable measures to prevent 

disturbances by patrons in the immediate vicinity. Such measures shall include: 

i. Signs reminding patrons of nearby residences and requests not to congregate or 

loiter near such residences nor operate vehicles in a noisy manner on residential 

streets; and  

ii. Surveillance to public areas near the establishment, keeping public areas free of trash 

and litter, providing lighting, and otherwise preventing conduct that might disturb 

the peace and quiet of residences in the vicinity.  

f. The operator shall assume reasonable responsibility for ensuring that patrons do not 

block the entrance or interfere with pedestrian activity on the adjacent public sidewalk. 

g. The applicant shall establish cash handling procedures to reduce the likelihood of 

robberies and theft.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 242 of 511



CHAPTER 23.310 – ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES AND SERVICE  SECTION  23.310.030  

 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 310-5 

4. Advertising. 

a. There shall be no exterior advertising or sign of any kind or type, including advertising 

directed to the exterior from within, promoting or indicating the availability of alcoholic 

beverages. Interior displays of alcoholic beverages or signs which are clearly visible to the 

exterior constitute a violation of this requirement.  

b. Alcohol-dispensing facilities and signs advertising alcoholic beverages may not be visible 

from the public right-of-way. 

5. Training.12 

a. The operator shall complete a Crime Prevention through Environmental Design 

(CPTED) survey prior to beginning alcohol service. 

b. All employees selling and/or serving beer and wine, or directly supervising such sales 

and/or service, shall comply with Municipal Code Section 9.84.030 (Responsible 

Beverage Service Training) and complete the Licensee Education on Alcohol and Drugs 

(LEAD) program, or another equivalent program offered or certified by the California 

Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control within 90 days of employment at the 

establishment. Employees who have completed the course within the last 12 months are 

exempt from this requirement.  

  

 
12 Clarifies that it is the operator, not the City, who must complete the CPETD survey. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 243 of 511



SECTION  23.310.030   CHAPTER 23.310 – ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE SALES AND SERVICE 

 

PAGE 310-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 244 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 314-1 

    

LIVE/WORK 
Sections: 

23.312.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.312.020 – Applicability 

23.312.030 – Required Permits 

23.312.040 – Standards for Live/Work 

23.312.050 – Findings 

 

Commentary:  This chapter consolidates the live/work provisions found throughout 23E and 23F into a new 

single chapter. The regulations are organized by their applicability to different zoning districts with general provisions 

coming first.   

23.312.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes live/work standards that: 

A. Provide for the appropriate development of units which incorporate both living and working 

space; 

B. Provide flexibility as needed for the development of live/work units, particularly within existing 

buildings; 

C. Provide locations where appropriate new businesses can start up; 

D. Provide opportunities for people to live in mixed-use industrial and commercial areas where 

compatible with existing uses; 

E. Protect existing and potential industrial uses from conflicts with nearby residential uses; 

F. Protect existing and potential residential uses from conflicts with nearby industrial uses; 

G. Permit live/work units that function predominantly as workspaces and secondarily as residences; 

H. Ensure that the division of space between living and working space within these units reflects 

the priority of workspace; and 

I. Ensure that the exterior design of live/work buildings is compatible with the exterior design of 

commercial, industrial, and residential buildings in their area, while remaining consistent with the 

predominantly workspace character of live/work buildings. 

  

 
1 Source: 23E.20.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 245 of 511



SECTION  23.312.020   CHAPTER 23.312 – LIVE/WORK 

PAGE 314-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.312.020 – APPLICABILITY2 
This chapter applies to all live/work units in any district in Berkeley.  

23.312.030 – REQUIRED PERMITS 
A. General Requirement.3 A permit is required for a live/work unit and/or for a business that 

makes up the work portion of the unit. 

B. Residential Districts.4 Live/work units are prohibited in all Residential Districts. 

C. Commercial Districts.5 

1. All Commercial Districts Except C-SA and C-W. In all Commercial Districts except the 

C-SA and C-W districts, live/work units are allowed with a Zoning Certificate. Special 

circumstances that require a Use Permit are identified in Section 23.312.040 (Standards for 

Live/Work). 

2. C-SA District. A Use Permit is required for all live/work units in the C-SA district. 

3. C-W District. 

a. An AUP is required for live/work units in the C-W district when: 

i. Nine or fewer live/work units are created; and 

ii. A dwelling unit is not changed into a live/work unit. 

b. A Use Permit is required when the AUP requirements in Paragraph (a) above are not 

met. 

D. Manufacturing Districts. 

1. M and MM Districts.6 Live/work units are prohibited in the M and MM districts. 

2. MU-LI District.7 

a. An AUP is required for live/work units in the MU-LI district when: 

i. No new floor area is created; and 

ii. A dwelling unit is not changed into a live/work unit. 

b. A Use Permit is required when the AUP requirements in Paragraph (a) above are not 

met. 

 
2 Source: 23E.20.010 
3 Clarifies that a permit is required for both the live/work unit and for a business that makes up the work portion of the 
unit. 
4 Source: Title 23D allowed use tables. 
5 Source: Source: Title 23E allowed use tables. 
6 Source: Table 23E.72.030 &23E.76.030 
7 Source: Table 23E.80.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 246 of 511



CHAPTER 23.312 – LIVE/WORK   SECTION  23.312.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 314-3 

3. MU-R District.8  

a. An AUP is required for live/work units in the MU-R district when: 

i. The applicable requirements 23.206.090.D (Development Standards) and 23.322 

(Parking and Loading) are satisfied; 

ii. Less than 5,000 square feet of gross floor area is added or changed; 

iii. Four or fewer live/work units are created; and 

iv. A dwelling unit is not changed into a live/work unit. 

b. A Use Permit is required when the AUP requirements in Paragraph (a) above are not 

met. 

23.312.040 – STANDARDS FOR LIVE/WORK 
A. All Districts.9 The following standards apply to live/work units in all districts. 

1. General Standards.  

a. A cooking space and sanitary facility in conformance with applicable building standards 

adopted by the City is required. 

b. Adequate and clearly defined working space constituting no less than 50 percent of the 

gross floor area of the live/work unit is required.  

i. The working space must be reserved for and regularly used by one or more 

live/work unit residents and be consistent with City administrative guidelines for 

live/work design.  

ii. If the workspace is less than 60 percent (or less than 50 percent in units created by 

change of use from a dwelling unit), the unit is considered a dwelling unit and is 

subject to all requirements applicable to dwelling units. 

c. A minimum of 40 square feet of usable open space shall be provided for each live/work 

unit.  

d. For live/work units established through change of use of an existing building, the ZAB 

may approve a Use Permit to substitute interior space accessible to all residents for the 

required open space in the project, if it finds that it is not practical or desirable to 

provide exterior open space. 

2. Business License. At least one resident in each live/work unit shall maintain at all times a 

valid City Business License and Zoning Certificate or Use Permit for a business on the 

premises.  

 
8 Table 23E.84.030 
9 Source: 23E.20.030-080; 23F 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 247 of 511



SECTION  23.312.040   CHAPTER 23.312 – LIVE/WORK 

PAGE 314-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. Employment, Client, and Customer Visits.10 

a. Persons who do not reside in the live/work unit may be employed in a live/work unit if 

an additional Use Permit is obtained and the required on-site parking space is provided. 

b. Client and customer visits to live/work units are permitted if an additional Use Permit is 

obtained and the required on-site parking is provided. 

4. Unit Rental and Sale. No portion of a live/work unit may be separately rented or sold as a 

commercial space for a person or persons not living on the premises, or as a residential 

space for a person or persons not working on the premises.  

5. Change of Use. 

a. To change a dwelling unit to a live/work unit, the findings required by Section 

23.326.040 (Elimination of Dwelling Units and Accessory Dwelling Units through 

Conversion and Change of Use) must be made. 

b. Establishing or changing the work use of a live/work unit to medical offices or group 

instruction requires ZAB approval of a Use Permit to subject to Section 23.312.050 

(Findings) below.  

c. In districts other than the MU-LI district, live/work units may be changed to exclusively 

residential use or the residential floor area increased above 40 percent, only if all 

requirements for establishing a residential use are met. 

d. In districts other than the MU-R district, live/work units may be changed to an 

exclusively commercial use, provided that in the C-W district only ground floor space 

may be so changed. All such changes are subject to Section 23.326.040 (Elimination of 

Dwelling Units and Accessory Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use). 

6. Low Income Inclusionary Units. The following low income inclusionary standards apply 

to any project that creates five or more live/work units. 

a. One inclusionary live/work unit shall be provided for each five live/work units in the 

project, notwithstanding a fraction of a unit. 

b. Inclusionary live/work units shall be sold or rented at a price or rent affordable to a 

household with an income of 80 percent of the median income for the Oakland Primary 

Metropolitan Statistical Area. 

c. Inclusionary units shall be affirmatively marketed by the developer of a project to 

income-eligible persons performing a work activity permitted in the district where the 

project is located whose type of work causes them to have a requirement for a space 

larger in size than typically found in residential units. 

d. Inclusionary live/work units shall maintain affordable rents or resale prices in 

accordance with the standards in Chapter 23.328 (Inclusionary Housing). 

 
10 Clarifies that non-resident employees, and client/customer visits require an additional Use Permit. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 248 of 511



CHAPTER 23.312 – LIVE/WORK   SECTION  23.312.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 314-5 

e. At the applicant’s sole discretion, inclusionary live/work units may: 

i. Have a lower grade of finishes than other units in the project.  

ii. Be located anywhere within the project. 

iii. Be smaller than other live/work units in the project as long as they meet the 

minimum size requirement for live/work units in the district. 

B. C-W District.11 In addition to the standards in Subsection A (All Districts) above, the following 

live/work standards apply in the C-W district. 

1. Only ground floor space may be changed to live/work units.  

2. The total floor area of the live/work unit must be at least 800 square feet. 

C. MU-LI District.12 In addition to the standards in Subsection A (All Districts) above, the 

following live/work standards apply in the MU-LI district. 

1. At least one resident in the live/work unit must be engaged in an art craft studio activity or 

in an activity which requires space not typically available in a conventional residential setting. 

2. The specific activity a live/work resident will engage in must be stated. 

3. The total floor area of the live/work unit must be at least 1,000 square feet. 

D. MU-R District.13 In addition to the standards in Subsection A (All Districts) above, the 

following live/work standards apply in the MU-R district. 

1. The total floor area of the live/work unit must be at least 1,000 square feet. 

2. The live/work unit must meet the location limitations in 23.206.090.B.8 (MU-R Mixed Use-

Residential District - Residential Uses). 

23.312.050 – FINDINGS 

A. All Districts.14 

1. To approve any Use Permit or AUP for a live/work unit in any district, the review authority 

must find that the proposed project is consistent with the purpose of this chapter. 

2. To approve a Use Permit to establish or change the work use of a live/work unit to medical 

office or group instruction, the ZAB must find that adequate parking for the use has been 

provided. 

B. C-W District. In addition to the findings in Subsection A (All Districts) above, the ZAB may 

approve a Use Permit to change a residential unit to a live/work unit and retain less than 75 

 
11 Source: Table 23E.64.030; 23E.20.070 
12 Source: Table 23E.80.030; 23E.80.030.E; 23E.20.070 
13 Source: Table 23E.84.030; 23E.20.070 
14 Source: 23E.20.090 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 249 of 511



SECTION  23.312.050   CHAPTER 23.312 – LIVE/WORK 

PAGE 314-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

percent of the pre-existing residential area as living area within the live/work unit only if it 

makes all of the following findings: 

1. There are special circumstances particular to the application which make it appropriate to 

retain less than 75 percent of the pre-existing residential area as living space within the 

live/work unit; and 

2. The exterior appearance of the live/work unit has been designed to be compatible with 

adjacent and nearby residential uses. 

C. MU-LI District.15 In addition to the findings in Subsection A (All Districts) above, the review 

authority may approve a Use Permit or AUP for a live/work unit in the MU-LI district only if it 

makes all of the following findings: 

1. The applicant has made adequate provisions to ensure that within the live/work units, 

occupants of the live/work units will only engage in the occupations listed in the definition 

of art/craft studios.  

2. Development of such live/work units is not incompatible with adjacent and nearby 

industrial uses. 

3. The applicant has recorded with the County Recorder a statement acknowledging that the 

live/work unit is being established in a district where manufacturers and other industries 

operate lawfully and that the applicant will not seek to impede their lawful operation. In 

addition, the applicant will require any tenants to sign such a statement, and require all 

persons purchasing live/work units to sign and record such a statement. 

D. MU-R District.16 In addition to the findings listed in Subsection A (All Districts) above, the 

review authority may approve a Use Permit or AUP to establish or modify a live/work unit in 

the MU-R district only if it makes all of the following findings: 

1. Establishment of a live/work unit will not interfere with the lawful operation of 

manufacturers and other industries existing in or adjacent to the district and will not impede 

the lawful future establishment of manufacturers and other industries permitted under the 

West Berkeley Plan. 

2. The applicant has recorded with the County Recorder a statement acknowledging that the 

live/work unit is being established in a district where manufacturers and other industries 

operate lawfully and that he/she will not seek to impede their lawful operation. In addition, 

the applicant will require any tenants to sign such a statement, and require all persons 

purchasing live/work units to sign and record such a statement. 

3. If the applicant proposes to change one or more dwelling unit to a live/work unit, the 

elimination of dwelling unit and the change of use would not be materially detrimental to the 

housing needs and public interest of the affected neighborhood and the city. 

 
15 Source: Table 23E.80.030; 23E.80.090.G 
16 Source: 23E.84.090.D 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 250 of 511



CHAPTER 23.312 – LIVE/WORK   SECTION  23.312.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 314-7 

4. If the applicant proposes to change a residential unit to a live/work unit and retain less than 

75 percent of the pre-existing residential area as living area within the live/work unit: 

a. There are special circumstances particular to the application which make it appropriate 

to retain less than 75 percent of the pre-existing residential area as living space within the 

live/work unit; and 

b. The exterior appearance of the live/work unit has been designed to be compatible with 

adjacent and nearby residential uses. 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 251 of 511



SECTION  23.312.050   CHAPTER 23.312 – LIVE/WORK 

PAGE 314-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 252 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 316-1 

    

SHORT-TERM RENTALS 
Sections: 

23.314.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.314.020 – Definitions 

23.314.030 – Applicability 

23.314.040 – General Regulations 

23.314.050 – Operating Standards and Requirements 

23.314.060 – Violations and Remedies 

  

Commentary:  This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23C.22 with minor edits for style and clarity. 

23.314.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes short-term rental standards that: 

A. Prevent long-term rental units from being replaced with short-term rentals and protect 

affordable housing units from conversion; 

B. Preserve and protect neighborhood character and livability from nuisances that are often 

associated with short-term rentals; 

C. Generate City revenue to share infrastructure cost and other public expenditures by operation of 

short-term rentals under established standards; and 

D. Provide alternative forms of lodging. 

23.314.020 – DEFINITIONS2 
A. Terms Defined. Terms used in this chapter are defined as follows: 

1. Adjacent Properties. The dwelling units abutting and confronting, as well as above and 

below, a dwelling unit within which a short-term rental is located. 

2. Host. Any owner or tenant host. An owner host is a person who is the owner of record of 

residential real property, as documented by a deed or other such evidence of ownership, who 

offers their host residence, or a portion thereof, as a short-term rental. A tenant host is a 

lessee of residential real property, as documented by a lease or other such evidence, who 

offers their host residence, or portion thereof, as a short-term rental. 

3. Host Present or Host Presence. The host is living in the host residence during the short-

term rental period. In the case of a parcel comprised of a single primary unit and one or 

 
1 Source: 23C.22.010 
2 Source: 23C.22.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 253 of 511



SECTION  23.314.030   CHAPTER 23.314 – SHORT-TERM RENTALS 

PAGE 316-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

more authorized accessory dwelling units and/or accessory buildings, the host is considered 

present if he or she is present in any unit on such parcel. 

4. Hosting Platform. A business or person that provides a means through which a host may 

offer a dwelling unit, or portion thereof, for short-term rentals. A hosting platform is usually, 

though not necessarily, provided through an internet-based platform. It generally allows a 

property owner or tenant to advertise the dwelling unit through a website provided by the 

hosting platform and provides a means for potential short-term rental transients to arrange 

short-term rentals, whether the short-term rental transient pays rent directly to the host or to 

the hosting platform. 

5. Host Residence. A host’s principal place of residence, as defined by whether the host 

carries on basic living activities at the dwelling place and, whether such dwelling place is the 

host’s usual place of return. Motor vehicle registration, driver’s license, voter registration or 

other evidence as may be required by the City shall be indicia of principal residency. 

6. Local Contact. A person designated by the host who shall be available during the term of 

any short-term rental for the purpose of  

a. Responding within sixty minutes to complaints regarding the condition or operation of 

the dwelling unit or portion thereof used for Short-Term Rental, or the conduct of 

Short-Term Rental Transients; and  

b. Taking appropriate remedial action on behalf of the Host, up to and including 

termination of the short-term rental, if allowed by and pursuant to the short-term rental 

agreement, to resolve such complaints. 

7. No Fault Eviction. An eviction pursuant to the Ellis Act or Sections 13.76.130.A.9 or 10 of 

the Municipal Code. 

8. Short-Term Rental. The use of any dwelling unit, authorized accessory dwelling unit or 

accessory building, or portions thereof for dwelling, sleeping or lodging purposes by short-

term rental transients. Excludes tourist hotels and residential hotels. 

9. Short-Term Rental Transient or STR Transient. Any person who rents a dwelling unit, 

authorized accessory dwelling unit or accessory building, or portion thereof, for less than 14 

consecutive days. 

B. Terms Not Defined. Terms not defined in this section shall be interpreted to give this chapter 

its most reasonable meaning and application, consistent with applicable state and federal law. 

23.314.030 – APPLICABILITY3 
This chapter applies to the rental of a dwelling unit, accessory dwelling unit or accessory building for 

a period of less than 14 consecutive days. 

  

 
3 Source: 23C.22.030.H&I. Removes districts where permitted, which is addressed in the district allowed use tables. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 254 of 511



CHAPTER 23.314 – SHORT-TERM RENTALS   SECTION  23.314.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 316-3 

23.314.040 – GENERAL REGULATIONS4  
A. Host Residence. Short-term rentals are permitted only in the host residence. 

B. BMR Units. Short-term rentals are prohibited in below market rate (BMR) units. BMR units for 

short-term rental purposes refer to dwelling units whose rents are listed as a result of deed 

restrictions or agreements with public agencies, and whose tenants must be income qualified. 

C. No-Fault Evictions. A property containing a unit with a no-fault eviction may not operate a 

short-term rental for five years from the date of the eviction unless it is a single-family home that 

has been vacated for purposes of owner occupancy in compliance with the Rent Stabilization 

Ordinance in Municipal Code Chapter 13.76 (Rent Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause 

Ordinance). 

D. Accessory Buildings. 

1. Short-term rentals are allowed in: 

a. Accessory buildings; and 

b. Accessory dwelling units permitted before April 3, 2017 unless the accessory dwelling 

unit is used for long-term rentals, as defined in Municipal Code Chapter 13.76 (Rent 

Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause Ordinance) or has been used for long-term 

rentals at any time prior to April 3, 2017. 

2. A short-term rental is not allowed in an accessory dwelling unit permitted after April 3, 2017. 

23.314.050 – OPERATING STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS5 
A short-term rental must conform to all of the operating standards and requirements in this section. 

A. Proof of Host Residency. 

1. Owner-Host. An owner-host of a short-term rental must provide the Planning and 

Development Department documentation of owner-host and host residence status and, if 

applicable, host presence. 

2. Tenant-Host. A tenant-host must provide the Planning and Development Department 

documentation of lessee status, host residence and host presence, if applicable. In addition, a 

tenant-host must present written authorization allowing for a short-term rental in the host 

residence from the building owner or authorized agent of the owner. 

B. Allowed Duration and Required Residency Timeframes. 

1. When the host is present, a short-term rental is allowed for an unlimited number of days 

during the calendar year. 

2. When the host is not present, a unit may be used as a short-term rental for no more than 90 

days per calendar year. 

 
4 Source: 23C.22.020; 23C.22.040. Definitions in 23C.22.030 are moved to glossary. 
5 Source: 23C.22.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 255 of 511



SECTION  23.314.050   CHAPTER 23.314 – SHORT-TERM RENTALS 

PAGE 316-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

C. Number of Occupants. The maximum number of short-term rental transients allowed for a 

short-term rental unit is as provided in Municipal Code Chapter 19.40 (Uniform Housing Code). 

D. Notification.6 

1. After the City approvers a Zoning Certificate and Business License for a short-term rental, a 

host shall notify residents of all adjacent properties that a short-term rental has been 

established. Notification shall include host and local contact information. 

2. A host shall notify residents of all adjacent properties of updated host, local contact, or other 

information within one week of changes to such information. 

E. Enforcement Fees. 

1. For the initial enforcement period, while enforcement costs are being determined, the host 

shall pay an additional enforcement fee in an amount equal to 2 percent of the rents charged 

by that host, not to exceed the cost of the regulatory program established by this chapter 

over time. 

2. Enforcement fees may be paid by the hosting platform on behalf of the host. After the initial 

enforcement period, the City Council may revise the enforcement fee by resolution. 

F. Liability Insurance. Liability insurance is required of the host, or hosting platform on behalf of 

the host, in the amount of at least $1,000,000. 

G. Documents Provided to Short-Term Rental Transients.7 The host or hosting platform must 

provide to short-term rental transients upon booking and arrival electronic or paper copies of: 

1. The Community Noise Ordinance in Municipal Code Chapter 13.40 (Community Noise); 

and 

2. The Smoke-Free Multi-Unit Housing Ordinance in Municipal Code Chapter 12.70 (Smoking 

Pollution Control). 

H. Transient Occupancy Tax. Either the host or hosting platform must pay the transient 

occupancy tax. 

I. Housing Code Compliance. Any building or portion of a building used for short-term rentals 

shall comply with Municipal Code Section 19.40 (Uniform Housing Code). 

J. Payment of Taxes. The host shall pay all City taxes and fees owed in a timely manner. 

K. Host Responsibilities. 

1. The host shall list on any rental advertisement the Zoning Certificate number. 

 
6 Clarifies that it is the host and not the City that notifies adjacent properties and that notification occurs after and not 
before Zoning Certificate approval. 
7 Clarifies that it is the host or hosting platform that must provide noise and smoke ordinances. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 256 of 511



CHAPTER 23.314 – SHORT-TERM RENTALS   SECTION  23.314.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 316-5 

2. Upon request, the host must provide both the Business License number, if required by 

Municipal Code Chapter 9.04 (Business Licenses), and Zoning Certificate for the short-term 

rental to the City and/or a vendor hired by the City to administer this chapter. 

23.314.060 – VIOLATIONS AND REMEDIES8 
A. Compliance with Second-Response Ordinance. The host shall comply with the Second 

Response Ordinance in Municipal Code Section 13.48 (Civil Penalties for Multiple Responses to 

Loud or Unruly Parties, Gatherings or Other Similar Events). The host is prohibited from 

operating short-term rentals for one year after issuance of a third violation affidavit. 

B. Violations and Remedies of this Chapter. 

1. Violation of this chapter is punishable as set forth in Municipal Code Sections 1.20 (General 

Penalty) and 1.28 (Administrative Citations). 

2. Violation of this chapter is a public nuisance subject to abatement under Municipal Code 

Sections 1.24 (Abatement of Nuisances), 1.26 (Violations Declared Public Nuisance), and 

23.414 (Nuisance Abatement). 

3. In any enforcement action, the prevailing party is entitled to recover reasonable attorneys’ 

fees and costs; provided that, pursuant to Government Code Section 38773.5, attorneys’ fees 

are only available in an action or proceeding in which the City has elected, at the 

commencement of such action or proceeding, to seek recovery of its own attorneys’ fees. An 

award of attorneys’ fees to a prevailing party may not exceed the amount of reasonable 

attorneys’ fees incurred by the City in the action or proceeding. 

4. Any Berkeley resident may bring a private action for injunctive relief to prevent or remedy a 

public nuisance. No action may be brought under this subsection unless and until the 

prospective plaintiff has given the City and the prospective defendant(s) at least 30 days 

written notice of the alleged public nuisance and the City has failed to initiate proceedings 

within that period, or after initiation, has failed to diligently prosecute. 

5. The following constitute a public nuisance: 

a. Any occurrence at a short-term rental unit that creates a substantial disturbance of the 

quiet enjoyment of private or public property in a significant segment of a 

neighborhood, such as excessive noise or traffic, obstruction of public streets by crowds 

or vehicles, public intoxication, the service to or consumption of alcohol by minors, 

fights, disturbances of the peace, litter or other similar conditions. 

b. Any short-term rental transient of a short-term rental unit where an event is taking place 

refusing access to, or interfering with access by, Fire Department or other City personnel 

responding to an emergency call or investigating a situation. 

 
8 Source: 23C.22.060 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 257 of 511



SECTION  23.314.060   CHAPTER 23.314 – SHORT-TERM RENTALS 

PAGE 316-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

6. Notwithstanding any provision of Municipal Code Chapter 13.48 (Civil Penalties for 

Multiple Responses to Loud or Unruly Parties, Gatherings or Other Similar Events) to the 

contrary, a public nuisance as defined in this section is subject to remedies in this subsection. 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 258 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 316-1 

    

PERCENTAGE FOR PUBLIC ART ON 

PRIVATE PROJECTS  
Sections: 

23.316.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.316.020 – Applicability 

23.316.030 – Definitions 

23.316.040 – General Requirements 

23.316.050 – Required Permits 

23.316.060 – In-Lieu Fees 

23.316.070 – Administrative Regulations (Guidelines) 

 

Commentary:  This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23C.23 with minor edits for style and clarity. 

23.316.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
The purpose of this chapter is to establish a public art requirement for private developments in 

order to provide the following benefits to the community: 

A. Maintain Berkeley’s art and culture for generations. 

B. Recognize the vital importance of the arts to the city as a whole. 

C. Enhance the economic sustainability of artists and arts organizations as a key to the vitality of 

the city. 

D. Make a lasting contribution to the intellectual, emotional and creative life of the community at 

large, and to create a more desirable community to live, work, and recreate. 

23.316.020 – APPLICABILITY2  
A. Districts. This chapter applies in all districts in Berkeley. 

B. Uses. This chapter applies to: 

1. New multifamily residential projects of five or more dwelling units; 

2. New commercial structures; and 

3. New industrial structures 

 
1 Source: 23C.23.010 
2 Source: 23C.23.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 259 of 511



SECTION  23.316.030  CHAPTER 23.334 – PERCENTAGE FOR PUBLIC ART ON PRIVATE PROPERTY 

PAGE 316-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

C. Project Size. This chapter applies to all construction of building additions exceeding 10,000 

square feet.   

D.  Exceptions.3 This chapter does not apply to the following project types: 

1. Multifamily housing that has a regulatory agreement with a government agency restricting 

the rent and limiting tenancy to qualifying households not exceeding specified incomes for at 

least 60 percent of the units. 

2. Buildings with religious assembly uses as defined in Chapter 23.502 (Glossary) and buildings 

with arts and cultural uses. For purposes of this section, "arts and cultural use" means 

buildings that have as their primary purpose the presentation of one or more cultural 

resources, and that are operated by public entities or nonprofit organizations dedicated to 

cultural activities available to a broad public. 

3. Transitional housing. 

23.316.030 – DEFINITIONS4 
A. Terms Defined. Terms used in this chapter are defined as follows: 

1. Artist. An individual independent professional practitioner of the visual, performing, or 

literary arts, as judged by educational qualifications, a history of creating a body of public or 

publicly-displayed artwork, critical recognition in publications or online, a record of 

exhibitions and/or artwork sales. Members of the design team are not artists for on-site 

publicly accessible art projects. Individuals who have a conflict of interest, including a 

familial or financial relationship to the developer or design team, are not artists for on-site 

publicly accessible art projects. 

2. Construction Cost. The amount determined by the Chief Building Official for purposes of 

setting the building permit fee in accordance with the most recent building valuation date 

specified in the building permit fees section of the resolution establishing fees and charges as 

adopted by the City Council. 

3. Developer. A person or entity that is financially and legally responsible for the planning, 

development and construction, or maintenance and operation of any project subject to this 

chapter. 

4. On-Site Publicly Accessible Art. An original work by an artist, including, but not limited 

to, functional art integrated into the building, landscape, or element of infrastructure, 

including sculpture, monument, mural, painting, drawing, photography, fountain, banner, 

mosaic, textile, art glass, digital media art, video, earthworks and multi-media installation, 

that is in a location that is accessible to and available for use by the general public during 

normal hours of business operation consistent with the operation and use of the premises. 

 
3 Source: 23C.23.030 
4 Source: 23C.23.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 260 of 511



CHAPTER 23.334 – PERCENTAGE FOR PUBLIC ART ON PRIVATE PROPERTY  SECTION  23.316.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 316-3 

5. Guidelines. The guidelines adopted by the City Council pursuant to Section 23.316.080 

(Administrative Regulations (Guidelines)). 

B. Terms Not Defined. Terms not defined in this section shall be interpreted to give this chapter 

its most reasonable meaning and application, consistent with applicable state and federal law. 

23.316.040 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS5  
Developers subject to this chapter shall do one of the following: 

A. Include on-site publicly accessible art valued at 1.75 percent of the construction cost. In the 

event the value of on-site publicly accessible art as installed is less than 1.75 percent of the 

construction cost, an amount equal to 80 percent of the difference in value shall be paid to the 

City as an in-lieu fee. 

B. Pay an in-lieu fee top the City of 0.80 percent of the construction cost. 

23.316.050 – REQUIRED PERMITS6  
A. Subject to Laws and Regulations. On-site publicly accessible art is subject to, and shall 

comply with, all applicable City ordinances and laws and regulations of other governmental 

agencies.  

B. Permits Must Be Obtained. 

1. Prior to construction, the applicant shall identify and secure all applicable permits from the 

Building and Safety Division, Public Works Department and other affected City divisions 

and departments. 

2. The process for identifying and securing required permits shall be set forth in the 

Guidelines.  

23.316.060 – IN-LIEU FEES7  
A. Alternative to On-Site Art. As an alternative to providing on-site publicly accessible art, the 

developer may elect to pay an in-lieu fee to the City as set forth in this section. 

B. Use of Fees. Any in-lieu fees paid to the City pursuant to this chapter shall be used for art and 

cultural services as set forth in the Guidelines. 

C. Amount of Fee. The in-lieu fee shall be 0.80 percent of the construction cost. 

D. Time of Payment. The in-lieu fee shall be paid at the same time as other building permit fees. 

  

 
5 Source: 23C.23.050 
6 Source: 23C.23.060 
7 Source: 23C.23.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 261 of 511



SECTION  23.316.070  CHAPTER 23.334 – PERCENTAGE FOR PUBLIC ART ON PRIVATE PROPERTY 

PAGE 316-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.316.070 – ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS (GUIDELINES)8 
A. Adoption of Guidelines. The Civic Arts Commission shall recommend and the Council, by 

resolution, shall adopt guidelines for the administration and implementation of this chapter. 

B. Determining Compliance with Guidelines. The Civic Arts Commission shall be responsible 

for determining if On-Site Publicly Accessible Art complies with the Guidelines.  

  

 
8 Source: 23C.23.080 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 262 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 318-1 

    

URBAN AGRICULTURE 
Sections: 

23.318.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.318.020 – Applicability 

23.318.030 – Urban Agriculture Uses and Levels of Discretion 

23.318.040 – Thresholds 

23.318.050 – Operation Standards 

23.318.060 – Complaints 

 

Commentary:  This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23C.26 with minor edits for style and clarity. 

23.318.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes urban agriculture standards to provide the following community benefits: 

A. Support the local economy and increase access to fresh local produce. 

B. Strengthen the health and social fabric of communities by encouraging and supporting 

community gardens. 

C. Accomplish the Berkeley Climate Action Plan goal of supporting efforts to build more complete 

and sustainable local food production and distribution systems. 

23.318.020 – APPLICABILITY2  
These regulations supersede definitions of incidental or ancillary uses.  

23.318.030  – URBAN AGRICULTURE USES AND LEVELS OF DISCRETION3  
A. Zoning Certificate. When all of the thresholds in Section 23.318.040 (Thresholds) are met, the 

use is considered Low-Impact Urban Agriculture (LIUA) and is allowed by right with a Zoning 

Certificate. 

B. Administrative Use Permit. When one or more of the thresholds in Section 23.318.040 

(Thresholds) are not met, the use is considered High-Impact Urban Agriculture (HIUA) requires 

an AUP. 

  

 
1 Source: 23C.26.010 
2 Source: 23C.26.020. Clarifies what is meant by “urban agriculture is a primary use.” Removes statement of where use is 
allowed, which is addressed in allowed use tables for districts. 
3 Source: 23C.26.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 263 of 511



SECTION  23.318.040   CHAPTER 23.318 – URBAN AGRICULTURE 

PAGE 318-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.318.040 – THRESHOLDS4  
The levels of discretion for urban agriculture are based on the following thresholds: 

A. Maximum parcel size of 7,500 square feet. 

B. Maximum lot coverage of 20 percent for accessory structures and buildings. 

C. Maximum group classes and workshops of 20 participants per class conducted no more than 

three times per week. 

D. Hours of operation from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m., including but not limited to activities related to 

gardening and planting of horticultural crops, group classes, and sales. 

E. Use of organic pesticides. 

23.318.050 – OPERATION STANDARDS5  
A. Performance Standards. The growing, production, or sale of urban agricultural products may 

not involve hazardous materials or processes or create offensive or objectionable noise, 

vibration, odors, heat, dirt, or electrical disturbance perceptible by a person beyond the lot line 

of the subject lot. 

B. Sales and Donations. 

1. Sales and/or donations of urban agricultural products grown and produced on-site are 

permitted. 

2. If selling or donating urban agricultural products to the public, the urban agriculture use 

shall comply with all applicable food safety laws, including the California Health and Safety 

Code. 

C. Garbage and Compost. 

1. Garbage and compost receptacles must be screened from the street and adjacent properties 

by utilizing landscaping, fencing, or storage structures and all garbage shall be removed from 

the site weekly. 

2. Compost piles and containers must be set back at least 10 feet from residential buildings 

when an urban agriculture use abuts a residential use. 

D. Farm Equipment. Use of mechanized farm equipment is prohibited in Residential Districts 

and when the urban agriculture use abuts a residential use, with the following exceptions: 

1. Heavy equipment may be used initially to prepare the land for agriculture use. 

2. Landscaping equipment designed for household use is permitted. 

3. Equipment when not in use must be enclosed or otherwise screened from sight.  

 
4 Source: 23C.26.040 
5 Source: 23C.26.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 264 of 511



CHAPTER 23.318 – URBAN AGRICULTURE  SECTION  23.318.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE | JANUARY 2020 DRAFT PAGE 318-3 

23.318.060 – COMPLAINTS6  
Uses, activities, or events associated with urban agriculture are subject to Municipal Code Chapters 

23.414 (Nuisance Abatement) and 12.92 (Anti-Blight) if found to be non-compliant with this 

chapter. 

  

 
6 Source: 23C.26.060 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 265 of 511



SECTION  23.318.060   CHAPTER 23.318 – URBAN AGRICULTURE 

PAGE 318-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 266 of 511



 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 320-1 

    

CANNABIS USES 
Sections: 

23.320.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.320.020 – Cannabis Retail 

23.320.030 – Commercial Cannabis Cultivation 

23.320.040 – Cannabis Manufacturers, Testing Labs and Distributors  

23.320.050 – Microbusinesses 

 

Commentary:  This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23C.25 with minor edits for clarity and style. 

23.320.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes standards for cannabis uses that supplement the regulations in Municipal 

Code Chapter 12.21 (Cannabis Business: General Regulations) and Chapter 12.22 (Cannabis 

Business Operating Standards). 

23.320.020 – CANNABIS RETAIL2 
A. Definitions. The terms cannabis retailer, storefront retailer, delivery-only retailer, A-Retailer, 

and M-Retailer are defined in Municipal Code Section 12.21.020 (Definitions). 

B. Non-Conforming M-Retailers. 

1. A medical cannabis dispensary (M-Retailer) existing and authorized as of January 1, 2010 

that does not comply with this section may continue at its current medical cannabis 

dispensing location as a legal nonconforming use. 

2. Notwithstanding Chapter 23.324 (Nonconforming Uses and Structures) or the regulations in 

this section, the Zoning Officer may approve an AUP to allow the expansion of a lawful 

nonconforming medical cannabis dispensary onto an adjacent parcel. 

C. Location Changes. 

1. A cannabis retailer in good standing with state and City regulations, including obtaining all 

necessary licenses and full payment of all fees and with no outstanding violations, may seek 

approval for a change in location. 

2. An application for a change of location shall be evaluated based on the requirements to 

operate a cannabis business effective at the time of the proposed change. 

  

 
1 New 
2 Source: 23C.25.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 267 of 511



SECTION  23.320.020   CHAPTER 23.320 – CANNABIS USES 

 

PAGE 320-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

D. Storefront Retailers. 

1. A storefront retailer is permitted in Commercial Districts with a Zoning Certificate, and 

must maintain compliance with Municipal Code Chapters 12.21 (Cannabis Business: General 

Regulations) and 12.22 (Cannabis Business Operating Standards) and security regulations 

promulgated by the Chief of Police. 

2. A storefront retailer shall be approved through the selection process described in Municipal 

Code Section 12.22.020 (Selection Process). 

3. Up to seven storefront retail permits may be issued, one of which is reserved for an equity 

candidate as defined in Municipal Code Section 12.21.020 (Selection Process). This limit to 

the number of storefront retailers shall not be reconsidered for a period of three years from 

the effective date of this ordinance. 

4. Expansion of an approved storefront retailer must comply with the development standards 

for the zoning district in which it is located. 

5. Storefront retailers may operate as a retail storefront microbusiness as defined in Municipal 

Code Chapter 12.21 (Cannabis Business: General Regulations) subject to obtaining all 

required state and local licenses. 

6. Buffers. 

a. A storefront retailer may not be located: 

i. Within 600 feet of another storefront retailer, a public or private elementary school, 

or a City-operated community center or skate park; or 

ii. Within 1,000 feet of a public or private middle school or high school. 

b. Notwithstanding Paragraph (a) above, a seventh storefront retailer, to be operated by an 

equity business, may not be located within 600 feet of another storefront retailer or 

school. 

E. Delivery-Only Retailers. 

1. Seven delivery-only retailers are permitted citywide, four of which shall be operated by an 

equity business, and three of which shall be a non-equity business. 

2. A delivery-only retailer shall be approved through the selection process described in 

Municipal Code Section 12.22.020 (Selection Process). 

3. Delivery-only retailers are permitted with a Zoning Certificate in all Commercial Districts 

other than the C-N district. 

4. Delivery-only retailers are permitted in the Manufacturing (M) district, shall be evaluated and 

regulated for zoning purposes in the same way as a warehouse-based non-store retailer, and 

shall be subject to the numeric and buffer requirements in this section for delivery-only 

retailers. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 268 of 511



CHAPTER 23.320 – CANNABIS USES   SECTION  23.320.030  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 320-3 

5. A delivery-only retailer may not be located within 300 feet of any school or City-operated 

community center or skate park. 

6. A delivery-only retailer may not be located in a street-fronting tenant space in a Commercial 

District. 

F. Lounges. 

1. A Lounge, as defined in Municipal Code Section 12.21.020 (Definitions), may be permitted 

at an approved retailer with a Use Permit. 

2. A Lounge must comply with the operational standards established by the City of Berkeley 

Department of Health, Housing and Community Services.  

23.320.030 – COMMERCIAL CANNABIS CULTIVATION3 
A. Definition. The term “commercial cannabis cultivation” as used in this chapter is defined in 

Municipal Code Chapter 12.21 (Cannabis Businesses: General Regulations). 

B. General Requirements. 

1. Commercial cannabis cultivation shall comply with Municipal Code Chapter 12.22 (Cannabis 

Business Operating Standards), security measured required by the Chief of Police, and the 

requirements of this chapter. 

2. Commercial cannabis cultivation may include testing, processing, manufacturing, and food 

preparation only to the extent expressly permitted by MAUCRSA. 

C. Where Allowed.  Commercial cannabis cultivation is permitted with a Zoning Certificate in the 

Manufacturing (M) district, subject to the following limitations: 

1. Commercial cannabis cultivation shall only occur at licensed cannabis businesses. 

2. Cannabis may not be dispensed and client, patient or member services and retail sales are 

prohibited at cannabis cultivation facilities. 

D. Maximum Canopy Area. 

1. The total citywide canopy area of cannabis cultivation facilities may not exceed 180,000 

square feet. 

2. The total citywide canopy area of all minor cannabis cultivation facilities may not exceed 

48,000 square feet plus any area not used by a major cannabis cultivation facility. 

E. Different Licenses. Separate spaces used by different licensees may be aggregated at the same 

location. 

F. Outdoor Cultivation Prohibited. Commercial cannabis cultivation is prohibited outside of a 

building. 

 
3 Source: 23C.25.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 269 of 511



SECTION  23.320.040   CHAPTER 23.320 – CANNABIS USES 

 

PAGE 320-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

G. Cannabis Nurseries. A cannabis nursery as defined in Municipal Code Section 21.21.020 

(Definitions) is subject to the same regulations as a commercial cannabis cultivation cannabis 

cultivation facility. 

H. Buffer. A commercial cannabis cultivation facility may not be located within 300 feet of a school 

or City-operated community center or skate park. 

I. Major Cannabis Cultivation Facilities. 

1. No more than six major cannabis cultivation facilities are permitted. 

2. A major cannabis cultivation facility may not be approved until the City Council adopts 

licensing process and standards for such uses. 

3. Adopted standards shall require indoor cultivation uses to offset the net increased energy 

used as compared to a regular industrial facility. 

4. Adopted standards also may include whether: 

a. Cannabis cultivation uses will provide a percentage of all usable product cultivated at no 

cost to very low-income patients; 

b. Cannabis cultivation uses will use organic methods in cultivation and processing to the 

maximum extent reasonable; and 

c. The form of organization, ownership, and practices of cannabis cultivation uses ensure 

equity and accountability, low prices, and an adequate supply of high-quality cannabis to 

customers. 

23.320.040 – CANNABIS MANUFACTURERS, TESTING LABS, AND DISTRIBUTORS 4 
A. Equivalent Uses. Cannabis manufacturers, testing labs, and distributors shall be evaluated and 

regulated in the same way as the equivalent non-cannabis uses shown in Table 23.320.040-1. 

TABLE 23.320.040-1: EQUIVALENT NON-CANNABIS USES 

Cannabis Use Equivalent Non-Cannabis Use 

Manufacturing, processing, food preparation Light Manufacturing 

Testing labs Testing labs 

Distribution Wholesale Trade 

 

B. Buffer.  Cannabis manufacturers, testing labs and distributors may not be located within 300 

feet of a school. 

  

 
4 Source: 23C.25.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 270 of 511



CHAPTER 23.320 – CANNABIS USES   SECTION  23.320.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 320-5 

23.320.050 – MICROBUSINESSES5 
A. Definition. The term “microbusiness” as used in this chapter is defined in Municipal Code 

Chapter 12.21 (Cannabis Business: General Regulations). 

B. General. A microbusiness is subject to the development standards in this chapter for each use 

on the premises, with the following exceptions: 

1. In cases where the development standards and permit thresholds for two or more uses are 

different, the more restrictive standards apply. 

2. Retail nursery microbusinesses are subject to 23.320.050.C (Retail Nursery Microbusinesses). 

C. Retail Nursery Microbusinesses. 

1. A used in this section, “existing nursery” means a legally established plant nursery in 

Berkeley established as of as of the effective date of this ordinance. 

2. Up to two existing nurseries may convert to a retail nursery microbusiness. Retail nursery 

microbusinesses are not subject to the numeric or canopy limitations of other retailers or 

cannabis cultivators. 

3. In a Commercial or Manufacturing District, an existing nursery may convert to a retail 

nursery microbusiness by right with a Zoning Certificate if each use conducted on the 

premises complies with the applicable development standards in the Zoning Ordinance. 

4. In a Residential District, an existing nursery may convert to a retail nursery microbusiness 

with a Use Permit for a substantial expansion or change in character to a non-conforming 

use as provided in Chapter 23.324 (Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings). 

5. The City shall issue the Zoning Certificates and/or Use Permits to existing nurseries on a 

first-come, first-served basis. 

6. The City shall determine the right to retain the allocated Zoning Certificates and/or Use 

Permits as follows:  

a. For a Zoning Certificate, the date of issuance of a concurrent business license and 

establishing and continuously operating the business.  

b. For a Use Permit is required, the date the Use Permit application is deemed complete so 

long as the Use Permit is implemented with a business license within 30 days of approval 

and establishing and continuously operating the business. 

7. The 600-foot buffer required between cannabis retailers in Section 23.320.020 (Cannabis 

Retail) does not apply between a storefront cannabis retailers and a retail nursery 

microbusiness. 

  

 
5 Source: 23C.25.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 271 of 511



SECTION  23.320.050   CHAPTER 23.320 – CANNABIS USES 

 

PAGE 320-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 272 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-1 

     

PARKING AND LOADING 
Sections: 

23.322.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.322.020 – Applicability 

23.322.030 – Required Parking Spaces 

23.322.040 – General Requirements 

23.322.050 – Parking Reductions 

23.322.060 – C-DMU Parking and Transportation Demand Management 

23.322.070 – Parking Layout and Design 

23.322.080 – Bicycle Parking 

23.322.090 – On-site Loading Spaces 

23.322.100 – Parking Lots in Residential Districts 

23.322.110 – Transportation Services Fee 

 

Commentary:  This chapter consolidates existing parking and loading regulations found in 23D and E into a new 

single chapter. The regulations were condensed by subject, rather than district, when possible.  

23.322.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes parking and loading standards to: 

A. Prevent the current deficiency of parking spaces existing in many areas of Berkeley from 

worsening; 

B. Require the provision of off-street parking spaces for traffic-generating uses of land within 

Berkeley; and 

C. Reduce the amount of on-street parking of vehicles, thus increasing the safety and capacity of 

Berkeley’s street system. 

23.322.020 – APPLICABILITY 

Commentary:  This section states up front when parking is required. If parking is not required, the reader doesn’t 

need to read any further.  

A. New Uses and Buildings.2 In all districts, off-street parking and loading as required by this 

chapter shall be provided when: 

1. A new building is constructed or moved onto a lot; and 

2. A new use is established where no use previously existed. 

 
1 Source: 23D.12.010; 23E.28.010 
2 Source: 23D.12.020.A; 23E.28.020.A 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 273 of 511



SECTION 23.322.030  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Enlargement and Intensification.3 

1. Where an existing use or structure is enlarged or intensified, but where there is no change in 

use, additional off-street parking and loading is required to serve only the enlarged or 

intensified area. Additional parking is not required to remedy parking deficiencies existing 

prior to the expansion or enlargement. 

2. As used in this section, enlarging or intensifying a use or structure includes, but is not limited 

to adding or creating floor area, dwelling units, guest rooms, seats, or employees. 

C. Changes of Use.4 

1. Commercial Districts. In the Commercial Districts, off-street parking is required for a 

change in use only when the structure is expanded to include new floor area. 

2. Manufacturing and R-SMU Districts. 

a. In the Manufacturing and R-SMU districts, off-street parking is required for a change in 

use only when: 

i. The structure is expanded to include new floor area; and/or 

ii. The use is changed to one with a numerical parking standard greater than the district 

minimum. 

b. If the new use is changed to one with a higher numerical parking standard than the 

district minimum, the new use must provide the incremental difference between the two 

numerical parking standards. A higher numerical parking standard may be reduced to the 

district minimum as provided in Section 23.322.050.A.2 (Change of Use). 

c. As used in this section, the “district minimum” parking requirement is: 

i. 2 spaces per 1,000 square feet of floor area in the Manufacturing Districts; and 

ii. 1 space per 1,000 square feet of floor area in the R-SMU district. 

3. All Other Residential Districts. In all Residential Districts except for R-SMU, off-street 

parking spaces are required for all changes in use. 

23.322.030 – REQUIRED PARKING SPACES  

Commentary:  This section consolidates parking requirements from each existing district chapter and presents them 

together in tables for residential, commercial, and manufacturing districts. District-specific rules for the number of 

spaces required are in this section. Reductions to required parking allowed with an AUP or Use Permit are in Section 

23.322.050 (Parking Reductions). 

 

 
3 23D.12.020.A; 23E.28.020.A. Clarifies that parking is required only to serve enlarged or intensified area and that 
additional parking is not required to remedy an existing deficiency. 
4 Source: 23E.28.130 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 274 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-3 

A. Residential Districts. 

1. Spaces Required.5 Table 23.322.030-1 shows minimum required off-street parking spaces 

in the Residential Districts. 

TABLE 23.322.030-1: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

Land Use Number of Required Off-street Parking Spaces 

Residential Uses  

Accessory Dwelling Unit See Chapter 23.306 

Dwellings  

Single-Family 

ES-R District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. or 1 per bedroom, whichever is greater, with a min. of 2 spaces 

to a max. of 4 spaces 

R-SMU: None 

All Other Residential Districts: 1 per du 

Two-Family 
R-SMU District: None 

All Other Residential Districts: 1 per du 

Multi-Family 

R-SMU District: None 

R-2, R-2A Districts: 1 per du [1] 

R-3, R-4, R-SA Districts: 1 per du for fewer than 10 du; 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. for 10 du or more [1] 

R-5 District: 1 per du for fewer than 10 du; 1 per 1,200 sq. ft. for 10 du or more [1] 

Group Living Accommodation 
R-SMU District: None 

All Other Residential Districts: 1 per each 5 residents, plus 1 for manager 

Senior Congregate Housing 1 per each 5 residents, plus 1 for manager 

Rental of Rooms 

R-1, R-1A, R-2A Districts: 1 per each 2 roomers or boarders 

ES-R District: 1 per each roomer or boarder 

All Other Residential Districts: None required 

Non-Residential Uses  

All non-residential uses except 

uses listed below 

R-SMU District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Residential Districts: See 23.322.030.A.2 

Community Care Facility 
R-SMU District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Residential Districts: 1 per 2 non-resident employees [2] 

Food Service Establishment 1 per 300 sq. ft. 

Hospital 
R-SMU District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Residential Districts: 1 per each 4 beds plus 1 per each 3 employees 

Library 1 per 500 sq. ft. of publicly accessible floor area 

Nursing Home 1 per 5 residents, plus 1 per 3 employees 

Medical Practitioners 1 per 300 sq. ft. 

Non-Medical Offices R-SMU District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Residential Districts: 1 per 400 sq. ft. 

Hotels, Tourist 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or suites plus 1 per 3 employees 

Notes: 

[1] For multiple dwellings where the occupancy will be exclusively for persons over the age of 62, the number of required off-street parking spaces may 

be reduced to 25 percent of what would otherwise be required for multiple-family dwelling use subject to obtaining a Use Permit. 

[2] Excludes community care facilities which under state law must be treated in the same manner as a single-family residence. 

 
5 Source: Parking sections in Title 23D residential district chapters 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 275 of 511



SECTION 23.322.030  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

 

2. Other Uses.6 If a use requires an AUP or Use Permit and is not listed in Table 23.322.020-

1, the review authority shall determine the required number of off-street parking spaces 

based on the amount of traffic generated by the use and the number of spaces required for 

other similar uses. 

3. Offices.7 

a. In Residential Districts where offices are allowed, the ZAB may reduce the parking 

requirement for non-medical offices to one parking space per 800 square feet of gross 

floor area. 

b. To approve the reduction, the ZAB must find that the reduction is justified because the 

amount of direct contact with clients, visitors, or the general public will be less than 

ordinarily is the case. 

4. ES-R Parking Requirement.8 

a. For purposes of calculating required parking in the ES-R district, “bedroom” means any 

habitable space in a dwelling unit or residential accessory structure other than a kitchen 

or living room that is intended for or capable of being used for sleeping and that is at 

least 70 square feet in area. 

b. A room identified as a den, library, study, loft, dining room, or other extra room that 

satisfies this definition is considered a bedroom. 

c. Bathrooms, toilet rooms, closets, halls, storage or utility spaces and similar areas are not 

considered habitable spaces. 

d. The division of existing habitable space does not require additional parking if there is no 

net increase in the gross floor area of the building and no more than one additional 

bedroom is created. 

5. R-S Car-Free Overlay.9 

a. Figure 23.322.030-1 shows the boundaries of the Car-Free Overlay in the R-S district.  

  

 
6 Source: 23D.16.080.B; 23D.20.080.B; 23D.24.080.B; 23D.28.080.B; 23D.32.080.B; 23D.36.080.B; 23D.40.080.B; 
23D.44.080.B; 23D.52.080.B. Clarifies this is true in the ES-R District, applies to uses requiring an AUP (not just a Use 
Permit) and that if a use is allowed by right and not listed in table (e.g., parks), no parking is required. 
7 Source: 23D.40.080.D; 23D.40.090.C; 23D.44.080.D; 23D.44.090.C. 
8 Source: Table 23D.24.080 
9 Source: 23D.48.080.B.1 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 276 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-5 

FIGURE 23.322.030-1: CAR-FREE OVERLAY BOUNDARIES 

 

 

b. In the Car-Free Overlay, off-street parking spaces are not required for new dwelling 

units, group living accommodations rooms, and accessory dwelling units.  

B. Commercial Districts. 

1. Spaces Required.10 Table 23.322.030-2 shows minimum required off-street parking spaces 

in the Commercial Districts excluding the C-T district. 

TABLE 23.222.030-2: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING IN COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS (EXCLUDING C-T) 

Land Use Required Parking Spaces 

Residential Uses  

Accessory Dwelling Unit See Chapter 23.306 

Dwellings  

Single-Family and Two-

Family 

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 du 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per du [1] 

Multi-Family 

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 du 

C-W District: 1 per du [1] 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per du for fewer than 10 du; 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. for 10 du 

or more [1] 

Group Living Accommodation 
C-DMU District: 1 per 8 sleeping rooms 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per each 5 residents, plus 1 for manager 

Hotel, Residential 
C-DMU District: 1 per 8 sleeping rooms 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per each 5 residents, plus 1 for manager 

 
10 Source: Parking sections in Title 23E commercial district chapters. Clarifies that parking required for residential uses in 
C-E is the same as in other Commercial Districts. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 277 of 511



SECTION 23.322.030  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

Land Use Required Parking Spaces 

Mixed-Use Residential (residential 

use only) 

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 du 

C-W District: 1 per du [1] 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per du for fewer than 10 du; 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. for 10 du 

or more [1] 

Senior Congregate Housing 
C-DMU District: 1 per 8 sleeping rooms 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per each 5 residents, plus 1 for manager 

Non-Residential Uses  

All non-residential uses except 

uses listed below 

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Hospital 1 per each 4 beds plus 1 per each 3 employees 

Library 
C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per 500 sq. ft. of publicly accessible floor area 

Nursing Home 

C-DMU District: 1 per 8 sleeping rooms 

C-W District: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per 5 residents, plus 1 per 3 employees 

Medical Practitioners 
C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Commercial Districts: 1 per 300 sq. ft. 

Hotels, Tourist 

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or suites 

C-C, C-U, C-W Districts: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or suites plus 1 per 3 employees 

All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Motels, Tourist 

C-DMU District: 1 per 3 guest/sleeping rooms or suites 

C-C, C-U, C-W Districts: 1 per guest/sleeping room plus 1 for owner or manager [2] 

All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Large Vehicle Sales and Rental 

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

C-SA District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Small Vehicle Sales and Service 

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

C-SA District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Manufacturing 

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

C-W District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft [2] 

All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Wholesale Trade  

C-DMU District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

C-W District: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft 

All Other Commercial Districts: 2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Live/Work 
1 per du; if workers/clients are permitted in work area, additional 1 per first 1,000 sq. ft. of 

work area and 1 per each additional 750 sq. ft. of work area 

Notes: 

[1] For multiple dwellings where the occupancy will be exclusively for persons over the age of 62, the number of required off-street parking spaces may 

be reduced to 25 percent of what would otherwise be required for multiple-family dwelling use, subject to obtaining a Use Permit. 

[2] Spaces must be on the same lot as building it serves. 

[3] Applies to assembly, production, storage, and testing space only. 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 278 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-7 

2. Exemptions.11 Table 23.322.030-3 shows projects and land uses in the Commercial 

Districts that are exempt from parking requirements. No Use Permit or other discretionary 

approval is required for these exemptions. 

TABLE 23.322.030-3: PARKING EXEMPTIONS IN COMMERCIAL DISTRICTS 

District Projects/Uses Exempt from Parking Requirement 

C-SA First 1,000 square feet of new gross floor area in a development project 

C-E Commercial uses with less than 6,000 square feet of gross floor area 

C-DMU 
Additions up to 1,000 square feet of gross floor area or up to 25 percent of existing gross 

floor area, whichever is less 

 

3. C-T District.12  

a. Off-street parking is not required in the C-T district. 

b. New off-street parking is prohibited on lots abutting Telegraph Avenue exclusively. New 

off-street parking is only permitted on lots abutting a street other than Telegraph 

Avenue where access to the parking is from curb cuts existing on July 6, 1989.  A Use 

Permit is required to establish the new parking. To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB 

must find that traffic from the new parking will not significantly impede pedestrian 

circulation. 

4. C-W District.13 

a. Required Parking Determined by Zoning Officer or ZAB. For the following 

categories of uses as shown in Table 23-204.020-1, the Zoning Officer or ZAB shall 

determine the number of required off-street parking spaces in the C-W district based on 

the amount of traffic generated by the use and the number of spaces required for other 

similar uses: 

i. Public and quasi-public uses. 

ii. Automobile and other vehicle oriented uses. 

iii. Outdoor uses. 

iv. Residential and related uses. 

v. Other miscellaneous uses. 

vi. Other industrial uses. 

b. Maximum Parking. The number of parking spaces provided for new commercial floor 

area in the C-W district shall not exceed: 

 
11 Source: 23E.52.080C; 23E.44.080 B&C; 23E.68.080.B.1. Clarifies a discretionary permit is not required for these 
exemptions.  
12 Source: 23E.56.080.A&E; 23E.56.090.D 
13 Source: 23E.64.080.C&D 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 279 of 511



SECTION 23.322.030  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

i. 5 spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area of food service uses; and 

ii. 4 spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area for all other commercial uses. 

C. Manufacturing Districts.  

1. Spaces Required.14 Table 23.322.030-4 shows minimum required off-street parking spaces 

in the Manufacturing Districts. 

TABLE 23.322.030-4: REQUIRED OFF-STREET PARKING IN MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 

Land Use Required Parking Spaces 

Residential Uses  

Accessory Dwelling Unit See Chapter 23.306 

Dwellings 1 per du [1] 

Group Living Accommodation 1 per each 5 residents, plus 1 for manager 

Non-Residential Uses  

All non-residential uses except 

uses listed below 
2 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Art/Craft Studio 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

Community Care Facility 1 per 2 non-resident employees 

Food Service Establishment 1 per 300 sq. ft. 

Library 1 per 500 sq. ft. of publicly accessible floor area 

Laboratories 1 per 650 sq. ft. 

Nursing Home 1 per 5 residents, plus 1 per 3 employees 

Medical Practitioners One per 300 sq. ft. 

Large Vehicle Sales and Rental MU-LI District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Districts: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. of display floor area plus 1 per 500 sq. ft. of other 

floor area; 2 per service bay 

Manufacturing MU-R District: 1.5 per 1,000 sq. ft. 

All Other Districts: 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. for spaces less than 10,000 sq. ft.; 1 per 1,500 sq. 

ft. for spaces 10,000 sq. ft. or more 

Storage, warehousing, and 

wholesale trade 

1 per 1,000 sq. ft. for spaces of less than 10,000 sq. ft.; 1 per 1,500 sq. ft. for spaces 

10,000 sq. ft. or more 

Live/Work MU-LI District: 1 per du; plus 1 per 1,000 sq. ft. of work area where workers/clients are 

permitted 

MU-R District: 1 per du; if workers/clients are permitted in work area, additional 1 per 

first 1,000 sq. ft. of work area and 1 per each additional 750 sq. ft. of work area 

Notes: 

[1] For multiple dwellings where the occupancy will be exclusively for persons over the age of 62, the number of required off-street parking spaces may 

be reduced to 25 percent of what would otherwise be required for multiple-family dwelling use, subject to obtaining a Use Permit. 

  

 
14 Source: Parking sections in Title 23E manufacturing district chapters. Clarifies that parking required for group living 
accommodations and senior congregate housing is the same as in the Commercial Districts. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 280 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-9 

2. Required Parking Determined by Zoning Officer or ZAB.15 

a. For the following categories of uses as shown in Table 23-206.020-1, the Zoning Officer 

or ZAB shall determine the number of required off-street parking spaces in the 

Manufacturing Districts based on the amount of traffic generated by the use and the 

number of spaces required for other similar uses: 

i. Public and Quasi-Public Uses. 

ii. Vehicle Sales and Service Uses. 

iii. Other Miscellaneous Uses. 

iv. Industrial and Heavy Commercial Uses, excluding manufacturing and wholesale 

trade. 

D. Calculating Required Spaces.16  

1. Fractional Spaces. When calculating the number of required off-street parking spaces 

results in a fractional space, any fraction below one-half is disregarded, and fractions one-

half and above are counted as requiring one parking space. 

2. Employees. Where a parking requirement is based on the number of employees, the 

number of employees is based upon the shift or employment period when the greatest 

number of employees are present. 

3. Floor Area.  

a. Where a parking requirement is based on floor area, the definition of gross floor area as 

set forth in 23.502 (Glossary) shall apply. 

b. In Non-Residential Districts, the floor area calculation for the purpose of determining 

required parking shall also include outdoor dining areas, garden/building supply yards, 

customer-serving outdoor areas for retail sales, and other unenclosed areas of the lot.  

E. Additional Required Parking.17 If a use or structure requires an AUP, Use Permit, or 

Variance, the review authority may require more off-street parking spaces than required by this 

section upon finding that the demand for parking spaces will exceed the number of spaces 

required by Tables 23.322.030-1, 23.322.030-3, or 23.322.030-4. 

F. Buildings with Multiple Uses.18 

1. When a building contains two or more uses, the total required number of off-street parking 

spaces is the sum of the requirements for each use computed separately. 

2. A required off-street parking spaces for one use may not provide required off-street parking 

spaces for any other use except as allowed by Section 23.322.040.D (Joint Use of Parking). 

 
15 Source: 23E.72.080.C; 23E.76.080.C; 23E.80.080.B; 23E.84.080.B 
16 Source: 23D.12.050.C; 23E.28.050.C, F, G 
17 Source: 23D.12.050.B; 23E.28.050.B 
18 Source: 23D.12.070; 23E.28.060.B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 281 of 511



SECTION 23.322.030  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-10  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

G. Including Existing Uses.19 An applicant may count existing off-street parking spaces towards 

meeting the parking requirement when both the existing use (or portions of the use that is to 

remain) and the proposed use and/or structure are used in computing the required number of 

off-street parking spaces. 

H. Spaces Serving Existing Uses.20 

1. Unless otherwise allowed by this chapter, parking spaces serving an existing use may not be 

reduced below the number of spaces required by this section. If an existing use has fewer 

parking spaces than required by this section, the number of spaces serving the use may not 

be further reduced. 

2. In Non-Residential Districts, off-street parking spaces provided in conjunction with a use or 

structure existing on October 1, 1959, on the same property or on property under the same 

ownership, may not be reduced below, or if already less than, may not be further reduced 

below, the requirements of this chapter for a similar use or structure. 

3. Existing parking spaces in a non-residential district may be removed to meet ADA 

compliance or traffic engineering standards.21 

I. In-Lieu Parking Fee. 

1. General.22 

a. In Non-Residential Districts with a public parking fund to create public parking, an 

applicant may pay a fee in lieu of providing required off-street parking spaces.  

b. The in-lieu parking fee shall be established by City Council resolution.  

c. In-lieu payments shall be used for the purposes stated in each ordinance establishing the 

public parking funds. 

d. In-lieu fees may, at the applicant’s option, be paid in a lump sum or in annual 

installments as specified in each ordinance establishing the parking fund and may be 

adjusted annually for inflation.  

e. If paid annually, the first annual payment of an in-lieu fee is due as a condition of 

occupancy and subsequent payments are due on January 31 of succeeding years. 

2. C-DMU District.23 Paying an in-lieu fee to reduce or waive required off-street parking in 

the C-DMU district requires a Use Permit. To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB must find 

that the applicant will pay an in-lieu fee to a fund established by the City that provides 

enhanced transit services.  

  

 
19 Source: 23D.12.050.E; 23E.28.050.E 
20 Source: 23D.12.050.A; 23E.28.050.A 
21 Confirms this applies only in Non-Residential Districts. 
22 Source: 23E.28.090 
23 Source: 23E.68.080.D 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 282 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.040  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-11 

23.322.040 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Commentary:  This section contains general rules for parking related to compliance, modification, location, shared 

use, and other miscellaneous topics not addressed in other sections.  

A. Compliance Required.24 

1. The City may issue a Zoning Certificate or approve an AUP or Use Permit only for a use or 

structure that complies with this chapter. 

2. After a Zoning Certificate is issued, the subsequent use of a building or structure is 

conditional upon the unqualified continuance, availability, and proper maintenance of off-

street parking in compliance with this chapter. 

B. Modified Requirements. 

1. Number of Spaces. See Section 23.322.050 (Parking Reductions) for allowed reductions to 

the number of required off-street parking spaces.  

2. Other Requirements.25 

a. The Zoning Officer or ZAB may reduce any parking requirement in this chapter that is 

unrelated to the number of required spaces for: 

i. New floor area created through building expansions in the Commercial, 

Manufacturing, and R-SMU Districts; and 

ii. A change of use of existing floor area in the manufacturing and R-SMU districts 

where the new use has a higher numerical parking standard than the existing use. 

b. If the use served by the parking requires an AUP, the Zoning Officer may approve the 

modification. If the use requires a Use Permit, the ZAB may approve the modification.  

c. When allowed by Paragraph (a) above, the review authority may allow the modification 

upon finding that: 

i. The modification allows the continued use of an existing parking supply; and 

ii. Meeting the parking requirements is not financially feasible or practical. 

C. Location of Parking.26 

1. Minimum Distance for Use or Structure. 

a. A required off-street parking space must be located within 300 feet from the structure or 

use it is intended to serve, except as otherwise allowed by this chapter. 

b. The required distance is measured from the nearest off-street parking space provided to 

the nearest point of the lot on which the use or structure to be served is located. 

 
24 Source: 23D.12.020.C&D; 23E.28.020.C&D 
25 Source: 23E.28.140.C; 23E.28.145.C 
26 Source: 23D.12.030; 23E.28.030A&B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 283 of 511



SECTION 23.322.040  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-12  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

Measurement is along public or private rights-of-way available for pedestrian access from 

the structure or use to the parking space. 

2. C-DMU District.27 Required off-street parking spaces may be provided on-site or off-site 

and within 800 feet of the use it serves. Off-site spaces may be more than 800 feet from the 

use with an AUP.  

3. Ownership. If a required off-street parking space is located on a different lot from the 

structure or use it serves, the parking space must be either: 

a. Located on land under the same ownership as the land where the structure or use is 

located; or  

b. Subject to a Joint Use Agreement as provided in 23.322.040.D (Joint Use of Parking). 

D. Joint Use of Parking.28 

1. All Districts. The Zoning Officer may approve an AUP to allow two uses to share parking 

spaces and satisfy their off-street parking requirement with a Joint Use Agreement. To 

approve the AUP, the Zoning Office must find that: 

a. The off-street parking spaces designated for joint use are located within 800 feet of the 

use to be served;  

b. The times demanded for joint-use parking spaces will not conflict substantially between 

the land uses sharing the spaces; and 

c. The off-street parking spaces designated for joint use are not otherwise committed to 

satisfying the parking requirements for another land use at similar times. 

2. Offices in R-4 and R-5 Districts. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to allow offices in 

the R-4 or R-5 district to share parking spaces with a multi-family use. To approve the Use 

Permit, the ZAB must find that: 

a. No more than 20 percent of the off-street parking spaces required for the multiple 

dwelling use will serve as required off-street parking for offices; and 

b. The shared off-street parking spaces are located on the same lot as the offices that they 

serve or are on property under the same ownership within 300 feet from the offices. 

3. Deed Restriction. A property with joint-use parking spaces shall record a deed restriction 

as provided in Section 23.322.040.F (Deed Restrictions). 

E. Off-Site Parking Spaces.29  

1. Non-Residential Districts. In Non-Residential Districts, the following requirements apply 

to required parking spaces not on the property where the use us located.  

 
27 23E.68.080.B.2 
28 Source: 23D.12.060; 23E.28.060A 
29 Source: 23E.28.030.D; 23E.72.080.E; 23E.76.080.E; 23E.80.080.E; 23E.84.080.D; 23E.72.080.E23E.28.030.B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 284 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.040  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-13 

a. Off-site parking spaces may not be used to satisfy the off-street parking requirement for 

another use. 

b. Off-site parking must be available during the normal hours of operation of the use that it 

serves. 

c. A deed restriction must be recorded as provided in Section 23.322.040.F (Deed 

Restrictions). 

d. Table 23.322.040-1 shows the maximum distance that off-site parking spaces may be 

located from the use or structure it serves and the permit required to exceed this 

distance. 

TABLE 23.322.040-1: OFF-SITE PARKING SPACE DISTANCE REQUIREMENT 

District 

Maximum Distance from 

Use or Structure [1] 

Permit Required to Exceed 

Maximum Distance 

Manufacturing Districts 500 ft. AUP 

C-W 500 ft. AUP 

All Other Commercial 

Districts 
300 ft. UP(PH) 

Note: 

[1] Measurement shall be from the closest two points of the respective parcels, as measured in a straight line. 

2. CW District.30 If the use or structure served by off-site parking is within a designated node 

in the C-W district, the off-site parking spaces must also be located within the same 

designated node. 

F. Deed Restrictions.31 

1. If a required off-street parking space is located off-site or in a joint use agreement, a 

statement shall be recorded in the Office of the County Recorder that restricts the use of the 

property and designates the off-street parking that is to serve the other property.  

2. The deed restrictions shall state that the property cannot be used so as to prevent the use of 

the parking requirements of the City, unless the restriction is removed by the City.  

3. Upon submission of satisfactory evidence either that other parking space meeting the 

parking requirements has been provided or that the building or use has been removed or 

altered in use so as to no longer require the parking space, the City of Berkeley shall remove 

the restriction from the property. 

G. Removal of Spaces.32 

1. Permit Required. A Use Permit is required to remove parking spaces as follows: 

 
30 Source: 23E.64.080.F 
31 Source: 23D.12.060.C; 23E.28.030.C 
32 23D.48.080.D; 23D.48.090.B; 23D.52.080.A.4; 23E.56.080.C; 23E.60.080.E; 23E.48.080.E. Clarifies permit is required 
for any removal of existing spaces, even if use continues to meet parking requirement with removal.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 285 of 511



SECTION 23.322.040  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-14  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. R-S, R-SMU, C-T districts: Removing existing off-street parking spaces for main 

buildings. 

b. C-SO, C-NS districts: Removing existing off-street parking spaces in excess of the 

number required spaces. 

2. Findings. To approve the Use Permit in the R-S, R-SMU, and C-T districts, the ZAB must 

find that the parking reduction is consistent with the purposes of the district and meets the 

findings in Section 23.322.050.B (Findings). No additional findings are required in the C-SO 

and C-NS districts. 

H. Required Disabled Spaces.33 If the number of required off-street parking spaces in a non-

residential district is reduced as allowed by this chapter, the number of required parking spaces 

for disabled persons shall be calculated as if there had been no reduction in required spaces. 

I. Nonconforming Parking – ES-R District.34 

1. A lawfully established use that does not provide the required number of off-street parking 

spaces may be continued and maintained if there is no increase in the area, space, or volume 

occupied by or devoted to the use, except as allowed by Paragraph (2) below.  

2. A single-family detached structure that does not provide the required number of off-street 

parking spaces may be increased by a cumulative total of up to 200 square feet over the floor 

area that existed on the effective date of this chapter if: 

a. The addition or alteration complies with all other applicable standards; 

b. The addition or alteration is not used as a bedroom; and 

c. No portion of the building or any other structure on the same lot is used for rental 

rooms. 

J. Access to Spaces.35 A building, structure, alteration, fence, landscaping, or other site feature 

may not be constructed, erected, planted, or allowed to be established that impedes vehicle 

access to a required off-street parking space. 

K. Parking Permits.36 Residents in the following projects are not eligible to receive parking 

permits under the Residential Permit Parking Program (RPP) as provided in Municipal Code 

Chapter 14.72 (Preferential Parking Program): 

1. Residential projects in the R-S, R-SMU, and C-T districts that are constructed without 

parking. 

2. Projects in the C-DMU district with residential units or group living accommodation units, 

including units converted from a non-residential use. 

 
33 Source: 23E.28.040.D 
34 Source: 23D.24.080 
35 Source: 23D.12.020.B; 23E.28.020.B 
36 Source: 23D.48.080.B; 23D.52.080.B; 23E.56.080.B; 23E.68.080.F 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 286 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.050  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-15 

23.322.050 – PARKING REDUCTIONS 

Commentary:  This section consolidates into one place all the ways the number of parking spaces may be reduced 

with an AUP or Use Permit.   

A. Allowed Reductions. The Zoning Officer or ZAB may reduce or waive the number of off-

street parking spaces required by Section 23.322.030 (Required Parking Spaces) for the following 

projects.  

1. Building Expansions.37 

a. Where Allowed: All Commercial and Manufacturing Districts, R-SMU district. 

b. Eligible Uses: Expansions to existing buildings (all uses). 

c. Required Permit: AUP. 

d. Findings: The Zoning Officer must make the findings in Subsection C (Findings) 

below. 

2. Change of Use.38 

a. Where Allowed: All Manufacturing Districts, R-SMU district. 

b. Eligible Uses: Change of use to a new use with a higher numerical parking standard. In 

a Manufacturing District, the reduction is allowed only if the change of use is 2,500 

square feet or less.  

c. Required Permit: Use Permit for projects that require ZAB approval. AUP for all other 

projects. 

d. Findings: The review authority must make the findings in Subsection C (Findings) 

below. 

3. Non-Residential Uses in Main Residential Building.39 

a. Where Allowed: R-SMU district. 

b. Eligible Uses: Non-residential uses in main buildings that contain dwelling units or 

group living accommodations. 

c. Required Permit: AUP. 

d. Findings: To approve the AUP, the Zoning Officer must find that the parking 

reduction is consistent with the purposes of the R-SMU district as stated in 23.202.140.A 

(District Purpose). 

4. Residential Uses in Mixed-Use Buildings. 

a. Where Allowed: C-C, CU, C-N, C-SA, C-SO districts. 

 
37 Source: 23E.28.130.B 
38 Source: 23E.28.130.C.2; 23E.28.145.D 
39 Source: 23D.52.080.A.4 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 287 of 511



SECTION 23.322.050  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-16  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. Eligible Uses: The residential use portion of a mixed-use building (residential and 

commercial). 

c. Required Permit: Use Permit. 

d. Findings: To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB must make findings in each district 

chapter: 

i. C-C district: 23.204.030.D.3.b 

ii. C-U district: 23.204.040.D.3.b 

iii. C-N district: 23.204.050.D.3.b 

iv. C-SA district: 23.204.080.D.2 

v. C-SO district: 23.204.100.D.2 

5. Exclusive Residential Uses.40 

a. Where Allowed: C-C, CU, C-N, C-SA, C-SO districts. 

b. Eligible Uses: Buildings occupied exclusively by residential uses. 

c. Required Permit: Use Permit. 

d. Findings: To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB must make findings in each district 

chapter: 

i. C-C district: 23.204.030.D3.b 

ii. CU district: 23.204.040.D.3.b 

iii. C-N district: 23.204.050.D.3.b 

iv. C-SA district: 23.204.080.D.2 

v. C-SO district: 23.204.100.D.2 

6. Commercial Uses in Mixed-Use Building.41 

a. Where Allowed: C-C, CU, C-SA districts. 

b. Location Limitations: In the C-C, C-U districts, the reduction is allowed only on 

blocks adjacent to University Avenue and lots north of University Avenue, south of 

Delaware Street, east of Bonita Avenue and west of Oxford Street. 

c. Eligible Uses: Any commercial use portion of a mixed-use building which combines 

retail products stores and/or personal household services and multi-family residential 

uses within the same building or located on the same lot (or contiguous lots as part of 

the same project). 

 
40 Source: 23E.36.070.D; 23E.40.070.E; 23E.52.070.E; 23E.60.070.F 
41 Source: 23E.36.078.E; 23E.52.078.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 288 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.050  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-17 

d. Required Permit: Use Permit. 

e. Findings: The ZAB must make the findings in Subsection C (Findings) below. 

7. All Uses in Mixed-Use Building.42 

a. Where Allowed: C-W district. 

b. Eligible Uses: All uses in a mixed-use building (residential and commercial). 

c. Permit Required: Use Permit for projects that require ZAB approval. AUP for all other 

projects.  

d. Finding: To approve the permit, the review authority must find that: 

i. The reduction promotes any of the C-W district purpose statements in 23.204.120.A 

(District Purpose); and 

ii. The reduction in the parking requirement is not expected to cause a serious shortage 

of parking in the area. 

8. Bicycle/Motorcycle Spaces.43 

a. Where Allowed: C-W and all Manufacturing Districts. 

b. Eligible Uses: All uses. 

c. Allowed Reduction: Up to 10 percent of required off-street automobile spaces may be 

designated as bicycle and/or motorcycle parking. Bicycle parking must be in addition to 

bicycle parking required by 23.322.080 (Bicycle Parking). 

d. Permit Required: Use Permit for projects that require ZAB approval. AUP for all other 

projects.  

e. Finding: To approve the permit, the review authority must find that: 

i. The substitution will not lead to an undue shortage of automobile parking spaces; 

and  

ii. It can be reasonably expected that there will be demand for the bicycle and/or 

motorcycle parking spaces. 

9. Proximity to Public Parking Facility.44 

a. Where Allowed: C-W district. 

b. Eligible Uses: All uses within 1,000 feet of a public parking facility available to all 

members of the public. 

c. Permit Required: Use Permit.  

 
42 Source: 23E.64.080.H; 23E.64.090.D 
43 Source: 23E.72.080.G 23E.72.090.E; 23E.76.080.G; 23E.80.080.E; 23E.84.080 
44 Source: 23E.64.080.I 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 289 of 511



SECTION 23.322.050  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-18  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

d. Finding: No additional findings. 

10. Downtown Reduction/Waiver.45 

a. Where Allowed: C-DMU district. 

b. Eligible Uses: All uses. 

c. Permit Required: Use Permit or modified with an AUP. 

d. Finding: The Zoning Officer must make the findings in Subsection C (Findings) below. 

11. Adding Residential Units.46 

a. Where Allowed: MU-R district. 

b. When Allowed: Adding a residential unit to a property with one or more existing 

residential units. 

c. Permit Required: Use Permit.  

d. Findings. To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB must find that: 

i. Existing evening parking supply is adequate; and/or 

ii. Other mitigating circumstances exist on the property. 

12. Limited Duration Reduction.47 

a. Where Allowed: M and MM District. 

b. Eligible Uses: All uses. 

c. Permit Required: Use Permit valid for a specified duration not to exceed five years.  

d. Findings. To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB must find that under the circumstances 

of the particular use and building, the demand for parking can be expected to be below 

the otherwise required level for a sustained period of time. 

B. Findings. Required findings below are in addition to permit findings required in Section 23.406 

(Specific Permit Requirements). 

1. Commercial, R-S, and R-SMU Districts.48 When required by Subsection A (Allowed 

Reductions) above or elsewhere in the Zoning Ordinance, the review authority must make 

the following findings to approve a reduction in required off-street parking spaces in a 

Commercial District, the R-S district, or the R-SMU district: 

a. The reduction will not substantially reduce the availability of on-street parking in the 

vicinity of the use.  

 
45 Source: 23E.68.080.D 
46 Source: 23E.84.080.F 
47 Source: 23E.72.080.B 
48 Source: 23E.28.140; 23E.28.145 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 290 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.050  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-19 

b. One of the following is true: 

i. The use is located one-third of a mile or less from a Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) 

station, intercity rail station or rapid bus transit stops. 

ii. The use is located one-quarter of a mile or less from a public or private parking area, 

lot, or structure that is accessible by the employees of the use and sufficient parking 

supply is available therein to mitigate the reduction in parking for the use. 

iii. A parking survey conducted under procedures set forth by the Planning Department 

finds that within 500 feet or less of the use, on non-residential district streets, at least 

two times the number of spaces requested for reduction are available at on-street 

parking spaces during the peak hours of operation of the use. 

c. One of the following is true: 

i. The parking requirement modification will meet the purposes of the district related 

to improvement and support for alternative transportation, pedestrian 

improvements, and activity, or similar policies. 

ii. There are other factors, such as alternative transportation demand management 

strategies or policies in place, that will reduce the parking demand generated by the 

use. 

2. Manufacturing Districts.49 When required by Subsection A (Allowed Reductions) above or 

elsewhere in the Zoning Ordinance, the review authority must make the following findings 

to approve a reduction in required off-street parking spaces in a Manufacturing District: 

a. The reduction will not substantially reduce the availability of on-street parking in the 

vicinity of the use.  

b. One of the following is true: 

i. The use is located one-third of a mile or less from a rapid bus transit stop, an 

intercity rail station, or a bus stop serving at least four lines. 

ii. The use is located one-quarter of a mile or less from a public or private parking area, 

lot, or structure that is accessible by the employees of the use and sufficient parking 

supply is available in these facilities to mitigate the reduction in parking. 

iii. A parking survey conducted under procedures set forth by the Planning Department 

finds that within 500 feet or less of the use, on non-residential district streets, at least 

two times the number of spaces requested for reduction are available at on-street 

parking spaces during the peak hours of operation of the use. 

c. One of the following is true: 

 
49 Source: 23E.72.080.B; 23E.76.090.C 23E.76.080.B; 23E.76.090.D 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 291 of 511



SECTION 23.322.060  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-20  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

i. The parking requirement modification will implement the West Berkeley Plan goals 

and policies related to improvement and support for alternative transportation, 

pedestrian improvements and activity, and similar policies. 

ii. There are other project-specific transportation demand management strategies or 

policies in place, including but not limited to employer sponsored transit subsidies, 

car sharing programs, bicycle storage, and flexible work schedules. 

23.322.060 – C-DMU PARKING AND TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT 

Commentary:  This section contains the parking and transportation demand management requirements for the C-

DMU district. These requirements are presented separately due to their unique nature and reporting requirement. 

The parking and transportation demand management requirements in this section apply in the C-

DMU district. 

A. Dynamic Signage.50 

1. New construction that results in an off-street total of more than 25 publicly available parking 

spaces shall install dynamic signage to Transportation Division specifications. 

2. Required signage includes, but is not limited to: 

a. Real-time garage occupancy signs at the entries and exits to the parking facility with 

vehicle detection capabilities and enabled for future connection to the regional 511 

Travel Information System; or 

b. Equivalent signs as determined by the Zoning Officer in consultation with the 

Transportation Division Manager. 

B. Unbundled Parking.51 

1. For any new building with residential units or structures converted to a residential use, 

required parking spaces shall be leased or sold separate from the rental or purchase of 

dwelling units for the life of the dwelling unit. 

2. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to waive the requirement in Paragraph (1) above for 

projects that include financing for affordable housing. To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB 

must find that the applicant has demonstrated that the combined parking is necessary to 

obtain financing or meeting other obligations. 

C. Employee/Resident Benefits.52 

1. For new structures or additions over 20,000 square feet, the property owner shall provide at 

least one of the following transportation benefits at no cost to every employee, residential 

unit, and/or group living accommodation resident:  

 
50 Source: 23E.68.080.E 
51 Source: 23E.68.080.G 
52 Source: 23E.68.080.H 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 292 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.060  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-21 

a. A pass for unlimited local bus transit service; or 

b. A functionally equivalent transit benefit in an amount at least equal to the price of a non-

discounted unlimited monthly local bus pass. Any benefit proposed as a functionally 

equivalent transportation benefit shall be approved by the Zoning Officer in 

consultation with the Transportation Division Manager. 

2. A notice describing these transportation benefits shall be posted in a location visible to 

employees and residents. 

D. Vehicle Sharing Spaces.53  

1. Spaces Required. For residential structures constructed or converted from a non-

residential use that provide off-street parking, required parking spaces shall be designated as 

vehicle sharing spaces in the amounts specified in Table 23.322.060-1. Vehicle sharing spaces 

are not required for projects that do not provide off-street vehicle parking.  

TABLE 23.322.060-1: REQUIRED VEHICLE SHARING SPACES  

Number of Parking 
Spaces Required 

Minimum Number of Vehicle Sharing Spaces 

0-10 0 

11-30 1 

31-60 2 

61 or more 3, plus one for every additional 60 spaces 

 

2. Requirements. 

a. The required vehicle sharing spaces shall be offered to vehicle sharing service providers 

at no cost. 

b. The vehicle sharing spaces shall remain available to a vehicle sharing service provider as 

long as providers request the spaces.  

c. If no vehicle sharing service provider requests a space, the space may be leased for use 

by other vehicles.  

d. When a vehicle sharing service provider requests such space, the property owner shall 

make the space available within 90 days. 

E. Parking and Transportation Demand Management Compliance Report.54 

1. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the property owner shall submit to the 

Department of Transportation a completed Parking and Transportation Demand 

Management (PTDM) compliance report on a form acceptable to the City of Berkeley.  

 
53 Source: 23E.68.080.I 
54 Source: 23E.68.080.J 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 293 of 511



SECTION 23.322.070  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-22  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. The property owner shall submit to the Department of Transportation an updated PTDM 

compliance report on an annual basis. 

23.322.070 – PARKING LAYOUT AND DESIGN 

Commentary:  This section consolidates in one place all parking layout and design requirements.  

A. Traffic Engineering Requirements.55 

1. All off-street parking spaces, access driveways, circulation patterns, and ingress and egress 

connections to the public right-of-way must conform to the City of Berkeley’s Traffic 

Engineering requirements. 

2. The Traffic Engineer shall determine whether the size, arrangement, and design of off-street 

parking spaces, access driveways, circulation patterns, and ingress and egress connections to 

the public right-of-way are adequate to create usable, functional, accessible, and safe parking 

areas, and are adequately integrated with Berkeley’s overall street pattern and traffic flows. 

B. Dimensional Standards.56 Dimensional requirements and standards for off-street parking 

spaces, driveways, and other access improvements, and maneuvering aisles shall be incorporated 

in administrative regulations, subject to the review and approval by the City Manager and ZAB. 

C. Access Orientation in Non-Residential Districts.57 Access to new parking areas in a Non-

Residential District that serve commercial uses shall be oriented in such a way as to minimize the 

use of streets serving primarily residential uses. 

D. Placement – Residential Districts.58 

1. Side Setback Areas. 

a. One new off-street parking space in a required side setback area, where none exists, is 

allowed by right. 

b. The space must be constructed of a permeable surface unless the Public Works 

Department or Office of Transportation determines it is infeasible. 

c. The space must be screened as required by 23.322.070.G (Screening). 

d. The location of the space shall minimize impact on usable open space. 

2. Other Setback Areas. No portion of an off-street parking space may be located in a 

required front, street side, or rear setback area unless: 

a. The parking space location is authorized by Chapter 23.306 (Accessory Dwelling Units); 

or  

 
55 Source: 23D.12.040.A&B; 23E.28.040.A&B 
56 Source: 23D.12.040.C; 23E.28.040.C 
57 Source: 23E.28.080.A 
58 Source: 23D.12.080.A, B, C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 294 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-23 

b. The Zoning Administrator approves an AUP, in consultation with the Traffic Engineer, 

and the space meets all applicable requirements in this section. 

3. Multifamily Buildings. 

a. An off-street parking space may not be located closer than 10 feet in horizontal distance 

from a door or a window of a building with three or more dwelling units where the space 

is on the same or approximately the same level as the building. 

b. For the purposes of this section, a window whose bottom edge or point is more than 6 

feet in vertical height from the level of the subject off-street parking space is not 

considered on the same or approximately the same level. 

c. The Zoning Administrator may approve and AUP to grant an exception to this 

requirement. 

E. Placement – Non-Residential Districts.59 

1. Where Prohibited. Except when otherwise allowed by this chapter, ground-level off-street 

parking spaces are prohibited within 20 feet of the lot’s street frontage unless the parking is 

entirely within a building with walls. 

2. Corner Lots. For a corner lot, the ZAB may approve a Use Permit to allow the parking 

within 20 feet of the street frontage facing the secondary street. 

3. C-W District.60 

a. Off-street automobile parking in the C-W district is prohibited between the front lot line 

and a main structure within a designated node.  

b. Outside of a designated node, off-street automobile parking may be allowed between the 

front lot line and a main structure with a Use Permit or AUP. If the project requires 

ZAB approval, a Use Permit is required. An AUP is required for all other projects.  

c. To approve the AUP or Use Permit, the review authority must find that one or more of 

the following is true: 

i. Parking in the rear or on the side of the property is impractical because of the lot’s 

depth and/or width. 

ii. Parking in the rear of the property would result in adverse impacts on abutting 

residential or other uses. 

iii. Parking in the rear or on the side of the property would result in the placement of a 

driveway in an unsafe location. 

iv. Continuation or re-establishment of parking in front of the building is necessary for 

the reuse of an existing structure which is substantially set back from the front lot 

line. 

 
59 Source: 23E.28.080.B 
60 Source: 23E.64.080.L; 23E.64.090.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 295 of 511



SECTION 23.322.070  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-24  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

F. Grade Change.61 This subsection applies to off-street parking spaces in all districts, except for 

parking decks in Residential Districts. 

1. The difference in elevation between a parking space and the finished grade on adjacent areas 

of the lot may not exceed 5 feet at any point. 

2. Where there is a difference in elevation between a parking space and adjacent finished grade, 

the parking space shall be setback from a lot line as shown in Table 23.322.070-1. 

TABLE 23.322.070-1: REQUIRED SETBACKS FOR PARKING SPACES WITH ADJACENT GRADE CHANGES 

Difference in Elevation Minimum Setback  

Parking space lower than finished grade  

3 to 5 ft 4 ft. 

Less than 3 ft No min. setback 

Parking space higher than finished grade 6 ft. 

 

G. Screening.62  

1. Table 23.322.070-2 shows required parking space screening. Screening must effectively 

screen parked vehicles from view from buildings and uses on adjacent, abutting, and 

confronting lots. Screening may not interfere with pedestrian safety. 

TABLE 23.322.070-2: REQUIRED PARKING SPACE SCREENING 

 

2. In the C-W, M, MM, MU-LI districts, screening and landscape buffers are not required for 

any portion of a parking lot adjacent to Third Street (Southern Pacific Railroad). 

H. Landscape Buffers.63 

1. All paved areas for off-street parking spaces, driveways, and any other vehicle-related paving 

must be separated from adjacent lot lines and the public right-of-way by a landscaped strip 

as shown in Table 23.322.070-3. 

  

 
61 Source: 23D.12.080.D; 23.28.080.C 
62 Source: 23D.12.080.F; 23.28.080.D 
63 Source: 23D.12.080.E&G; 23.28.080.E,F&G 

Districts When Required Required Screening Feature Screening Feature Height 

All Residential Districts 

2 or more parking spaces, 

or any parking space partly 

or entirely within a 

required rear setback area 

Continuous view-obscuring wood 

fence, masonry wall, or evergreen 

hedge which may be broken only 

for access driveways and walkways 

4 ft. min and 6 ft. max. 

All Commercial and 

Manufacturing Districts 
2 or more parking spaces 

Wall, fence, or evergreen 

shrubbery hedge in a landscape 

strip 

Parking adjacent to public right-of-way 

or front lot line: 3 ft. min. and 4 ft. max. 

Parking adjacent to rear or side lot line: 

4 ft. min and 6 ft. max. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 296 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.070  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-25 

TABLE 23.322.070-3: REQUIRED LANDSCAPE BUFFER 

District/Number of Spaces 

Minimum Width of Landscape Strip 

Areas adjacent to side 

or rear lot lines 

Areas adjacent to public 

right-of-way or front lot line 

Residential Districts   

1-3 spaces 2 ft. 2 ft. 

4 spaces or more 4 ft. [1] 4 ft. [1] 

Commercial and 

Manufacturing Districts 
 

 

1 space None required None required 

2-3 spaces 2 ft. 3 ft. 

4 spaces or more 4 ft. [1] 4 ft. [1] 

Note: 

[1] Calculated as average width along the full length of landscape strip. 

 

2. In all districts, this landscape buffer requirement does not apply to driveways that serve two 

adjacent lots when adjacent to a side lot line. 

3. In the Residential Districts, this landscape buffer requirement also does not apply to 

pedestrian walkways that are separated from such areas by a landscaped strip at least two feet 

wide. 

 

I. Paved Setback Areas.64 In Residential Districts, the total area of pavement devoted to off-

street parking spaces, driveways, and other vehicle-related paving may not exceed 50 percent of 

any required setback area that runs parallel to and abuts a street. 

J. Driveway Width.65 

1. A driveway may not exceed 20 feet in width at any lot line abutting a street or one-half of the 

width of the street frontage of the lot, whichever is less. 

2. In a Non-Residential district, the Zoning Officer may modify this requirement with an AUP. 

K. Driveway Separation.66 On a single lot in a Residential District, driveways must be spaced at 

least 75 feet from one another, as measured along any continuous lot line abutting a street. 

L. Tandem Parking.67 Tandem spaces that provide required off-street parking require approval by 

the Traffic Engineer and the ZAB, except when allowed by-right by Chapter 23.306 (Accessory 

Dwelling Units). 

 
64 Source: 23D.12.080.H 
65 Source: 23D.12.080.I; 23D.28.080.H 
66 Source: 23D.12.080.J. Clarifies that this applies only to driveways serving a single lot. 
67 Source: 23D.12.050.D; 23E.28.050.D. Clarifies ADUs are exempt as required by State law.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 297 of 511



SECTION 23.322.080  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-26  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

M. Residential Parking Lots in Non-Residential Districts.68 Parking lots in a non-residential 

district used exclusively for residential parking must comply with standards in this section that 

apply in Residential Districts. 

N. Carports.69 A carport shall meet the minimum horizontal and vertical dimensions specified by 

the City's Traffic Engineer in order to be used for one or more legal parking spaces required 

under this chapter.  

23.322.080 – BICYCLE PARKING 

Commentary:  This section consolidates in one place all bicycle parking requirements. 

A. Parking Spaces Required.70 

1. Table 23.322.080-1 shows districts where bicycle parking is required, land uses requiring 

bicycle parking, and the number of required spaces. Bicycle parking is required for new 

construction and for expansions to existing buildings that add new floor area. 

TABLE 23.322.080-1: REQUIRED BICYCLE PARKING 

District When Required Required Spaces 

R-S, R-SMU New commercial space 1 per 2,000 sq. ft. 

All Commercial 

Districts except for C-

E and C-T 

New floor area or for expansions of existing industrial, 

commercial, and other non-residential buildings 
1 per 2,000 sq. ft. 

All Manufacturing 

Districts except for C-

E and C-T 

New floor area or for expansions of existing industrial, 

commercial, and other non-residential buildings 
1 per 2,000 sq. ft. 

C-E, C-T  None required N/A 

 

2. In the C-DMU district, the Zoning Officer, in consultation with the City Traffic Engineer, 

may approve an AUP to modify the bicycle parking requirement in Table 23.322.080-1 for 

Tourist Hotels. 

B. Bicycle Parking Standards.71 The following standards apply to required bicycle parking spaces 

in a non-residential district: 

1. Bicycle parking spaces shall be located in either a locker, or in a rack suitable for secure 

locks, and shall require location approval by the City Traffic Engineer and Zoning Officer.  

2. Bicycle parking shall be located in accordance to the Design Review Guidelines and other 

design specifications promulgated by the Transportation Division. 

  

 
68 Source: 23E.28.080.I 
69 Source: 23F.04.010, carport definition.  
70 Source: Parking section in district chapters in Title 23D and 23E; 23E.28.070 
71 Source: 23E.28.070.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 298 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.090  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-27 

23.322.090 – ON-SITE LOADING SPACES 

Commentary:  This section consolidates in one place all on-site loading requirements. 

A. When Required.72 Table 23.322.090-1 shows land uses that require on-site loading spaces 

consistent with this section. In Residential Districts, on-site loading spaces are required for any 

modifications to existing uses and for new construction. In Commercial and Manufacturing 

Districts, on-site loading spaces are required for new or additional construction of 10,000 square 

feet or more. 

TABLE 23.322.090-1: LAND USES REQUIRING ON-SITE LOADING SPACES 

District Land Use [1] 

R-1, R-1A, R-2 Schools 10,000 sq. ft. or more 

R-2A 
Senior congregate housing, nursing homes and 

schools 10,000 sq. ft. or more 

R-3 
Senior congregate housing, hospitals, nursing 

homes, schools 10,000 sq. ft. or more 

R-4, R-5 
Senior congregate housing, hospitals, nursing 

homes, offices, schools 10,000 sq. ft. or more 

R-S, R-SMU All non-residential uses 10,000 sq. ft. or more 

All C Districts except C-T All commercial uses 10,000 sq. ft. or more 

C-T No loading spaces required for all land uses 

M Districts 
All commercial and manufacturing uses 10,000 sq. 

ft. or more 

Note: 

[1] Land use size is total gross floor area. 

 

B. Number of Loading Spaces.73 For land uses that require an on-site loading space, Table 

23.322.080-2 shows the minimum number of required spaces. 

 TABLE 23.322.080-2: NUMBER OF REQUIRED ON-SITE LOADING SPACES 

District Spaces Required [1] 

Residential and Commercial 

Districts 

1 space for the first 10,000 sq. ft. plus 1 additional 

space for each additional 40,000 sq. ft  

Manufacturing Districts 
1 space for the first 10,000 sq. ft. plus 1 additional 

space for each additional 25,000 sq. ft 

Note: 

[1] Land use size is total gross floor area. 

 

C. Loading Space Requirements.74 

1. General. The following requirements apply to required on-site loading spaces in all districts 

except for the R-1, R-1A, R-2, R-2A districts.  

 
72 Source: Parking sections from district chapters in Titles 23D and 23E 
73 Source: Parking sections from district chapters in Titles 23D and 23E; 23E.32.020; 23E.32.030  
74 Source: 23E.32.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 299 of 511



SECTION 23.322.100  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-28  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. Dimensions. A required loading space must be at least 12 feet wide and 25 feet long 

with a minimum vertical clearance of 14 feet. 

b. Location. A required loading spaces must be located on the same lot as the structure or 

use the space is designed to serve. 

c. Parking Spaces. A required parking space may not be used to satisfy the requirements 

for an off-street loading space. 

d. Access and Paving. A required loading space must have adequate means of access 

from a street or alley. Both the space and access driveway must be paved with a durable, 

dustless material that is usable under all weather conditions. 

2. Residential Buffer. An on-site loading space in a Non-Residential District may not be 

located within 35 feet of a lot in a Residential District unless the loading space is either: 

a. Located wholly within an enclosed building; or  

b. Screened from such residential lot by a wall, hedge, or fence not less than 6 feet in 

height. 

3. C-W District.75 A building or site in the C-W district may not be altered to deprive a 

leasable space used or designated for use by any manufacturing or wholesale trade of an on-

site loading space consistent with Paragraph 1 (All Districts) above. 

4. M and MM Districts.76 All uses in the M and MM districts which have one or more on-site 

loading spaces shall retain at least one such space. 

5. Modified Requirements. In all Manufacturing and Commercial Districts other than the C-

T district, the Zoning Officer in consultation with the City Traffic Engineer may approve an 

AUP to modify the on-site loading spaces standards in this section. 

23.322.100 – PARKING LOTS IN RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS77 
A. Applicability. This section applies to the exclusive or primary use of a lot for off-street parking 

spaces in a Residential District. 

B. Use Limitations. Commercial repair work or service of any kind is prohibited on the lot. 

C. Standards. 

1. Signs may only designate the parking lot name, entrances, exits, and conditions of use. No 

other types of signed may be erected or maintained. 

2. Lighting fixtures must be oriented to direct the light away from adjacent lots. 

3. Suitable wheel bumpers must be provided to protect screening and adjacent property. 

4. A durable and dustless surface must be provided and maintained. 

 
75 Source: 23E.64.080.M 
76 Source: 23E.72.080.J; 23E.76.080.J 
77 Source: 23D.12.090; 23E.28.080 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 300 of 511



CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING SECTION 23.322.110  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 322-29 

5. The lot must comply with 23.322.070.G (Screening) and 23.322.070.H (Landscape Buffers). 

6. The lot must be graded to dispose of all surface water. 

D. Exceptions. The ZAB may waive any of the requirements in this section with a Use Permit for 

a temporary parking lot. 

23.322.110 – TRANSPORTATION SERVICES FEE78 
A. When Required.  

1. A Transportation Services Fee (TSF) may be required for all new construction of gross floor 

area pursuant to resolution of the City Council. 

2. If so resolved, the following districts are required to pay a TSF: R-S, R-SMU, C-C, C-U, C-

N, C-NS, C-T, C-SO, M, and MM. 

B. Paying and Collecting Fees.  

1. All TSF payments shall be made to the Finance Department and deposited into the City or 

Berkeley’s traffic/transportation mitigation fund. 

2. TSF payments shall be collected in the form of annual payments based on the fee rate 

applicable to each district multiplied by the square feet of gross floor area of new 

construction and may be adjusted annually for inflation.  

3. TSF payments shall be made for 30 years from the issuance of a certificate of occupancy for 

any new floor area.  

4. The first annual payment of the TSF shall be due as a condition of occupancy and 

subsequent payments shall be due on January 1 of each succeeding year for 29 years. 

C. Use of Funds. TSF funds shall be used to purchase transit or paratransit passes, coupons, and 

tickets to be made available at a discount to employees and customers and to promote and 

support incentives for employee ride sharing. 

  

 
78 Source: 23D.48.080.F; 23D.52.080; 23E.28.100; 23E.28.110; 23E.28.120; 23E.36.080; 23E.40.080; 23E.48.080; 
23E.56.080; 23E.60.080; 23E.72.080; 23E.76.080 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 301 of 511



SECTION 23.322.110  CHAPTER 23.322 – PARKING AND LOADING 

PAGE 322-30  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 302 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 324-1 

    

NONCONFORMING USES, 
STRUCTURES, AND BUILDINGS 
Sections: 

23.324.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.324.020 – General 

23.324.030 – Nonconforming Lots 

23.324.040 – Nonconforming Uses 

23.324.050 – Nonconforming Structures and Buildings 

23.324.060 – Exemptions 

 

Commentary: This chapter caries forward existing chapter 23C.04 with reorganization and stylistic edits for clarity. 

23.324.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes regulations for nonconforming lots, uses, structures, and buildings. These 

regulations are intended allow for: 

A. The development and use of lawful nonconforming lots; 

B. Changes to nonconforming uses and the termination of abandoned uses; 

C. Maintenance, repair, and expansion of nonconforming structures and buildings; and 

D. Alterations to nonconforming structures and buildings when needed for public safety. 

23.324.020 – GENERAL 
A. Cause of Nonconformity.2 A nonconformity may result from any inconsistency with the 

Zoning Ordinance, whether substantive or procedural, including, but not limited to: 

1. The inconsistency of the use, building, or structure or aspects thereof, with any requirement 

of the Zoning Ordinance; and 

2. The lack of a Zoning Certificate, AUP, or Use Permit. 

B. Change to a Conforming Use or Structure.3 A use, building, or structure which is 

nonconforming solely by reason of the lack of a Zoning Certificate, AUP, or Use Permit may be 

 
1 New 
2 Source: 23C.04.020.A, second sentence. 
3 Source: 23C.04.040. Clarifies that with the required permit, the original use may remain and becomes conforming.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 303 of 511



SECTION  23.324.030  CHAPTER 23.324 – NONCONFORMING USES, BUILDINGS, AND STRUCTURES   

PAGE 324-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

recognized as a conforming use, building, or structure by issuance of the required Zoning 

Certificate, AUP, or Use Permit. 

C. Permit and Approvals Required.4 A use, building, or structure conforms to the Zoning 

Ordinance only if it was established or constructed with the prior approval of, or legalized after 

the fact by, the issuance of the required Zoning Certificate, AUP, or Use Permit. 

D. Nonconformities in Continuous Existence.5 A lawful nonconforming use, structure, 

building, or lot shall be deemed to comply with the Zoning Ordinance if it has remained in 

continuous existence. 

23.324.030 – NONCONFORMING LOTS 
A. Lawful Nonconforming Lots.6 A lot with an area less than the minimum lot size required by 

the Zoning Ordinance is considered a lawful nonconforming lot if the lot is: 

1. Described in the official records on file in the office of the County Recorder of Alameda 

County or Contra Costa County as a lot of record under one ownership prior to November 

30, 1950; 

2. Shown as a lot on any recorded subdivision map, filed prior to November 30, 1950; or 

3. In the Environmental Safety Residential (ES-R) district and described in the official records 

on file in the office of the County Recorder of Alameda County as either: 

a. A lot of record under one ownership; or 

b. A lot on any recorded subdivision map filed prior to February 13, 1975. 

B. Requirements.7  

1. A lawful nonconforming lot may be used as building site subject to all other requirements of 

the Zoning Ordinance, except as provided in Paragraph (2) below.  

2. If the total area of all contiguous vacant lots fronting on the same street and under the same 

ownership on or after September 1, 1958 is less than that required for one lot under the 

Zoning Ordinance, such lawful nonconforming lots may be used as only one building site. 

23.324.040 – NONCONFORMING USES 
A. Changes to Nonconforming Uses.8 

1. Table 23.324.040-1 shows permits required to change a lawful nonconforming use. 

  

 
4 Source: 23C.04.010 
5 Source: 23C.04.020.A, first sentence. 
6 Source: 23C.04.020.B 
7 Source: 23C.04.020.B 
8 Source: 23C.04.060; 23D.24.080.B. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 304 of 511



CHAPTER 23.324 – NONCONFORMING USES, BUILDINGS, AND STRUCTURES   SECTION  23.324.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 324-3 

TABLE 23.324.040-1: PERMIT REQUIREMENTS FOR CHANGES TO NONCONFORMING USES 

Change to Nonconforming Use Permit Required 

Changes to a use that is allowed by right, complies with floor area 
requirements, conforms to all applicable requirements of the Zoning 
Ordinance excluding parking requirements, and is in a conforming building 

ZC 

Any change to a nonconforming use that does not require a Zoning 
Certificate or Use Permit by this table 

AUP 

Any project that substantially expands or changes a nonconforming use UP(PH) [1] 

Notes: 

[1] In the ES-R district the increase in the area, space, or volume occupied by or devoted to a lawful nonconforming use is not allowed. 

 

2. Substantial expansions and changes to a nonconforming use, as used in Table 23.324.040-1, 

means: 

a. All changes to a use listed in 23.404.070.B (Permit Modification Required); and  

b. Extending the nonconforming use into an existing or expanded portion of a building 

which has not been previously occupied by that nonconforming use. 

B. Abandoned Uses.  

1. Termination.9  

a. Subject to the exceptions in Paragraph 2 (Exceptions) below, the ZAB may declare a 

lawful nonconforming use to be terminated upon finding that: 

i. The use has not occurred for at least one year; and 

ii. The most recent prior user has not demonstrated a good-faith intent to resume it.  

b. The ZAB may require any person claiming that the use should not be declared 

terminated to produce documentation to substantiate good faith intent to resume the 

use. 

2. Exceptions.10  

a. Residential Uses. No lawful residential use can lapse, regardless of the length of time 

of the non-use. 

b. Uses with Major Investments. Lawful nonconforming full or quick service restaurants 

with cooking or food preparation facilities, gas/auto fuel stations, theaters, 

manufacturing plants with specifically designed fixed facilities and other uses which 

represent a major investment in physical plant or facilities shall not be considered or 

declared terminated, regardless of the duration of non-use, unless: 

i. Such fixed structures, equipment, or facilities are removed; or 

 
9 Source: 23C.04.030, first paragraph 
10 Source: 23C.04.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 305 of 511



SECTION  23.324.050  CHAPTER 23.324 – NONCONFORMING USES, BUILDINGS, AND STRUCTURES   

PAGE 324-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

ii. Other uses could not be established without major removal of or extensive 

remodeling or replacement of structures associated with the previous established use. 

c. Alcoholic Beverage Retail Sales. If a lawful nonconforming alcoholic beverage retail 

sale use is closed is more than 90 days, the ZAB may not declare the use terminated if 

the use was closed due to: 

i. Repair that does not change the nature of the license premises or increase the square 

footage of the business used for alcoholic beverages sales; or 

ii. Restoration of premises rendered totally or partially unusable by an act of nature, 

fire, accident, or other involuntary cause where the restoration does not increase the 

square footage of the business used for alcoholic beverage sales. 

23.324.050 – NONCONFORMING STRUCTURES AND BUILDINGS 
A. Maintenance and Repair.11 A lawful nonconforming structure or building may be maintained 

and repaired, as long as such maintenance or repair does not result in a change to the use of the 

structure or building.  

B. Replacement.12 Replacing portions of a nonconforming structure or building is allowed if the 

removed portions were lawfully constructed and are replaced to the same size, height, extent, 

and configuration as previously existed.  

C. Removal.13  

1. A nonconforming portion of a nonconforming structure or building may be removed by 

right if such removal does not constitute demolition. 

2. For a structure or building subject to the Landmarks Preservation Ordinance, the regulations 

under Municipal Code Section 3.24 (Boards, Commissions, and Committees) apply. 

D. Expansion and Alteration.14 

1. General.15 An addition to or enlargements of a lawful nonconforming structure or building 

is allowed if: 

a. The addition or enlargement complies with all applicable laws; 

b. The existing use of the structure or building is conforming, except as provided below in 

Paragraph 4 (Property with Nonconforming Use); and 

c. The addition or enlargement obtains all permits required by this subsection. 

2. Nonconforming Setbacks and Height. 

 
11 Source: 23C.04.050, first sentence 
12 Source: 23C.04.050, second sentence 
13 Source: 23C.04.050, third sentence 
14 Source: 23C.04.070 
15 Clarifies additions and expansions of a nonconforming structure with a nonconforming use is allowed with a Use 
Permit. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 306 of 511



CHAPTER 23.324 – NONCONFORMING USES, BUILDINGS, AND STRUCTURES   SECTION  23.324.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 324-5 

a. An AUP is required for an addition or enlargement that: 

i. Vertically or horizontally extends a building wall projecting into a minimum required 

setback; 

ii. Horizontally extends the portion of a building exceeding the height limit; 

iii. Alters the portion of a building (including windows and other openings) projecting 

into a minimum required setback; or 

iv. Alters the portion of a building exceeding the height limit. 

b. The Zoning Officer may approve the AUP only if: 

i. The addition or enlargement does not increase or exacerbate any nonconforming 

setbacks; and 

ii. The addition or enlargement does not exceed maximum or calculated height limits. 

3. Nonconforming Coverage, FAR, and Density. 

a. A Use Permit is required for an addition to and/or enlargement of a structure or 

building that exceeds the maximum allowed lot coverage, floor area ratio, or residential 

density.  

b. The ZAB may approve the Use Permit only if the project does not: 

i. Increase or exacerbate the nonconformity; or 

ii. Exceed the height limit. 

4. Property with Nonconforming Use. 

a. A Use Permit is required for an addition to and/or enlargement of a lawful 

nonconforming structure or building on a property with a lawful nonconforming use. 

b. The Use Permit is required whether or not the nonconforming use occupies the subject 

structure or building. 

E. Tenant Space Reconfigurations.16 

1. The reconfiguration of non-residential tenant space in a nonconforming structure or 

building requires permits as follows: 

a. AUP for structures or buildings nonconforming to setback, height, or lot coverage 

standards.  

b. Use Permit for structures or buildings nonconforming to FAR standards. 

2. The reconfiguration is allowed only if the existing use of the property is conforming. 

F. Damage and Reconstruction. 

 
16 Source: 23C.04.080 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 307 of 511



SECTION  23.324.050  CHAPTER 23.324 – NONCONFORMING USES, BUILDINGS, AND STRUCTURES   

PAGE 324-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

1. Calculation of Appraisal Value.17 As used in this subsection, the “appraised value” of a 

structure or building is the higher of: 

a. The records of the Assessor of the County of Alameda for the fiscal year during which 

such destruction occurred; or 

b. An appraisal performed by a certified appraiser. 

2. Damage Less than 50 Percent.18 If 50 percent or less of its appraised value of a lawful 

nonconforming structure or building is damaged or destroyed for any reason, the 

replacement of the damaged portions of the structure or building is allowed by right if the 

replaced portions are the same size, extent, and configuration as previously existed.  

3. Damage More than 50 Percent.19  

a. Except as provided in Paragraph 4 (Residential Buildings with Four Units or Less) 

below, if more than 50 percent of the appraised value of a lawful nonconforming 

structure or building is damaged or destroyed for any reason, the structure or building 

shall either: 

i. Be brought into full compliance with the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance; or 

ii. Receive ZAB approval of a Use Permit for the structure or building to be rebuilt to 

the same size, extent, and configuration as previously existed.  To approve the Use 

Permit, the ZAB must find that the previous use will be continued in a manner that 

meets the requirements of this chapter. 

4. Residential Structures or Buildings with Four Units or Less.20 

a. A residential-only structure or building with four residential units or less, including any 

accessory structures or buildings, that is involuntarily damaged or destroyed may be 

replaced or reconstructed with a Zoning Certificate.  

b. The Zoning Certificate may be approved only if all of the following conditions exist: 

i. The structure or building, or any portion thereof, has been destroyed by any 

involuntary cause including fire, earthquake, or flood. 

ii. The replacement structure or building or portion thereof is substantially similar in 

use, dimensions, floor area, square footage, envelope, lot coverage, footprint, and 

number of units to the destroyed structure or building or portion thereof that it is 

designed to replace. 

iii. The replacement or repair complies with all currently applicable building codes and 

any other regulations including any ordinance or emergency regulation adopted by 

 
17 Source: 23C.04.090.A 
18 Source: 23C.04.090.A Clarifies this provision applies to nonconforming structures as well as buildings. 
19 Source: 23C.04.090.B&C. 
20 Source: 23C.04.100 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 308 of 511



CHAPTER 23.324 – NONCONFORMING USES, BUILDINGS, AND STRUCTURES   SECTION  23.324.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 324-7 

the City Council or the Director of Emergency Services to protect against serious 

safety problems at the site such as engineering conditions and soil stability. 

c. Where a structure or building to be replaced or rebuilt does not conform to Paragraph 

(b)(ii) above and is to be expanded or changed, the structure or building is subject to all 

otherwise applicable regulations governing such expansion or change. 

d. The Planning Director shall establish a process that allows an owner of a qualifying 

residential structure or building to apply for an advance determination that the proposed 

repair or replacement of a structure or building is substantially similar as required by 

Paragraph (b)(ii) above including the information required to document existing 

conditions.  

e. The Planning Director shall develop a description or building information for owners of 

qualifying residential structures or buildings required by the City to document existing 

characteristics of the building in case of future damage or destruction. 

23.324.060 – EXEMPTIONS  
A. Public Safety Structural Alterations.21 

1. General. The following public safety structural alterations or extensions to conforming and 

nonconforming buildings are permitted by right to the extent necessary, as determined by 

the Zoning Officer: 

a. Vertical and/or horizontal extensions of a nonconforming setback. 

b. Horizontal extensions of a nonconforming height. 

c. Vertical extensions of a nonconforming height in residential districts. 

d. Alterations of a portion of a building that encroaches into a nonconforming setback. 

e. Extensions of nonconforming lot coverage. 

f. Structural alterations to nonconforming residential density. 

g. Structural alterations to nonconforming buildings located on a property that also 

contains a lawful nonconforming use, whether or not that use occupies the subject 

building or structure. 

2. Parking. Public safety structural alterations to a conforming or lawful nonconforming 

building or structure that reduce, relocate, or remove required parking spaces are permitted 

as follows: 

a. Parking spaces may be converted to substandard compact spaces if approved by the 

Traffic Engineer. 

b. Parking spaces may be relocated into a setback or other location by right to the extent 

necessary, as determined by the Zoning Officer, if: 

 
21 Source: 23C.04.075 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 309 of 511



SECTION  23.324.060  CHAPTER 23.324 – NONCONFORMING USES, BUILDINGS, AND STRUCTURES   

PAGE 324-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

i. The requirements in Paragraph (a) above cannot be met. 

ii. The screening and landscaping requirements in Chapter 23.322 (Parking and 

Loading) are met. 

iii. The parking relocation is approved by the Traffic Engineer. 

c. Required parking may be removed if the Traffic Engineer determines that the 

requirements of Paragraphs (a) and (b) above cannot be met. 

3. Aesthetic Improvement or Screening. Any aesthetic improvement or screening that the 

Zoning Officer determines is associated with a public safety structural alteration shall be 

treated as part of the public safety structural alteration. 

B. Existing Public Libraries.22 

1. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Zoning Ordinance, a conforming or lawful 

nonconforming public library existing as of May 1, 2010 may be changed, expanded, or 

replaced by a new public library on the same site following demolition, subject to issuance of 

a Use Permit. 

2. If the change, expansion, or new library is allowed by right under the Zoning Ordinance, a 

Use Permit is not required. 

3. The ZAB may modify any requirement of the Zoning Ordinance applicable to such change, 

expansion, or new library as part of the Use Permit. 

  

 
22 Source: 23C.04.076. Clarifies that a Use Permit is not require if the change, expansion, or new library is allowed by 
right under the Zoning Ordinance. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 310 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 326-1 

    

DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT 

CONTROL 
Sections: 

23.326.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.326.020 – General Requirements 

23.326.030 – Eliminating Dwelling Units through Demolition 

23.326.040 – Eliminating Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use 

23.326.050 – Private Right of Action 

23.326.060 – Elimination of Residential Hotel Rooms 

23.326.070 – Demolitions of Non-Residential Buildings 

23.326.080 – Building Relocations 

23.326.090 – Limitations 

 

Commentary:  This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23C.08 with minor stylistic edits and reorganization 

to clarify applicability of rules. Substantive revisions to this chapter are not envisioned as part of the Zoning Ordinance 

Revision project.  

23.326.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes demolition and dwelling unit control standards that promote the affordable 

housing, aesthetic, and safety goals of the City. 

23.326.020 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS2 
A. Applicability. No dwelling unit or units may be eliminated or demolished except as authorized 

by this chapter.  

B. Findings. In addition to the requirements below, the ZAB may approve a Use Permit to 

eliminate or demolish a dwelling unit only upon finding that eliminating the dwelling unit would 

not be materially detrimental to the housing needs and public interest of the affected 

neighborhood and Berkeley. 

  

 
1 New 
2 Source: 23C.08.010.A&B. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 311 of 511



SECTION  23.326.030  CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  

 

PAGE 326-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.326.030 – ELIMINATING DWELLING UNITS THROUGH DEMOLITION3 
A. Buildings with Two or More Units Constructed Prior to June 1980. 

1. Applicability. This subsection only applies to building with two or more units constructed 

prior to June 1980. 

2. Findings. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to demolish a building constructed prior to 

June 1980 on a property containing two or more dwelling units if any of the following are 

true: 

a. The building containing the units is hazardous or unusable and is infeasible to repair.  

b. The building containing the units will be moved to a different location within Berkeley 

with no net loss of units and no change in the affordability levels of the units. 

c. The demolition is necessary to permit construction of special housing needs facilities 

such as, but not limited to, childcare centers and affordable housing developments that 

serve the greater good of the entire community. 

d. The demolition is necessary to permit construction approved pursuant to this chapter of 

at least the same number of dwelling units. 

3. Fee Required.  

a. The applicant shall pay a fee for each unit demolished to mitigate the impact of the loss 

of affordable housing in Berkeley.  

b. The amount of the fee shall be set by resolution of the City Council. 

c. In Lieu of a Fee.  

i. In lieu of paying the impact fee, the applicant may provide a designated unit in the 

new project at a below market rate to a qualifying household in perpetuity.  

ii. The affordability level of the below market rent and the income level of the 

qualifying household shall be set by resolution of the City Council.  

iii. The applicant shall enter into a regulatory agreement with the City of Berkeley to 

provide the in lieu units. 

4. Occupied Units.  

a. Applicability. 

i. The requirements in this subsection apply if units to be demolished are occupied. 

ii. These requirements do not apply to tenants who move in after the application for 

demolition is submitted to the City if the owner informs each prospective tenant 

about the proposed demolition and that demolition constitutes good cause for 

eviction. 

 
3 Source: 23C.08.010.C; 23C.08.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 312 of 511



CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  SECTION  23.326.030  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 326-3 

b. Notice. The applicant shall provide all sitting tenants notice of the application to 

demolish the building no later than the date it is submitted to the City, including notice 

of their rights under Municipal Code Section 13.76 (Rent Stabilization and Eviction for 

Good Cause Program). 

c. General Requirements. 

i. The applicant shall provide assistance with moving expenses equivalent to in Chapter 

13.84 (Relocation Services and Payments for Residential Tenant Households). 

ii. The applicant shall subsidize the rent differential for a comparable replacement unit, in 

the same neighborhood if feasible, until new units are ready for occupancy. Funding for 

the rent differential shall be guaranteed in a manner approved by the City. 

iii. Exception. An applicant who proposes to construct a 100 percent affordable housing 

project is not required to comply with this subsection but must comply with the 

Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970 as 

amended and the California Relocation Act (Government Code sections 7260 et seq.). 

d. Sitting Tenants Rights. 

i. Sitting tenants who are displaced as a result of demolition shall be provided the right of 

first refusal to move into the new building. 

ii. Tenants of units that are demolished shall have the right of first refusal to rent new 

below-market rate units designated to replace the units that were demolished, at the rent 

that would have applied if they had remained in place, as long as their tenancy continues.  

iii. Income restrictions do not apply to displaced tenants. 

iv. Exception.  

1. An applicant who proposes to construct a 100 percent affordable housing project is 

not required to comply with 23.326.030.B.4.a, b, and c, but must comply with the 

following requirement. 

2. Sitting tenants who are displaced as a result of demolition and who desire to return 

to the newly constructed building will be granted a right of first refusal subject to 

their ability to meet income qualifications and other applicable eligibility 

requirements when the new units are ready for occupancy.  

B. Buildings with a Single Dwelling Unit. 

1. Applicability. This subsection only applies to buildings with a single dwelling unit. 

2. Limitations.  

a. Demolition is not allowed if: 

i. The building was removed from the rental market under the Ellis Act during the 

preceding five years; or  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 313 of 511



SECTION  23.326.040  CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  

 

PAGE 326-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

ii. There have been verified cases of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction 

during the immediately preceding three years.  

b. Where allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction are in dispute, 

either party may request a hearing before a Rent Board Hearing Examiner. The Rent 

Board Hearing Examiner will provide an assessment of the evidence and all available 

documentation to the ZAB. The ZAB shall determine whether harassment or threatened 

or actual illegal eviction occurred. 

C. Accessory Buildings. Notwithstanding anything in Municipal Code Title 23 (Zoning 

Ordinance) to the contrary, but subject to any applicable requirements in Municipal Code 

Section 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Ordinance), accessory buildings of any size, including, but 

not limited to, garages, carports, and sheds, but not including any structure containing a lawfully 

established dwelling unit, which serves and is located on the same lot as a lawful residential use, 

may be demolished by right. 

23.326.040 – ELIMINATING DWELLING UNITS THROUGH CONVERSION AND CHANGE OF USE4 
A. General. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit for the elimination of a dwelling unit in 

combination with another dwelling unit used for occupancy by a single household if it finds that: 

1. The existing number of dwelling units exceeds maximum residential density in the district 

where the building is located; and 

2. One of the following is true: 

a. One of the affected dwelling units has been occupied by the applicant’s household as its 

principal place of residence for no less than two years prior to the date of the application 

and none of the affected units are currently occupied by a tenant. 

b. All of the affected dwelling units are being sold by an estate and the decedent occupied 

the units as his or her principal residence for no less than two years prior to the date of 

his or her death. 

B. Limitations.  

1. Demolition is not allowed if: 

a. The building was removed from the rental market under the Ellis Act during the 

preceding five years; or  

b. There have been verified cases of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction 

during the immediately preceding three years.  

2. Where allegations of harassment or threatened or actual illegal eviction are in dispute, either 

party may request a hearing before a Rent Board Hearing Examiner. The Rent Board 

Hearing Examiner `will provide an assessment of the evidence and all available 

 
4 Source: 23C.08.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 314 of 511



CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  SECTION  23.326.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 326-5 

documentation to the ZAB. The ZAB shall determine whether harassment or threatened or 

actual illegal eviction occurred. 

C. Effect of Noncompliance with the Two-Year Requirement. 

1. In a unit eliminated under Subsection A (General) is not occupied by the applicant’s 

household for at least two consecutive years from the date of elimination, the affected unit 

must be restored to separate status.  

2. This requirement shall be implemented by a condition of approval and a notice of limitation 

on the property, acceptable to the City of Berkeley. 

3. The condition and notice will provide that if the owner’s household does not occupy the 

unit for at least two years from the date of elimination the affected units must either be 

restored as separate dwelling units and the vacant unit(s) offered for rent within six months 

or the owner must pay a fee of $75,000 in 2013 dollars, adjusted in May of each year 

according to the Consumer Price Index for the San Francisco Bay Area. The fee shall be 

deposited into the City of Berkeley’s Housing Trust Fund.  

4. The City of Berkeley may exempt an applicant from the two-year residency requirement in 

the event of an unforeseeable life change that requires relocation. 

D. Effect of Eliminating a Dwelling Unit.  

1. If eliminating a dwelling unit reduces the number of units in a building to four, the applicant 

shall record a notice of limitation against the subject property that the limitation on eviction 

of tenants under Chapter 13 (Public Peace, Morals and Welfare) shall continue to apply until 

such time as: 

a. The building is demolished; or 

b. Sufficient units are added or restored such that the building contains at least five units. 

2. The Zoning Officer may issue an AUP for a building conversion which eliminates a dwelling 

unit upon finding that the conversion will restore or bring the building closer to the original 

number of dwelling units that was present at the time it was first constructed, provided the 

conversion meets the requirements 23.326.040.A.1 and 2 and 23.326.040.B and C. 

E. Exceptions.  

1. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit for a change of use to a community care or a child care 

facility which eliminates a dwelling unit if it finds that such use is in conformance with the 

regulations of the district in which it is located. 

2. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to eliminate a dwelling unit through combination with 

another dwelling unit for the purpose of providing private bathrooms, kitchenettes, 

accessibility upgrades, and/or seismic safety upgrades to single-residential occupancy rooms 

in residential developments undergoing a publicly-funded rehabilitation. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 315 of 511



SECTION  23.326.050  CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  

 

PAGE 326-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. Notwithstanding the general Use Permit requirement under 23.326.020 (General 

Requirements), a lawfully established accessory dwelling unit that is not a controlled rental 

unit may be eliminated with a Zoning Certificate if: 

a. The re-conversion restores the original single-family use of the main building or lot; and  

b. No tenant is evicted. 

23.326.050 – PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION5 
Any affected tenant may bring a private action for injunctive and/or compensatory relief against any 

applicant and/or owner to prevent or remedy a violation of Sections 23.326.030 (Elimination of 

Dwelling Units through Demolition) and 23.326.040 (Elimination of Dwelling Units and Accessory 

Dwelling Units through Conversion and Change of Use). In any such action a prevailing plaintiff 

may recover reasonable attorney’s fees. 

23.326.060 – ELIMINATION OF RESIDENTIAL HOTEL ROOMS6 
A. General Requirements. Prior to removal, the following requirements must be met for the ZAB 

to approve a Use Permit for the elimination of residential hotel rooms: 

1. The residential hotel owner shall provide or cause to be provided standard housing of at 

least comparable size and quality, at comparable rents and total monthly or weekly charges 

to each affected tenant 

2. One of the following three requirements shall be met: 

a. The residential hotel rooms being removed are replaced by a common use facility, 

including, but not limited to, a shared kitchen, lounge, or recreation room, that will be 

available to and primarily of benefit to the existing residents of the residential hotel and 

that a majority of existing residents give their consent to the removal of the rooms. 

b. Prior to the date on which the residential hotel rooms are removed, one-for-one 

replacement of each room to be removed is made, with a comparable room, in one of 

the methods set forth in this section. 

c. Residential hotel rooms are removed because of building alterations related to seismic 

upgrade to the building or to improve access to meet the requirements of the American 

Disabilities Act (ADA). 

B. Criteria for Replacement Rooms. For purposes of this section, replacement rooms must be: 

1. Substantially comparable in size, location, quality, and amenities; 

2. Subject to rent and eviction controls substantially equivalent to those provided by the Rent 

Stabilization Ordinance or those that applied to the original rooms which are being replaced; 

and  

 
5 Source: 23C.08.035 
6 Source: 23C.08.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 316 of 511



CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  SECTION  23.326.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 326-7 

3. Available at comparable rents and total monthly or weekly charges to those being removed. 

Comparable rooms may be provided by: 

a. Offering the existing tenants of the affected rooms the right of first refusal to occupy the 

replacement rooms; 

b. Making available comparable rooms, which are not already classified as residential hotel 

rooms to replace each of the rooms to be removed; or 

c. Paying to the City of Berkeley’s Housing Trust Fund an amount sufficient to provide 

replacement rooms.  

i. The amount to be paid to the City of Berkeley shall be the difference between the 

replacement cost, including land cost, for the rooms and the amount which the City of 

Berkeley can obtain by getting a mortgage on the anticipated rents from the newly 

constructed rooms.  

ii. The calculations shall assume that rents in the newly constructed rooms shall not exceed 

the greater of either a level comparable to the weekly or monthly charges for the 

replaced rooms or the level which would be charged if no current tenant paid more than 

30 percent of such tenant’s gross income for rent. 

C. Exception for Non-Profit Ownership. In a residential hotel owned and operated by a non-

profit organization, recognized as tax-exempt by either the Franchise Tax Board and/or the 

Internal Revenue Service, residential hotel rooms may be changed to non-residential hotel room 

uses if the average number of residential hotel rooms per day in each calendar year is at least 95 

percent of residential hotel rooms established for that particular residential hotel. 

23.326.070 – DEMOLITIONS OF NON-RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS7 
A. Main Non-Residential Buildings. A main building used for non-residential purposes may be 

demolished with a Use Permit. 

B. Accessory Buildings.  

1. Demolishing an accessory building with less than 300 square feet of floor area is permitted 

as of right. 

2. An accessory building with 300 square feet or more of floor area may be demolished with an 

AUP. 

C. Landmarks Preservation Commission Review.  

1. Any application for a Use Permit or AUP to demolish a non-residential building or structure 

which is 40 or more years old shall be forwarded to the Landmarks Preservation 

Commission (LPC) for review prior to consideration of the Use Permit or AUP.  

2. The LPC may initiate a landmark or structure-of-merit designation or may choose solely to 

forward to the ZAB its comments on the application.  

 
7 Source: 23C.08.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 317 of 511



SECTION  23.326.080  CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  

 

PAGE 326-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. The ZAB shall consider the recommendations of the LPC in when acting on the application. 

D. Findings. A Use Permit or an AUP for demolition of a non-residential building or structure 

may be approved only if the ZAB or the Zoning Officer finds that: 

1. The demolition will not be materially detrimental to the commercial needs and public 

interest of any affected neighborhood or the City of Berkeley; and 

2. The demolition: 

a. Is required to allow a proposed new building or other proposed new use; 

b. Will remove a building which is unusable for activities which are compatible with the 

purposes of the district in which it is located or which is infeasible to modify for such 

uses; 

c. Will remove a structure which represents an inhabitable attractive nuisance to the public; 

or 

d. Is required for the furtherance of specific plans or projects sponsored by the City of 

Berkeley or other local district or authority upon a demonstration that it is infeasible to 

obtain prior or concurrent approval for the new construction or new use which is 

contemplated by such specific plans or projects and that adhering to such a requirement 

would threaten the viability of the plan or project. 

23.326.080 – BUILDING RELOCATIONS8 
A. Treatment of Building Relocation.  

1. Relocating a building from a lot is considered a demolition for purposes of this chapter. 

2. Relocating a building to a lot is considered new construction and is subject to all 

requirements applicable to new construction. 

3. When a building is relocated to a different lot within in Berkeley, the lot from which the 

building is removed shall be known as the source lot and the lot on which the building is to 

be sited shall be known as the receiving lot. In such cases all notification requirements apply 

to both the source and receiving lots. 

B. Findings. The ZAB may approve a Use Permit to relocate a building upon finding that: 

1. The building to be relocated is not in conflict with the architectural character, or the building 

scale of the neighborhood or area to which it will be relocated; and 

2. The receiving lot provides adequate separation of buildings, privacy, yards, and usable open 

space. 

  

 
8 Source: 23C.08.060 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 318 of 511



CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  SECTION  23.326.090  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 326-9 

23.326.090 – LIMITATIONS9 
A. Unsafe, Hazard, or Danger.  

1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, if a building or structure is unsafe, presents a 

public hazard, and is not securable and/or is in imminent danger of collapse so as to 

endanger persons or property, as determined by the city’s building official, it may be 

demolished without a Use Permit.  

2. The Building Official’s determination in this matter shall be governed by the standards and 

criteria in the most recent edition of the California Building Code that is in effect in the City 

of Berkeley. 

B. Ellis Act. This chapter shall be applied only to the extent permitted by state law as to buildings 

which have been entirely withdrawn from the rental market pursuant to the Ellis Act (California 

Government Code Chapter 12.75). 

  

 
9 Source: 23C.08.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 319 of 511



SECTION  23.326.090  CHAPTER 23.326 – DEMOLITION AND DWELLING UNIT CONTROL  

 

PAGE 326-10  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 320 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 328-1 

    

INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 
Sections: 

23.328.010 – Chapter Purpose and Applicability 

23.328.020 – General Requirements 

23.328.030 – Payment of In-Lieu Fees as an Alternative to Providing Inclusionary Units 

23.328.040 – Requirements Applicable to All Inclusionary Units 

23.328.050 – Inclusionary Unit Requirements for Rental Housing Projects 

23.328.060 – Inclusionary Unit Requirements for Ownership Projects 

23.328.070 – Special Requirements for Avenues Plan Area 

23.328.080 – Administrative Regulations 

23.328.090 – Fees 

 

Commentary:  This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23C.12 with minor stylistic edits and reorganization 

to clarify applicability of rules. Substantive revisions to this chapter are not envisioned as part of the Zoning Ordinance 

Revision project. 

23.328.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE AND APPLICABILITY 
A. Purpose.1 The purpose of this chapter is to: 

1. Promote Housing Element goals to develop affordable housing for households with 

incomes below the median, as defined in this chapter, or, in the case of limited equity 

cooperatives, households with incomes below 120 percent of the median. 

2. Require the inclusion of affordable dwelling units in specified proposed developments 

(“projects”). 

B. Applicability.2  

1. The following types of projects must comply with the inclusionary housing requirements of 

this chapter: 

a. Residential housing projects constructing five or more dwelling units. 

b. Residential housing projects constructing one to four new dwelling units when: 

i. Such units are added to an existing one to four-unit property developed after August 

14, 1986; and 

ii. The resulting number of units totals five or more. 

 
1 Source: 23C.12.010 
2 Source: 23C.12.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 321 of 511



SECTION  23.328.020   CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 

PAGE 328-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

c. Residential housing projects proposed on lots with a size and zoning designation that 

allows construction of five or more dwelling units. 

2. This chapter does not apply to dormitories, fraternity and sorority houses, boarding houses, 

residential hotels, or live/work units.  

3. Live/work units are subject to low income inclusionary provisions in Section 23.312 

(Live/Work). 

4. This chapter sets forth specific inclusionary housing requirements for the Avenues Plan 

Area, which prevails over any conflicting requirements set forth elsewhere. 

23.328.020 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS3 
A. Minimum Percent of Units.  

1. Any project subject to this chapter is required to include at least 20 percent of the total 

number of dwelling units within the project as inclusionary units, except that limited equity 

cooperatives are required to include at least 51 percent of their units as inclusionary units. 

2. In applying the percentages above, any decimal fraction above a whole number of dwelling 

units shall be paid as an in-lieu fee as stated in Section 23.328.040 (Requirements Applicable 

to All Inclusionary Units). 

B. Median Income Levels. For the purpose of determining the median income levels for 

households under this chapter, the City shall use the Oakland Primary Metropolitan Statistical 

Area (PMSA) statistical figures that are available to the City from the most recent U.S. Census. 

23.328.030 – PAYMENT OF IN-LIEU FEES AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO PROVIDING INCLUSIONARY 

UNITS4 
A. Applicability.  

1. As an alternative to providing inclusionary units required in an ownership project, the 

applicant may elect to enter in an agreement with the City to pay fees as set forth in this 

section in-lieu of providing units that are not required to be provided at below market prices 

pursuant to Government Code Section 65915. 

2. This section applies to projects for which all required permits have already been issued, as 

long as no units within such a project have been sold. 

B. Deposit. The fee shall be deposited in the City’s Housing Trust Fund. 

C. Fee Amount. 

1. The in-lieu fee shall be 62.5 percent of the difference between the permitted sale price for 

inclusionary units and the amounts for which those units are actually sold by the applicant. 

 
3 Source: 23C.12.030 
4 Source: 23C.12.035 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 322 of 511



CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING  SECTION  23.328.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 328-3 

2. The fee shall be calculated and collected based on the sales prices of all of the units in a 

project to which the inclusionary requirement applies, such that the fee as charged shall be a 

percentage of the difference between the actual sales price for each unit, and the sales price 

that would have been permitted had that unit been an inclusionary unit. 

3. The percentage shall be determined using the following formula: the number of units for 

which an in-lieu fee is substituted for an inclusionary unit divided by the total number of 

units to which the inclusionary ordinance applies, multiplied by 62.5 percent. 

4. This fee shall only apply to units in a project that are counted in determining the required 

number of inclusionary units in a project and shall not apply to any units provided as a 

density bonus. 

5. If the City Manager determines that an actual sales price does not reflect the fair market 

value of a unit, the City Manager shall propose an alternate price based on the fair market 

value of the unit.  

6. If the developer and the City Manager cannot agree on a fair market value, the City Manager 

shall select an appraiser to prepare an appraisal of the unit and the appraised value shall be 

used as the market value. 

D. Calculation of Inclusionary Sales Price. 

1. The allowable inclusionary sales price for the purpose of calculating the in-lieu fee amount 

shall be three times 80 percent of the Area Median Income (AMI) last reported as of the 

closing date of the sale of the unit, with the exception that if the developer has already been 

authorized to charge an inclusionary sale price based on development costs pursuant to 

Ordinance 6,790-N.S. (adopted January 27, 2004, sunsetted February 19, 2006) the allowable 

inclusionary sale price for the purposes of this section shall be the price permitted under that 

ordinance. 

2. Area median income (AMI) shall be calculated in accordance with the affordability 

regulations established by the City Manager pursuant to Section 23.328.090 (Administrative 

Regulations). 

E. Time of Payment of Fee. The developer shall pay the in-lieu fee no later than the closing date 

of the sale of a unit as a condition of the closing. 

23.328.040 – REQUIREMENTS APPLICABLE TO ALL INCLUSIONARY UNITS5 
A. Recipient Requirement. 

1. All inclusionary units other than those in limited equity cooperatives shall be sold or rented 

to: 

a. The City or its designee; or 

b. Low income, lower income, or very low-income households. 

 
5 Source: 23C.12.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 323 of 511



SECTION  23.328.040   CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 

PAGE 328-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Units in limited equity cooperatives shall be sold or rented to households whose gross 

incomes do not exceed 120 percent of the Oakland PMSA median. 

B. Agreement. The applicant shall execute a written agreement with the City indicating the 

number, type, location, approximate size, and construction schedule of all dwelling units and 

other information as required to determine compliance with this chapter. 

C. Timing. All inclusionary units in a project and phases of a project shall be constructed 

concurrently with, or prior to, the construction of non-inclusionary units. 

D. Criteria. All inclusionary units shall be: 

1. Reasonably dispersed throughout the project; 

2. Of the same size and contain, on average, the same number of bedrooms as the non-

inclusionary units in the project; and 

3. Comparable with the design or use of non-inclusionary units in terms of appearance, 

materials, and finish quality. 

E. In-Lieu Fee Requirement. In projects where calculating the inclusionary requirement results in 

a fraction of a unit, the fraction shall be paid in the form of an in-lieu fee to the City. 

1. Where Government Code Section 65915 does not apply, the in-lieu fee shall be the 

fractional value of the difference between development cost (excluding marketing costs and 

profit) and actual sales price for the average comparable unit in projects. 

2. Where Government Code Section 65915 does apply, the in-lieu fee shall be the difference 

between affordable cost for an appropriately-sized household and the fractional value of the 

average comparable actual sales price for the fraction of the unit in projects to require a 

density bonus or equivalent incentive. 

F. Use of In-Lieu Fees. 

1. The in-lieu fee shall be used by the City or its designee (such as a non-profit housing 

development corporation) to provide, construct, or promote the creation or retention of 

low-income housing in Berkeley.  

2. The use of in-lieu fees for specific housing programs shall be brought before the Housing 

Advisory and Appeals Board for review and approval. 

G. Exceptions. Where the applicant demonstrates, and the City agrees, that the direct construction 

and financing costs of the inclusionary units, excluding marketing cost and profit (and also 

excluding land costs if a density bonus or equivalent incentive is provided), exceeds the sales 

prices allowed for inclusionary units by this chapter, the ZAB may approve one or more of the 

following measures to reduce costs or increase profitability: 

1. Reduce the floor area or the interior amenities of the inclusionary units, provided that such 

units conform to applicable building and housing codes. 

2. Increase the number of bedrooms in the inclusionary units. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 324 of 511



CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING  SECTION  23.328.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 328-5 

3. In a home ownership project, construct rental units in a number required to meet the 

inclusionary provisions of this chapter applicable to rental housing projects. 

4. Waive the in-lieu fees for fractions of units. 

23.328.050 – INCLUSIONARY UNIT REQUIREMENTS FOR RENTAL HOUSING PROJECTS6 
A. General Rental Requirements. 

1. All inclusionary units shall be occupied by low, lower, or very low -income households. 

2. The maximum rental price for inclusionary units shall be affordable to an appropriate-sized 

household whose income is 81 percent of the Oakland PMSA median. 

3. In projects requiring more than one inclusionary unit, at least 50 percent of those units shall 

be rented at a price that is affordable to low or lower-income households, provided that the 

City can make available rental subsidies through the federal Section 8 Existing Housing 

Program or an equivalent program.  

4. When there is an uneven number of inclusionary units, the majority of units shall be priced 

to be affordable to a household at 50 percent of median income if subsidies are available.  

5. If no rental subsidies are available, all inclusionary unit prices shall be affordable to 

households at 81 percent income of the Oakland PMSA median. 

6. If an applicant agrees to provide 10 percent lower income inclusionary units, the rental price 

for such units shall be affordable to a household with income that is 60 percent of the 

Oakland PMSA median. 

7. Dwelling units designated as inclusionary units shall remain in conformance with the 

regulations of this section for the life of the building. 

8. The City or its designee shall screen applicants for the inclusionary units and refer eligible 

households of the appropriate household size for the unit.  

9. For purposes of occupancy, the appropriate household size standards used by the housing 

authority for the federal Section 8 Existing Housing Program or any future equivalent 

program shall be used.  

10. The applicant or owner shall retain final discretion in the selection of the eligible households 

referred by the City. 

11. The owner shall provide the City with data on vacancies and other information required to 

ensure the long-term affordability of the inclusionary units by eligible households. 

B. Affordability Defined. A unit shall be considered affordable if the rent (including utilities) does 

not exceed 30 percent of a household’s gross income. 

1. Gross household income and utility allowance shall be calculated according to the guidelines 

used by the Berkeley Housing Authority for the federal Section 8 Existing Housing Program. 

 
6 Source: 23C.12.060 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 325 of 511



SECTION  23.328.060   CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 

PAGE 328-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. For purposes of calculating rent, appropriate household size shall be determined by using 

the schedule contained in the administrative regulations developed for this chapter. 

23.328.060 – INCLUSIONARY UNIT REQUIREMENTS FOR OWNERSHIP PROJECTS7 
A. General Sale Requirements. Inclusionary units in ownership projects shall be sold as set forth 

below: 

1. Inclusionary units in ownership projects shall be sold at a price that is affordable to an 

appropriate-sized household whose income is no more than 80 percent of the area median 

income reported for the Oakland PMSA for households of that size, unless the cost of 

development of the unit is greater than the affordable sales price.  

2. Appropriate sizes of household and the ratio of income to sales price for affordable units 

shall be defined by City Manager regulation. 

3. Inclusionary ownership units shall be affirmatively marketed to tenants with Section 8 

housing vouchers, and who are known to be interested in participating in the Section 8 

homeownership program, or other equivalent program(s) of the City, which are in effect at 

the time the units are offered for sale by the developer. 

B. Right of First Refusal and Purchaser Preference.  

1. The applicant for a project other than a limited equity housing cooperative is required to 

give right of first refusal to purchase any or all new inclusionary units to the City or a City 

designee for a period of not less than 60 days as evidenced by issuance of a certificate of 

occupancy. 

2. Should the City choose not to exercise its right of first refusal, it shall provide the applicant 

or owner with a purchaser or with a list of eligible purchasers within a period of not less than 

60 days.  

a. If the list is not provided, the applicant may select a low-income purchaser of the 

applicant’s choice as long as the City verifies income eligibility and the unit is sold at an 

affordable price as described in this chapter.  

b. The City shall maintain a list of eligible low-income households and review the assets 

and incomes of prospective purchasers of the inclusionary units on a project-by-project 

basis and refer potential purchasers to the applicant or owner. 

3. All purchasers of inclusionary units shall be first-time home buyers from low, lower, or very 

low-income households.  

4. Purchasers are also required to occupy the unit except that such requirement may be waived 

with the approval of the City. In such cases, the unit shall be rented to a low, lower, or very 

low-income household at a rent affordable by such households. 

5. Preference of inclusionary units are as follows: 

 
7 Source: 23C.12.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 326 of 511



CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING  SECTION  23.328.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 328-7 

a. First preference will be given to eligible Berkeley residents. 

b. Second preference will be given to eligible persons employed in Berkeley. 

c. Other preferences may also be established administratively, with Planning Commission 

review, to help meet the City’s Housing Element goals. 

6. The City shall advise all prospective purchasers on the City’s eligibility list of the resale 

restrictions applicable to ownership of inclusionary units and shall provide purchasers with a 

Declaration of Restrictions applicable to ownership of inclusionary units. 

7. Purchasers of inclusionary units in limited equity cooperatives at time of first occupancy 

shall be first time home buyers with gross incomes no greater than 120 percent of the 

Oakland PMSA median.  

8. Subsequent purchasers of inclusionary units in limited equity cooperatives shall be first time 

home buyers whose yearly gross income is no more than 44 percent of the cost of a unit at 

the time of sale, provided that such income is no more than 110 percent of the Oakland 

PMSA median. 

C. Resale Restrictions. All inclusionary units developed under this chapter except for those in 

limited equity cooperatives are subject to the resale restrictions set forth below. 

1. Home ownership inclusionary units offered for sale or sold under the requirements of this 

chapter shall be offered to the City or its designee for a period of at least 60 days by the first 

purchaser or subsequent purchasers from the date of the owner’ s notification to the City of 

intent to sell.  

2. The resale price of the unit shall not exceed the original price and customary closing costs, 

except to allow for: 

a. The lower of any increase of either the Consumer Price Index (CPI) for all urban 

consumers (as produced by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics or its successor agencies) 

applicable to the Oakland PMSA; or  

b. The increase as measured in household income guidelines published annually by the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (or its successor agencies) for the 

Oakland PMSA. 

3. The resale formula shall supersede and replace the earlier resale formula in deed restrictions 

executed between February 19, 1987 (adoption date for Ordinance 5791-N.S.) and May 23, 

2006.  

a. The City, or its designee, shall notify each such owner of this change to the resale 

formula contained in their deed restriction within 60 days of adoption of this section.  

b. All other terms and conditions of these deed restrictions shall remain in effect. 

4. If the City does not act on its right of first refusal, the same procedure for new inclusionary 

units shall be used for selection of a purchaser. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 327 of 511



SECTION  23.328.070   CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 

PAGE 328-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

5. The seller shall not levy or charge any additional fees nor shall any finders fee or other 

monetary consideration be allowed, other than customary real estate commissions if the 

services of a licensed real estate agent are employed. 

6. The City or its designee may monitor resale of inclusionary units in limited equity 

cooperatives.  

7. The City or its designee shall monitor the resale of ownership of inclusionary units.  

8. The owners of any inclusionary units shall attach, lawfully reference in the grant deed 

conveying title of any such inclusionary ownership unit, and record with the County 

Recorder a Declaration of Restrictions provided by the City, stating the restrictions imposed 

pursuant to this chapter. Violators of any of the terms may be prosecuted by the City. 

23.328.070 – SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS FOR AVENUES PLAN AREA8 
A. City Council Findings. The City Council finds and determines that: 

1. The Avenues Plan process identified a number of regional and Berkeley-specific barriers to 

housing development. 

2. Among the Berkeley-specific barriers were: 

a. High land prices; 

b. Lengthy, difficult, and uncertain permit processes; and 

c. Insufficient financing, especially for affordable housing projects. 

3. The Avenues Plan area represents a core area of Berkeley where it is particularly appropriate 

to encourage housing development because of the area’s generally good access to 

workplaces, transit service, senior services, and retail stores. 

4. The policy to encourage housing in this area is reflected in a number of documents, 

including, but not limited to, the City’s Housing Element of the General Plan, the Concept 

Plan for the General Plan revision, the Downtown Plan, the South Berkeley Area Plan, the 

West Berkeley Plan, and the University Avenue statement of planning of goals. 

5. Despite the City’s support for housing in this area, new housing development here has been 

limited and this has hindered revitalization of the area. 

6. As part of a multi-pronged experimental strategy to create incentives to encourage housing 

development, relaxation of various inclusionary zoning requirements within the Avenues 

Plan area as set forth in this section is appropriate. 

7. These changes will also assist the buyer of below market rate inclusionary units, by allowing 

buyers to gain greater appreciation on their investments (market conditions permitting), 

making the investment more similar to conventional home ownership, while retaining the 

long term affordability of inclusionary units. 

 
8 Source: 23C.12.080 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 328 of 511



CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING  SECTION  23.328.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 328-9 

8. The changes will also encourage the construction of larger family-sized units, rather than the 

smaller units which have generally been built in multi-family developments. 

9. These changes in inclusionary zoning will be followed by mechanisms to make more 

financing available and changes in zoning standards and permit processes. 

10. The success of these changes will be reviewed annually until the five-year time period of the 

Avenues Plan experiment expires July 1, 2000. 

B. Applicability.9  

1. This section shall remain in effect until July 1, 2000, at which time the Planning 

Commission, in consultation with other relevant commissions, shall re-examine its 

effectiveness. At that time the Commission may initiate modifications to, or an extension of, 

this section. 

2. This section applies on the streets and the addresses listed in Table 23.328.070-1 below. The 

area of applicability consists of the entire C-DMU District and portions of the C-C, C-U, C-

SA, C-W, C-N, R-2A, R-3, and R-4 districts as indicated in the table. Within this area, this 

section supersedes any inconsistent provisions in this chapter. 

TABLE 23.328.070-1: AVENUES PLAN AREA: STREET AND ADDRESS RANGE 

Street Address 

Acton 1940-2100 

Addison 841-1145 odd, 1846 up 

Adeline All 

Alcatraz Avenue 1700-1937 

Allston Way 1901-1999 odd, 2000 up 

Ashby Avenue 1830-2117, 2118-2198 even 

Bancroft Way 2000-2300 

Berkeley Square All 

Berkeley Way 1200-1800 even only, 1800-1920, 1920-2000 even only, 2000 up 

Blake 1800-2100 

Bonar 2000-2099 

Bonita 1900-1950 even, 1950-1999 

Browning portion of West Campus only 

California 1950-2009 

Carleton 2000-2117 

Center All 

Channing Way 1800-1850 even, 2000-2200, 2200-2300 odd 

Cowper All 

Chestnut 1910-1950 even, 1950 up 

Curtis 1900-2100, portion BUSD 

 
9 Updates existing C-2 reference to C-DMU and C-1 to C-C and C-U. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 329 of 511



SECTION  23.328.070   CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 

PAGE 328-10  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

Street Address 

Delaware 1041-1112, 2000-2200 even 

Derby 2000-2113 

Dover All 

Durant Avenue 2000-2300 

Dwight Way 1800-1850 even, 1850-2200 

Ellis 3124-3320 odd 

Emerson 2000-2111 

Essex 1901-2106 

Fairview 1750 up 

Fulton 2200-2400, 2400-2606 even 

Grant 1800-1900 odd, 1900-2050, 2501-2599 odd 

Harold Way All 

Harmon 1750 up 

Harper 2901-3123 odd 

Haste 1900-1998 even, 2000-2200 

Hearst 1032-1200, 1800-2000 even, 2000-2200 

Henry 1900 up 

Jefferson Avenue 2000-2050 

King 3221 up, odd 

Kittredge All 

Martin Luther King Jr. 
Way 

1900-2050, 2051-2199 odd, 2400-2450 even, 2450-2600, 2900 
up 

McGee Avenue 1900-2050 

McKinley Avenue 2400-2500 odd 

Milvia 
1800-1950 odd, 1950-2199, 2200-2450 odd, 2450-2550, 2550-
2900 odd only 

Newbury All 

Oregon 2000-2122 

Otis All 

Oxford 1800-2200 

Parker 1800-1998 even, 2000-2200 

Prince 1830-2105 

Russell 1820-2000 even, 2000-2117 

Sacramento 1900-2000, 2050-2100 even 

San Pablo Avenue 1800-2199 

Shattuck Avenue 1800 up 

Shattuck Square All 

Stuart 2100-2107 

Tremont All 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 330 of 511



CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING  SECTION  23.328.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 328-11 

Street Address 

University Avenue 840 up 

Walnut 1800 up 

West 1950-1999 

Whitney All 

Woolsey 1750-2110 

6th 1916-2099 

7th 1912-2099 

8th 1910-2099 

9th 1910-2099 

10th 1908-2099 

62nd 1700 up 

63rd 1700 up 

 

C. Definitions. For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply: 

1. “Project” means the total number of housing units planned to be built on a single lot or on a 

grouping of contiguous, commonly owned, or controlled lots, regardless of whether those 

units are all built simultaneously. 

2. “Affordable family-sized unit” means a unit which: 

a. Is at least 850 square feet in area if two bedrooms or 1,100 square feet if three bedrooms 

or more; 

b. Contains at least two lawful bedrooms; 

c. Contains at least as many bathrooms as the corresponding two-bedroom market rate 

units; and 

d. Is sold at a price that is affordable to an appropriate sized household whose income is no 

more than 80 percent of the metropolitan area median as reported by the Department of 

Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 

D. Number of Inclusionary Units Required.  

1. The number of inclusionary units required are shown in the Table 23.328.070-2.10 

  

 
10 CONSENT CHANGE. Removes “Except as provided in this chapter” from 23C.12.080E, which conflicts with 
23C.12.080B: “Within this area, the provisions of this section superseded any inconsistent provisions of this chapter.” 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 331 of 511



SECTION  23.328.070   CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 

PAGE 328-12  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

TABLE 23.328.070-2: NUMBER OF INCLUSIONARY UNITS REQUIRED 
Total Number of 

Units Built 
Number of Required 
Inclusionary Units 

10-14 1 

15-19 2 

Each additional multiple of 5 units 1 additional 

 

2. For every five units which the applicant can demonstrate with bona fide sales documents 

have been sold at a price at or below that affordable to an appropriately sized household 

with an income of 100 percent of metropolitan area median, the applicant is released of the 

obligation to provide one inclusionary unit. 

3. For every 10 affordable family-sized units, the applicant is released of the obligation to 

provide one inclusionary unit sold at a price at or below that affordable to an appropriately 

sized household with an income of 100 percent of metropolitan area median. 

4. Within the area of applicability for that portion of a project wherein both the inclusionary 

and the non-inclusionary units contain at least as many bathrooms as the corresponding two-

bedroom market rate units, only 10 percent of units must be inclusionary. 

E. Pricing Requirements.  

1. The first inclusionary unit in projects with units for sale shall be sold at a price that is 

affordable to an appropriately sized household whose income is no more than 80 percent of 

the Oakland PMSA median as reported by HUD.  

2. Except as otherwise provided in Section 23.328.070.C.2.d above, the second inclusionary 

unit shall be sold at a price that is affordable to an appropriate sized household whose 

income is no more than 100 percent of the PMSA median and subsequent inclusionary units 

shall be sold alternately at these price levels. 

3. Inclusionary sale units in projects in the Avenues Plan Area shall be sold at a price such that 

first year housing cost (including homeowners’ association dues, if any) for a household of 

appropriate size with an income at the targeted level shall not exceed 33 percent of income.  

4. This cost shall be calculated assuming that the buyer makes a 10 percent down payment, 

which shall not be considered a portion of the cost.  

5. The housing cost shall be calculated for each project at the time the condominium 

association budget is approved by the California Department of Real Estate and shall not be 

changed subsequent to that time for that project, regardless of future changes in cost. 

6. The resale price of inclusionary units within the Avenues Plan Area may increase at the rate 

of increase of the Consumer Price Index for all urban consumers (CPI-U) applicable to the 

metropolitan area. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 332 of 511



CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING  SECTION  23.328.080  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 328-13 

23.328.080 – ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS11 
The City Manager or the City Manager’s designee shall promulgate rules and regulations pertaining 

to this chapter, including but not limited to setting and administering gross rents and sale prices, 

requiring guarantees, entering into recorded agreements with applicants and taking other appropriate 

steps necessary to ensure that the required low income and very low income dwelling units are 

provided and occupied by low income households. 

23.328.090 – FEES12 
The City Council, by resolution, may establish fees for the administration of this chapter. 

  

 
11 Source: 23C.12.090 
12 Source: 23C.12.100 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 333 of 511



SECTION  23.328.090   CHAPTER 23.328 – INCLUSIONARY HOUSING 

PAGE 328-14  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 334 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 330-1 

    

DENSITY BONUS 
Sections: 

23.330.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.330.020 – Definitions 

23.330.030 – Application Requirements 

23.330.040 – Density Bonus Calculations and Procedures 

23.330.050 – Incentives and Concessions 

23.330.060 – Waivers and Reductions 

23.330.070 – Qualifying Units 

23.330.080 – Regulatory Agreements 

 

Commentary:  This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23C.14 with minor stylistic edits and reorganization 

to clarify applicability of rules. Substantive revisions to this chapter are not envisioned as part of the Zoning Ordinance 

Revision project.  

23.330.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
The purpose of this chapter is to: 

A. Establish procedures and local standards to implement California Government Code Sections 

65915–65918 consistent with local zoning regulations and development standards; and 

B. Provide special provisions consistent with the intent of State and local law. Unless otherwise 

noted, all section references in this chapter are to the California Government Code. 

23.330.020 – DEFINITIONS2 
A. Terms Defined. Terms used in this chapter are defined as follows: 

1. Administrative Regulations. Guidelines and procedures promulgated by the Planning 

Director that may be modified from time to time to effectively implement this ordinance. 

2. Base Project. The maximum allowable residential density on a housing development site 

pursuant to the applicable zoning district or, where no density standard is provided, as set 

forth in the Administrative Regulations before applying the density bonus. 

3. Density Bonus. Those residential units, floor area, rental beds or bedrooms added to the 

Base Project pursuant to the provisions of Government Code Section 65915 and this 

chapter. 

4. Eligible Housing Development. As defined in Government Code Section 65917.2. 

 
1 Source: 23C.14.010.  
2 Source: 23C.14.020. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 335 of 511



SECTION  23.330.030    CHAPTER 23.330 – DENSITY BONUS 

PAGE 330-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

5. Housing Development. As defined in Government Code Section 65915(i). 

6. Incentive and Concession. An incentive or a concession as the terms are used in 

Government Code Section 65915 and in particular as defined in Section 65915(k) thereof. 

The City may request reasonable documentation from the applicant to support the request. 

7. Qualifying Unit. A unit that is provided at a below market-rate rent or sales price as set 

forth in Government Code Section 65915 in order to receive a Density Bonus and/or 

Waivers and Reductions and/or Incentives and Concessions. 

8. Waiver and Reduction. A waiver or a reduction as the terms are used in Government Code 

Section 65915 and in particular in Section 65915(e) thereof, and means any and all changes 

to or exemptions from physical lot development standards that are required to avoid 

precluding the construction of a Housing Development with Density Bonus Units, as set 

forth in Section 65915(e). The City may request reasonable documentation from the 

applicant to support the request. 

B. Terms Not Defined. Terms not defined in this section shall be interpreted to give this chapter 

its most reasonable meaning and application, consistent with applicable state and federal law. 

23.330.030 – APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS3 
A. Required Information. In addition to any other information required by the Zoning 

Ordinance, an application for a density bonus must include the following information: 

1. How the proposed project will satisfy the eligibility requirements of Section 65915 or 

65917.2. 

2. For those districts without density standards, a density bonus schematic as set forth in the 

City of Berkeley Administrative Regulations. 

3. The requested density bonus pursuant to Municipal Code Section 23.330.040 (Density 

Bonus Calculations and Procedures). 

4. Any waivers and reductions that are sought under Section 65915.e that would be required to 

accommodate the housing development including the density bonus units.  

5. Any incentives and concessions that are sought under Section 65915.d accompanied by 

documentation of resulting cost reductions to provide for affordable housing costs.  

6. Any requested additional bonus units under Section 65915.n. 

7. Any requested parking reductions under Section 65915.p.  

8. Whether the applicant elects to receive a density bonus that is less than that mandated by 

Section 65915, including a density bonus of zero. In such cases, the applicant retains their 

entitlement to incentives and concessions. 

 
3 Source: 23C.14.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 336 of 511



CHAPTER 23.330 – DENSITY BONUS  SECTION  23.330.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 330-3 

9. Documentation of how a project complies with regulations regarding replacement units as 

described in Section 65915.c.3. 

B. Documentation Supporting Requests. The City may request reasonable documentation from 

the applicant to support requested waivers/reductions and incentives/concessions. 

23.330.040 – DENSITY BONUS CALCULATIONS AND PROCEDURES4 
A. Calculation. Density bonuses must be calculated as set forth in Section 65915, 65917.2, and 

pursuant to the Administrative Regulations. 

B. Procedures. Density bonus requests must accompany housing development permit applications 

and will be decided upon concurrent with the underlying permit for the project. 

23.330.050 – INCENTIVES AND CONCESSIONS5 
A. Calculation. For purposes of this chapter, the number of incentives and concessions are 

counted as follows: 

1. Any incentive and concession that would otherwise require discretionary approval by the 

Zoning Officer, the ZAB, or City Council of any single dimensional lot development 

standard, such as height or setbacks, or any single quantitative lot development standard, 

such as parking or open space, counts as one. 

2. A proposed incentive and concession that would involve exceedance of a single physical lot 

development standard counts as one even if that exceedance would otherwise require more 

than one permit (e.g., extra height may require permits for height, floor area ratio, and/or 

number of stories but would count as one incentive and concession for height). 

3. Where it is ambiguous as to whether a proposed incentive and concession involves one or 

more dimensional or quantitative lot development standards, the stricter interpretation 

applies, as determined by the review authority. 

B. Procedural Requirements.  

1. The City shall grant incentives and concession unless findings are made as set forth in 

Section 65915d.1. 

2. The City is not required to deny a proposed incentive and concession solely because it is able 

to make a finding under Section 65915.d.1.  

3. The City bears the burden of proof for the denial of a requested incentive and concession. 

4. Unless denied under Section 65915, incentives and concessions are exempt from 

discretionary review of permits under the Zoning Ordinance, other than Design Review, and 

by law do not modify the CEQA review status of a project. 

 
4 Source: 23C.14.040 
5 Source: 23C.14.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 337 of 511



SECTION  23.330.060    CHAPTER 23.330 – DENSITY BONUS 

PAGE 330-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.330.060 – WAIVERS AND REDUCTIONS6 
A. Proposal. An applicant may submit to the City a proposal for waivers and reductions of 

development standards that physically preclude construction of a housing development and 

density bonus units meeting the criteria of Section 65915.b. 

B. Negotiated Process. The City may negotiate changes to the requested waivers and reductions 

as part of the Use Permit and Design Review process, in coordination with the applicant, to 

address aspects of the project that may be of concern in the community or inconsistent with 

overarching principles of the General Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and Design Guidelines. 

C. Denial. The City may deny waivers and reductions for the reasons set forth in Section 

65915.e.1. 

23.330.070 – QUALIFYING UNITS7 
Qualifying units must meet the standards set forth in Section 23.328.040 (Requirements Applicable 

to All Inclusionary Units). 

23.330.080 – REGULATORY AGREEMENTS8 
Prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy for a housing development that has received a density 

bonus, the applicant must enter into a regulatory agreement in a form provided by the City that 

implements Sections 65915–65918 and this chapter. 

  

 
6 Source: 23C.14.060 
7 Source: 23C.14.070 
8 Source: 23C.14.090 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 338 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-1 

    

WIRELESS COMMUNICATION 

FACILITIES 
Sections: 

23.332.010 – Chapter Purpose and Applicability 

23.332.020 – Definitions 

23.332.030 – General Requirements 

23.332.040 – Minimum Application Requirements 

23.332.050 – Location Requirements 

23.332.060 – Height Requirements 

23.332.070 – Design Requirements 

23.332.080 – Operation and Maintenance Standards 

23.332.090 – Public Information Requirements 

23.332.100 – Certification Requirements 

23.332.110 – Permits and Findings Required for Approval 

23.332.120 – Cessation of Operations 

 

Commentary:  This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23C.17 with minor stylistic edits and reorganization 

to clarify applicability of rules. Substantive revisions to this chapter are not envisioned as part of the Zoning Ordinance 

Revision project.  

23.332.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE AND APPLICABILITY1 
A. Purpose.2 The purpose of this chapter is to: 

1. Provide a uniform and comprehensive set of standards for the development, siting, 

installation, and operation of wireless telecommunications antennas and related facilities 

(“wireless telecommunications facilities”) for personal wireless services;  

2. Foster an aesthetically pleasing urban environment, prevent visual blight, protect and 

preserve public safety and general welfare, and maintain the character of residential areas, 

including those adjacent to commercial areas and neighborhood commercial areas, 

consistent with the General Plan and adopted area plans and in compliance with applicable 

state and federal legislation; and 

3. Prevent the location of wireless telecommunications facilities in Residential Districts unless: 

 
1 Source: 23C.17.010; 23C.17.020; 23C.17.030.D 
2 Source: 234C.17.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 339 of 511



SECTION  23.332.020   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-2  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. The City is required to permit them in such locations in order to avoid violating the 

Telecommunications Act of 1996. 

b. The wireless telecommunications facilities are designed to interfere as little as possible 

with the character of the neighborhood. 

4. Establish and maintain telecommunications facilities that are components of a wireless 

telecommunications infrastructure designed to enhance the City’s emergency response 

network and not interfere with such emergency systems in violation of applicable federal or 

state regulations. 

5. Establish a process for obtaining necessary permits for wireless telecommunication facilities 

that provides greater certainty to both applicants and interested members of the public while 

ensuring compliance with all applicable zoning requirements. 

6. Provide opportunities for further reduction in potential aesthetic or land use impacts of 

wireless telecommunications facilities as changes in technology occur. 

7. Support the use of personal wireless services to enhance personal and public health and 

safety as well as the public welfare of Berkeley. 

B. Applicability.3 The regulations in this chapter apply to all wireless telecommunications facilities 

for personal wireless services on property other than the public right-of-way in Berkeley. 

23.332.020 – DEFINITIONS4 
A. Terms Defined. Terms used in this chapter are defined as follows: 

1. Antenna. Any system of wires, poles, rods, panels, whips, cylinders, reflecting discs, or 

similar devices used for transmitting or receiving electromagnetic waves when such system is 

either external to or attached to the exterior of a structure, or is portable or movable. 

"Antenna" includes devices having active elements extending in any direction, and 

directional beam-type arrays having elements carried by and disposed from a generally 

horizontal boom that may be mounted upon and rotated through a vertical mast or tower 

interconnecting the boom and antenna support, all of which elements are deemed to be a 

part of the antenna. 

2. Antenna - Facade Mounted (also known as Building Mounted). Any antenna, directly 

attached or affixed to the elevation of a building, tank, tower, or other structure. 

3. Antenna - Ground Mounted. Any antenna with its base, whether consisting of single or 

multiple posts, placed directly on the ground or a single mast less than 15 feet tall and 6 

inches in diameter. 

4. Antenna - Parabolic (also known as Satellite Dish Antenna). Any device incorporating a 

reflective surface that is solid, open mesh, or bar configured that is shallow dish, cone, horn, 

 
3 Source: 23C.17.010 
4 Source: 23F.04.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 340 of 511



CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES  SECTION  23.332.020  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-3 

bowl or cornucopia shaped and is used to transmit or receive electromagnetic or radio 

frequency communication/signals in a specific directional pattern. 

5. Approved Engineer. Radio frequency engineer or licensed electrical engineer specializing in 

EMF or RFR studies approved by City of Berkeley staff to conduct analysis required 

pursuant to this chapter. 

6. Co-Location. Location of any telecommunication facility owned or operated by a different 

telecommunication service provider on the same tower, building, or property. 

7. Personal Wireless Services. Commercial mobile services, unlicensed wireless services, and 

common carrier wireless exchange access services as defined in the Telecommunications Act 

of 1996. 

8. Readily Visible. A wireless telecommunications facility is readily visible if it can be seen 

from street level or from the main living area of a legal residence in a residential district or 

from a public park by a person with normal vision, and distinguished as an antenna or other 

component of a wireless telecommunication facility, due to the fact that it stands out as a 

prominent feature of the landscape, protrudes above or out from the building or structure 

ridgeline, or is otherwise not sufficiently camouflaged or designed to be compatible with the 

appurtenant architecture or building materials. For purposes of this definition, "main living 

area" means the living and dining and similar areas of a dwelling, but not bedrooms, 

bathrooms or similar areas. 

9. Stealth Facility. Any wireless telecommunications facility that is not readily visible because 

it has been designed to blend into the surrounding environment and is visually unobtrusive. 

Examples may include architecturally screened roof-mounted antennas, building-mounted 

antennas that are painted and treated as architectural element to blend with the existing 

building, monopoles that are disguised as flag poles or public art, or camouflaged using 

existing vegetation. A pole or tower with antennas that are flush with or do not protrude 

above or out from the pole or antenna is not considered to be a stealth facility unless the 

pole or tower is an existing pole or tower, existing utility pole or tower, or existing light 

standard or street light, or replacement thereof. 

10. Structure Ridgeline. The line along the top of an existing roof or top of a structure, 

including existing parapets, penthouses, or mechanical equipment screens. 

11. Telecommunications. The transmission, between or among points specified by the user, of 

information of the user’s choosing, without change in the content of the information as sent 

and received as defined in the Telecommunications Act of 1996. 

12. Telecommunications Equipment. Equipment, other than customer premises equipment, 

used by a Telecommunications Carrier to provide Telecommunications Services, and 

includes software integral to such equipment (including upgrades) that is not located, in 

whole or in part, in, above, or below Streets, Public Rights- of-Way or other Public Property. 

13. Telecommunications Service. The offering of telecommunications for a fee directly or 

indirectly to any Person as defined in the Telecommunications Act of 1996. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 341 of 511



SECTION  23.332.030   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-4  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

14. Telecommunications Tower. Any mast, pole, monopole, lattice tower, or other structure 

designed and primarily used to support antennas. A ground or building mounted mast 

greater than 15 feet tall and 6 inches in diameter supporting one or more antennas, dishes, 

arrays, etc. shall be considered a telecommunications tower. 

15. Wireless Telecommunications Facilities. Personal wireless service facilities as defined in 

the Telecommunications Act of 1996, including, but not limited to, facilities that transmit 

and/or receive electromagnetic signals for cellular radio telephone service, personal 

communications services, enhanced specialized mobile services, paging systems, and related 

technologies. Such facilities include antennas, microwave dishes, parabolic antennas, and all 

other types of equipment used in the transmission or reception of such signals; 

telecommunication towers or similar structures supporting said equipment; associated 

equipment cabinets and/or buildings; and all other accessory development used for the 

provision of personal wireless services. These facilities do not include radio towers, 

television towers, and government-operated public safety networks. 

B. Terms Not Defined. Terms not defined in this section shall be interpreted to give this chapter 

its most reasonable meaning and application, consistent with applicable state and federal law. 

23.332.030 – GENERAL REQUIREMENTS5  
In addition to any other requirements imposed by this chapter, all wireless telecommunications 

facilities on property other than the public right-of-way in Berkeley shall be consistent with the 

following: 

A. The General Plan, adopted area plans, and all other applicable provisions of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

B. Applicable regulations and standards of any other governmental agency with jurisdiction over 

the installation or operation of wireless telecommunications facilities including, but not limited 

to, the Federal Communications Commission, the Federal Aviation Administration, and the 

California Public Utilities Commission. 

C. Any applicable discretionary permit affecting the subject property, except to the extent the 

Zoning Officer or ZAB may modify such requirements. 

23.332.040 – MINIMUM APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS6  
A. Section Purpose. This section establishes limited additional application submittal requirements 

for wireless telecommunications facilities. The purpose of these requirements is to ensure that 

the purposes of this chapter are implemented to the extent permitted by the 

Telecommunications Act of 1996. 

B. Application Requirements. In addition to meeting the standard application submittal 

requirements for permits specified in Chapter 23.404 (Common Permit Requirements), wireless 

 
5 Source: 23C.17.030 
6 Source: 23C.17.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 342 of 511



CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES  SECTION  23.332.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-5 

telecommunication facility applications required this chapter shall include the following 

information: 

1. Coverage Map and General Information. 

a. A narrative description and map showing the coverage area of the provider’s existing 

facilities that serve customers in Berkeley and the specific site that is the subject of the 

application. 

b. A statement of the telecommunications objectives sought for the proposed location, 

whether the proposed facility is necessary to prevent or fill a significant gap or capacity 

shortfall in the applicant’s service area, whether it is the least intrusive means of doing 

so, and whether there are any alternative sites that would have fewer aesthetic impacts 

while providing comparable service.  

c. An AUP application need not include information as to whether the proposed facility is 

necessary to prevent or fill a significant gap or capacity shortfall in the applicant’s service 

area. 

2. Technical Information. 

a. Copies of or a sworn statement by an authorized representative that the applicant holds 

all applicable licenses or other approvals to construct the proposed facility required by 

the Federal Communications Commission (FCC), the California Public Utilities 

Commission (PUC), and any other agency of the Federal or State government with 

authority to regulate telecommunications facilities. 

b. Documentation of or a sworn statement by an authorized representative that the 

applicant is in compliance with all conditions imposed in conjunction with such licenses 

or approvals, a description of the number, type, power rating, frequency range, and 

dimensions of antennas, equipment cabinets, and related wireless telecommunications 

facilities proposed to be installed, and engineering calculations demonstrating that the 

proposed facility will comply with all applicable FCC requirements and standards. 

3. Visibility. 

a. A site plan, plans, and elevations drawn to scale.  

i. Plans shall include microcell, facade- or roof-mounted antennas, and all related 

equipment.  

ii. Elevations shall include all structures on which facilities are proposed to be located. 

b. A description of the proposed approach for screening or camouflaging all facilities from 

public view including plans for installation and maintenance of landscaping, sample 

exterior materials, and colors, and an explanation of the measures by which the proposed 

facility will be camouflaged or rendered not readily visible.  

c. Where any part of the proposed facility would be readily visible, the application shall 

include an explanation as to why it cannot be screened from view. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 343 of 511



SECTION  23.332.050   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-6  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

d. A visual impact analysis including scaled elevation diagrams within the context of the 

building, before and after photo simulations, and a map depicting where the photos were 

taken.  

e. The Zoning Officer may require the submission of photo overlays, scaled models, 

renderings, or mockups to document the effectiveness of techniques proposed to 

minimize visibility. 

f. If a ground-mounted or freestanding tower is proposed, the application must include an 

explanation as to why other facility types are not feasible. 

4. Peer Review. 

a. The application shall include sufficient information for an approved radio frequency 

engineer or licensed electrical engineer specializing in EMF or RFR studies (“approved 

engineer”) retained by the City to peer review the information provided in response to 

Sections 23.322.030.B.2 and 3. 

b. The application shall include an agreement to pay the reasonable actual cost and a 

reasonable administrative fee for hiring an approved engineer to provide peer review. 

c. Any proprietary information disclosed to the City or its engineer in confidence shall not 

be a public record and shall remain confidential and not be disclosed to any third party 

without the express consent of the applicant.  

d. The City and/or its engineer shall return all proprietary information to the applicant and 

shall not retain any copies of such information once its decision is final. 

5. Monitoring. An agreement to pay a reasonable one-time or annual fee for independent 

monitoring as required by this chapter. 

6. Statement of Financial Assurances. A statement that prior to obtaining a building permit 

to erect or install the proposed facility, the applicant shall either secure a bond or provide 

financial assurances, in a form acceptable to the City Manager, for the removal of the facility 

in the event that its use is abandoned or the approval is otherwise terminated. 

7. Noise. The Zoning Officer may require information concerning noise that might be 

generated by equipment associated with a wireless telecommunication facility, such as air 

conditioning equipment, if the physical circumstances of the proposed facility suggest that 

such noise may be detrimental. 

23.332.050 – LOCATION REQUIREMENTS7  
A. Visibility. A wireless communications facility may not be sited on or above a ridgeline or at any 

other location readily visible from a public park, unless ZAB makes the applicable findings 

required in Section 23.332.110.E (Findings). 

B. Distance Between Freestanding Facilities. A new freestanding facility, including towers, 

lattice towers, and monopoles, may not be located within 1,000 feet of another freestanding 

 
7 Source: 23C.17.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 344 of 511



CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES  SECTION  23.332.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-7 

facility, unless appropriate stealth techniques have been used to minimize the visual impact of 

the facility to the extent feasible, and mounting on a building or co-location on an existing pole 

or tower is not feasible. 

23.332.060 – HEIGHT REQUIREMENTS8  
A. Measurement.  

1. The height of a telecommunications tower is measured from existing grade below the center 

of the base of the tower to either: 

a. The top of the tower; or 

b. The tip of the highest antenna or piece of attached equipment if taller than the tower 

2. The height of building-mounted antennas includes the height of that portion of the building 

on which the antenna is mounted.  

3. In the case of “crank-up” or similar towers whose height is adjustable, the height of the 

tower is the maximum height to which it is capable of being raised. 

B. Conformance with District Requirements.  

1. No antenna telecommunications tower or facade-mounted antenna shall exceed or project 

above the height limits specified for the district in which the antenna is located. 

2. Roof-mounted antennas affixed to an existing or proposed tower or pole shall not extend or 

project more than 15 feet above the height limit of the district. 

23.332.070 – DESIGN REQUIREMENTS9  
In addition to all other requirements set forth in this chapter, all wireless telecommunication 

facilities shall meet the design requirements in this section. 

A. Order of Preference of Facility Type. Based on potential aesthetic impact, the order of 

preference for facility type is as follows (ordered from most preferred to least preferred): 

microcell, facade-mounted, roof-mounted, ground-mounted, and freestanding tower. 

B. Visibility.  

1. All facilities shall be designed and located to minimize their visibility to the greatest extent 

feasible, considering technological requirements, by means of placement, screening, and 

camouflage.  

2. The applicant shall use the smallest and least visible antennas feasible to accomplish the 

owner/operator’s coverage or capacity objectives.  

3. A wireless telecommunications facility that would be readily visible from the public right-of-

way or from the habitable living areas of residential units within 100 feet of the facility shall 

 
8 Source: 23C.17.060 
9 Source: 23C.17.70 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 345 of 511



SECTION  23.332.070   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-8  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

incorporate appropriate techniques to camouflage or disguise the facility, and/or blend it 

into the surrounding environment, to the greatest extent feasible.  

4. Facilities shall be compatible in scale and integrated architecturally with the design of 

surrounding buildings or the natural setting. 

C. Location. 

1. View Corridor Impacts. No readily visible antenna shall be placed at a location where it 

would impair a significant or sensitive view corridor except as provided for in Subsection (3) 

below. 

2. Facilities in Setbacks and Between Buildings and Rights-of-Way. If 

telecommunications antenna or ancillary support equipment is located within any required 

setback or between the face of a building and a public right-of-way, permits are required as 

follows: 

a. An AUP is required for microcell facilities and facilities that are completely subterranean. 

b. A Use Permit is required for all other facilities. 

3. Roof- and Ground-Mounted Antennas.  

a. Roof-mounted antennas shall be located in an area of the roof where the visual impact is 

minimized.  

b. Roof-mounted and ground-mounted antennas shall not be placed in direct line of sight 

of significant or sensitive view corridors or where they adversely affect scenic vistas 

unless the Zoning Officer or ZAB finds that the facility incorporates appropriate, 

creative stealth techniques to camouflage, disguise, and/or blend into the surrounding 

environment to the extent feasible.  

c. Roof mounted antennas shall be designed and sited to minimize their visibility and shall 

be no taller than necessary to meet the operator’s service requirements.  

d. Where roof-mounted antennas are readily visible, confirmation of necessary height for 

service requirements, at the Zoning Officer’s discretion, shall be based on independent 

analysis by an approved engineer retained by the City. 

4. Satellite Dish or Parabolic Antennas. 

a. Satellite dish or parabolic antennas shall be situated as close to the ground as possible to 

reduce visual impact without compromising their function.  

b. When screened from pedestrian-level view from the public right-of-way and not readily 

visible from any property that contains a legally established residential use, satellite dish 

or parabolic antennas may be located in any required setback area subject to the approval 

of a Use Permit.  

c. No satellite dish or parabolic antenna may exceed 39 inches in diameter unless the 

Zoning Officer or ZAB finds that a smaller antenna cannot feasibly accomplish the 

provider’s technical objectives and that the facility will not be readily visible. The Zoning 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 346 of 511



CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES  SECTION  23.332.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-9 

Officer may require that this determination be based on independent technical analysis 

by an approved engineer. 

5. Monopoles and Lattice Towers. All monopoles and lattice towers shall be designed to be 

the minimum functional height and width required to support the proposed antenna 

installation unless a higher monopole or lattice tower will facilitate co-location or other 

objectives of this chapter. 

D. Colors and Materials.  

1. Colors and materials for facilities shall be chosen to minimize visibility.  

2. All visible exterior surfaces shall be constructed of non-reflective materials.  

3. Facilities shall be painted or textured using colors to match or blend with the primary 

background. 

E. Lighting.  

1. Facility lighting shall be designed to meet but not exceed minimum requirements for 

security, safety, or FAA regulations, and in all instances shall be designed to avoid glare and 

minimize illumination on adjacent properties.  

2. Lightning arresters and beacon lights shall not be included in the design of facilities unless 

required by the FAA.  

3. Lightning arresters and beacons shall be included when calculating the height of facilities 

such as towers, lattice towers, and monopoles. 

F. Advertising. No advertising shall be placed on telecommunications antennas or other 

equipment. 

G. Facility Design.  

1. All facilities shall be designed to be resistant to and minimize opportunities for unauthorized 

access, climbing, vandalism, graffiti, and other conditions that would result in hazardous 

conditions, visual blight, or attractive nuisances.  

2. The Zoning Officer or ZAB may require the provision of warning signs, fencing, anti-

climbing devices, or other techniques to prevent unauthorized access and vandalism when, 

because of their location and/or accessibility, antenna facilities have the potential to become 

an attractive nuisance.  

3. The design of the fencing and other access control devices is subject to Design Review. 

H. Landscaping.  

1. Where appropriate and directly related to the applicant’s placement, construction, or 

modification of wireless telecommunications facilities, the applicant shall maintain and 

enhance existing landscaping on the site, including trees, foliage and shrubs, when used for 

screening unless appropriate replacement landscaping is approved through the Design 

Review process.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 347 of 511



SECTION  23.332.070   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-10  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Additional landscaping shall be planted as needed to minimize the visual impact of the 

facility and, when feasible, to block the line of sight between facilities and adjacent residential 

uses and properties in a residential district.  

3. The appropriate minimum size of new trees and shrubs shall be approved through the 

Design Review process. 

I. Projection of Equipment. Facade-mounted equipment, not including any required screening, 

shall not project more than 18 inches from the face of the building or other support structure 

unless specifically authorized by the Zoning Officer or ZAB. 

J. Ancillary Support Equipment.  

1. In order of preference, ancillary support equipment for facilities shall be located either 

within a building or structure, on a screened roof top area or structure, or in a rear yard if 

not readily visible from surrounding properties and the public right-of-way, unless the 

Zoning Officer or ZAB finds that another location is preferable under the circumstances of 

the application. 

2. Above ground and partially buried ancillary equipment, including support pads, cabinets, 

shelters, and buildings, shall be located where they will be the least visible from surrounding 

properties and the public right-of-way. Such equipment shall be designed to be 

architecturally compatible with surrounding structures and/or screened using appropriate 

techniques to camouflage, disguise, and/or blend into the environment including 

landscaping, color, and other techniques to minimize their visual impact.  

3. If the Zoning Officer determines that an equipment cabinet is not or cannot be adequately 

screened from surrounding properties or from public view or architecturally treated to blend 

in with the environment, the equipment cabinet shall be placed underground or inside the 

existing building where the antenna is located unless the Zoning Officer or ZAB finds that 

such placement is not feasible or consistent with the objectives of this chapter and other 

applicable requirements. 

K. Co-Located Antennas.  

1. When antennas are co-located, the City may limit the number of antennas with related 

equipment and providers located on a site and adjacent sites to prevent negative visual 

impacts associated with multiple facilities.  

2. Architectural and other camouflaging treatment shall be coordinated between all users on a 

site. 

L. Parking. Proposed facilities shall not reduce the number of available parking spaces below the 

amount required by the Zoning Ordinance. 

M. Effect of Modification. At the time of modification or upgrade of facilities, existing equipment 

shall, to the extent feasible, be replaced with equipment that reduces visual and noise impacts as 

feasible. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 348 of 511



CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES  SECTION  23.332.080  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-11 

23.332.080 – OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE STANDARDS10 
All wireless telecommunication facilities shall at all times comply with the following operation and 

maintenance standards. Failure to comply shall be considered a violation of conditions of approval 

subject to the enforcement provisions in this chapter. 

A. Emergency Sign Required.  

1. Each owner or operator of a wireless telecommunications facility shall provide signage 

identifying the name and phone number of a party to contact in event of an emergency.  

2. The design, materials, colors, and location of signs is subject to Design Review.  

3. Contact information must be kept current. 

B. Maintenance and Repair.  

1. Wireless telecommunications facilities and related equipment shall be maintained in good 

repair, free from trash, debris, litter, graffiti, and other forms of vandalism.  

2. Damage from any cause shall be repaired as soon as reasonably possible so as to minimize 

occurrences of dangerous conditions or visual blight.  

3. Graffiti shall be removed from any facility or equipment as soon as practicable, and in no 

instance more than 48 hours from the time of notification by the City. 

4. Vehicle and personnel access to sites for maintenance and repairs shall not be from 

residential streets or adjacent residential properties to the maximum extent feasible. 

C. Landscaping.  

1. The owner or operator of a wireless telecommunications facility shall be responsible for 

maintaining landscaping in accordance with the approved landscape plan and for replacing 

any damaged or dead trees, foliage, or other landscaping elements shown on the approved 

plan.  

2. Amendments or modifications to the landscape plan must be submitted to the Zoning 

Officer for approval. 

D. Operation Standards.  

1. Each wireless telecommunications facility shall be operated in a manner that will minimize 

noise impacts to surrounding residents and persons using nearby parks, trails, and similar 

recreation areas.  

2. Except for emergency repairs, testing and maintenance activities that will be audible beyond 

the property line shall only occur between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. on Monday 

through Friday, excluding holidays.  

3. All air conditioning units and any other equipment that may emit noise audible from beyond 

the property line shall be enclosed or equipped with noise attenuation devices to the extent 

 
10 Source: 23C.17.080 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 349 of 511



SECTION  23.332.090   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-12  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

necessary to ensure compliance with applicable noise limitations under Chapter 13.40 

(Community Noise).  

4. Backup generators shall only be operated during periods of power outages or for testing.  

5. At no time shall equipment noise from any source exceed the standards specified in Chapter 

13.40 (Community Noise). 

E. Facilities Providing Service to the Government or General Public. All wireless 

telecommunications facilities providing service to the government or the general public shall be 

designed to meet the following requirements: 

1. The exterior walls and roof covering of all above ground equipment shelters and cabinets 

shall be constructed of materials rated as nonflammable. 

2. Openings in all above ground equipment shelters and cabinets shall be protected against 

penetration by fire and windblown embers to the greatest extent feasible. 

3. Material used as supports for antennas shall be fire resistant, termite proof, and comply with 

all applicable regulations. 

4. Telecommunications antenna towers shall be designed to withstand forces expected during 

earthquakes to the extent feasible.  

a. Building-mounted facilities shall be anchored so that an earthquake does not dislodge 

them or tip them over.  

b. All equipment mounting racks and attached equipment shall be anchored so that an 

earthquake would not tip them over, throw equipment off their shelves, or otherwise 

damage equipment. 

c. All connections between various components of the wireless telecommunications facility 

and necessary power and telephone lines shall, to the greatest extent feasible, be 

protected against damage by fire, flooding, and earthquake.  

5. Reasonable measures shall be taken to keep wireless telecommunication facilities in 

operation in the event of a natural disaster. 

23.332.090 – PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS11 
A. Map and Inventory. The Planning and Development Department shall maintain a map and 

inventory of all existing and proposed wireless telecommunication sites, which shall be available 

to members of the public and other interested parties for inspection.  

B. Inventory Information. The inventory shall, at a minimum, include the following information: 

1. Address of site. 

2. Number, type, power rating, and frequency range of all antennas at the site. 

 
11 Source: 23C.17.085 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 350 of 511



CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES  SECTION  23.332.100  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-13 

3. Name of telecommunications carrier owning, operating, or leasing each antenna at the site. 

4. Date of most recent certification. 

23.332.100 – CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS12 
A. General. 

1. No wireless telecommunications facility or combination of facilities shall at any time produce 

power densities that exceed the FCC’s limits for electric and magnetic field strength and 

power density for transmitters.  

2. In order to ensure continuing compliance with all applicable emission standards, all wireless 

telecommunications facilities shall submit reports as required by this section.  

3. The City may require, at the operator’s expense, independent verification of the results of 

any analysis.  

4. If an operator of a telecommunications facility fails to supply the required reports or fails to 

correct a violation of the FCC standard following notification, the Use Permit or AUP is 

subject to modification or revocation by the ZAB following a public hearing. 

B. All Facilities.  

1. Within 45 days of initial operation or modification of a telecommunications facility, the 

operator of each telecommunications antenna shall submit to the Zoning Officer written 

certification by a licensed professional engineer that the facility’s radio frequency emissions 

are in compliance with the approved application and any required conditions.  

a. The engineer shall measure the radio frequency radiation of the approved facility, 

including the cumulative impact from other nearby facilities, and determine if it meets 

the FCC requirements.  

b. A report of these measurements and the engineer’s findings with respect to compliance 

with the FCC’s Maximum Permissible Exposure (MPE) limits shall be submitted to the 

Zoning Officer.  

c. If the report shows that the facility does not comply with applicable FCC requirements, 

the owner or operator shall cease operation of the facility until the facility complies with, 

or has been modified to comply with, this standard.  

d. Proof of compliance shall be a certification provided by the engineer who prepared the 

original report.  

e. The City may require, at the applicant’s expense, independent verification of the results 

of the analysis. 

2. Prior to January 31 of every year, an authorized representative for each wireless carrier 

providing service in the City shall provide written certification to the City that each facility is 

 
12 Source: 23C.17.060.D; 23C.17.090 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 351 of 511



SECTION  23.332.100   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-14  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

being operated in accordance with the approved local and federal permits and shall provide 

the current contact information.  

3. Once every two years, at the operator’s expense, the City may conduct or retain an approved 

engineer to conduct an unannounced spot check of the facility’s compliance with applicable 

FCC radio frequency standards. 

4. In the event of a change in the FCC’s MPE limits for electric and magnetic field strength 

and power density for transmitters, the operator of each wireless telecommunications facility 

shall submit to the Zoning Officer written certification by a licensed professional engineer of 

compliance with applicable FCC radio frequency standards within 90 days of any change in 

applicable FCC radio frequency standards or of any modification of the facility requiring a 

new submission to the FCC to determine compliance with emission standards.  

5. If calculated levels exceed 50 percent of the FCC’s MPE limits, the operator of the facility 

shall hire an approved engineer to measure the actual exposure levels.  

6. If calculated levels are not in compliance with the FCC’s MPE limit, the operator shall cease 

operation of the facility until the facility is brought into compliance with the FCC’s standards 

and all other applicable requirements.  

7. A report of these calculations, required measurements, if any, and the engineer’s findings 

with respect to compliance with the current MPE limits shall be submitted to the Zoning 

Officer. 

8. If the Zoning Officer at any time finds that there is good cause to believe that a 

telecommunications antenna does not comply with applicable FCC radio frequency 

standards, the Zoning Officer may require the operator to submit written certification that 

the facility is in compliance with such FCC standards. 

C. Facilities Approved Prior to 2002.  

1. The owner or operator of a wireless telecommunications facility that was approved by the 

City before January 17, 2002, shall submit to the Zoning Officer, within six months from the 

date of notification, written certification by an engineer that the facility’s radio frequency 

emissions are in compliance with the approved application and any required conditions. 

2. The engineer shall measure the radio frequency radiation of the approved facility, including 

cumulative impact from other nearby facilities, and determine if it meets the FCC 

requirements.  

3. If the report shows that the facility does not comply with applicable FCC requirements, the 

owner or operator shall cease operation of the facility until the facility is brought into 

compliance.  

4. In order to ensure the objectivity of the analysis, the City may require, at the applicant’s 

expense, independent verification of the results of the analysis. 

D. Nonconformities.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 352 of 511



CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES  SECTION  23.332.110  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-15 

1. Any facility that was approved by the City prior to January 17, 2002, and which does not 

comply with this chapter on the date of its adoption shall be considered a lawful 

nonconforming use; provided, that the owner or operator submits the information required 

in 23.332.100.C (Facilities Approved Prior to 2002).  

2. Roof-mounted or facade-mounted antennas proposed on an existing building, tower, or pole 

that is legal nonconforming in terms of height shall not extend or project more than 15 feet 

above the existing height of the building or structure. 

3. A lawful nonconforming personal wireless service facility is subject to the requirements of 

23.324 (Nonconforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings) except to the extent that they are 

modified as allowed by this chapter. 

E. Violations.  

1. Failure to submit the information required in this section is considered a violation of the 

Zoning Ordinance.  

2. Any facility found in violation may be ordered to terminate operations by the ZAB following 

a duly noticed public hearing. 

23.332.110 – PERMITS AND FINDINGS REQUIRED FOR APPROVAL13 
A. Permit Required.  

1. All wireless telecommunications facilities in any district that require a Use Permit or an AUP 

are subject to the permit findings in this section and Chapter 23.406 (Specific Permit 

Requirements).  

2. Required findings in Chapter 23.406 (Specific Permit Requirements) shall not be based on 

aesthetic impacts if the proposed facility would not be readily visible, or on any other matter 

that the City is prohibited from considering by the Telecommunications Act of 1996.  

B. Modifications.14 The Zoning Officer may approve minor modifications and aesthetic upgrades 

that do not increase the size or visibility of any legally established wireless telecommunication 

facilities without notice or hearing, subject to compliance with all existing conditions of 

approval. 

C. Administrative Use Permit. The following wireless telecommunications facilities require an 

AUP: 

1. Microcell facilities in any district. 

2. Modifications to existing sites in Non-Residential Districts.  

 
13 Source: 23C.17.100. Individual district permit requirements in: 23D.16.030; 23D.20.030; 23D.24.030; 23D.28.030; 
23D.32.030; 23D.36.030; 23D.40.030; 23D.44.030; 23D.48.030; 23D.52.030; 23E.36.030; 23E.40.030; 23E.44.030; 
23E.48.030; 23E.52.030; 23E.56.030; 23E.60.030; 23E.64.030; 23E.68.030; 23E.72.030; 23E.76.030; 23E.80.030; 
23E.84.030 
14 Source: 23C.17.050.D 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 353 of 511



SECTION  23.332.120   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-16  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. Additions to existing sites in Non-Residential Districts when the site is not adjacent to a 

Residential District. 

4. All new or modified wireless communication facilities in Manufacturing Districts. 

D. Use Permit. All new or modified wireless telecommunications facilities not listed in Subsection 

C (Administrative Use Permit) above require a Use Permit except when otherwise required by 

Section Chapter 23.404.070 (Permit Modifications) or this chapter. 

E. Findings. The ZAB or Zoning Officer may approve a Use Permit or AUP under this chapter 

only if it makes all of the following findings: 

1. The proposed project is consistent with the general requirements of this chapter and any 

specific requirements applicable to the proposed facility. 

2. The proposed antenna or related facility, operating alone and in conjunction with other 

telecommunications facilities, will comply with all applicable state and federal standards and 

requirements. 

3. One of the following is true: 

a. The proposed facility is not readily visible. 

b. It is infeasible to incorporate additional measures that would make the facility not readily 

visible. 

4. Except for microcell facilities, the facility is necessary to prevent or fill a significant gap in 

coverage or capacity shortfall in the applicant’s service area and is the least intrusive means 

of doing so. 

5. The wireless carrier complies with Paragraphs (1) and (2) of Subsection 23.322.090.B (All 

Facilities). If a wireless carrier has not complied with those sections, the wireless carrier may 

become compliant by providing current contact information and certification statements for 

any sites which are not current. 

F. Basis for Findings. All findings must be based on substantial information in the record such 

as, where required, technical analysis by an approved radio frequency engineer, calculations by a 

state-licensed structural engineer, or other evidence. 

23.332.120 – CESSATION OF OPERATIONS15 
A. General. Within 30 days of cessation of operations of any wireless telecommunications facility 

approved pursuant to this chapter, the operator shall notify the Zoning Officer in writing.  

B. Lapse of Permit. The wireless telecommunications facility permit shall be deemed lapsed and 

of no further effect six months thereafter unless one of the following is true. 

1. The Zoning Officer has determined that the same operator resumed operation within six 

months of the notice. 

 
15 Source: 23C.17.110 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 354 of 511



CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES  SECTION  23.332.120  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 332-17 

2. The City has received an application to transfer the permit to another operator. 

C. Effect of Lapse.  

1. No later than 30 days after a permit has lapsed, the operator shall remove all wireless 

telecommunication facilities from the site.  

2. If the operator fails to do so, the property owner shall be responsible for removal, and may 

use any bond or other assurances provided by the operator pursuant to the requirements of 

Section 23.322.040 (Locational Requirements) to do so.  

3. If such facilities are not removed, the site shall be deemed to be a nuisance pursuant to 

Chapter 23.414 (Nuisance Abatement) and the City may call the bond to pay for removal. 

D. Failure to Inform. Failure to inform the Zoning Officer of cessation of operations of any 

existing facility constitutes a violation of the Zoning Ordinance and shall be grounds for any or 

all of the following: 

1. Prosecution. 

2. Revocation or modification of the permit. 

3. Calling of any bond or other assurance secured by the operator pursuant to the requirements 

of Section 23.322.040 (Locational Requirements). 

4. Removal of the facilities. 

E. Transfer of Ownership.  

1. Any FCC-licensed telecommunications carrier that is buying, leasing, or considering a 

transfer of ownership of an already approved facility, shall provide written notification to the 

Zoning Officer and request transfer of the existing Use Permit.  

2. The Zoning Officer may require submission of any supporting materials or documentation 

necessary to determine that the proposed use is in compliance with the existing Use Permit 

and all of its conditions including, but not limited to, statements, photographs, plans, 

drawings, models, and analysis by a state-licensed radio frequency engineer demonstrating 

compliance with all applicable regulations and standards of the FCC and the California PUC.  

3. If the Zoning Officer determines that the proposed operation is not consistent with the 

existing Use Permit, they shall notify the applicant who may revise the application or apply 

for modification to the Use Permit pursuant to the requirements of Chapter 23.404 

(Common Permit Requirements). 

 

  

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 355 of 511



SECTION  23.332.120   CHAPTER 23.332 – WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES 

PAGE 332-18  BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 356 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  TOC-1 

DIVISION 4: 
PERMITS AND ADMINISTRATION 

 

23.402: Administrative Responsibility 

23.402.010 – Purpose 

23.402.020 – Review and Decision-Making Authority 

23.402.030 – Planning and Development Department 

23.402.040 – Zoning Officer 

23.402.050 – Landmarks Preservation Commission 

23.402.060 – Design Review Committee 

23.402.070 – Zoning Adjustments Board 

23.402.080 – Planning Commission 

23.402.090 – City Council 

   

23.404: Common Permit Requirements 

23.404.010 – Purpose and Applicability 

23.404.020 – Application Submittal 

23.404.030 – Application Review 

23.404.040 – Public Notice 

23.404.050 – Public Hearings and Decisions 

23.404.060 – Post-Decision Provisions 

23.404.070 – Permit Modifications  

23.404.080 – Permit Revocation 

 

23.406: Specific Permit Requirements 

23.406.010 – Purpose 

23.406.020 – Zoning Certificates 

23.406.030 – Administrative Use Permits 

23.406.040 – Use Permits 

23.406.050 – Variances 

23.406.060 – Master Use Permits 

23.406.070 – Design Review 

23.406.080 – Modification of Development Standards in West Berkeley Plan Area 

23.406.090 – Reasonable Accommodation 

 

23.408: Green Pathway 

23.408.010 – Purpose 

23.408.020 – Applicability 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 357 of 511



TOC-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.408.030 – Eligibility Determination 

23.408.040 – Green Pathway Application 

23.408.050 –  General Requirements 

23.408.060 – Requirements for Large Buildings and Hotels 

23.408.070 – Development Standards 

23.408.080 – Streamlined Permitting Process 

23.408.090 – Tolling 

23.408.100 – Compliance 

23.408.110 – City Manager Authority to Issue Regulations 

 

23.410: Appeals and Certification 

23.410.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.410.020 – Appeal Subjects and Jurisdiction 

23.410.030 – Filing and Processing of Appeals 

23.410.040 – Hearing and Decision 

23.410.050 – City Council Certifications 

 

23.412: Zoning Ordinance Amendments 

23.412.010 – Purpose 

23.412.020 – Initiation 

23.412.030 – Application 

23.412.040 – Planning Commission Hearing and Action 

23.412.050 – City Council Hearing and Action 

23.412.060 – Findings for Approval 

23.412.070 – Limitations on Resubmittals after Denial 

23.412.080 – Zoning Map Amendment Notations 

 

23.414: Nuisance Abatement 

23.414.010 – Purpose 

23.414.020 – Enforcement Responsibility 

23.414.030 – Violations a Misdemeanor 

23.414.040 – Nuisances Prohibited 

23.414.050 – City Attorney Action 

23.414.060 – Abatement Procedures 

23.414.070 – Statements of Violations 

23.414.080 – Remedies 

23.414.090 – Recovery of Costs 

23.414.100 – Private Right of Action 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 358 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 402-1 

    

ADMINISTRATIVE RESPONSIBILITY 
Sections: 

23.402.010 – Purpose 

23.402.020 – Review and Decision-Making Authority 

23.402.030 – Planning and Development Department 

23.402.040 – Zoning Officer 

23.402.050 – Landmarks Preservation Commission 

23.402.060 – Design Review Committee 

23.402.070 – Zoning Adjustments Board 

23.402.080 – Planning Commission 

23.402.090 – City Council 

  

Commentary: This chapter summarizes City roles when administering the Zoning Ordinance, primarily from existing 

sections 12B.04, 12B.08 and 12B.12. A new table shows review and decision-making authority for all types of 

permits and approvals. 

23.402.010 – PURPOSE1 
This chapter describes City roles and responsibilities when administrating the Zoning Ordinance. 

23.402.020 – REVIEW AND DECISION-MAKING AUTHORITY2 
A. Summary Table. Table 23-402.020-1 summarizes the review and decision-making authority 

when processing permit applications and other requested approvals. 

B. Meaning of Notations. Authority roles as noted in Table 23-402.020-1 mean the following: 

1. “Recommend” means the authority reviews and makes a recommendation to a higher 

decision-making body. 

2. “Decision” means the authority has the power to approve, conditionally approve, or deny an 

application.  

3. “Appeal” means the authority has the power to hear an appeal of a decision by a lower 

review authority. 

4. “–” means the authority role has no role in the application. 

 
1 New chapter purpose statement.  
2 New summary of review and decision-making authority. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 359 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE          PAGE 402-2 

TABLE 23.402.020-1: REVIEW AND DECISION-MAKING AUTHORITY 

Type of Action 

Zoning 
Ordinance 
Location 

Role of Authority 

Planning and 
Development 
Department 

Zoning Officer 
Design 
Review 

Commission 

Zoning 
Adjustments 

Board 

Planning 
Commission 

City Council 

Legislative Actions 

Zoning Ordinance Amendments 23.412 Recommend – – – Recommend Decision 

Permits 

Administrative Use Permits 23.406.030 – Decision – Appeal – Appeal 

Use Permits 23.406.040 Recommend – – Decision – Appeal 

Master Use Permits 23.406.060 Recommend – – Decision – Appeal 

Design Review 

Design Review 23.406.070 Recommend – Decision [1] Appeal – Appeal 

Staff-Level Design Review 23.406.070 – Decision Appeal Appeal – Appeal 

Flexibility and Relief 

Variances 23.406.050 Recommend  – Decision – Appeal 

Modifications to Development Standards 
in West Berkeley Plan Area 

23.406.080 Recommend – – Decision – Appeal 

Reasonable Accommodations 23.406.090 – – See Note [2] – Appeal 

Ministerial Actions 

Zoning Certificates 23.406.020 – Decision   –  – – – 

Note: 

[1] Landmarks Preservation Commission approval required for projects that involve landmarks, structures of merit or buildings within a historic district 

[2] Either the Zoning Officer or Zoning Adjustments Board takes action on reasonable accommodation applications as described in Section 23.406.090.C.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 360 of 511



CHAPTER 23.402 – ADMINISTRATIVE RESPONSIBILITY  SECTION  23.402.030  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 402-3 

C. Multiple Permit Applications.  For projects that include multiple permits, see 23.404.020.F 

(Multiple Permit Applications). 

23.402.030 – PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT3 
The Planning and Development Department: 

A. Makes recommendations on requested permits and approvals as shown in Table 23-402.020-1. 

B. Processes permit applications as provided in 23.404 (Common Permit Requirements); 

C. Assumes responsibilities delegated by the Planning and Development Director and Zoning 

Officer; and 

D. Performs other duties as necessary to administer the Zoning Ordinance. 

23.402.040  – ZONING OFFICER 
A. Established.  The City Manager shall designate a Planning and Development Department 

employee to act as the Zoning Officer.4 

B. Responsibilities and Powers.5   

1. The Zoning Officer: 

a. Acts as the Secretary to the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) and the Design Review 

Committee (DRC);  

b. Determines if land uses, structures, and activities conform with the Zoning Ordinance; 

c. Serves as the review authority on applications as shown in Table 23-402.020-1;  

d. Interprets the meaning and applicability of the Zoning Ordinance; 

e. Enforces the Zoning Ordinance in accordance with Chapter 23.414 (Nuisance 

Abatement); 

f. Issues administrative regulations and procedures for the administration of the Zoning 

Ordinance;  

g. Refers persons to a conflict resolution or mediation service in accordance with Section 

23.404.050.K (Use of Conflict Resolution and Mediation Service); 

h. Requests legal opinions from the City Attorney on legal questions regarding pending 

applications; and 

 
3 New. Codifies existing role. 
4 Source: 23B.12.010.A. Clarifies that the Zoning Officer is a staff member of the Planning and Development 
Department.  
5 Source: 23B.12.020. Adds other duties as assigned by ZAB, Planning Commission, and City Council. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 361 of 511



SECTION  23.402.050   CHAPTER 23.402 – ADMINISTRATIVE RESPONSIBILITY 

PAGE 402-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

i. Performs other duties to administer the Zoning Ordinance as assigned by the ZAB, 

Planning Commission, and City Council.  

2. The Zoning Officer may designate one or more Planning and Development Department 

staff to perform the duties described in Paragraph (1) above.  

C. Duties as Secretary to ZAB and DRC.6  As Secretary to the ZAB and DRC, the Zoning 

Officer or the Zoning Officer’s designee shall: 

1. Present to the ZAB and DRC applications for permits and other requested approvals; 

2. Prepare staff reports on applications; 

3. Advise the ZAB and DRC on the meaning and applicability of the Zoning Ordinance; and 

4. Transmit to the City Attorney requests for legal opinions on pending applications. 

23.402.050 – LANDMARKS PRESERVATION COMMISSION 
A. Design Review.7 The Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) shall consider Design 

Review applications for projects that involve landmarks, structures of merit, or buildings within 

a historic district. The LPC shall either approve, modify, or deny such applications in accordance 

with Section 23.406.070 (Design Review). 

B. Other Responsibilities and Powers.8 

1. As provided in Municipal Code Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Commission), the 

LPC shall serve as the review authority for Structural Alteration Permits for designated 

landmarks, structures of merit, and buildings within a historic district. 

2. Municipal Code Chapter 3.24 identifies additional LPC responsibilities and powers which 

may affect land use and development in the city.  

23.402.060 – DESIGN REVIEW COMMITTEE 
A. Established.9  The City shall establish and maintain a Design Review Committee (DRC) to 

review and approve the design of development projects in accordance with Section 23.406.070 

(Design Review). 

B. Composition.10 

1. The DRC shall consist of seven members, as follows: 

a. Two members of the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB). 

 
6 Source: 23B.12.030&040. 
7 Source: 23E.12.020.A 
8 New reference to Chapter 3.24. 
9 Source: 23B.08.010.A 
10 Source: 23B.08.010.B&C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 362 of 511



CHAPTER 23.402 – ADMINISTRATIVE RESPONSIBILITY  SECTION  23.402.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 402-5 

b. One member of the Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC). 

c. One member of the Civic Arts Commission (CAC). 

d. Three members of the public who are Berkeley residents. 

2. DRC members from boards and commissions shall be appointed by their respective bodies, 

and members of the public shall be appointed by the ZAB. 

3. DRC membership shall include a minimum of two-licensed architects, one licensed 

landscape architect, and two laypersons (persons who are neither a planning or design 

professional nor an expert in the fields of land use planning, architecture, or landscape 

architecture). 

4. The DRC shall elect a chairperson and vice chairperson 

C. Responsibilities and Powers.11 

1. The DRC shall consider applications for Design Review and either approve, modify, or deny 

such applications in accordance with Section 23.406.070 (Design Review). 

2. The DRC may make a recommendation on other matters upon request by the ZAB, 

Planning Commission, City Council, or other City boards or commissions. ZAB 

recommendations shall be limited to issues related to building and site design. 

D. Procedures.12   The DRC shall adopt rules of procedure and shall keep a record of its 

proceedings. A majority of the appointed members shall constitute a quorum. 

23.402.070 – ZONING ADJUSTMENTS BOARD  
A. Established.13  The City shall establish and maintain a Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) to 

administer the Zoning Ordinance as described in this section. 

B. Composition.14 

1. The ZAB shall consist of nine members appointed by the City Council in accordance with 

Municipal Code Chapter 2.04 (City Council). 

2. The ZAB shall elect a chairperson and vice chairperson. 

C. Responsibilities and Powers.15 

1. The ZAB: 

a. Serves as the review authority on applications as shown in Table 23-402.020-1;  

 
11 Stylistic edits to 23B.08.020B&D. Clarifies that the DRC may provide recommendations for other matters on issues 
relating to building and site design. 
12 Source: 23B.08.020.A 
13 Source: 23B.04.010.A, first sentence 
14 Source: 23B.04.010.B and first sentence of 23B.04.020.A 
15 Source: 23B.04.020.B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 363 of 511



SECTION  23.402.080   CHAPTER 23.402 – ADMINISTRATIVE RESPONSIBILITY 

PAGE 402-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. Hears appeals on decisions in accordance with Chapter 23.410 (Appeals and 

Certification); 

c. Modifies previously approved permits in accordance with Section 23.404.070 

(Modification of Permits); 

d. Revokes Use Permits and Variances in accordance with Section 23.404.080 (Permit 

Revocation); 

e. Recommends actions to abate a public nuisance in accordance with Chapter 23.414 

(Nuisance Abatement);  

f. Refers persons to a conflict resolution or mediation service in accordance with Section 

23.404.050.K (Use of Conflict Resolution and Mediation Service); 

g. Makes recommendations on other matters as requested by the City Council and Planning 

Commission; and 

h. Adopts administrative regulations and procedures for the administration of the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

2. The City Council may assign additional responsibilities to the ZAB as needed in the 

administration of the Zoning Ordinance.16  

D. Procedures.17  The ZAB shall adopt rules of procedure and keep a record of its proceedings. A 

majority of the appointed members constitutes a quorum. 

23.402.080 – PLANNING COMMISSION18 
The Planning Commission: 

A. Recommends to the City Council amendments to the Zoning Ordinance in accordance with 

Chapter 23.412 (Zoning Ordinance Amendments); 

B. Approves revisions to Design Review guidelines and standards as provided in Section 

23.406.070 (Design Review); and 

C. Performs other duties as provided in Municipal Code Chapter 3.28 (Planning Commission). 

23.402.090 – CITY COUNCIL19 
The City Council: 

A. Takes action on proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments in accordance with Chapter 23.412 

(Zoning Ordinance Amendments); 

 
16 New. 
17 23B.04.020.A second and third sentences. 
18 Source: 23A.20.030; 23E.08.040.New reference to 3.28. 
19 Source: 23A.20.060; 23A.32.050.C. New reference to other responsibilities and actions. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 364 of 511



CHAPTER 23.402 – ADMINISTRATIVE RESPONSIBILITY  SECTION  23.402.090  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 402-7 

B. Hears appeals on and certifies decisions in accordance with Chapter 23.410 (Appeals and 

Certification); and 

C. Assumes other responsibilities and take actions on other matters related to the Zoning 

Ordinance in accordance with the Municipal Code and state and federal laws.    

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 365 of 511



SECTION  23.402.090   CHAPTER 23.402 – ADMINISTRATIVE RESPONSIBILITY 

PAGE 402-8   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 366 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-1 

    

COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 
Sections: 

23.404.010 – Purpose and Applicability 

23.404.020 – Application Submittal 

23.404.030 – Application Review 

23.404.040 – Public Notice 

23.404.050 – Public Hearings and Decisions 

23.404.060 – Post-Decision Provisions 

23.404.070 – Permit Modifications  

23.404.080 – Permit Revocation 

 

Commentary:  This chapter consolidates application submittal, review, and decision procedures that apply to all 

permits and approvals. In existing Title 23B, these procedures are repeated for individual permits.  

23.404.010 – PURPOSE AND APPLICABILITY1 
This chapter establishes requirements that apply to all discretionary permits required by the Zoning 

Ordinance. 

23.404.020 – APPLICATION SUBMITTAL  
A. Application Submittal. Applications for discretionary permits required by the Zoning 

Ordinance shall be submitted to the Planning and Development Department (“Department”).2 

B. Application Form and Contents.3 

1. Applications shall be made in writing on a form provided by the Department. 

2. Applications shall identify one person as the applicant.   

3. Applications shall be filed with all information and materials required by the Department. 

Depending on the type of project and required permit, required information and materials 

may include plans, renderings, models, photographs, material samples, reports, studies, and 

other items necessary to describe existing conditions and the proposed project. 

4. All submitted application materials become City property available to the public. 

 
1 New. Clarifies that requirements in 23B.24 apply to all discretionary permits, not just use permits and variances.  
2 Source: 23B.24.010.A. Clarifies that applications are submitted to the Department, not Zoning Officer. 
3 Source: 23B.24.030A; 23B24.010.B. Removes from 23E.12.010 specific design review application requirements.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 367 of 511



SECTION  23.404.020   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

5. The applicant is responsible for the accuracy and completeness of all information submitted 

to the City. 

C. Eligibility for Filing.4  An application may be filed by: 

1. The owner of the subject property; 

2. An agent with written authorization to represent the owner; 

3. A person under contract or with an exclusive option to purchase the property, with written 

consent of the current owner; 

4. A tenant with written consent of the owner or the owner’s authorized designee; or 

5. An agency lawfully instituting eminent domain proceedings. 

D. Pre-Application Notice Posted by Applicant.5 

1. Prior to submitting an application for a discretionary permit, an applicant shall post a 

conspicuous notice of the proposed project readily visible from the street adjacent to the 

property’s primary frontage.  

2. The form and contents of the notice shall be as specified by the Department. 

E. Application Fees. 

1. When Required.6 

a. An application shall be accompanied by all required fees listed in the current Fee 

Schedule approved by the City Council. 

b. The Department will process an application only if all required fees are paid, unless the 

City approves a fee waiver in accordance with Paragraph 2 (Fee Waivers) below. The 

Department will not deem an application complete if a required fee remains unpaid.  

c. Application fees are not required when the City is the applicant, or when a fee is waived 

under any other provision of the Municipal Code. 

2. Fee Waivers.7 In addition to seeking a fee waiver or deferral under other provisions of the 

Municipal Code, an applicant may request a fee waiver or deferral as follows: 

a. An applicant shall submit to the Department a written request for a fee waiver or 

deferral prior to submitting the application. The request shall identify the amount of all 

Current Planning fees required for the project and describe the reasons why the fee 

waiver or deferral is necessary. 

 
4 Source: 23B.24.020A. 23B.24.020B is moved to the home occupation section.   
5 Source: 23B.24.030.B, third and fourth sentences. 
6 Source: 23B.24.040A&B; 23E.12.010.B. 
7 Source: 23B.24.040.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 368 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.020  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-3 

b. The Director shall forward the request to the City Manager. The City Manager may 

approve the request upon finding that: 

i. The project will provide a significant public service or benefit, and  

ii. The waiver or deferral is necessary to make the project economically feasible to 

construct or establish. 

c. The City Manager shall notify the City Council of a decision to approve a requested fee 

waiver or deferral. At its discretion, the City Council may reverse the City Manager’s 

decision and deny the request. 

d. If the request is approved, the applicant shall include with the application a letter from 

the City Manager authorizing the fee waiver or deferral. The Department will accept the 

application only if submitted with the City Manager’s letter.  

3. Refunds and Withdrawals.8 

a. If an application is withdrawn prior to a decision, the applicant may be eligible for a 

refund of a portion of the fee. 

b. The amount of the refund shall be determined by the Zoning Officer based on the level 

of staff review conducted to date. Refunds of fees may not be made for denied 

applications. 

F. Multiple Permit Applications.9 

1. Zoning Ordinance Discretionary Permits. The following procedures apply to proposed 

projects that require multiple discretionary permits under the Zoning Ordinance (e.g., Use 

Permit and Variance). 

a. An applicant shall request City approval of all required permits as part of a single 

application unless the Zoning Officer waives this requirement. 

b. The Department shall process multiple permit applications for the same project 

concurrently. 

c. City action on projects requiring multiple permits shall occur as follows: 

i. Concurrently for permits reviewed by the same review authority (e.g., the ZAB 

concurrently reviews and acts on a Variance and Use Permits required for a project); 

and 

ii. Sequentially for permits reviewed by different review authorities, as necessary (e.g., 

the City Council approves a Zoning Map amendment prior to ZAB action on a Use 

Permit). 

 
8 Source: 23B.24.040.D 
9 New. Codifies current practice. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 369 of 511



SECTION  23.404.030   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Design Review. See Section 23.406.070 (Design Review) for the Design Review application 

process. 

3. Other Permits. 

a. Separate applications are required for permits required by portions of the Municipal 

Code outside of the Zoning Ordinance. The City will review and act on these 

applications in a separate but coordinated process from applications required under the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

b. For example, if a project requires both a Use Permit approved by the ZAB and a 

Structural Alteration Permit (SAP) approved by the Landmarks Preservation 

Commission (LPC), then a separate SAP application is required.   A SAP application is 

processed separately from the Use Permit applications and is scheduled for consideration 

at a hearing before the LPC.    

23.404.030 – APPLICATION REVIEW 
A. Review for Completeness.10 

1. Determination of Completeness. Department staff shall determine whether an application 

is complete based on the Department application submittal checklist. 

2. Request for Additional Information. If it is not complete, the Department shall inform 

the applicant in writing as to the information and materials needed to complete the 

application. 

3. Review Timeline.11 The Department shall review and determine whether an application is 

complete within the timelines required by Government Code Section 65920 et seq. (Permit 

Streamlining Act). 

4. Record of Date of Complete Application. The Department shall record the date the 

application is deemed complete.  

B. Referrals to Landmarks Preservation Commission.12 At every regular Landmarks 

Preservation Commission (LPC) meeting, the Department shall provide the LPC a list of all 

pending permit applications. 

C. Project Evaluation and Staff Reports.13 

 
10 Source: 23B.24.050. Clarifies that determination of completeness is based on submittal checklist.  
11 New reference to state law. 
12 Source: 23B.24.030B, first sentence. CONSENT CHANGE: Removes requirement to place all properties included in 
the pending permit application list on the LPC meeting agenda. Last two sentences moved to public notice sections in 
chapter.  
13 New. Codifies current practice. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 370 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.030  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-5 

1. Staff Evaluation. The Department shall review all applications to determine if they comply 

with the Zoning Ordinance, the General Plan, and other applicable City policies and 

regulations and State laws.   

2. Staff Report. For all applications requiring review by the ZAB and City Council, the 

Department shall prepare a staff report describing the proposed project and including, where 

appropriate, a recommendation to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the 

application.  

3. Report Distribution. The staff report shall be furnished to the applicant after it is provided 

to the review authority and before action on the application. 

D. Environmental Review.14 

1. CEQA Review. 

a. After acceptance of a complete application, the Department shall review the project in 

compliance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and any adopted 

City CEQA guidelines. 

b. The City shall determine the required level of environmental review (e.g., exemption, 

Negative Declaration) within the timeframe required by CEQA. 

2. Special Studies Required. Special studies, paid for in advance by the applicant, may be 

required to supplement the City’s CEQA compliance review. 

E. Summary Denial of Applications.15 

1. Section Purpose. This section describes the process by which the Zoning Officer may deny 

an application without notice or hearing (“summary denial”) for property subject to City 

action to abate a public nuisance or correct a Zoning Ordinance violation.   

2. Applications Subject to Summary Denial. 

a. The Zoning Officer may summarily deny an application that would legalize a structure or 

use subject to a final City order under Chapter 23.414 (Nuisance Abatement). 

b. The Zoning Officer shall not summarily deny applications for permits that are necessary 

comply with any such order. 

3. Factors to Consider. When deciding whether to deny such an application, the Zoning 

Officer shall consider: 

a. Whether the project will be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort or 

general welfare of persons residing or working in the area or neighborhood of the 

proposed use; 

 
14 New. Codifies current practice and CEQA requirements. 
15 Stylistic edits to 23B.24.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 371 of 511



SECTION  23.404.040   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. Whether the project will be detrimental or injurious to property and improvements of 

the adjacent properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood or to the general welfare 

of the City; 

c. Whether the applicant had an adequate opportunity to submit the application prior to 

the adoption of a final order under Chapter 23.414 (Nuisance Abatement); and 

d. The level of permit applied for (i.e., AUP, Use Permit, or Variance). Applications for 

Variances as a means of legalizing a violation are particularly disfavored. 

4. Hearing Not Required. A public hearing is not required for the Zoning Officer to 

summarily deny an application. 

5. Decision is Final. A decision by the Zoning Officer to summarily deny an application is 

final and may not be appealed. 

23.404.040 – PUBLIC NOTICE 
A. Notice of Administrative Decisions.16 

1. When Required. A Notice of Administrative Decision shall be given after the Zoning 

Officer’s decision on an Administrative Use Permit (AUP). 

2. Content of Notice. A Notice of Administrative Decision shall contain the following 

information: 

a. A description of the proposed project in the AUP application. 

b. The Zoning Officer’s decision on the AUP application. 

c. The location and times in which the application may be reviewed by the public. 

d. The procedure and time period in which the decision may be appealed to the Zoning 

Adjustments Board (ZAB). 

e. The address where appeals may be filed. 

3. Timing of Notice. A Notice of Administrative Decision shall be posted and mailed after 

the Zoning Officer’s decision on the AUP. 

4. Notice Posting. A Notice of Administrative Decision shall be posted at: 

a. Three visible locations in the vicinity of the subject property; and 

b. The lobby of the Permit Service Center.17 

5. Notice Mailing. 

 
16 Source: 23B.28.040 
17 Revises 23B.28.040B which states notice shall be posted “at a bulletin board at the Zoning counter.” 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 372 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-7 

a. Minimum Requirement. A Notice of Administrative Decision shall be mailed to the 

following: 

i. Neighborhood and community organizations with a registered interest in receiving 

notice of the proposed project (see Section 23.404.040.E). 

ii. For projects in or adjacent to a Residential District, the owners and residents of the 

abutting properties. 

iii. For major residential additions in the R-1 district within the Hillside overlay zone, 

the owners and residents of properties within a 300-foot radius of the subject 

property. 

iv. The City of Berkeley Central Library. 

b. Additional Notice. The Zoning Officer may include a larger area to receive a mailed 

notice when the proposed project may impact a larger area. 

6. Temporary Uses and Structures.18 An AUP for a temporary use or structure is subject to 

the same notice requirements as other AUPs, except that notice shall be provided a 

minimum of 14 days prior to the establishment of the temporary use or structure. 

7. Failure to Receive Notice. 19 The validity of the decision shall not be affected by the failure 

of any property owner, resident, or neighborhood or community organization to receive a 

mailed notice. 

B. Public Hearing Notice.20 

1. When Required. Public notice shall be given as required by this section for: 

a. Zoning Adjustment Board (ZAB) hearings on Use Permits, Variances, and other 

decisions requiring a public hearing as specified in the Zoning Ordinance; and 

b. City Council hearings on appeals of ZAB decisions.  

2. Content of Notice. Notice of a public hearing shall contain the following information: 

a. The date, location, and time of the hearing. 

b. A written description of the proposed project, including the number of dwelling units 

and floor area if applicable. 

c. Maps, plans, and other information needed to describe and illustrate the proposed 

project, as determined necessary by the Department. 

d. The environmental review status under the California Environmental Quality Act 

(CEQA). 

 
18 Source: 23B.40.020 and 23B.40.040 last sentence. 
19 Source: 23B.28.040.C, last sentence. 
20 Source: 23B.32.020; 23B.32.060.A; 23B.44.020.B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 373 of 511



SECTION  23.404.040   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-8   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

e. Directions on how to obtain further information about the proposed project or hearing. 

f. The location and times the application may be reviewed by the public. 

g. Instructions to submit written comments on the proposed project. 

3. Timing of Notice. Notices shall be posted and mailed at least 14 days prior to the hearing 

unless a longer notice period is required by state law. The Zoning Officer or ZAB may 

extend the notice period to a maximum of 30 days for applications of major significance. 

4. Notice Posting. A notice of public hearing shall be posted: 

a. At three visible locations in the vicinity of the subject property: 

b. At the Civic Center (Old City Hall); and 

c. In the lobby of the Permit Service Center.21 

5. Notice Mailing. 

a. Minimum Requirement. A notice of public hearing shall be mailed to the following: 

i. The owners and residents of the abutting and confronting properties. 

ii. For the construction or demolition of one or more dwelling units, all property 

owners and residents within 300 feet on the same street or streets as the proposed 

project, including the abutting properties to the rear and within a 300-foot radius of 

the subject property.22 

iii. For a relocated building, all property owners and residents within a 300-foot radius 

of both the existing and proposed new location of the building. 

iv. Neighborhood and community organizations with a registered interest in receiving 

notice of the proposed project (see Section 23.404.040.E). 

v. The City of Berkeley Central Library. 

vi. Any person who has filed a written request for notice. 

b. Additional Notice. The Zoning Officer, ZAB, or City Council may include a larger area 

to receive a mailed notice when deemed appropriate. 

c. Failure to Receive Notice. The validity of the hearing shall not be affected by the 

failure of any property owner, resident, or neighborhood or community organization to 

receive a mailed notice.  

 
21 Revises requirement to post notice “at a bulletin board at the Zoning counter.” 
22 Requires both 300-foot measurements instead of the one that provides “adequate coverage” to remove ambiguity. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 374 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-9 

6. Master Use Permit. 23 For a Master Use Permit application, all businesses, residents, and 

property owners within 500 feet of the subject property shall receive a notice in addition to 

the notice recipients listed in Paragraph F.1 (Minimum Requirement) above. 

C. Public Notice for Zoning Ordinance Amendments.24 

1. When Required. Public notice shall be given as required by this section for Planning 

Commission and City Council hearings on proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendments. 

2. Content of Notice.25 Notice of a public hearing shall contain the following information: 

a. The date, location, and time of the hearing. 

b. A written description of the proposed amendment.  

c. A map showing the location of a proposed Zoning Map amendment, if applicable. 

d. The environmental review status under the California Environmental Quality Act 

(CEQA). 

e. Directions on how to obtain further information about the proposed amendment or 

hearing. 

f. Instructions to submit written comments on the proposed amendment. 

3. Timing of Notice. Notice shall be provided at least 14 days prior to the hearing unless a 

longer notice period is required by state law. The Planning Commission or City Council may 

require an extended notice period for applications of major significance.26 

4. All Zoning Ordinance Amendments.27  The following notice requirements apply to all 

Zoning Ordinance Amendments. 

a. Notice shall be posted at the Civic Center (Old City Hall) and in the lobby of the Permit 

Service Center. 

b. Notice shall be mailed to: 

i. Neighborhood and community organizations with a registered interest in receiving 

notice of the proposed amendment (see Section 23.404.040.E). 

ii. The City of Berkeley Central Library; and 

iii. Any person who has filed a written request for notice. 

 
23 Source: 23B.36.040.B 
24 Source: 23A.20.030.B. 
25 Adds CEQA status. 
26 New statement that notice period may be longer if required by state law or directed by Planning Commission or City 
Council. 
27 New posting and mailing requirement to standardize with discretionary permit notice requirements. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 375 of 511



SECTION  23.404.040   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-10   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

5. Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments. In addition to requirements in Paragraph 4 (All 

Zoning Ordinance Amendments) above, notice of a Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment 

shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the city: 

a. At least 14 days before the hearing; and then again 

b. At least 7 days before the hearing. 

6. Zoning Ordinance Map Amendments. 28 The following notice requirements apply to 

Zoning Ordinance Map Amendments in addition to requirements in Paragraph 4 (All 

Zoning Ordinance Amendments) above.   

a. Less the 5 Acres. For Zoning Map Amendments affecting an area less than 5 acres, 

public notice shall be: 

i. Posted at three visible locations in the vicinity of the subject property; and 

ii. Mailed to subject property owners, residents and tenants of the subject property, and 

all property owners, residents, and tenants within 300 feet of any part of the subject 

property. 

b. 5 Acres or More. For Zoning Map Amendments affecting an area 5 acres or more, 

public notice shall be: 

i. Posted on each street frontage adjacent to the subject property. 

ii. Mailed to all property owners, residents, and tenants within the subject property.  

iii. Published twice in a newspaper of general circulation in the city at least 14 days 

before the hearing, and then again at least 7 days before the hearing. 

7. Additional Notice.29 The Zoning Officer, Planning Commission, and City Council may 

require additional public notice as determined necessary or desirable. 

8. Failure to Receive Notice. The validity of the hearing shall not be affected by the failure of 

any property owner, resident, tenant, or neighborhood or community organization to receive 

a mailed notice.  

D. Public Notice for Design Review. 

1. Staff Level Design Review.30 

a. When Required. Notice of Design Review shall be posted on or adjacent to the subject 

property at least 14 days prior to staff decision on Design Review application. 

b. Notice Contents. A Notice of Design Review shall contain the following information: 

 
28 Source: 23A.20.030.B 
29 New to codify existing practice. 
30 Source: 23E.12.060.A 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 376 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-11 

i. A description of the proposed project. 

ii. Staff’s anticipated decision on the Design Review application. 

iii. The location and times at which the application may be reviewed by the public. 

iv. The procedure and time period in which appeals to the Design Review Committee 

may be made. 

v. The address where such appeals may be filed.  

2. Design Review Committee Meetings. 

a. Meeting Agenda. 31 Agendas for Design Review Committee (DRC) meetings shall be 

posted at the Civic Center (Old City Hall) at least 72 hours before the meeting. The 

agenda must list all projects and discussion items to be considered at that DRC meeting. 

b. Posting and Mailing Notice Not Required. 32 There is no requirement to mail notices 

or post a notice on a subject property in advance of the DRC meeting. 

E. Registry of Organizations to Receive Notice.33 

1. The Department shall maintain a registry of neighborhood and community organizations to 

receive notices of public hearings and administrative decisions. 

2. An organization shall be included in the registry shall submit a written request to the 

Department with the following information: 

a. The name and address of the organization. 

b. The names, addresses and phone numbers of the contact persons. 

c. The geographic area of interest, shown on a map, for which notices will be sent to the 

organization.  

3. It is the responsibility of the organization to inform the Department of any changes to the 

organization information identified in Paragraph (2) above. 

23.404.050 – PUBLIC HEARINGS AND DECISIONS34 
A. General.  Hearings shall be conducted in a manner consistent with the procedures approved by 

the review authority.35 

 
31 Source: 23E.12.050.B 
32 New. Clarifies existing requirements. 
33 Source: 23B.24.060. 
34 Source: 23B.32.030; 23B.44.020.C. Clarifies hearing procedures apply to all hearings, not just Use Permit hearings. 
35 New. Clarifies existing procedure. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 377 of 511



SECTION  23.404.050   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-12   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Time and Place of Hearing.  A hearing shall be held at the date, time, and place for which 

notice was given, unless the required quorum of review authority members is not present.36 

D. Public Comment. All hearings shall be open to the public, which have the opportunity to 

present their views and be heard in accordance with established procedures. 

E. Quorum Required for Action.  A majority of the members of review authority must be 

present to take action on an application. 

F. Continued Hearings. 

1. Any public hearing may be continued from time to time without further notice, provided 

that the chair of the review authority announces the date, time, and place to which the 

hearing will be continued before the adjournment or recess of the hearing.37 

2. Hearings may not be continued beyond the time limits for reviewing applications established 

by the Permit Streamlining Act, CEQA, and other state and federal laws unless the applicant 

expressly waives his or her rights relating to time limits for City action on a pending 

application.38 

G. Action. 

1. After the close of public hearing, the review authority shall either approve, modify, or deny 

the application; continue the hearing to a future date; or refer the application to a mediation 

or conflict resolution service. 

2. If an application is referred to mediation, it must return to the review authority for action. 

H. CEQA.39  For projects not subject to a CEQA exemption, the review authority that approves 

the application takes final action on the project’s CEQA determination. Final action on the 

CEQA determination, when required, shall occur prior to or concurrent with action on required 

permits. The City is not required to take final action on CEQA documents for denied 

applications.  

I. Conditions of Approval. 

1. The review authority may attach conditions to any permit as it deems reasonable or 

necessary to achieve consistency with the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance, and to 

promote the public health, safety, and welfare.40 

 
36 New. Clarifies legal requirement. 
37 Language about further notice not being needed is new, reflecting state law. 
38 Adds reference to Permit Streamlining Act, CEQA, and federal laws. 
39 New. CONSENT CHANGE. Codifies state law.  
40 Consolidates from multiple sections in 23B. Adds reference to General Plan. Changes “municipal health, safety, and 
welfare” to “public health, safety, and welfare.”  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 378 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-13 

2. As a condition of approval, the City may require an applicant to provide adequate financial 

security to guarantee the proper completion of an approved project.41 

3. Any approval may be subject to time limits.42 

J. Exceptions to Protect Constitutional Rights.43 

1. The ZAB or City Council may waive or limit the application of any Zoning Ordinance 

requirement to a development project if it finds that such requirement would result in a 

deprivation of the applicant’s constitutional rights. 

2. The burden of establishing that this exemption applies is on the applicant.   

K. Use of Conflict Resolution or Mediation Service44 

1. General. The ZAB or Zoning Officer may refer an applicant and neighbors to a conflict 

resolution or mediation service to resolve conflicts over a proposed project. 

2. Eligible Services. The ZAB or Zoning Officer may refer participating parties only to a 

conflict resolution or mediation service on a pre-approved list maintained by the City. 

3. Non-Binding Results. The results of the conflict resolution or mediation service shall be 

non-binding on the final decision of the ZAB or Zoning Officer. 

4. Timing of Referral. A referral may be made at any time after an application is deemed 

complete and before a final decision on the application. 

5. Additional Meetings Allowed. Nothing in this section precludes the parties from meeting 

on their own at any time, with or without a mediator, in an attempt to resolve their 

differences. 

6. Early Discussions Encouraged. The City encourages applicants and neighbors to discuss 

proposed projects early in the project-planning process so that differences may be resolved 

prior to the submission of an application. 

7. Payment for Service. The applicant shall pay for the cost of conflict resolution or 

mediation service.45 

8. Rules and Expectations. Mediation and conflict resolution shall be conducted in 

accordance with the following provisions, a copy of which shall be made available to 

participating parties, prior to beginning the process. 

a. The goal of mediation is to seek a mutually agreeable result for the pending application. 

 
41 Source: 23B.56.050.  
42 Source: 23B.56.070. 
43 Source: 23B.44.050. CONSENT CHANGE: Allows Council as well as ZAB to make this exception and clarifies that 
the exception can be made when acting on any permit and is not tied to a Variance.  
44 Source: 23B.16. 
45 New. Clarifies existing requirement. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 379 of 511



SECTION  23.404.050   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-14   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. Participation for the applicant and others parties is strictly voluntary. 

c. All participants shall be made aware that there is no City requirement to come to an 

agreement. 

d. The ZAB or Zoning Officer shall direct the mediator as to what issues are to be 

addressed in the mediation process. The mediator may ask the ZAB or the Zoning 

Officer for a clarification of these issues from time to time. 

e. Department staff will be available to provide the mediating parties with information on 

rights and requirements prescribed by the Zoning Ordinance. 

f. The mediation service will provide the ZAB or the Zoning Officer with a report as to 

the result of the mediation within 45 days of the referral. 

g. If no agreement between the parties is reached within 45 days, or at any time that the 

mediator indicates that further meetings between parties is futile, the ZAB or Zoning 

Officer shall proceed with making a decision on the application. If the parties to the 

mediation/conflict resolution agree to continue the mediation process, the process may 

be extended for an additional time period not to exceed 45 days. Unless the applicant 

expressly waives his or her rights relating to time limits for City action on a pending 

application, in no case shall the time periods for mediation cause the application review 

period to exceed the time limits prescribed by state or federal law. 

h. Participants in mediation are advised that the ZAB or Zoning Officer cannot deny 

applicants the opportunity to develop their properties in a reasonable manner. The 

Zoning Ordinance requires that a project must meet all minimum requirements and any 

other applicable City ordinances and regulations. 

i. Results of the mediation will in no way be binding upon the City, and the ZAB or 

Zoning Officer may approve, deny, or modify any aspect of any mediated agreement. 

j. A participant who has indicated either agreement or disagreement with the results of a 

mediation is in no way bound by his or her decision, and may change his or her mind 

after the mediation. 

k. Participation in a mediated meeting, or agreement with the results of a mediation, affects 

in no way the statutory right of any party to appeal the ZAB or Zoning Officer decision. 

l. Only those aspects of a mediated agreement that are either incorporated into the 

approved plans of a project, or are made conditions of approval, shall be enforceable by 

the City. 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 380 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-15 

L. Resubmittal of Same Application.46 

1. Resubmittals Prohibited. For twelve months following the denial of a discretionary permit 

application, the Department may not accept an application that is the same or substantially 

similar to the previously denied application, unless: 

a. The application was denied without prejudice; and/or 

b. Evidence or substantially changed conditions warrant resubmittal as determined by the 

Zoning Officer.  

2. Determination. The Zoning Officer shall determine whether an application is the same or 

substantially similar to the previously denied application.  

3. Appeal. The determination of the Zoning Office may be appealed to the ZAB, in 

compliance with Chapter 23-410 (Appeals). 

M. Notice of ZAB Decisions.47 

1. A Notice of Decision shall be issued after the ZAB: 

a. Approves, modifies, or denies a Use Permit or Variance application; or 

b. Takes action on an appealed decision. 

2. The Notice of Decision shall be issued before the ZAB’s next regular meeting and shall 

describe the ZAB’s action, findings, and applicable conditions. 

3. The Notice of Decision shall be posted in the lobby of the Permit Service Center and shall 

be mailed to: 

a. The applicant; 

b. The appellant, if applicable; 

c. Any person who has filed a written request for notice; and 

d. The City of Berkeley Central Library. 

4. The Notice of Decision shall be filed with the City Clerk and provided to the ZAB. The City 

Clerk shall make the notice available to interested members of the City Council and the 

public. 

  

 
46 Source: 23B.56.090. Clarifies that requirement applies to all discretionary applications, not just Use Permits and 
Variances. Sub-sections B (Determination) and C (Appeal) is new to reflect current practice. 
47 Source: 23B.32.050A&B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 381 of 511



SECTION  23.404.060   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-16   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.404.060 – POST-DECISION PROVISIONS 
A. Effective Dates.48 

1. Council Decisions. 

a. A City Council decision on a Zoning Ordinance Amendment and other legislative 

matters is final and becomes effective 30 days after the decision is made. 

b. A City Council decision on permits, appeals, and other non-legislative matters is final 

and effective on the date the decision is made. 

2. Other Decisions. The following applies to decisions of the Zoning Officer, Design Review 

Committee, and ZAB. 

a. A non-appealable decision is final and effective on the date the decision is made. 

b. An appealable decision is final and effective upon the completion of the appeal period 

for the decision if the decision is not appealed or certified by the City Council as 

provided in Chapter 23.410 (Appeals and Certifications). 

B. Effect of Approval. 

1. Approval Limited to Proposed Project.49 An approval authorizes only the proposed 

project described in the application. In no way does an approval authorize other uses, 

structures or activities not included in the project description. 

2. Replacement of Existing Uses.50 When the City approves a new use that replaces an 

existing use, any prior approval of the existing use becomes null and void when permits for 

the new use are exercised (e.g., building permit or business license issued). To reestablish the 

previously existing use, an applicant must obtain all permits required by the Zoning 

Ordinance for the use. 

3. Periodic Review and Reporting. 51 

a. The City may require periodic review of an approved project to verify compliance with 

permit requirements and conditions of approval. 

b. The permit holder or property owner is responsible for complying with any periodic 

reporting, monitoring, or assessments requirement.  

4. Conformance to Approved Plans.52 

a. Compliance. All work performed under an approved permit shall be in compliance with 

the approved plans and any conditions of approval. 

 
48 New to reflect legal requirements and current practice. 
49 Source: 23B.56.010.A 
50 Source: 23B.56.010.B. Clarifies that 23B.56.010.B applies only to replaced uses, not all other uses on a site. 
51 Source: 23B.56.060 
52 Source: 23B.56.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 382 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-17 

b. Changes. Changes to an approved project shall be submitted and processed in 

compliance with Section 23.404.070 (Permit Modifications). 

C. Time Limits. This subsection applies to approved permits that have not been exercised.  

1. Exercised Defined.53 

a. A permit authorizing a land use is exercised when both a valid City business license is 

issued (if required) and the land use is established on the property. 

b. A permit authorizing construction is exercised when both a valid City building permit (if 

required) is issued and construction has lawfully commenced. 

2. Expiration of Permit. 54 

a. The Zoning Officer may declare a permit lapsed if it is not exercised within one year of 

its issuance, except as provided in Paragraph (b) below. 

b. A permit authorizing construction may not be declared lapsed if the applicant has 

applied for a building permit or has made a substantial good faith effort to obtain a 

building permit and begin construction. 

c. The Zoning Officer may declare a permit lapsed only after 14 days written notice to the 

applicant. 

d. A determination that a permit has lapsed may be appealed to the ZAB in accordance 

with Chapter 23.410 (Appeals and Certification).  

3. Effect of Lapsed Permit.55 A permit declared lapsed shall be void and of no further force 

and effect. To establish the use or structure authorized by the lapsed permit, an applicant 

must apply for and receive City approval of a new permit.  

D. Permits Remain Effective for Vacant Property.56  Once a permit for a use is exercised and 

the use is established, the permit authorizing the use remains effective even if the property 

becomes vacant. The same use as allowed by the original permit may be re-established without 

obtaining a new permit.  

23.404.070 – PERMIT MODIFICATIONS 57  
A. Purpose and Applicability.  This section establishes requirements and procedures for an 

applicant to request modification to an approved discretionary permit.   

 
53 Source: 23B.56.100.A&B 
54 Source: 23B.56.100.C&D. Deletes 23B.556.070 (redundant with other sections). CONSENT CHANGE: Adds to 
Paragraph (b): “or has made a substantial good faith efforts to obtain a building permit and begin construction.” 
55 New to clarify effect of lapsed permit.  
56 Source: 23B.56.080. Clarifies that the permit remains effective even if the property becomes vacant and that the same 
use as authorized by the original permit may be established without obtain a new permit.  
57 Source: 23B.56.020; 23B.44.020.D.. Clarifies that requirements apply to all discretionary permits, not just use permits 
and variances.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 383 of 511



SECTION  23.404.080   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-18   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Permit Modification Required.  City approval of a permit modification is required to:   

1. Expand the floor or land area devoted to an approved use; 

2. Expand a customer service area and/or increase the number of customer seats; 

3. Change a building’s occupant load rating under the City’s Building Code so that it is 

classified in a different category with a higher occupancy rating; 

4. Increase the number of employees, beds, rooms or entrances; 

5. Establish a new product line, service, function or activity so as to substantially change the 

character of the use; 

6. Increase the volume of production, storage or capacity of any business manufacturing 

process or activity; 

7. Change the type of alcohol sales and/or service; and 

8. Change, expand, or intensify a use or structure in any other manner or substantially alters the 

use or structure. 

C. Review Authority.  A permit shall be modified by the review authority which originally 

approved the permit.58 

D. Public Notice and Hearing. 

1. Exercised Permits. Public notice and hearing in compliance with this chapter is required to 

modify a permit that has been exercised. See Section 23.404.060.C.1 (Exercised Defined). 

2. Permits Not Yet Exercised. For modifications to permits not yet exercised, the Zoning 

Officer or ZAB may act on the permit modification without a public hearing, or may set the 

matter for public hearing at its discretion. A noticed public hearing for a permit modification 

shall occur in compliance with this chapter. 

E. New Building Permits Required.  A building permit may not be modified after construction 

is complete. New construction in accordance with a modified permit requires issuance of a new 

building permit.59  

23.404.080 – PERMIT REVOCATION  
A. Purpose and Applicability.60 

1. This section establishes procedures for the City to revoke or modify a discretionary permit 

for completed projects due to: 

 
58 Modifies 23B.56.020.B which states “AUPs may be modified by the Zoning Officer but all other Permits may be 
modified only by the Board.” 
59 Second sentence in this subsection is added to clarify meaning.  
60 Source: 23B.60.010.A&C; 23B.60.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 384 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.080  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-19 

a. Violations of permit requirements; 

b. Changes to the approved project; and/or 

c. Vacancy for one year or more. 

2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, no lawful residential use can lapse, regardless of 

the length of time of the vacancy.  

3. Expiration of permits not yet exercised are addressed in Section 23.404.060.C (Time Limits). 

B. Initiation.61 

1. Proceedings to revoke or modify a permit may be initiated by Zoning Officer, Zoning 

Adjustments Board (ZAB), or City Council referral. 

2. Such referral shall identify the permit being considered, the property to which the permit 

applies, and the reason for the potential revocation or modification. 

3. The Zoning Officer shall determine the public hearing date for all referrals. 

C. ZAB Recommendation. 

1. Public Hearing. 62 

a. The ZAB shall hold a public hearing on a permit revocation or modification in 

compliance with Section 23.404.050 (Public Hearings and Decisions). Notice shall be 

given in conformance with Section 23.404.040.B (Public Hearing Notice). 

b. The Department shall notify the current permit holder of the date, time, and location of 

the hearing.  

2. ZAB Recommendation.63 

a. The ZAB may recommend that the City Council revoke or modify the permit based 

upon the findings specified in Subsection E (Findings) below. 

b. The ZAB recommendation shall be: 

i. Based on the evidence, testimony, and facts presented to the ZAB at the hearing; 

ii. Supported by written findings; and 

iii. Issued within 35 days after the conclusion of the hearing. 

3. Final Decision.64 A ZAB recommendation to deny or modify a permit shall be deemed a 

final decision if the permit holder consents to the recommendation within 10 days after the 

 
61 Source: 23B60.030.A. Clarifies the Zoning Officer determines public hearing date for all referrals.  
62 Source: 23B60.030.B&C 
63 Source: 23B.60.040 
64 Source: 23B.60.050.A 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 385 of 511



SECTION  23.404.080   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-20   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

recommendation is made. In such a case, there shall be no City Council review and action on 

the matter. 

4. Report to City Clerk.65 The Department shall file the ZAB’s recommendation with the City 

Clerk within 14 days following the recommendation. 

D. City Council Action.66 

1. Report to Council. The City Clerk shall present a ZAB recommendation to the City 

Council at soonest possible regular City Council meeting.  

2. Public Hearing. 

a. If the ZAB recommends that the City Council revoke or modify the permit, the City 

Council shall hold a public hearing on the matter within 60 days after the ZAB issued its 

recommendation.  

b. If the ZAB does not recommend that the City Council revoke or modify the permit, the 

City Council may hold a public hearing on the matter at its discretion.67 

3. Council Decision. The City Council may modify or revoke the permit based upon the 

findings specified in Subsection E (Findings) below. 

E. Findings.68  The City Council may revoke or modify a permit if any of the following findings 

can be made: 

1. The permit holder has failed to comply with one or more of the conditions of approval. 

2. The use or structure has been substantially expanded or changed in character beyond the 

approved project. 

3. The property has been vacant for one year and the permit holder has not made a good faith 

effort to re-occupy the property with the use allowed by the approved permit. 

F. Notice of Decision.69 

1. If the City Council revokes or modifies a permit, the City Clerk shall issue a Notice of 

Decision describing the City Council’ s action, with its findings. 

2. The City Clerk shall mail the notice to the permit holder, the property owner, the person 

who requested proceedings under this chapter (if any), and any person who requests such a 

notification. 

3. The City Clerk shall file a copy of the Notice of Decision with the Department. 

 
65 Source: 23B.60.050.B 
66 Source: 23B.60.050.B 
67 CONSENT Change: Removes requirement for the City Council hearing shall occur within 30 days after the ZAB 
issued its recommendation. Not possible. 
68 Source: 23B.60.020; 23B.60.050.D 
69 Source: 23B.60.050.E 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 386 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.404.080  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 404-21 

G. Remedies.70 

1. If the City revokes or modifies a permit, the City may impose any of the following remedies:  

a. Enjoin the use in whole or in part. 

b. Impose reasonable conditions upon any continued operation of the use, including 

existing non-conforming uses. 

c. Require continued compliance with newly imposed any conditions.  

d. Require the permit holder to guarantee compliance with newly imposed conditions. 

2. If the permit holder fails to comply with newly imposed conditions, the City may impose 

additional conditions or enjoin the use in whole or in part. 

H. Recovery of Costs.71 

1. Permit Revocation and Modification. 

a. The City may recover the costs to administer permit revocation and modification 

proceedings in accordance with Sections 1.24.140 through 1.24.210 of Municipal Code 

Chapter 1.24 (Abatement of Nuisances), except as provided in Paragraph (b) below. 

b. The hearing provided by Section 1.24.180 (Service of Notice of Hearing) shall be held by 

the City Manager or his/her designee and may be appealed to the City Council within 

ten days after a decision is mailed. The Council shall hold a hearing on appeals as 

specified in Section 1.24.180. 

2. Remedies.  

a. The City Council may, by resolution, establish reasonable hourly rates which may be 

charged for the time spent by City employees in the performance of their employment 

under this section. These hourly rates may be charged on an on-going basis for time 

spent with respect to any building, structure or use if the City Council takes any action 

authorized by Subsection G (Remedies) above. In this case, payment of costs charged 

under this paragraph shall be made a condition of continued operation of the building, 

structure, or use. 

b. Payments submitted under this Paragraph 2 (Remedies) shall be deducted from any 

payments submitted under previous Paragraph 1 (Permit Revocation and Modification). 

  

 
70 Source 23B.60.060 
71 Source: 23B.60.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 387 of 511



SECTION  23.404.080   CHAPTER 23.404 – COMMON PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 404-22   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 388 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-1 

    

SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 
Sections: 

23.406.010 – Purpose 

23.406.020 – Zoning Certificates 

23.406.030 – Administrative Use Permits 

23.406.040 – Use Permits 

23.406.050 – Variances 

23.406.060 – Master Use Permits 

23.406.070 – Design Review 

23.406.080 – Modification of Development Standards in West Berkeley Plan Area 

23.406.090 – Reasonable Accommodation 

  

Commentary: Provisions unique to individual types of permits and approvals from Title 23B are in this 

chapter. Provisions that apply generally to multiple permits and approvals are in Chapter 23.404 (Common 

Permit Requirements). 

23.406.010 – PURPOSE 
This chapter identifies procedures for specific types of permits required by the Zoning Ordinance. 

See Chapter 23.404 (Common Permit Requirements) for procedures that apply generally to all types 

of permits.  

23.406.020 – ZONING CERTIFICATES 
A. Purpose.1 A Zoning Certificate is a ministerial approval to: 

1. Confirm that a structure or land use complies with the Zoning Ordinance; and 

2. Establish a record of the initial establishment of a structure or land use.  

B. When Required. 

1. Unless specifically stated otherwise in the Zoning Ordinance, a Zoning Certificate is required 

to: 

a. Construct, modify, repair, or move a structure; and/or 

b. Establish, change, or expand a land use. 2 

 
1 Source: 23B.20.010. Clarifies that a Zoning Certificates is used to record the establishment of any use or structure, not 
just ones that are allowed by-right. Removes reference to Zoning Conformance Review in 23B.20.020. 
2 Source: 23B.20.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 389 of 511



SECTION  23.406.020   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. A Zoning Certificate is not required to: 

a. Continue a previously-approved use or structure; or 

b. Establish a temporary use or structure allowed by-right as specified in 23.302.030.A 

(Permitted By Right).3 

C. Applications.4 

1. Zoning Certificate applications shall be made in writing on a form provided by the 

Department accompanied by all fees, information, and materials as required by the 

Department. 

2. An application fee is not required where the legal use of property or building is unchanged 

and no building alterations occur. 

D. Referrals.5 The Zoning Officer may review applications referred from other City departments, 

including building permits and business licenses applications, and require that applicants submit 

Zoning Certificate applications and additional information as needed. 

E. Review and Action.6 

1. The Zoning Officer shall review a Zoning Certificate application to verify compliance with 

the Zoning Ordinance. If the project complies with all applicable requirements, the Zoning 

Officer shall approve the application. 

2. The Zoning Officer may attach to the Zoning Certificate project plans and other 

information as needed to document project compliance with the Zoning Ordinance. 

F. When Exercised.7 A Zoning Certificate is considered exercised when either: 

1. The approved use is established at the subject premises; or 

2. In the case of construction, when a valid building permit, if required, is issued for the 

approved structure and construction has commenced. 

G. Scope of Approval.8 A Zoning Certificate applies only to the structures and uses shown in the 

application specifically approved through the application. A Zoning Certificate does not in any 

way validate or constitute approval of any building, structure, use, subdivision, or lot line 

adjustment not shown in the application. 

 
3 Source: 23B.20.050.B. Removes exception for projects subject to an Administrative Use Permit, Use Permit, or 
Variance, which conflicts with the City’s practice.  
4 Replaces 23B.20.040.A, first sentence. Submittal requirements for Zoning Certificates are different from discretionary 
permits. 
5 Source: 23B.20.050.A 
6 Source: 23B.20.060.A 
7 Source: 23B.20.060.C 
8 Source: 23B.20.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 390 of 511



CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.406.030  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-3 

H. Appeals.9 A decision on a Zoning Certificate may not be appealed. 

I. Non-Compliance.10 A Zoning Certificate is considered null and void if a structure or land use 

is established: 

1. Contrary to the project description attached to a Zoning Certificate approval; and 

2. In a manner that violates the Zoning Ordinance or requires additional City approvals.  

23.406.030 – ADMINISTRATIVE USE PERMITS  
A. Purpose.11  An Administrative Use Permit (AUP) is a discretionary permit approved by the 

Zoning Officer to ensure that a proposed project will not adversely impact neighboring 

properties or the general public.  

B. Review Authority.12 

1. The Zoning Officer takes action on AUP applications. 

2. For a project with special neighborhood or community significance, the Zoning Officer may 

refer an AUP application to the ZAB for review and final decision. In such an instance, the 

ZAB shall review and act on the application following the requirements that apply to Use 

Permit applications.  

C. When Required.13 An AUP is required for: 

1. Land uses and development projects in each district as identified in Chapters 23.202 – 

23.210 (Zoning Districts); 

2. Temporary land uses and structures in accordance with Section 23.302.030.B (AUP 

Required); and 

3. Other types of development projects when specifically required by the Zoning Ordinance.  

D. Public and City Franchise Uses.14 The Zoning Officer may issue an AUP for any accessory 

building for public use or any use on City-owned property that is subject to franchise by the 

City. Such an AUP is subject to the same appeal and certification procedures as all other AUPs.  

E. Public Notice and Hearing. See Section 23.404.040.A (Notice of Administrative Decisions). 

F. Findings for Approval. 

1. To approve an AUP, the Zoning Officer shall find that the proposed project: 

 
9 Clarifies that Zoning Certificate decisions may not be appealed.  
10 Source: 23B.20.060.B 
11 New. Replaces 23B.28.010.A to more accurately describe the AUP purpose. 
12 Source: 23B.28.010; 23B.28.030 
13 New statement summarizing when AUPs are required. No substantive change. 
14 Source: 23B.28.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 391 of 511



SECTION  23.406.040   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. Will not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare 

of persons residing or working in the area or neighborhood, of the proposed use; and 

b. Will not be detrimental or injurious to property and improvements of the adjacent 

properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood or to the general welfare of the City.15 

2. To approve the AUP, the Zoning Officer must also make any other AUP findings 

specifically required by the Zoning Ordinance for the proposed project. 16 

3. When taking action on an AUP, the Zoning Officer shall consider the following when 

making findings: 

a. The proposed land use; and 

b. The structure or addition that accommodates the use.17 

4. Required findings shall be made based on the circumstances existing at the time a decision is 

made on the application. 18  

5. The Zoning Officer shall deny an AUP application if unable to make any of the required 

findings.19 

G. ZAB Notification.20 The Zoning Officer shall inform the ZAB of all AUP decisions. 

23.406.040 – USE PERMITS 
A. Purpose.21  A Use Permit is a discretionary permit approved by the Zoning Adjustments Board 

(ZAB) to ensure that a proposed project will be designed, located, and operated to be 

compatible with neighboring properties and minimize impacts to the general public.  

B. Review Authority.22  The ZAB takes action on all Use Permit applications. 

C. When Required.23 A Use Permit is required for: 

1. Land uses and development projects in each district as identified in Chapters 23.202 – 

23.210 (Zoning Districts). 

2. Other types of development projects when specifically required by the Zoning Ordinance.  

 
15 Source: 23B.28.050A 
16 23B.28.010.B; 23B.28.050.B 
17 New, to match Use Permit findings section. 
18 New, to match Use Permit findings section. 
19 Source: 23B.28.050.C 
20 Modifies 23B.28.040.C which says the Notice of Administrative Decision shall be forwarded to the Board.  
21 New statement of Use Permit purpose.  
22 Source: 23B.32.040.A 
23 New statement summarizing when Use Permits are required. No substantive change. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 392 of 511



CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.406.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-5 

D. Public Notice and Hearing.24  The ZAB shall review and take action on a Use Permit 

application at a noticed public hearing in compliance with Chapter 23.404 (Common Permit 

Requirements). 

E. Findings for Approval.25 

1. To approve a Use Permit, the ZAB shall find that the proposed project: 

a. Will not be detrimental to the health, safety, peace, morals, comfort, or general welfare 

of persons residing or visiting in the area or neighborhood of the proposed use; and 

b. Will not be detrimental or injurious to property and improvements of the adjacent 

properties, the surrounding area or neighborhood, or to the general welfare of the City. 

2. To approve the Use Permit, the ZAB must also make any other Use Permit findings 

specifically required by the Zoning Ordinance for the proposed project. 

3. When taking action on a Use Permit, the ZAB shall consider in its findings: 

a. The proposed land use; and 

b. The structure or addition that accommodates the use. 

4. Required findings shall be made based on the circumstances existing at the time a decision is 

made on the application.  

5. The ZAB shall deny a Use Permit application if it determines that it is unable to make any of 

the required findings.   

23.406.050 – VARIANCES 
A. Purpose.26  A Variance is a discretionary approval that allows for deviations from development 

standards and land use regulations in the Zoning Ordinance. The City may grant a Variance only 

when the strict application of development standards creates a unique hardship due to unusual 

circumstances associated with the property. 

B. When Allowed.27 

1. Deviations Allowed with a Variance. The ZAB may grant a Variance to allow for 

deviation from any provision in the Zoning Ordinance related allowed land uses, use-related 

standards, and development standards. 

 
24 Source: 23B.32.020&030 
25 Source: 23B.32.040. Removes requirement to state reasons for determination and statement about conditions, both of 
which apply to all discretionary approvals and is now addressed in Chapter 23.404. 
26 New statement of Variance purpose. 
27 Source: 23B.44.010.  CONSENT CHANGE: Revises 23B.44.010 first sentence to expand scope of projects eligible 
for a Variance. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 393 of 511



SECTION  23.406.060   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Deviations Allowed with a Use Permit. The ZAB may allow deviations from building 

setback, lot coverage, and on-site parking standards with a Use Permit instead of a Variance 

if: 

a. The property is 30 feet or less from an open creek; and  

b. Deviation from the standard is necessary to comply with Chapter 17.08 (Preservation 

and Restoration of Natural Watercourses). 

C. Variances Not Allowed.28  A Variance may not be granted to allow deviation from a 

requirement of the General Plan. 

D. Review Authority.29  The ZAB takes action on all Variance applications. 

E. Public Notice and Hearing.30  The ZAB shall review and act on a Variance application at a 

noticed public hearing in compliance with Chapter 23.404 (Common Permit Requirements). 

F. Findings for Approval.31  

1. To approve a Variance, the ZAB shall make all of the following findings: 

a. There are exceptional circumstances applying to the property which do not apply 

generally in the same district. 

b. The Variance is necessary to preserve a substantial property right. 

c. The Variance will not adversely affect the health or safety of persons residing or working 

near the property. 

d. The Variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to 

nearby property or improvements. 

e. The Variance will promote the municipal health, welfare, and safety and benefit the city 

as a whole. 

f. Any other Variance findings required by Zoning Ordinance can be made. 

2. The ZAB shall deny a Use Permit application if it determines that it is unable to make any of 

the required findings.  

23.406.060 – MASTER USE PERMITS 
A. Purpose.32 A Master Use Permit is a discretionary approval that allows flexibility in the amount 

of space occupied by individual tenants in a multi-user site.  The purpose of a Master Use Permit 

is to: 

 
28 New. CONSENT CHANGE: Required by State law. 
29 Source: 23B.44.010 
30 Replaces 23B.44.040 
31 Source: 23B.44.030 
32 Source: 23B.36.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 394 of 511



CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.406.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-7 

1. Facilitate the implementation of the General Plan and area plans, including the West 

Berkeley Plan; 

2. Expedite the reuse of large and multi-user sites that might otherwise prove difficult to reuse; 

3. Facilitate the development and reuse of large, multi-user sites as integrated units in a stable 

and desirable environment to benefit occupants, the neighborhood, and the city as a whole.; 

4. Allow the review and analysis of impacts of multi-tenant projects in a coordinated, 

consolidated manner; and 

5. Improve Berkeley’s competitiveness in attracting and retaining businesses by allowing 

businesses to quickly move into a site once overall development requirements have been 

established. 

B. Review Authority. The ZAB takes action on all Master Use Permit applications.33 

C. Voluntary Option.34  A Master Use Permit is a voluntary option for property owners. If a 

property owner does not request and receive a Master Use Permit, individual tenants are subject 

to the Use Permit requirements that ordinarily apply as required by the Zoning Ordinance.  

D. Where Allowed. 35 A property that meets the following criteria may apply for a Master Use 

Permit: 

1. The property is located entirely or partially in one of the following districts: 

a. Any Commercial District. 

b. Mixed Use-Light Industrial (MU-LI). 

c. Mixed Manufacturing (MM). 

d. Manufacturing (M). 

2. The property will be occupied by three or more independently operating businesses. 

E. Use Allocation.36  

1. A Master Use Permit may allow by-right more than one individual business and/or use on a 

site, provided that all other applicable requirements of the Zoning Ordinance are met. 

2. A Master Use Permit shall state the square feet of buildings and land allocated for the 

following uses: 

a. Industrial (manufacturing, wholesaling, and warehousing). 

b. Office (excludes offices ancillary to other uses). 

 
33 Source: 23B.36.040.A 
34 New, clarifies voluntary nature of Master Use Permit. 
35 23B.36.010 
36 Source: 23B.36.030.A&B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 395 of 511



SECTION  23.406.070   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-8   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

c. Commercial (retail, personal service, restaurants). 

d. Live/work units. 

e. Residential. 

F. Allowed Variations.37 

1. The area of a building or site occupied by a use may exceed the Master Use Permit allocation 

with the permits specified in Table 23.406.060-1.    

TABLE 23.406.060-1: ALLOWED VARIATION IN USE ALLOCATIONS 
Variation in Use Allocation 
from Master Use Permit 

Permit Required 

10% or less None. Allowed By-Right 

More than 10% to 25% AUP 

More than 25% UP(PH) 

 

2. If the allocation of floor area for various uses as specified in Paragraph D (Where Allowed) 

above remains within the limits set forth in Table 23.406.060-1, lease spaces may be divided 

or aggregated in any manner as-of-right.  

G. Public Notice and Hearing.38  The ZAB shall review and take action on a Master Use Permit 

application at a noticed public hearing in compliance with Chapter 23.404 (Common Permit 

Requirements).  

H. Findings for Approval.39  To approve a Master Use Permit, the ZAB must find that approval 

will expedite occupancy and use of the site consistent with the purpose of the district, the 

General Plan, and any applicable area plan.  

23.406.070 – DESIGN REVIEW 
A. Purpose.40  Design Review is a discretionary process to ensure that exterior changes to non-

residential buildings comply with the City of Berkeley Design Guidelines and other applicable 

City design standards and guidelines. The purpose of Design Review is to: 

1. Encourage excellence in building and site design; 

2. Ensure that development is compatible with its urban context; and 

3. Provide a pleasing urban environment for persons living, working, or visiting the city. 

B. When Required.41 

 
37 Source: 23B.36.030C&D 
38 23B.36.040B 
39 Source: 23B.36.050. Added consistency with General Plan.  
40 Source: 23E.08.010.A 
41 Source: 23E.08.020A&B 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 396 of 511



CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.406.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-9 

1. Design Review is required for: 

a. Projects in all Non-Residential Districts. 

b. Mixed use and community and institutional projects in the R-3 district within the 

Southside Plan area (see Section 23.202.100.D for Plan area); and 

c. Commercial, mixed-use, and community and institutional projects in the R-4, R-SMU, 

and R-S districts. 

2. As used in Paragraph (1) above, “project” means an activity requiring a building or sign 

permit that involves any of the following: 

a. Modifying the exterior of an existing structure. 

b. Additions to an existing structure. 

c. Demolishing all or a portion of an existing structure.  

d. Removing all or part of a building facade fronting the public right-of-way.  

e. Constructing a new structure. 

f. Installing or replacing a sign. 

C. Design Review Process.42 

1. Use Permit Projects. 

a. If a project requires a Use Permit, Preliminary Design Review is required prior to ZAB 

action on the Use Permit.  

b. Review authority for Preliminary Design Review is described in Section 23.406.070.D 

(Review Authority). 

c. The ZAB shall consider Preliminary Design Review recommendations when acting on 

the Use Permit. Prior to acting on the Use Permit, the ZAB may require further review 

by the Design Review Committee or Department staff as part of the Preliminary Design 

Review process. 

d. As a condition of Use Permit approval, the ZAB may require Final Design Review to 

verify that the project conforms to design-related Use Permit conditions of approval or 

to review finalized project design details. The Design Review Committee conducts Final 

Design Review unless the ZAB directs staff to conduct Final Design Review as a 

condition of approval. 

e. If the ZAB requires Final Design Review, the City may issue a building permit only after 

Final Design Review is complete. 

2. Projects Not Requiring a Use Permit. 

 
42 Source: 23E.08.020.C,D&E; 23E.12.040C. Clarifies Design Review process.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 397 of 511



SECTION  23.406.070   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-10   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

a. For a project that does not require a Use Permit, Department staff conducts Design 

Review before the Zoning Officer takes action on the required permit or approval.  

b. The Zoning Officer will consider the Design Review recommendations when acting on 

the required permit or approval. The Zoning Officer may require modifications to the 

project design as a condition of approval. 

c. The Department will verify conformance with Design Review recommendations and 

design-related conditions of approval when issuing a building permit, sign permit, or 

Zoning Certificate for the project. Final Design Review is not required. 

D. Review Authority.43 

1. Department Staff. 44 Department staff, under the supervision and authority of the Zoning 

Officer, conducts Design Review for projects that do not require a Use Permit, except when 

the Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) conducts Design Review as provided in 

Paragraph (3) below. Design review conducted by Department staff is referred to as “Staff-

Level Design Review.” 

2. Design Review Committee.45 

a. For projects requiring a Use Permit, Design Review is conducted by the Design Review 

Committee except as provided by Paragraph (b) below or when the Landmarks 

Preservation Commission (LPC) conducts Design Review as provided in Paragraph (3) 

below. 

b. The Zoning Officer may determine that, due to unique circumstances, Department staff 

will conduct Design Review for a project requiring a Use Permit. The Zoning Officer, or 

Department staff on their behalf, shall confer with the Design Review Committee Chair 

prior to making such a determination and shall consider project size, visibility, and 

degree of sensitivity to the neighboring properties or the general public. 

3. Landmarks Preservation Commission.46 The Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) 

conducts Design Review of projects which involve landmarks, structures of merit, or 

buildings within a historic district in accordance with Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation 

Commission. The LPC conducts Design Review for landmarked properties through the 

Structural Alteration Permit process. 

E. Zoning Officer and LPC Referrals.   

1. The Zoning Officer may refer any project subject to ZAB review to the Design Review 

Committee, staff, or the LPC for non-binding input on design-related issues. However, 

 
43 Source: 23E.08.030 
44 Source: 23E.12.040.A 
45 Source: 23E.08.030. Clarifies process to determine if staff should conduct Design Review for projects requiring a Use 
Permit. 
46 Source: 23E.12.020.A 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 398 of 511



CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.406.070  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-11 

Design Review approval is required only for projects in Subsection B (When Required) 

above.47  

2. The LPC may refer any project subject to LPC review to the Design Review Committee for 

non-binding input on design-related issues.48 

F. Referrals to Landmarks Preservation Commission.  

1. Mandatory Referrals.49 The following Design Review applications shall be referred to the 

LPC for review and comment prior to action of the application: 

a. Projects that involve a building or structure listed on the State Historic Resources 

Inventory, or on the List of Structures and Sites adopted by the LPC under Chapter 

3.24.  

b. Projects that involve a building or a structure over 40 years old which may have special 

architectural or historical significance, as determined by the secretary to the LPC.  

2. Optional Referrals. 50 Department staff or the Design Review Committee may choose to 

refer the following projects to the LPC for review and comment prior to action of the 

application: 

a. Projects that involve a building that is 40 years old or less that may have special 

architectural and/or historical significance, as determined by the secretary to the LPC. 

b. Signs and awnings which involve a building or structure listed on the State Historic 

Resources Inventory, or on the LPC’s current List of Structures and Sites. 

G. Design Guidelines.  

1. The City of Berkeley Design Guidelines provide direction to the City when reviewing 

proposed projects and assists applicants in planning and design of their projects. The Design 

Guidelines are intentionally generalized to encourage individual creativity. It is not expected 

that every project will respond to every guideline. 51 

2. When conducting design review the Design Review Committee, the LPC, and staff shall use 

the Design Guidelines adopted by the Planning Commission as its official policy.52 

3. The Design Review Guidelines may be amended by the Planning Commission. The ZAB 

may comment to the Planning Commission on such amendments.53 

 
47 Source: 23E12.040.B. Clarifies that while the Zoning Officer may refer any ZAB project to DRC, design staff, or the 
LPC for input on design issues, formal Design Review approval is required only as identified in the code.  
48 New. Reflects current practice. 
49 Source: 23E.12.020.B&C 
50 Source: 23E.12.020.D&E 
51 Source: 23E.08.010.B 
52 Source: 23E.08.040.B 
53 Source: 23E.08.040.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 399 of 511



SECTION  23.406.070   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-12   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

H. Scope of Design Review.54 Design Review considers only issues of building and site design and 

does not address land use issues. Site design included the placement of buildings on a lot, vehicle 

access and circulation, pedestrian circulation, parking placement and design, landscaping, and 

other similar issues. 

I. Design Review Timeline.55 

1. Design Review projects requiring an AUP or a Zoning Certificate shall be completed within 

60 days of the date the application is deemed complete. If an applicant modifies the 

application, or if the applicant submits a written time extension, Department staff may 

extend the review period beyond 60 days.  

2. Design Review for projects that require ZAB approval shall be completed within 60 days of 

submittal of complete final Design Review plans or within the time limit required by the 

Permit Streamlining Act, whichever is less.  

J. Public Notice.   Public notice of pending Design Review decisions shall be given in accordance 

with Section 23.404.040.D (Public Notice for Design Review). 

K. Public Hearing.  None required. 

L. Design Review Committee Proceedings.56 

1. The Design Review Committee shall meet with the applicant and shall operate as a working 

group. Its meetings shall be open to the public. 

2. Review of a project by the Design Review Committee may be continued as necessary subject 

to the timeline set forth in this chapter. 

3. The Design Review Committee shall adopt its own rules and procedures. 

M. Basis for Approval.57   The review authority shall consider a proposed project in relation to its 

surrounding context when acting on a Design Review application. 

1. The review authority may approve a Design Review application only upon finding that the 

proposed project conforms with the City of Berkeley Design Guidelines and any City-

adopted design standards and guidelines applicable to the project.   

2. The review authority may consider public input during the Design Review process and may 

require modifications to the proposed project as a condition of Design Review approval. 

N. Changes to Approved Projects.58 

 
54 Source: 23E.08.010.C. Clarifies what is included in site design. 
55 Source: 23E.12.030 
56 Source: 23E.12.050.A 
57 Source: 23E.08.040A&D. Last sentence in 23E.08.040D is removed as this applies to all City decisions and 
applications. 
58 CONSENT CHANGE. This is new. The existing code is silent on how to address project changes. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 400 of 511



CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.406.080  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-13 

1. Design Review Modification (Minor Changes). Prior to issuance of a building permit, 

Department staff may approve minor changes to a project with final Design Review 

approval if the change complies with all of the following criteria: 

a. The change does not involve a feature of the project that was: 

i. A specific consideration by the review authority in granting the approval; 

ii. A condition of approval; or 

iii. A basis for a finding in the project CEQA determination. 

b. The change is consistent with the spirit and intent of the original approval. 

2. Other Changes. A project change that does not meet the definition of a minor change in 

previous Paragraph (1) shall be approved following the same procedures as the original 

Design Review approval. 

O. Appeals.  Design Review decisions may be appealed in accordance with Chapter 23.410 

(Appeals and Certification). 

P. Review of Building Plans.  Department staff shall review all building permit applications 

subject to Design Review for compliance with the approved Design Review plans and 

conditions.59 

23.406.080 – MODIFICATION OF DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS IN WEST BERKELEY PLAN AREA 
A. Purpose.60  A Modification of Development Standards is a discretionary approval to modify 

land use and development standards for development projects in the West Berkeley Plan area. 

The purpose of these modifications is to: 

1. Facilitate the implementation of the West Berkeley Plan; 

2. Facilitate the reuse of large and multi-user sites which might otherwise prove difficult to 

reuse; 

3. Facilitate the development and reuse of large, multi-user sites as integrated units in a stable 

and desirable environment to benefit occupants, the neighborhood, and the city as a whole; 

and 

4. Allow modifications of standards when: 

a. The modifications serve the overall purposes of their districts and the West Berkeley 

Plan on large, complex sites; and 

b. The design of the project is compatible with the design and character of the surrounding 

area. 

 
59 Source: 23E.12.070 
60 Source: 23B.48.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 401 of 511



SECTION  23.406.080   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-14   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Eligibility.61  A project must satisfy the following criteria to be eligible for a Modification of 

Development Standards. 

1. More than 50 percent of the site area must be within a C-W, MU-LI, MM or M district. 

2. The site must be either: 

a. At least five contiguous acres within the City boundary under a single ownership and not 

primarily being used by a use conforming to the West Berkeley Plan; or 

b. Less than five acres and forms a full city block bounded on all sides by public streets 

(exclusive of alleys), mainline railroad tracks, and/or the borders of the City. 

C. Allowed Modifications.62  The ZAB may allow modifications to the following land use and 

development standards: 

1. Permitted location of land uses within a building, site, or district. 

2. Development standards including but not limited to, height, yards, open space, and parking.  

D. Project Phases.63 The ZAB may approve a Modification of Development Standards application 

to allow a project to be built in phases. 

E. Limitation.64  A Modification of Development Standards may not allow any modification that 

would violate Section 23.206.050 (Protected Uses). 

F. Review Authority.65  The ZAB takes action on all Modification of Development Standards 

applications. 

G. Public Notice and Hearing.66  The ZAB shall review and act on a Modification of 

Development Standards application at a noticed public hearing in compliance with Chapter 

23.404 (Common Permit Requirements). 

H. Findings for Approval.67 

1. To approve a Modification of Development Standards, the ZAB shall make all of the 

following findings: 

a. The site is eligible for a Modification of Development Standards under Subsections B 

(Eligibility) and E (Limitation); 

b. The project is likely to advance the purposes of the West Berkeley Plan and this section; 

 
61 Source: 23B.48.010A&C 
62 Source: 23B.48.030 
63 Source: 23B.48.010.B 
64 Source: 23B.48.010.D 
65 Source: 23B.48.040.A 
66 New. Clarifies existing process. 
67 Stylistic edits to 23B.48.040. Clarifies that Finding (d) applies to all approvals.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 402 of 511



CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.406.090  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-15 

c. The project supports the attraction and/or retention of the types of businesses reflected 

in the purpose statement of the applicable district. 

d. The modification is necessary and appropriate for the development of the proposed 

project. 

2. To approve a Modification of Development Standards, the ZAB shall also make all required 

Use Permit findings in Section 23.406.040 (Use Permits) and any additional Use Permit 

findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for the use or development in the applicable 

district.   

23.406.090 – REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS 
A. Purpose.68  This section establishes a process for the City to approve modifications to 

development regulations to support equal access to housing for persons with disabilities. This 

process is established in accordance with the Federal Fair Housing Act, the Americans with 

Disabilities Act, and the California Fair Employment and Housing Act. 

B. When Allowed. 

1. Eligible Applicants. 

a. Any person with a disability, or their representative, may request reasonable 

accommodation as allowed by this section.69 

b. A person with a disability is a person who has a physical or mental impairment that limits 

or substantially limits one or more major life activities, anyone who is regarded as having 

this type of impairment, or anyone who has a record of this type of impairment.70 

2. Eligible Request.71 An eligible applicant may request a modification or exception to any 

provision in the Zoning Ordinance or Subdivision Ordinance (Title 21) that acts as a barrier 

to fair housing opportunities for persons with disabilities. 

C. Review Authority.72 

1. Zoning Officer.  The Zoning Officer takes action on reasonable accommodation 

applications unless the application is filed for concurrent review with a requested permit 

reviewed by the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB). 

2. Zoning Adjustments Board. If a reasonable accommodation application is submitted 

concurrently with a permit application reviewed by the ZAB, the reasonable accommodation 

application shall be acted on by the ZAB. 

 
68 Source: 23B.52.010 
69 Source: 23B.52.020A 
70 New. Clarifies definition of a person with a disability.  
71 Source: 23B.52.020A 
72 New. Clarifies existing process.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 403 of 511



SECTION  23.406.090   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-16   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. Referral to Zoning Adjustments Board.  The Zoning Officer may refer any reasonable 

accommodation application to the ZAB for review and final decision. 

D. Application Requirements. 

1. Application.73 A request for reasonable accommodation shall be submitted on an official 

City application form. No application fee is required. The application shall include: 

a. The name, address, and telephone number of the applicant; 

b. The address of the property for which the accommodation is requested; 

c. The current use of the property. 

d. The ordinance provision for which modification is requested; 

e. Reason that the requested accommodation may be necessary to enable the person with 

the disability to use the dwelling; and 

f. Other information requested by the Zoning Officer. 

2. Concurrent Applications. 74 If the project for which the reasonable accommodation is 

requested requires another planning permit (e.g., Use Permit), the reasonable 

accommodation application shall be filed concurrently with the related permit application. 

E. Review Procedure. 

1. Independent Application.75 

a. For a Reasonable Accommodation application submitted independently from any other 

planning permit application, the Zoning Officer shall take action within 45 days of 

receiving the application. 

b. If necessary to reach a determination on the request for reasonable accommodation, the 

Zoning Officer may request further information from the applicant consistent with fair 

housing laws. In the event that a request for additional information is made, the 45-day 

period to issue a decision is stayed until the applicant submits the requested information.  

2. Concurrent Application.76 For a reasonable accommodation request submitted 

concurrently with another planning permit application, the reasonable accommodation 

request shall be reviewed and acted upon concurrently with the other application.  

F. Action on Application. 

 
73 Sources: 23B.52.030 and 23B.52.070 
74 Stylistic edits to 23B.52.020B. Deletes 23B.52.020C&D, which is unnecessary.  
75 New. CONSENT CHANGE. Replaces 23B.52.040.B, which unlawfully required the application to be reviewed in the 
same manner as a Variance.  
76 Source: 23B.52.040.A. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 404 of 511



CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS  SECTION  23.406.090  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 406-17 

1. Decision.77 The review authority shall make a written decision supported by findings and 

conclusions to approve, approve with conditions, or deny the application.  

2. Criteria.78 The review authority shall consider the following factors when acting on the 

application: 

a. Need for the requested modification. 

b. Alternatives that may provide an equivalent level of benefit. 

c. Physical attributes of and proposed changes to the property. 

d. Whether the requested modification would impose an undue financial or administrative 

burden on the City. 

e. Whether the requested modification would constitute a fundamental alteration of the 

City’s zoning or subdivision regulations. 

f. Whether the requested accommodation would result in a concentration of uses 

otherwise not allowed in a residential neighborhood to the substantial detriment of the 

residential character of that neighborhood. 

g. Any other factor that may have a bearing on the request. 

3. Conditions of Approval. The review authority may impose conditions of approval, 

including a condition to provide for the automatic expiration of the approval under 

appropriate circumstances (e.g., person with disability vacates home). 79 

G. Appeals.80  Reasonable accommodation decisions may be appealed in accordance with Chapter 

23.410 (Appeals and Certification).  

  

 
77 Source: 23B.52.050A&C 
78 Source: 23B.52.050B 
79 Source: 23B.52.060 
80 Source: 2352.050.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 405 of 511



SECTION  23.406.090   CHAPTER 23.406 – SPECIFIC PERMIT REQUIREMENTS 

PAGE 406-18   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank. 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 406 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 408-1 

    

GREEN PATHWAY 
Sections: 

23.408.010 – Purpose 

23.408.020 – Applicability 

23.408.030 – Eligibility Determination 

23.408.040 – Green Pathway Application 

23.408.050 –  General Requirements 

23.408.060 – Requirements for Large Buildings and Hotels 

23.408.070 – Development Standards 

23.408.080 – Streamlined Permitting Process 

23.408.090 – Tolling 

23.408.100 – Compliance 

23.408.110 – City Manager Authority to Issue Regulations 

  

Commentary: This chapter carries forward existing Chapter 23B.34 with minor stylistic edits.  

23.408.010 – PURPOSE1 
A. The purpose of this chapter is to implement the “Green Pathway” provisions of Measure R 

(2010) by providing a voluntary streamlined permit process for buildings that: 

1. Exceed the Green Building requirements applicable in the C-DMU district; and 

2. Provide extraordinary public benefits that could not otherwise be obtained, as specified in 

this chapter. 

B. This chapter establishes standards and requirements to clarify the City’s expectations for projects 

eligible for approval under this chapter and to ensure they will be designed and developed 

consistent with the Downtown Area Plan.  

23.408.020 – APPLICABILITY2 
This chapter applies only to development projects in the Downtown Mixed Use (C-DMU) district 

that: 

A. Do not propose alteration or demolition of a historical resource as defined by the California 

Code of Regulations Title 14, Section 15064.5; and 

 
1 Source: 23B.34.020 
2 Source: 23B.34.010 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 407 of 511



SECTION  23.408.030   CHAPTER 23.408 – GREEN PATHWAY 

PAGE 408-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Will not have a significant adverse impact on any adjacent historical resource as defined by the 

California Code of Regulations Title 14, Section 15064.5.  

23.408.030 – ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATION3 
A. RFD Purpose. To determine if a project is eligible for processing under this chapter, an 

applicant shall submit to the City a Request for Determination (RFD). The RFD process applies 

to development projects that may be eligible for Green Pathway processing notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary in Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Commission). 

B. RFD Submittal. A property owner or the owner’s authorized agent shall request the 

Landmarks Preservation Commission (LPC) to determine whether the subject property, as well 

as each adjacent property, is an historical resource under the California Code of Regulations 

Title 14, Section 15064.5, by submitting a RFD. Potential historical resources include, but are 

not limited to, properties identified in any of the following sources: 

1. Downtown Plan and EIR (Adopted 1990). 

2. State Historic Preservation Office California Historical Resources Information System 

Historical Resources Inventory for Alameda County, City of Berkeley (Most Recent). 

3. Any site identified as a potential resource needing further evaluation in the Downtown Area 

Plan Historic Resource Evaluation (Architectural Resource Group, 5 November 2008). 

C. Processing an RFD. 

1. The City shall not accept an RFD unless it is accompanied by proof that the applicant has 

posted a conspicuous notice on the subject property in a location that is readily visible from 

the street on which the structure or site has its major frontage. Such notice shall be in a form 

specified by the Zoning Officer. 

2. Upon receiving a RFD, the City shall contract with an independent consultant from a list of 

qualified consultants approved by the LPC to prepare an historic resource assessment. The 

costs of the assessment shall be borne by the applicant. Alternatively, the applicant for a 

RFD may submit its own historic resource assessment, which shall then be subject to peer 

review by the City’s consultant at the applicant’s expense. If a property that is the subject of 

the RFD is not identified on any of the lists in Subsection B (RFD Submittal) above, the 

applicant’s assessment may consist of a statement of why the applicant believes the property 

does not include an historical resource. 

3. A RFD shall be deemed complete upon completion of the City consultants’ historic resource 

assessment or peer review that determines that the applicant’s submitted historic resource 

assessment is complete and accurate. 

4. The LPC shall begin its consideration of whether to designate a property that is the subject 

of a RFD at a public hearing at the first regular meeting that occurs no less than 21 days 

 
3 Source: 23B.34.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 408 of 511



CHAPTER 23.408 – GREEN PATHWAY  SECTION  23.408.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 408-3 

after the RFD is complete, and shall take final action no later than 90 days after it is 

complete. Notice of the public hearing shall be provided as set forth in Municipal Code 

Section 3.24.140 (Designation proposal--Public hearing notice requirements). 

D. Timeline Extensions; Failure to Act. Any of the timelines specified in this section may be 

extended at the written request of the applicant. Failure to act within any of the timelines set 

forth in this section, as they may be extended, shall constitute a decision to take no action to 

designate. 

E. When Chapter 3.24 Applies. If a property that is the subject of a RFD is not designated within 

the time limitations set forth in this section, Municipal Code Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks 

Preservation Commission) shall not apply to that property unless and until the earliest of the 

following occurs: 

1. The expiration of two years from the date of any final action not to designate the property; 

or 

2. If an application under this chapter is submitted within that period, then either: 

a. The application is withdrawn or denied; or 

b. Any entitlement approved for the property expires, is cancelled or revoked, or for any 

other reason ceases to have effect. 

F. Appeal and Certification. Decisions by the LPC under this section shall be subject to appeal as 

set forth in Section 3.24.300 (Appeals--Procedures required--City Council authority), and 

certification as set forth in Section 3.24.190 (Council certification authorized when—Effect). 

G. Effect of Determination If a subject property is determined to be an historical resource as 

defined by California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Section 15064.5, it shall not be processed as 

a Green Pathway Project under this chapter.  

23.408.040 – GREEN PATHWAY APPLICATION4 
A. Voluntary Option. The Green Pathway authorized by this chapter is a voluntary development 

option under which applicants for development projects in the C-DMU district may waive 

certain rights and agree to certain obligations the City could not otherwise impose in return for 

certain processing benefits. 

B. Application Contents. An application for processing using the Green Pathway shall include the 

information otherwise required by the Zoning Ordinance for the entitlement sought, as well as: 

1. The applicant’s commitment to enter into binding agreements to satisfy all applicable Green 

Pathway requirements if the application is approved; and 

 
4 Source: 23B.34.040 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 409 of 511



SECTION  23.408.050   CHAPTER 23.408 – GREEN PATHWAY 

PAGE 408-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Proof that the LPC has not taken any action under Section 23.408.030 (Eligibility 

Determination) to designate the subject property as a structure of merit or landmark under 

Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Commission). 

C. Additive Requirements. Except as expressly specified in this chapter, the requirements of this 

chapter are in addition to, and do not alter or replace any other requirements or standards of the 

Zoning Ordinance and Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Commission).  

23.408.050 –  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS5 
All Green Pathway projects are subject to the following requirements. 

A. Affordable Units. 

1. In addition to any other applicable affordable housing mitigation fee or requirement, at least 

20 percent of the total units in a proposed multi-unit rental development shall be rented to 

very low income households whose annual income does not exceed 50 percent of the annual 

median income for Alameda County adjusted for household size based upon income levels 

published by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

2. Rents for these units shall be set at prices affordable to very low income households, as 

defined by Section 50053 of the California Health and Safety Code for the life of the project. 

3. As an alternative, an applicant may pay an in-lieu fee to the Housing Trust Fund as 

established by the City Council. 

B. Density Bonus. The applicant shall waive, in writing, any rights under State Density Bonus 

Law, Section 65915 of California Government Code. 

C. Local Hire Requirement. 

1. The applicant shall sign an agreement that no less than 30 percent of a project’s construction 

workers will be Berkeley residents. 

2. If insufficient Berkeley residents are available to fulfill the 30 percent local hire requirement, 

then the next tier of residents shall come from the East Bay Green Corridor (which includes 

the cities of Albany, Alameda, Berkeley, El Cerrito, Emeryville, Hayward, Richmond, 

Oakland, and San Leandro). 

3. If insufficient residents are available from the Green Corridor to fulfill the 30 percent local 

hire requirement, then residents of Alameda County will be used to fulfill the local hire 

requirements. 

4. An applicant who agrees to require employment of Berkeley residents on another project the 

applicant is building or has approval to construct in Berkeley may count such employment 

 
5 Source: 23B.34.050 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 410 of 511



CHAPTER 23.408 – GREEN PATHWAY  SECTION  23.408.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 408-5 

toward the 30 percent local hire requirement by providing the same documentation the City 

requires to demonstrate compliance with paragraphs 1 and 2 of this subsection. 

D. Use Regulations. Uses shall comply with the requirements and limitations of Section 

23.204.130 (C-DMU Downtown Mixed-Use District).  

23.408.060 – REQUIREMENTS FOR LARGE BUILDINGS AND HOTELS6 
In addition to the requirements of Section 23.408.050 (General Requirements), a Green Pathway 

project that includes either a hotel, a building over 75 feet in height, or a building with more than 

100 units of housing, are subject to the following requirements. 

A. Prevailing Wage. 

1. All construction workers shall be paid state prevailing wage as established by the California 

Department of Industrial Relations. 

2. Employees in hotels with a height over 75 feet shall be paid prevailing wages as established 

by the Department of Industrial Relations for hotel employees. If the Department of 

Industrial Relations does not establish prevailing wages for hotel employees, such employees 

shall be paid wages consistent with area mean wages per occupational category. 

B. State Certified Apprenticeship Program. To the extent that a sufficient number of qualified 

apprentices are reasonably available, no less than 16 percent of the construction workers shall be 

apprentices from a State Certified Apprenticeship program with a record of graduating 

apprentices. 

C. Requirements Binding to Future Owners. As a condition of approval for any Green Pathway 

project subject to the requirements of this section, the owner shall enter into a written 

agreement that shall be binding on all successors in interest.  

23.408.070 – DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS7  
Green Pathway projects shall comply with the applicable development standards in Section 

23.204.140 (C-DMU Downtown Mixed-Use District) and the following additional requirements. 

A. Building Setbacks Within View Corridors. To minimize interference with significant views, 

buildings that are 75 feet in height or less that are located on a corner lot at any intersection with 

University Avenue, Center Street, or Shattuck Avenue must include upper story setbacks as 

follows: any portion of a building between 45 feet and 75 feet must be set back from property 

lines abutting the street by at least 1 foot for every one 1 foot by which the height exceeds 45 

feet. 

 
6 Source: 23B.34.060 
7 Source: 23B.34.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 411 of 511



SECTION  23.408.070   CHAPTER 23.408 – GREEN PATHWAY 

PAGE 408-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Street Wall Facade. Notwithstanding the Downtown Design Guidelines, the street wall facade 

shall be architecturally modulated by volumes that are 50 feet in width or less. 

1. Smaller modulations may be incorporated within larger volumes. 

2. Volumes along the street wall must be defined by structural bays and/or substantial reveals 

or offsets in the wall plane, and by changes in the rhythmic pattern of one or more of the 

following features: 

a. Window openings, oriel windows, or balconies. 

b. Awnings, canopies, or entrances. 

c. Arcades, columns, or pilasters. 

d. Materials and color. 

e. Other architectural features. 

C. Shadow Analysis. A shadow analysis is required for buildings with heights between 60 and 75 

feet. Applications shall include diagrams showing: 

1. The extent of shading on public sidewalks and open spaces by a building 60 feet in height 

that complies with all applicable setback requirements on an area within a radius of 75 feet 

of the closest building wall that would be cast on March 21, June 21, December 21, and 

September 21 at the following times of day: 

a. Two hours after sunrise;  

b. 12 p.m. noon; and 

c.  Two hours before sunset. 

2. Features incorporated into the building design, including, but not limited to, additional upper 

floor setbacks that will reduce the extent of shadowing of the proposed building to no more 

than 75 percent of the shadowing projected in previous Paragraph (1). 

D. Height Restrictions. Consistent with the height standards of Measure R (adopted November 

2, 2010), Section 4.B., as required by Section 3, Paragraph 12, Green Pathway Buildings of 

exceptional height are restricted as follows: 

1. Two mixed-use buildings and one hotel/conference center in the Core, no more than 180 

feet in height. 

2. Two buildings, up to 120 feet in height in the Core or Outer Core. 

E. Mitigation Measures. To ensure that potential environmental impacts are mitigated to less 

than significant levels, projects under this chapter are subject to applicable measures identified in 

the adopted Mitigation Monitoring Program of the Downtown Area Plan Final EIR.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 412 of 511



CHAPTER 23.408 – GREEN PATHWAY  SECTION  23.408.080  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 408-7 

23.408.080 – STREAMLINED PERMITTING PROCESS8  
A. Projects Involving Only Buildings at or Below 75 Feet in Height. 

1. Projects Allowed By-Right. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Zoning 

Ordinance, Green Pathway projects that do not involve either hotels, buildings over 75 feet, 

or buildings with more than 100 units of housing, shall be approved as a matter of right with 

a Zoning Certificate if they comply with the applicable zoning requirements, standards, and 

requirements in this chapter and the Downtown Design Guidelines. Such projects are 

subject to Design Review under Section 23.406.070 (Design Review). 

2. Historic Resource. If a proposed Green Pathway project is adjacent to a property that has 

been determined to be an historic resource under Section 23.408.030 (Eligibility 

Determination), the application for a Green Pathway project shall include an analysis 

demonstrating how the project meets the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the 

Treatment of Historic Properties, including guidelines for the treatment of cultural 

landscapes with respect to such adjacent property. 

a. After determining that the application is complete, the Zoning Officer shall forward the 

analyses described in Subsections A and B of Section 23B.34.030 (Eligibility 

Determination) to the Secretary of the LPC to place on the agenda for the next regular 

meeting of the LPC that occurs no less than 21 days thereafter. The LPC shall then have 

90 days in which to evaluate the submission and provide any comments to the Design 

Review Committee (DRC). 

b. The DRC shall determine whether a project conforms to the Secretary of the Interior’s 

Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties and the associated guidelines, 

including the standards and guidelines for the treatment of cultural landscapes, with 

respect to adjacent historical resources. A project that clearly conforms to those 

standards and guidelines shall be considered to not have a significant impact on the 

historical resource. If the DRC determines that the proposed project would have a 

significant adverse impact on any adjacent historical resource and the project is not 

modified to avoid that impact, it shall not be processed as a Green Pathway project. 

3. Downtown Design Guidelines. 

a. Notwithstanding Section 23.406.070 (Design Review), the DRC shall determine whether 

the project conforms to the Downtown Design Guidelines and shall take final action on 

the project no later than 90 days from the date the application for a Green Pathway 

project, including for Design Review, is complete. 

b. When determining whether a project subject to review under this section conforms to 

the Downtown Design Guidelines, the DRC shall treat applicable guidelines as 

standards. 

 
8 Source: 23B.34.080 & 090 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 413 of 511



SECTION  23.408.090   CHAPTER 23.408 – GREEN PATHWAY 

PAGE 408-8   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

c. The decision of the DRC regarding whether the project conforms to the Guidelines may 

be appealed directly to the City Council by filing an appeal stating the reasons for the 

appeal, along with the required fee, with the City Clerk within 14 days of the date of the 

DRC action. Design Review appeals shall be limited to design issues. 

B. Projects Involving Buildings Over 75 Feet in Height. 

1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Zoning Ordinance, the Zoning Adjustments 

Board (ZAB) shall take final action on a Green Pathway project over 75 feet in height or any 

other project not processed under previous Subsection (A) no later than 210 days after the 

application is complete, provided that this time limit shall be extended as necessary to 

comply with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

2. Such projects shall receive priority status in order to meet the review timeframes set forth in 

this section. 

23.408.090 – TOLLING9 
Timelines under this chapter shall be extended by the time taken for any proceedings pursuant to 

Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Commission) relating to a Green Pathway project. 

23.408.100 – COMPLIANCE10 
The applicable public benefit requirements of this chapter shall be included as conditions of 

approval and in a binding agreement for all Green Pathway projects. 

23.408.110 – CITY MANAGER AUTHORITY TO ISSUE REGULATIONS11 
The City Manager or his/her designee may promulgate rules and regulations pertaining to this 

chapter, including, but not limited to 

A. Setting and administering gross rents and sale prices for below-market-rate units; and 

B. Specifying and requiring guarantees, including recorded agreements and other appropriate 

measures necessary or convenient to assure that required below-market-rate units are provided 

to and occupied by very low income households, and that other public benefits set forth in this 

chapter are secured. 

  

 
9 Source: 23B.34.100 
10 Source: 23B.34.110 
11 Source: 23B.34.120 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 414 of 511



 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 410-1 

    

APPEALS AND CERTIFICATIONS 
Sections: 

23.410.010 – Chapter Purpose 

23.410.020 – Appeal Subjects and Jurisdiction 

23.410.030 – Filing and Processing of Appeals 

23.410.040 – Hearing and Decision 

23.410.050 – City Council Certifications 

  

Commentary: This chapter consolidates appeal provisions for AUPs and Use Permits found in 23B.28.060 and 

23B.32.050-090 and clarifies procedures that apply to all types of appeals.  

23.410.010 – CHAPTER PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes procedures for the appeal and certification of City actions made when 

administering the Zoning Ordinance.   

23.410.020 – APPEAL SUBJECTS AND JURISDICTION 
A. General. City actions made when administering the Zoning Ordinance may be appealed as 

shown in Table 23.410.020-1.2 

B. Code Enforcement Appeals. See Municipal Code Chapter 1.24 (Abatement of Nuisances).3 

C. Landmarks Preservation Commission Appeals. Decisions by the Landmarks Preservation 

Commission (LPC) when administering the Zoning Ordinance shall be appealed in accordance 

with Municipal Code Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Commission).4 

 
1 New chapter purpose statement.  
2 New table summarizing appeal subjects and jurisdiction. Source of table contents and clarifications noted in table.   
3 Source: 23B.60.070.A and 23B.64.070.A. Removes details that are addressed in Chapter 1.24.  
4 New. Clarifies where procedures for LPC appeals are found.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 415 of 511



SECTION  23.410.020   CHAPTER 23.404 – APPEALS AND CERTIFICATIONS 

 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 410-2 

TABLE 23.410.020-1: APPEAL SUBJECTS AND REVIEW AUTHORITY5 

ACTION 
ORDINANCE 

SECTION 
MAY BE APPEALED BY IS APPEALED TO MUST BE FILED WITHIN 

Zoning Officer Actions 

AUP decisions 23.406.030 Any person ZAB 
20 days of posting Notice of 

Administrative Decision [1] 

Staff-level Design Review 23.406.070 Any person ZAB 
14 days of posting the Notice of 

Design Review 

Zoning Officer Reasonable 

Accommodation decisions [2] 6 
23.406.090 Applicant ZAB 14 days of mailing notice of decision 

Termination of an AUP for sidewalk 

cafe seating 
23.302.060 Permit holder City Manager [3] 

14 days of mailing of termination 

notice 

Determination of lapsed permit 23.404.080 Permit holder ZAB 
20 days of mailing determination 

notice 

Design Review Committee Actions 

Any Design Review action7 23.406.070 Any person ZAB [4] 14 days of Committee action 

Zoning Adjustments Board Actions 

Use Permit decisions 23.406.040 Any person City Council 14 days of mailing Notice of Decision 

Variance decisions 23.406.050 Any person City Council 14 days of mailing Notice of Decision 

Decisions on an appeal8 23.410 Any person City Council 14 days of mailing Notice of Decision 

Notes: 
[1] The Zoning Officer may extend the appeal period for a longer time. 
[2] For reasonable accommodation requests associated with a project requiring a discretionary permit (e.g., Use Permit), the appeal procedures are the same as for the discretionary permit. 

[3] The City Manager’s decision is final. No further appeal is allowed.  
[4] Determinations of conformity with Downtown Design Guidelines for Streamlined Entitlement Process (Section 23.408.090.C) is appealed directly to the City Council.9 

 
5 Source: 23B.28.040.A; 23B.28.060.A; 23B.52.050; 23E.12.060.B; 23E.24.020.B; 23B.56.100.D; 23E.12.050.C; 23B.32.050; 23B.44.040; 23B.28.060 
6 Modifies 23B.52.050. Clarifies different process for ministerial decisions on reasonable accommodation requests vs requests attached to a planning permit. For 
staff-level decisions, clarifies who may file appeal, appeal body, and appeal period. 
7 Clarifies any “design review” action may be appealed, to distinguish from determinations of conformity with Downtown Design Guidelines which are subject to 
a different process.  
8 Clarifies all ZAB decisions may be appealed, not just AUPs. 
9 Source: 23B.34.080.C.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 416 of 511



CHAPTER 23.404 – APPEALS AND CERTIFICATIONS  SECTION  23.410.030  

 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 410-3 

23.410.030 – FILING AND PROCESSING OF APPEALS 

A. General.10 Appeals shall be filed and processed consistent with Chapter 23.404 (Common Permit 

Requirements) except as otherwise specified in this chapter.  

B. Eligibility and Timing of Appeal. Table 23.410.020-1 shows who is eligible to file an appeal 

and the date by which an appeal must be filed. 

C. Appeal Fees. 

1. Appeal fees shall be paid by the person filing the appeal (the appellant) except as provided 

in Paragraph (2) below.11 

2. The City shall not charge a fee for appeals of projects denied due to conflicting decisions of 

the ZAB and Landmarks Preservation Commission as described in Sections 3.24.200 

through 3.24.240 of Chapter 3.24 (Landmarks Preservation Commission).12 

D. Form of Appeal.13 

1. An appeal shall be submitted to the Department or City Clerk in writing together with all 

required application fees and shall include the name and contact information of the appellant. 

2. The appeal application shall state the pertinent facts and the basis for the appeal.   

3. The whole decision or part of the decision may be appealed. If an appellant chooses, an 

individual finding, action, or condition may be appealed. 

E. Appeal Subject – Design Review. Appeals of the Design Review Commission and staff-level 

Design Review decisions are limited to design-related issues.14 

F. Takings Claims.15 

1. If a basis of an appeal is that the review authority’s action constituted a taking of property 

under the California or United States Constitutions, that basis and all supporting evidence 

and argument shall be clearly stated as a basis of the appeal, or it shall be waived. 

2. If specific evidence is not presented as part of the appeal, the takings claim shall be waived, 

and appellant shall be deemed to have waived any claim to sworn testimony and cross-

examination. 

3. This requirement shall apply to appeals on the basis that the review authority’s decision or 

any condition of approval: 

a. Denied the applicant any reasonable economic use of the subject property; 

 
10 New. Clarifies existing appeal submittal and review procedures.  
11 Consolidates scattered content. Clarifies that fee requirement applies to all appeals. 
12 Source: 23B.32.050.E 
13 Source: 23B.28.060.A; 23B.32.050.C. Clarifies that the whole or part of a decision may be appealed.  
14 Source: 23.34.080, 23E.12.050, 23E.12.0560 
15 Source: 23B.32.050. Clarifies this applies to all appeals. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 417 of 511



SECTION  23.410.040   CHAPTER 23.410 – APPEALS AND CERTIFICATIONS 

PAGE 410-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

b. Was not sufficiently related to a legitimate public purpose; 

c. Was not sufficiently proportional to any impact of the project; or 

d. For any other reason constituted a taking of property for public use without just 

compensation. 

G. Copy to Zoning Officer.16 If the appeal is submitted to the City Clerk, the City Clerk shall 

forward a copy to the Zoning Officer.  

H. Notice to Applicant. If the appeal is made by someone other than the applicant, the Department 

shall forward a copy of the written appeal to the applicant.17 

I. Effect of Appeal. Once an appeal is filed, any action on the associated project is suspended until 

the appeal is processed and a final decision is made by the review authority.18 

23.410.040 – HEARING AND DECISION 

A. Scheduling of Hearing. 

1. Upon receiving an appeal, the Department shall schedule a hearing with the appropriate 

review authority.19  

2. For appeals of projects denied due to conflicting decisions of the ZAB and Landmarks 

Preservation Commission, the City Council shall schedule a hearing at the earliest feasible 

date after the final ZAB or Landmarks Preservation Commission action.20 

3. Any appeal of a Design Review decision shall be heard by the review body within 45 days of 

the appeal filing.21 

4. All appeals on a single project shall be considered together at the same hearing.22 

B. Public Notice. Notice of appeal hearings shall be given in accordance with Section 23.404.040 

(Public Notice).23 

C. Staff Report and Materials. Before the hearing, Department staff shall prepare a staff report 

describing the appeal with relevant supporting materials. 24 

D. Hearing Procedures.25 Public hearings on an appeal shall be conducted in accordance with 

applicable procedures in Section 23.404.040 (Public Notice). 

 
16 Source: 23B.32.050.D 
17 Source: 23B.32.050.D. Clarifies that applicant notification is for all appeals, not just Use Permits 
18 Source: 23B.28.060.B. Clarifies effect for all appeals, not just Administrative Use Permits. 
19 Source: 23B.28.060.B; 23B.32.060. Clarifies this applies to all appeals. 
20 Source: 23B.32.050.E 
21 Source: 23E.12.050.C; 23E.12.060.B. 
22 New. Reflects existing Department procedures 
23 Source: 23B.28.060.C.1 
24 Source: 23B.32.060.B. Replaces existing detail with term “administrative record.” 
25 Source: 23B.32.060.C 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 418 of 511



CHAPTER 23.410 – APPEALS AND CERTIFICATIONS  SECTION  23.410.040  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 410-5 

E. De Novo Review. 26  

1. The review authority may take action on the subject of the appeal or any aspect of the 

appealed project (de novo review), except as provided in Paragraph (2) below. 

2. For appeals of Design Review decisions, the review authority may take action only on design-

related issues. 

F. Public Comment.27  The review authority may consider written correspondence concerning 

the appeal that is submitted after the appeal is filed, as well as any other information or evidence 

permitted under the Council Rules of Procedure. 

G. Action.28  At the appeal hearing, the review authority may: 

1. Continue the public hearing; 

2. Modify, reverse, or affirm, wholly or partly, any decision, determination, condition or 

requirement of the prior review authority; or 

3. For appeals to the City Council, remand the matter to the prior review authority to reconsider 

the application, and/or any revisions to the application submitted after the review authority’s 

action. 

H. Criteria for Decision. 29 

1. When acting on an appeal, the appeal review authority shall use the same decision-making 

criteria and shall make the same findings as the prior review authority.30 

2. The review authority’s action shall be based upon findings of fact about the appeal and shall 

identify the reasons for action on the appeal. In doing so, the appeal review authority may 

adopt the prior review authority’s decision and findings as its own.  

I. Timeframe for Action – Use Permit and Variance Appeals. If the City Council does not act 

on a Use Permit or Variance appeal within 30 days from the date the public hearing was closed 

by the City Council, then the decision of the ZAB shall be deemed affirmed and the appeal 

denied.31 

J. Board Action on Remand.32 

1. A ZAB decision on an appeal remanded by the City Council may be appealed in the normal 

manner unless otherwise directed by the City Council. 

 
26 Source: 23B.32.060.D.2 Clarifies that de novo review applies to all appeals except for Design Review appeals. 
27 Source: 23B.28.060.D. Clarifies this applies to all appeals.  
28 Source: 23B.32.060.D. CONSENT CHANGE. Removes reference to possible reconsideration of application without 
a public hearing.  
29 Source: 23B.04.020.C; 23B.32.060.F. Clarifies these instructions apply to all appeals, not just Use Permits. 
30 23B.04.020.C 
31 Source: 23B.32.060.G 
32 Source: 23B.32.070 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 419 of 511



SECTION  23.410.050   CHAPTER 23.410 – APPEALS AND CERTIFICATIONS 

PAGE 410-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. If the ZAB does not act within 90 days after an appeal is remanded by the City Council, the 

original appeal of the ZAB’s decision shall be placed back on the City Council agenda in the 

same manner as a new appeal. 

K. Effective Date of Appeal Decisions. 

1. City Council Decision.33 The City Council’s decision on an appeal is final and becomes 

effective on the date the decision is made. 

2. ZAB Decisions.34 Decisions on appeals made by the ZAB becomes effective 14 days after 

the mailing of the Notice of Decision. 

23.410.050 – CITY COUNCIL CERTIFICATIONS 
A. Purpose.35 Certification is an action by the City Council to review a decision by the ZAB or 

LPC. 

B. Eligible Actions.36 The City Council may certify the following actions for review: 

1. Decisions of the ZAB on Use Permit and Variance applications. 

Decisions of the LPC on historic resource designations as provided in Section 3.24.190 

(Council certification authorized when—effect).  

C. Initiation.37 

1. Any Council member may initiate the certification process by submitting a written request to 

the City Clerk within: 

a. 14 days from the mailing of the Notice of Decision for ZAB decisions; and 

b. 15 days from the mailing of the Notice of Decision for LPC decisions. 

2. Certification shall not require any statement of reasons or justification and shall not 

represent opposition to or support of an application. 

D. Effect of Certification.38 After initiating certification, any action on the associated project is 

suspended until City Council review is completed. 

E. Hearing and Decision. 39 Certified actions shall be reviewed by the City Council at a noticed 

public hearing in the same manner as for appeals as described in Section 23.410.040 (Hearing 

and Decision).  

 
33 Source: 23B.32.060.H 
34 New. Clarifies 14-day appeal period applies to ZAB decisions on appeals.  
35 New purpose statement. 
36 Source: 23B.32.080; 23B.44.040; 23B.34.030.D 
37 Source: 23B.32.080; 3.24.190 
38 Source: 23B.32.080 
39 Source: 23B.32.080 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 420 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 412-1 

    

ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 
Sections: 

23.412.010 – Purpose 

23.412.020 – Initiation 

23.412.030 – Application 

23.412.040 – Planning Commission Hearing and Action 

23.412.050 – City Council Hearing and Action 

23.412.060 – Findings for Approval 

23.412.070 – Limitations on Resubmittals after Denial 

23.412.080 – Zoning Map Amendment Notations 

  

Commentary: Existing Chapter 23A.20 (Zoning Ordinance Amendments) contains numerous requirements that 

conflict with state law and current City practice. These requirements have been changed and noted as Consent Changes.   

23.412.010 – PURPOSE1 
This chapter establishes procedures for amending the Zoning Ordinance, including the Zoning Map 

and Zoning Ordinance text. All amendments to the Zoning Ordinance shall be processed as set 

forth in Government Code Section 65853 et seq. and as specified in this chapter.  

23.412.020 – INITIATION2 
A. Zoning Map Amendment.3 A Zoning Map amendment may be initiated by:  

1. Resolution of the City Council or Planning Commission; or 

2. Application of one or more owners of the property for which the amendment is sought. 

B. Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment.4 A Zoning Ordinance text amendment may be initiated 

by resolution of the City Council or Planning Commission. 

  

 
1 Source: 23A.20.010, first sentence. Reference to Government Code is new. 
2 CONSENT CHANGE: Deletes 23A.20.020.C which allowed for amendments initiated without a public hearing. This 
is not permitted under state law. 
3 Source: 23A.20.020.B. Removes detail on contents of resolution and requires property owner to initiate applicant-
initiated map amendment. 
4 Source: 23A.20.020.A. Removes detail on contents of resolution. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 421 of 511



SECTION  23.412.030   CHAPTER 23.412 – ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 

PAGE 412-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

23.412.030 – APPLICATION5 
An application for a Zoning Map amendment submitted by a property owner shall be filed and 

reviewed in compliance with Section 23.404.020 (Application Submittal). The application shall 

include the information and materials required by the Planning and Development Department, 

together with all required application fees.  

23.412.040 – PLANNING COMMISSION HEARING AND ACTION6 
A. Public Hearing.7 The Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing on a proposed Zoning 

Ordinance Amendment in compliance with Section 23.404.040 (Public Notice). 

B. Planning Commission Recommendation. 

1. The Planning Commission may recommend that the City Council approve, conditionally 

approve, or deny the proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendment based upon the findings 

specified in Section 23.412.060 (Findings for Approval). 

2. A recommendation for approval shall be made by a majority vote of the total membership of 

the Planning Commission. 

3. If the Planning Commission recommends denial of a Zoning Map amendment, the City 

Council is not required to take further action on the proposed amendment unless the City 

receives a written request from an interested party for a City Council hearing within ten days 

after the Planning Commission action. 

C. Recommendation Expiration.8 

1. A Planning Commission recommendation shall expire and have no further effect if the City 

Council takes no action on a proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendment within six months 

after the date the Planning Commission approved the recommendation. 

2. The City Council may extend the effective period of a Planning Commission 

recommendation for up to an additional 18 months. 

  

 
5 Re-writes second sentence of 23A.20.020.B.2 for clarity. Clarifies that application requirements apply only to 
applications submitted by property owner, not City-initiated amendments. 
6 Replaces 23A.20.030 &040 to follow Government Code Section 65853 et seq. Moves noting requirements to public 
notices section. Clarifies 23A.20.030.D that public may provide comment on any amendment, not just map amendment. 
Replaces public hearing procedures with general reference to procedures that apply generally to all public hearings. 
Removes reference to “filed investigations” in 23A.20.030.E. Adds detail on different procedures for recommendations 
of approval vs. denial. Clarifies the Planning Commission makes recommendation to Council and does not take final 
action on amendments.  
7 CONSENT CHANGE: Removes requirement in 23A.20.030.A to hold Planning Commission hearing within 30 days 
of initiation. This is not required by state law and infeasible in most circumstances.  
8 Source: 23A.20.050.A. CONSENT CHANGE: Deletes 23A.20.050.B, which states uses or structures not yet 
established must conform to Planning Commission recommendation before Council approval. This conflicts with state 
law. Amendments become effective only after Council adoption.   

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 422 of 511



CHAPTER 23.412 – ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS  SECTION  23.412.050  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 412-3 

23.412.050 – CITY COUNCIL HEARING AND ACTION 
A. Public Hearing.9 After receiving the Planning Commission’s recommendation, the City 

Council shall hold a public hearing on the proposed Zoning Ordinance Amendment in 

compliance with Section 23.404.050 (Public Hearings and Decisions). 

B. Council Action.10 

1. General.  

a. The City Council may approve, conditionally approve, or deny the proposed Zoning 

Ordinance Amendment based upon the findings specified in Section 23.412.060 

(Findings for Approval). 

b. The action by the City Council shall be made by a majority vote of the total membership 

of the City Council. 

2. Referral to Planning Commission. 

a. If the City Council proposes to adopt a substantial modification to the Zoning 

Ordinance Amendment not previously considered by the Planning Commission, the 

proposed modification shall be first referred to the Planning Commission for its 

recommendation. 

b. The failure of the Planning Commission to report back to the City Council within 40 

days after the reference, or within the time set by the City Council, shall be deemed a 

recommendation of approval.  

C. Effective Date.11 Zoning Ordinance Amendments become effective 30 days after the adoption 

of the ordinance by the City Council. 

23.412.060 – FINDINGS FOR APPROVAL12 
The City Council may approve a Zoning Ordinance Amendment only if all of the following findings 

are made:  

  

 
9 Source: 23A.20.060. Moves noticing requirements to public notice section. Clarifies 23A.20.060.C that public may 
provide comment on any amendment, not just map amendment. Replaces public hearing procedures with general 
reference to procedures that apply generally to all public hearings. CONSENT CHANGE: Removes from 23A.20.040 
requiring the Planning Commission recommendation to be forwarded to the Council within 30 days and consideration 
by Council within 60 days for Commission decision. This is not required by State law and infeasible in certain 
circumstances. CONSENT CHANGE: Removes from 23A.20.060.A&B option for Council to act on amendment 
without a public hearing. This conflicts with state law. 
10 Source: 23A.20.060. Clarifies that action requires majority vote of full Council. Adds referrals to Planning Commission 
as required by state law. 
11 CONSENT CHANGE: Removes from 23A.20.070 language about “more restrictive” amendments going into 
effective immediately upon adoption of ordinance. This conflicts with state law.  
12 New. CONSENT CHANGE: Required by state law. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 423 of 511



SECTION  23.412.070   CHAPTER 23.412 – ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 

PAGE 412-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

A. Findings for all Zoning Ordinance Amendments. 

1. The proposed amendment is consistent with the General Plan and any applicable specific 

plan or area plan. 

2. The proposed amendment is consistent with state law. 

3. The proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, 

convenience, or welfare. 

B. Additional Finding for Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments. The proposed amendment is 

internally consistent with other applicable provisions of the Zoning Ordinance. 

C. Additional Finding for Zoning Map Amendments. The affected site is physically suitable in 

terms of design, location, shape, size, and other characteristics to ensure that the permitted land 

uses and development will comply with the Zoning Ordinance and General Plan and contribute 

to the health, safety, and welfare of the property, surrounding properties, and the community at 

large. 

23.412.070 – LIMITATIONS ON RESUBMITTALS AFTER DENIAL13 
A. One-Year Prohibition. If the City denies a Zoning Map Amendment, the City may not accept a 

resubmitted application for the same or substantially similar Zoning Map Amendment within 

one year from the date of denial, unless: 

1. The original application is denied without prejudice; or 

2. The City Council allows resubmittal within six-months of denial as allowed by Subsection B 

(Six-Month Exception) below. 

B. Six-Month Exception. 

1. The City Council may allow a resubmitted application within six months from the date of 

denial if the Council finds that: 

a. Changed circumstances in relation to the property warrant early resubmittal, and  

b. Any property owner objections to the original application have been withdrawn. 

2. The burden rests with the applicant to submit evidence and demonstrate that the findings in 

Paragraph B.1 above can be made. 

23.412.080 – ZONING MAP AMENDMENT NOTATIONS14 
All adopted amendments to the Zoning Map shall be noted on the map with the date and number of 

the amending ordinance. 

 
13 Source: 23A.20.080. CONSENT CHANGE: resubmittals allowed if denied without prejudice.  
14 Source: 23A.20.010. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 424 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE | JANUARY 2018 DRAFT PAGE 414-1 

    

NUISANCE ABATEMENT 
Sections: 

23.414.010 – Purpose 

23.414.020 – Enforcement Responsibility 

23.414.030 – Violations a Misdemeanor 

23.414.040 – Nuisances Prohibited 

23.414.050 – City Attorney Action 

23.414.060 – Abatement Procedures 

23.414.070 – Statements of Violations 

23.414.080 – Remedies 

23.414.090 – Recovery of Costs 

23.414.100 – Private Right of Action 

  

Commentary:  This chapter merges existing chapters 23B.64 and 23B.68 with minor reorganization and stylistic 

edits. 

23.414.010 – PURPOSE1 
This chapter establish procedures to abate public nuisances associated with land uses, structures, and 

events as regulated by the Zoning Ordinance. These procedures supplement generally applicable 

code enforcement provisions in Municipal Code Title 1 (General Provisions).  

23.414.020 – ENFORCEMENT RESPONSIBILITY2 
The City Manager, or his or her designee, shall enforce the requirements of this chapter. 

23.414.030 – VIOLATIONS A MISDEMEANOR3 
Any violation of the Zoning Ordinance is a misdemeanor but may be cited or charged, at the City’s 

discretion, as an infraction. In all other respects, the provisions of Municipal Code Chapter 1.20 

(General Penalty) apply. 

23.414.040 – NUISANCES PROHIBITED 
A. Public Nuisance Prohibited.4 A land use, structure, or event shall not cause a public nuisance 

as defined in Subsection (B) below. 

 
1 New purpose statement 
2 Source: 23B.64.010.D. 
3 Source: 23B.64.010.F. 
4 Source: 23B.64.010A. 23B.64.010E moved to the Introductory Provisions chapter in Division I. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 425 of 511



SECTION  23.414.050   CHAPTER 23.414 – NUISANCE ABATEMENT 

PAGE 414-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

B. Public Nuisance Defined.5  A use, structure, or event that meets any of the following criteria 

is a public nuisance. 

1. Any of the following activities: disturbances of the peace, illegal drug activity including sales 

or possession thereof, public drunkenness, drinking in public, harassment of passers-by, 

gambling, prostitution, public vandalism, excessive littering, excessive noise (particularly 

between the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.), noxious smells or fumes, curfew violations, 

lewd conduct or police detention, citations or arrests, or any other activity declared by the 

City to be a public nuisance. 

2. A violation of any City, state, or federal ordinance, law, or regulation. 

3. A use or activity, other than one that takes place at a dwelling and is sponsored by a resident 

of that dwelling, that is conducted in a manner that results in a disturbance of any kind that 

requires six Berkeley Police Department patrol officers after 11:00 p.m. and before 2:00 a.m., 

or three Berkeley Police Department patrol officers at any other time, to quell such 

disturbance.  

23.414.050 – CITY ATTORNEY ACTION6 
A. Immediate Action. The City Attorney may take immediate action to abate, remove, and enjoin 

a public nuisance in the manner provided by law. 

B. Judicial Relief. To abate a public nuisance, the City Attorney may apply for relief from the 

courts to: 

1. Remove a use or structure; 

2. Prevent the establishment of a use or structure; 

3. Prevent the continued operation of a use or structure; or 

4. Prevent the removal or demolition of a structure. 

23.414.060 – ABATEMENT PROCEDURES 
A. Initiation.7 

1. Proceedings to abate a nuisance may be initiated by Zoning Officer, Zoning Adjustments 

Board (ZAB), or City Council referral. 

2. A nuisance abatement referral shall identify the subject property, the nature of the violation, 

and the reason for the proposed abatement. 

3. After receiving a nuisance abatement referral, the Zoning Officer shall schedule the matter 

for a public hearing. 

 
5 Source: 23B.64.020 
6 Source: 23B.64.010.B 
7 Source: 23B.64.030.A. Clarifies that the Zoning Officer schedules a public hearing for all referrals. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 426 of 511



CHAPTER 23.414 – NUISANCE ABATEMENT  SECTION  23.414.060  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 414-3 

B. ZAB Recommendation. 

1. Public Hearing.8 

a. The ZAB shall hold a public hearing on the proposed abatement in compliance with 

Section 23.404.050 (Public Hearing and Decision). 

b. The Department shall provide notice of the hearing to the property owner, property 

occupants, the person who requested proceedings under this chapter (if any), and any 

person who has filed written request of notice.  

2. Recommendation.9 

a. The ZAB shall recommend that the City Council determine whether a nuisance exists 

and, if so, the appropriate remedy. 

b. The ZAB recommendation shall be: 

i. Based on the evidence, testimony, and facts presented to the ZAB at the hearing; 

ii. Supported by written findings; and 

iii. Issued within 35 days after the conclusion of the hearing. 

3. Final Decision.10 A ZAB recommendation to abate a nuisance shall be deemed a final 

decision if the property owner consents to the recommendation within 10 days after the 

recommendation is made. In such a case, there shall be no City Council review and action on 

the matter. 

4. Report to City Clerk.11 The Department shall file the ZAB’s recommendation with the City 

Clerk within 14 days following the recommendation. The City Clerk shall present a ZAB 

recommendation to the City Council at soonest possible regular City Council meeting. 

C. City Council Action.12 

1. Public Hearing. The City Council shall hold a public hearing on the proposed abatement in 

compliance with Section 23.404.050 (Public Hearing and Decision). The hearing shall occur 

within: 

a. 60 days of the ZAB recommendation if the ZAB recommends abatement; and 

b. 30 days of the City Clerk report to the City Council of the ZAB decision. 

 
8 Source: 23B64.030.B&C 
9 Source: 23B64.040 
10 Source: 23B64.050.A 
11 Source: 23B64.050.B 
12 Source: 23B.64.050.B,C&D 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 427 of 511



SECTION  23.414.070   CHAPTER 23.414 – NUISANCE ABATEMENT 

PAGE 414-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

2. Decision. After hearing, the City Council may find that the use, structure, or event 

constitutes a public nuisance and may impose any remedy provided for in this chapter, or 

take no action. 

D. Notice of Decision.13 

1. If the City Council makes a nuisance determination, the City Clerk shall issue a Notice of 

Decision describing the City Council’ s action, with its findings. 

2. The City Clerk shall mail the notice to any permit holder, the property owner, the person 

who requested proceedings under this chapter (if any), and any person who requests such a 

notification. 

3. The City Clerk shall file a copy of the Notice of Decision with the Zoning Officer. 

23.414.070 – STATEMENTS OF VIOLATIONS14 
A. Statement Filed with County Recorder. 

1. If a person does not comply with an order of the Zoning Officer to correct a violation of 

this chapter within the specified time as provided in Chapter 1.24 (Abatement of Nuisances), 

the City may file a statement in the Office of the County Recorder that: 

a. Describes the property and nature of the violation; and 

b. Certifies that the property violates this chapter and that the owner has been so notified. 

2. The City shall record proof of service with the filed notice and order. 

B. Statement Filed after Correction. When a violation is corrected, the Zoning Officer shall file a 

new statement with the County Recorder certifying that the property is no longer in violation of 

this chapter. 

23.414.080 – REMEDIES15 
A. Potential Remedies. If the City makes a nuisance determination, the City may impose any of 

the following remedies:  

1. Enjoin the use in whole or in part. 

2. Impose reasonable conditions upon any continued operation of the use, including existing 

non-conforming uses. 

3. Require continued compliance with newly imposed any conditions.  

4. Require the permit holder to guarantee compliance with newly imposed conditions. 

 
13 Source: 23B.64.050.E 
14 Source: 23B.64.010.G 
15 Source:23B.64.060 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 428 of 511



CHAPTER 23.414 – NUISANCE ABATEMENT  SECTION  23.414.090  

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 414-5 

B. Administrative Penalty. In addition to or as an alternative to any other remedy, the City may 

impose an administrative penalty of up to $10,000 jointly and severally on persons responsible 

for the nuisance and/or the property owner. The City may also impose a condition that the 

property owners pay the costs of all City services (including but not limited to services for public 

safety and by the Department of Public Works) necessary to address continuing and unabated 

public nuisances once the City Council has determined that a public nuisance exists. 

C. Remedies Are Cumulative.16  The procedures and remedies in Subsections (A) and (B) above 

are cumulative and in addition to any other procedures and remedies to which the City may be 

entitled by law or equity. 

23.414.090 – RECOVERY OF COSTS17 
A. Abatement Proceedings. 

1. The City may recover the costs to administer abatement proceedings in accordance with 

Sections 1.24.140 through 1.24.210 of Municipal Code Chapter 1.24 (Abatement of 

Nuisances), except as provided in Sub-paragraph (2) below. 

2. The hearing provided by Section 1.24.180 shall be held by the City Manager or his/her 

designee and may be appealed to the City Council within ten days after a decision is mailed. 

The Council shall hold a hearing on appeals as specified in Section 1.24.180. 

B. Remedies.  

1. If the City imposes a remedy authorized in Section 23.414.080 (Remedies), the City may 

recover costs for time spent administering the remedy.  

2. Payment of City costs shall be a condition of continued operation of a use or structure 

subject to a remedy. 

3. Payments submitted under this Subsection B (Remedies) shall be deducted from any 

payments submitted under Subsection A (Abatement Proceedings) above. 

23.414.100 – PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION18 
A. General.  Any resident of the City may bring a private action in a court of law for injunctive and 

compensatory relief to prevent or remedy a public nuisance as defined in this chapter. 

B. Prior Notice Required.  No action may be brought under this section unless and until the 

prospective plaintiff has given the City and the prospective defendant at least 30 days written 

notice of the alleged public nuisance and the City has failed to initiate proceedings under this 

chapter within that period, or after initiation, has failed to diligently prosecute. 

 
16 Source: 23B64.010.C 
17 Source: 23B.64.070 
18 Source: 23B68 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 429 of 511



SECTION  23.414.100   CHAPTER 23.414 – NUISANCE ABATEMENT 

PAGE 414-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

C. Recovery of Costs.  In any action prosecuted under this section a prevailing plaintiff may 

recover reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 430 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  TOC-1 

DIVISION 5: 
GLOSSARY 

 

23.502: Glossary 

23.502.010 – Purpose 

23.502.020 – Defined Terms 

23.502.030 – Acronyms 

 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 431 of 511



TOC-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

This page is intentionally blank 

 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 432 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-1 

    

GLOSSARY 
Sections: 

23.502.010 – Purpose 

23.502.020 – Defined Terms 

23.502.030 – Acronyms 

 

Commentary: This chapter carries forward existing definitions in Title 23F. New definitions added are noted 

in footnotes.  

23.502.010 – PURPOSE1 
This chapter defines terms and phrases used in the Zoning Ordinance that are technical or 

specialized, or which may not reflect common usage. If any definitions in this chapter conflict with 

others in the Municipal Code, these definitions control in the Zoning Ordinance. If a word is not 

defined in the Zoning Ordinance, the Zoning Officer determines the appropriate definition. 

23.502.020 – DEFINED TERMS2 
A. “A” Terms. 

1. Abatement. City proceedings to terminate, modify, or condition an unlawful use or 

structure. 

2. Abutting Lot. See Lot, Abutting. 

3. Accessory Building: See Building, Accessory. 

4. Accessory Dwelling Unit. A secondary dwelling unit that is located on a lot which is 

occupied by one legally established single-family dwelling that conforms to the standards of 

Chapter 23.306. An accessory dwelling unit must comply with local building, housing, safety 

and other code requirements and provide the following features independent of the single-

family dwelling: 1) exterior access to accessory dwelling unit; 2) living and sleeping quarters; 

3) a full kitchen; and 4) a full bathroom. An accessory dwelling Unit also includes the 

following: 

a. An efficiency unit, as defined in Section 17958.1 of the Health and Safety Code. 

b. A manufactured home, as defined in Section 18007 of the Health and Safety Code. 

5. Accessory Structure: See Structure, Accessory. 

 
1 New purpose statement.  
2 All terms are unchanged from 23F.04 unless otherwise noted. New definitions are a CONSENT CHANGE. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 433 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-2   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

6. Accessory Use: See Use, Accessory. 

7. Addition. The creation of any new portion of a building which results in a vertical or 

horizontal extension of the building, or results in any new gross floor area that was not 

present in the building prior to construction of the addition. Includes the creation of a 

mezzanine or loft, or a conversion of a previously unused attic or underfloor space to usable 

floor area. 

8. Addition, Residential. The creation of any new portion of a main building which results in 

a vertical or horizontal extension of the building, or results in additional residential gross 

floor area to an existing main building, as long as such new gross floor area does not exceed 

15 percent of the lot area or 600 square feet, whichever is less. For purposes of this 

definition gross floor area does not include: 

a. Additions of gross floor area devoted to required off-street parking spaces, creation of 

mezzanines or lofts within the building’s shell;  

b. Making previously unusable attics into habitable floor area (except where new areas with 

vertical clearance of 6 feet or greater are created through expansions of the building 

shell); 

c. Excavations of earth within the existing building footprint (i.e. expansion of existing 

basements or new basements), or 

d. Replacement of existing floor area that was lawfully constructed and is located entirely 

within the addition’s shell. 

9. Addition, Major Residential. 

a. A residential addition greater than 15 percent of the lot area or 600 square feet. Floor 

area from all residential additions since October 31, 1991, with the exception of: 

i. Additions that are entirely subsumed within previously existing floor area; and  

ii. The floor area of subsequent stories where the addition does not exceed the district 

residential addition height limit, shall count towards the calculation of gross floor area 

for the purposes of this definition. 

b. Any new floor shall be treated as a new major residential addition for the purpose of 

permit processing, when the cumulative square footage exceeds 15 percent of the lot 

area or 600 square feet, whichever is less. 

10. Adult-oriented Businesses. Any business operated at a fixed location by whatever name, 

which appeals to prurient interests, sexual titillations, appetites, fantasies or curiosities. This 

use includes businesses which: 

a. Predominantly exhibit, offer for sale or engage in the sale or distribution of publications, 

personal services, films, videotapes, devices, products or materials, which appeal to a 

prurient interest or sexual appetite of the purchases or user; 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 434 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-3 

b. Engage in the showing of motion pictures or videotapes in which sexual activity, 

including, but not limited to, intercourse, sodomy, oral copulation, masturbation, 

bestiality or any other form of sexual gratification, is the primary and recurring theme; 

c. Engage in the presentation of live adult entertainment in which the actors or performers 

simulate or engage in sexual activity, including, but not limited to, intercourse, sodomy, 

oral copulation, masturbation, bestiality or suggestive body movements connoting such 

acts, with or without another actor, patron or spectator, such showing appealing to a 

prurient interest or sexual appetite of the spectator; 

d. Engage in massage service, except when rendered in conjunction with professional 

services provided by the following persons holding unrevoked licenses or certificates: 

i. Chiropractors governed under provisions of California State law; 

ii. Medical practitioners practicing under the provisions of the California State Medical 

Practice Act; 

iii. Physical therapists practicing under the provisions of the California Physical Therapy 

Practice Act; 

iv. Nurses practicing under the provisions of the California Nursing Practice Act or the 

California Vocational Nursing Practice Act; 

v. Psychologists practicing under the provisions of the California Psychology Licensing 

Law; 

vi. Osteopaths practicing under the provisions of the California Osteopathic Act; 

vii. Persons working under the direct and immediate supervision of any persons certified as 

set forth in Sections i-vi above. 

e. Provide dating or escort services; 

f. Specialize in providing models who pose for photographing, drawing or other 

representative renditions, which modeling appeals to a prurient interest or sexual 

appetite; 

g. Engage in encounter, rap or counseling services which appeal to a prurient interest or 

sexual appetite; 

h. Engage in providing nude, bottomless or topless dance partners; 

i. Use nude, bottomless or topless entertainers, or use nude, bottomless or topless 

employees to attend to or service tables, bars or patrons or which allow nude, bottomless 

or topless entertainers or employees to be seen by members of the public or patrons of 

the business; 

j. Engage in providing sauna baths, water baths, showers, steam rooms or steam baths or 

any other body cleansing or toning arrangement wherein an attendant, clothed or nude, 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 435 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-4   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

accompanies the customer for the purpose of talking, touching or appealing to the 

customer’s prurient interest or sexual appetite; or 

k. Engage in the reading of, or providing of tapes or records for listening to, erotic 

literature which appeals to the prurient interest or sexual fantasies of customers. 

11. Alcoholic Beverage Retail Sales. The retail sale of beverages containing alcohol for off-

site consumption subject to regulation by the State Department of Alcoholic Beverage 

Control (ABC) as an off-sale establishment. This use includes liquor stores and wine shops 

and sale of alcoholic beverages for off-site consumption at restaurants. 

12. Alcoholic Beverage Service. The retail sale of beverages containing alcohol for on-site 

consumption subject to regulation by the State Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control 

ABC as an on-sale establishment. 

13. Alley. A public right-of-way which affords only a secondary means of access for vehicles to 

any abutting property. 

14. Alteration: See Structural Alteration. 

15. Alternative Fuel Station. Any establishment that dispenses alternative fuel as defined by 

the Energy Policy Act of 2005. 

16. Amusement Device. Any machine or device which may be operated for use as a game, 

contest or amusement upon the insertion of a coin, slug, or token in any slot or receptacle 

attached or connected to such machine, and which does not contain a payoff device for the 

return of slugs, money, coins, checks, tokens or merchandise. 

17. Amusement Device Arcade. A type of commercial recreation center which contains six or 

more amusement devices. An amusement device arcade is a type of commercial recreation 

center irrespective of whether the amusement devices are the principal commercial activity 

of the establishment. 

18. Ancillary Use: See Use, Ancillary. 

19. Application. A written application for issuance of any permit.3 

20. Approval. Approval of any permit.4 

21. Appraiser, Certified. A person certified by the State of California Office of Real Estate 

Appraisers to estimate the value of a particular real property. 

22. Art/Craft Studio. An establishment engaged in the creation of art or crafts that requires 

artistic skill. Such an establishment may participate in periodic open studios, but otherwise is 

subject to the applicable zoning district’s requirements for incidental sales of goods made on 

site. Art/craft studios also include rehearsal spaces not designed for public performances. 

Examples of individuals typically engaged in this work include woodworkers, 

 
3 23A.08.010.B.3 
4 23A.08.010.B.4 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 436 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-5 

potters/ceramicists, costume makers, set designers, stained-glass makers, glassblowers, 

textile artists and weavers, jewelry makers, painters, fine art printmakers, 

photographers/filmmakers, leather workers, metal workers, musical instrument makers, 

model makers, papermakers, installation artists, sculptors, video artists, and other makers of 

art and crafts that the Zoning Officer determines to be consistent with this definition. The 

use of computers in an activity does not by itself preclude its classification as an art/craft 

studio. This use excludes architectural and landscape services, industrial or graphic design 

services, computer systems design services, and other commercial activities normally 

conducted in an office environment. 

23. Artist Studio. A detached accessory building, used by residents of a main dwelling unit on 

the same lot, to create original works of art and crafts products, but not for living quarters or 

sleeping purposes. 

24. Attic. The area located between the ceiling of the top story of a building and the building’s 

roof and not usable as habitable or commercial space. 

25. Automatic Teller Machine (ATM). An unstaffed machine which processes deposits, 

withdrawals and transfers of funds of customers of a bank, credit union, savings and loan 

association or other financial service or network. 

26. Automobile Use. Any commercial establishment which sells, rents, repairs, services, paints 

and/or conducts bodywork on automobiles, trucks or other motor driven vehicles 

(excepting motorcycles) on the premises. 

B. “B” Terms. 

1. Bakery. 

a. An establishment which engages primarily in the sale of breads or other baked goods, 

whether baked on-site or at another location. A bakery is not be considered a food 

service establishment if: 

i. No customer seating or other physical accommodations for on-site dining are 

provided; and 

ii. The breads and baked goods are not packaged for immediate consumption. 

b. Any establishment whose breads and baked goods are predominantly sold at retail from 

a different location or locations are deemed a wholesale and/or manufacturing use, 

subject to the regulations of the district in which it is located. 

2. Balcony. A horizontal platform extending from the exterior wall of a building, accessible 

from the building's interior, and not directly accessible from the ground. A balcony is 

typically not covered by a roof or building overhang or enclosed on more than two sides by 

walls. However, railings shall not be considered enclosures. 

3. Banks and Financial Services, Retail. An office, open to the public, offering teller or 

counter financial services including either cash, checking and/or savings account 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 437 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-6   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

transactions or some combination of these services. This use includes banks, savings and 

loans, and credit unions providing these services on site, and excludes non-chartered 

financial institutions. 

4. Bar/Cocktail Lounge/Tavern.5 A business devoted to serving alcoholic beverages for 

consumption by guests on the premises and in which the serving of food is only incidental 

to the consumption of such beverages. 

5. Basement. The lowest usable space of a building, between the floor and the ceiling, for 

non-habitable use such as, but not limited to, garage or storage use.  

6. Bay Window. A portion of a building cantilevered so as to project out from a wall and 

containing windows which cover at least 50 of the projection's surface.  

7. Bed and Breakfast Establishment (B&B). A single residential property containing no 

more than a total of three sleeping rooms or dwelling units that are offered for rent at any 

given time, which is the primary residence of the owner and in which rooms or units are 

rented out to persons who occupy them for periods not exceeding 14 days in any month.  

8. Bedroom.6 Any habitable space in a dwelling unit or habitable accessory structure other 

than a kitchen or living room that is intended for or capable of being used for sleeping with 

a door that closes the room off from other common space such as living and kitchen areas 

that is at least 70 square feet in area, exclusive of closets and other appurtenant space, and 

meets Building Code standards for egress, light and ventilation. A room identified as a den, 

library, study, loft, dining room, or other extra room that satisfies this definition will be 

considered a bedroom for the purposes of applying this requirement. Bathrooms, toilet 

rooms, closets, halls, storage or utility spaces and similar areas are not considered habitable 

spaces. 

9. Block. An area designated on an official map of the City, which is bounded on all sides by 

the public right-of- way, a railroad right-of-way, private streets or a boundary line of 

unsubdivided acreage or any combination thereof. 

10. Boarding House. A building used for residential purposes, other than a hotel, where 

lodging and meals for five or more persons, who are not living as a household, are provided 

for compensation, whether direct or indirect. In determining the number of persons lodging 

in a boarding house, all residents shall be counted, including those acting as manager, 

landlord, landlady or building superintendent. 

11. Building. An enclosed structure having a roof and supported by columns or walls. See 

Figures 23.502.020-1 and 23.502.020-2. 

 
5 New definition. 
6 Source: Table 23D.24.030 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 438 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-7 

a. Accessory Building. A detached building containing habitable space, which is smaller 

in size than the main building on the same lot, and the use of which is incidental to the 

primary use of the lot. 

b. Main Building. A building which is designed for, or in which is conducted, the primary 

use of the lot on which it is situated. In any residential district any dwelling, except an 

accessory dwelling unit, is the main building on the lot. 

FIGURE 23.502.020-1: COMMERCIAL BUILDING 

 

 

FIGURE 23.502.020-2: RESIDENTIAL BUILDING 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 439 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-8   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

12. Building Separation. See 23.106.080 (Building Separation).  

13. Building Site Area. Same as lot area. 

14. Bus/Cab/Truck/Public Utility Depot.7 A facility providing transportation operations for 

passengers and/or freight. Includes bus terminals and rail stations; facilities for transfer and 

movement of freight, courier, and postal services by truck or rail; and passenger 

transportation services, local delivery services, medical transport, and other businesses that 

rely on fleets of three or more vehicles. 

15. Business Activity. Any activity subject to Municipal Code Chapter 9.04 and any economic 

activity which generates receipts but is exempt from Municipal Code Chapter 9.04 by state 

or federal law. 

16. Business Support Services. An establishment providing goods and services to other 

businesses and residents, including maintenance, repair and service, testing, and rental. 

Permitted services for this use are limited to photocopying, desktop publishing, microfilm 

recording, slide duplicating, bulk mailing, parcel shipping, parcel labeling, packaging, 

messenger and delivery/courier, sign painting, lettering, and building maintenance. 

C. “C” Terms. 

1. Cafeteria, On-Site. A food service establishment intended primarily for use by employees 

or residents working or living at the same location, or for use by patients and/or visitors and 

restricted from use by the general public. 

2. Cannabis Retailer. 8 See 12.21.020 (Definitions). 

3. Cannabis Uses. Includes retail sales, cultivation, manufacturing, testing, and distributing. 

See Municipal Code Chapters 12.21, and 12.22 for cannabis regulations and Chapter 23.320 

for land use regulations. 

4. Carport. A roofed structure for one or more automobiles which is enclosed by not more 

than two walls.  

5. Cemetery/Crematory/Mausoleum.9 An establishment primarily engaged in operating 

sites or structures reserved for the interment of human or animal remains, including 

crematories, mausoleums, burial places, and memorial gardens. 

6. Chair Massage. Massage given in a public, open setting to a person who is fully clothed and 

sitting upright on a professional bodywork seat, a stool, or office seat, wheelchair, or other 

chair-like device. 

7. Change of Use. Any change in the nature or character of the use of a building or structure. 

 
7 New definition. 
8 New definition. 
9 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 440 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-9 

a. A residential change of use includes, but is not limited to, the elimination of any dwelling 

unit, the reduction in the floor area or habitability of a dwelling unit, or the reduction in 

the floor area or habitability of bedroom or sleeping quarters in a group living 

accommodation or residential hotel, when a new use is to replace a previous use. A 

residential change of use does not include the establishment of a home occupation in 

compliance with this chapter. 

b. A commercial change of use includes a change to a different category of commercial or 

manufacturing use, but does not include changes between uses that are classified in the 

same category of commercial or manufacturing use. 

8. Child Care Center. A state-licensed facility providing day care for children. This use 

includes nursery schools, day nurseries, infant day care centers, and cooperative day care 

centers, and excludes family day care homes. 

9. Circus or Carnival.10 A commercial facility or event for public entertainment, typically held 

outdoors, with performances, rides, games, exhibitions, and other similar activities for paying 

customers. May be temporary or permanent.    

10. Club/Lodge. A building occupied by a group of persons organized for a purpose to pursue 

common goals, activities or interests, usually characterized by certain membership 

qualifications, payment of fees or dues, regular meetings and a constitution or by-laws.  

11. City. The City of Berkeley 

12. Columbaria. A structure of vaults lined with recesses for cinerary urns or storage of 

cinerary remains. 

13. Commercial Districts.11 The districts listed under the Commercial Districts heading in 

Table 23-108-1. 

14. Commercial Excavation. The commercial excavation of earth, gravel, minerals, or other 

building materials, including drilling for, or removal of, oil or natural gas. 

15. Commercial Recreation Center. Any establishment other than a theater at which 

recreation facilities are offered or amusement devices provided to the public as a principal 

commercial activity of such establishment. This use includes bingo parlors, bowling alleys, 

skating rinks, billiard or pool halls, miniature golf courses. Amusement device arcades are a 

separately defined types of commercial recreation center with their own permit 

requirements. 

16. Commercial Use. The categories of commercial uses of a property include retail products 

store, personal/household service, food service establishment, entertainment establishment, 

office, tourist hotel, automobile uses, live/work units, mixed use development, wholesale 

use, parking lot and any use listed as a sub-category of the above uses; or any other use 

 
10 New definition. 
11 Replaces 23A.16.020.D. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 441 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-10   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

determined to be a business activity (except home occupations), as these terms are defined in 

this chapter. 

17. Community Care Facility. A state-licensed facility for the non-medical care and 

supervision of children, adolescents, adults or elderly persons. This use includes community 

care facilities as defined in California Health and Safety Code (H&SC) Section 1500 et seq, 

residential care facilities for the elderly (H&SC Section 1569 et seq.), facilities for the 

mentally disordered or otherwise handicapped (California Welfare and Institutions Code 

Section 5000 et seq.), alcoholism or drug abuse recovery or treatment facilities (H&SC 

Section 11834.02), supportive housing (California Government Code Section 65582), and 

other similar facilities. This use excludes medical care institutions, skilled nursing facilities, 

nursing homes, foster homes, family day care homes, child care facilities, and transitional 

housing. 

18. Community Center.12 A noncommercial facility where the public can meet for social, 

educational, or recreational activities. 

19. Community and Institutional Use. The categories of community and institutional uses of 

a property including, but not limited to, religious assembly uses, clubs/lodges, community 

centers, hospitals, schools, public uses and utility uses, as these terms are defined in this 

chapter. 

20. Condition. A requirement attached to a permit or entitlement, the satisfaction of which is 

necessary for the validity and effectiveness of the permit or entitlement. 

21. Condominium. An estate in real property consisting of an undivided interest-in-common in 

a portion of a lot of real property together with a separate interest in space in a residential, 

industrial or commercial building on such real property such as an apartment, office or store. 

A condominium may include, in addition, a separate interest in other portions of such real 

property. 

22. Controlled Rental Unit. Any dwelling unit, live/work unit, bedroom or sleeping quarters 

portion of a group living accommodation or other unit that is subject to the City’s Rent 

Stabilization Ordinance (Municipal Code Chapter 13.76). 

23. Construction. The placing of construction materials and their fastening in a permanent 

manner to the ground or a structure or building for the purpose of creating or altering a 

structure or building, or excavation of a basement. 

24. Contractors Yard. A storage facility for any person who contracts to undertake and 

complete a construction project or a discrete part of a construction project, including all 

persons defined as contractors and subject to Division 3, Chapter 9 of the State of California 

Business and Professions Code. 

 
12 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 442 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-11 

25. Conversion, Residential. The physical change of the floor area and/or walls of a building 

that is used for dwelling unit, group living accommodation or residential hotel room 

purposes, so as to change the number of dwelling units, sleeping rooms or residential hotel 

rooms, or reduce the floor area and/or habitable space of any residential living quarters. 

26. Craft. An occupation, avocation or trade requiring special manual dexterity or artistic skill in 

the creation of a product. 

D. “D” Terms. 

1. Dance/Exercise/Martial Arts/Music Studio. An establishment in which customers 

assemble for group exercises, dancing, self-defense training, aerobics, choral or musical 

instrument instruction, other movement drills for learning, rehearsal or non-audience 

performances. 

2. Deck. An unenclosed structure, usually made of wood, built to provide a solid continuous 

surface for outdoor use and/or access to a door, which is accessible from the ground level, 

directly or from a connecting stairway and is separated from the ground by an air space. 

3. Demolition. A building or enclosed structure shall be considered demolished for the 

purposes of this chapter when, within any continuous 12-month period, such building or 

enclosed structure is destroyed in whole or in part or is relocated from one lot to another. 

For purposes of this definition, destroyed in part means when 50 percent or more of the 

enclosing exterior walls and 50 percent or more of the roof are removed. Removal of 

facades or portions of facades requires Design Review. 

4. Density Bonus.13 See 23.330.020 (Definitions). 

5. Department. The Planning and Development Department of the City of Berkeley or its 

successor administrative unit. 

6. Department Store. A retail store selling several kinds of merchandise, which are usually 

grouped into separate sections, including but not limited to, apparel, housewares, household 

hardware, household appliances, household electronics and gifts. 

7. Dormer. A projection built out from a sloping roof, usually housing a vertical window or 

ventilating louver. See also 23.304.110 (Dormers). 

8. Dormitory. A building providing group living accommodations, occupied by individuals not 

sharing a common household, characterized by separate sleeping rooms without individual 

kitchen facilities and containing congregate bath and/or dining facilities or rooms. 

9. Drive-in Uses. A use where a customer is permitted or encouraged, either by the design of 

physical facilities or by the service and/or packaging procedures offered, to be served while 

remaining seated within an automobile. This use includes drive-through food service 

establishments, financial services (banks), and automatic carwashes.  

 
13 Source: 23C.14.020. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 443 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-12   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

10. Driveway. A paved, vehicular accessway connecting an off-street parking space or parking 

lot with a public or private street. 

11. Drug Paraphernalia. As defined in California Health and Safety Code Section 11364.5(d). 

12. Drugstore. A retail establishment where the profession of pharmacy is practiced and/or 

where licensed prescription drugs and general merchandise are offered for sale. A food 

products store with a pharmacy is not a drugstore. 

13. Dry Cleaning and Laundry Plants. A place where clothes are dry cleaned, dyed and/or 

laundered as part of a commercial business, whether or not such clothes were deposited by a 

customer at that location, or transported from another location, as part of a service. This use 

includes all establishments subject to Section 19233 of the State of California Business and 

Professions Code, regulating Dry Cleaning Plants, but excludes laundromats and cleaners as 

defined in this chapter. 

14. Duplex. A building or use of a lot designed for, or occupied exclusively by, two households. 

15. Dwelling Unit. A building or portion of a building designed for, or occupied exclusively by, 

persons living as one household. 

E. “E” Terms. 

1. Electric Vehicle Charging Station.14 A facility that supplies electric energy for the 

recharging of plug-in electric vehicles 

2. Emergency Shelter. Temporary lodging for homeless persons with minimal supportive 

services that may be limited to occupancy of six months or less as defined in Health and 

Safety Code Section 50801(e)). 

3. Enhanced Transit Service. Any facility that will result in the improved operational 

performance of bus and/or shuttle service, as well as improvements that will encourage the 

use of transit and make transit service more compatible with downtown’s activities and 

appearance. Improvements for enhanced transit services include but are not limited to: 

“complete streets” to enhance pedestrian and bicycle routes to transit; transit signal priority; 

queue jump lanes and left turn signal phasing; bus shelters and raised bus platforms; bus 

curb extensions and concrete bus pads; transit pre-pay fare vending machines; bus layover 

facilities; transit plazas and bus stop amenities; bicycle parking and bicycle rental facilities 

near transit; and street improvements that mitigate the impact of transit operations on 

pedestrians and bicyclists. 

4. Entertainment Establishment. A permanent establishment which includes live 

performances and/or patron dancing. This use includes cabarets, nightclubs, dance halls, and 

discotheques. 

F. “F” Terms. 

 
14 New definition.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 444 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-13 

1. Facade. Those portions of a building, including exterior walls, porches, chimneys, balconies, 

parapets and roof portions, which are visible from a public right-of-way or an adjacent 

building. 

2. Family. See Household. 

3. Family Day Care Home. An establishment providing day care for 14 or fewer children in a 

dwelling unit as licensed by the California Department of Social Services. A family day care 

homes must be incidental to a residential use. The day care operator must reside in the 

primary dwelling on the lot.  

a. Small Family Day Care Home. A family day care homes for eight or fewer children, 

including children who reside at the home. 

b. Large Family Day Care Home. A family day care homes for nine to fourteen children, 

including children who reside at the home. 

4. Fence. A structure made of wood, metal, masonry or other material forming a physical 

barrier which supports no load other than its own weight, or a hedge, which is designed to 

delineate, screen or enclose a lot, yard, open space area or other land area. 

5. Firearm/Munitions Businesses. Any establishment which sells, transfers, leases or offers 

for sale, transfer or lease any gun, ammunition, munitions, gun powder, bullets, ordnance, or 

other firearm or firearm parts or supplies. 

6. Floor Area, Gross. See 23.106.030 (Floor Area, Gross).  

7. Floor Area, Leasable. See 23.106.040 (Floor Area, Leasable). 

8. Floor Area Ratio. (FAR). See 23.106.050 (Floor Area Ratio). 

9. Food Product Store. A retail products store selling foods primarily intended to be taken to 

another location to be prepared and consumed, and the incidental preparation of food or 

beverages for immediate consumption off the premises. 

10. Food and Beverage for Immediate Consumption. The sale of food or non-alcoholic 

beverages for immediate consumption not on the premises.  

11. Food Service Establishments. An establishment which in whole or in part prepares food 

or beverages for immediate consumption on or off the premises.  

a. Carry Out Food Store: A store which serves food or non-alcoholic beverages for 

immediate consumption not on the premises, but usually in the vicinity of the store. This 

use is usually characterized as an establishment which serves food altered in texture 

and/or temperature on a customer-demand basis, puts such food in non-sealed packages 

or edible containers, requires payment for such food prior to consumption, and provides 

no seating or other physical accommodations for on- premises dining. Examples of this 

use include delicatessens and other stores without seating which sell doughnuts, 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 445 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-14   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

croissants, ice cream, frozen yogurt, cookies, whole pizzas and sandwiches. This use 

excludes bakeries and food products stores. 

b. Quick Service Restaurant: An establishment which serves food or beverages for 

immediate consumption either on the premises, or to be taken out for consumption 

elsewhere. This use is usually characterized as an establishment in which food is cooked 

on a customer-demand basis, payment is required prior to consumption, limited or no 

able service is provided (no waiters), and seating or other physical accommodations for 

on- premises customer dining is provided. Examples of this use include establishments 

selling primarily hamburgers or other hot or cold sandwiches, hot dogs, tacos and 

burritos, pizza slices, fried chicken, or fish and chips. 

c. Full-Service Restaurant: An establishment which serves food or beverages for 

immediate consumption primarily on the premises, with only a minor portion, if any, of 

the food being taken out of the establishment. This use is characterized as an 

establishment in which food is cooked or prepared on the premises on a customer-

demand basis, which requires payment after consumption, and provides seating and 

tables for on-premises customer dining with table service (waiters). 

12. Fraternity House. A building used for group living accommodations by an organization 

recognized by the University of California at Berkeley or other institution of higher learning. 

13. Front Wall. The wall of the building nearest the front lot line. 

G. “G” Terms. 

1. Garage, Residential. A detached accessory structure or portion of a primary building, 

covered or roofed and enclosed on at least three sides with walls, used for off-street parking 

by members of the households residing on the premises. 

2. Gasoline/Vehicle Fuel Stations. An establishment that dispenses gasoline, diesel or other 

similar fuel into vehicles. Excludes alternative fuel stations and electric vehicle charging 

stations. 

3. General Plan. The City of Berkeley General Plan adopted pursuant to Government Code 

Section 65300 et seq.  

4. Gift/Novelty Shop. A store selling small manufactured articles usually for personal use or 

household adornment, including, but not limited to, stores selling primarily T-shirts and/or 

sweatshirts with imprinted wording or images. 

5. Grade. The location of ground surface. See also Slope. 

a. Existing Grade. The elevation of the ground at any point on a lot as shown on the 

required survey submitted in conjunction with an application for a building permit or 

grading permit. See Figure 23.502.020-3. 

b. Finished Grade. The lowest point of elevation of the finished surface of the ground 

between the exterior walls of a building and a point 5 feet distant from the wall, or the 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 446 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-15 

lowest point of elevation of the finished surface of the ground between the exterior wall 

of a building and the property line if it is less than 5 feet distant from the wall. In the 

case of walls which are parallel to and within 5 feet of a public sidewalk, alley or other 

public way, the grade shall be the elevation of the sidewalk, alley or public way. See 

Figure 502-3. 

FIGURE 23.502.020-3: GRADE, EXISTING AND FINISHED 

 

6. Group Class Instruction.15 An establishment that offer specialized programs in personal 

growth and development. Includes music studios, drama schools, dance academies, art 

schools, tutoring schools, and instruction in other cultural and academic pursuits. 

7. Group Living Accommodations. A building or portion of a building designed for or 

accommodating a residential use by persons not living together as a household. This use 

includes dormitories, convents and monasteries, and other types of organizational housing, 

and excludes hospitals, nursing homes and tourist hotels. Group living accommodations 

typically provide shared living quarters without separate kitchen or bathroom facilities for 

each room or unit. Residential hotels and senior congregate housing are separately defined 

types of group living accommodations each with their own permit requirements 

8. Ground Floor Street Frontage. The occupied floor space in a structure nearest to the 

public right-of-way and closest to sidewalk grade. 

9. Gyms and Health Clubs.16 An indoor facility where exercise equipment, classes and related 

activities related to personal health and fitness are available to paying customers. Excludes 

parks/playgrounds.  

H. “H” Terms. 

1. Habitable Space. A space in a building which is used or designed to be used for living, 

sleeping, eating or cooking, but not including garages, bathrooms, utility, storage and laundry 

rooms, halls or closets. 

2. Hedge. Any line or row of plants, trees or shrubs planted in a continuous line to form a 

dense thicket or barrier. 

 
15 New definition. 
16 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 447 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-16   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

3. Height of Building, Average. See 23.106.090.A (Average Building Height). 

4. Height of Building, Maximum. See 23.106.090.B (Maximum Building Height). 

5. Home Occupation. A business use conducted on residential property, which is incidental 

and secondary to the residential use, does not change the residential character of the 

residential use, is limited so as not to substantially reduce the residential use of the dwelling 

or room and is operated only by the inhabitants of the subject residence. 

6. Home Occupation, Teaching-Related. A home-based business as defined under the 

home occupation definition that provides academic and/or artistic tutoring or lessons, 

excluding schools, studios and conservatories. 

7. Hospital. A facility for in-patient medical care licensed under California Administrative 

Code, Title 17, Section 237 or 238. 

8. Hot Tub. A tub or small pool, usually made of wood or fiberglass, in which heated water is 

maintained for recreational or therapeutic activities, including, but not limited to, jacuzzis, 

whirlpools and spas. 

9. Hotel, Residential. A type of group living accommodations which provides rooms for rent 

for residential purposes, including single residential occupancy (SRO) rooms.  

10. Hotel, Tourist. A building with sleeping rooms used, designed, or intended for occupancy 

by transient guests for a period not to exceed 14 consecutive days. This use includes inns, 

bed and breakfasts (B&Bs), and hostels, and excludes building with residential hotel rooms 

and dwelling units.  

11. Household. One or more persons, whether or not related by blood, marriage or adoption, 

sharing a dwelling unit in a living arrangement usually characterized by sharing living 

expenses, such as rent or mortgage payments, food costs and utilities, as well as maintaining 

a single lease or rental agreement for all members of the household and other similar 

characteristics indicative of a single household. 

12. Household Income, Gross. The income of all adult members of the household as 

determined by the guidelines used by the Berkeley Housing Authority for its administration 

of the Section 8 Rental Subsidy Program. For purposes of this definition, household is the 

same as Family in the federal Section 8 Existing Housing Program or its future equivalent. 

Classification of Households, based on income, shall be based on the following percentages 

of the Oakland Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area (PMSA) statistical figures for income 

of the most recent U.S. Census that are available: 

a. Low Income Household. A household whose gross income is greater than 80 percent 

and less than 100 percent of the median income. 

b. Lower Income Household. A household whose income is no greater than 80 percent 

and above 50 percent of the median income. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 448 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-17 

c. Very Low Income Household. A household whose gross income is 50 percent or less 

of the median income. 

I. “I” Terms. 

1. Incidental Use. See Use, Incidental. 

2. Inclusionary Unit. A dwelling unit which is affordable by Households with income below 

the Oakland PMSA median income; or in the case of Limited Equity Cooperatives, 

Households with income below 120 percent of the Oakland PMSA median income. 

3. Industrial and Mining Product Sales.17 Retail sale of equipment and productions for 

manufacturing, mining, and other industrial activities.  

4. Insurance Agents, Title Companies, Real Estate Agents, Travel Agents.18 A 

commercial establishment providing insurance, title, real estate and travel services directly to 

customers.  

J. “J” Terms. 

K. “K” Terms. 

1. Kennels and Pet Boarding.19 A facility for keeping, boarding, training, breeding or 

maintaining four or more dogs, cats, or other household pets not owned by the kennel 

owner or operator on a 24-hour basis. Excludes municipal animal shelters. 

2. Kitchen. A habitable space used for preparation of food that contains at least a sink, a 

refrigerator of no less than 10 cubic feet, and either a cooktop and an oven, or a range.  

L. “L” Terms. 

1. Laboratories.20 

a. Commercial Physical or Biological. A facility that provides controlled conditions in 

which scientific or technological research, experiments, and measurement may be 

performed. 

b. Cannabis Testing. A facility for the testing of the properties of cannabis intended for 

consumer use.  

c. Class 1 Organism. A microbe or biological agent classified as Biosafety Level 1 (BSL-1) 

by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.  

d.  Class 2 Organism. A microbe or biological agent classified as Biosafety Level 2 (BSL-

2) by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.  

 
17 New definition. 
18 New definition.  
19 New definition. 
20 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 449 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-18   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

e. Class 3 Organism. A microbe or biological agent classified as Biosafety Level 3 (BSL-3) 

by the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.  

2. Land Use. See “Use.” 

3. Landscaped Area. An area of ground within the boundaries of a lot which consists of 

living plant material including, but not limited to, trees, shrubs, ground covers, grass, 

flowers, gardens and vines.  

4. Large Vehicle Sales and Rental. Establishments primarily engaged in renting or leasing 

trucks, truck tractors, buses, semitrailers, and utility trailers.  

5. Lattice Tower. A support structure, erected on the ground that consists of metal crossed 

strips or bars to support antennas and related equipment. 

6. Laundromat and Cleaner. A business which offers self-service laundry and/or dry-

cleaning machines and dryers, which are coin, token or otherwise fee operated. This use 

excludes dry cleaning plants. 

7. Library.21 A non-commercial facility where sources of information and similar resources 

(such as books, recordings, or films) are made available for public use. 

8. Limited Equity Cooperative. The form of ownership defined in Section 11003.4(a) of the 

Business and Professions Code or other form of ownership, wherein appreciation of equity 

of dwelling units is no greater than appreciation permitted by California Health and Safety 

Code Section 33007.5 for a Limited Equity Cooperative. 

9. Live Entertainment.22 Any one or more of any of the following, performed live by one or 

more persons, whether or not done for compensation and whether or not admission is 

charged: musical act (including karaoke); theatrical act (including stand-up comedy); play; 

revue; dance; magic act; disc jockey; or similar activity. 

10. Live/Work. A built space used or designed to be used both as a workplace and as a 

residence by one or more persons in conformance with Chapter 23.312 (Live/Work).  

11. Loading Space, Off-street. A covered or uncovered space for trucks or other delivery 

vehicles for the loading or unloading of freight, cargo, packages, containers or bundles of 

goods and/or bulky goods. 

12. Loft. See mezzanine. 

13. Lot. A separate legal subdivision of land, as recorded with the County of Alameda Recorder. 

See Figure 23.502.020-4. 

a. Abutting Lot. A lot having a common property line or separated by a public path or 

alley, private street or easement to the subject lot. 

 
21 New definition. 
22 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 450 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-19 

b. Confronting Lot. A lot whose front property line is intersected by a line perpendicular 

to and intersecting the front property line of the subject lot. 

c. Corner Lot. A lot bounded on two or more adjacent sides by street lines, providing that 

the angle of intersection is less than 135 degrees. 

d. Flag Lot. A lot so shaped that the main portion of the lot area does not have direct 

street frontage, other than by a connection of a strip of land which is used for access 

purposes. 

e. Interior Lot. A lot bounded on one side by a street line and on all other sides by lot 

lines between adjacent lots or is bounded by more than one street with an intersection 

greater than or equal to 135 degrees. 

f. Key Lot. Any interior lot which abuts the rear lot line of a corner lot. 

g. Receiving Lot. The lot to which a building is relocated from a different lot. 

h. Source Lot. The lot from which a building is relocated to a different lot. 

i. Through Lot. A lot having frontage on two parallel or approximately parallel streets. 

 

FIGURE 23.502.020-4: LOT CONFIGURATION 

 

14. Lot Area. The total horizontal area within a lot's boundary lines. 

15. Lot Coverage. See 23.106.020 (Lot Coverage).  

16. Lot Depth. The average distance from the front lot line to the rear lot line measured in the 

general direction of the side lines. 

17. Lot Frontage. That dimension of a lot's front lot line abutting on a street. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 451 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-20   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

18. Lot Lines. The boundaries between a lot and other property or the public right-of-way. 

19. Lot Line, Front. The shorter of the two intersecting lot lines along the rights-of-way of a 

corner lot shall be deemed to be the front of the lot for purposes of determining the lot 

frontage and for yard requirements. In the case of a lot having equal frontage, or in the case 

of an irregularly shaped lot, the Zoning Officer shall determine the front in such a manner as 

to best promote the orderly development of the immediate area. 23 

20. Lot Width. The average distance between the side lot lines measured at right angles to the 

lot depth. 

M. “M” Terms. 

1. Main Building. See Building, Main. 

2. Maintenance of Building. Those activities which preserve an existing building including, 

but not limited to cleaning, painting, refurbishing (but not altering) exterior and interior 

walls, equipment, facilities and fixtures. 

3. Manufactured Home. A structure, designed or altered to be used as a dwelling unit, which 

is transportable in one or more sections and is built on a frame or chassis to which wheels 

may be attached so as to be transported, including mobile homes meeting the standards of 

the National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Act of 1974. If a manufactured 

home is mounted on a permanent foundation and connected to all utilities required for a 

dwelling unit built on the site, it is considered a dwelling unit. 

4. Manufacturing Districts.24 The districts listed under the Manufacturing Districts heading 

in Table 23-108.020-1. 

5. Manufacturing. A use primarily engaged in the mechanical or the chemical transformation 

of materials or substances into new products. Manufacturing activities include assembly, 

baking, brewing, fabrication, milling, processing, refining, smelting and treatment and any 

other uses determined by the Zoning Officer. Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, 

manufacturing uses are defined, and distinguished from nonmanufacturing uses, in the 

North American Industrial Classification Manual (311611 – 339999). 

a. Construction Products Manufacturing. Manufacturing and/or processing asphalt, 

cement and/or concrete. 

b. Light Manufacturing. Primarily involved in baking, brewing, fabricating, milling, 

processing and other similar forms of mechanical and chemical treatment. Light 

manufacturing uses are generally in the following groups in the North American 

Industrial Classification System (NAICS): 

Use NAICS Code 

Apparel and Other Textile Mill Products 314 – 33636 

 
23 Source: 23D.04.010 and 23E.04.010. 
24 Replaces 23A.16.020.D. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 452 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-21 

Use NAICS Code 

Electronic and Electric Equipment, except 

semiconductors 

334412 – 335311, 334413, 333319, 

333618, 333992, 335129, 35999 

Fabricated Metal Products 332 – 332999 

Food Processing 311 – 311999 

Furniture and Fixtures 337 – 33792 

Industrial Machinery and Equipment 333 – 333999 

Instruments and Related Products 334511 – 334518 

Leather and Leather Products, except leather tanning 3162 – 316999 

Lumber and Wood Products, except logging 321 – 321999 

Miscellaneous Manufacturing 339 – 339999 

Paper and Allied Products, except paper, pulp and 

paperboard mills 

3222 – 322299 

Perfumes, Cosmetics and Toilet Preparations 325611 – 32562 

Printing and Publishing, except publishing without 

printing 

323 – 323122 

Rubber and Miscellaneous Plastic Products 326 – 326299 

Stone, Clay and Glass Products, except cement 327 – 327215, 32733 – 327999 

Textile Mill Products 313 – 31332 

Transportation Equipment 336 – 336999 

  

c. Pesticides, Herbicides and Fertilizers.25 Manufacturing and/or processing of 

substances used for destroying insects or other organisms harmful to cultivated plants or 

to animals, substances toxic to plants used to destroy unwanted vegetation. and 

chemicals or natural substance added to soil or land to increase its fertility. 

d. Petroleum Refining and Products.26 The transformation of crude oil into gasoline and 

other similar petroleum products.  

e. Pharmaceuticals.27 Manufacturing and production of medical drugs.  

f. Primary Production Manufacturing, Manufacturing primarily involved in drawing, 

smelting, refining, rolling and extruding to produce materials such as metals or plastic. 

Primary production manufacturing uses are generally in the following groups in the 

North American Industrial Classification System (NAICS): 

Use NAICS Code 

Chemicals and allied products, except pharmaceuticals 

and perfumes, cosmetics and toilet preparations 

325 – 32532, 325413 – 325613, 3259 

– 325998 

Leather Tanning 31611 

Paper, pulp and paperboard mills 32211 – 3221 

Primary Metal Industries 331 – 331528 

 

 
25 New definition. 
26 New definition. 
27 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 453 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-22   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

g. Semiconductors.28 The manufacturing of a solid substance that has a conductivity 

between that of an insulator and that of most metals, either due to the addition of an 

impurity or because of temperature effects. 

6. Material Recovery Enterprise. A business that diverts discarded materials from a number 

of waste streams including the Transfer Station, drop-off, pick-up and curbside collection. 

Such facilities must clean, sort, repair and/or process these materials and offer them for 

reuse and/or recycling through wholesale and/or retail sales, including bulk sales. The retail 

component of these facilities is limited to the sale of items recovered from the waste stream. 

No new items may be offered for sale at these facilities. This use excludes flea markets, 

automobile wrecking establishments, manufacturer’s outlet stores (factory second stores), 

consignment shops, second-hand stores, antique stores, and any store which offers only used 

furniture, clothing and/or household items. 

7. Media Production. Commercial arts and art-related business services including audio and 

film recording and editing studios and services, film and video production, titling, video and 

film libraries, special effects production, motion picture and photograph processing, radio 

and television broadcast, and similar uses. 

8. Medical Practitioner Office. Clinics or offices and related laboratories for doctors, 

dentists, chiropractors, optometrists, mental health practitioners, osteopaths, chiropodists, 

and similar practitioners of the traditional healing arts, as well as holistic healthcare providers 

and practitioners of a non-traditional nature. This use includes acupuncturists, herbalists, 

nutritionists, midwives, reflexologists, iridologists, physical therapists, and bodyworkers, but 

excludes offices for veterinarians or opticians.  

9. Mezzanine. An intermediate level of a building interior containing floor area without 

complete enclosing interior walls or partitions, placed in any story or room and not separated 

from the floor or level below by a wall.  

10. Microbusiness. Cannabis use involving more than one State license. See Municipal Code 

Chapter 12.21 for definition. 

a. Retail Nursery Microbusiness. A microbusiness that is restricted to growing and 

selling cannabis plants and seeds. See Municipal Code Chapter 12.21 for definition. 

b. Retail Storefront Microbusiness. A microbusiness that is restricted to a Storefront 

Retailer with limited manufacturing and distribution activities. See Municipal Code 

Chapter 12.21 for definition and limitations. 

11. Mini-storage. A storage warehouse characterized by individual separate spaces, which are 

accessible by customers for storing and retrieval of goods. 

 
28 New definition.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 454 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-23 

12. Mixed Use. The use of a lot or building with two or more different land uses including, but 

not limited to, residential, commercial retail, office or manufacturing, in a single structure or 

a group of physically integrated structures. 

13. Mixed-Use Residential. A development project with both residential and non-residential 

uses which are either 1) located together in a single building; or 2) in separate buildings on a 

single site of one or more contiguous properties. 

14.  Microcell. A set of antenna nodes networked with each other and connected to a wireless 

service source, such that a one or more high-power antennas that serve a given area are 

replaced by a group of lower-power antennas to serve the same geographic area. 

15. Monopole. A single pole support structure greater than 15 feet in height erected on the 

ground or on a structure to support antennas and related communications equipment. 

16. Motel, Tourist. An establishment which provides overnight lodging and parking which 

contains six or more guest rooms used, designed or intended to be used, let or hired out for 

occupancy by six or more transient individuals for compensation, whether direct or indirect, 

and in which the rooms are usually accessible from an outdoor parking lot.  

17. Multi-Family Dwelling. A building, group of buildings, or portion of a building used or 

designed as three or more dwelling units. 

18. Municipal Animal Shelter. A City-owned facility providing services for humane animal 

care with programs and services focused on maximizing opportunities for animal adoption. 

Supporting facilities may include medical care (including spay/neuter), kennels, exercise 

areas and adoption centers. 

N. “N” Terms. 

1. New Construction. Construction of a new main building 

2. Non-Chartered Financial Institutions. A use, other than State or Federally chartered 

bank, credit union, mortgage lender, savings and loan association or industrial loan company, 

that offers deferred deposit transaction services or check cashing services and loans for 

payment of a percentage fee. This use includes deferred deposit transaction (payday loan) 

businesses that makes loans upon assignment of wages received, check cashing businesses 

that charge a percentage fee for cashing a check or negotiable instrument, and motor vehicle 

title lenders who offer short-term loan secured by the title to motor vehicles. This use 

excludes non-profit financial institutions or retail sellers engaged primarily in the business of 

selling consumer goods to retail buyers and that cash checks or issue money orders as a 

service to its customers that is incidental to its main purpose or business. 

3. Non-conforming Use or Building. A use or building which is not consistent with a 

provision or provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, but which was lawfully established or 

constructed prior to the effective date of the provision(s) with which it is inconsistent. A use 

is not considered non-conforming if it is only inconsistent with the Zoning Ordinance with 

respect to the number of auto or bicycle spaces, their location on site, or screening. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 455 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-24   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

4. Non-Processed Edibles. Foods, including fruit, vegetables, nuts, honey, and shell eggs 

from fowl or poultry, grown or raised in accordance with the Municipal Code, that are whole 

and intact and have not been processed, but not including cannabis as defined in Chapter 

12.26 or meat. Washing, trimming, bundling, and similar handling of otherwise whole and 

intact foods shall not be considered processing. 

5. Non-Residential Districts. Those districts listed under the Commercial Districts, 

Manufacturing Districts, and Special Districts headings in Table 23-108.020-1.29 

6. Non-Residential Use. Any land use other than a residential use as defined by this chapter.  

7. Nursing Home. An establishment which provides 24 hour medical, convalescent or 

chronic care to individuals who, by reason of advanced age, chronic illness or infirmity, are 

unable to care for themselves, and is licensed as a skilled nursing facility by the California 

State Department of Health Services. This use includes rest homes and convalescent 

hospitals and excludes community care facilities, senior congregate housing, and hospitals. 

O. “O” Terms. 

1. Oakland Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area (PMSA). A geographic area defined by 

the U.S. Bureau of the Census, composed of the counties of Alameda and Contra Costa. 

2. Office Use. A building or portion of a building used for conducting the business or affairs 

of a profession, business service, non-profit organization, agency, public utility and/or 

government entity. 

3. Office, Business and Professional. A building or portion of a building used for 

conducting the business or affairs of a profession, business service, non-profit organization, 

agency, public utility and/or government entity. Includes publishing without printing. 

4. One Ownership. Ownership of property or possession thereof under a contract to 

purchase by a person or persons, firm, corporation or partnership, individually, jointly, in 

common or in any other manner whereby such property is under a single or unified control. 

5. Outdoor Cafe Seating. Tables and/or chairs (including benches) and umbrellas associated 

with a lawfully operating food service establishment located in an outdoor area on private 

property. 

6. Owner. The person or persons, firm, corporation or partnership exercising One Ownership 

as defined in this chapter. 

7. Owner or Operator (also Provider or Service Provider). The person, entity or agency 

primarily responsible for installation and maintenance of the facility, which may or may not 

be the same person or entity which is the owner of the property on which the facility is 

located. 

 
29 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 456 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-25 

P. “P” Terms. 

1. Parapet. A low wall or railing not exceeding 42 inches above the roof and along its 

perimeter, usually for fire containment and/or architectural purposes. 

2. Parcel. A term used by the Alameda County Tax Collector to describe a lot, portion of a lot 

or a group of lots for property tax purposes. 

3. Park/Playground.30 Non-commercial facilities that provide open space and/or recreational 

opportunities to the public.  

4. Parking Area, Accessory. An area of a lot reserved for use as off-street parking intended to 

serve a building or use which is the primary or main use of the lot. 

5. Parking Lot/Structure. 

a. Parking Lots. The exclusive or primary use of a lot for off-street parking spaces in an 

open paved area. 

b. Parking Structures. The exclusive or primary use of a lot for off-street parking spaces 

in a structure built specifically for parking purposes. 

6. Parking Space, Off-Street. An area, covered or uncovered, designed for the storage of an 

automobile which is paved, accessible by an automobile, and usable for such automobile 

storage use without permanent obstruction. 

7. Path. A City-owned right-of-way used or designed for pedestrian access. 

8. Pawn Shops and Auction Houses.31 Establishments engaged in the buying or selling of 

new or secondhand merchandise and offering loans in exchange for personal property. 

9. Penthouse, Mechanical. A room or enclosed structure, attached to the roof level for the 

uppermost story, for purposes of sheltering mechanical equipment, water tanks and/or 

vertical openings for stairwell and elevator shafts. Such a structure is considered a story if it 

contains usable floor area or habitable space. 

10. Permit, Discretionary.32 The following types of permits and approvals: Administrative Use 

Permit, Use Permit, Master Use Permit, Modification of Development Standards, 

Reasonable Accommodations, and Variance. 

11. Permit.33 A Use Permit, Administrative Use Permit, or Variance, unless the context specifies 

otherwise. 

12. Personal/Household Service, General. A business establishment which provides 

commercial services directly to customers. This use includes barber/beauty shops, clothing, 

shoes and/or household items repair shops, dry cleaning and laundry agents, 

 
30 New definition. 
31 New definition. 
32 New definition. 
33 Revises 23A.08.010B.12, which states “...unless the context requires otherwise.” 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 457 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-26   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

framing/mounting shops, optician shops, photocopy stores, photography studios 

postal/packaging/po box service shops, and other similar establishments. This use excludes 

massage.  

13. Pet Store.34 Retail sales and services for animals kept as household pets. Includes sales and 

grooming of animals but not boarding. 

14. Plumbing Shop. A business offering plumbing supplies and service which has on-site 

supply storage and service vehicles. 

15. Porch.35 A covered projecting platform that extends from the main wall of a building where 

the covering is supported by columns, walls, or other vertical structural elements. 

16. Primary Dwelling Unit. A legally established single-family dwelling that is on a lot with an 

accessory dwelling unit. 

17. Privately-Owned Public Open Space. Area on a lot that is designed for active or passive 

recreational use and that is accessible to the general public without a requirement for 

payment or purchase of goods. Such areas may include mid-block passageways and other 

amenities intended to improve pedestrian access, and may be outdoors, indoors, or enclosed. 

18. Public Property. All real property owned, operated or controlled by the City, other than the 

public right-of-way and any privately- owned area within City’s jurisdiction which is not yet, 

but is designated as a proposed public place on a tentative subdivision map approved by 

City. 

19. Public Right-Of-Way. Any public street, public way, public place or rights-of-way, now laid 

out or dedicated, and the space on, above or below it, and all extensions thereof, and 

additions thereto, owned, operated and/or controlled by the City or subject to an easement 

owned by City and any privately-owned area within City’s jurisdiction which is not yet, but is 

designated as a proposed public place on a tentative subdivision map approved by City. 

20. Public Market.36 A facility or location where people regularly gather for the sale and 

purchase of food, beverages, flowers, crafts, and other similar goods. Public markets are 

open daily, year-round, in a permanent location, with multiple vendors that are owner-

operated. 

a.  Open Air. A public market conducted outdoors. 

b.  Enclosed. A public market conducted indoors. 

21. Public Safety and Emergency Service. Facilities that provide police and fire protection. 

22. Public Utility Substation/Tanks.37 A permanent structure or facility providing a utility 

service to the general public. Includes generating plants, electric substations, solid waste 

 
34 New definition. 
35 New definition.  
36 New definition. 
37 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 458 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-27 

collection, solid waste treatment and disposal, water or wastewater treatment plants, and 

similar facilities. 

Q. “Q” Terms. 

1. Quorum. A majority of the appointed members. 

R. “R” Terms. 

1. Rear Main Building. A main building situated behind another main building existing or 

proposed on a parcel located in the R-1A district. 

2. Receiving Lot. See Lot, Receiving. 

3. Recycled Materials Processing.38 A facility that receives and processes recyclable 

materials. Processing means preparation of material for efficient shipment, or to an end-

user’s specifications, by such means as baling, briquetting, compacting, flattening, grinding, 

crushing, mechanical sorting, shredding, cleaning, and remanufacturing. 

4. Recycling Redemption Center. A facility, use, or structure for the collection of recyclable 

goods, including beverage containers and newspapers. 

5. Related Equipment. All equipment necessary for or related to the provision of personal 

wireless services. Such equipment may include, but is not limited to, cable, conduit and 

connectors, equipment pads, equipment shelters, cabinets, buildings and access ladders. 

6. Religious Assembly. A building or space primarily used for an assembly of persons to 

conduct worship or other religious ceremonies, including, but not limited to, churches, 

synagogues, temples, mosques or shrines. 

7. Repair Service, Non-Vehicle.39 An establishment that provides repair and maintenance 

services for household appliance, home electronics, office equipment, furniture and other 

similar items. Excludes vehicle repair. 

8. Research and Development. An establishment comprised of laboratory or other non-

office space, which is engaged in one or more of the following activities: industrial, biological 

or scientific research; product design; development and testing; and limited manufacturing 

necessary for the production of prototypes. 

9. Resident. A person whose primary residence is in Berkeley.  

10. Residential Care Facility. See Community Care Facility. 

11. Residential Hotel. See Hotel, Residential. 

12. Residential Addition. See Addition, Residential. 

 
38 New definition. 
39 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 459 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-28   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

13. Residential Districts.40 The districts listed under the Residential Districts heading in Table 

23-108.020-1. 

14. Residential Hotel Room. A room which is: 

a. Used, designed, or intended to be used for sleeping for a period of 14 consecutive days 

or more;  

b. Not a complete dwelling unit, as defined in this chapter; and 

c. Not a Tourist Hotel Room, as defined in this chapter. 

15. Residential Use. Any legal use of a property as a place of residence, including but not 

limited to dwelling units, group living accommodations, and residential hotels. 

16. Retail, General. A retail establishment engaged in the sales of personal, consumer, or 

household items to the customers who will use such items. This use includes antique stores, 

art galleries, arts and crafts supply stores, bicycle shops, building materials and garden 

supplies stores, clothing stores, computer stores, cosmetic/personal care items, department 

stores, drug paraphernalia stores, drug stores, fabric, textile and sewing supply shops, flower 

and plant stores, food product stores, furniture stores, garden supply stores, nurseries, 

gift/novelty shops, household hardware and housewares stores, household 

electronics/electrical stores, jewelry/watch shops, linen shops includes bedding, musical 

instruments and materials stores, office supply stores, paint stores, photography equipment 

supply stores, secondhand stores, sporting goods stores, stationery, cards and paper goods 

stores toy stores and variety stores. This use excludes video rental stores, service of vehicle 

parts, nurseries, and firearm/munition sales.   

17. Retaining Wall. A wall designed to contain and resist the lateral displacement of soil and of 

which such soil is at a higher elevation on one side of the wall. 

18. Review Authority.41 The City official or body responsible for approving or denying a 

permit application or other form of requested approval under the Zoning Ordinance. 

19. Rooming House. A building used for residential purposes, other than a hotel, where 

lodging for 5 or more persons, who are not living as a single household, is provided for 

compensation, whether direct or indirect. In determining the number of persons lodging in a 

rooming house, all residents shall be counted, including those acting as manager, landlord, 

landlady or building superintendent. See also Boarding House. 

S. “S” Terms. 

1. Satellite Dish. A device which is designed to receive signals or communications from 

orbiting satellites. 

 
40 Replaces 23A.16.020.D. 
41 New definition.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 460 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-29 

2. School. A building or group of buildings for educational and/or classroom purposes 

operated by the Berkeley Unified School District (BUSD) and/or other private or public 

education institutions offering a general course of study at primary, secondary or high school 

levels which is equivalent to the courses of study at such levels offered by the BUSD. Day 

nurseries, vocational and trade schools are considered schools only when incidental to the 

conduct of a school as defined by this chapter. 

3. School, Vocational. 42 An educational institution which provides secondary or post-

secondary training for technical skills required to complete the tasks of a specific job. 

4. Seasonal Product Sales. Sales of products for a limited duration of time, usually associated 

with a seasonal holiday, including but not limited to, sales of Christmas trees and pumpkins. 

5. Service Use. A business in which no more than fifty percent (50%) of its gross receipts are 

subject to retail sales taxes. 

6. Services to Buildings and Dwellings. A business that provides services to customers at a 

location other than the business location. This use includes carpet/upholstery cleaning 

services, security services, and janitorial services. 

7. Senior Congregate Housing. A type of group living accommodations occupied by persons 

60 years or older who live in sleeping rooms without kitchen facilities, and which contains 

congregate bath and/or dining facilities or rooms. This use excludes community care 

facilities/homes and nursing homes. 

8. Setback. A distance between a lot line and a building or other site improvement. See also 

23.106.0670 (Setbacks).  

9. Setback Area. See 23.106.070.B (Setback Areas).  

10. Setback Line. A line parallel to a specified lot line which defines a required setback area. 

11. Shed, Garden and/or Tool. An accessory structure designed to store tools, lawn and 

garden care or maintenance equipment or materials, and which is not designed to contain 

any habitable space. 

12. Shelter, Homeless or Women’s. See Transitional Housing. 

13. Short-Term Rental. See Section 23.314.020 (Definitions). 

14. Sidewalk Cafe Seating. Tables and/or chairs (including benches) as defined in Municipal 

Code Section 14.48.150 (Sidewalk cafe seating, benches and planters). 

15. Sign. Any sign as defined in Municipal Code Section 20.08.220 (Sign). 

16. Single-Family Dwelling. A building designed for and occupied exclusively by one 

household. 

 
42 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 461 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-30   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

17. Single Residential Occupancy (SRO) Room. A room for residential or sleeping purposes 

in a residential hotel which is designed for occupancy of one person only. 

18. Skateboard Ramp. A ramp, platform, course or facility used for skateboard riding and 

made of wood or other solid material. 

19. Slope.43 The steepness of a site, measured as the ratio of the vertical distance to the 

horizontal distance between the highest and lowest points of the site. See Figure 23.502.020-

5. 

FIGURE 23.502.020-5: GRADE OR SLOPE 

 

20. Small Vehicle Sales and Service. An establishment which sells or leases long-term new, 

used, or pre-owned motorized vehicles other than passenger automobiles and trucks which 

are characterized by fewer than four wheels or a minimal frame.  Types of vehicles sold or 

leased by this use include motorcycles, scooters, three-wheel motorcycles, electric carts, 

electric scooters, and such vehicles designed or refurbished for alternative fuels/power 

sources (alternative to conventional gasoline). 

21. Smoke Shop. An establishment engaged primarily in the sale of tobacco and/or tobacco-

related products. 

22. Solar Energy Device/Equipment. Any solar collector or other solar energy device or any 

structural design feature of a building of which the primary purpose is to provide for the 

collection, storage or distribution of solar energy for space heating or cooling, water heating 

or the generation of electricity. 

23. Sorority House. A building used for group living accommodations by an organization 

recognized by the UC Berkeley, or other institution of higher learning. 

24. Source Lot. See Lot, Source. 

25. Story. See Section 23.106.060 (Story) 

26. Street. A public or private thoroughfare which provides principal means of access to 

abutting lots, including but not limited to, avenue, place, way, manor, drive, circle, lane, 

 
43 New definition. Figure is existing.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 462 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-31 

court, boulevard, highway, road and any other thoroughfare except an alley or a path as 

defined in this chapter. 

27. Street Line. The boundary between a lot and an adjacent street. 

28. Structural Alteration. Any physical change to or removal of the supporting members of a 

building, foundation or bearing walls, columns, beams or girders or creation or enlargement 

of a window or door, change of a roofline or roof shape, including creating, enlarging or 

extending a dormer. 

29. Structural Alteration, Public Safety. Any structural alteration or physical change to a 

building that provides greater safety to the public or occupants by strengthening the building 

against seismic activity, which does not result in new floor area except that created by 

necessary structural improvements or physical changes as required under Municipal Code 

Chapter 19.38 and 19.39. 

30. Structure. Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires location on the 

ground or attachment to something having location on the ground. A building is a structure 

for the purposes of this chapter. 

a. Accessory Structure. A detached structure, other than an accessory building, in which 

non-habitable uses or activities other than the principal use of the property are 

conducted. Residential accessory structures include, but are not limited to, enclosed 

structures such as garages, carports, garden or tool sheds, and non-enclosed structures 

such as, but not limited to, fences, gazebos, ground-mounted satellite dishes, skateboard 

ramps and wheelchair ramps. Non-residential accessory structures include, but are not 

limited to, storage buildings, garages, sheds and other outbuildings. 

b. Subterranean Structure. A roofed structure constructed underground, with no building 

stories aboveground, of which the roof does not exceed 3 feet above the pre-existing 

grade. Such structures are either separated from a building or connected to a building 

only by means of a passageway or hallway with no openings to finished grade except for 

a doorway. 

c. Temporary Structure. A tent, tent-house, trailer, mobile office, mobile home or other 

movable structure or other temporary structure whose construction does not require a 

building permit. 

31. Studio. See Art/Craft Studio and Dance, Exercise, Martial Arts or Music Studio. 

32. Supportive Housing. As defined in Health and Safety Code 50675.14(b): Any dwelling unit 

or a Group Living Accommodation, that is occupied by the target population as defined in 

subdivision (d) of Section 53260 of the CA Health and Safety Code with no limit on length 

of stay, that is linked to on- or off-site services that assist the supportive housing residents in 

retaining the housing, improving their health status, and maximizing their ability to live and, 

when possible, work in the community. 

T. “T” Terms. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 463 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-32   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

1. Temporary Use. See Use, Temporary. 

2. Tenant Space Reconfiguration. any physical change to an existing building’s walls 

separating leased spaces so as to change the number of lease spaces for commercial 

businesses or the square footage of leasable floor area of an existing commercial lease space. 

3. Theater. Any establishment that has a permanent stage or screen for the presentation of live 

or recorded entertainment and which contains an audience viewing hall or room, with fixed 

seats. Theaters may be used for live performances of music, dance, plays, orations, and other 

stage performances and/or the showing of projected motion pictures and videotapes.  

4. Tire Sales and Service.44 An establishment that sells, installs, and provides services for 

vehicle tires.  

5. Tourist Hotel. See Hotel, Tourist. 

6. Tourist Hotel Room. A sleeping room used, designed or intended for occupancy by 

transient guests for a period not to exceed 14 consecutive days, which is not a residential 

hotel room or a dwelling unit. 

7. Townhouse. A dwelling unit in which ownership is in the form of a condominium 

arrangement which is located in a separate building from any other dwelling unit. 

8. Transitional Housing. From Health and Safety Code Section 50675.2: Any dwelling unit 

or a Group Living Accommodation configured as a rental housing development, but 

operated under program requirements that call for the termination of assistance and 

recirculation of the assisted units to another eligible program recipient at some 

predetermined future point in time. 

9. Treehouse. An accessory structure built within, on or above the branches of any living tree. 

10. Two-Family Dwelling. A building or use of a lot designed for, or occupied exclusively by, 

two households. 

U. “U” Terms. 

1. Unenclosed Accessory Structure. An accessory structure that does not have a roof, 

and/or does not have walls on more than two sides. Unenclosed accessory structures 

include, but are not limited to, pergolas, trellises, shade structures, arbors, retaining walls, 

solar energy equipment, ground or pole-mounted satellite dishes, play structures, skateboard 

ramps, tree houses and windmills. 

2. Urban Agriculture. The production of horticultural crops for harvest, sale, and/or 

donation, including community gardens. This use excludes include cannabis cultivation and 

does not pertain to raising animals.  

 
44 New definition.  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 464 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-33 

a. Low-Impact Urban Agriculture. Urban agriculture that meets the thresholds in 

Section 23.318.040 (Thresholds). 

b. High-Impact Urban Agriculture. Urban agriculture that does not meet one or more 

of the thresholds in Section 23.318.040 (Thresholds). 

3. Urban Agricultural Products. Horticultural crops including fruits, vegetables, nuts, 

flowers, herbs, and any other cultivar, and value-added products made from raw agricultural 

products grown at the site such as jams, fruit preserves, herb blends, and floral bouquets. 

Urban agricultural products do not include cannabis products. 

4. Usable Open Space. Outdoor space, including natural and landscaped ground areas, pools, 

patios, decks and balconies designed for active or passive recreational use and which is 

accessible to the occupants of a building on the same lot. 

5. Usable Space. Any portion of a building or structure which is designed to be or can be used 

as habitable space, which has finished walls (sheetrock or plaster) and/or is heated with any 

fixed furnace or central heating system, including bathrooms, halls, garages and laundry 

rooms. Storage areas with over 6 feet of vertical space shall also be considered usable space. 

6. Use. The purpose for which land or premises or a building thereon is designed, arranged, or 

intended or for which it is or may be occupied or maintained. 

7. Use, Accessory. A use that is of the same nature as or complementary to the principal use 

of a lot or a building located on the same lot, and that is not independent of the principal 

use. 

8. Use, Ancillary. A use that is both dependent on and commonly associated with the 

principal permitted use of a lot and/or building and that does not result in different or 

greater impacts than the principal use. 

9. Use, Incidental. A use of a lot and/or building that is secondary to the principal permitted 

use, but that by nature could be independent. An incidental use shall not exceed 25 percent 

of the floor area of the primary use, and if it consists of the commercial sales of a different 

line of products or services than the primary use, such incidental use may not generate gross 

receipts in excess of 33 percent of the gross receipts generated by the primary use. 

10. Use, Primary. The main purpose for which a site is developed and occupied, including the 

activities that are conducted on the site a majority of the hours during which activities occur. 

11. Use, Temporary. A use of a building, property or land area, that is limited in duration of 

time, does not permanently alter the character or physical facilities of the premises or 

property and is in keeping with the purposes listed in the district where it is located. 

12. Utility. An entity which provides water, sewage collection, electricity, natural gas, telephone, 

cable television or other public service or good to the public. 

V. “V” Terms. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 465 of 511



SECTION  23.502.020   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-34   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

1. Vehicle Parts Stores. An establishment that sells automobile, truck or other vehicle parts or 

equipment. This use excludes service of vehicle parts. 

2. Vehicle Rentals. An establishment which rents automobiles, trucks, motorcycles, boats, or 

other motor-driven vehicles that are stored either indoors or outdoors on its premises. 

3. Vehicle Repair and Service. An establishment that repairs, services, paints and/or 

conducts bodywork on automobiles, trucks or other motor-driven vehicles on its premises. 

Includes restoration of antique and classic cars. 

4. Vehicle Sales. An establishment which sells, or leases long-term, new, used or previously 

owned automobiles or trucks; restored vintage, specialty, or antique automobiles or trucks; 

or automobiles or trucks refurbished for alternative fuels (alternative to conventional 

gasoline). Ancillary uses and services that are supporting of an vehicle sales use may include 

the sale and installation of automobile parts, accessories and equipment; repair, maintenance, 

bodywork and other service of automobiles; loaning of vehicles to service patrons; storage of 

vehicles outdoors; and automobile washes. This use excludes establishments where more 

than 50 percent of vehicles sold are previously owned or used (see vehicles sales, used).    

5. Vehicle Sales, Used. An establishment which sells automobiles and/or trucks of which 

more than fifty percent at any time are previously owned and/or used. 

6. Vehicle Sharing (which includes “Car Sharing”). A membership-based service that: 

a. Provides a mobility service that helps meet City goals for alternative transportation in 

order to enhance mobility options, reduce congestion and promote walking, biking and 

transit; 

b. Is primarily designed for shorter time and shorter distance trips that can function as an 

extension of the public transportation network; 

c. Offers membership to all qualified drivers in the City; 

d. Does not require a separate written agreement or human intervention to access vehicles 

each time a member reserves and uses a vehicle; 

e. Offers members access to a dispersed network of shared automotive vehicles, available 

24 hours per day, 7 days a week, at self-service locations where the vehicles are not 

attended; and 

f. Provides vehicle usage without restriction at hourly and/or per mile rates that are 

directly proportional to usage and include fuels (gas), insurance, maintenance, and 

reserved parking when vehicles are not in use. 

7. Vehicle Sharing Pod. Any location reserved for shared vehicles that: 

a. Is located in a location approved for off-street parking or municipal parking lot; or 

b. Is located on street in a site designated by the City for this use; and 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 466 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.020  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-35 

c. Does not involve more than five shared vehicles per vehicle sharing service provider; 

and 

d. Where the shared vehicles must be parked in assigned spaces in conformance with all 

applicable laws and ordinances. 

8. Vehicle Wash. An establishment where the Washing, waxing, or cleaning of automobiles or 

similar light vehicles are the primary use. Includes self-serve washing facilities.  

9. Vehicle Wrecking. An establishment which engages in the on-site dismantling or wrecking 

of automobiles, trucks, or trailers for the purpose of obtaining parts, metal, or materials for 

re-use or resale or the storage and keeping of such dismantled parts. 

10. Veterinary Clinic. A facility providing veterinarian and/or medical care or treatment for 

animals. This use includes pet hospitals but excludes kennels or other animal boarding 

facilities for non-medical care of animals of over 24 hours.  

11. Video Tape/Disk Rental Stores.45 A commercial establishment where the primary 

business is the rental of video tapes and DVD for the short-term use of customers.  

12. View Corridor. A significant view of the Berkeley Hills, San Francisco Bay, Mt. Tamalpais, 

or a significant landmark such as the Campanile, Golden Gate Bridge, and Alcatraz Island or 

any other significant vista that substantially enhances the value and enjoyment of real 

property. 

W. “W” Terms. 

1. Warehouse.46 A facility for the storage of commercial goods. Includes storage of goods for 

a contiguous and directly accessible retail space. Excludes mini-storage. 

2. Warehouse-Based Non-Store Retailers. Retail activity that is based on sales without on-

site customer visits. This use includes businesses engaged in catalog sales, internet sales, and 

phone orders. Goods may be both stored and distributed from site. This use includes 

delivery-only cannabis retailers located in the Manufacturing (M) district. 

3. Wheelchair Ramp. A sloping ramp, designed in width and steepness to allow a person in a 

wheelchair to reach an entrance doorway of a building or a landing at the same level as the 

doorway. 

4. Wholesale Trade. The sale of goods to other businesses for resale. Any use defined as 

conducting Wholesale Trade under Municipal Code Section 9.04.150 is considered a 

wholesale trade establishment. 

5. Windmill. A device that converts the kinetic energy of the wind to a usable form of 

electrical or mechanical energy, usually by means of rotating blades. 

 
45 New definition 
46 New definition. 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 467 of 511



SECTION  23.502.030   CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY 

 

PAGE 502-36   BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE 

X. “X” Terms. 

Y. “Y” Terms. 

Z. “Z” Terms. 

1. Zoning Ordinance. Title 23 of the City of Berkeley Municipal Code. 

 

23.502.030 – ACRONYMS 
Table 23.502.030-1 shows terms corresponding to acronyms used in the Zoning Ordinance.47 For 

zoning district names that correspond to district symbols (e.g., R-1 for Single Family Residential), 

see Section 23.108.020 (Zoning Districts). 

TABLE 23.502.030-1: ACRONYMS USED IN ZONING ORDINANCE  

Acronym Term 

ADA Americans with Disabilities Act 

AUP Administrative Use Permit 

DU Dwelling Unit 

FAR Floor Area Ratio 

HUD U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 

Development 

LPC Landmarks Preservation Commission 

NPO Neighborhood Preservation Ordinance 

TSF Transportation Services Fee 

UBC Uniform Building Code 

UP(PH) Use Permit, Public Hearing 

ZAB  Zoning Adjustments Board 

ZC   Zoning Certificate 

 

  

 
47 23A.08.020 

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 468 of 511



CHAPTER 23.502 – GLOSSARY  SECTION  23.502.030  
 

BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE  PAGE 502-37 

This page is intentionally blank. 

 

 

 

  

Item 9 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 469 of 511



Page 470 of 511



BASELINE ZONING ORDINANCE CONSENT CHANGES MATRIX 

Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

23.102 – Introductory Provisions 

Effective Date Statement of when the Ordinance becomes effective 23.102.020 NEW Provide effective date 

Authority States that if state law referenced in Zoning Ordinance is amended, the Zoning 
Ordinance is deemed amended to reference the amended state law 

23.102.030 NEW Added for clarity 

Laws of Other 
Agencies 

Removes statement that uses and structures must comply with regulations and 
laws of other governmental agencies. 

23.102.050.B 23B.56.040 It is unnecessary to 
state that uses and 
structures must 
comply with the law.  
Removed for clarity 

Approvals Required Describes approvals required for land uses and development 23.102.050 D NEW Expands on existing 
Section 23A.12.010 to 
reflect current 
practice 

Conflict with State 
or Federal 
Regulations 

Explains how to handle conflicts with State and Fed law 23.102.070 NEW Consistent with the 
Supremacy Clause of 
the United States 
Constitution and 
Article XI, Section 5(a) 
of the California 
Constitution 

Conflicts with Other 
City Regulations 

New language: “Where the Zoning Ordinance conflicts with other ordinances, 
resolutions, or regulations of the City of Berkeley, the more restrictive controls.” 

23.102.070.B NEW Clarity needed on 
how to handle 
conflicting 
requirements. The 
Zoning Ordinance 
does not supersede 
other City regulations. 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 471 of 511



 

Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

Conflicts with 
Private Agreements 

Adds statement that the City is not responsible for monitoring or enforcing 
private agreements. 

23.102.070.C NEW Clarifies City role in 
neighbor disputes 
involving private 
agreements 

Pending 
Applications 

Clarifies status of applications submitted during transition from ZO to BZO 23.102.080 C NEW Necessary to inform 
status of applications 
submitted during 
transition to BZO 

Nonconformities Defines what is considered nonconforming at the time of BZO adoption 23.102.080 E NEW Adds up-front 
reference to  
nonconformity 
chapter alongside 
other transitional 
provisions 

23.104 – Interpreting the Zoning Ordinance  

Purpose States purpose of chapter 23.104.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter 

Authority Clarifies existing Zoning Officer authority 23.104.020 NEW 
see 

23B.12.020 

More accurately state 
ZO’s authority 

Rules of 
Interpretation 

New rules of interpretation relating to: meaning and intent; harmonious 
construction; lists and examples; references to other regulations, publications, 
and documents; technical and non-technical terms; terms not defined; public 
officials and agencies; tenses and plurals. New harmonious construction 
language replaces existing language: “In case of conflict between any of the 
provisions of this Ordinance, the most restrictive shall apply.” 

23.104.030 23A.080.01
0 

Provides for 
consistent application 
of rules 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 472 of 511



 

Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

Zoning Map Clarifies intention to follow city limits 23.104.050 A 3 NEW Greater clarity to 
resolve uncertainty in 
zoning district 
boundaries  

23.106 Rules and Measurement 

Chapter Purpose States chapter purpose 23.106.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter 

Building Separation Defines method of building separation measurement (outer wall to outer wall) 23.106.080 A NEW Codifies existing 
practice and increases 
clarity 

23.108 –Zoning Districts and Map  

Chapter Purpose States chapter purpose 23.108.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter 

C-C and C-U 
Districts 

Name of C-1 changed to Corridor Commercial (C-C). New University Avenue 
Commercial (C-U) district added with University Avenue Strategic Plan Overlay 
standards. 

23.108.020.A 23A.16.020.
A 

Simplifies and clarifies 
C-1 rules inside and 
outside of University 
Avenue Strategic Plan 
area 

Purpose of Overlay 
Zones 

Explains purpose of overlay zones 23.108.020.C.1 NEW Provide definition; 
explains that Overlay 
Zone regulations are 
in addition to 
regulations of 
underlying zone (not a 
replacement) 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 473 of 511



 

Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

Applicability of 
Overlay Zone 
Standards 

Existing language: “the height, coverage, parking and usable open space shall 
comply with the provisions of the underlying district.” 

BZO language: “If the overlay zone applies a standard to a property that conflicts 
with the underlying district, the overlay zone standard governs. If the overlay 
zone is silent on a standard in the underlying district, the underlying district 
standard applies.” 

23.108.020.C.2 23A.16.030.
C. 

Corrects statement 
inconsistent with 
existing use of overlay 
zones  

23.202 – Residential Districts  

Allowed Land Uses In Residential Districts, unlisted uses are prohibited 23.202.020.B NEW Codifies existing 
practice, making 
explicit that if a use is 
not listed in the 
Allowed Uses Table 
for Residential 
Districts, the use is 
prohibited. 

Open Space for 
ADUs 

Removes requirement for ADUs to include usable open space. All standards for 
ADUs will be addressed in updated ADU chapter. 

Table 23.202-2 23D.16.070.
F 

Codifies existing 
practice consistent 
with Gov’t Code 
Section 65852.2 

23.206 – Manufacturing Districts  

Industrial 
Performance 
Standards 

Removes statements allowing City Manager to establish industrial performance 
standards.  

23.206.040.F 23E.64.070.
E; 
23E.72.070.
E; 
23E.76.070.
E; 23E.80.D; 
23E.84.070.
H 

Language is 
unnecessary and 
implies authorization 
is required for other 
similar requirements. 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 474 of 511

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65852.2.
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65852.2.


Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

23.302 – Supplemental Use Regulations 

Warehouse Storage 
for Retail Use 

Allows on-site storage of goods as an accessory use to a primary retail use in all 
districts where retail is permitted 

23.302.070.J NEW Codifies existing 
practice of allowing 
retail establishments 
to store their goods 
on-site if retail is 
permitted. 

23.304 – General Development Standards 

Setback Projections 
– Disabled Access

Allows projections into setbacks to accommodate the disabled with a 
reasonable accommodations request. 

23.304.030.B.4 23D.04.030.
A.2

Confirm with The 
Americans with 
Disabilities Act, and 
the California Fair 
Employment and 
Housing Act 

Building Height 
Projections – Public 
Buildings in 
Residential Districts 

Deletes “the height limit for schools, buildings for religious assembly use, 
hospitals and other public buildings shall not exceed the height limit permitted 
for that district.  This is true for all uses.”  

23.304.050.A 23D.04.020.
A; 
23E.04.020.
A 

Removal of 
extraneous language. 

Calling out these uses 
implies other uses 
may exceed height 
limit, which is not 
true. 

Adeline Corridor 
Plan 

States that projects in the Adeline Plan Area are subject to mitigation measures 
in the Adeline Plan FEIR 

23.304.140.C NEW Adds Adeline Corridor 
Plan to list of existing 
plans  

23.310 – Alcohol Beverage Sales and Service 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 475 of 511



Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

Chapter Purpose States purpose of chapter 23.310.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter 

23.320 – Cannabis Uses 

Chapter Purpose States purpose of chapter 23.320.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter 

23.324 – Nonconforming Uses, Structures and Buildings 

Chapter Purpose States purpose of chapter 23.324.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter 

23.326 – Demolition and Dwelling Unit Control 

Chapter Purpose States purpose of chapter 23.326.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter 

23.328 – Inclusionary Housing 

Required 
Inclusionary Units in 
Avenues Plan Area 

Deletes “Except as provided in this chapter” from 23C.12.080E, which conflicts 
with 23C.12.080B: “Within this area, the provisions of this section superseded 
any inconsistent provisions of this chapter.” 

23.328.070.D.1 23C.12.080.
E 

Maintain internal 
consistency 

23.402 – Administrative Responsibility 

Chapter Purpose States purpose of chapter 23.402.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter 

Review and 
Decision-Making 
Authority 

Describes purpose of summary table 23.402.020.A NEW Description of table 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 476 of 511



Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

Review and 
Decision-Making 
Authority 

Defines authority roles (Recommend, Decision, Appeal) 23.402.020.B NEW Explains notation 
meaning 

Planning and 
Development 
Department 

Defines duties of Planning and Development Department 23.402.030 NEW Codifies existing role 
and summarizes 
responsibilities  

Landmarks 
Preservation 
Commission 

Refers reader to BMC Chapter 3.24 for roles and responsibilities of Landmarks 
Preservation Commission 

23.402.050.B NEW Provides clarity on 
LPC role 

ZAB Responsibilities 
and Powers 

Provides that City Council may assign additional responsibilities to ZAB 23.402.070.C.2 NEW Codifies existing 
Council authority 

City Council Provides that City Council has authority to take actions related to the Zoning 
Ordinance consistent with existing law 

23.402.090.C NEW Codifies existing 
Council authority 

23.404 – Common Permit Requirements 

Purpose and 
Applicability 

States purpose of chapter; clarifies that the chapter applies to all discretionary 
permits, not just use permits and variances 

23.404.010 NEW BZO standard includes 
purpose statement 
for each chapter. 
Clarifies existing 
practice 

Multiple Permit 
Applications 

Clarifies how applications are handled when they require more than one 
discretionary permit 

23.402.020.F NEW Codifies existing 
practice 

Review Timeline Adds statement that City will abide by Permit Streamlining Act 23.404.030.A.3 NEW Codifies existing 
practice. Recognizes 
compliance with state 
law is required 

Project Evaluation 
and Staff Reports 

Describes role of staff in reviewing, analyzing and presenting project 
applications 

23.404.030.C NEW Codifies existing 
practice 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 477 of 511



 

Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

CEQA Add statement that City will review projects for CEQA compliance 23.404.030.D NEW Codifies existing 
practice.  Recognizes 
that compliance with 
state law is required 

Timing of Notice Permits PC or CC to extend notice periods for applications of major significance 23.404.040.C.3 NEW Best practice in 
compliance with Gov’t 
Code Section 65091 

Zoning Ordinance 
Amendment 
Noticing 

Adds notice requirements for Zoning Ordinance Amendments 23.404.040.C.4 NEW Adds notice 
requirement for 
Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments.  New 
requirement here is 
the same as for 
discretionary permits 

Additional Notice “The Zoning Officer, Planning Commission or City Council may require additional 
public notice as determined necessary or desirable.” 

23.404.040.C.7 NEW Codifies existing 
practice 

Public Notice for 
Design Review 

States that there is no requirement to mail or post notices in advance of a 
Design Review Committee meeting 

23.404.040.C.2.b NEW Codifies existing 
practice 

Public Hearings Clarifies that hearings will be conducted consistent with procedures developed 
by the review authority 

23.404.050.A NEW Codifies existing 
practice and 
recognizes that 
review authorities are 
empowered to create 
their own procedures. 

Time and Place of 
Hearings 

Clarifies that meetings will be held at time and place for which notice was given 
unless there is not a quorum 

23.404.050.B NEW Codifies legal 
requirement 
consistent with Gov’t 
Code Section 65091 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 478 of 511

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=1.&title=7.&part=&chapter=2.7.&article=
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displayText.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&division=1.&title=7.&part=&chapter=2.7.&article=
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65091
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65091


 

Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

CEQA Action Adds that action on a permit’s CEQA determination must be taken before a 
permit is approved 

23.404.050.H NEW Codifies CEQA 
Guidelines Sections 
15074 and 15090 

Exceptions to 
Protect 
Constitutional 
Rights 

Allows the City Council as well as ZAB to make exceptions to protect 
constitutional rights and clarifies that the exception can be made when acting 
on any permit and is not tied to a Variance 

23.404.050.J 23B.44.050 Best practice. Council 
needs this ability in 
addition to ZAB to 
protect City from legal 
challenge 

Payment for Service Adds that applicant shall pay for mediation or conflict resolution services 23.040.050.K.7 NEW Codifies existing 
practice 

Effective Dates Adds effective dates of Council actions on Zoning Ordinance amendments and 
legislative matters, and permits, appeals and non-legislative matters. 
 
Adds effective dates of actions by the Zoning Officer, Design Review Committee 
or ZAB 

23.404.060.A NEW Codifies current 
practice and legal 
requirements 
consistent with Gov’t 
Code Section 65853-
65857 
 

Lapsed Permits Adds that if a permit is not exercised after one year, it will not lapse if the 
applicant has made a substantial good faith effort to obtain a building permit 
and begin construction. 

23.404.060.C.2 23B.56.100.
C&D 

Best practice 

Lapsed Permits Defines a lapsed permit as “void and of no further force and effect,” and that a 
new permit application mist be submitted to establish a use or structure. 

23.404.060.C.3 NEW Provides explicit 
definition of what a 
lapsed permit means 
and makes explicit the 
requirement to 
reapply. 

Permit Revocation - 
City Council Hearing 

Removes requirement for the City Council hearing must occur within 30 days 
after the ZAB issued its recommendation. 

23.404.080.D.2 23B.60.050.
B 

CC hearing within 30 
days of ZAB decision 
is frequently 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 479 of 511

https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/IA4047590D48811DEBC02831C6D6C108E?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&bhcp=1
https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/IAB2AE750D48811DEBC02831C6D6C108E?viewType=FullText&originationContext=documenttoc&transitionType=CategoryPageItem&contextData=(sc.Default)


 

Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

infeasible.  Council 
can hold hearing “at 
its discretion.” 

23.406 – Specific Permit Requirements  

Variances - 
Eligibility 

Existing Language: “The Board may grant Variances to vary or modify the strict 
application of any of the regulations or provisions of this Ordinance with 
reference to the use of property, the height of buildings, the yard setbacks of 
buildings, the percentage of lot coverage, the lot area requirements, or the 
parking space requirements of this Ordinance.” 

BZO Language: “The ZAB may grant a Variance to allow for deviation from any 
provision in the Zoning Ordinance related allowed land uses, use-related 
standards, and development standards.” 

23.406.050.B.1 23B.44.010 ZAB should have 
authority to grant a 
variance to any use or 
development-related 
standard, not just 
uses, heights, yard 
setbacks, lot 
coverage, lot area, or 
parking  

Variances – Not 
Allowed 

Adds: “A Variance may not be granted to allow deviation from a requirement of 
the General Plan.”  

23.406.050.C N/A Codifies state law 
consistent with Gov’t 
Code Section 65906. 

Design Review – 
Changes to 
Approved Projects 

Describes features of minor changes to approved projects that may be approved 
administratively: “A change that does not involve a feature of the project that 
was: 1) a specific consideration by the review authority in granting the approval; 
2) a condition of approval; or 3) a basis for a finding in the project CEQA 
determination. 

23.406.070.N N/A Codifies current 
practice 

Reasonable 
Accommodations – 
Review Procedure 

Existing Language: “If an application under this chapter is filed without any 
accompanying application for another approval, permit or entitlement under 
this title or Title 21, it shall be heard and acted upon at the same time and in the 
same manner, and be subject to the same procedures, as the application that 
would normally be required to modify the provision which is the application 
seeks to modify, as determined by the Zoning Officer.”  

23.406.090.E.1 23B.52.040.
B 

The Americans with 
Disabilities Act, and 
the California Fair 
Employment and 
Housing Act 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 480 of 511

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65906
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65906


Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

BZO Language: “For a Reasonable Accommodation application submitted 
independently from any other planning permit application, the Zoning Officer 
shall take action within 45 days of receiving the application.” 

Existing language requires the application to be reviewed in the same manner as 
a Variance. This conflicts with state and federal law. 

23.410 – Appeals 

Appeals – 
Remanded Matters 

Removes option for prior review authority to reconsider application without a 
public hearing. 

23.410.040.G 23B.32.060.
D. 

Remanded matters 
require public hearing 

23.412 – Zoning Ordinance Amendments 

Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments – 
Initiation  

Deletes language to allow for amendments initiated without a public hearing. 23.412.020 23A.20.020.
C 

Existing language 
conflicts with Gov’t 
Code Section 65853-
65857 

Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments – 
Planning 
Commission 
Hearing 

Removes requirement to hold Planning Commission hearing within 30 days of 
initiation.  

23.412.040.A 23A.20.030.
A 

CC hearing within 30 
days of PC decision is 
frequently infeasible.  
Council can hold 
hearing consistent 
with Public Notice 
section. 

Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments – 
Effect of Planning 
Commission 
Recommendation 

Deletes language that uses or structures not yet established must conform to 
Planning Commission recommendation before Council approval, when 
amendments become effective only after Council adoption.   

23.412.040.C 23A.20.050.
B 

New regulations can 
only take effect after 
Council adoption.  

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 481 of 511

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853


Topic Description BZO Location Existing 
Location 

Rationale for Change 

Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments – City 
Council Hearing 

Removes language requiring the Planning Commission recommendation to be 
forwarded to the Council within 30 days and consideration by Council within 60 
days for Commission decision.  

23.412.050.A 
23A.20.040 CC hearing within 60 

days of PC decision is 
frequently infeasible.  
Council can hold 
hearing consistent 
with Public Hearings 
and Decision section. 

Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments – City 
Council Action 

Removes option for Council to act on amendment without a public hearing. 23.412.050.A 23A.20.060.
A&B 

Conflicts with Gov’t 
Code Section 65853-
65857 

Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments – 
Effective Date 

Removes language about “more restrictive” amendments going into effective 
immediately upon adoption of ordinance.  

23.412.050.C 23A.20.070 Conflicts with Gov’t 
Code Section 65853-
65857 

Zoning Ordinance 
Amendments – 
Findings 

Adds findings for Zoning Ordinance amendments 23.412.060 N/A Best Practice. 

23.502 – Glossary 

Defined Terms Adds definitions to undefined terms in existing Zoning Ordinance 23.502 23F.04 Best practice. 

Item 9 - Attachment 2 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 482 of 511

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=GOV&sectionNum=65853


 

Planning and Development Department 
Land Use Planning Division 

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510.981.7420 
E-mail: planning@cityofberkeley.info

MEMORANDUM 

DATE:  August 5, 2020 

TO: Members of the Planning Commission 

FROM: Justin Horner, Associate Planner 

SUBJECT: Review of the Baseline Zoning Ordinance, Phase 1 of the Zoning Ordinance 
Revision Project 

INTRODUCTION 
Staff requests that the Planning Commission receive a status report and provide initial 
feedback on the Draft Baseline Zoning Ordinance (Draft BZO—Attachment 1) prepared 
as Phase 1 of the Zoning Ordinance Revision Project (ZORP). The ZORP Planning 
Commission Subcommittee reviewed the full Draft BZO on July 7, 2020 and 
recommended that it move forward for public review at Planning Commission and at the 
Zoning Adjustments Board.   

BACKGROUND 
ZORP originates from a 2016 City Council Referral to “direct staff to make structural 
improvements to the Zoning Ordinance, communication improvements to better explain 
complex technical and procedural elements to the public, and organizational 
improvements to the Land Use Planning Division.” The City Council allocated a budget of 
$300,000 for this effort. 

Following this direction, the City hired consultant Ben Noble and Clarion and Associates 
to work in partnership with planning staff to revise the City’s Zoning Ordinance (Title 23) 
to: 

 Make the document easier to understand and administer;

 Clarify City zoning rules and procedures; and

 Enhance customer service for applicants and the general public.
The ZORP project is divided into two phases. Phase 1 will produce the Draft BZO which 
will improve the existing Zoning Ordinance’s organization, format, and writing style. Phase 
1 also includes a number of “consent changes” that are minor substantive changes that 
clarify terms or regulations to reflect current practice.  Phase 1 will not include any 

Item 9 - Attachment 3 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 483 of 511



Review BZO 
 

changes the Planning Commission considers major substantive policy changes to 
existing rules, regulations, or procedures. The Planning Commission is requested to 
review and discuss the Draft BZO at this meeting as part of Phase 1. 

In Phase 2, the City will make major substantive changes to the Zoning Ordinance to 
improve the City’s permitting process, implement City goals, and introduce new policies. 
Phase 2 revisions will be aligned with Planning Division initiatives and City Council goals, 
potentially including work related to objective standards development and streamlining 
affordable housing production.  Work on Phase 2 is anticipated to begin in September, 
2020 within the ZORP Subcommittees. 

ZORP Subcommittee 

In 2017, the Planning Commission appointed three members to the ZORP Subcommittee 
to provide feedback to the project team on draft ZORP materials. The Zoning Adjustments 
Board (ZAB) also formed a ZORP Subcommittee to meet concurrently with the Planning 
Commission ZORP Subcommittee. The two subcommittees have met concurrently five 
times to review draft BZO chapters. On July 7, 2020 the ZORP Subcommittees reviewed 
the complete Draft BZO, expressed support for the Draft BZO, and recommended that 
the Draft BZO move forward for public review and public hearings, completing its work on 
Phase 1 of ZORP.  The ZORP Subcommittees will being their work on Phase 2 in 
September, 2020.   

DISCUSSION 
Structure and Notation of the BZO 
The Draft BZO, once it is adopted, will replace the existing Title 23 (and all sub-titles) in 
its entirety and will function as the City’s new Zoning Ordinance. The Draft BZO is 
organized into five divisions, as follows: 

 Division 1 – General Provisions.  Division 1 legally establishes the Zoning
Ordinance, identifies rules for interpreting the Zoning Ordinance, and identifies the
Zoning districts and overlay zones established in the Zoning Map.

 Division 2 – Zoning Districts.  Division 2 contains all of the zoning districts and
overlay zones.  It identifies the allowed land uses and development standards that
are unique to each zoning district and overlay zone.

 Division 3 – Citywide Provisions.  Division 3 contains standards that apply to all
properties in all zoning districts. These include supplemental use regulations for
specific uses, general development standards, parking requirements,
nonconformities, and other topics.

 Division 4 – Permits and Administration.  Division 4 identifies procedures and
requirements for permits and other approvals required by the Zoning Ordinance, and
procedures for the administration of the Zoning Ordinance.

 Division 5 – Glossary.  Division 5 defines all specialized terms used in the Zoning
Ordinance, including the land uses allowed in each zoning district.

Each Draft BZO chapter in Attachment 1 contains one or more commentary boxes
summarizing the chapter’s content and its origins in the existing Zoning Ordinance.

Item 9 - Attachment 3 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 484 of 511



Review BZO 
 

For each section of the Draft BZO, a footnote identifies where that section currently 
resides in the Zoning Ordinance. The commentary boxes and footnotes are included 
to aid Planning Commission in their review and will be removed when the final BZO is 
adopted. 

Consent Changes 
The Draft BZO contains “consent changes,” (Consent Changes Summary – Attachment 
2) which are minor substantive changes to the existing Zoning Ordinance that clarify
terms or regulations to reflect current practice.  Consent changes should not result in
policy changes and are not intended to generate concern or controversy. Attachment 2
lists each Draft BZO consent change, describes the change, and identifies the changed
content location in the Draft BZO and in the existing Zoning Ordinance.  Per the request
of the ZORP Subcommittees, each consent change is also noted in footnotes in the Draft
BZO, as an aid to reviewing. All footnotes will be removed as part of the adoption of the
final BZO.

Review of BZO Project Objectives 
Phase 1 of ZORP consists of the development of the Draft BZO.  As noted above, the 
Draft BZO does not include any substantive policy changes; the intent of the Draft BZO 
is to make the Zoning Ordinance clearer and more user-friendly. To that end, the ZORP 
Subcommittees established the following goals and project objectives for the 
development and review of the Draft BZO:   

 The average person can understand the Zoning Ordinance.
 Users can easily find what they are looking for and are unlikely to overlook

something important.
 It is clear which rules apply to a project or property.
 Important rules are prominent and not hidden in unexpected places.
 The Zoning Ordinance can be easily maintained over time and is organized to easily

accommodate future revisions.

Planning Commission is requested to review the Draft BZO through the lens of these 
goals and project objectives. 

To meet these objectives, the Draft BZO includes the following noteworthy changes to the 
existing Zoning Ordinance: 

 Writing Style. Most chapters have been substantially revised with a “plain English”
writing style.

 Allowed Use Tables. Allowed land use tables for each individual district are
combined in a single table in each of the residential, commercial, and manufacturing
district chapters. Permit requirements for activities and structures that are not land
uses (fences, for example), as well as fine-grained and complex permit
requirements, are removed from tables and relocated to more appropriate sections
of the Draft BZO.

Item 9 - Attachment 3 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 485 of 511



Review BZO 
 

 Supplemental Standards. An expanded section compiles supplemental use
regulations and development standards that apply to multiple districts in one
location, rather than repeating them for each district, as in the current Zoning
Ordinance.

 Permits and Administration. Procedures that apply to multiple types of permits are
stated once rather than repeated for each permit type.

 Maps. Maps replace text descriptions of geographic areas.
 Sub-Titles Eliminated. Separate sub-titles for residential and non-residential

districts are eliminated. Provisions that apply to both residential and non-residential
districts are stated once.

 District Chapters. Separate chapters for individual districts are consolidated into
residential, commercial, and manufacturing district chapters.

Requested Feedback 
City staff requests Planning Commission feedback on the following: 

 Does the Draft BZO achieve the ZORP Project Objectives outlined above?

 Do the Consent Changes consist of minor substantive changes that do not result in
major policy changes?

 Are there any proposed changes in the Draft BZO that are more appropriately
considered in Phase 2?

 Are there specific stakeholders staff should approach to request feedback on the Draft
BZO?

NEXT STEPS 
The ZAB will discuss the Draft BZO at their August 13, 2020 meeting. Staff recommends 
that the Planning Commission request a public hearing on the Draft BZO at its meeting 
of October 7, 2020 in order to make a recommendation to City Council.  

The ZORP Subcommittees will begin Phase 2 of ZORP in September 2020. 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Draft Baseline Zoning Ordinance (BZO)
2. Consent Changes Summary

Item 9 - Attachment 3 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 486 of 511



P L A NNI NG  

C O M M I S S I O N  

N o t i c e  o f  P u b l i c  H e a r i n g   

December 16, 2020 

1947 Center Street, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510.981.7410    TDD: 510.981.7474    Fax: 510.981.7490 
E-mail: planning@ci.berkeley.ca.us 

Adoption of the Baseline Zoning Ordinance to replace Berkeley’s 
current Zoning Ordinance -- Phase 1 of the Zoning Ordinance 

Revision Project  
The Planning Commission of the City of Berkeley will hold a Public Hearing on the above matter, 
pursuant to Zoning Ordinance Section 23A.20.30, on Wednesday, December 16, 2020, 
beginning at 7:00 PM. The hearing will be conducted via Zoom – see the Agenda for details, 
which can be found here: https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/ 

PUBLIC ADVISORY: This meeting will be conducted exclusively through videoconference and 
teleconference. Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom 
on March 17, 2020, and the Shelter-in-Place Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the 
public by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical 
meeting location available. 

AMENDMENT DESCRIPTION: The Amendment includes a replacement of Berkeley’s current 
Zoning Ordinance (BMC Title 23) with a new Title 23 that is rewritten and reformatted to make the 
Zoning Ordinance easier to read, understand and administer. This project was initiated by a City 
Council referral responding to customer service improvements identified in the 2017 Zucker 
Systems Report. The new Title 23 contains all of the regulatory elements of the current Berkeley 
Zoning Ordinance and contains no major substantive policy changes. Subcommittees of the 
Planning Commission and the Zoning Adjustments Board have held a series of meetings since 
2018 to review and guide development of the new Title 23 – also known as the Baseline Zoning 
Ordinance or BZO.  
 
LOCATION: Citywide. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW STATUS:  The proposed amendment would be exempt from the 
California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Guideline Section 15061(b)(3) because it can 
be seen with certainty that the proposed amendment would not have a significant effect on the 
environment.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
All persons are welcome to attend the virtual hearing and will be given an opportunity to address 
the Commission. Comments may be made verbally at the public hearing and/or in writing before 
the hearing. The Commission may limit the time granted to each speaker.  
Written comments must be directed to the Planning Commission Secretary at the Land Use 
Planning Division (Attn: Planning Commission Secretary), 1947 Center Street, Second Floor, 
Berkeley CA 94704, or via e-mail to: apearson@cityofberkeley.info. All materials will be made 
available via the Planning Commission agenda page online at this address: 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/ 

Item 9 - Attachment 4 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 487 of 511

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/


Adoption of the BZO NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
Posted: December 4, 2020 

Correspondence received by 12 noon, eight days before this public hearing, will be included as a 
Communication in the agenda packet.  

Correspondence received after this deadline will be conveyed to the Commission and the 
public in the following manner:  

• Correspondence received by 12 noon two days before this public hearing, will be included 
in a Supplemental Packet, which will be posted to the online agenda as a Late 
Communication one day before the public hearing.

• Correspondence received by 5pm one day before this public hearing, will be included in a 
second Supplemental Packet, which will be posted to the online agenda as a Late 
Communication by 5pm on the day of the public hearing.

• Correspondence received after 5pm one day before this public hearing will be saved as 
part of the public record. 

Note: It will not be possible to submit written comments at the meeting. 

COMMUNICATION ACCESS 

To request a meeting agenda in large print, Braille, or on audiocassette, or to request a sign 
language interpreter for the meeting, call (510) 981-7410 (voice) or 981-6903 (TDD).  Notice of at 
least five (5) business days will ensure availability.  

FURTHER INFORMATION 

Questions should be directed to Justin Horner, at 510-981-7476, or jhorner@cityofberkeley.info 

Current and past agendas are available on the City of Berkeley website at:  
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/ 

Item 9 - Attachment 4 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 488 of 511

mailto:jhorner@cityofberkeley.info
mailto:jhorner@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/PC/


  
   

Planning and Development Department 
Land Use Planning Division 
 

 

STAFF REPORT 
 
DATE:  December 16, 2020 
 
TO:  Members of the Planning Commission 
 
FROM:   Katrina Lapira, Assistant Planner 
 
SUBJECT: Business Support Zoning Amendment Referrals – Research and 

Development 
 

 
SUMMARY 
City Council has referred to the Planning Commission five referrals intended to support 
Berkeley business development.  At the Planning Commission meeting on July 7, 2020, 
these five referrals were briefly introduced and discussed.  Planning Commission 
requested that staff continue working on the Research and Development Definition 
Referral (see Attachment 1) in order to develop a response.  This report provides 
background, analysis, and recommendations for Planning Commission’s consideration.  
  
BACKGROUND 
The North American Industrial Classification System1 (NAICS) identifies several types of 
R&D classifications2 including, but not limited to, research and experimental development 
in the fields of: 
 

 Physical, engineering, and life sciences such as agriculture, electronics, 
environmental, biology, botany, computers, chemistry, food, fisheries, forests, 
geology, health, mathematics, medicine, oceanography, pharmacy, physics, 
veterinary and other allied subjects. 
 

 Biotechnology, which involves the study of the use of microorganisms and cellular 
and biomolecular processes to develop or alter living or non-living materials. 

 

 Nanotechnology, which involves the study of matter at the nanoscale (i.e., a scale 
of about 1 to 100 nanometers). 

 

                                            
1 The North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) is the standard used by Federal statistical 
agencies in classifying business establishments for the purpose of collecting, analyzing, and publishing 
statistical data related to the U.S. business economy. 
2 NAICS classification types for R&D. 

Item 10 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 489 of 511

https://www.naics.com/code-search/?naicstrms=research,and,development


Research and Development Referral    
Staff Report   
 

 

 

The Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) currently defines the R&D land use category as 
follows:  
 

An establishment comprised of laboratory or other non-office space, which 
is engaged in one or more of the following activities: industrial, biological or 
scientific research; product design; development and testing; and limited 
manufacturing necessary for the production of prototypes. 

 
The referral is based on the following consideration: “Research and Development has 
evolved to take on many new forms, such that it can be performed in spaces that may, 
at first glance, appear to be an office or light industrial environment rather than a 
traditional ‘laboratory’ with, for example, benches and sinks.”  
 
The referral suggests the Planning Commission consider amending the existing R&D 
definition as follows:  
 

An establishment comprised of laboratory or and other associated and 
ancillary space non-office space, which is, engaged in one or more of the 
following activities: industrial, technological, biological or scientific 
research; product design; development and testing; and limited fabrication 
and/or manufacturing necessary for the production and assemblage of 
prototypes prototypical products. 

 
As described in the referral, R&D has evolved to take on many new activities that are not 
captured in the BMC definition.  To evaluate the proposed amendment in the context of 
the referral goals, staff reviewed the existing definition, the proposed definition, definitions 
from neighboring cities and cities that are included in the East Bay Corridor Partnership, 
and the NAICS definitions. Planning staff also consulted with Berkeley’s Office of 
Economic Development (OED) for feedback.  Summaries of other local definitions are 
provided in Table 1.  

 

Item 10 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 490 of 511



Research and Development Referral    
Staff Report   
 

 

 

Table 1.  R&D Definitions in Other Local Cities 

City R&D Definition 

Emeryville 

Research of an industrial or scientific nature, including associated office 
space. Typical uses include indoor laboratories and testing facilities. This 
use type may include fabrication and small scale-up facilities as part of the 
research function, but excludes Manufacturing use types. 

Oakland 

Include scientific research for the design, development, engineering, and 
testing of high technology electronic, industrial, or scientific products in 
advance of full-scale manufacturing of final products. The only 
manufacturing uses in this classification consist of the creation of prototype 
products, plans, or designs for the primary purpose of research, 
development, or evaluation, rather than sale. This classification also 
includes certain activities accessory to the above [office]…This 
classification includes, but is not limited to, biotechnology firms, "clean-
tech"/energy, environmental, electronic research firms, or pharmaceutical 
research laboratories. 

Richmond 

Refers to establishments primarily engaged in the research, development, 
and controlled production of high-technology electronic, industrial or 
scientific products or commodities for sale, but excludes uses which, in the 
opinion of the planning commission, may be objectionable by reason of 
production of offensive odor, dust, noise, bright lights, vibration or the 
storage of hazardous material or products, or uses which in the opinion of 
the commission threaten public safety. Typical uses include biotechnology 
firms. [Ancillary office space is permitted.] 

San Leandro 

Establishments primarily engaged in the research, development, and 
controlled production of high-technology electronic, industrial or scientific 
products or commodities for sale, but excludes uses that may be 
objectionable as determined by the Zoning Enforcement Official, by reason 
of production of offensive odor, dust, noise, vibration, or storage of or risk 
associated with hazardous materials. Uses include biotechnology firms, 
metallurgy, optical, pharmaceutical and X-ray research, data processing, 
and non-toxic computer component manufacturers. [Accessory office space 
is permitted.] 

 
To better understand how land use regulations of R&D compare with other related land 
uses, staff reviewed zoning regulations for manufacturing uses in Berkeley and in 
neighboring cities and found the following: 
 

 In Berkeley, R&D is defined as an activity that occurs in a laboratory and other non-
office space.  Other cities focus on the objectives and processes of the sector, rather 
than the operative location where activities occur.   All of the cities referenced above 
allow accessory office and storage space that supports the primary permitted land 
use.    

 

 In Berkeley, terms like high-technology electronics are not included in the existing 
R&D definition. These terms are used in Oakland, Richmond, and San Leandro’s 
R&D definitions to reflect the growing role of technology in development of 
prototypes or innovative processes.   

Item 10 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 491 of 511



Research and Development Referral    
Staff Report   
 

 

 

 
Therefore, it seems that Berkeley’s definition has not kept up with contemporary R&D 
activities and is more restrictive than definitions in neighboring jurisdictions.  Staff 
suggests that it is important that the code be flexible enough to accommodate 
innovative practices within the overall system of land use categories.   
 
 
DISCUSSION 
In the following section, staff presents three proposals for Planning Commission’s 
consideration.  
 
1. Modify the Existing R&D Definition 

 
Berkeley’s existing definition for R&D is not flexible enough to incorporate new 
processes utilized by the sector.  For example, Berkeley’s definition does not explicitly 
permit R&D establishments to maintain accessory office space.   
 
Staff proposes the edits below to accommodate innovation and to be more consistent 
with regulatory practices observed in other local jurisdictions.  
 

An establishment comprised of laboratory or other non-office space, which is 
engaged in one or more of the following activities: industrial, biological or 
scientific research for ; product design;, development, engineering, and testing; 
and limited manufacturing leading to the development of a necessary for the 
production of prototypes or process for the primary purpose of research, 
development or evaluation rather than sale. This classification includes, but is not 
limited to, biotechnology, renewable energy, environmental, physical, life 
sciences, engineering, pharmaceutical, and high technology electronics. This 
classification also includes ancillary activities and spaces for office and storage. 
 

Rationale is provided below, one sentence at a time: 
 

Sentence 1: An establishment comprised of laboratory or other non-office space, 
which is engaged in one or more of the following activities: industrial, biological or 
scientific research for ; product design;, development, engineering, and testing; 
and limited manufacturing leading to the development of a necessary for the 
production of prototypes or process for the primary purpose of research, 
development or evaluation rather than sale. 

 
The existing definition limits R&D activities to laboratory and other non-office space. It 
separately describes the types of activities allowed. Proposed language focuses on the 
activities – but does not limit the environment where the activities occur. Today’s R&D 
operations occur in traditional labs as well as office spaces utilizing computer equipment 
such as 3-D printers and other technologies. The proposed definition removes the 
limitation on the type of space allowed and focuses on R&D activities.  
 
Berkeley’s existing definition, when compared to that of other jurisdictions, is very broad 
and does not define the goal of R&D operations – prototype development. Following 

Item 10 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 492 of 511



Research and Development Referral    
Staff Report   
 

 

 

Oakland’s example, the proposed definition includes language that limits R&D activities 
to prototype development and production for limited use.  
 

Sentence 2: This classification includes, but is not limited to biotechnology, 
renewable energy, environmental, pharmaceutical, and high technology 
electronics. This classification also includes ancillary activities and spaces for 
office and storage. 

 
This proposed second sentence of the definition includes three new concepts that are 
shown in bold. Table 3 outlines the significance of this new language in the R&D 
definition.   
 

Table 2. Significance of Proposed New Language 
 

Proposed New 
Language 

Significance 

Pharmaceuticals 
(Research) 
 

Pharmaceutical research is a type of R&D activity, whereas 
pharmaceutical production is a type of manufacturing. Staff 
proposes to add pharmaceutical to the R&D definition, but 
then also define the terms in Title 23F (the Definition Section 
of the Zoning Ordinance) to clarify the distinction between 
research and production. (The proposed definition will be 
described in the next section.)   
 

High technology 
electronics  

Staff proposes to add this phrase to the R&D definition to 
allow businesses to leverage new technology, such as 
software development, in their research and development 
business. High technology electronics will be allowed as an 
accessory use that compliments traditional research 
conducted in laboratories.  Common uses for such technology 
include, but are not limited to, managing research operations 
and data analysis.  Such language would still preclude the use 
of an R&D space as solely technology/ software development 
firm, a land use categorized as an office use activity. 
 

This classification also 
includes ancillary 
activities and spaces 
for office and 
warehouse. 

While reviewing R&D definitions adopted by local jurisdictions, 
staff found that all comparable cities permit office space 
ancillary to more traditional testing facilities, like laboratories.  
Some jurisdictions allow ancillary office space in their R&D 
definitions explicitly. Other cities, like Richmond and San 
Leandro, include accessory use provisions applicable to all 
industrial districts that allow for office space and other related 
activities that support the primary use. Staff proposes to add 
this sentence to allow ancillary use for limited purposes – 
office space and warehousing of materials. 
 

 

Item 10 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 493 of 511



Research and Development Referral    
Staff Report   
 

 

 

2. Resolve Undefined Terms: Laboratory and Pharmaceuticals (production and 
research)  

 
Although regulated in Berkeley’s manufacturing districts and listed in the Uses Permitted 
tables, there are no definitions for laboratories (testing) and pharmaceuticals in the BMC.  
As a result, testing laboratories and uses that have pharmaceutical components are often 
conflated with R&D uses, which have traditionally conducted research in laboratory 
settings. Planning Commission is asked to consider the following three proposals to help 
reduce confusion:  
 

a. Define Laboratory 
Staff proposes that Laboratories be defined separately to provide clarity amongst 
similar use categories. According to the NAICS Code, testing laboratories are 
primarily engaged in performing physical, chemical, and other analytical services.  
Such testing may involve the evaluation of acoustics, biological organisms, and 
geotechnical samples, and electronics, among other things.  Unlike R&D activities, 
this type of testing does not result in a new prototype or an improved process.   

 
An establishment primarily engaged in performing physical, chemical, and other 
analytical testing services, such as acoustics or vibration testing, assaying, 
biological testing, calibration testing, electrical and electronic testing, geotechnical 
testing, mechanical testing, nondestructive testing, or thermal testing. 

 
b. Incorporate Pharmaceutical Activities into Definitions for R&D (for research) 

and Light Manufacturing (for manufacturing) Definitions.  
Staff proposes to regulate pharmaceutical businesses by incorporating them into 
both the R&D and Light Manufacturing land uses, depending on the purpose and 
outcome of the activity. In general, the pharmaceutical industry develops and 
produces medicinal products for mass consumption. Neighboring cities, like 
Oakland, Richmond, and San Leandro, regulate pharmaceuticals as two uses, 
related to the ultimate purpose of the activity: research or manufacturing.  The 
proposed modification would classify pharmaceutical research activities under 
the R&D land use and pharmaceutical production under the Light Manufacturing 
land use category.   

 
c. Remove Pharmaceuticals from the Manufacturing Districts Use Tables  

Staff proposes to remove Pharmaceuticals as a stand-alone use from the Uses 
Permitted tables in the manufacturing districts if the proposal above (incorporate 
pharmaceutical activities into R&D and Light Manufacturing definitions) is 
accepted.  

 
3. Request City Council Referral for Additional Work 
 
Staff identified opportunities to clarify and improve zoning regulations in the 
manufacturing districts during research into the R&D referral and in discussions with OED 
staff. These opportunities are summarized below. Because these issues go beyond the 
scope of the R&D definition referral, staff is not proposing recommendations related to 

Item 10 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 494 of 511



Research and Development Referral    
Staff Report   
 

 

 

these issues in this referral response. Instead, Planning Commission may request a 
referral from City Council if this work is desired.   
 

a. Review and Modify Permitting Thresholds  
As described in the context of pharmaceutical uses, there is overlap between R&D 
and Light Manufacturing activities, with one important distinction: R&D results in 
prototypes whereas Light Manufacturing produces goods for sale. Despite a similarity 
in activities, BMC regulations for these two uses differ by operation size and by district 
(see Table 2). If desired, Planning Commission may request a referral from City 
Council to review permitting thresholds in order to bring R&D and Light Manufacturing 
thresholds and regulations into alignment.  

 
 
 

Table 3. R&D and Light Manufacturing Permit Thresholds3 
 

Zoning 
District 

R&D  Light Manufacturing 

M Prohibited <20K - ZC 

MM 
< 20K - ZC 

 20K - 40K - AUP 
> 40K - AUP 

< 20K - ZC 
 20K - 40K - ZC 
> 40K - UP(PH) 

MU-LI 
< 20K - ZC 

 20K - 40K - AUP 
> 40K - AUP 

< 20K - ZC 
20K - 30K - AUP 
> 30K - UP(PH) 

MU-R Prohibited 
AUP if 5,000 or less;  

UP(PH) if more than 5,000 

 
 

b. Protected Uses  
The West Berkeley Plan’s regulation of “conversions” or “changes of use” from 
manufacturing and wholesale trade (among others) to other uses is a central element 
of the Plan’s land use concept.  The conversion of this “protected space” is subject to 
a Use Permit, which requires that several findings be made, depending on the zoning 
district. Such findings were instituted to deter widespread displacement of 
manufacturing uses, but they may also act as a barrier to the redevelopment of 
dilapidated legacy sites that were once used as large manufacturing establishments.  
If desired, Planning Commission may request a referral from City Council to review 
protected use regulations in the manufacturing districts to evaluate their effectiveness 

                                            
3 Zoning Certificate | AUP – Administrative Use Permit | UP(PH) – Use Permit (Public Hearing) 
For more information on permit requirements, please refer to the COB Planning webpage.   
 

Item 10 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 495 of 511

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Permit_Service_Center/Permitting_Process.aspx


Research and Development Referral    
Staff Report   
 

 

 

and explore policy alternatives for preserving and promoting spaces for manufacturing 
firms of various types. 
 

 
NEXT STEPS 
Planning Commission is asked to review the three proposals in the Discussion section 
and provide feedback and direction to staff. Based on the Planning Commission’s 
direction, staff will draft Zoning Ordinance amendments for Planning Commission’s 
consideration.  If the Planning Commission would like to request a referral to study levels 
of discretion and/or the regulation of protected uses, that can be included as part of the 
recommendation to City Council.   
 
ATTACHMENTS  

 
1. Planning Commission Staff Report (without attachments) - July 1, 2020 
2. Planning Commission Meeting Minutes - July 1, 2020 
 
LINKS 
 
1. Referral: Update the definition of Research and Development (Mayor Arreguin  and 

Councilmember Wengraf, 3/10/2020) - 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-
_Commissions/Commission_for_Planning/2020-09-02_PC_INFO_7_03-10-
20_%20Item%2017%20Referral%20Update%20the%20definition.pdf  

2. West Berkeley Plan  
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Redevelopment_Agency/W
est_Berkeley_Plan_(The).aspx 
  

Item 10 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 496 of 511

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Commissions/Commission_for_Planning/2020-09-02_PC_INFO_7_03-10-20_%20Item%2017%20Referral%20Update%20the%20definition.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Commissions/Commission_for_Planning/2020-09-02_PC_INFO_7_03-10-20_%20Item%2017%20Referral%20Update%20the%20definition.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Commissions/Commission_for_Planning/2020-09-02_PC_INFO_7_03-10-20_%20Item%2017%20Referral%20Update%20the%20definition.pdf


CONSENT CALENDAR
March 10, 2020

1

TO: Honorable Members of the City Council

FROM: Mayor Arreguín and Councilmember Wengraf

SUBJECT: Referral: Update the definition of “Research and Development”

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the Planning Commission to update the definition of “Research and Development.”

BACKGROUND
In the 21st century, Research and Development has evolved to take on many new forms, such that it can 
be performed in spaces that may, at first glance, appear to be an office or light industrial environment 
rather than a traditional “laboratory” with, for example, benches and sinks.

The Planning Commission is encouraged to update the definition of “Research and Development”1 to 
reflect evolving business practices and consider language such as: 

Research and Development: An establishment comprised of laboratory or other associated and 
ancillary space, engaged in one or more of the following activities: industrial, technological, 
biological or scientific research; product design; associated software development; development 
and testing; and limited fabrication and/or manufacturing necessary for the production and 
assemblage of prototypical products.”

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
None.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
No environmental impact.

CONTACT
Mayor Jesse Arreguín
mayor@cityofberkeley.info | 510-981-7100

1 BMC — 23F.04.010 Definitions

Item 10 - Attachment 1 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 497 of 511

rthomsen
Typewritten Text





Page 498 of 511



Tuesday, December 8, 2020 ANNOTATED AGENDA  

AN N O T AT E D  AG E N D A 
S PE CI AL  M EET I NG O F T HE 

B E R K E LE Y C I T Y  C O U N CI L

Tuesday, December 8, 2020 

6:00 P.M.

JESSE ARREGUIN, MAYOR 

Councilmembers: 

DISTRICT 1 – RASHI KESARWANI DISTRICT 5 – SOPHIE HAHN 
DISTRICT 2 – TERRY TAPLIN  DISTRICT 6 – SUSAN WENGRAF 
DISTRICT 3 – BEN BARTLETT  DISTRICT 7 – RIGEL ROBINSON 
DISTRICT 4 – KATE HARRISON  DISTRICT 8 – LORI DROSTE 

PUBLIC ADVISORY:  THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH 
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE 
Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17, 2020, this meeting 
of the City Council will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference.  Please be 
advised that pursuant to the Executive Order and the Shelter-in-Place Order, and to ensure the health and safety 
of the public by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical meeting 
location available.   

Live audio is available on KPFB Radio 89.3. Live captioned broadcasts of Council Meetings are available on Cable 
B-TV (Channel 33) and via internet accessible video stream at 
http://www.cityofberkeley.info/CalendarEventWebcastMain.aspx. 

To access the meeting remotely: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android device:  Please use this URL 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82201220671.  If you do not wish for your name to appear on the screen, then use the 
drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to be anonymous.  To request to speak, use the “raise 
hand” icon by rolling over the bottom of the screen.  

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and enter Meeting ID: 822 0122 0671. If you 
wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, Press *9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair. 

To submit an e-mail comment during the meeting to be read aloud during public comment, email 
clerk@cityofberkeley.info with the Subject Line in this format: “PUBLIC COMMENT ITEM ##.” Please observe a 
150 word limit. Time limits on public comments will apply. Written comments will be entered into the public record.  

Please be mindful that the teleconference will be recorded as any Council meeting is recorded, and all other rules 
of procedure and decorum will apply for Council meetings conducted by teleconference or videoconference. 

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953.  Any member 
of the public may attend this meeting.  Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City 
Clerk, (510) 981-6900. The City Council may take action related to any subject listed on the Agenda. Meetings will 
adjourn at 11:00 p.m. - any items outstanding at that time will be carried over to a date/time to be specified. 

Item 11 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 499 of 511

http://www.cityofberkeley.info/CalendarEventWebcastMain.aspx
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82201220671
mailto:clerk@cityofberkeley.info


Tuesday, December 8, 2020 ANNOTATED AGENDA  

Preliminary Matters 

Roll Call:  6:17 p.m. 

Present: Kesarwani, Taplin, Bartlett, Harrison, Hahn, Wengraf, Robinson, Droste, 
Arreguin 

Absent: None. 

Action Calendar – Public Hearing 

1. Adoption of the Adeline Corridor Specific Plan and associated General Plan
and Municipal Code (Zoning) Amendments and Certification of the Final
Environmental Impact Report; Adding Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter
23E.70
From: City Manager
Recommendation: Conduct a public hearing and upon conclusion:
1. Adopt a Resolution, as recommended by the Planning Commission, to: a. Certify
the Environmental Impact Report and make related California Environmental
Quality Act (CEQA) findings; and b. Adopt the Adeline Corridor Specific Plan
(ACSP) and related General Plan text and map amendments.
2. Adopt first reading of an Ordinance, as recommended by the Planning
Commission, amending the Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC) to create the
Commercial – Adeline Corridor District regulations and make conforming changes
to other BMC sections, as well as adopt Zoning Map changes; adding Berkeley
Municipal Code Chapter 23E.70.
3. Authorize the City Manager to make non-substantive, technical conforming edits
(e.g. correction of typographical errors and/or clerical errors) to the ACSP, including
but not limited to page, figure or table numbering, or zoning regulations in the
Municipal Code that may have been overlooked in deleting old sections and cross-
referencing new sections of the proposed Adeline Corridor zoning district prior to
formal publication of the amendments in the Berkeley Municipal Code, and to
return to the Planning Commission and City Council for major revisions only.
4. Authorize staff to create updated versions of the ACSP Implementation Plan
(Chapter 8, Table 8.1) as part of the annual progress report on implementation
actions to reflect prevailing changes in laws, economic conditions, and the
availability of City and other funding sources, which could potentially affect
timeframes, responsibilities and potential funding mechanisms.
5. Consider a set of companion recommendations from the Planning Commission.
Financial Implications: No direct fiscal impacts
Contact: Jordan Klein, Planning and Development, (510) 981-7400

Recess 8:35 p.m. – 8:48 p.m. 

Public Testimony: The Mayor opened the public hearing.  62 speakers. 
M/S/C (Arreguin/Droste) to close the public hearing. 
Vote: All Ayes. 

Item 11 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 500 of 511



Action Calendar – Public Hearing 

Tuesday, December 8, 2020 ANNOTATED AGENDA  

Action: M/S/Failed (Bartlett/Hahn) to: 
1. Adopt staff recommendations 1, 2, 3, and 4 as written.
2. Take action on the Planning Commission supplemental recommendations as
follows:

• #1 $50 million set aside – referred to the Housing Advisory Commission and
the Measure O Oversight Committee

• #2 Affordable Housing Mitigation Fee Ordinance revisions for Moderate
Income Level - referred to the City Manager

• #3 Two-lane street option for Adeline Avenue - referred to the City Manager

• #4 Funding for parks in the Adeline Corridor - referred to the City Manager
3. Refer to the City Manager to develop a policy for the Affordable Housing
Mitigation Fees collected from projects in the Adeline Corridor Planning Area to be
placed in a fund dedicated for affordable housing at the Ashby BART site.
4. Re-evaluate the status of the Zoning Ordinance amendments and Adeline
Corridor Specific Plan in one year to determine if there is a need for modification.
Vote: Ayes – Bartlett, Harrison, Hahn; Noes – Kesarwani, Taplin, Droste; Abstain –
Wengraf, Robinson, Arreguin.

Action: M/S/Carried (Arreguin/Droste) to adopt the staff recommendation with 
certain noted amendments. 
1. Adopt Resolution No. 69,642–N.S. certifying the Environmental Impact Report
and make related California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) findings, and
adopting the Adeline Corridor Specific Plan (ACSP) and related General Plan text
and map amendments with the following sentence deleted from page 3-26 “The
City will oppose the relocation of the Flea Market away from the BART parking lot
without the consent of the designated representative of the vendors, currently
Community Services United.”
2. Adopt Ordinance No. 7,744-N.S. amending the Berkeley Municipal Code (BMC)
to create the Commercial – Adeline Corridor District regulations and make
conforming changes to other BMC sections, as well as adopt Zoning Map changes;
adding Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 23E.70. Amended to increase the stories,
feet, floor area ratio, maximum density, and interior lot coverage in Tiers 2, 3, and 4
as written in the modified proposal presented by staff. Second reading scheduled
for December 15, 2020.
3. Authorizing the City Manager to make non-substantive, technical conforming
edits (e.g. correction of typographical errors and/or clerical errors) to the ACSP,
including but not limited to page, figure or table numbering, or zoning regulations in
the Municipal Code that may have been overlooked in deleting old sections and
cross-referencing new sections of the proposed Adeline Corridor zoning district
prior to formal publication of the amendments in the Berkeley Municipal Code, and
to return to the Planning Commission and City Council for major revisions only.
4. Authorize staff to create updated versions of the ACSP Implementation Plan
(Chapter 8, Table 8.1) as part of the annual progress report on implementation
actions to reflect prevailing changes in laws, economic conditions, and the
availability of City and other funding sources, which could potentially affect
timeframes, responsibilities and potential funding mechanisms.
5. To take action on the Planning Commission supplemental recommendations as
follows:

Item 11 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 501 of 511



Action Calendar – Public Hearing 

Tuesday, December 8, 2020 ANNOTATED AGENDA  

• #1 $50 million set aside – referred to the Housing Advisory Commission and
the Measure O Oversight Committee

• #2 Affordable Housing Mitigation Fee Ordinance revisions for Moderate
Income Level - referred to the City Manager

• #3 Two-lane street option for Adeline Avenue - referred to the City Manager

• #4 Funding for parks in the Adeline Corridor - referred to the City Manager
6. To refer to the City Manager to develop a policy for the Affordable Housing
Mitigation Fees collected from projects in the Adeline Corridor Planning Area to be
placed in a fund dedicated for affordable housing in the Adeline Corridor Planning
Area.
Vote: Ayes – Kesarwani, Taplin, Bartlett, Hahn, Wengraf, Robinson, Droste,
Arreguin; Noes – Harrison.

Adjournment 

Action: M/S/C (Wengraf/Robinson) to adjourn the meeting. 
Vote: All Ayes. 

Adjourned at 10:50 p.m. 

Communications 

• None

Supplemental Communications and Reports 1 

• None

Supplemental Communications and Reports 2 

Item #1: Adoption of the Adeline Corridor Specific Plan and associated General 
Plan and Municipal Code (Zoning) Amendments and Certification of the Final 
Environmental Impact Report 
1. 38 similarly worded form-letters (without further delay)
2. 5 similarly worded form-letters (Ashby BART)
3. Charles Siegel, on behalf of Walk Bike Berkeley
4. Steve Martinot
5. Rachel Terp
6. Teresa Clarke
7. Matthew Lewis
8. Jonathan Singh
9. Zipporah Collins
10. Karen Anderson
11. Charis Baz
12. Chris Duncan
13. Laura Stevens
14. Gary Miguel

Item 11 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 502 of 511



Tuesday, December 8, 2020 ANNOTATED AGENDA  

15. Michael Katz
16. Owen Poindexter
17. Liat Zavodivker
18. Nico Calavita

Supplemental Communications and Reports 3 

Item #1: Adoption of the Adeline Corridor Specific Plan and associated General 
Plan and Municipal Code (Zoning) Amendments and Certification of the Final 
Environmental Impact Report 
19. Joshua Sperry
20. Andrew Collins
21. Abby Thorne-Lyman, on behalf of BART
22. Paul Bickmore
23. Jeffrey Carter
24. Lee Bishop
25. Bonnie Gold
26. Julia Cato
27. Elana Auerbach
28. Chimey Lee
29. Jenna Rubin
30. Todd Darling
31. Mark Rhoades
32. Serena Lim
33. Jeannette McNeil (2)
34. Elaine Bloom
35. Diana Lee
36. Louise Rosenkrantz
37. Andy Pinost
38. Alex Ghenis
39. Heidi Fuchs
40. Jennifer Natali
41. Andrew Fox
42. Sophia DeWitt, on behalf of the East Bay Housing Organization
43. Carol Mancke
44. Teresa Clarke (2)

Item 11 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 503 of 511



Page 504 of 511



Proposed Meeting Dates for Planning Commission 2021

Regular Meetings: First Wednesday of the month

Reserve Third Wednesday of the month for Special Meetings/Subcommittee Meetings

Wednesday, January 6, 2021

Wednesday, January 20, 2021   ‐‐  Joint Meeting with HAC

Wednesday, February 3, 2021

Wednesday, March 3, 2021

Wednesday, April 7, 2021

Wednesday, May 5, 2021

Wednesday, June 2, 2021

Wednesday, July 7, 2021

Wednesday, September 1, 2021

Wednesday, October 6, 2021

Wednesday, November 3, 2021

Wednesday, December 1, 2021

Item 12 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 505 of 511



Page 506 of 511



Lapira, Katrina

From: Sue Martin <getmesue@gmail.com> 
Sent: Monday, December 7, 2020 7:09 AM 
To: Pearson, Alene <apearson@cityofberkeley.info> 
Subject: Public Testimony for the 12/2/20 Scoping Meeting of the Planning Commission  

WARNING: This email originated outside of City of Berkeley. 
DO NOT CLICK ON links or attachments unless you trust the sender and know the content is safe.  

Dear Ms. Pearson,  

I unfortunately missed the Scoping Meeting on 12/2.  

Please record these comments in the public record: 

The zoning for the two BART stations must be Considered separately as the two sites are extremely 
different.  The North Berkeley BART station is in the center of a residential community of mostly single-family 
homes of one or two stories. The Ashby station is a very different situation as it is located in a commercial area.  

I am 68 years of age and live within four houses of the North Berkeley BART station. I have spent my entire 
life working hard to finally buy a home in a quiet neighborhood so that I can retire and live peacefully as an 
elderly person. PLEASE DO NOT DESTROY THE CHARACTER OF OUR NEIGHBORHOOD. 

Please zone the North Berkeley BART lower than the state requirement of 7 stories given the grave and 
grievous wrong that was done in categorizing NBB station as an urban station. This categorization is WRONG 
and you should take a stand for Berkeley and our cities’ stated priorities to protect the character of our 
neighborhoods. North Berkeley BART station is NOT an urban center. 

Please zone at 5 stories MAX. For this housing development to really work and not created an eyesore 
surrounded by neighborhood wide resentment the project should be 5 stories MAX in the very center stepping 
down to 2 stories on the perimeter. We can all support this type of housing.  

Please LIMIT commercial space to only essential businesses… groceries, etc. We do NOT need retail as such. 
We need to support the retail business on University, Shattuck and San Pablo Avenues. 

Please ensure that at least 70% of the housing be affordable for low income families with home ownership and 
equity sharing opportunities. 

Communications 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 507 of 511



Please PROTECT the residential parking of the current neighborhood and not allow the residents of the new 
development to be issued residential parking permits given that the goal of development is to decrease car use 
bu promoting living near and using public transportation. 

Please ensure extensive public open/green space both at the ground and the roof-top levels. 

Let’s CREATE HOUSING for low income families THAT IS ATTRACTIVE AND FITS INTO THE 
NEIGHBORHOOD. The social good increases and crime, etc decrease when there is public good and cohesive 
neighborhoods. Building tall building on the NBB station will decrease the public good and create strife and 
resentment that will create a toxic neighborhood rather than preserve a well functioning tight knitted 
neighborhood that we have created here.  

Come and walk our neighborhood (California to MLK/Ohlone Park to Rose) alit with candles (weather 
permitting) this Christmas eve. Come and absorb the care and joy made possible by a cohesive neighborhood. 

PLEASE protect cohesive family residential areas of our city. Please do NOT destroy our neighborhood by 
zoning any higher than 5 stories.  

Thank you. 

Warmly, 
Sue Martin 

Communications 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 508 of 511



Lapira, Katrina

From: kary schulman [mailto:kary_schulman@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Monday, December 7, 2020 3:23 PM 
To: Pearson, Alene <apearson@cityofberkeley.info>; bevan.dufty@bart.gov 
Cc: North Berkeley Neighborhood Alliance <nbneighborhoodalliance@gmail.com> 
Subject: Development plans for North Berkeley BART 
Importance: High 

WARNING: This email originated outside of City of Berkeley. 
DO NOT CLICK ON links or attachments unless you trust the sender and know the content is safe.  

I write to support the North Berkeley Neighborhood Alliance's commonsense, neighborhood‐preserving 
approach to development at North Berkeley Bart which takes into account the need for housing, open space 
and parking solutions. 

In addition I'd like to raise an issue I haven't heard discussed: The fact that these plans were begun years ago‐‐ 
pre‐COVID when the world was different.  I'm concerned that we'll be trying to solve pre‐2020 problems in a 
post‐2020 world.  Wouldn't it be sensible to pause to see where we will be in a year or two when we'll be able 
to assess the "new normal" regarding housing needs, commuting needs, public transportation needs, parking 
needs in order to best‐fit the use of this asset to the community's needs post‐2020? 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Marianne (Kary) Schulman 
1707 Buena Ave (four blocks from North Berkeley BART) 

Communications 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 509 of 511



Page 510 of 511



Lapira, Katrina

From: Sivan Orr [mailto:sivan.orr@gmail.com]  
Sent: Wednesday, December 9, 2020 10:16 AM 
To: T1 <t1@cityofberkeley.info>; Pearson, Alene <apearson@cityofberkeley.info>; Planning Dept. Mailbox 
<planning@cityofberkeley.info>; City Clerk <clerk@cityofberkeley.info>; All Council <council@cityofberkeley.info>; 
Berkeley Mayor's Office <mayor@cityofberkeley.info>; Manager, C <CManager@cityofberkeley.info>; Manager, C 
<CManager@cityofberkeley.info>; Ferris, Scott <SFerris@cityofberkeley.info>; Bartlett, Ben 
<BBartlett@cityofberkeley.info>; Supervisor.Carson@acgov.org 
Subject: Support for the African‐American Holistic Resource Center 

WARNING: This email originated outside of City of Berkeley. 
DO NOT CLICK ON links or attachments unless you trust the sender and know the content is safe.  

Attention:   Dee Williams-Ridley; City of Berkeley Manager 
Jesse Arreguin; Mayor of City of Berkeley 
Members of City Council 
Commissions: Public Works; Parks and Waterfront; Planning 
Directors: Planning; Parks, Recreation, and Waterfront; Public Works 
Supervisor Keith Carson 

From: A concerned and supportive community member 

To whom it may concern,  

My name is Sivan, I am a concerned citizen writing in support of the African-American Holistic Resource Center 
(AAHRC), I am advocating for the use of Measure T1 funding to renovate a City owned building that will be the brick 
and mortar home of the AAHRC.  It is imperative that this center is built to help support the African-American 
community in Berkeley. For far too long African-Americans in Berkeley and Nationwide have been subjected to 
marginalization, historical and systemic racism.  This problem has resulted in an increase of exposure to violence, 
gentrification, and has had a negative impact in the areas of: housing, health, education, access to resources, 
employment, and a safe communal meeting space.  
During this tri-pronged pandemic of COVID-19, racial injustice, and climate change, we know that the African 
American community has been struck particularly hard.   Unfortunately, what we do not know, is the long-term 
impact that these concerns will have on the African American community, particularly here in Berkeley.  Based on 
the City of Berkeley 2018 Health Status Report page 117, “… the age-adjusted mortality rate for African Americans 
is twice as high as the mortality rate of Whites and is higher than the population overall. This disparity has 
remained unchanged throughout these years [2005-2016]".  History as our lesson tells us, as a 
community,  positive change has to happen; the AAHRC is that change.  
I want to be on the right side of history; therefore, I am making my voice clear, I am in support of the AAHRC and 
the use of Measure T1 funds to support these efforts.  

Sincerely, 
Sivan Orr 

Communications 
Planning Commission 

December 16, 2020

Page 511 of 511


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	2020-12-16_PC_Item 9_with attachments.pdf
	Blank Page
	2020-12-16_PC_Item 9_Att 1_PC BZO Complete.pdf
	BZO Cover
	BZO TOC
	Division 1 TOC
	23.102_Introductory Provisions
	23.104_Intepretation
	23.106_Rules of Measurement
	23.108_Zoning Districts and Map
	Division 2 TOC
	23.202 Residential Districts
	23.204 Commercial Districts
	23.206 Manufacturing Districts
	23.208 Special Purpose Districts
	23.210 Overlay Zones
	Division 3 TOC
	23.302_Supplemental Use Regulations
	23.304_Development Standards
	23.306_ADU
	23.308_Emergency Shelters
	23.310_Alcoholic Beverage Sales and Service
	23.312_Live Work
	23.314_Short-Term Rentals
	23.316_Public Art
	23.318_Urban Agriculture
	23.320_Cannabis Uses
	23.322_Parking and Loading
	23.324_Nonforming Uses, Structures, and Buildings
	23.326_Demolition and Dwelling Unit Control
	23.328_Inclusionary Housing
	23.330_Density Bonus
	23.332_Wireless Communication Facilities
	Division 4 TOC
	23.402_Administrative Responsibility
	23.404_Common Permit Requirements
	23.406_Specific Permit Requirements
	23.408_Green Pathway
	23.410_Appeals
	23.412_Zoning Code Amendments
	23.414_Nuisance Abatement
	Division 5 TOC
	23.502_Glossary
	Blank Page

	Blank Page

	Blank Page
	2020-12-16_PC_ Item 10_with attachments.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	Blank Page
	2020_12_16 PC_Item 11_Adeline Corridor 12-08 Annotated Agenda.pdf
	1. 38 similarly worded form-letters (without further delay)
	2. 5 similarly worded form-letters (Ashby BART)
	3. Charles Siegel, on behalf of Walk Bike Berkeley
	4. Steve Martinot
	5. Rachel Terp
	6. Teresa Clarke
	7. Matthew Lewis
	8. Jonathan Singh
	9. Zipporah Collins
	10. Karen Anderson
	11. Charis Baz
	12. Chris Duncan
	13. Laura Stevens
	14. Gary Miguel
	15. Michael Katz
	16. Owen Poindexter
	17. Liat Zavodivker
	18. Nico Calavita
	19. Joshua Sperry
	20. Andrew Collins
	21. Abby Thorne-Lyman, on behalf of BART
	22. Paul Bickmore
	23. Jeffrey Carter
	24. Lee Bishop
	25. Bonnie Gold
	26. Julia Cato
	27. Elana Auerbach
	28. Chimey Lee
	29. Jenna Rubin
	30. Todd Darling
	31. Mark Rhoades
	32. Serena Lim
	33. Jeannette McNeil (2)
	34. Elaine Bloom
	35. Diana Lee
	36. Louise Rosenkrantz
	37. Andy Pinost
	38. Alex Ghenis
	39. Heidi Fuchs
	40. Jennifer Natali
	41. Andrew Fox
	42. Sophia DeWitt, on behalf of the East Bay Housing Organization
	43. Carol Mancke
	44. Teresa Clarke (2)

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



